
 
Democratic Services Your ref:  
Riverside, Temple Street, Keynsham, Bristol BS31 1LA Our ref:  
Telephone: (01225) 477000 main switchboard Date: 6 March 2012 
Direct Lines - Tel: 01225 - 394414  Fax: 01225 394439 E-mail: Democratic_Services@bathnes.gov.uk 
Web-site - http://www.bathnes.gov.uk   
 
 
To: All Members of the Development Control Committee 

 
Councillors:- Lisa Brett, Neil Butters, Gerry Curran, Liz Hardman, Eleanor Jackson, 
Les Kew, David Martin, Douglas Nicol, Bryan Organ, Martin Veal, David Veale and 
Brian Webber 
Permanent Substitutes:- Councillors: Rob Appleyard, Sharon Ball, John Bull, 
Nicholas Coombes, Sally Davis, Malcolm Lees, Dine Romero and Jeremy Sparks 
 
Chief Executive and other appropriate officers  
Press and Public  

 
 
Dear Member 
 
Development Control Committee: Wednesday, 14th March, 2012  
 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the Development Control Committee, to be held on 
Wednesday, 14th March, 2012 at 12.00 pm in the Council Chamber - Guildhall, Bath 
 
The Chair’s Briefing Meeting will be held at 10.00am on Tuesday 13th March in the Meeting 
Room, Lewis House, Bath. 
 
The rooms will be available for the meetings of political groups. Coffee etc. will be provided in 
the Group Rooms before the meeting. 
 
The meeting will be adjourned for a buffet lunch for Members in the Dome Room. 
 
The agenda is set out overleaf. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
David Taylor 
for Chief Executive 
 
 
 

If you need to access this agenda or any of the supporting reports in an alternative 
accessible format please contact Democratic Services or the relevant report author 
whose details are listed at the end of each report. 



 
This Agenda and all accompanying reports are printed on recycled paper 

 



NOTES: 
 

1. Inspection of Papers: Any person wishing to inspect minutes, reports, or a list of the 
background papers relating to any item on this Agenda should contact David Taylor who is 
available by telephoning Bath 01225 - 394414 or by calling at the Riverside Offices 
Keynsham (during normal office hours). 
 

2. Public Speaking at Meetings: The Council has a scheme to encourage the public to 
make their views known at meetings. They may make a statement relevant to what the 
meeting has power to do.  They may also present a petition or a deputation on behalf of a 
group.  Advance notice is required not less than two full working days before the meeting 
(this means that for meetings held on Wednesdays notice must be received in Democratic 
Services by 4.30pm the previous Friday)  
 
The public may also ask a question to which a written answer will be given. Questions 
must be submitted in writing to Democratic Services at least two full working days in 
advance of the meeting (this means that for meetings held on Wednesdays, notice must 
be received in Democratic Services by 4.30pm the previous Friday). If an answer cannot 
be prepared in time for the meeting it will be sent out within five days afterwards. Further 
details of the scheme can be obtained by contacting David Taylor as above. 
 

3. Details of Decisions taken at this meeting can be found in the minutes which will be 
published as soon as possible after the meeting, and also circulated with the agenda for 
the next meeting.  In the meantime details can be obtained by contacting David Taylor as 
above. 
 
Appendices to reports are available for inspection as follows:- 
 
Public Access points - Riverside - Keynsham, Guildhall - Bath, Hollies - Midsomer 
Norton, and Bath Central, Keynsham and Midsomer Norton public libraries.   
 
For Councillors and Officers papers may be inspected via Political Group Research 
Assistants and Group Rooms/Members' Rooms. 
 

4. Attendance Register: Members should sign the Register which will be circulated at the 
meeting. 
 

5. THE APPENDED SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS ARE IDENTIFIED BY AGENDA ITEM 
NUMBER. 
 

6. Emergency Evacuation Procedure 
 
When the continuous alarm sounds, you must evacuate the building by one of the 
designated exits and proceed to the named assembly point.  The designated exits are 
sign-posted. 
 
Arrangements are in place for the safe evacuation of disabled people. 



Development Control Committee - Wednesday, 14th March, 2012 
 

at 12.00 pm in the Council Chamber  - Guildhall, Bath 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 
1. EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE  
 The Chair will ask the Committee Administrator to draw attention to the emergency 

evacuation procedure as set out under Note 6 
 
2. ELECTION OF VICE CHAIR (IF DESIRED)  
 
3. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  
 
4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 Members who have an interest to declare are asked to state: 

 
(a) the Item No and site in which they have an interest; (b) the nature of the interest; 
and (c) whether the interest is personal or personal and prejudicial. 
 
Any Member who is unsure about the above should seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer prior to the meeting in order to expedite matters at the meeting itself. 

 
5. TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIR  
 
6. ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, STATEMENTS, 

PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS  
 (1) At the time of publication, no items had been submitted. 

 
(2) To note that, regarding planning applications to be considered, members of the 
public who have given the requisite notice to the Committee Administrator will be able 
to make a statement to the Committee immediately before their respective applications 
are considered. There will be a time limit of 3 minutes for each proposal, ie 3 minutes 
for the Parish and Town Councils, 3 minutes for the objectors to the proposal and 3 
minutes for the applicant, agent and supporters. This allows a maximum of 9 minutes 
per proposal. 

 
7. ITEMS FROM COUNCILLORS AND CO-OPTED MEMBERS  
 To deal with any petitions or questions from Councillors and where appropriate Co-

opted Members 



 
8. MINUTES: 15TH FEBRUARY 2012 (Pages 9 - 22) 
 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the previous meeting held on 

Wednesday 15th February 2012 
 
9. MAJOR DEVELOPMENTS  
 The Senior Professional – Major Developments to provide an oral update 
 
10. ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION - HOUSES IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION (Pages 23 - 256) 
 
11. SITE VISIT LIST - APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION ETC FOR 

DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE (Pages 257 - 266) 
 
12. MAIN PLANS LIST - APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION ETC FOR 

DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE (Pages 267 - 396) 
 
13. NEW PLANNING APPEALS LODGED, DECISIONS RECEIVED AND DATES OF 

FORTHCOMING HEARINGS/INQUIRIES (Pages 397 - 404) 
 To note the report 
 
The Committee Administrator for this meeting is David Taylor who can be contacted on  
01225 - 394414. 
 
 
 



Member and Officer Conduct/Roles Protocol* 
Development Control Committee 

 
(*NB This is a brief supplementary guidance note not intended to replace or otherwise in 
any way contradict Standing Orders or any provision of the Local Authorities (Mode 
Code of Conduct) Order 2001 adopted by the Council on 21st February 2002 to which full 
reference should be made as appropriate). 
 
1. Declarations of Interest (Personal and Prejudicial) 
 

 - These are to take place when the agenda item relating to declarations 
of interest is reached. It is best for Officer advice (which can only be informal) to 
be sought and given prior to or outside the Meeting.  In all cases the final decision 
is that of the individual Member.  

 
2. Local Planning Code of Conduct  
 

- This document as approved by Full Council and previously noted by the 
Committee, supplements the above. Should any Member wish to state declare 
that further to the provisions of the Code (although not a personal or prejudicial 
interest) they will not vote on any particular issue(s), they should do so after (1) 
above.  

 
3. Site Visits 

 
- Under the Council’s own Local Code, such visits should only take place when the 

expected benefit is substantial eg where difficult to visualize from the plans, or 
from written or oral submissions or the proposal is particularly contentious. 
Reasons for a site visit should be given and recorded. The attached note sets out 
the procedure. 

 
4. Voting & Chair’s Casting Vote 
 

 - By law the Chair has a second or “casting” vote. It 
is recognised and confirmed by Convention within the Authority that the Chair’s 
casting vote will not normally be exercised. A positive decision on all agenda 
items is, however, highly desirable in the planning context,  although exercise of 
the Chair’s casting vote to achieve this remains at the Chair’s discretion. 

 
  Chairs and Members of the Committee should be mindful of the fact that the 

Authority has a statutory duty to determine planning applications. A tied vote 
leaves a planning decision undecided.  This leaves the Authority at risk of appeal 
against non-determination and/or leaving the matter in abeyance with no clearly 
recorded decision on a matter of public concern/interest. 

 
  The consequences of this could include (in an appeal against “non-determination 

case) the need for a report to be brought back before the Committee for an 
indication of what decision the Committee would have come to if it had been 
empowered to determine the application. 

 



 
 
5. Officer Advice  
 
 - Officers will advise the meeting as a whole (either of their own initiative or 

when called upon to do so) where appropriate to clarify issues of fact, law or 
policy. It is accepted practice that all comments will be addressed through the 
Chair and any subsequent Member queries addressed likewise.  

 
6. Decisions Contrary to  Policy and Officer Advice  
 

- There is a power (not a duty) for Officers to refer any such decision to a 
subsequent meeting of the Committee. This renders a decision of no effect until it 
is reconsidered by the Committee at a subsequent meeting when it can make 
such decision as it sees fit. 

 
7. Officer Contact/Advice 
 

 - If Members have any conduct or legal queries prior to the Meeting, 
then they can contact the following Legal Officers for guidance/assistance as 
appropriate (bearing in mind that informal Officer advice is best sought or given 
prior to or outside the Meeting) namely:- 

 
  1. Maggie Horrill, Planning and Environmental Law Manager 
   Tel. No. 01225 39 5174  
 
  2. Simon Barnes, Senior Legal Adviser 
    Tel. No. 01225 39 5176 
   

  
 - General Member queries relating to the Agenda (including Public Speaking 

arrangements for example) should continue to be addressed to David Taylor, 
Committee Administrator Tel No. 01225 39 4414 

 
 Planning and Environmental Law Manager, Planning Services Manager, 
 Democratic Services Manager, Solicitor to the Council 
April 2002  



Site Visit Procedure 
 
(1) Any Member of the Development Control or local Member(s) may request at 
 a meeting the deferral of any application (reported to Committee) 
 for the purpose of holding a site visit. 

 
(2) The attendance at the site inspection is confined to Members of the Development Control 

Committee and the relevant affected local Member(s). 
 
(3) The purpose of the site visit is to view the proposal and enhance Members’ knowledge of 

the site and its surroundings.  Members will be professionally advised by Officers on site 
but no debate shall take place. 

 
(4) There are no formal votes or recommendations made. 
 
(5) There is no allowance for representation from the applicants or third parties on the site. 
 
(6) The application is reported back for decision at the next meeting of the Development 

Control Committee. 
 
(7) In relation to applications of a controversial nature, a site visit could take place before the 

application comes to Committee, if Officers feel this is necessary.



 

 
7 

 

BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET COUNCIL 
 
MINUTES OF DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
 
Wednesday, 15th February, 2012 

 
Present:- Councillor Gerry Curran in the Chair 
Councillors Liz Hardman, Eleanor Jackson, Les Kew, David Martin, Douglas Nicol, 
Bryan Organ, Martin Veal, David Veale, Brian Webber and Jeremy Sparks (In place of Neil 
Butters) 
 
Also in attendance: Councillors Lisa Brett and Vic Pritchard 
 
 

 
119 
  

EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE  
 
The Democratic Services Officer read out the procedure. 
 

120 
  

ELECTION OF VICE CHAIRMAN (IF DESIRED)  
 
A Vice Chair was not required. 
 

121 
  

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  
 
Councillors Lisa Brett and Neil Butters had sent their apologies to the Committee. 
Councillor Jeremy Sparks was present as a substitute for Councillor Butters. 
 

122 
  

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were none. 
 

123 
  

TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIRMAN  
 
There was none. 
 

124 
  

ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, STATEMENTS, 
PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS  
 
The Democratic Services Officer informed the meeting that there were various 
members of the public etc. wishing to make statements on planning applications in 
Report 10 and that they would be able to do so when reaching those items on the 
Agenda. 
 

125 
  

ITEMS FROM COUNCILLORS AND CO-OPTED MEMBERS  
 
There were no items from Councillors. 
 

126 
  

MINUTES: 18 JANUARY 2012  
 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 18th January 2012 were approved as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman. 

Agenda Item 8

Page 9



 

 
8 

 

 
 

127 
  

MAJOR DEVELOPMENTS  
 
The Senior Professional, Major Developments updated Members on the on-going 
works in the centre of Radstock. He explained that currently Wessex Water were 
carrying out a sewer replacement exercise and that this was causing some traffic 
delays to the area. He added that the latest information he had was that these works 
would last for a further two weeks. 
 
He explained that the site compound which is currently being used by Wessex Water 
will be retained and used by the Council for their use when undertaking the Cabinet 
approved road works for the area in March. 
 
He added that Bellway Homes were no longer involved in the local housing 
development and that Linden Homes had taken over the project. 
 
Councillor Eleanor Jackson commented that she was concerned over the lack of an 
archaeologist on site and that there may be a risk to wildlife through contamination. 
Her concerns stemmed from the original planning application of 2006. 
 
The Chairman replied that it was his understanding that the works involving the 
utilities were permitted development. 
 
The Senior Professional, Major Developments added that only if and when the 
development approved in 2007 commences would the conditions of that permission 
come into effect. He explained that any concerns over possible contamination in 
connection with the Wessex Water works could be reported to the Council’s 
Contaminated Land Officer or to the Environment Agency. 
 
Councillor Les Kew asked if he was able to update the Committee on the site of the 
Gainsborough Hotel. 
 
The Senior Professional, Major Developments replied that he was not involved with 
that particular site himself and would therefore ask for a written response to be sent 
to Councillor Kew. 
 
Councillor Les Kew asked if all the current conditions associated with the Train and 
Bus station on the Southgate development had been met. 
 
The Senior Professional, Major Developments replied that there were a large 
number of conditions associated with the site and that these were designed to be 
discharged in a phased manner. He added that all of the currently relevant 
conditions had been met.  
 
Councillor Douglas Nicol asked for an update on the site of Green Park House as he 
was concerned over the amount of litter that was in close proximity to the site. 
 
The Senior Professional, Major Developments replied that the site had been 
purchased and that therefore the developer was responsible for the maintenance 
and tidiness of the site. He would however ask colleagues to provide a written 
update for Councillor Nicol. 

Page 10



 

 
9 

 

 
In response to a further request from Councillor Eleanor Jackson, Officers will also 
provide a written update for Members with regard to the Bidwell Metals site at 
Clandown, Radstock. 
 
The Members of the Committee noted the update. 
 

128 
  

MAIN PLANS LIST - APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION ETC FOR 
DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE  
 
The Chairman announced that the applications relating to the proposed new Tesco 
development on the former Bath Press site and the expansion of Sainsbury’s at 
Green Park had been withdrawn from this agenda and would be debated at the 
March meeting of the Committee. 
 
The Committee considered 
 
• A report by the Development Manager on various applications for planning 

permission etc 
 
• Oral statements by members of the public etc on Item Nos 3-5, the Speakers 

List being attached as Appendix 1 to these Minutes 
 

• An Update Report by the Development Manager on Item Nos 1-3, a copy of 
which is attached as Appendix 2 to these Minutes 
 

RESOLVED that, in accordance with their delegated powers, the applications be 
determined as set out in the Decisions List attached as Appendix 3 to these Minutes. 
 
Item 3 - Native Woodland Ltd. Clearbrook Farm, Midford Hill, Hinton 
Charterhouse, Bath, Bath And North East Somerset. Use of agricultural land as 
a natural burial ground (revised resubmission). 
 
The Case Officer reported on this application and his recommendation for refusal. 
The public speakers made their statements on the application. 
 
Members asked questions to which the Case Officer responded. 
 
Councillor Eleanor Jackson stated that she felt that the application was not 
inappropriate within the Green Belt and moved that the Committee disagree with the 
officer recommendation and grant the application. The motion was seconded by 
Councillor Martin Veal. Members debated the motion. It was generally agreed that 
the main issue was the impact of the car parking on the site but that such use would 
be intermittent and well screened and therefore not harmful to openness or visual 
amenity. 
 
The Chairman therefore asked the Committee to vote on the motion moved by 
Councillor Jackson to delegate to officers to permit the application subject to 
appropriate conditions. 
 
Voting: 7 in favour, 2 against and 2 abstentions. Motion carried. 

Page 11



 

 
10 

 

 
Reasons: the Committee felt that the proposal was not an inappropriate development 
within the Green Belt as it would not cause any harm to the openness of the Green 
Belt – the burial ground itself would have little impact and members were satisfied 
that car parking associated with the development would be intermittent and would be 
well screened by the existing hedgerow. For the same reasons, members were also 
satisfied that the impact on the countryside and the Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty would be acceptable. 
 
Item 4 - Avon Wildlife Trust. Folly Farm, Folly Lane, Stowey, Bristol, Bath and 
North East Somerset. Change of use from Class C2 to Mixed Use combining 
Classes C2/ D2 for residential education, wedding ceremonies and receptions 
with ancillary cafe, teaching and workshop facilities (Retrospective). 
 
The Case Officer reported on this application and his recommendation to permit with 
conditions. A public speaker and Ward Councillor Vic Pritchard made their 
statements on the application. 
 
Members asked questions to which the Case Officer responded. 
 
Councillor Les Kew stated that he saw the application as a continuation in the use of 
the site, which had caused no complaints and felt that it was ideal for the occasions 
outlined in the application. He therefore moved the Officer recommendation and 
asked for a management plan to be included as part of the conditions imposed. The 
motion was seconded by Councillor Martin Veal. 
 
The Chairman at this point wished to clarify the operational hours of the site as they 
had been printed incorrectly within the agenda. Condition 4 should read ‘The use 
hereby approved shall not operate outside the hours of 0900 to 0200 Monday to 
Saturday and 0900 to 2300 Sundays and Bank Holidays.’ 
 
The Case Officer stated that there were other conditions that required amendment 
(eg a limit on the number of wedding events in a given period) and suggested that 
the motion be changed to delegate to officers to permit with appropriate conditions. 
The mover and seconder agreed. 
 
The Chairman asked the Committee to vote on the motion moved by Councillor Kew 
to delegate to officers to permit the application subject to appropriate conditions. 
 
The Committee voted and the motion was carried unanimously. 
 
Item 5 - Partridge Homes (Cotswolds) Ltd. Former Allotment Gardens, 
Southbourne Gardens, Fairfield Park, Bath, Bath and North East Somerset. 
Variation of condition 2 (plans list) of application 10/03251/VAR (Variation of 
condition 2 of application 07/01598/FUL to allow a variation to the design of 
house type A (Plots 1-8)). 
 
The Case Officer reported on this application and his recommendation to permit with 
condition(s). The public speakers and Ward Councillor Lisa Brett made their 
statements on the application. 
 

Page 12



 

 
11 

 

Councillor Douglas Nicol moved that consideration be deferred for a Site Visit to view 
the access proposals to the site in the context of its surroundings. This was 
seconded by Councillor Martin Veal.  
 
The Committee voted and the motion was carried unanimously. 
 

129 
  

NEW PLANNING APPEALS LODGED, DECISIONS RECEIVED AND DATES OF 
FORTHCOMING HEARINGS/INQUIRIES  
 
At the request of the Chairman, the Development Manager confirmed the events in 
March involving the Committee. 
 
The Committee RESOLVED to note the report. 
 
 
 
Appendix 1: Speakers List 
 
Appendix 2: Update Report 
 
Appendix 3: Decisions List 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 4.05 pm  
 

Chair(person)  
 

Date Confirmed and Signed  
 

Prepared by Democratic Services 
 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



SPEAKERS LIST 
BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET COUNCIL 
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
 
MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ETC WISHING TO MAKE A STATEMENT AT 
THE DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE AT ITS MEETING ON 
WEDNESDAY 15THFEBRUARY 2012 
 
SITE/REPORT  NAME/REPRESENTING  FOR/AGAINST 
 
MAIN PLANS LIST 
REPORT 11 

  

Clearbrook Farm (Item 3) Michael Devenish (Chair, 
South Stoke Parish Council) 

Against 
Caroline Ford (resident) Against 
James Leedam For 

Folly Farm (Item 4) Lisa Jackson (Agent) 
 

For 
Former Allotment 
Gardens, Southbourne 
Gardens (Item 5) 

Chris Dance 
Sean McIntyre 
Shaun Redden  

Against 

John Easdon (representing 
applicant 

For 
 

Page 7Page 15



Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET COUNCIL 
 

Development Control Committee 
 

Feb 15th 2012  
 

OBSERVATIONS RECEIVED SINCE THE PREPARATION OF THE MAIN 
AGENDA 

ITEM 10 
 
ITEMS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION 
 
 
Item No 
1 

Application No 
10/03380/EFUL 

Address 
The Bath Press, Lower Bristol Road, 
Westmoreland, Bath 
 

Following the publication of the Committee Agenda, the Applicants have 
submitted substantial further information relating, firstly, to the retail impact of 
their store and, secondly, to an independent review of their highway 
proposals.  In order for this additional information to be assessed and 
publicised, Officers have withdrawn this application from the Agenda for the 
meeting.  The application will appear on a future Agenda once the new 
information has been analysed. 
 
 
Item No Application No Address 
2                  10/04475/FUL           Green Park Station, Green Park Road, 
                                                      City Centre, Bath 
 
Following the publication of the Committee Agenda, it came to the attention of 
Officers that an administrative error had unfortunately resulted in a substantial 
portion of the Officer Report on this item being omitted from the papers 
circulated to Members and available for public inspection.  In order to ensure 
that a decision on this application can be made in the light of the full extent of 
the Officer Report, Officers have withdrawn this application from the Agenda 
for the meeting.  The application will now be reported to the March meeting of 
the Committee. 
 
 
Item No Application No Address 
3                  11/04422/FUL           Clearbrook Farm, Midford Hill, Hinton 
                                                      Charterhouse, Bath 
 
Further information has been received from the applicant following completion 
of the committee report.  This provides estimated farm income/expenditure 
figures for 2010/2011 and is submitted to support the case for the proposed 
development. 
 
 

Page 9Page 17



Officer Comments: 
The proposed development is considered to be inappropriate development in 
the Green Belt and such development should not be permitted except in very 
special circumstances.  In support of the application the landowner states that 
the use would guarantee that the field used for burials protects its green state 
for the foreseeable future whilst providing sufficient income to continue 
maintaining all of the land in the most ecologically friendly way. The applicant 
has submitted financial information in support of this assertion which shows a 
current annual deficit and which is described as a subsidy towards the 
stewardship of the land.  Whilst these figures have not been independently 
verified, although Officers have no reason to question them, no information 
has been provided on the income to the landowner from using the site for 
natural burials.  Although the current deficit is relatively low the landowner has 
indicated that financial support in the form of Single Farm Payment is likely to 
be phased out or removed next year and without another source of income 
the deficit would increase significantly.  Whilst on the submitted evidence 
there is financial deficit arising from the current use of the land, this in itself is 
not considered sufficient to outweigh the harm caused by the proposed 
development and to justify a departure from policy. 
 
Amendment to Development Control Committee Agenda 
 
REASON FOR REPORTING APPLICATION TO COMMITTEE 
Two Parish Councils object to the application and another supports the 
application.  Under the Council's Scheme of Delegation the Chair of the 
Development Control Committee has determined that the application should 
be reported to Committee. 

Page 10Page 18



BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET COUNCIL 
 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
15th February 2012 

DECISIONS 
 
Item No:   01 
Application No: 10/03380/EFUL 
Site Location: The Bath Press, Lower Bristol Road, Westmoreland, Bath 
Ward: Westmoreland  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: N/A 
Application Type: Full Application with an EIA attached 
Proposal: Mixed-use redevelopment comprising 6,300sqm of retail (Class A1), 

4,580sqm of creative work space (Class B1), 2,610sqm of offices 
(Class B1), 220sqm of community space (Class D1/D2), 10 
residential houses, car park, landscape and access (including 
realignment of Brook Road) 

Constraints: Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, British Waterways, Flood Zone 2, Forest of 
Avon, Hazards & Pipelines, Hotspring Protection, Tree Preservation 
Order, World Heritage Site,  

Applicant:  St James's Investments Limited & Tesco Stores Limited 
Expiry Date:  9th December 2010 
Case Officer: Sarah James 
 
DECISION Withdrawn from the agenda prior to the Committee meeting. 
 
Item No:   02 
Application No: 10/04475/FUL 
Site Location: Sainsburys Supermarkets Limited  Green Park Station, Green Park 
Road, City Centre, Bath 
Ward: Kingsmead  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: N/A 
Application Type: Full Application 
Proposal: Erection of extension to foodstore to provide additional retail 

floorspace and warehouse floorspace. Alterations to car park layout 
and engineering works to the southern bank of the River Avon to 
provide flood storage compensation. 

Constraints: Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Article 4, British Waterways, Conservation 
Area, Cycle Route, Floodplain Protection, Flood Zone 2, Flood Zone 
3, Flood Zone 3, Forest of Avon, General Development Site, 
Hotspring Protection, Listed Building, Sites of Nature Conservation 
Imp (SN), Sustainable Transport, World Heritage Site,  

Applicant:  Sainsbury's Supermarket Ltd 
Expiry Date:  4th February 2011 
Case Officer: Geoff Webber 

Page 11Page 19



 
DECISION Withdrawn from the agenda prior to the Committee meeting. 
 
 
 
 
Item No:   03 
Application No: 11/04422/FUL 
Site Location: Clearbrook Farm, Midford Hill, Hinton Charterhouse, Bath 
Ward: Bathavon South  Parish: Hinton Charterhouse  LB Grade: N/A 
Application Type: Full Application 
Proposal: Use of agricultural land as a natural burial ground (revised 

resubmission). 
Constraints: Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, 

Greenbelt,  
Applicant:  Native Woodland Ltd. 
Expiry Date:  23rd January 2012 
Case Officer: Gwilym Jones 
 
DECISION Delegate to PERMIT 
 
Authorise the Development Manager to PERMIT with appropriate conditions. 
 
 
 
Item No:   04 
Application No: 10/04399/FUL 
Site Location: Folly Farm, Folly Lane, Stowey, Bristol 
Ward: Chew Valley South  Parish: Stowey Sutton  LB Grade: N/A 
Application Type: Full Application 
Proposal: Change of use from Class C2 to Mixed Use combining Classes C2/ 

D2 for residential education, wedding ceremonies and receptions with 
ancillary cafe, teaching and workshop facilities (Retrospective) 

Constraints: Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Coal fields, Forest 
of Avon, Greenbelt, Sites of Nature Conservation Imp (SN), Water 
Source Areas,  

Applicant:  Avon Wildlife Trust 
Expiry Date:  16th February 2011 
Case Officer: Andy Pegler 
 
DECISION Delegate to PERMIT 
 
Authorise the Development Manager to PERMIT with additional appropriate conditions. 
 

Page 12Page 20



 
Item No:   05 
Application No: 11/04867/VAR 
Site Location: Former Allotment Gardens, Southbourne Gardens, Fairfield Park, 
Bath 
Ward: Walcot  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: N/A 
Application Type: Application for Variation of Condition 
Proposal: Variation of condition 2 (plans list) of application 10/03251/VAR 

(Variation of condition 2 of application 07/01598/FUL to allow a 
variation to the design of house type A (Plots 1-8)) 

Constraints: Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Article 4, Conservation Area, Forest of Avon, 
Hotspring Protection, World Heritage Site,  

Applicant:  Partridge Homes (Cotswolds) Ltd 
Expiry Date:  10th January 2012 
Case Officer: Andy Pegler 
 
DECISION Defer consideration 
 
Defer consideration to allow Members to visit the site. 
 
Reason: To view the entrance to the application site within the context of its surroundings. 
 
 
 

Page 13Page 21



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22



 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 
 

MEETING: Development Control Committee 
MEETING 
DATE: 14 March 2012 AGENDA 

ITEM 
NUMBER  

TITLE: Control and Regulation of Houses of Multiple Occupation in 
Bath: Implementation Options 

WARD: Bath 
AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

List of attachments to this report: 
Appendix A - Article 4 Direction for Houses in Multiple Occupation: Feasibility Study 

(February 2012) 
Appendix B - HMO Study Options : Equality Impact Assessment (December 2011) 
Appendix C - HMO Study Options : Implementation Cost Assessment Summary 

February 2012) 
Appendix D – HMO Licensing: Private Sector Licencing  (February 2012) 
 
1  INTRODUCTION 
1.1 Later today (14th March) Cabinet are asked to consider four potential options for 

intervention in managing existing and future growth of Houses in Multiple Occupation 
(HMO) in Bath, and to identify their preferred strategy to address the issue.  

1.2  The options include business as usual, the use of additional mandatory licencing for 
HMOs and also the use of planning tools such as the use of an “Article 4 Direction” to 
remove permitted development rights to change use between a dwelling house (i.e. 
family house) and a small HMO with between 3 and 5 unrelated people living together, 
together with enhanced planning policy. 

 
2 RECOMMENDATION FOR DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
2.1 The Development Control Committee is asked to provide a statement of their views to 

inform the consideration by Cabinet on this issue. 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 10

Page 23



 
 

3 THE ISSUE 
3.1 In response to concerns about the impact of high levels of Houses in Multiple 

Occupation (HMOs) in Bath, Planning Services and Housing Services have 
investigated the options for policy intervention for consideration.  Planning controls 
(an Article 4 Direction) could be used to limit future growth in HMOs, while housing-
led solutions (eg licensing) could tackle issues relating to housing conditions and 
HMO management issues. A study prepared on behalf of the Council by Arup 
identified four options. 

3.2 These options are;  

(1) implement an Article 4 Direction in 2013 to remove permitted development  
rights to change use from a dwelling house (i.e. family house) to a small HMO 
(between 3 and 5 unrelated people living together) and introduce a 
supplementary HMO threshold planning policy to enable implementation.   

(2) designate all or part of the district to be subject to additional licencing for 
classes of HMOs specified by the Council.  

(3) a combination of the above 
(4) take no additional action beyond that already in place. 

 
4 RECOMMENDATION TO CABINET 
4.1 That Cabinet agrees that; 

a)  Notice is given of the Council’s “intention to implement” an Article 4 Direction 
over Houses in Multiple Occupation in the City of Bath, 

b) A 6 week public consultation being undertaken, with results being considered 
before any implementation of the Article 4 Direction, 

c) authority is delegated to the Divisional Director for Planning & Transport, in 
conjunction with the Cabinet Member for Planning and Housing,  to prepare and 
publish the Article 4 Direction Schedule, 

d) a Supplementary Planning Policy is prepared as part of the local Development 
Framework to enable implementation of the Article 4 Direction,  

e) the results of the public consultation are considered by Cabinet in no less than 
12 months from the notice of the Article 4 Direction to enable consideration as to 
whether the Article 4 Direction should be confirmed, abandoned or amended;  

and 

Page 24



f) Evidence is gathered to ascertain whether the legislative conditions for 
introducing additional licensing can be met, and if so, undertake a 10 week public 
consultation exercise which will inform the design of any such designation.  The 
outcome of this process will be subject to a further report to Cabinet where a 
decision will be made to whether to implement additional licensing and if so, 
whether all or part of the District to be subject to additional licencing for classes of 
HMOs specified by the Council. 

 
5 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
5.1 There are direct cost implications of this decision for Planning and Housing services. 

The cost of implementing each of the options has been assessed in detail, and a 
scenario testing cost exercise has been undertaken. A summary of this cost 
assessment is available in Appendix C.  

5.2 Any on-going costs forming part of an agreed way forward, will represent a 
commitment for growth against the 2013/2014 Budget. 

Headline cost impact summary 
Option Costs 

Option 1: Article 4 Direction Plus 
Threshold Policy 
 

 

Implementing an Article 4 Direction  
 

£15,000 set up – including public consultation (not 
recoupable) 
 

Preparing a threshold Policy in 
Supplementary Planning Document 
 

£11, 000 set up (not recoupable)  
 

On-going Development Management 
operations cost 
 

£31,000 recurring p.a. (not recoupable) 

Option 2: Additional Licensing  
 

£32k set up costs – including public consultation (not 
recoupable) 
On-going costs recouped through charging 

Option 3: Combined Approach Same costs as 1& 2 above combined 

Option 4: Current Approach No direct additional financial costs 

 
5.3 These costs can be broken down as follows: 
 Planning 
• Ongoing costs will be incurred by Development Management to deal with 

additional planning applications, enforcement, appeals and general queries which 
cannot be recouped via planning fees (applications triggered by an Article 4 are 
exempt from fees). Mid-range scenario cost-estimate is £31,000 per annum, but 
these costs could be higher (as shown in in worst case scenario). This will begin to 
be incurred ongoing each year from 2013/4 if an Article 4 Direction is pursued and 

Page 25



hence would need to be considered in the preparation of the Service Plan for 
2013/4. 

• Non-recurring cost of introducing a HMO Supplementary Planning Document 
containing a threshold policy (fast tracking option) - £11,000. This will need to 
funded from re-prioritisation within the existing LDF budget. 

• A non-recurring £15,000 set up cost for Article 4 Direction incurred in 2013/4 if an 
Article 4 Direction is pursued. This will need to be funded through the Local 
Development Framework Budget and will require a re-prioritisation of existing 
commitments. 

• Consultations on both Article 4 Direction and a HMO Supplementary Planning 
Document will need to be funded from Local Development Framework Budget and 
a joint consultation will be the most efficient use of resources. 

Housing 
• Additional licensing is administratively complex and resource intensive.  From 

experience, and looking at other schemes, it is estimated that for every 1,000 
HMOs brought into licensing four permanent staff, or the equivalent resource, is 
required.  In addition Housing Services would need to look at how the existing 
Mandatory licensing process can be re-designed to be used more effectively for 
Additional licensing, possibly through e-work flows, as pioneered on the 
Homesearch scheme.  This work, establishing the evidence base, consultation, 
introducing and publishing the designations, appointment of additional staff will all 
be upfront costs.  The research commissioned, by ARUP, estimated these costs to 
be £32,000.   

• These costs are not part of Housing Services financial plans and would need to 
meet through a re-prioritisation of existing work streams, such as the suspension 
of the existing voluntary accreditation scheme.  

• Fees can be levied to cover the administrative costs of licensing including publicity, 
back-office functions & inspections.  Current HMO licensing fees start at £750 for a 
5 year license.  It is therefore reasonable to assume that the cost to the sector will 
be around £150,000 p.a. for every 1,000 HMOs brought into licensing. 

• It is important to remember that whilst the scheme should be cost neutral to the 
Council there are some significant risks associated with: calculating the fee, 
particularly given that the lack of certainty around HMO numbers; the potential for 
the scheme to generate additional non-fee generating work, such as enforcement 
action; and the costs of defending a potential judicial challenge to the designation. 

• public consultation on introducing additional licensing measures can be combined 
with the Article 4 Direction consultation to ensure most efficient use of resources.  

5 CORPORATE PRIORITIES 
6.1 This item contributes mainly to priority 2 “creating neighbourhoods where people are 

proud to live”. There is also a need to consider the economic priority in considering 
this decision and equalities issues in promoting positive lives for everyone. 

Page 26



• Promoting independence and positive lives for everyone 
• Creating neighbourhoods where people are proud to live 
• Building a stronger economy 

 
 

7 THE REPORT 
LEGISLATIVE BACKGROUND 
7.1 On 1st October 2010 changes to planning legislation relating to the control of HMOs 

came into force. The changes were made to the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended) and extended permitted 
development rights to allow a change of use between Use Class C3 (Dwelling house) 
and Use Class C4 (Houses in Multiple Occupation) without the need for a planning 
application. This change means that any change of use between a dwellinghouse and 
a small HMO can occur without the need for planning permission unless the local 
authority has specifically identified an area in which planning applications will be 
required. Local authorities are able to do this through the use of an article 4 direction 
which removes the permitted development right that allows the change of use to occur. 

7.2 Local planning authorities should only consider Article 4 Directions where they feel that 
there are exceptional circumstances and where evidence suggests that the exercise of 
permitted development rights would harm the local amenity or proper planning of the 
area. 

 
RESEARCH 
7.3 In June 2011 the Cabinet requested that investigations should be undertaken into 

how planning controls (including an Article 4 Direction) could be used to control the 
future spread and increase in Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) in Bath.  A 
feasibility study was undertaken which collated the relevant local evidence and 
formulated options for action - see Appendix A - Article 4 Direction for Houses in 
Multiple Occupation: Feasibility Study (February 2012).  

7.4 The study shows that concentrations of student HMOs are particularly high in the 
wards of Widcombe, Oldfield Park and Westmoreland although there are other wards 
in the City with high numbers. It should be noted that HMOs play a wider role in 
providing housing for a wide range of groups including students, young professionals 
and graduates, lower paid workers and under 35 year old singles on housing benefit. 
It is clear that while there is good data on student HMOs, the data on other HMOs is 
patchy as there is no requirement for the majority to be registered with the local 
authority and as planning permission is not currently required. 

7.5 Issues of concern expressed by residents are: inflating impact on cost of family 
housing, noise, litter, parking, environmental degradation and poor property 
maintenance, impact on perception of areas, and other impacts on the community 
related to high levels of transient population. However the report identifies both the 
positive and negative impact of HMOs. It found that in relation to indicators of 
environmental degradation and social impacts (e.g. crime, noise, anti-social 
behaviour) there is not a strong link with student HMOs. However, the data gathered 
shows very high concentrations of HMOs in parts of the City, it is this that is the 
considered to be the primarily cause of harm, impacting on community balance. It is 

Page 27



this impact that is seen to be the justification for potentially implementing an Article 4 
Direction. 

7.6 A stakeholder workshop was held in October 2011 with local residents, HMO 
landlords, Business representatives, the Universities, Councillors and cross-service 
officer representation. The Bath Chamber of Commerce, HMO landlords and estate 
agents, both Universities and student groups have expressed that they would oppose 
a proposal by the Council to adopt an approach to restricting HMO growth in the city 
using planning controls. 

7.7 Other mechanisms that contribute to alleviating any potential problems with HMOs, 
and consideration of approaches taken in other cities in the UK has also been 
included in the study. A number of those at the stakeholder workshop expressed a 
strong interest in introducing Additional licencing schemes because it could help to 
address housing condition issues and enable greater regulation of all existing and 
future HMOs. 
 

PLANNING CONTROLS 
 

7.8 An Article 4 Direction would mean that express planning permission would be required 
for a change of use from a dwelling house (i.e. family house) to a small HMO (3-5 
unrelated people living together) although B&NES will not be able to collect fees for 
processing the processing of these applications. Reasons for refusal of planning 
permission will still be required on a case by case basis.  
 

7.9 The feasibility study also identified that the Council’s existing Planning Policy (Local Plan 
Policy HG.12) would need to be supplemented or amended to make the Article 4 
Direction effective. A supplementary policy would need to set out a threshold, for 
instance, where 20% of dwellings within a 100m radius of the property are already an 
HMO permission would not be granted for change of use from a family dwelling to an 
HMO. Such a policy could also prohibit extensions to existing HMOs where these 
require planning permission. Monitoring data would include the use information such as 
Council tax exemptions and any other licencing records held by Housing Services. 

 
7.10 It should be emphasised, that an Article 4 Direction cannot be applied retrospectively 

and would only control future changes of use from the date when it came into effect. It 
would therefore not tackle any existing issues in areas with high densities of HMOs. 

 

7.11 An Article 4 Direction needs to be justified, based on evidence and have a defined 
geographical coverage. A 12 month notice period of intention to adopt should be given 
to avoid legal liability risks. 

 

7.12 The study concludes that a City-wide rather than a partial Article 4 Direction is 
appropriate due to the likelihood of displacement effects because of the compact nature 
of the city. 

 

7.13 There is already a strong correlation between concentrations of student HMOs and 
University bus routes and public transport corridors. Transport Services has expressed 
concern about the impact of dispersing student HMOs away from the key bus routes to 

Page 28



the Universities will lead to less sustainable travel patterns and may an adversely impact 
on the Universities’ travel plans.  

 
HOUSING CONTROLS  

 
7.14 The Housing Act 2004 increased Local Housing Authority’s (LHA) abilities to regulate 

the private rented sector by introducing three forms of licensing, these being: 
Mandatory licensing of HMOs; Additional licensing of HMOs;  and Selective licensing of 
the private rented sector.  Appendix D provides a summary of the three forms of 
licensing and the conditions that must be achieved.  Operating a property covered by 
the designation without a license is an offence punishable by a fine up to £20,000. 

 
7.15 Following the introduction of a General Approval Order in March 2010 an LHA can now 

introduce additional or selective licensing without the need for Secretary of State 
approval.  However, introducing additional or selective licensing is not a decision to be 
taken lightly by the Council.  The conditions that must be satisfied are contained in Part 
2 of the Housing Act 2004 and are further detailed in guidance issued by the 
Department of Communities & Local Government (CLG) issued in December 2007. 

 
7.16  The guidance makes it clear that additional licensing is not just another tool in the 

toolbox and that it should only be seen as an option to use when there are real 
problems with HMOs that have not been solved by using other available powers and a 
variety of approaches.  This is reflected in the low numbers of additional licensing 
schemes that exist at present.  We understand that at present there are 11 additional 
licensing schemes in existence.  Appendix D provides some further details on these 
schemes including LHA & scope of scheme.  

 
7.17 The primary purpose of HMO licensing is to improve housing standards.  It allows the 

LHA to ensure that conditions, amenity & fire safety standards comply with current 
legislative standards.  As such the principle beneficiaries of licensing are tenants.  
However, some LHAs use the licence as a vehicle to improve the management of the 
property and to respond to complaints by local residents about the condition of houses 
and behaviour of tenants.  Hence licences often contain conditions relating to the 
number of waste receptacles required and management conditions, such as, that the 
landlord takes reasonable steps to minimise any nuisance, alarm or harassment by 
tenants etc.  

 
7.18 To withstand the challenge of a judicial review the Council would need to be able to 

produce evidence to meet the over arching condition contained in the Housing Act 
2004 which states that the LHA should: 

  
“consider that a significant proportion of the HMOs of that description in the 
area are being managed sufficiently ineffectively as to give rise, or to be 
likely to give rise, to one or more particular problems either for those 
occupying the HMOs or for members of the public” 

 
7.19  An analysis of the evidence would be required to confirm that the above requirements 

are met.  At this stage this is not clear. 
  

Page 29



7.20 The designation can cover a single ward or the entire district.  It can cover a specific 
type of HMO or all types.  However, the CLG guidance states that… 

 
it is not the intention of the legislation that additional licensing should apply to 
all types of HMO across entire LHA areas.  It should be used to tackle specific 
problems in specific areas   

 
7.21 Appendix D confirms that the existing schemes range from a single ward (Cardiff) to a 

whole City (Newport, Oxford).  From 3 storey HMOs (Hastings) to all HMOs (Oxford, 
Cardiff, Hastings, Newport & Slough). 

 
CONCLUSIONS  
 
7.22 Section 1 of this report outlines the policy intervention options based on the 

recommendations of the Arup Report (Appendix A).  
 
 
8 RISK MANAGEMENT 
8.1 The report author and Lead Cabinet member have fully reviewed the risk assessment 

related to the issue and recommendations, in compliance with the Council's decision 
making risk management guidance. 

8.2 An Article 4 Direction can be legally challenged in relation to whether there is a sound 
basis for its implementation. Government guidance advocates that local planning 
authorities should consider making article 4 directions only in: 

 
exceptional circumstances where evidence suggests that the exercise of 
permitted development rights would harm local amenity or the proper planning 
of the area.  

 
8.3 A limited number of Local Authorities have implemented Article 4 Directions in relation to 

HMOs so there is little precedent. 
 

8.4 Likewise Additional licensing can be legally challenged in relation to whether there is a 
sound basis for its implementation.  

 
 
9 EQUALITIES 
9.1 An equalities impact assessment has been undertaken (see Appendix B). The 

conclusions of the assessment can be summarised as follows: 
Option 1: City Wide Article 4 Direction and threshold policy 

• Could lead to a more dispersed distribution of HMOs, which could lead to poorer 
access to public transport for HMO residents and feeling of isolation from greater 
dispersion. 

• Rental prices in most popular student areas likely to rise (Oldfield Park, Westmoreland, 
Widcombe) which will affect people with lower salaries and students (both most likely 
to be young people). 

Page 30



• Wards with highest BME populations (Bathwick/Abbey) also have high proportion of 
HMOs, so these groups may be affected. 

 
Option 2: Additional Mandatory HMO Licencing and Purpose Built Student 
Accommodation Policy 

• Additional Licencing is likely to have a positive effect on all equality groups by raising 
the standard of all HMOs in Bath. 

• Adequate provision should be made to help some equality groups fill in any necessary 
paperwork to comply with Licencing process. 

• Licencing may push up rental prices if landlords see an opportunity to pass on costs to 
tenants which will affect people with lower salaries and students (both most likely to be 
young people). 

• Wards with highest BME populations (Bathwick/Abbey) also have high proportion of 
HMOs, so these groups may be affected. 

 
Option 3: Combination of options 1 and 2 
In addition to the above: 

• May lead to the perception that HMOs are not welcome in the city and therefore make 
it harder for employers to attract lower paid workers or graduate employees. 

• May result in loss of trade in some areas if current tenants are replaced by people with 
lower disposable income (e.g. young families or non-student HMO residents e.g. 
migrant workers) 

 
Option 4: Do nothing additional 

• If left unchecked HMO and neighbourhood quality could worsen over time, this could 
disproportionately affect some equalities groups e.g. disabled people, students and 
lower paid (typically young people),  

• House prices in areas with high level of HMOs could continue to be inflated making 
home ownership more unaffordable for lower income groups. 

 
9.2  In addition to this EqIA, concern has also been raised about the potential disclosure of 

HMOs in use as bail houses or domestic violence refuges. However, the details of any 
HMO used in this way would not need to be disclosed in a planning application. 

 
 
 

10 RATIONALE 
10.1 A response is required to deal with the high levels of HMOs in parts of Bath. The 

recommended option 3, in combination approach, is considered the most effective as it 
seeks to tackle housing quality and management issues retrospectively through 
Additional Licencing, while also seeking further control on the expansion of HMOs 
through Planning Controls. 

11 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
11.1 Four possible options have been identified as summarised in part 1 of this report. 

Option 3 is the officer recommendation as it is considered to be the most effective; 
however, it is also the most resource intensive. Further detail on each of the options 
is outlined in Appendix A. 

Page 31



12 CONSULTATION 
12.1 Ward Councillor; Cabinet members; Overview & Scrutiny Panel; Other B&NES 

Services;; Local Residents; Stakeholders/Partners; Other Public Sector Bodies; 
Section 151 Finance Officer; Chief Executive; Monitoring Officer 

12.2 To determine the options available to the Council, work has been undertaken with 
Ward Councillors including walkabouts of Oldfield Park and Westmoreland wards, 
discussions have taken place with the Universities and other key stakeholders 
including local residents, HMO landlords and estate agents. In addition a 
Stakeholder Workshop was held in October 2011, a report of this workshop is 
included within Appendix A (as Appendix 1 to the study report). 

12.3 The options were considered by the Planning, Transport & Environment Policy 
Development Scrutiny Panel on 6th December 2011. Following deliberation, the 
panel chair concluded they were unable to support option 3 due to concerns about 
the cost of implementation and the impact on current home owners who may wish to 
sell their properties. 

12.4 The Council’s Development Control Committee at their meeting on 14th March 2012 
has been asked to submit a statement of their views for consideration by the 
Cabinet.  

12.5 Public consultation is required should the Council wish to proceed with either Article 
4 Direction and supplementary policy or additional housing licensing.  The results of 
the consultation on the Article 4 Direction will be considered by cabinet following the 
lapse 12 month notice period. Any amendments to the Article 4 Direction would 
need to be re-consulted on for a six-week period 

13 ISSUES TO CONSIDER IN REACHING THE DECISION 
13.1 Social Inclusion; Other Legal Considerations 
14 ADVICE SOUGHT 
14.1 The Council's Monitoring Officer (Divisional Director – Legal and Democratic 

Services) and Section 151 Officer (Divisional Director - Finance) have had the 
opportunity to input to this report and have cleared it for publication. 

Contact person David Trigwell, Divisional Director Planning & Transport  
01225 394125 
Jane Shaler, Programme Director for Non-Acute Health, Social 
Care and Housing, Housing and Supported Living Services 01225 
396120 

Sponsoring Cabinet 
Member Councillor Tim Ball  

Background papers n/a 

Page 32



Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format 
 
 

Page 33



Page 34

This page is intentionally left blank



!"#$%&%'()#$%*"+#%,(-.)+.#%/(01234%
!"#$%&'()(*$"'%#$+,(-+"(./01(
5."+36343#7%,#087%

9:;<%

=++0.%%>%%!"#$%&'()'*%?<@+%

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

%

% A$3+%).B()#%#"C.+%31#(%"22(01#%#$.%B")#3204")%
31+#)02#3(1+%"18%).D03).-.1#+%(E%(0)%243.1#:%%%

=#%3+%1(#%31#.18.8%E()%"18%+$(048%1(#%6.%).43.8%
0B(1%67%"17%#$3)8%B")#7%"18%1(%).+B(1+36343#7%3+%
018.)#"C.1%#(%"17%#$3)8%B")#7:%
%
F(6%10-6.)%%%%?@G@@HI<<% %

02'(!"34(5(67"#,'"1(8#9(
HJ%,#%A$(-"+%,#)..#%
!)3+#(4%
!,@%HFK%
L13#.8%M31N8(-%
OOO:")0B:2(-%

Page 35



4.50 | Issue | 21 December 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX

*+%3:',#(;'"$-$%7#$+, 
%

%
( % (<+=(#$#&'( P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%E()%RST+% <+=(,3:='"(

?@G@@HI<<%
( % (*+%3:',#(#$#&'( 5."+36343#7%,#087% >$&'("'-'"',%'(

%
( %*+%3:',#("'-( 9:;<%
( ( ( %?'2$1$+,( *7#'( >$&',7:'( %
( ( ( %Q)"E#%@% @;%Q.2%

?<@@%
*'1%"$4#$+,( 53)+#%8)"E#%

( U).B").8%67% /$.2C.8%67% PBB)(V.8%67%

'"-.% P11%/(0+31+% P11%/(0+31+% W"71.%Q7.)%

,3N1"#0).% % % %

( ( ( %Q)"E#%?% @;%Q.2%
?<@@%

>$&',7:'( !&'*,%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%X.B()#%I%0B8"#.8%@;:@?:8(2Y%
*'1%"$4#$+,( LB8"#.8%#(%312()B()"#.%(EE32.)%2(--.1#+%

( U).B").8%67%% /$.2C.8%67% PBB)(V.8%67%

'"-.% P11%/(0+31+% P11%/(0+31+% W"71.%Q7.)%

,3N1"#0).% % % %

( ( ( %=++0.% ?@%Q.2%
?<@@%

>$&',7:'( !&'*,%P9Q3).2#3(1%531"4%X.B()#%I%LB8"#.%@G%@@%@?%WQ:8(2Y%
*'1%"$4#$+,( 531"4%"-.18-.1#+%E)(-%/'F%

( U).B").8%67% /$.2C.8%67% PBB)(V.8%67%

'"-.% P11%/(0+31+% P11%/(0+31+% W"71.%Q7.)%

,3N1"#0).% % % %

( ( ( %% % >$&',7:'( %
*'1%"$4#$+,( %

( U).B").8%67% /$.2C.8%67% PBB)(V.8%67%

'"-.% % % %

,3N1"#0).% % % %

%% @113'(*+%3:',#(;'"$-$%7#$+,(A$#B(*+%3:',#( % ü% %
%

%

Page 36



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs 
Feasibility Study 

4.50 | Issue | 21 December 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX

C+,#',#1(

%
% U"N.%

DE'%3#$2'(F3::7"G( $%

H% @,#"+93%#$+,( I%

@:@% ,2(B.% J%
@:?% ,#087%S.#$(8(4(N7% J%
@:J% R(0+.+%31%S04#3B4.%T220B"#3(1% 9%
@:9% W$"#%3+%"1%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1Z% ;%
@:;% RST+%31%!"#$% ;%

J% 8'K7&(7,9(6"+%'93"7&(C+,1$9'"7#$+,1( L%

?:@% =1#)(802#3(1%#(%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1+%E()%RST+% H%
?:?% =+%RST%P2#3V3#7%31%!&'*,%,0EE323.1#47%R")-E04%#(%W"))"1#%

P1%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1Z% H%
?:J% U)(2.++%E()%-"C31N%"1%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1% [%
?:9% /(-B.1+"#3(1%X3+C+%P++(23"#.8%O3#$%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1+% G%

I% ?'2$'A(+-(0#B'"(6+11$=&'(@,#'"2',#$+,1( HM%

J:@% U4"1131N%U(4327% @<%
J:?% RST%\32.1+31N% @;%
J:J% S"1"N.-.1#%=1#.)V.1#3(1+% @G%

)% ?'2$'A(+-(D2$9',%'(+-(./01($,(N7#BO(F47#$7&(*$1#"$=3#$+,(7,9(
@:47%#1( JI%

9:@% RST%Q3+#)360#3(1% ?J%
9:?% R3N$.)%*802"#3(1%31%!"#$% ?;%
9:J% =-B"2#+%&%=++0.+%).4"#31N%#(%RST%Q.1+3#7% ?]%
9:9% U)3V"#.%X.1#.8%,.2#()%31%!"#$% J?%

P% >3#3"'(Q"',91($,(F#39',#(R3:='"1(7,9(0#B'"(S'G(@113'1( I)%

;:@% R3N$.)%*802"#3(1% J9%
;:?% ^)"80"#.%X.#.1#3(1%31%!"#$% J;%
;:J% R(0+31N%!.1.E3#%/$"1N.+% JH%
;:9% U)3V"#.%X.1#.8%,.2#()% JH%

L% 04#$+,1(-+"(@,#'"2',#$+,( IT%

H:@% TB#3(1%@_%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%B40+%.1$"12.8%B(4327% J[%
H:?% TB#3(1%?%`U4"1131N%U(4327%&%%P883#3(1"4%\32.1+31N% 9?%
H:J% TB#3(1%J%I%/(-631.8%PBB)("2$% 9H%
H:9% TB#3(1%9%I%Q(%'(#$31N%PBB)("2$% ;<%
H:;% S"1"N.-.1#%=13#3"#3V.+% ;?%

Page 37



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs 
Feasibility Study 

4.50 | Issue | 21 December 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX

T% C+,%&31$+,1( PI%

%
%
%
!44',9$%'1(

!44',9$E(!%

,#"C.$(48.)%W()C+$(B%X.B()#%

!44',9$E(N%

'"#3(1"4%Q3+20++3(1%(1%,#08.1#3E32"#3(1%

!44',9$E(C%

!"2CN)(018%#(%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1+%E()%RST+%

!44',9$E(*%

\.##.)%E)(-%!"#$%/$"-6.)%(E%/(--.)2.%
(
!44',9$E(D
!"#$%&'()$(*+,($-./&0'(/&12&&$(3444(#$5(3466
%
%

Page 38



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page i

DE'%3#$2'(F3::7"G(

R(0+.+%(E%S04#3B4.%T220B"#3(1%aRST+b%2"1%6.%8.E31.8%"+%$(0+.+%O3#$%J%()%-().%
B.(B4.%E)(-%#O(%()%-().%E"-343.+%43V31N%#(N.#$.)%31%"%).+38.12.@:%%R3N$%8.1+3#3.+%
(E%RST+%").%(E#.1%"++(23"#.8%O3#$%.1V3)(1-.1#"4%-"1"N.-.1#%3++0.+%+02$%"+%
1(3+.%83+#0)6"12.+c%43##.)%"18%B")C31N%83EE3204#3.+c%$(O.V.)%#$.7%"4+(%B4"7%"%V3#"4%
)(4.%31%"%6"4"12.8%"18%.EE.2#3V.%4(2"4%$(0+31N%-")C.#:%%

A$3+%+#087%2(1+38.)+%O$.#$.)%#$.).%3+%"%2()).4"#3(1%6.#O..1%#$.+.%.1V3)(1-.1#"4%
-"1"N.-.1#%3++0.+%"18%$3N$%8.1+3#3.+%(E%RST+%31%!"#$:%A$.%+#087%"4+(%).V3.O+%
#$.%20)).1#%-.2$"13+-+%"18%31#.)V.1#3(1+%#$"#%").%31%B4"2.%31%!"#$%#$"#%2(1#)360#.%
#(%"44.V3"#31N%"17%B(#.1#3"4%.1V3)(1-.1#"4%B)(64.-+%"18%+0NN.+#+%(#$.)%
2(-B43-.1#")7%31#.)V.1#3(1%(B#3(1+%#(%+0BB()#%6"4"12.8%+0+#"31"64.%2(--013#3.+:%%

U(++364.%31#.)V.1#3(1+%2"1%6.%6)(C.1%8(O1%31#(%9%-"31%")."+_%

@b !,(7"#$%&'()(9$"'%#$+,U(-."131N%B4"1131N%B.)-3++3(1%O(048%6.%).D03).8%
E()%2(1V.)+3(1%E)(-%"%E"-347%$(-.%a"%/J%0+.%24"++b%#(%"1%RST%aO3#$%JIH%
B.(B4.%E)(-%-().%#$"1%(1.%E"-347%43V31N%#(N.#$.)b(

?b 6&7,,$,K(6+&$%Gc%"%10-6.)%(E%"4#.)1"#3V.%B4"1131N%B(4327%(B#3(1+%.Y3+#:%

Jb ./0(&$%',1$,Kc%.Y#.1+3(1%(E%4(2"4%432.1+31N%B)(2.80).+%#(%312408.%
"883#3(1"4%()%+.4.2#3V.%432.1+31Nd%%"18%%

9b ;+&3,#7"G(:7,7K':',#($,$#$7#$2'1V(O$32$%-"7%8.43V.).8%67%!"#$%&%
'()#$%*"+#%,(-.)+.#%/(01234c%#$.%R3N$.)%*802"#3(1%=1+#3#0#3(1+c%#$.%4(2"4%
2(--013#7c%+#08.1#%N)(0B+%()%"%B")#1.)+$3B%2(1+3+#31N%(E%"17%()%"44%(E%
#$.+.:%

A$.).%3+%1(%2(-B).$.1+3V.%).2()8%(E%20)).1#%RST+%31%!"#$:%%%!"#$%&%'()#$%*"+#%
,(-.)+.#%a!&'*,b%/(01234e+%R(0+31N%8.B")#-.1#%").%"O").%(E%"BB)(Y3-"#.47%
Jc<<<%"2)(++%#$.%O$(4.%83+#)32#%60#%#$.%"2#0"4%10-6.)%3+%#$(0N$#%#(%6.%$3N$.)%#$"1%
"V"34"64.%(EE323"4%+#"#3+#32+%).2()8:%A$.).%").%1(#"64.%.Y3+#31N%2(12.1#)"#3(1+%(E%
RST+%31%B")#+%(E%W382(-6.c%W.+#-().4"18%"18%T48E3.48%O")8+:%%,(-.%+#)..#+%31%
#$.+.%O")8+%$"V.%B")#3204")47%$3N$%2(12.1#)"#3(1+%(E%RST%$(0+31N%O3#$%V.)7%
43-3#.8%E"-347%$(0+31N%).-"3131N:%%

A$.).%3+%1(%2(1240+3V.%.V38.12.%#(%431C%"1#3I+(23"4%6.$"V3(0)%O3#$%")."+%O$.).%
#$.).%").%$3N$%2(12.1#)"#3(1+%(E%RST+:%%P1.28(#"4%.V38.12.%E)(-%).+38.1#%8(.+%
$(O.V.)%+0NN.+#%#$"#%31238.12.+%-"7%"2#0"447%6.%-().%4(2"43+.8%#$"1%#$.%(EE323"4%
8"#"%31832"#.+:%

50#0).%8.-"18%E()%RST%"22(--(8"#3(1%31%!"#$%O344%8.B.18%(1%"%)"1N.%(E%
E"2#()+%31240831Nd%2$"1N.+%31%+#08.1#%10-6.)+%aO$32$%2(048%N(%8(O1%"+%O.44%"+%0B%
O3#$%#$.%).2.1#%1"#3(1"4%2$"1N.+%31%E..+bd%2$"1N.+%#(%$(0+31N%6.1.E3#%a#$(+.%018.)%
J;%O344%1(O%(147%6.%"64.%#(%24"3-%3E%43V31N%31%"%+$").8%$(0+.bd%N)"80"#.%).#.1#3(1%
"18%2$"1N.+%#(%#$.%O38.)%.2(1(-7:%

A$.%+#087%+.#+%(0#%E(0)%(B#3(1+%E()%31#.)V.1#3(1+_%%

· 04#$+,(HO(P%23#7IO38.c%1(1I3--.83"#.%a3:.:%O3#$%"%@?%-(1#$%1(#32.%
B.)3(8bc%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%B40+%"1%"883#3(1"4%#$).+$(48%B4"1131N%B(4327%

%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
@%A$3+%3+%"1%"6)38N.8%8.E313#3(1%E)(-%#$.%R(0+31N%P2#%?<<9%B")#%?;9d%+..%
$##B_ffOOO:4.N3+4"#3(1:N(V:0Cf0CBN"f?<<9fJ9f+.2#3(1f?;9%E()%#$.%E044%8.E313#3(1%

Page 39



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page ii

a#$3+%O(048%+.#%"%43-3#%(E%?<g%(E%RST+%O3#$31%"%@<<-%)"830+%(E%"1%
"BB432"1#%+3#.b:%%A$.%B(4327%#(%6.%31#)(802.8%#$)(0N$%"%Q.V.4(B-.1#%U4"1%
Q(20-.1#%aQUQb%()%"%,0BB4.-.1#")7%U4"1131N%Q(20-.1#%a,UQb:%%

· 04#$+,(JO(P883#3(1"4%432.1+31N%"18%"%B4"1131N%B(4327%31%+0BB()#%(E%
B0)B(+.I6034#%+#08.1#%"22(--(8"#3(1c%31#)(802.8%#$)(0N$%"%QUQ%()%,UQ:%

· 04#$+,(IO(P(2(-631.8%"BB)("2$%312()B()"#31N%"44%(E%#$.%.4.-.1#+%31%
TB#3(1+%@%&%?:%

· 04#$+,()O(Q(%1(#$31N:%A$3+%3+%"%h60+31.++%"+%0+0"4e%(B#3(1%"++0-31N%1(%
"883#3(1"4%"2#3V3#7%6.7(18%O$"#%3+%"4)."87%B4"11.8:%

04#$+,(H(3+%+0NN.+#.8%"+%#$.%4(O.+#%)3+Cc%-(+#%.EE.2#3V.%O"7%(E%31#)(80231N%"1%
P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1:%A$3+%"BB)("2$%O344%B).V.1#%"883#3(1"4%RST+%6.31N%2)."#.8%31%
")."+%O3#$%"1%.Y3+#31N%$3N$%8.1+3#7:%=#%3+%B(++364.%#$"#%#$.+.%).+#)32#3(1+%O344%4."8%#(%
83+B4"2.-.1#%(E%RST+%#(%(#$.)%")."+%(E%#$.%23#7c%60#%#$3+%+$3E#%31%"2#3V3#7%O344%
"4O"7+%6.%2"BB.8%67%#$.%#$).+$(48%B(4327:%=#%3+%43C.47%#(%$"V.%"1%3-B"2#%(1%$(0+.%
B)32.+%31%.Y3+#31N%")."+%(E%$3N$%RST%2(12.1#)"#3(1%8.1+3#7%aO3#$%E"-347%$(-.+%
6.2(-31N%4.++%V"40"64.%"18%RST+%6.2(-31N%-().%+(b:%%

04#$+,(J(2(048%6.%3-B4.-.1#.8%-().%D032C47%#$"1%TB#3(1%@%"18%O(048%"88).++%
3++0.+%")(018%D0"43#7%"18%-"1"N.-.1#%(E%.Y3+#31N%"18%1.O%RST+:%%

A$.%2(-631.8%"BB)("2$%"+%+.#%(0#%31%04#$+,(I(B)(V38.+%6(#$%-().%3--.83"#.%"18%
4(1N.)I#.)-%+(40#3(1+c%60#%O(048%6.%#$.%-(+#%).+(0)2.%31#.1+3V.%(B#3(1%E()%
!&'*,:%P17%B(#.1#3"4%).802#3(1+%31%#$.%D0"43#7%(E%RST+%#$"#%-3N$#%6.%#$.%67I
B)(802#%(E%"1%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%O(048%6.%(V.)2(-.%67%#$.%31#)(802#3(1%(E%
"883#3(1"4%432.1+31N:%%

04#$+,()(O(048%31V(4V.%2(1#31031N%#(%)01%#$.%+022.++E04%,#08.1#%/(--013#7%
U")#1.)+$3B%"18%"%).V3.O%(E%#$.%"22).83#"#3(1%+2$.-.c%O$32$%3+%"4)."87%B4"11.8c%
60#%1(%1.O%"883#3(1"4%RST%D0"43#7%()%D0"1#3#7%-"1"N.-.1#%"2#3V3#7:%%

A$.%3++0.+%).4"#31N%#(%RST%-"1"N.-.1#%"18%-"31#"3131N%+0+#"31"64.%-3Y.8%
2(--013#3.+%").%2(-B4.Y%"18%#$.).%"%10-.)(0+%C.7%+#"C.$(48.)+%O3#$%O38.47%
83EE.)31N%V3.O+:%'(%(B#3(1%3+%B.)E.2#c%1(1.%2"1%6.%N0")"1#..8%#(%8."4%O3#$%"44%#$.%
)."4%"18%B.)2.3V.8%.1V3)(1-.1#"4%3++0.+%"++(23"#.8%O3#$%#$.%2(12.1#)"#3(1%(E%
RST+%31%#$.%/3#7c%"18%+(-.%(B#3(1+%-"7%2)."#.%(#$.)%2$"44.1N.+%"+%"%).+04#%(E%
3-B4.-.1#"#3(1:%%

P1%*D0"43#7%=-B"2#%P++.++-.1#%$"+%6..1%2"))3.8%(0#%#(%"++.++%#$.%B(#.1#3"4%3-B"2#%
(E%."2$%(E%#$.%E(0)%(B#3(1+%(1%.D0"43#7%N)(0B+%31%-().%8.#"34:%

X.+(0)231N%3-B432"#3(1+%O344%6.%.YB.)3.12.8%67%#$.%/(01234%O$.1%3-B4.-.1#31N%
"44%31#.)V.1#3(1+%O3#$31%."2$%(E%#$.%#$)..%(B#3(1+%O$.).%"883#3(1"4%"2#3V3#3.+%").%
B)(B(+.8%"18%E0)#$.)%O()C%3+%018.)O"7%#(%.+#"643+$%#$.+.%+2"4.%"18%.Y#.1#%(E%#$.+.%
2(+#+:%5()%(V.)$."8+%3120)).8%O3#$31%#$.%U4"1131N%Q.B")#-.1#%#$.).%3+%43-3#.8%
B(#.1#3"4%#(%).2(0B%#$.+.%2(+#+%"+%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%"BB432"#3(1+%").%.Y.-B#%E)(-%
B4"1131N%E..+:%%A$.%B(#.1#3"4%2(+#+%3120)).8%67%#$.%R(0+31N%Q.B")#-.1#%31%#$.%)(4.%
(0#%(E%"883#3(1"4%432.1+31N%").%.YB.2#.8%#(%6.%2(+#%1.0#)"4c%"4#$(0N$%#$.%.Y3+#31N%
#."-%O(048%).D03).%).31E()2.-.1#%#(%8."4%O3#$%#$.%312)."+.8%O()C4("8:%%%

%

Page 40



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 3

H @,#"+93%#$+,(

HWH F%+4'(
R(0+.+%(E%S04#3B4.%T220B"#3(1%aRST+b%2"1%6.%8.E31.8%"+%$(0+.+%O3#$%J%()%-().%
B.(B4.%E)(-%#O(%()%-().%E"-343.+%43V31N%#(N.#$.)%31%"%).+38.12.?:%%R3N$%8.1+3#3.+%
(E%RST+%").%(E#.1%"++(23"#.8%O3#$%3++0.+%+02$%"+%1(3+.%83+#0)6"12.+c%43##.)%"18%
B")C31N%83EE3204#3.+c%$(O.V.)%#$.7%"4+(%B4"7%"%V3#"4%)(4.%31%"%6"4"12.8%"18%.EE.2#3V.%
4(2"4%$(0+31N%-")C.#:%%

A$.%"3-%(E%#$3+%E."+36343#7%+#087%3+%#(%2(1+38.)%O$.#$.)%#$.).%3+%"%2()).4"#3(1%
6.#O..1%#$.+.%.1V3)(1-.1#"4%-"1"N.-.1#%3++0.+%"18%$3N$%8.1+3#3.+%(E%RST+%31%
!"#$:%A$.%+#087%"4+(%).V3.O+%#$.%20)).1#%-.2$"13+-+%"18%31#.)V.1#3(1+%#$"#%").%31%
B4"2.%31%!"#$%#$"#%2(1#)360#.%#(%"44.V3"#31N%"17%B(#.1#3"4%.1V3)(1-.1#"4%B)(64.-+c%
"4(1N%O3#$%#$.%"BB)("2$%#"C.1%31%(#$.)%23#3.+%31%#$.%LM:%%

A$3+%O344%E()-%"1%"BB)(B)3"#.%.V38.12.%6"+.%#(%2(1+38.)c%31%B")#3204")c%O$.#$.)%"1%
")#324.%9%83).2#3(1%O(048%6.%"%+03#"64.%B4"1131N%#((4%#(%"++3+#%31%#$.%2(1#)(4%(E%
2(1V.)+3(1%(E%8O.4431N%$(0+.+%a3:.:%E"-347%$(-.+b%#(%RST+%31%#$.%/3#7%(E%!"#$:%
A$.%+#087%%"4+(%2(1+38.)%(#$.)%B4"1131N%B(4327%"18%-"1"N.-.1#%-."+0).+%#$"#%
2(048%6.%3-B4.-.1#.8c%.3#$.)%31%#"18.-%O3#$c%()%31%B4"2.%(E%"1%")#324.%9%83).2#3(1c%
#(%$.4B%-"31#"31%%+0+#"31"64.%%2(--013#3.+%O3#$%"%6"4"12.8%-3Y%(E%$(0+31N%#7B.+:%

HWJ F#39G(/'#B+9+&+KG(
A$.%-.#$(8(4(N7%E()%#$.%+#087%2"1%6.%6)(C.1%8(O1%31#(%E3V.%-"31%+#"N.+d%#$.+.%
").%+.#%(0#%31%E3N0).%6.4(O:%,(-.%(E%#$.%+#"N.+%(V.)4"BB.8%+43N$#47d%#$3+%3+%+.#%(0#%

31%-().%8.#"34%31%#$.%+.2#3(1+%#$"#%E(44(O:%

67"#(HO(X,9'"1#7,9(8'K7&(@113'1("'&7#'9(#+(!"#$%&'()(*$"'%#$+,1(

A$.%313#3"4%+#"N.%(E%#$.%+#087%O"+%#(%018.)+#"18%#$.%).D03).-.1#+%(E%#$.%/(01234%
"18%#(%O)3#.%"%+B.23E32"#3(1%E()%#$.%"8V32.%).D03).8%E)(-%!&'*,e%4.N"4%
8.B")#-.1#:%

67"#(JO(@9',#$-$%7#$+,(+-(Y.7":Z(

A$3+%+#"N.%O"+%B).8(-31"1#47%"%8"#"%N"#$.)31N%.Y.)23+.%31%()8.)%"++.++%#$.%
10-6.)c%N.(N)"B$32"4%.Y#.1#%"18%3-B"2#%(E%RST+%31%!"#$:%Q"#"+.#+%O.).%
N"#$.).8%E)(-%"2)(++%#$.%/(01234%"18%.Y#.)1"447:%P)0B%"4+(%.1N"N.8%O3#$%
3183V380"4%+#"C.$(48.)+c%"18%$"8%N038.8%#(0)+%E)(-%/(012344()+%")(018%T48E3.48%
U")C%"18%W.+#-().4"18%O")8+%#(%N"#$.)%E0)#$.)%"1.28(#"4%.V38.12.:%%

%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
?%A$3+%3+%"1%"6)38N.8%8.E313#3(1%E)(-%#$.%R(0+31N%P2#%?<<9%B")#%?;9d%+..%
$##B_ffOOO:4.N3+4"#3(1:N(V:0Cf0CBN"f?<<9fJ9f+.2#3(1f?;9%E()%#$.%E044%8.E313#3(1%

67"#(H_%
L18.)+#"18%
\.N"4%=++0.+%

67"#(JO(
=8.1#3E32"#3(1%
(E%i$")-i%

67"#(IO(
F0+#3E32"#3(1%"18%
^.(N)"B$32"4%
*Y#.1#%

67"#()O(
TB#3(1+%E()%%
=1#.)V.1#3(1%

67"#(PO(
,#"C.$(48.)%
W()C+$(B(

67"#(LO(
X.B()#31N%

Page 41



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 4

67"#(IO(<31#$-$%7#$+,(7,9(['+K"74B$%7&(DE#',#(

A$.%"3-%(E%#$3+%+#"N.%O"+%#(%N"#$.)%.YB.)3.12.%(E%#$.%"BB432"#3(1%(E%P)#324.%9%
Q3).2#3(1+%31%(#$.)%4(2"4%"0#$()3#3.+%"18%#(%-"C.%2(-B")3+(1+%O3#$%#$.%8"#"%
2(44.2#.8%E()%!"#$%80)31N%,#"N.%?%31%()8.)%#(%+#")#%#(%8)"O%+(-.%2(1240+3(1+%"6(0#%
#$.%j0+#3E32"#3(1%E()%3-B4.-.1#"#3(1%31%!"#$%"18%#$.%-(+#%+03#"64.%N.(N)"B$32"4%
.Y#.1#:%A$3+%+.2(18%B")#%(E%#$.%O()C%O"+%"4+(%31E()-.8%67%B")#%;:%%

67"#()O(04#$+,1(-+"(@,#'"2',#$+,(

A$.%"2#3V3#7%"#%#$3+%+#"N.%31V(4V.8%).V3.O31N%(#$.)%B(++364.%(B#3(1+%E()%
31#.)V.1#3(1c%.3#$.)%#(%.1$"12.%#$.%.EE.2#3V.1.++%(E%"1%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%()%"+%"1%
"4#.)1"#3V.%#(%3#:%W.%).V3.O.8%"2#3V3#7%31%(#$.)%4(2"4%"0#$()3#3.+%#(%2(-.%0B%O3#$%"%
4(1N%43+#%(E%B(++364.%"2#3(1+:%

67"#(PO(F#7\'B+&9'"(]+"\1B+4(

A$.%+#"C.$(48.)%O()C+$(B%O"+%"%C.7%.4.-.1#%(E%#$.%+#087c%O3#$%"##.18..+%
).B).+.1#31N%"%O38.%)"1N.%(E%31#.).+#+c%31240831Nd%2(012344()+d%.+#"#.%"N.1#+d%
(EE32.)+%E)(-%-04#3B4.%2(01234%8.B")#-.1#+d%013V.)+3#3.+d%4"184()8+d%+#08.1#+d%"18%
4(2"4%).+38.1#+:%A$.%O()C+$(B%O"+%"1%(BB()#013#7%#(%B).+.1#%#$.%8"#"%N"#$.).8%"18%
#(%#.+#%#$.%.EE.2#3V.1.++%"18%B(B04")3#7%(E%B(++364.%(B#3(1+%E()%31#.)V.1#3(1:%P%E044%
).B()#%(E%#$.%O()C+$(B%2"1%6.%E(018%31%"BB.183Y%P:%

67"#(LO(?'4+"#$,K(

A$3+%E31"4%B")#%(E%#$.%+#087%6)(0N$#%"44%(E%#$.%B).V3(0+%.4.-.1#+%#(N.#$.)%31#(%#$3+%
).B()#%"18%31#(%B).+.1#"#3(1+%N3V.1%#(%2(01234%(EE32.)+:%

HWI .+31'1($,(/3&#$4&'(0%%347#$+,(
L18.)%#$.%R(0+31N%P2#%?<<9%"%R(0+.%31%S04#3B4.%T220B"#3(1%aRSTb%3+%8.E31.8%
"+%"%6034831N%()%B")#%(E%"%6034831N%a.:N:%"%E4"#b_%

· O$32$%3+%(220B3.8%67%-().%#$"1%(1.%$(0+.$(48%"18%31%O$32$%-().%#$"1%(1.%
$(0+.$(48%+$").+%"1%"-.13#7%a()%#$.%6034831N%4"2C+%"1%"-.13#7b%+02$%"+%"%
6"#$)((-c%#(34.#%()%2((C31N%E"2343#3.+d%()c%%

· O$32$%3+%(220B3.8%67%-().%#$"1%(1.%$(0+.$(48%"18%O$32$%3+%"%2(1V.)#.8%
6034831N%O$32$%8(.+%1(#%.1#3).47%2(-B)3+.%+.4E%2(1#"31.8%E4"#+%aO$.#$.)%()%1(#%
#$.).%3+%"4+(%"%+$")31N%()%4"2C%(E%"-.13#3.+bd%()%%

· O$32$%2(-B)3+.+%.1#3).47%(E%2(1V.)#.8%+.4E%2(1#"31.8%E4"#+%"18%#$.%+#"18")8%(E%
2(1V.)+3(1%8(.+%1(#%-..#c%"#%"%-313-0-c%#$"#%).D03).8%67%#$.%@]]@%!034831N%
X.N04"#3(1%"18%-().%#$"1%(1.%#$3)8%(E%#$.%E4"#+%").%(220B3.8%018.)%+$()#%
#.1"123.+:%

P18%3+%i(220B3.8i%67%-().%#$"1%(1.%$(0+.$(48d%

· "+%#$.3)%(147%()%-"31%).+38.12.%c%()c%%

· "+%"%).E0N.%67%B.)+(1+%.+2"B31N%8(-.+#32%V3(4.12.c%()c%%

· 80)31N%#.)-%#3-.%67%+#08.1#+c%()c%%

Page 42



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 5

· E()%+(-.%(#$.)%B0)B(+.%#$"#%3+%B).+2)36.8%31%).N04"#3(1+:%%

P18%#$.%$(0+.$(48+%2(-B)3+._%

· E"-343.+%a31240831N%+31N4.%B.)+(1+%"18%2(I$"63#31N%2(0B4.+%aO$.#$.)%()%1(#%(E%
#$.%(BB(+3#.%+.Ybc%()c%%

· P17%(#$.)%).4"#3(1+$3B%#$"#%-"7%6.%B).+2)36.8%67%).N04"#3(1+c%+02$%"+%8(-.+#32%
+#"EE%()%E(+#.)31N%()%2").)%"))"1N.-.1#+J:%

=1%?<@<c%#$.%4.N3+4"#3V.%B4"1131N%E)"-.O()C%E()%R(0+.+%31%S04#3B4.%T220B"#3(1%
aRST+b%2$"1N.8%+3N13E32"1#47%O3#$%#$.%31#)(802#3(1%(E%"%1.O%B4"1131N%L+.%/4"++%
a/9bd%"1%RST%O3#$%J%()%-().%B.(B4.:%A$3+%2$"1N.%"43N1+%#$.%L+.%/4"++.+%T)8.)%
O3#$%#$.%8.E313#3(1%(E%"%RST%O3#$31%#$.%R(0+31N%P2#%?<<9:%A$3+%3+%31%"883#3(1%#(%
#$.%B).V3(0+%B4"1131N%8.E313#3(1%(E%H%()%-().%B.(B4.%43V31N%#(N.#$.)%a+03%N.1.)3+b:%%

HW) ]B7#($1(7,(!"#$%&'()(*$"'%#$+,^(
,312.%#$.%"-.18-.1#+%#(%#$.%L+.%/4"++.+%T)8.)%2"-.%31#(%.EE.2#%(1%#$.%H#$%PB)34%
?<@<c%"%E0)#$.)%"-.18-.1#%O"+%6..1%6)(0N$#%31%67%#$.%%2("43#3(1%^(V.)1-.1#c%
E)(-%@+#%T2#(6.)%?<@<9c%-."131N%#$"#%"44%2$"1N.+%(E%0+.%E)(-%"%/J%8O.4431N%a"%
E"-347%$(-.b%#(%"%/9%RST%").%1(O%%24"++.8%"+%B.)-3##.8%8.V.4(B-.1#:%%

A$.%31#)(802#3(1%(E%"1%")#324.%9%83).2#3(1%O(048%).-(V.%#$.+.%B.)-3##.8%
8.V.4(B-.1#%)3N$#+%).D03)31N%#$.%B)(B.)#7%(O1.)%#(%"BB47%E()%B4"1131N%B.)-3++3(1%
E()%"%-"#.)3"4%2$"1N.%(E%0+.%E)(-%"%8O.4431N%#(%"%RST:%%=1%3#+%)(4.%"+%#$.%4(2"4%
B4"1131N%"0#$()3#7%!&'*,%O344%1(#%6.%"64.%#(%2(44.2#%E..+%E()%#$.%B)(2.++31N%(E%
#$.+.%"BB432"#3(1+:%%X."+(1+%E()%).E0+"4%(E%B4"1131N%B.)-3++3(1%O344%+#344%6.%
).D03).8%(1%"%2"+.%67%2"+.%6"+3+:%%S().%8.#"34%(1%#$.%4.N"4%6"2CN)(018%(E%")#324.%9%
83).2#3(1+%3+%+.#%(0#%31%,.2#3(1%?%6.4(O:%%

HWP ./01($,(N7#B(
A$.%2(-B4.Y%1"#0).%(E%#$.%B)3V"#.%).1#.8%$(0+31N%-")C.#%31%!"#$%"18%#$.%83V.)+.%
1"#0).%(E%8.-"18%E()%E4.Y364.%$(0+31N%-."1+%#$"#%N.1.)"43+"#3(1%"6(0#%O$(%43V.+%
RST+%2"1%6.%01$.4BE04:%'.V.)#$.4.++c%-"C31N%+.1+.%(E%O$"#%N)(0B+%(220B7%
RST+%3+%2)023"4%+312.c%O3#$(0#%"%6.##.)%4.V.4%(E%018.)+#"1831Nc%"BB)(B)3"#.%"18%
.EE.2#3V.%B(4327%31#.)V.1#3(1+%").%83EE3204#%#(%8.V3+.:%A$.%6.+#%O"7%#(%018.)+#"18%
#$.%+.2#()%3+%#(%83+#31N03+$%3#+%2(1+#3#0.1#%-")C.#+:%,06--")C.#+%2"1%6.%+B"#3"447%
2(12.1#)"#.8%()%O38.47%83+B.)+.8c%8.B.1831N%(1%#$.%8.-"18%N)(0B%"18%(1%#$.%
+0BB47%(E%B")#3204")%B)(B.)#7%#7B.+%31%"%N3V.1%").":%

=#%3+%1(#%#$.%2"+.%#$"#%4"184()8+%4.#%.Y240+3V.47%31%(1.%-")C.#%()%"1(#$.)_%318..8c%
+(-.%4"184()8+%O$(%-"1"N.%#$.3)%60+31.++.+%-().%+#)"#.N32"447%"18%$"V.%4")N.)%
B()#E(43(+%O344%#")N.#%"%10-6.)%(E%N)(0B+c%"18%-")C.#%"18%4.#%#$.3)%B)(B.)#3.+%
"22()831N47:%%RST+%").%4.#%#(%"%O38.%)"1N.%(E%N)(0B+%31240831N%7(01N%
B)(E.++3(1"4+c%+#08.1#+c%3--3N)"1#+c%4(8N.)+c%"+740-%+..C.)+c%#$(+.%(1%$(0+31N%
6.1.E3#%"18%2(1#)"2#%O()C.)+:%

P+%"%+-"44%23#7%O3#$%#O(%013V.)+3#3.+c%#$.).%").%24.")47%"%10-6.)%(E%+#08.1#+%43V31N%
31%RST+%31%!"#$:%,(-.%(E%#$.%O38.)%1"#3(1"4%83+20++3(1%(1%h+#08.1#3E32"#3(1e%3+%
#$.).E().%).4.V"1#%#(%#$3+%+#087%"18%3+%+.#%(0#%31%-().%8.#"34%31%"BB.183Y%!:% (
%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
J%R(0+31N%P2#%?<<9c%U")#%?;9c%$##B_ffOOO:4.N3+4"#3(1:N(V:0Cf0CBN"f?<<9fJ9f+.2#3(1f?;9%
9%$##B_ffOOO:2(--013#3.+:N(V:0Cf8(20-.1#+fB4"1131N"186034831NfB8Ef@[<G]@?:B8E%%

Page 43



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 6

J 8'K7&(7,9(6"+%'93"7&(C+,1$9'"7#$+,1(

JWH @,#"+93%#$+,(#+(!"#$%&'()(*$"'%#$+,1(-+"(./01(
=1%?<@<c%"%1.O%0+.%24"++%/9%RST%a"1%RST%O3#$%JIH%B.(B4.%43V31N%31%3#b%O"+%
31#)(802.8:%A$.).%").c%$(O.V.)c%B.)-3##.8%8.V.4(B-.1#%)3N$#+%E()%2(1V.)+3(1%(E%"%
/J%8O.4431N%$(0+.%a"%E"-347%$(-.b%#(%"%/9%RST%"18%V32.%V.)+":%\(2"4%
P0#$()3#3.+%$"V.%#$.%)3N$#%#(%31#)(802.%"1%")#324.%9%83).2#3(1c%O$32$%O(048%-."1%
B4"1131N%B.)-3++3(1%O(048%6.%).D03).8%E()%2(1V.)+3(1%E)(-%"%/J%#(%/9%0+.%24"++:%
P+%#$3+%3+%"%).-(V"4%(E%B.)-3##.8%8.V.4(B-.1#%)3N$#+c%#$.%\(2"4%U4"1131N%
P0#$()3#7%2"11(#%2(44.2#%E..+%E()%#$.+.%"BB432"#3(1+:%50)#$.)%31E()-"#3(1%).N")831N%
#$.%6"2CN)(018%#(%#$.%31#)(802#3(1%#(%#$3+%2$"1N.%31%B4"1131N%).N04"#3(1%3+%+.#%(0#%
31%"BB.183Y%/:%

JWJ @1(./0(!%#$2$#G($,(N5RDF(F3--$%$',#&G(.7":-3&(
#+(]7""7,#(!,(!"#$%&'()(*$"'%#$+,^(

^(V.)1-.1#%N038"12.%"8V(2"#.+%#$"#%4(2"4%B4"1131N%"0#$()3#3.+%+$(048%2(1+38.)%
-"C31N%")#324.%9%83).2#3(1+%(147%31%#$(+.%h.Y2.B#3(1"4%23)20-+#"12.+%O$.).%
.V38.12.%+0NN.+#+%#$"#%#$.%.Y.)23+.%(E%B.)-3##.8%8.V.4(B-.1#%)3N$#+%O(048%$")-%
4(2"4%"-.13#7%()%#$.%B)(B.)%B4"1131N%(E%#$.%")."e;:%

5()%")#324.%9%83).2#3(1+%#$.%4.N"4%).D03).-.1#%3+%#$"#%#$.%4(2"4%B4"1131N%"0#$()3#7%3+%
+"#3+E3.8%#$"#%3#%3+%h.YB.83.1#%#$"#%8.V.4(B-.1#%#$"#%O(048%1()-"447%6.1.E3#%E)(-%
B.)-3##.8%8.V.4(B-.1#%)3N$#+%+$(048%1(#%6.%2"))3.8%(0#%014.++%B.)-3++3(1%3+%
N)"1#.8%E()%3#%(1%"1%"BB432"#3(1%a+..%B")"N)"B$%a@b%(E%P)#324.%9%(E%#$.%^.1.)"4%
U.)-3##.8%Q.V.4(B-.1#%T)8.)%a^UQTbb:%%P883#3(1"447c%E()%Q3).2#3(1+%O3#$%
3--.83"#.%.EE.2#c%#$.%4.N"4%).D03).-.1#%3+%#$"#%#$.%4(2"4%B4"1131N%"0#$()3#7%
2(1+38.)+%#$"#%#$.%8.V.4(B-.1#%#(%O$32$%#$.%Q3).2#3(1%).4"#.+%O(048%6.%B).j08323"4%
#(%#$.%B)(B.)%B4"1131N%(E%#$.3)%")."%()%2(1+#3#0#.%"%#$)."#%#(%#$.%"-.13#7%(E%#$.3)%
")."%a+..%B")"N)"B$%a@ba"b%(E%P)#324.%H%(E%#$.%^UQTb:%

=1%8.23831N%O$.#$.)%"1%")#324.%9%83).2#3(1%3+%#$.%"BB)(B)3"#.%-.2$"13+-%#(%8."4%
O3#$%.Y3+#31N%"18%B(#.1#3"4%E0#0).%RST%"2#3V3#7%31%!"#$%#$.%#.2$132"4%.V38.12.%
+$(048%38.1#3E7%24.")47%#$.%B(#.1#3"4%$")-%#$"#%#$.%Q3).2#3(1%3+%31#.18.8%#(%"88).++:%
,.2#3(1%9%(E%#$3+%).B()#%+..C+%#(%B).+.1#%).4.V"1#%8"#"c%O$.).%"V"34"64.c%#(%"38%"%
j08N.-.1#%(1%#$.%3++0.%(E%$")-%"18%#(%2(1+38.)%O$.#$.)%#$.%2(1#310.8%.Y.)23+31N%
(E%B.)-3##.8%8.V.4(B-.1#%)3N$#+%31%).4"#3(1%#(%RST+%O(048_%

· L18.)-31.%#$.%V3+0"4%"-.13#7%(E%#$.%")."%()%8"-"N.%#$.%$3+#()32%.1V3)(1-.1#:%

· L18.)-31.%4(2"4%(6j.2#3V.+%#(%2)."#.%()%-"31#"31%-3Y.8%2(--013#3.+. 

A$.).%").%E(0)%h$")-e%2(1+38.)"#3(1+%#$"#%#$.%4(2"4%B4"1131N%"0#$()3#7%1..8+%#(%
)."++0).%3#+.4E%(E%#(%018.)B31%#$.%).2(--.18"#3(1%(1%O$.#$.)%()%1(#%#(%B0)+0.%"1%
RST%")#324.%9%83).2#3(1%E()%!"#$:%A$.7%").%"+%E(44(O+_%

· P).%#$.%.1V3)(1-.1#"4c%+(23"4%"18%.2(1(-32%3-B"2#+%6.31N%E.4#%31%+B.23E32%
O")8+%O3#$%C1(O1%2(12.1#)"#3(1+%(E%RST+%aT48E3.48%U")Cc%W.+#-().4"18c%
W382(-6.b%h83).2#47%).4"#.8e%#(%#$.%B).V"4.12.%(E%#$3+%#7B.%(E%#.10).Z%%

%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
;%X.B4"2.-.1#%PBB.183Y%Q%#(%Q.B")#-.1#%(E%#$.%*1V3)(1-.1#%Circular 9/95: General Development 
Consolidation Order 1995 a][G%<@@[;J@<?9b%

Page 44



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 7

· /"1%#$.+.%2(183#3(1+%6.%).N")8.8%"+%h.Y2.B#3(1"4e%O$.1%6.12$-")C.8%"N"31+#%
(#$.)%")."+%(E%#$.%/3#7%O$.).%RST+%").%4.++%B).V"4.1#Z%

· W(048%#$.%2(1#310.8%.Y.)23+.%(E%B.)-3##.8%8.V.4(B-.1#%)3N$#+%2"0+.%$")-%#(%
4(2"4%"-.13#7%()%#$.%B)(B.)%B4"1131N%(E%#$.%+B.23E32%")."+Z%

· =E%+(%3+%#$.%B)(B(+.8%")#324.%9%83).2#3(1%+(40#3(1%j0+#3E3"647%.YB.83.1#%#(%#$.%
.V38.12.%6"+.Z%

JWI 6"+%'11(-+"(:7\$,K(7,(!"#$%&'()(*$"'%#$+,(
=E%"1%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%3+%2(1+38.).8%"1%"BB)(B)3"#.%#((4%#$.%B)(2.++%E()%-"C31N%
#$.%Q3).2#3(1%3+%24.")47%+.#%(0#%31%^(V.)1-.1#%N038"12.:%W$.1%#$.%Q3).2#3(1%3+%
.1"2#.8%B4"1131N%B.)-3++3(1%O(048%6.%).D03).8%E()%"%-"#.)3"4%2$"1N.%(E%0+.c%
"4#$(0N$%#$.%4(2"4%B4"1131N%"0#$()3#7%O(048%1(#%6.%"64.%#(%2(44.2#%E..+%E()%#$.%
B)(2.++31N%(E%#$.+.%"BB432"#3(1+:%%

A$.%A(O1%"18%/(01#)7%U4"1131N%a/(-B.1+"#3(1b%a'(:%Jb%a*1N4"18b%
X.N04"#3(1+?<@<%a?<@<%'(:%?@J;b%).802.+%4(2"4%"0#$()3#3.+e%43"6343#7%#(%B"7%
2(-B.1+"#3(1%O$.).%#$.7%-"C.%")#324.%9%83).2#3(1+%"+%E(44(O+_%

· W$.).%@?%-(1#$+e%1(#32.%3+%N3V.1%31%"8V"12.%(E%"%Q3).2#3(1%#"C31N%.EE.2#%#$.).%
O344%6.%1(%43"6343#7%#(%B"7%2(-B.1+"#3(1d%"18%

· W$.).%Q3).2#3(1+%").%-"8.%O3#$%3--.83"#.%.EE.2#%()%4.++%#$"1%@?%-(1#$+e%
1(#32.c%2(-B.1+"#3(1%O344%(147%6.%B"7"64.%31%).4"#3(1%#(%B4"1131N%"BB432"#3(1+%
O$32$%").%+06-3##.8%O3#$31%@?%-(1#$+%(E%#$.%.EE.2#3V.%8"#.%(E%#$.%Q3).2#3(1%
"18%O$32$%").%+06+.D0.1#47%).E0+.8%()%O$.).%B.)-3++3(1%3+%N)"1#.8%+06j.2#%#(%
2(183#3(1+:%

A$.).E().%#(%"V(38%B(#.1#3"4%2(-B.1+"#3(1%24"3-+%!&'*,%1..8+%#(%B)(V38.%@?%
-(1#$+%1(#32.%31%"8V"12.%(E%"1%")#324.%9%83).2#3(1%#"C31N%"EE.2#:%A$3+%3+%2"44.8%"%
1(1I3--.83"#.%Q3).2#3(1:%A$.%B)(2.80).%E()%-"C31N%"%k1(1I3--.83"#.l%P)#324.%9%
Q3).2#3(1%2"1%6.%+0--")3+.8H%"+%E(44(O+_%

%

@: A$3+%).B()#%+"#3+E3.+%#$.%1..8+%(E%#$3+%E3)+#%+#"N.:%

%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
H%A$3+%3+%"%+0--")7%(E%#$.%N038"12.%+.#%(0#%31%"BB.183Y%P%(E%Circular 9/95: General Development 
Consolidation Order 1995, '(V.-6.)%?<@<%

@_%/$.2C%
"BB)(B)3"#.1.++%(E%

P9Q%
?_%Q)"E#%P9Q%

J_%,.)V.%1(#32.%
4(2"447%"18%1(#3E7%

,(,%

9_%Q.#.)-31.%
O$.#$.)%#(%2(1E3)-%

P9Q%

;_%Q3).2#3(1%2(-.+%
31#(%E()2.%

H_%,.)V.%1(#32.%
4(2"447%"18%1(#3E7%

,(,%

Page 45



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 8

?: P1%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%-0+#%6.%8)"E#.8d%#$.).%3+%"%-(8.4%#$"#%2"1%6.%0+.8%
E()%#$3+%B0)B(+.[:%

J: '(#32.%(E%"1%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%-0+#%6.%N3V.1%31%#$.%E(44(O31N%O"7+_%%

· 67%4(2"4%"8V.)#3+.-.1#%a"+%8.E31.8%31%")#324.%@a?b%(E%#$.%^UQTb%%

· 67%+3#.%83+B4"7%"#%1(%E.O.)%#$"1%#O(%4(2"#3(1+%O3#$31%#$.%")."%#(%O$32$%#$.%
83).2#3(1%).4"#.+%E()%"%B.)3(8%(E%1(#%4.++%#$"1%+3Y%O..C+d%%

· 3183V380"447%(1%.V.)7%(O1.)%"18%(220B3.)%(E%.V.)7%B")#%(E%#$.%4"18%O3#$31%
#$.%")."%()%+3#.%#(%O$32$%#$.%83).2#3(1%).4"#.+%a014.++%3#%3+%3-B)"2#32"64.%
6.2"0+.%3#%3+%83EE3204#%#(%38.1#3E7%()%4(2"#.%#$.-c%()%#$.%10-6.)%(E%(O1.)+%
()%(220B3.)+%O3#$31%#$.%")."%#(%O$32$%#$.%83).2#3(1%).4"#.+%O(048%-"C.%
3183V380"4%+.)V32.%3-B)"2#32"64.%I%#$3+%.Y.-B#3(1%E)(-%3183V380"4%+.)V32.%
(E%1(#32.%8(.+%1(#%"BB47c%$(O.V.)c%O$.1%#$.%(O1.)f(220B3.)%3+%"%+#"#0#()7%
018.)#"C.)%()%#$.%/)(O1bd%%

· #(%#$.%,.2).#")7%(E%,#"#.%a(1%#$.%+"-.%8"7%#$"#%#$.%E3)+#%1(#32.%3+%B0643+$.8%
4(2"447bG:%

· A$.%2(1+04#"#3(1%B.)3(8%-0+#%6.%"#%4."+#%?@%8"7+d%-(+#%(#$.)%4(2"4%
"0#$()3#3.+%$"V.%$.48%"%E()-"4%2(1+04#"#3(1%"#%#$.%6.N31131N%(E%#$.3)%@?%
-(1#$%1(#32.%B.)3(8:%

9: A$.%4(2"4%B4"1131N%"0#$()3#7%1..8+%#(%8.#.)-31.%O$.#$.)%()%1(#%#(%B)(2..8%
O3#$%#$.%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1:%A$.).%3+%"1%(BB()#013#7%#(%-"C.%"-.18-.1#+%
"#%#$3+%+#"N.:%P17%-"#.)3"4%"-.18-.1#+%O344%1..8%"%E0)#$.)%2(1+04#"#3(1%
B.)3(8:%%

;: A$.%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%2(-.+%31#(%E()2.%@?%-(1#$+%"E#.)%#$.%1(#32.%N3V.1%
018.)%B(31#%J:%T12.%#$.%Q3).2#3(1%3+%31%B4"2.c%!&'*,%O(048%6.%).D03).8%
#(%%B)(2.++%"44%RST%"BB432"#3(1+%"#%3#+%(O1%2(+#%I%"+%1(%B4"1131N%E..%3+%%
B"7"64.]:%

H: P%E()-"4%1(#32.%-0+#%6.%3++0.8%#(%#$.%,.2).#")7%(E%,#"#.%"18%4(2"447:%

JW) C+:4',17#$+,(?$1\1(!11+%$7#'9(A$#B(!"#$%&'()(
*$"'%#$+,1((

S"C31N%"%1(1I%3--.83"#.%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%O344%-."1%#$"#%#$.).%3+%"1%
31#.)V.131N%@?%-(1#$%B.)3(8%O$.1%B.(B4.%2"1%#"C.%"8V"1#"N.%(E%#$.%1.O%
B.)-3##.8%8.V.4(B-.1#%)3N$#+:%=#%O(048%6.%E"3)%#(%"++0-.%#$"#%"%)0+$%(E%RST%
"2#3V3#7%O(048%(220)%31%#$3+%B.)3(8%"+%4"184()8+%"18%B)(B.)#7%(O1.)+%"V(38%#$.%
3-B.1831N%).-(V"4%(E%B.)-3##.8%8.V.4(B-.1#%)3N$#+c%$(O.V.)%.V38.12.%E)(-%
(#$.)%013V.)+3#7%23#3.+%#$"#%$"V.%B0#%31%B4"2.%1(1I3--.83"#.%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1+%
+0NN.+#+%#$"#%B).I.-B#3V.%"2#3V3#7%3+%43C.47%#(%6.%43-3#.8:%A$.%"4#.)1"#3V.%3+%B0##31N%
"1%3--.83"#.%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%31%B4"2.d%$(O.V.)%#$3+%O(048%4."V.%!&'*,%
(B.1%#(%2(-B.1+"#3(1%24"3-+%B"7"64.%31%).4"#3(1%#(%B4"1131N%"BB432"#3(1+%O$32$%
").%+06-3##.8%O3#$31%@?%-(1#$+%(E%#$.%.EE.2#3V.%8"#.%(E%#$.%Q3).2#3(1%"18%O$32$%
").%+06+.D0.1#47%).E0+.8%()%O$.).%B.)-3++3(1%3+%N)"1#.8%+06j.2#%#(%2(183#3(1+:%

%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
[ ,..%"BB.1832.+%!%"18%/%(E Circular 9/95: General Development Consolidation Order 1995, '(V.-6.)%?<@<
G%50)#$.)%N038"12.%(1%#$.%).D03).-.1#+%%
]%'"#3(1"4%RST%\(667c%Response to the Consultation on Houses in Multiple Occupation: Changes to Planning 

Legislationc%F047%?<@<%

Page 46



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 9

S"C31N%"1%3--.83"#.%P)#324.%9%83).2#3(1%-"7%4."8%#(%2(-B.1+"#3(1%24"3-+%E()%
"6()#3V.%.YB.183#0).%()%E()%(#$.)%4(++%()%8"-"N.%83).2#47%"##)360#"64.%#(%#$.%
O3#$8)"O"4%(E%#$.%B.)-3##.8%8.V.4(B-.1#%)3N$#+:%5()%.Y"-B4.%!&'*,%2(048%6.%
43"64.%E()%#$.%4(++%(E%312(-.%"%B)(B.)#7%(O1.)%+0EE.)+%67%1(#%6.31N%"64.%#(%2(1V.)#%
#$.3)%B)(B.)#7%#(%"%RST%O$.).%#$3+%3+%80.%#(%#$.%3-B(+3#3(1%(E%#$.%P)#324.%9%
Q3).2#3(1:%P1%3--.83"#.%Q3).2#3(1%2(048%"4+(%312.1#3V3+.%B)(B.)#7%(O1.)+%"2)(++%
!"#$%#(%24"3-%E()%2(-B.1+"#3(1%E()%RST%2(1V.)+3(1+%#$.7%O(048%1(#%(#$.)O3+.%
$"V.%6..1%2"))3.8%(0#:%A$3+%2(048%4."V.%!&'*,%O3#$%"%V.)7%+3N13E32"1#%43"6343#7:%%

^3V.1%#$.%)3+C%(E%2(-B.1+"#3(1%24"3-+c%-.-6.)+%").%"8V3+.8%#$"#%"%1(1I
3--.83"#.%Q3).2#3(1%3+%#$.%-(+#%"BB)(B)3"#.%2(0)+.%(E%"2#3(1%31%#$.%.V.1#%"%
Q3).2#3(1%3+%j0+#3E3.8:%S.-6.)+%").%E0)#$.)%"8V3+.8%#$"#%3#%3+%(0)%018.)+#"1831N%#$"#%
#(%8"#.%"44%4(2"4%"0#$()3#3.+%+..C31N%#(%31#)(802.%"1%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%$"V.%
E(44(O.8%#$.%1(1I3--.83"#.%)(0#.%"18%#(%#$.%6.+#%(E%(0)%C1(O4.8N.%1(%
2(-B.1+"#()7%24"3-+%()%4.N"4%"2#3(1+%$"V.%6..1%3++0.8:%%% %

Page 47



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 10

I ?'2$'A(+-(0#B'"(6+11$=&'(@,#'"2',#$+,1(

P)#324.%9%83).2#3(1+%").%j0+#%(1.%(E%#$.%+03#.%(E%31#.)V.1#3(1+%#$"#%2"1%6.%B0#%31#(%
B4"2.%31%()8.)%#(%"88).++%#$.%.1V3)(1-.1#"4%3++0.+%"++(23"#.8%O3#$%RST+:%A$.%
(#$.)%31#.)V.1#3(1+%E"44%6)("847%31#(%#$)..%2"#.N()3.+_%

· 6&7,,$,K(6+&$%Gc%"%10-6.)%(E%"4#.)1"#3V.%B4"1131N%B(4327%(B#3(1+%.Y3+#:%

· ./0(&$%',1$,Kc%.Y#.1+3(1%(E%4(2"4%432.1+31N%B)(2.80).+%#(%312408.%
"883#3(1"4%()%+.4.2#3V.%432.1+31Nd%%"18%%

· ;+&3,#7"G(:7,7K':',#($,$#$7#$2'1V(O$32$%-"7%8.43V.).8%67%!"#$%&%
'()#$%*"+#%,(-.)+.#%/(01234c%#$.%R3N$.)%*802"#3(1%=1+#3#0#3(1+c%#$.%4(2"4%
2(--013#7c%+#08.1#%N)(0B+%()%"%B")#1.)+$3B%2(1+3+#31N%(E%"17%()%"44%(E%
#$.+.:%

A$.+.%(B#3(1+%").%1(#%-0#0"447%.Y240+3V.c%"18%318..8%-"7%6.%-().%.EE.2#3V.%3E%
2(1+38.).8%"+%B")#%(E%"%O38.)%+#)"#.N7:%%*"2$%(E%#$.+.%31#.)V.1#3(1+%3+%(0#431.8%
-().%E0447%6.4(O:%%

IWH 6&7,,$,K(6+&$%G(
P%).V3.O%(E%\(2"4%Q.V.4(B-.1#%5)"-.O()C+%$"+%38.1#3E3.8%#$"#%#$.).%").%
#7B32"447%#$)..%#7B.+%(E%B4"1131N%B(4327%"BB)("2$%0+.8%67%4(2"4%"0#$()3#3.+%#(%
-"1"N.%#$.%2(12.1#)"#3(1%(E%RST+%N.1.)"447%()%+#08.1#%"22(--(8"#3(1%
+B.23E32"447:%%A$.+.%B(4327%(B#3(1+%2"1%6.%8.+2)36.8%"+_%

· /)3#.)3"%6"+.8%

· hP)."+%(E%).+#)"31#ed%%

· A$.%e#$).+$(48%"BB)("2$ed%"18%

· *12(0)"N.-.1#%(E%B0)B(+.%6034#%"22(--(8"#3(1:%

A$.%"BB)("2$.+%").%1(#%-0#0"447%.Y240+3V.d%318..8%-"17%(E%#$.%4(2"4%"0#$()3#3.+%
O.%$"V.%#"C.1%).E.).12.%E)(-%0+.%-().%#$"1%(1.%B(4327%"BB)("2$%31%2(-631"#3(1:%%

=#%3+%O()#$%-"C31N%#$.%B(31#%#$"#%"+%B(4327%2"11(#%6.%).#)(+B.2#3V.47%"BB43.8%#$.).%
3+%"%43-3#%#(%#$.%3-B"2#%#$"#%B4"1131N%B(4323.+%2"1%$"V.%(1%20)).1#%2(12.1#)"#3(1+%
(E%RST%()%+#08.1#%"22(--(8"#3(1%O3#$31%1.3N$6(0)$((8+%+02$%"+%T48E3.48%U")Cc%
W.+#-().4"18%()%W382(-6.:%%%

IWHWH C"$#'"$7(N71'9(

A$3+%#7B.%(E%B(4327%"BB)("2$%6.+#%8.+2)36.+%!"#$%"18%'()#$%*"+#%,(-.)+.#e+%
20)).1#%B(4327%).4"#31N%#(%R(0+.+%(E%S04#3B4.%T220B"#3(1d%U(4327%R^:@?c%O$32$%
$"+%6..1%+"V.8%E)(-%#$.%\(2"4%U4"1:%A$3+%B(4327%+.#+%(0#%#$.%2(183#3(1+%018.)%
O$32$%#$.%4(2"4%B4"1131N%"0#$()3#7%O(048%).E0+.%B4"1131N%B.)-3++3(1%E()%"%
2(1V.)+3(1%#(%"1%RST:%/)3#.)3"%").%1()-"447%E(20++.8%(1%"-.13#7%V"40.%"18%
E3##31N%O3#$%#$.%2$")"2#.)%(E%#$.%4(2"4%").":%%

%

%

%

Page 48



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 11

A$.%E044%O()831N%(E%B(4327%R^:@?%3+%+.#%(0#%31%#$.%6(Y%6.4(O:%%

608@C_(.[WHJ(
Q.V.4(B-.1#%E()%#$.%0+.%(E%6034831N+%E()%).+38.1#3"4%B0)B(+.+%O3#$31%#$.%"-63#%(E%B(4323.+%HG.4c%
HG.5c%"18%HG.6%31V(4V31N%#$.%+06I83V3+3(1%(E%.Y3+#31N%8O.4431N+c%2(1V.)+3(1%(E%1(1I).+38.1#3"4%
6034831N+c%#$.%).I0+.%(E%6034831N+%E()%-04#3B4.%(220B"#3(1%31%#$.%E()-%(E%1(1%+.4E%2(1#"31.8%
"22(--(8"#3(1%()%).I0+.%(E%.Y3+#31N%.-B#7%8O.4431N+%O344%6.%B.)-3##.8%B)(V38.8%#$"#%3#_%

· 3+%2(-B"#364.%O3#$%#$.%2$")"2#.)%"18%"-.13#3.+%(E%"8j"2.1#%.+#"643+$.8%0+.+c%#"C31N%31#(%
"22(01#%#$.%8.V.4(B-.1#%3#+.4E%#(N.#$.)%O3#$%"17%).2.1#%()%B)(B(+.8%+3-34")%
8.V.4(B-.1#d%

· 8(.+%1(#%+.)3(0+47%31j0).%#$.%"-.13#3.+%(E%"8j(3131N%).+38.1#+%#$)(0N$%4(++%(E%B)3V"27%"18%
V3+0"4%"18%1(3+.%31#)0+3(1d%

· 3+%1(#%8.#)3-.1#"4%#(%#$.%).+38.1#3"4%"-.13#3.+%(E%E0#0).%(220B"1#+d%"18%
· 8(.+%1(#%).+04#%31%#$.%4(++%(E%.Y3+#31N%"22(--(8"#3(1%O$32$c%.3#$.)%67%3#+.4E%()%#(N.#$.)%

O3#$%(#$.)%.Y3+#31N%()%B)(B(+.8%8O.4431N+%31%#$.%4(2"43#7c%O(048%$"V.%"%8.#)3-.1#"4%
.EE.2#%(1%#$.%-3Y%(E%+3m.c%#7B.%"18%"EE()8"6343#7%(E%"22(--(8"#3(1%"V"34"64.%31%#$.%
4(2"43#7:%

Q.V.4(B-.1#%(E%2(--.)23"4%B).-3+.+%O$32$%B).j0832.%+03#"64.%(BB()#013#3.+%E()%).I0+.%(E%0BB.)%
E4(()+%E()%).+38.1#3"4%"22(--(8"#3(1%O344%1(#%6.%B.)-3##.8:%%

A$3+%#7B.%(E%B(4327%2(048%6.%3-B4.-.1#.8%O3#$%()%O3#$(0#%$"V31N%"1%")#324.%9%
83).2#3(1%31%B4"2.:%*YB.)3.12.%+0NN.+#+%#$"#%#$3+%#7B.%(E%B(4327%3+%43-3#.8%31%3#+%
.EE.2#3V.1.++:%

IWHWJ !"'7(+-(?'1#"7$,#(6+&$%G(

P1%")."%(E%).+#)"31#%2"1%6.%8.E31.8%"+%"1%")."%O$.).%).+#)32#3(1+%()%2)3#.)3"%").%
3-B(+.8%(1%2.)#"31%E()-+%(E%$(0+31N%a#$3+%2(048%6.%B0)B(+.%6034#%+#08.1#%
"22(--(8"#3(1%()%RST+b:%%=E%0+.8%31%2(1j012#3(1%O3#$%"1%")#324.%9%83).2#3(1c%#$.1%
3#%O(048%2(V.)%#$.%+"-.%")."%"+%#$.%")."%8.431."#.8%31%#$.%83).2#3(1:%

W$34+#%"1%")."%(E%).+#)"31#%B(4327%2(048%6.%0+.8%O3#$(0#%"1%")#324.%9%83).2#3(1%a31%
#$3+%2"+.%3#%O(048%(147%"BB47%#(%4")N.)%RST+%"18%B0)B(+.I6034#%"22(--(8"#3(1c%3#%
O(048%2"))7%-().%O.3N$#%3E%2(-631.8%O3#$%(1.c%"+%#$.%10-6.)%(E%"BB432"#3(1+%#$"#%
O(048%6.%).+#)32#.8%O(048%312)."+.:%

A$3+%#7B.%(E%B(4327%2"1%6.%0+.E04%E()%")."+%O$.).%+#08.1#%$(0+31N%3+%V.)7%
2(12.1#)"#.8:%%=E%#$.%6(018")7%(E%"1%")."%8.E31.8%"+%"1%h")."%(E%).+#)"31#e%3+%8)"O1%
#(%#3N$#47%#$.1%3#%2"1%).+04#%31%#$.%83+B4"2.-.1#%(E%RST%"2#3V3#7%#(%"8j"2.1#%+#)..#+%
()%1.3N$6(0)$((8+:%%%

8''91(

R78.%U")C%"18%R."831N4.7%31%\..8+%O.).%38.1#3E3.8%"+%(1.%(E%#$.%O()+#%B4"2.+%31%#$.%LM%(1%
#$.%h"1(-3.e%318.Y@<c%-."131N%3#%$"8%V.)7%4(O%4.V.4+%(E%2(--013#7%2($.+3(1:%S"17%4(2"4%
).+38.1#+%N)(0B+%"##)360#.%#$3+%#(%#$.%$3N$%4.V.4+%(E%+#08.1#%$(0+31N%31%#$.%")."@@:%%

=1%?<<Hc%\..8+%/3#7%/(01234%31#)(802.8%"1%")."%(E%).+#)"31#%B(4327c%2(-631.8%O3#$%"%2)3#.)3"%
6"+.8%B(4327@?:%A$.%313#3"4%B)(B(+"4+%B0#%E()O")8%67%#$.%/3#7%/(01234%O.).%-(83E3.8%"+%"%).+04#%

%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
@<%,(23"4%P18%,B"#3"4%=1.D0"43#3.+%a,P,=b%N)(0Bc L13V.)+3#7%(E%,$.EE3.48c%Changing UK: The way we live. 
Anomie Index 2008, $##B_ff+"+3:N)(0B:+$.E:"2:0Cf).+.")2$f2$"1N31NLM:$#-4%%%
@@%,..%$##B_ff$-(4(667:()N:0Cf4..8+fO$.14..8+-.#$."831N4.7:$#-%E()%.Y"-B4.%
@?%\..8+%L13#")7%Q.V.4(B-.1#%U4"1%X.V3.O%?<<Hc%$##B_ffOOO:4..8+:N(V:0Cf08B-"B+f-3+2fV(4@:B8E%%

Page 49



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 12

(E%#$.%LQU+%31+B.2#()+%).B()#@J:%A$.%31+B.2#()%D0.+#3(1.8%O$.#$.)%"%B(4327%E(20+31N%(1%
+#08.1#%$(0+31Nc%)"#$.)%#$"1%RST+%O"+%83+2)3-31"#()7c%"18%")N0.8%E()%"%-02$%O38.)%")."%(E%
).+#)"31#%#$"1%\..8+%()3N31"447%O"1#.8:%A$.%/(01234%O"+%"4+(%).D03).8%#(%-(V.%E)(-%+#"#31N%
8.V.4(B-.1#%#$"#%O(048%1(#%6.%B.)-3##.8%#(%8.E3131N%#$.%2)3#.)3"%018.)%O$32$%8.V.4(B-.1#%
O(048%6.%B.)-3##.8:%%

A$.%hP)."%(E%R(0+31N%S3Ye%2(V.)+%R."831N4.7c%R78.%U")Cc%!0)4.7%"18%W((8$(0+.%O$.).%
+#08.1#+%E()-%"%+3N13E32"1#%B")#%(E%#$.%B(B04"#3(1c%#(N.#$.)%O3#$%#$.%"8j(3131N%")."+%(E%S(()%
^)"1N.%"18%\"O1+O((8%O$.).%3#%3+%2(1+38.).8%#$"#%B).++0).%3+%43C.47%E()%E0)#$.)%+#08.1#%
$(0+31N:%

Q3+20++3(1+%O3#$%+#"EE%"#%\..8+%/3#7%/(01234%+0NN.+#%#$"#%#$.%20)).1#%B(4327%O"+%1(#%+#)(1N%
.1(0N$%#(%6.%"+%.EE.2#3V.%"+%#$.7%O(048%$"V.%43C.8c%60#%#$.7%O.).%+#344%"64.%#(%).E.)%#(%31+#"12.+%
O$.).%#$.%B(4327%$"8%6..1%0+.8%+022.++E0447%#(%0B$(48%8.23+3(1+:%A$.%B(4327%$"+%7.#%#(%6.%
#.+#.8%"#%"BB."4:%%

A$.%O()831N%(E%B(4327%R@;%3+%+.#%(0#%6.4(O_%

kW3#$31%#$.%")."%(E%$(0+31N%-3Y%B4"1131N%B.)-3++3(1%O344%6.%N)"1#.8%E()%$(0+31N%31#.18.8%E()%
(220B"#3(1%67%+#08.1#+c%()%E()%#$.%"4#.)"#3(1c%.Y#.1+3(1%()%).8.V.4(B-.1#%(E%"22(--(8"#3(1%
20)).1#47%+(%(220B3.8%O$.)._%

3: A$.%+#(2C%(E%$(0+31N%"22(--(8"#3(1c%31240831N%#$"#%"V"34"64.%E()%E"-347%(220B"#3(1c%
O(048%1(#%6.%01"22.B#"647%).802.8%31%#.)-+%(E%D0"1#3#7%"18%V")3.#7d%

33: A$.).%O(048%6.%1(%01"22.B#"64.%.EE.2#+%(1%1.3N$6(0)+e%43V31N%2(183#3(1+%31240831N%
#$)(0N$%312)."+.8%"2#3V3#7c%()%1(3+.%"18%83+#0)6"12.c%.3#$.)%E)(-%#$.%B)(B(+"4%3#+.4E%()%
2(-631.8%O3#$%.Y3+#31N%+3-34")%"22(--(8"#3(1d%

333: A$.%+2"4.%"18%2$")"2#.)%(E%#$.%B)(B(+"4%O(048%6.%2(-B"#364.%O3#$%#$.%+0))(01831N%
")."d%

3V: ,"#3+E"2#()7%B)(V3+3(1%O(048%6.%-"8.%E()%2")%B")C31Nd%"18%

V: A$.%B)(B(+"4%O(048%3-B)(V.%#$.%D0"43#7%()%V")3.#7%(E%#$.%+#(2C%(E%+#08.1#%$(0+31Nl%

IWHWI QB"'1B+&9(6+&$%G(

P%h#$).+$(48%B(4327e%+.#+%"%#$).+$(48%E()%"%+-"44%")."c%(V.)%"18%"6(V.%O$32$%
B4"1131N%B.)-3++3(1%O344%1(#%6.%N)"1#.8%E()%2(1V.)+3(1%#(%"1%RST%a"18%(E#.1%
(#$.)%"++(23"#.8%B.)-3++3(1+b:%%

S"17%4(2"4%"0#$()3#3.+%O$(%").%31#)(80231N%")#324.%9%83).2#3(1+%$"V.%8.V.4(B.8%"1%
"22(-B"1731N%#$).+$(48%B(4327c%31240831N%/"1#.)60)7c%S"12$.+#.)c%"18%*Y.#.):%
W3#$(0#%"1%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1c%#$3+%B(4327%2(048%(147%"BB47%#(%4")N.)%RST+%"18%
O(048%6.%-().%83EE3204#%#(%"BB47:%5..86"2C%E)(-%(#$.)%"0#$()3#3.+%+0NN.+#+%#$"#%
#$3+%#7B.%(E%B(4327%B)(V38.+%"%E3)-%6"+3+%(1%O$32$%#(%).E0+.%"BB432"#3(1+:%%

'(##31N$"-%/3#7%/(01234%$"+%$"8%"%#$).+$(48%B(4327%E()%+(-.%7.")+%a3#%B).I8"#.+%
#$.%(B#3(1%(E%31#)(80231N%"1%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1b:%

R+##$,KB7:(

'(##31N$"-%3+%$(-.%#(%#O(%-"j()%013V.)+3#3.+%"18%$"+%+(-.%")."+%(E%V.)7%8.1+.%+#08.1#%

%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
@J%\..8+%LQU%X.B()#%=1+B.2#()i+%X.V3.Oc%%
$##B_ffOOO:4..8+:N(V:0CfE34.+f=1#.)1.#?<<[f?<<Gf?@f4..8+g?<08Bg?<).V3.Og?<31+B.2#()g?[+g?<).B()#:B
8E%%

Page 50



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 13

$(0+31N:%A$.%23#7%2(01234%$"+%"%,0BB4.-.1#")7%U4"1131N%Q(20-.1#%a,UQbc%Building Balanced 
Communitiesc%O$32$%O"+%B)(802.8%31%?<<[@9c%#(%).E4.2#%+"V.8%B(4323.+%31%#$.%\(2"4%U4"1:%A$.%
B(4327%)."8+_%

%k=1%")."+%(E%.Y3+#31N%+3N13E32"1#%+#08.1#%$(0+.$(48%2(12.1#)"#3(1%%#$.%E(44(O31N%8.V.4(B-.1#%
O344%1(#%0+0"447%6.%B.)-3##.8_%%

· U0)B(+.%6034#%+#08.1#%"22(--(8"#3(1%"18%"4#.)"#3(1+c%.Y#.1+3(1+%"18%).I8.V.4(B-.1#+%
(E%.Y3+#31N%B0)B(+.%6034#%"22(--(8"#3(1%O$32$%O(048%).+04#%31%"%1.#%312)."+.%31%
6.8+B"2.+d%%

· R(0+.+%31%S04#3B4.%T220B"127d%"18%%

· '.O%E4"#+%"18%$(0+.+%(E%J%()%-().%6.8)((-+%014.++%+06j.2#%#(%"1%(220B"#3(1%2(183#3(1
%

B).V.1#31N%#$.%B)(B.)#7%6.31N%0+.8%"+%"%8O.4431N%$(0+.%+(4.47%67%+#08.1#+%31%E044I#3-.%
.802"#3(1

J
c%43V31N%#(N.#$.)%"+%"%+31N4.%$(0+.$(48:l

P1%")."%(E%k+3N13E32"1#%+#08.1#%$(0+.$(48%2(12.1#)"#3(1l%3+%8.E31.8%"+%"%+0B.)%(0#B0#%")."%"18%
2(1#3N0(0+%+0B.)%(0#B0#%")."+%O3#$%(V.)%?;g%(E%"44%$(0+.$(48+%6.31N%(220B3.8%67%+#08.1#+:%%

5..86"2C%E)(-%'(##31N$"-%/3#7%/(01234%+0NN.+#+%#$"#%#$.%8.V.4(B-.1#%-"1"N.-.1#%#."-%
E"V(0)%#$3+%"BB)("2$%"+%3#%B)(V38.+%"%2(12).#.%E)"-.O()C%E()%8.23+3(1%-"C31N:%A$.%).+(0)2.%
).D03).8%#(%2"4204"#.%#$.%#$).+$(48%3+%1(#%2(1+38.).8%#(%B).+.1#%"%6"))3.)%#(%3-B4.-.1#"#3(1%"+%
#$.%B4"1131N%B(4327%#."-%(147%).2.3V.+%"%2(0B4.%(E%).D0.+#+%"%-(1#$:(

A$.%4.V.4%"#%O$32$%#(%+.#%#$.%#$).+$(48%3+%"%C.7%8.23+3(1%E()%#$.%4(2"4%"0#$()3#7%"+%3#%
2"1%6.%#$.%B)3123B"4%B(31#%(E%2(1#.1#3(1c%"18%"+%Q7=&'(H%6.4(O%+$(O+c%#$.).%3+%
+(-.%V")3"#3(1%31%#$.%"BB)("2$%#"C.1:%%

Q7=&'(HO(QB"'1B+&91(744&$'9($,(=',%B:7"\(&+%7&(73#B+"$#G(7"'71(

C$#G( QB"'1B+&9( *$1#7,%'(

S"12$.+#.)% @<g% W3#$31%@<<-%

'(##31N$"-% ?;g% \,TP%"18%1.3N$6(0)31N%\,TP+%

/"1#.)60)7% ?<g% W3#$31%@<<-%

*Y.#.)% ?<g% W$(4.%P9Q%")."%

A$.).%3+%43##4.%N038"12.%(1%$(O%#$.%4.V.4%(E%#$.%#$).+$(48%B(4327%+$(048%6.%+.#c%"18%
3#%3+%43C.47%#(%6.%8.B.18.1#%(1%.Y3+#31N%2(183#3(1+%31%."2$%23#7:%R(O.V.)c%#$.%RST%
\(667%6.43.V.%#$"#%"%+0+#"31"64.c%6"4"12.8%2(--013#7%+$(048%1(#%$"V.%-().%#$"1%
@<g%RST%B)(B.)#3.+%a"4#$(0N$%#$3+%3+%6"+.8%(1%RST+%O3#$%-().%#$"1%;%
(220B"1#+bc%"+%#$3+%3+%43C.47%#(%).B).+.1#%@;g%(E%#$.%B(B04"#3(1@;:%%

A$.%#$).+$(48%2"1%6.%6"+.8%(1%"%+0B.)%(0#B0#%")."c%+#)..#%67%+#)..#%6"+3+%()%
83+#"12.%E)(-%#$.%B)(B.)#7%"BB4731N%E()%B4"1131N%B.)-3++3(1:%,0B.)%(0#B0#%")."+%
-"7%6.%83EE3204#%E()%#$.%4"7%B.)+(1%#(%018.)+#"18c%+#)..#+%2"1%V")7%N)."#47%31%+3m.c%
+(%83+#"12.%E)(-%#$.%B)(B.)#7%"BB.")+%#(%6.%#$.%+3-B4.+#%"18%E"3).+#%"BB)("2$%#(%"%
#$).+$(48%B(4327:%

S(+#%(#$.)%23#3.+%"BB47%64"1C.#%#$).+$(48%B.)2.1#"N.%2.3431N+%23#7IO38.c%#(%.1+0).%
2(-B")"64.%"18%.D0"4%#)."#-.1#%"2)(++%#$.%23#7:%

%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
@9%'(##31N$"-%/3#7%/(01234c%Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)_%Building Balanced Communitiesc%
?<<[c%$##B_ffOOO:1(##31N$"-23#7:N(V:0Cf/R##BR"184.):"+$YZ38nH[;&Bn<%%
@;%'"#3(1"4%RST%\(667c%Balanced Communities &  
Studentification:  Problems and Solutionsc%?<<Gc%%$##B_ff$-(4(667:()N:0CfJ]")#324.+:B8E%%

Page 51



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 14

,#08.1#%2(01234%#"Y%.Y.-B#3(1%8"#"%3+%#$.%-(+#%O38.47%0+.8%8"#"%E()%%-"C31N%
2(-B")3+(1+c%60#%#$3+%3+%+(-.#3-.+%+0BB4.-.1#.8%O3#$%8"#"%(1%B0)B(+.I6034#%
"22(--(8"#3(1c%432.1+.8%RST+%"18%B)(B.)#3.+%6.1.E3##31N%E)(-%/9%()%+03IN.1.)3+%
B4"1131N%2(1+.1#:%=#%3+%+0NN.+#.8%#$"#%#$.%0+.%(E%.Y3+#31N%8"#"%+.#+%-"C.+%#$3+%"%
-02$%-().%B)"2#32"4%B(4327%#(%"BB47:%

W$34+#%#$.%#$).+$(48%B(4327%"BB)("2$%-"7%).B).+.1#%+(-.%"883#3(1"4%).+(0)2.%
O3#$31%#$.%8.V.4(B-.1#%2(1#)(4%E012#3(1%(E%#$.%"0#$()3#7%%#(%018.)#"C.%2"4204"#3(1+%
#(%.+#"643+$%O$.#$.)%"%B)(B(+.8%+2$.-.%E"44+%31#(%"1%")."%#$"#%)."2$.+%#$.%
#$).+$(48c%3#%3+%"%B(4327%#$"#%+$(048%E0#0).IB)((E%(#$.)%")."+%(E%#$.%23#7%E)(-%$"V31N%
(V.)I2(12.1#)"#3(1+%(E%%RST+:%%%U).43-31")7%83+20++3(1+%#$"#%O.%$"V.%$"8%O3#$%
(#$.)%"0#$()3#3.+%+0NN.+#%#$"#%#$.%).+(0)2.%).D03).8%#(%-"1"N.%#$3+%B(4327%3+%1(#%
(1.)(0+%"18%+$(048%1(#%B).2408.%#$3+%(B#3(1%6.31N%2(1+38.).8%"4(1N+38.%"1%P)#324.%
9%Q3).2#3(1:%%

S"12$.+#.)e+%#$).+$(48%B(4327%O()831N%3+%+.#%(0#%6.4(O_%

/7,%B'1#'"Z1(QB"'1B+&9(!44"+7%B(6+&$%G(

Change of use from a C3 dwelling house to a C4 HMO will not be permitted where at least 
10% of households within a 100 metre radius of the application site fall within one or more of 
the following categories:

· Exempt from paying Council tax because they are entirely occupied by full time 
students.

· Recorded on Private Sector Housing's database as a licensed HMO.

· A property benefiting from C4 or sui generis HMO planning consent.

Where evidence can demonstrate that there are shared houses within 100 metres of the 
application site which do not fall within the categories above the Council will include these.

In marginal cases where concentrations of properties in the categories above within 100 
metres of the application site are just below 10%, the Council will examine property type in 
more detail and would exclude properties which would not be capable of being used in a way 
which meets the C4 definition from the total number of households when calculating the 
percentage as above.

In areas where at least 10% of households within 100 metres of the application site fall into 
the categories above, extensions to HMOs (as defined in the Housing Act 2004) would not be 
permitted where this could reasonably be expected to lead to an increase in the level of 
occupation.

In parts of Manchester where the lack of family housing has threatened the sustainability of 
the community to the extent that regeneration activity with the specific intention of increasing 
the amount of family housing has taken place, there will be a presumption against changes of 
use which would result in the loss of a dwelling which is suitable for a family.

Changes to alternative uses, including C4 and HMOs with more than six occupants, will only 
be acceptable where it can be demonstrated that there is no reasonable demand for the 
existing use. The approach above will also be used for change of use to a HMO which is 
classified as ‘sui generis’.

Notwithstanding the policy requirements set out above, all proposals for change of use of 
existing properties into houses in multiple occupation and all proposals for conversion of 
existing properties into flats (which might not necessarily fall within Class C4), would be 
permitted only where the accommodation to be provided is of a high standard and where it 
will not materially harm the character of the area, having particular regard to the criteria in 
policy DM1.%

Page 52



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 15

IWHW) 63"4+1'`N3$&#(F#39',#(!%%+::+97#$+,(6+&$%G(

=1%"883#3(1%#(%B(4323.+%).4"#31N%#(%#$.%2(1#"31-.1#%(E%RST+c%4(2"4%"0#$()3#3.+%2"1%
"4+(%B0#%B(4323.+%31%B4"2.%#(%.12(0)"N.%#$.%8.V.4(B-.1#%(E%B0)B(+.I6034#%+#08.1#%
"22(--(8"#3(1:%A$3+%2"1%$.4B%#(%"44.V3"#.%#$.%8.-"18%E()%RST+c%"#%4."+#%E()%#$3+%
.4.-.1#%(E%#$.%RST%B(B04"#3(1:%%

!&'*,%"4)."87%$"+%.Y3+#31N%B(4323.+%).4"#31N%#(%#$.%8.V.4(B-.1#%(E%B0)B(+.%6034#%
+#08.1#%"22(--(8"#3(1:%A$.%L13V.)+3#7%(E%!"#$%/"-B0+%31%/4"V.)#(1%Q(O1%3+%
.12(0)"N.8%#(%8.V.4(B%"%-"+#.)B4"1%8.43V.)31N%"BB)(Y%9Jc?;<-?%(E%#."2$31Nc%
).+.")2$c%).2)."#3(1"4%"18%"8-313+#)"#3(1%+B"2.%"18%"1%"883#3(1"4%?<<<%+#08.1#%
6.8+B"2.+:%%!"#$%,B"%3+%B.)-3##.8%43-3#.8%31E34431N%"18%).8.V.4(B-.1#%(E%#$.3)%
'.O#(1%U")C%/"-B0+c%6(#$%#."2$31N%+B"2.%"18%+#08.1#%"22(--(8"#3(1%").%
B.)-3##.8c%"4#$(0N$%1(%10-6.)+%").%+B.23E3.8:%%

A$.%Q)"E#%/().%,#)"#.N7%+#"#.+%#$"#%(EEI2"-B0+%+#08.1#%"22(--(8"#3(1%kO344%6.%
).E0+.8%O$.).%#$3+%O(048%"8V.)+.47%"EE.2#%#$.%)."43+"#3(1%(E%(#$.)%"+B.2#+%(E%#$.%
V3+3(1%"18%+B"#3"4%+#)"#.N7%E()%#$.%23#7:l@H%

T#$.)%(B#3(1+%E()%#$3+%#7B.%(E%B(4327%312408.%38.1#3E731N%+3#.+%E()%8.V.4(B-.1#%(E%
B0)B(+.I6034#%+#08.1#%"22(--(8"#3(1c%()%38.1#3E731N%")."+%31%#$.%23#7%O$.).%#$3+%
#7B.%(E%8.V.4(B-.1#%O(048%6.%.12(0)"N.8:%=1%-"17%23#3.+c%#$3+%#7B.%
"22(--(8"#3(1%3+%6.31N%B)(-(#.8%"+%"%2"#"47+#%E()%")."%6"+.8%).N.1.)"#3(1:%%

0E-+"9(

TYE()8%3+%$(-.%#(%#O(%4")N.%013V.)+3#3.+d%#$.%L13V.)+3#7%(E%TYE()8%"18%TYE()8%!)((C.+%
L13V.)+3#7:%%

TYE()8%/3#7%/(01234%$"+%312()B()"#.8%"%B(4327%31#(%3#+%.-.)N31N%/().%,#)"#.N7@[c%+#"#31N%#$"#_%

%kAll increases in student numbers (at Oxford Brookes University and the University of 
Oxford) as a result of increases in academic floorspace must be matched by a corresponding 
increase in purpose-built student accommodation:l%

A$3+%"BB)("2$%$.4B+%#(%B)(#.2#%"N"31+#%E0#0).%N)(O#$%31%+#08.1#%10-6.)+%B)(B()#3(1"#.47%
312)."+31N%#$.%8.-"18%E()%01).N04"#.8%+#08.1#%$(0+31N:%

IWJ ./0(8$%',1$,K(
A$.%432.1+31N%(E%RST+%3+%#$.%-"31%).N04"#()7%#((4%#$"#%4(2"4%"0#$()3#3.+%2"1%0+.%#(%
-"1"N.%#$.%D0"43#7%(E%B)3V"#.%+.2#()%+#(2C%31%-04#3B4.%(220B"#3(1:%A$.).%").%#$)..%
#7B.+%(E%432.1+31N%(B#3(1+%"V"34"64.%#(%4(2"4%"0#$()3#3.+_%%

· S"18"#()7%432.1+31N%a#$.%+#"#0+%D0(%31%!&'*,bd%%

· P883#3(1"4%432.1+31Nd%"18%

· ,.4.2#3V.%432.1+31N:%

%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
@H%!"#$%"18%'()#$%*"+#%,(-.)+.#%/(01234c%Draft Core Strategy: Publication Versionc%U(4327%!;c%
B;9c%Q.2.-6.)%?<@<%
@[%TYE()8%/3#7%/(01234c%X.V3+.8%,06-3++3(1%/().%,#)"#.N7%a?<<]bc%
$##B_ffOOO:(YE()8:N(V:0CfQ3).2#fG?JH]X.V3+.8,06-3++3(15='P\PB)?<<]:B8E%%

Page 53



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 16

\32.1+31N%.1+0).+%#$"#%"%B)(B.)#7%2(-B43.+%O3#$%2.)#"31%+"E.#7%).N04"#3(1+c%3+%E3#%
E()%#$.%10-6.)%(E%B.(B4.%43V31N%#$.).c%"18%$"+%+03#"64.%-"1"N.-.1#%"))"1N.-.1#+%
a31240831N%.1+0)31N%4"184()8+%$"V.%+7+#.-+%31%B4"2.%#(%8."4%O3#$%"1#3I+(23"4%
6.$"V3(0)b:%A$.%-"31%6.1.E3#%(E%432.1+31N%O344%1()-"447%6.%.1+0)31N%$3N$.)%
+#"18")8+%E()%#.1"1#+:%

IWJWH /7,97#+"G(8$%',1$,K(

P1%RST%#$"#%).D03).+%"%:7,97#+"G(&$%',%'%3+%(1.%O$32$%$"+%;%()%-().%01).4"#.8%
B.(B4.%43V31N%31%"%B)(B.)#7%(E%#$)..%(E%-().%+#()3.+%a31240831N%4(E#%)((-%()%
6"+.-.1#b%"18%+$").+%"%6"+32%"-.13#7%+02$%"+%"%#(34.#c%6"#$)((-%()%2((C31N%
E"2343#3.+:%%

!"#$%20)).1#47%(B.)"#.+%"%-"18"#()7%432.1+31N%+2$.-.%"18%#$.).%").%20)).1#47%JG<%
B)(B.)#3.+%#$"#%$"V.%+02$%"%432.12.%O3#$31%#$.%23#7@G:%A$3+%.D0"#.+%#(%"BB)(Y3-"#.47%
;<g%(E%"44%B)(B.)#3.+%O3#$%(V.)%E3V.%"804#+%43V31N%#(N.#$.)@]:%%

\(2"4%P0#$()3#3.+%").%).+B(1+364.%E()%.1E()231N%-"18"#()7%432.1+31N%O3#$31%#$.3)%
6(018")7:%P1%"0#$()3#7%2"1%"4+(%2$((+.%#(%3-B4.-.1#%"883#3(1"4%()%+.4.2#3V.%
432.1+31Nc%31%"44%()%+(-.%(E%3#+%83+#)32#c%(V.)%"18%"6(V.%"%-"18"#()7%+2$.-.:%A$.+.%
(B#3(1+%").%+.#%(0#%31%-().%8.#"34%6.4(O:%

IWJWJ !99$#$+,7&(8$%',1$,K(

!99$#$+,7&(8$%',1$,K(2"1%6.%"BB43.8%#(%2(V.)%(#$.)%RST%#7B.+%1(#%2(V.).8%67%
-"18"#()7%432.1+31N:%W$34+#%"883#3(1"4%432.1+31N%).D03).+%"1%"883#3(1"4%).+(0)2.c%3#%
"4+(%6)31N+%31%"1%"883#3(1"4%312(-.c%"+%#$.).%3+%"%E..%"++(23"#.8%O3#$%."2$%432.12.:%
P883#3(1"4%432.1+31N%+$(048%6.%0+.8%#(%#"2C4.%+B.23E32%B)(64.-+%31%+B.23E32%")."+c%
)"#$.)%#$"1%2(V.)31N%"44%RST+%"2)(++%"%4(2"4%"0#$()3#7%")."?<:%%

=1%()8.)%#(%-"C.%"1%799$#$+,7&(&$%',1$,K%+2$.-.c%#$.%4(2"4%$(0+31N%"0#$()3#7%
-0+#_%

3: =8.1#3E7%#$"#%"%+3N13E32"1#%B)(B()#3(1%(E%#$.%RST+%#$"#%#$.%+2$.-.%O344%
"BB47%#(%").%6.31N%-"1"N.8%31.EE.2#3V.47%"18%2"0+31N%a()%$"V.%#$.%
B(#.1#3"4%#(%2"0+.b%B)(64.-+%#(%RST%(220B3.)+%()%-.-6.)+%(E%#$.%B06432:%

33: /(1+38.)%O$.#$.)%#$.).%").%(#$.)%2(0)+.+%(E%"2#3(1%#$"#%-3N$#%B)(V.%
.EE.2#3V.%O3#$%8."431N%O3#$%#$.%B)(64.-+:%

333: /(I()831"#.%#$.%8.+3N1"#3(1%O3#$%#$.3)%(V.)"44%+#)"#.N7%a31%B")#3204")%31%
).4"#3(1%#(%2(-6"#31N%"1#3I+(23"4%6.$"V3(0)c%$(-.4.++1.++%"18%.-B#7%
$(-.+%31%#$.%B)3V"#.%).1#.8%+.2#()b:%

3V: /(1+38.)%#$"#%-"C31N%#$.%8.+3N1"#3(1%O344%+3N13E32"1#47%"++3+#%31%8."431N%
O3#$%#$.%B)(64.-a+b:%

%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
@G%Q"#"%B)(V38.8%67%!&'*,%/(01234c%Q.2.-6.)%?<@@%
@]%Q"#"%B)(V38.8%67%!&'*,%/(01234%E)(-%#$.%.4.2#()"4%)(4.%31%P0N0+#%?<@@:%=#%+$(048%6.%1(#.8%
#$"#%1(#%"44%(E%#$.+.%B)(B.)#3.+%O344%6.%RST+%a+(-.%-"7%6.%4")N.%E"-343.+bc%"18%1(#%"44%RST+%O3#$%
(V.)%;%B.(B4.%O344%).D03).%"%432.12.%a"+%#$.7%-"7%1(#%$"V.%J%()%-().%+#().7+b:%%
?<%,..%/(--013#3.+%"18%\(2"4%^(V.)1-.1#c%Approval steps for additional and selective licensing 
in Englandc%5.6%?<@<c%E()%-().%8.#"34c%
$##B_ffOOO:2(--013#3.+:N(V:0CfB06432"#3(1+f$(0+31Nf"BB)(V"4+#.B+%%%

Page 54



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 17

V: /(1+04#%O3#$%B.(B4.%O$(%").%43C.47%#(%6.%3-B"2#.8%67%#$.%432.1+31N%"18%
2(1+38.)%).B).+.1#"#3(1+:%

0E-+"9Z1(!99$#$+,7&(8$%',1$,K(F%B':'(

TYE()8%3+%31#)(80231N%"1%"883#3(1"4%432.1+31N%+2$.-.%E()%"44%RST+%"2)(++%#$.%O$(4.%23#7%31%
F"10")7%?<@?:%A$3+%+2$.-.%6.N"1%31%F"10")7%?<@@%O3#$%#$.%31#)(802#3(1%(E%"883#3(1"4%
432.1+31N%E()%4")N.)%RST+%a(V.)%J%B.(B4.%31%B)(B.)#3.+%(V.)%J%+#().7+%"18%(V.)%;%B.(B4.%31%
B)(B.)#3.+%O3#$%(V.)%?%+#().7+b%#(%2)."#.%"%+#"N.8%"BB)("2$.8?@:%

TYE()8%/3#7%/(01234%$"+%$"8%#(%).2)03#%.Y#)"%+#"EE%E()%#$3+%313#3"#3V.%`%+#")#31N%O3#$%"8-31%+#"EE%
"18%O3#$%"%#."-%(E%;:;%5A*%.1E()2.-.1#%+#"EE%+#344%#(%6.%).2)03#.8:%U)3()%#(%#$.%+2$.-.c%3#%O"+%
.+#3-"#.8%#$"#%#$.).%O.).%"BB)(Y3-"#.47%@cJ<<%RST+%31%TYE()8d%#$.%.+#3-"#.%3+%1(O%24(+.)%#(%
@<c<<<:%

IWJWI F'&'%#$2'(8$%',1$,K(

P4#.)1"#3V.47c%"%4(2"4%"0#$()3#7%2"1%3-B4.-.1#%"%+.4.2#3V.%432.1+31N%+2$.-.:%A$3+%
-."1+%#$"#%"44%).1#.8%B)(B.)#3.+%31%+B.23E3.8%")."+%O344%6.%).D03).8%#(%"BB47%E()%"%
432.12.:%PN"31c%#$3+%"BB)("2$%).D03).+%"883#3(1"4%).+(0)2.c%60#%6)31N+%31%"883#3(1"4%
E..+:%%

P%8.+3N1"#3(1%2"1%6.%-"8.%O$.)._%%

kthe area is experiencing a significant and persistent problem caused by anti-social behaviour 
(ASB) that is attributable to occupiers of privately rented properties and that some or all of 
the private sector landlords are failing to take action that it would be appropriate for them to 
take to combat the probleml??%

=1%()8.)%E()%"%8.+3N1"#3(1%#(%6.%-"8.%31%#$3+%31+#"12.c%#$.%"1#3%+(23"4%6.$"V3(0)%%
-0+#%6.%h+3N13E32"1#e%"18%hB.)+3+#.1#e%"18%6.%83).2#47%).4"#.8%#$.%B)3V"#.%).1#.8%
+.2#():%=1%"883#3(1c%3#%-0+#%6.%+$(O1%#$"#%#$.%4"184()8+%(E%#$.+.%B)(B.)#3.+%").%1(#%
#"C31N%)."+(1"64.%+#.B+%#(%8."4%O3#$%#$.%01)."+(1"64.%6.$"V3(0):%

,.4.2#3V.%432.1+31N%2"1%"4+(%6.%31#)(802.8%O$.1%#$.).%3+%4(O%8.-"18:%%

=1%()8.)%#(%B0#%"%+.4.2#3V.%432.1+31N%+2$.-.%31#(%B4"2.%#$.%4(2"4%$(0+31N%"0#$()3#7%
-0+#%#"C.%#$.%+"-.%+#.B+%a3IVb%"+%+.#%(0#%E()%"1%"883#3(1"4%432.1+31N%+2$.-.%"6(V.:%%
P%+.4.2#3V.%432.1+31N%8.+3N1"#3(1%3+%-"8.%E()%"%B.)3(8%+B.23E3.8%67%#$.%4(2"4%
$(0+31N%"0#$()3#7c%O$32$%-0+#%1(#%.Y2..8%E3V.%7.")+c%"18%-0+#%6.%).V3.O.8%#(%
8.#.)-31.%3#+%.EE.2#3V.1.++%O3#$31%#$"#%#3-.%B.)3(8:%

=#%3+%018.)+#((8%#$"#%+312.%S")2$%?<@<c%2(1E3)-"#3(1%#(%B)(2..8%E)(-%2.1#)"4%
N(V.)1-.1#%3+%1(%4(1N.)%).D03).8%#(%3-B4.-.1#%"1%"883#3(1"4%()%+.4.2#3V.%432.1+31N%
+2$.-.:%%

\32.1+31N%2"1%(E#.1%6.%+.4EIE31"1231Nc%8.B.1831N%(1%#$.%"-(01#%#$"#%"%4(2"4%
$(0+31N%"0#$()3#7%2$((+.+%#(%2$")N.:%%/$")N.+%V")7%6.#O..1%4(2"4%"0#$()3#3.+c%"18%
+(-.#3-.+%6.#O..1%83EE.).1#%#7B.+%(E%432.1+31N%+2$.-.+%O3#$31%#$.%+"-.%"0#$()3#7%
aO3#$%+-"44.)%B)(B.)#3.+%6.31N%4.++%.YB.1+3V.b:%%

%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
?@%$##B_ffOOO:(YE()8:N(V:0Cf$-(%%
??%/(--013#3.+%"18%\(2"4%^(V.)1-.1#c%A guide to the licensing and management provisions in 
Parts 2, 3 and 4 of the Housing Act 2004 – Draftc%F"1%?<@<c%B[?c%"18%,.2#3(1%G<aHba"b%"18%a6b%(E%
#$.%?<<9%R(0+31N%P2#%

Page 55



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 18

Q7=&'(JO(8$%',1$,K(>''1(

( C+1#(+-($,$#$7&(
&$%',%'(

C+1#(+-("','A7&( ?','A7&(
4'"$+9(

N71$%(
72'"7K'(%+1#(
+2'"(HM(G"1(

N7#B(5(
R+"#B(D71#(
F+:'"1'#(

S"18"#()7%I%o[;<%aE()%;%
013#%RSTc%B40+%oJ<%B.)%

"883#3(1"4%013#b%

S"18"#()7%I%oH;<%
aE()%;%013#%RSTc%B40+%
oJ<%B.)%"883#3(1"4%

013#b%

;%7.")+%
a-"Yb%

o@9<<%

0E-+"9( S"18"#()7%"18%
P883#3(1"4%I%o9[<%aB40+%
o?<%E()%"883#3(1"4%
6.8)((-+%(V.)%;b%

S"18"#()7%"18%
P883#3(1"4%I%o@[?%

@%7.")% o?<@G%

/7,%B'1#'"( S"18"#()7%I%o;H;%I%oHH;%
aB40+%oJ<%B.)%)((-b%
,.4.2#3V.%I%o9?;%I%o;?;%

,"-.%"+%313#3"4%
432.12.%

;%7.")+%
a-"Yb%

o@?J<%

DE'#'"( S"18"#()7%I%oH[;% L1C1(O1%aE0)#$.)%
31E()-"#3(1%O344%6.%
"V"34"64.%+$()#47b%

;%7.")+%
a-"Yb%

LB%#(%o@J;<%

C7"9$--( S"18"#()7%I%o[<<%
P883#3(1"4%I%o;<<%aO3#$%
o@<<%83+2(01#%3E%3#%
2(-B43.+%O3#$%2(01234%

+#"18")8+b%

S"18"#()7%I%o?<<% ;%7.")+%
a-"Yb%

o]<<%

N"$1#+&( S"18"#()7%I%o@;<<%
a01432.1+.8b%f%o@?<<%
a1.O47%).D03).8b%

S"18"#()7%I%o@<<<% ;%7.")+%
a-"Yb%

o@H<<%

IWI /7,7K':',#(@,#'"2',#$+,1(
%A$3+%3+%B.)$"B+%#$.%6)("8.+#%2"#.N()7%(E%#$.%#$)..c%.12(-B"++31N%31#.)V.1#3(1+%
+02$%"+_%

· ,#08.1#%/$")#.)%"18%+#08.1#%83+23B431.%a)04.+%"18%).N04"#3(1+bd%%%

· W"+#.%-"1"N.-.1#d%

· X.+38.1#+e%B")C31Nd%

· ,#08.1#%2(--013#7%43"3+(1%"18%"2#3V3#3.+%#(%B)(-(#.%2($.+3(1d%

· *1E()2.-.1#%(E%#$.%R(0+31N%P2#%?<<9%

· \"184()8%"22).83#"#3(1%+2$.-.d%"18%

· ,#08.1#%31E()-"#3(1%B)(V3+3(1:%

IWIWH F#39',#(CB7"#'"(5(F#39',#(*$1%$4&$,'(

,#08.1#+%"#%6(#$%L13V.)+3#3.+%31%!"#$%").%"4)."87%$.48%"22(01#"64.%E()%#$.3)%"2#3(1+%
"18%2"1%E"2.%83+23B431")7%"2#3(1c%31240831N%E31.+%()%)3+C%#(%#$.3)%2$"12.+%(E%
N)"80"#31N%3E%#$.3)%6.$"V3(0)%31%#$.%2(--013#7%3+%E(018%#(%6.%01"22.B#"64.:%%

Page 56



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 19

A$.%L13V.)+3#7%(E%!"#$%8.E31.+%-3+2(1802#%"+%31240831N%p6.$"V3(0)%#$"#%6)31N+%#$.%
L13V.)+3#7%31#(%83+).B0#.c%31240831N%#$"#%O$32$%(220)+%(EE%2"-B0+p?Jc%O$34+#%!"#$%
,B"%+#"#.+%#$"#%+#08.1#+%O344%6.%83+23B431.%O$.).%#$.7%$"V.%p6.$"V.8%31%+02$%"%O"7%
"+%O(048%6.%8..-.8%#(%"-(01#%#(%"%2)3-31"4%(EE.12.%()%(#$.)O3+.%2(1802#.8%
$3-+.4E%()%$.)+.4E%31%#$.%L13V.)+3#7%()%.4+.O$.).c%31%"%-"11.)%2"4204"#.8%()%43C.47%
#(%6)31N%#$.%L13V.)+3#7%31#(%83+).B0#.l?9:%

P%,#08.1#%/$")#.)%3+%"1%"N)..-.1#%(1%)3N$#+%"18%).+B(1+36343#3.+%6.#O..1%"%+#08.1#%
"18%#$.3)%R3N$.)%*802"#3(1%=1+#3#0#3(1%aR*=b:%P%10-6.)%(E%013V.)+3#3.+%"2)(++%#$.%
2(01#)7%$"V.%3-B4.-.1#.8%#$.+.c%60#%#$.3)%.EE.2#3V.1.++%3+%$")8%#(%8.E31.c%"+%#$.7%
").%4")N.47%01.1E()2."64.:%A$.7%-"7%+#344%6.%0+.E04%31%"4.)#31N%+#08.1#+%#(%)04.+%
"18%).N04"#3(1+%31%"%-02$%-().%0+.)IE)3.1847%+#74.:%

/7"a+,V(6&G:+3#B(

S")j(1e+%,#08.1#%/$")#.)?;%2(1#"31+%"%+.2#3(1%(1%"22(--(8"#3(1%"18%312408.+%).+B(1+36343#3.+%
E()%+#08.1#+%1(#%43V31N%(1%2"-B0+_%

· kConduct yourself in an appropriate manner in your accommodation, whether it is on 
campus, or in the private rented sector%%

· Make your own arrangements for any non-University College accommodation, taking 
responsibility for all aspects of your tenancyl:%%

A$.%L13V.)+3#7%/(44.N.%018.)#"C.+%#(%B)(V38.%(1%2"-B0+%"22(--(8"#3(1%E()%"%4")N.%10-6.)%
(E%+#08.1#+c%"18%"4+(%#(%kB)(V38.%+#08.1#+%1(#%O3+$31N%f%01"64.%#(%#"C.%"22(--(8"#3(1%(1%
2"-B0+c%O3#$%"%43+#%(E%"N.123.+%"18%4(2"4%4"184()8+%#(N.#$.)%O3#$%31E()-"#3(1%(1%"8V3+"64.%
B)"2#32.%31%).1#31N%B)3V"#.%"22(--(8"#3(1:%a':!:%A$.%L13V.)+3#7%/(44.N.%2"11(#%018.)#"C.%#(%
2$.2C%()%"BB)(V.%1(1IL13V.)+3#7%/(44.N.%"22(--(8"#3(1b:l%%

A$.%/$")#.)%3+%6"2C.8%0B%67%,#08.1#%S3+2(1802#%U)(2.80).+c%O$32$%312408.%6(#$%B.)+(1"4%"18%
B)(E.++3(1"4%-3+2(1802#:%

'(1.%(E%#$.%R*=+%31%!"#$%"BB.")%#(%$"V.%"%,#08.1#%/$")#.)%31%B4"2.:%%

IWIWJ ]71#'(:7,7K':',#(

W"+#.%-"1"N.-.1#%3+%(1.%(E%#$.%-(+#%2(--(1%2(12.)1+%)"3+.8%67%4(2"4%).+38.1#+%
31%")."+%(E%RST%2(12.1#)"#3(1:%%\(2"4%"0#$()3#3.+%").%"64.%#(%312)."+.%#$.%
E).D0.127%(E%O"+#.%2(44.2#3(1+c%B)(V38.%"883#3(1"4%(1I+#)..#%43##.)%631+c%()%
"883#3(1"4%+#)..#%24."1.)+%31%()8.)%#(%"88).++%+(-.%(E%#$.%3++0.+:%%

%

C7"9$--(F#39',#(]71#'(C7:47$K,(

=1%/")83EEc%#$.).%$"+%6..1%"%2(I()831"#.8%2"-B"3N1c%31V(4V31N%#$.%/(01234c%L13V.)+3#3.+c%
,#08.1#+e%L13(1+%"18%2")83EE83N+:2(:0C:%A$3+%313#3"#3V.%312408.+%"%+B.23E32%2"-B"3N1%"#%#$.%.18%
(E%#$.%"2"8.-32%7.")c%O3#$%2(44.2#3(1+%(E%).I0+."64.%3#.-+%E)(-%,#08.1#+e%L13(1+%"18%$"44+:%
X.+38.1#+%31%/"#$"7+c%X("#$%"18%^"6"4E"%a#$.%-"31%+#08.1#%")."+b%"4+(%$"8%"883#3(1"4%O"+#.%

%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
?JL13V.)+3#7%(E%!"#$c%Disciplinary Regulations for Studentsc%
$##B_ffOOO:6"#$:"2:0Cf).N04"#3(1+fX.N04"#3(1[:B8E%
?9!"#$%,B"%L13V.)+3#7c%Student General Regulations, 
$##B_ffOOO:6"#$+B":"2:0Cf).N04"#3(1+f+#08.1#IN.1.)"4I).N04"#3(1+f%%
?;%$##B_ffOOO:-")j(1:"2:0Cf"6(0#-")j(1f31+#3#0#3(1"48(20-.1#+f+#08.1#).N04"#3(1+$"186((Cf%%

Page 57



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 20

2(44.2#3(1+%(1%#$)..%,"#0)8"7+%")(018%#$.%.18%(E%#.)-:%%

=1%"883#3(1c%"%h#387%#.Y#e%+2$.-.%$"+%6..1%+.#%0Bc%-."131N%).+38.1#+%2"1%).N3+#.)%E()%"%#.Y#%
).-318.)%(E%O$.1%#$.3)%2(44.2#3(1%8"7+%").?H:%%

IWIWI ?'1$9',#1Z(47"\$,K(

A$.).%3+%"1%.Y3+#31N%).+38.1#+e%B")C31N%+2$.-.%31%!"#$c%2(V.)31N%-02$%(E%#$.%23#7c%
60#%3#%8(.+%1(#%.Y#.18%#((%-"17%(E%#$.%1.3N$6(0)$((8+%-(+#%8.1+.47%B(B04"#.8%
O3#$%RST+:%%

R+##$,KB7:(?'1$9',#1Z(67"\$,K((

'(##31N$"-e+%X.+38.1#+e%U")C31N%,2$.-.%+B.23E32"447%312408.+%+#08.1#%B.)-3#+c%E()%#$(+.%
+#08731N%31%#$.%23#7:%,#08.1#+%").%.1#3#4.8%#(%#$.%+"-.%10-6.)%(E%B.)-3#+%"+%(#$.)%).+38.1#+c%60#%
#$.%O.6+3#.%-"C.+%3#%24.")%#$"#%#$.%+"-.%).+#)32#3(1+%"BB47%#(%#$.-?[:%%

IWIW) F#39',#(C+::3,$#G(67"#,'"1B$4(5(8$7$1+,(

A$.%-"j()3#7%(E%#$.%20)).1#%"2#3V3#7%31%!"#$%3+%4.8%67%#$.%,#08.1#%/(--013#7%
U")#1.)+$3Bc%O$32$%6)31N+%#(N.#$.)%#$.%/(01234c%6(#$%L13V.)+3#3.+c%#$.%,#08.1#+e%
L13(1+%E()%6(#$%L13V.)+3#3.+%"18%/3#7%(E%!"#$%/(44.N.:%=#%O"+%+.#%0B%31%?<@<f?<@@:%%

A$.%U")#1.)+$3B%E018+%"%Students Action Line:%A$3+%3+%(B.1%#(%"44%4(1NI#.)-%
).+38.1#+%"18%+#08.1#+%+(%#$"#%"17%3++0.+%2"1%6.%).B()#.8c%4(NN.8%"18%31V.+#3N"#.8:%
A$.%U")#1.)+$3B%"4+(%E018+%"%/(--013#7%\3"3+(1%/(I()831"#()%O$(%O()C+%O3#$%
4(2"4%).+38.1#+c%#$.%B(432.%"18%(#$.)%()N"13+"#3(1+%#(%B)(-(#.%B(+3#3V.%).4"#3(1+%
6.#O..1%+#08.1#+%"18%#$.%4(2"4%2(--013#7:%%

A$.%U")#1.)+$3B%"4+(%O()C+%O3#$%PV(1%"18%,(-.)+.#%U(432.c%.12(0)"N31N%
"##.18"12.%"#%UP/A+%aU")#1.)+%"18%/(--013#3.+%A(N.#$.)b%-..#31N+:%%A$.+.%").%
B06432%-..#31N+%#$"#%").%(B.1%#(%).+38.1#+%"18%+#08.1#+:%%P#%#$.+.%-(1#$47%
-..#31N+%-.-6.)+%(E%#$.%B06432%2"1%)"3+.%C.7%2(12.)1+%"18%#$.).%3+%"%V(#.%(1%
O$32$%3++0.+%+$(048%6.%B)3()3#3+.8:%%

A$.%,#08.1#+e%L13(1+%"#%6(#$%013V.)+3#3.+%.-B4(7%q(401#..)%/(I()831"#()+%O$(%
E"2343#"#.%"%10-6.)%(E%V(401#..)31N%(BB()#013#3.+%E()%+#08.1#+%31%#$.%23#7%#$"#%+.)V.%
#(%.12(0)"N.%N((8%).4"#3(1+%O3#$%#$.%4(2"4%2(--013#7:%A$.+.%312408.%#$.%
E(44(O31N_%

· S04#3204#0)"4%B)(j.2#%`%O$.).%+#08.1#%V(401#..)+%E)(-%V")3(0+%6"2CN)(018+%
8.43V.)%E01IB"2C.8%+.++3(1+%"#%4(2"4%+2$((4+d%

· XP^%`%V")3(0+%.V.1#+%#$"#%"3-%#(%)"3+.%-(1.7%E()%4(2"4%"18%1"#3(1"4%2$")3#3.+d%

· S.1#()31N%`%+#08.1#+%+0BB()#31N%+.2(18")7%+2$((4%B0B34+d%"18%

· q(401#")7%$(0)+%"#%4(2"4%2$")3#3.+:%

A$.).%").%"%10-6.)%(E%N((8%313#3"#3V.+%31%B4"2.%31%!"#$%"4)."87d%+(-.%E0)#$.)%
B(++36343#3.+%O.).%83+20++.8%"#%#$.%+#"C.$(48.)%O()C+$(B%(1%?9#$%T2#(6.)%?<@@c%
31240831N%-().%V(401#..)31N%(BB()#013#3.+%31%#$.%2(--013#3.+%O$.).%+#08.1#+e%
%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
?H%$##B_ffOOO:2")83EE83N+:2(:0CfO"+#.:$#-%%
?[%$##B_ffOOO:1(##31N$"-23#7:N(V:0Cf318.Y:"+BYZ")#324.38n?[H;%%

Page 58



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 21

43V.%"18%"%2"-B"3N1%#(%$3N$43N$#%#$.%6.1.E3#+%#$"#%+#08.1#+%6)31N%#(%!"#$%"18%#$.%
B(+3#3V.%"2#3V3#3.+%#$.7%").%31V(4V.8%31:%

*$2$,$#G(?+79(!"'7(?'1$9',#1Z(!11+%$7#$+,(b*?!?!cV(0E-+"9(

QXPXPc%TYE()8%!)((C.+e%4(2"4%).+38.1#+e%"++(23"#3(1%O()C%#(%-"C.%+#08.1#+%E..4%O.42(-.%#(%
#$.%")."%67%()N"13+31N%"%kE)..2724.l%8"7%"#%#$.%6.N31131N%(E%#.)-c%.12(0)"N31N%).+38.1#+%#(%
(EE.)%01O"1#.8%E0)13#0).%.#2%#(%+#08.1#+%-(V31N%31#(%#$.%")."?G:%

%

DE'#'"(C+::3,$#G(]7"9',1Jd(

A$.%/(--013#7%W")8.1+%").%"44%+#08.1#+%.-B4(7.8%67%#$.%013V.)+3#7:%A$.7%.12(0)"N.%#$.%
31#.N)"#3(1%(E%+#08.1#+%"+%"2#3V.%23#3m.1+%"18%B)(-(#.%N)."#.)%2(--013#7%2($.+3(1%31%
).+38.1#3"4%")."+%O3#$%$3N$%+#08.1#%10-6.)+:%A$.7%E"2343#"#.%#$.%O()C%(E%#$.%/(--013#7%
\3"3+(1%TEE32.)%"18%O()C%24(+.47%O3#$%#$.%,#08.1#+e%^0348c%#$.%4(2"4%U(432.%"18%#$.%/3#7%
/(01234%#(%+0BB()#%E.44(O%+#08.1#+%43V31N%(EE%2"-B0+:%%

A$.%#."-%(E%/(--013#7%W")8.1+%O()C%"2)(++%#$.%O")8%")."+%O$.).%-(+#%+#08.1#+%43V._%%,#%
F"-.+c%U(4+4(.c%'.O#(O1c%,#%Q"V38+%"18%U.11+74V"13":%%

W")8.1+%$"V.%).2.1#47%6..1%31V(4V.8%31%"2#3V3#3.+%+02$%"+%+0BB()#31N%"%1(3+.I"O").1.++%
2"-B"3N1c%B)(-(#31N%).272431N%"18%).E0+.%313#3"#3V.+c%"18%N"#$.)31N%31E()-"#3(1%(1%
2(--013#7%3++0.+:%%

W")8.1+%$"V.%"22.++%#(%#$.%,#)..#W3+.%E018%"18%2"1%$.4B%#(%()N"13m.%.V.1#+%#$"#%6)31N%
+#08.1#+%"18%B.)-"1.1#%).+38.1#+%#(N.#$.):%%%

A$.%/(--013#7%W")8.1%+2$.-.%$"8%6..1%8.V.4(B.8%"18%+0BB()#%67%#$.%L13V.)+3#7c%*Y.#.)%
/(--013#7%,"E.#7%U")#1.)+$3Bc%"18%Q.V(1%"18%/()1O"44%/(1+#"604")7:%%

IWIWP D,-+"%':',#(3,9'"(#B'(.+31$,K(!%#(JMM)(

A$.).%").%#O(%-"31%).4.V"1#%.4.-.1#+%(E%.1E()2.-.1#%018.)%#$.%R(0+31N%P2#%
?<<9d%-"18"#()7%RST%432.1+31N%"18%#$.%R(0+31N%R."4#$%"18%,"E.#7%X"#31N%
,7+#.-%aRR,X,b:%!(#$%.4.-.1#+%(E%.1E()2.-.1#%2"1%6.%.3#$.)%)."2#3V.%()%
B)("2#3V.:%!&'*,%$"+%"%+#"#0#()7%80#7%#(%018.)#"C.%.1E()2.-.1#%018.)%6(#$%
+2$.-.+:%W3#$%"883#3(1"4%).+(0)2.+c%3#%O(048%6.%B(++364.%#(%.Y#.18%#$.%B)("2#3V.%
O()C%#$"#%3+%8(1.%31%#$3+%").":%R(O.V.)c%3#%O(048%6.%3-B()#"1#%#(%.1+0).%#$"#%"17%
"883#3(1"4%B)("2#3V.%.1E()2.-.1#%"88+%V"40.:%%

A$.%R(0+31N%R."4#$%"18%,"E.#7%X"#31N%,7+#.-%aRR,X,b%3+%"%)3+C%6"+.8%
.V"40"#3(1%#((4%#(%$.4B%4(2"4%"0#$()3#3.+%38.1#3E7%"18%B)(#.2#%"N"31+#%B(#.1#3"4%)3+C+%
"18%$"m")8+%#(%$."4#$%"18%+"E.#7%E)(-%"17%8.E323.123.+%38.1#3E3.8%31%8O.4431N+:%=#%
O"+%31#)(802.8%018.)%#$.%R(0+31N%P2#%?<<9%"18%2"-.%31#(%.EE.2#%(1%H%PB)34%
?<<HJ<:%=#%"BB43.+%#(%"44%).+38.1#3"4%B)(B.)#3.+%31%*1N4"18:%A$.%"3-%(E%#$.%+2$.-.%3+%
.1+0).%#$"#%"44%).+38.1#3"4%B).-3+.+%+$(048%B)(V38.%"%+"E.%"18%$."4#$7%.1V3)(1-.1#%
E()%"17%B(#.1#3"4%(220B3.)%()%V3+3#()W(L18.)%#$3+%+2$.-.c%!&'*,%20)).1#47%
).+B(18+%#(%"BB)(Y3-"#.47%J<IJ;%2(-B4"31#+%."2$%-(1#$:%%

%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
?G%$##B_ff8)")":()N:0Cf.V.1#+fE)..2724.I24."1I0BI"18IE34-I31I#$.I+#)..#f%%
?]%$##B_ffOOO:.Y.#.):"2:0Cf60+31.++"182(--013#7f013V.)+3#7fO")8.1+f%%
J<%TEE32.%(E%#$.%Q.B0#7%U)3-.%S313+#.)c%Housing Health and Safety Rating System: Operating 
Guidancec%?<<H%

Page 59



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 22

*1E()2.-.1#%(E%-"18"#()7%432.1+31N%3+%018.)#"C.1%#$)(0N$%"%+7+#.-%(E%
B)3()3#3+"#3(1c%.1+0)31N%#$"#%B)(64.-%RST+%").%N3V.1%-().%"##.1#3(1%#$"1%(#$.)+:%

IWIWL 87,9&+"9(!%%"'9$#7#$+,(F%B':'(

!&'*,%"4)."87%)01+%"%E)..%V(401#")7%P22).83#"#3(1%,2$.-.%E()%4"184()8+c%O$32$%
+..C+%#(%.12(0)"N.%#$.%0BN)"8.%(E%).1#.8%B)(B.)#3.+%"18%.1+0).%#$.7%2(-B47%O3#$%
#$.%V")3(0+%).D03).-.1#+%(E%#$.%R(0+31N%P2#%?<<9:%

A$.%,#08.1#%/(--013#7%U")#1.)+$3B%"18%#$.%013V.)+3#3.+%.12(0)"N.%+#08.1#+%#(%
N3V.%B)3()3#7%#(%B)(B.)#3.+%#$"#%").%"22).83#.8c%"18%0)N.%4"184()8+%#(%#"C.%
).+B(1+36343#7%"18%.1+0).%#$.3)%B)(B.)#3.+%-..#%#$.%).D03).-.1#+%(E%#$.%
P22).83#"#3(1%,2$.-.:%%%

A$.).%").%20)).1#47%(V.)%@[<<%B)(B.)#3.+%"22).83#.8%"2)(++%!"#$J@c%"18%#$.).%3+%
+(-.%"1.28(#"4%.V38.12.%E)(-%#$.%013V.)+3#3.+%#(%+0NN.+#%#$"#%-"17%-().%").%
O"3#31N%#(%6.2(-.%"22).83#.8:%A$.%"22).83#"#3(1%#."-%3+%20)).1#47%-"8.%0B%(E%
@:;5A*%+#"EE:%%

T1.%(E%#$.%6.1.E3#+%(E%#$.%20)).1#%"22).83#"#3(1%+2$.-.%31%!"#$%3+%#$"#%#$.7%+.18%
(0#%"%4"-31"#.8%+$..#%#(%."2$%B)(B.)#7%#(%"8V3+.%(1%#$.%O"+#.%2(44.2#3(1%8"7+:%A$3+%
+..C+%#(%"88).++%#$.%3++0.%(E%#.1"1#+%B0##31N%(0#%O"+#.%(1%#$.%O)(1N%8"7:%%

A$(+.%B)(B.)#3.+%O$32$%").%"22).83#.8%).2.3V.%"%83+2(01#%(1%#$.3)%432.12.+c%O$.).%
#$.+.%").%).D03).8:%%

?'&7#$+,1B$4(='#A'',(&$%',1$,K(7,9(7%%"'9$#7#$+,($,(0E-+"9(

TYE()8%/3#7%/(01234%)01+%"1%"22).83#"#3(1%+2$.-.%31%B")"44.4%O3#$%3#+%23#7IO38.%"44%RST%
432.1+31N%+2$.-.:%A$.%"22).83#"#3(1%+2$.-.%3+%E)..%"18%B)(B.)#3.+%#$"#%$"V.%6..1%"22).83#.8%
).2.3V.%"%83+2(01#%(1%#$.3)%432.1+31N%E..:%

A$.%"22).83#"#3(1%+2$.-.%312408.+%-().%8.#"34.8%).D03).-.1#+c%B")#3204")47%31%).4"#3(1%#(%
-"1"N31N%"1#3I+(23"4%6.$"V3(0)%31%#.1"1#+:%R(O.V.)c%"+%3#%3+%"%V(401#")7%+2$.-.c%.1E()2.-.1#%
3+%-().%83EE3204#:%\"184()8+%).2.3V.%"%@<g%83+2(01#%(1%#$.3)%RST%432.12.%3E%#$.7%").%
"22).83#.8:%%

IWIWT F#39',#(@,-+":7#$+,(6"+2$1$+,(

A$)(0N$%#$.%,#08.1#%/(--013#7%U")#1.)+$3B%a,/Ub%"%10-6.)%(E%0+.E04%
B06432"#3(1+%"18%31E()-"#3(1%").%"V"34"64.%E()%+#08.1#+%31%!"#$c%#$.+.%312408._%

· A$.%O.6+3#.%OOO:#(O1+"18N(O1:()N:0C_%A$3+%B)(V38.+%"%O."4#$%(E%
31E()-"#3(1%(1%"44%"+B.2#+%(E%"22(--(8"#3(1%"18%2(--013#7%43"3+(1:%=#%
B)(V38.+%31E()-"#3(1%(1%43V31N%31%"44%4(2"#3(1+%31%!"#$%31240831N%
).2(--.18"#3(1+%E)(-%+#08.1#+:%

· A$.%B06432"#3(1%Being a Good Neighbour Handbook_%@@c<<<%2(B3.+%(E%#$3+%
B06432"#3(1%O.).%83+#)360#.8%#(%+#08.1#+%31%,.B#.-6.)%?<@@:%=#%B)(V38.+%
B)"2#32"4%31E()-"#3(1%(1%$(O%#(%-"31#"31%"%N((8%).4"#3(1+$3B%O3#$%1.3N$6(0)+c%
31E()-"#3(1%(1%3#.-+%+02$%"+%O"+#.c%B")C31N%"18%.1.)N7%+"V31N+c%31E()-"#3(1%
(1%#$.%R(0+31N%P22).83#"#3(1%,2$.-.d%+#08.1#%+"E.#7%"18%(BB()#013#3.+%E()%
2(--013#7%B")#1.)+$3B+c%+02$%"+%#$(+.%(6#"31.8%#$)(0N$%UP/A%-..#31N+c%

%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
J@%$##B_ffOOO:"10C:()N:0Cf2(1+04#"127f2(1+04#"1#+:"+B%%

Page 60



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 23

V(401#..)31N%"18%"%N((8%1.3N$6(0)%"O")8%+2$.-.:%=1%?<@@c%,#08.1#+e%L13(1%
).B).+.1#"#3V.+%V3+3#.8%$(0+.$(48+%a6(#$%+#08.1#+%"18%4(1NI#.)-%).+38.1#+b%31%
C.7%")."+%#(%B)(-(#.%#$.%N038.%"18%#$.%O()C%(E%#$.%,/UJ?:%%

· A$.%B06432"#3(1%Bath Accommodation Guide_%#$3+%3+%83+#)360#.8%#$)(0N$%
+#08.1#%013(1+c%"22(--(8"#3(1%+.)V32.+c%$(0+31N%E()0-e+%"18%+#08.1#%
$"1N(0#+%31%#$.%4(2"4%2(--013#7:%,#08.1#+%").%"4+(%+.1#%"1%.4.2#)(132%2(B7%(E%
#$.%$"186((C%E)(-%,#08.1#+e%L13(1%.I-"34%6044.#31+:%A$.%N038.%B)(V38.+%
31E()-"#3(1%(1%"44%"+B.2#+%(E%E31831N%B)3V"#.%"22(--(8"#3(1%31%!"#$:%%%

=1%"883#3(1c%#$.%L13V.)+3#7%(E%!"#$%)01+%"1%"110"4%$(0+31N%E()0-c%"8V3+31N%
+#08.1#+%(1%(B#3(1+%(E%O$.).%#(%43V.c%31240831N%31E()-"#3(1%(1%"%V")3.#7%(E%
83EE.).1#%")."+%"2)(++%#$.%23#7%"18%#$.%8.#"34+%#(%2(1+38.)%6.E().%+3N131N%"%2(1#)"2#:%
!"#$%,B"%L13V.)+3#7%)01%+3-34")%$(0+31N%O()C+$(B+:%%

T#$.)%23#3.+%$"V.%)01%31E()-"#3(1%2"-B"3N1+%(1%+B.23E32%3++0.+c%E()%.Y"-B4.%O"+#.%
()%1(3+.:%%

) ?'2$'A(+-(D2$9',%'(+-(./01($,(N7#BO(
F47#$7&(*$1#"$=3#$+,(7,9(@:47%#1(

)WH ./0(*$1#"$=3#$+,(
A$.).%3+%1(%.1#3).47%2(-B).$.1+3V.%43+#%(E%RST+%20)).1#47%B).+.1#%31%!"#$c%"+%
#$.).%3+%1(%.Y3+#31N%).D03).-.1#%E()%4(2"4%"0#$()3#3.+%#(%2(44.2#%#$3+%31E()-"#3(1%"18%
B)3-")7%8"#"%2(44.2#3(1%O"+%(0#+38.%#$.%+2(B.%(E%#$3+%+#087:%%A$.%/(01234e+%
$(0+31N%8.B")#-.1#%.+#3-"#.+%#$.).%").%31%#$.%).N3(1%(E%Jc<<<%RST+%"2)(++%#$.%
83+#)32#JJ:%A$.+.%RST+%O344%6.%#$(+.%#$"#%).D03).%432.12.+%aRST+%O3#$%E3V.%()%
-().%6.8)((-+%"18%#$)..%()%-().%+#().7+%O$.).%#$.).%3+%+$")31N%(E%E"2343#3.+bd%
#$(+.%#$"#%$"V.%-"8.%0+.%(E%#$.%V(401#")7%"22).83#"#3(1%+2$.-.%a4")N.47%+#08.1#%
B)(B.)#3.+bd%"18%B)(B.)#3.+%#$"#%$"V.%2(-.%#(%#$.%"##.1#3(1%(E%#$.%$(0+31N%+.)V32.c%
.3#$.)%#$)(0N$%N.1.)"4%.1E()2.-.1#c%B)("2#3V.%31+B.2#3(1+c%O()C31N%O3#$%B")#1.)+%
"18%E(44(O31N%2(-B4"31#+:%%

A$.%83+#)360#3(1%(E%#$.+.%B)(B.)#3.+%31%!"#$%3+%+$(O1%31%E3N0).%@%6.4(O:%A$3+%
24.")47%+$(O+%"%2(12.1#)"#3(1%(E%RST+%31%T48E3.48c%W.+#-().4"18%"18%
W382(-6.c%"18%-().%N.1.)"447%"4(1N%#$.%C.7%B06432%#)"1+B()#%2())38()+%#$"#%
)"83"#.%E)(-%#$.%23#7%2.1#).:%A$.%(V.)4"BB31N%(E%3183V380"4%8(#+%O$32$%).B).+.1#%
+31N4.%RST+%31%#$3+%B4"1%-"7%$38.%+(-.%2(12.1#)"#3(1+%(E%RST+%"#%#$3+%+2"4.:%
W.%$"V.%#$.).E().%"4+(%2(1+38.).8%#$.%2(12.1#)"#3(1%(E%RST+%"#%"%+-"44.)%+2"4.c%
67%\(O.)%,0B.)%T0#B0#%P)."%a\,TPb:%%A$.+.%").%8.B32#.8%31%E3N0).%?:%%A$.%")."+%
31%N)..1%$"V.%"%4(O.)%#$"1%"V.)"N.%2(12.1#)"#3(1%(E%RST+%E()%#$.%23#7%"+%"%O$(4.:%%

=1%"883#3(1%#(%4((C31N%"#%#$.%10-6.)%(E%RST+%#$"#%#$.%$(0+31N%8.B")#-.1#%").%
"O").%(E%31%!"#$c%O.%$"V.%"4+(%-"BB.8%#$.%10-6.)%(E%+#08.1#%2(01234%#"Y%.Y.-B#%
B)(B.)#3.+:%A$.+.%").%+$(O1%31%E3N0).%J:%TE%2(0)+.c%#$3+%3+%(147%(1.%B")#%(E%#$.%
RST%-")C.#c%"18%+(-.%+#08.1#+%O344%2$((+.%#(%43V.%31%+-"44.)%B)(B.)#3.+%a.:N:%#$"#%
").%1(#%RST+b%()%O3#$%1(1I+#08.1#+%a.:N:%31%8O.4431N+%#$"#%").%1(#%2(01234%#"Y%
.Y.-B#b:%
%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
J?%$##B_ffOOO:#(O1"18N(O1:()N:0Cf1(8.fHJ%%
JJ%=#%3+%V.)7%43C.47%#$"#%#$3+%3+%"1%018.)2(01#%(E%#$.%#(#"4%10-6.)%(E%RST+%31%!"#$:%T1%#$.%
31#)(802#3(1%(E%"883#3(1"4%432.1+31Nc%TYE()8%/3#7%/(01234%012(V.).8%"4-(+#%"1%G%E(48%312)."+.%31%
RST+%aE)(-%@cJ<<%#(%@<c<<<b:%%

Page 61



Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. License number 100023334

*
Scale: 1:25,000

HMOs
Bath

Author : B Stone Date : 20/10/2011

Key

Bath & North East Somerset Boundary

Bath City Boundary

A - HMO in Bedsits
B - HMO Shared Houses
C - HMO Let in Lodgings
D - HMO Hostels
HMOCOM - Above Commercial
MAISON - HMO Maisonette

Figure 1

Page 62



! .! .

! .

! .
! .

! .! .
! . ! .

! .
! .! .

! .

! .

! .
! .

! .

! .

! .

Jo
b 

N
o

21
81

16
-0

0
D

ra
w

in
g 

N
o

Is
su

e

00
2

P
0

D
ra

w
in

g 
S

ta
tu

s

P
re

lim
in

ar
y

S
ca

le
 a

t A
3

D
ra

w
in

g 
Ti

tle

Jo
b 

Ti
tle

C
lie

nt

63
 S

t T
ho

m
as

 S
tre

et
B

ris
to

l
Te

l +
44

 (0
)1

17
 9

78
 5

43
2 

Fa
x 

+4
4 

(0
)1

17
 9

76
 5

43
3

w
w

w
.a

ru
p.

co
m

0
64

0
1,

28
0

32
0

M
et

re
s

Is
su

e
D

at
e

B
y

C
hk

d
A

pp
d

P
0

20
11

-1
0-

24
JE

A
C

W
D

\\Global\Europe\Bristol\Jobs\218xxx\218116-00\4.30_Drgs\2_GIS\03 Map Documents\HMO_comparisons.mxd

L
eg

en
d

! .
H

al
ls

 o
f r

es
id

en
ce

B
at

h 
C

ity
 b

ou
nd

ar
y

W
ar

d 
bo

un
da

rie
s

LS
O

A 
bo

un
da

rie
s

H
o

us
es

 o
f 

M
u

lti
pl

e 
O

cc
up

at
io

n

<4
.9

39
%

4.
93

9%
 -

 1
1.

07
6%

11
.0

76
%

 -
 1

7.
21

2%

17
.2

12
%

 -
 2

0.
28

1%

>2
0.

28
1%

! °

©
 A

ru
p

 1:
25

,0
00

B
at

h
 a

n
d

 N
o

rt
h

 E
as

t 
S

o
m

er
se

t 
C

o
u

n
ci

l

B
&

N
E

S
 A

rt
ic

le
 4

 H
M

O
 S

tu
d

y

P
re

ce
n

ta
g

e 
o

f 
H

o
u

se
s 

o
f 

M
u

lt
ip

le
 

O
cc

u
p

at
io

n
 (

H
M

O
s)

 b
y 

L
o

w
er

 S
u

p
er

 
O

u
tp

u
t A

re
a 

(L
S

O
A

)

A
3 

 F
ig

ur
e 

2

Te
m

pl
at

e 
A

3:
 V

er
si

on
 2

Page 63



! .! .

! .

! .
! .

! .! .
! . ! .

! .
! .! .

! .

! .

! .
! .

! .

! .

! .

B
AT

H
W

IC
K

W
ID

C
O

M
B

E

LA
N

S
D

O
W

N

W
E

S
TO

N

C
O

M
B

E
 D

O
W

N

LY
N

C
O

M
B

E

TW
E

R
TO

N

N
E

W
B

R
ID

G
E

LA
M

B
R

ID
G

E

A
B

B
E

Y

O
D

D
 D

O
W

N

K
IN

G
S

M
E

A
D

W
A

LC
O

T

S
O

U
T

H
D

O
W

N

O
LD

FI
E

LD

W
E

S
TM

O
R

E
LA

N
D

Jo
b 

N
o

21
81

16
-0

0
D

ra
w

in
g 

N
o

Is
su

e

00
7

P
0

D
ra

w
in

g 
S

ta
tu

s

P
re

lim
in

ar
y

S
ca

le
 a

t A
3

D
ra

w
in

g 
Ti

tle

Jo
b 

Ti
tle

C
lie

nt

63
 S

t T
ho

m
as

 S
tre

et
B

ris
to

l
Te

l +
44

 (0
)1

17
 9

78
 5

43
2 

Fa
x 

+4
4 

(0
)1

17
 9

76
 5

43
3

w
w

w
.a

ru
p.

co
m

0
62

5
1,

25
0

31
2.

5

M
et

re
s

Is
su

e
D

at
e

B
y

C
hk

d
A

pp
d

P
0

20
11

-1
0-

24
JE

A
C

W
D

\\Global\Europe\Bristol\Jobs\218xxx\218116-00\4.30_Drgs\2_GIS\03 Map Documents\ASB_Council_Tax.mxd

L
eg

en
d

! .
H

al
ls

 o
f r

es
id

en
ce

B
at

h 
C

ity
 b

ou
nd

ar
y

W
ar

d 
bo

un
da

rie
s

LS
O

A 
bo

un
da

rie
s

C
o

un
ci

l T
ax

 e
xe

m
p

t p
ro

pe
rt

ie
s

<5
.5

6%

5.
57

%
 -

 1
1.

85
%

11
.8

6%
 -

 1
8.

13
%

18
.1

4%
 -

 2
4.

41
%

>2
4.

42
%

! °

©
 A

ru
p

 1:
25

,0
00

B
at

h
 a

n
d

 N
o

rt
h

 E
as

t 
S

o
m

er
se

t 
C

o
u

n
ci

l

B
&

N
E

S
 A

rt
ic

le
 4

 H
M

O
 S

tu
d

y

C
o

u
n

ci
l T

ax
 E

xe
m

p
t 

P
ro

p
er

ti
es

 b
y 

L
o

w
er

 
S

u
p

er
 O

u
tp

u
t A

re
a 

(L
S

O
A

)

A
3 

 F
ig

ur
e 

3

Te
m

pl
at

e 
A

3:
 V

er
si

on
 2

24/10/2011 10:39:40

Page 64



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 24

A$.%).4"#3(1+$3B%6.#O..1%+#08.1#%B)(B.)#3.+%"18%RST+%31%+(-.%(E%#$.%-().%
8.1+.47%B(B04"#.8%+#08.1#%")."+%2"1%6.%+..1%31%Q7=&'(I%%"18%"4+(%31%E3N0).%9%
6.4(O:%%

Q7=&'(IO(C+:47"$1+,(='#A'',(1#39',#(4"+4'"#G(7,9(./0(,3:='"($,(1#39',#(&+A'"(
134'"(+3#43#(7"'71(b8F0!1cW(

!"'7(( R+W(+-(1#39',#(
B+31'1%

R+W(+-(\,+A,(
./01%

Q+#7&(,+W(+-(
9A'&&$,K1%

e(1#39',#(
4"+4'"#$'1%

e(
./01%

T48E3.48%U")C%'()#$%% @;@% @H9% ;@;% ?]:Jg% J@:Gg%

W.+#-().4"18%% @J<% @?9% ;]<% ??:<g% ?@:<g%
W.+#-().4"18%W.+#%% @?]% @<;% H@]% ?<:Gg% @[:<g%
T48E3.48%U")C%W.+#%% @@;% @@?% ;GH% @]:Hg% @]:@g%
\(O.)%AO.)#(1%*"+#% ]<% ]J% ;@9% @[:;g% @G:@g%
T48E3.48%U")C%% ];% G<% H?G% @;:@g% @?:[g%
W382(-6.%,#%S")C+%% GJ% @@% ;;[% @9:]g% ?:<g%
q32#()3"%U")C%% GH% ;[% [<@% @?:Jg% G:@g%
%
%
% (

Page 65



! .! .

! .

! .
! .

! .! .
! . ! .

! .
! .! .

! .

! .

! .
! .

! .

! .

! .

Jo
b 

N
o

21
81

16
-0

0
D

ra
w

in
g 

N
o

Is
su

e

00
3

P
0

D
ra

w
in

g 
S

ta
tu

s

P
re

lim
in

ar
y

S
ca

le
 a

t A
3

D
ra

w
in

g 
Ti

tle

Jo
b 

Ti
tle

C
lie

nt

63
 S

t T
ho

m
as

 S
tre

et
B

ris
to

l
Te

l +
44

 (0
)1

17
 9

78
 5

43
2 

Fa
x 

+4
4 

(0
)1

17
 9

76
 5

43
3

w
w

w
.a

ru
p.

co
m

0
64

0
1,

28
0

32
0

M
et

re
s

Is
su

e
D

at
e

B
y

C
hk

d
A

pp
d

P
0

20
11

-1
0-

24
JE

A
C

W
D

\\Global\Europe\Bristol\Jobs\218xxx\218116-00\4.30_Drgs\2_GIS\03 Map Documents\HMO_comparisons.mxd

L
eg

en
d

! .
H

al
ls

 o
f r

es
id

en
ce

B
at

h 
C

ity
 b

ou
nd

ar
y

W
ar

d 
bo

un
da

rie
s

LS
O

A 
bo

un
da

rie
s

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

di
ff

er
en

ce

<-
8.

89
8%

-8
.8

98
%

 -
 -5

.7
22

%

-5
.7

22
%

 -
 -2

.5
47

%

-2
.5

47
%

 -
 0

.6
28

%

0.
62

8%
 -

 3
.8

04
%

3.
80

4%
 -

 6
.9

79
%

6.
97

9%
 -

 1
0.

15
5%

>1
0.

15
5%

! °

©
 A

ru
p

 1:
25

,0
00

B
at

h
 a

n
d

 N
o

rt
h

 E
as

t 
S

o
m

er
se

t 
C

o
u

n
ci

l

B
&

N
E

S
 A

rt
ic

le
 4

 H
M

O
 S

tu
d

y

P
er

ce
n

ta
g

e 
D

if
fe

re
n

ce
 o

f 
C

o
u

n
ci

l T
ax

 
E

xe
m

p
t 

P
ro

p
er

ti
es

 in
 a

n
 L

S
O

A
 C

o
m

p
ar

ed
 

to
 H

o
u

se
 o

f 
M

u
lt

ip
le

 O
cc

u
p

at
io

n

A
3 

F
ig

ur
e 

4

Te
m

pl
at

e 
A

3:
 V

er
si

on
 2

24/10/2011 11:34:25

Page 66



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 25

)WJ .$KB'"(D93%7#$+,($,(N7#B(
!"#$%3+%20)).1#47%$(-.%#(%#O(%013V.)+3#3.+d%!"#$%,B"%L13V.)+3#7%"18%#$.%L13V.)+3#7%
(E%!"#$:%=#%"4+(%B4"7+%$(+#%#(%#$.%/3#7%(E%!"#$%/(44.N.c%O$32$%(EE.)+%+(-.%R3N$.)%
*802"#3(1%B)(N)"--.+:%=1%"883#3(1c%#$.).%").%(#$.)%2(44.N.+%31240831N%!"#$%
P2"8.-7J9%"18%'()4"18%/(44.N.J;c%O$32$%(EE.)%L13V.)+3#7%()%B).I013V.)+3#7%4.V.4%
2(0)+.+c%"18%").%43C.47%#(%$"V.%+#08.1#+%O$(%).D03).%"22(--(8"#3(1%31%#$.%/3#7:%%

P%?<@<%X.B()#c%Student Numbers & Accommodation Information Paper36E(018%
#$"#%#$.%#(#"4%10-6.)%(E%!"#$%,B"%"18%L13V.)+3#7%(E%!"#$%+#08.1#+%31%?<<]f@<%O"+%
?@cG]Gc%(E%O$32$%@HcH?@%O.).%E044I#3-.:%%

!"#$%6"+.8%+#08.1#+%43V.%31%"%)"1N.%(E%"22(--(8"#3(1%#7B.+c%31240831Nd%

· X,$2'"1$#G`+A,'9(B7&&1(+-("'1$9',%'%I%A$.).%").%20)).1#47%J[J?%
6.8+B"2.+%31%!"#$J[:%

· 6"$27#'&G(+A,'9(B7&&1(+-("'1$9',%'%I%L13#.%(O1%#O(%B)(B.)#3.+%O$32$%
$"V.%"%#(#"4%(E%H9G%6.8+B"2.+JG:%

· .+:'(`%P%10-6.)%(E%+#08.1#+%O344%6.%24"++3E3.8%"+%h$(-.e%+#08.1#+c%43V31N%
31%"1%")."%O3#$%"%!P%B(+#2(8.%B)3()%#(%#$.%+#")#%(E%#$.3)%2(0)+.:%A$3+%-"7%
6.%O3#$%B").1#+c%()%).E4.2#%#$.%10-6.)%(E%-"#0).%+#08.1#+%O$(%").%+.##4.8%31%
#$.%!"#$%")."%B)3()%#(%+#")#31N%#$.3)%2(0)+.:%

· .+:'`1#7G(7%%+::+97#$+,(`%A$3+%3+%O$.).%+#08.1#+%4(8N.%31%"%E"-347%
$(-.:%A$3+%#7B.%(E%"22(--(8"#3(1%3+%(E#.1%B(B04")%O3#$%31#.)1"#3(1"4%
+#08.1#+:%%

· 6"$27#'("',#'9(7%%+::+97#$+,(`%A$3+%312408.+%6(#$%RST+%"18%+-"44.)%
B)(B.)#3.+:%RST+%").%B)(6"647%-(+#%B(B04")%E()%?18%"18%J)8%7.")%LM%
+#08.1#+:%!(#$%013V.)+3#3.+%"8V.)#3+.%!&'*,%/(01234e+%P22).83#"#3(1%
,2$.-.c%O$32$%(EE.)+%"++0)"12.%"6(0#%D0"43#7%(E%#$.%"22(--(8"#3(1:%
A$.).%").%"4-(+#%@[<<%"22).83#.8%B)(B.)#3.+%31%!"#$J]:%!"#$%,B"%L13V.)+3#7%
20)).1#47%.1#.)+%31#(%1(-31"#3(1%"N)..-.1#+%O3#$%B)3V"#.%4"184()8+%#(%
+.20).%6.8%+B"2.+%E()%E3)+#%7.")%+#08.1#+%#(%43V.%31%#$.%B)3V"#.%).1#.8%+.2#()c%
O$32$%E()%"2"8.-32%7.")%?<@@f@?%O"+%E()%@J?%+B"2.+9<:%

%

%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
J9%!"#$%P2"8.-7%(EE.)+%L13V.)+3#7%5(018"#3(1%U)(N)"--.+c%-"3147%#")N.#.8%"#%31#.)1"#3(1"4%
+#08.1#+d%OOO:6"#$"2"8.-7:2(:0C%%
J;%'()4"18%/(44.N.%(EE.)+%"%!P%aR(1+b%*")47%/$348$((8%,#083.+%31%2(1j012#3(1%O3#$%#$.%L13V.)+3#7%
(E%^4(02.+#.)+$3).d%OOO:1()4"18:2(:0C%%
JH%!"#$%"18%'()#$%*"+#%,(-.)+.#%/().%,#)"#.N7c%Student Numbers & Accommodation Information 
Paper, Q.2.-6.)%?<@<%
J[%!"+.8%(1%31E()-"#3(1%E)(-%$##B_ff$(0+31N:6"#$+B":"2:0Cf"22(--(8"#3(1f318.Y%"18%
$##B_ffOOO:6"#$:"2:0Cf+#087f0Nf"22(--(8"#3(1f318.Y:$#-4c%"22.++.8%J)8%T2#(6.)%?<@@%
JG%!"+.8%(1%31E()-"#3(1%E)(-%$##B_ff$(0+31N:6"#$+B":"2:0Cf"22(--(8"#3(1f318.Yc%"22.++.8%J)8%
T2#(6.)%?<@@%
J]%$##B_ffOOO:"10C:()N:0Cf2(1+04#"127f2(1+04#"1#+:"+B%
9<%':6:%A$.%L13V.)+3#7%3+%4((C31N%#(%8.V.4(B%"18%B)(V38.%-().%+#08.1#%).+38.1#3"4%"22(--(8"#3(1%
"#%3#+%'.O#(1%U")C%/"-B0+%+(%#$"#%3#%O(048%1(#%1..8%#(%+.20).%318.B.18.1#%"22(--(8"#3(1%E()%3#+%
E3)+#%7.")%+#08.1#+:%A$.%"BB432"#3(1%3+%80.%#(%6.%+06-3##.8%31%,B)31N%?<@?%

Figure 2

Page 67



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 26

=#%3+%0+.E04%#(%1(#.%#$"#%83EE.).1#%N)(0B+%(E%+#08.1#+%O344%(E#.1%$"V.%83EE.).1#%
).D03).-.1#+%E()%"22(--(8"#3(1:%A$.%(6+.)V"#3(1+%#$"#%E(44(O%").c%#(%"%4")N.%
.Y#.1#c%N.1.)"43+"#3(1+c%60#%B)(V38.%+(-.%0+.E04%2(1#.Y#_%

· XS(-$"1#(G'7"(3,9'"K"7937#'1%`%43C.47%#(%B).E.)%#(%43V.%31%"%$"44%(E%
).+38.12.:%P%N0")"1#..%(E%"%+B"2.%31%$"44%3+%(E#.1%"##)"2#3V.%#(%B)(+B.2#3V.%
+#08.1#+:%

· XS(J,9(`)#B(G'7"(3,9'"K"7937#'1%`%(E#.1%B).E.)%#(%43V.%31%+$").8%$(0+31N%
aRST+b%"+%B")#%(E%"%h)3#.%(E%B"++"N.e:%

· @,#'",7#$+,7&(f(DX('E%B7,K'(f(D"71:31(1#39',#1%`%N.1.)"447%31%!"#$%E()%
(1.%7.")%()%(E#.1%4.++:%TE#.1%4((C31N%#(%).1#%B)3V"#.%).1#.8%"22(--(8"#3(1%
aRST+b%-02$%4"#.)%#$"1%LM%018.)N)"80"#.+:%%

· @,#'",7#$+,7&(3,9'"K"7937#'(1#39',#1%`%#$3+%3+%"%4")N.%N)(0B%
.12(-B"++31N%"17(1.%O$(%$"+1e#%43V.8%31%#$.%*L%E()%J%2(1+.20#3V.%7.")+%
B)3()%#(%+#")#31N%#$.3)%2(0)+.:%\.++%43C.47%#(%6.%C..1%(1%2(--01"4%43V31Nc%
-().%43C.47%#(%(B#%E()%$"44+%()%$(-.I+#"7%"22(--(8"#3(1:%%

· /7#3"'(1#39',#1(g("N"31c%"%83V.)+.%N)(0B%(E%"17(1.%"N.8%(V.)%?@%"#%#$.%
+#")#%(E%#$.3)%2(0)+.:%S().%43C.47%#(%6.%+.##4.8%31%!"#$%B)3()%#(%#$.%+#")#%(E%
#$.%2(0)+.c%60#%O344%"4+(%312408.%+(-.%4((C31N%E()%+$").8%$(0+31N:(

· *$17=&'9(1#39',#1(`%83+"6343#3.+%").%O38.I)"1N31Nc%60#%+(-.%-"7%-"C.%3#%
-().%83EE3204#%E()%+#08.1#+%#(%43V.%318.B.18.1#47:%(

· .+:'(1#39',#1(g(1(%).D03).-.1#%E()%"22(--(8"#3(1%"+%#$.7%").%"4)."87%
).+38.1#%31%!"#$%()%#$.%+0))(01831N%").":(

· 67"#`#$:'(1#39',#1(g((E#.1%O344%1(#%).D03).%"22(--(8"#3(1c%"+%.3#$.)%#$.7%
O344%$"V.%"1%.Y3+#31N%$(-.%1.")67c%()%O344%6.%"64.%#(%+#087%).-(#.47%E()%"%
4")N.%B.)2.1#"N.%(E%#$.%#3-.:%(

· XS(4+1#K"7937#'1(g(TE#.1%43C.47%#(%43V.%31%+$").8%$(0+31Nc%60#%O344%6.%
-().%V")3.8%31%#$.3)%).D03).-.1#+:(

· @,#'",7#$+,7&(4+1#K"7937#'1(g((E#.1%(147%31%#$.%LM%E()%"%(1.%7.")%
-"+#.)+%2(0)+.c%#$3+%N)(0B%2"1%6.%D03#.%V041.)"64.%"+%#$.7%-"7%1(#%$"V.%"%
4(2"4%+0BB()#%1.#O()C%()%N((8%018.)+#"1831N%(E%LM%204#0).:%\3C.47%#(%$"V.%
+3-34")%"22(--(8"#3(1%B).E.).12.+%#(%31#.)1"#3(1"4%018.)N)"80"#.+%
a$(-.I+#"7%()%$"44+b:(

· F#39',#1(+,(4&7%':',#(g(S"17%013V.)+3#7%2(0)+.+%312()B()"#.%"%7.")%31%
3180+#)7%()%"6)("8:%Q.B.1831N%(1%#$.%4(2"#3(1%"18%4.1N#$%(E%#$.3)%
B4"2.-.1#c%#$.+.%+#08.1#+%-"7%).D03).%"22(--(8"#3(1:%(

Page 68



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 27

)WJWH F#39',#(R3:='"1(
=1%?<<]f@<%#$.%L13V.)+3#7%(E%!"#$%$"8%"%#(#"4%(E%@9cH<<%+#08.1#+9@:%!"#$%,B"%
L13V.)+3#7%$"8%GcG<<%+#08.1#+c%-"C31N%#$.%23#7e+%#(#"4%?Jc9<<:%Q"#"%E()%(#$.)%
31+#3#0#3(1+%3+%1(#%B06432"447%"V"34"64.:%A$.%#(#"4%10-6.)+%E()%#$.%013V.)+3#3.+%2"1%
6.%6)(C.1%8(O1%"+%+$(O1%31%Q7=&'()%6.4(O:%
%
Q7=&'()O(F#39',#(,3:='"1(JMMdfHM(

%% X,$2'"1$#G(+-(N7#B( N7#B(F47(X,$2'"1$#G( Q+#7&(

X
,9
'"
K"
79
37
#'
(bX
[
c( 5044I#3-.%a5Ab% ]cJ@<% ;c@?<% @9c9J<%

U")#I#3-.%aUAb% ;9<% ;@<% @c<;<%

LM% [cH];% ;c9H<% @Jc@;;%

T#$.)%*L% GH;% [;% ]9<%

'(1I*L% @c?G;% ];% @cJG<%

Q+#7&(X[( dVhPM( PVLIM( HPV)hM(

6
+1
#K
"7
93
7#
'(
b6
[
c(

5044I#3-.%a5Ab% @cHG<% [J;% ?c9@;%

U")#I#3-.%aUAb% Jc<[;% ?c9J;% ;c9@<%

LM% ?cG?;% Jc@@;% ;c]9<%

T#$.)%*L% ;@<% ?<% ;J<%

'(1I*L% @c9@;% J;% @c9;<%

Q+#7&(6[( )VTPM( IVHTM( TVdJM(

Q+#7&(>Q(F#39',#1( HMVddM( PVhPP( HLVh)P(

Q+#7&(!&&(F#39',#1( H)VLMM( hVhMM( JIV)MM(

% %

%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
9@%A$3+%3+%#$.%-(+#%).2.1#%8"#"%"V"34"64.%E)(-%#$.%R3N$.)%*802"#3(1%,#"#3+#32+%PN.127%aR*,Pbd%
$##B_ffOOO:$.+":"2:0Cf8(Yf8"#"A"64.+f+#08.1#+P18r0"43E3.)+f8(O14("8f31+#3#0#3(1<]@<:Y4+%%

Page 69



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 28

Q7=&'(P%+$(O+%$(O%#$.%E044I#3-.%+#08.1#%B(B04"#3(1%(E%!"#$%2(-B").+%#(%#$.%
B(B04"#3(1%(E%#$.%23#7%"+%"%O$(4.c%"18%$(O%#$3+%2(-B").+%O3#$%(#$.)%013V.)+3#7%
23#3.+:%S"12$.+#.)%$"+%6..1%+.4.2#.8%E()%2(-B")3+(1%"+%3#%O"+%#$.%(147%23#7%#(%$"V.%
"1%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%31%B4"2.%"#%#$.%#3-.%#$3+%+#087%O"+%018.)#"C.1:%P44%(#$.)%
013V.)+3#7%23#3.+%2$(+.1%").%(E%"%+3-34")%+3m.%#(%!"#$c%"18%"44%$"V.%P)#324.%9%
Q3).2#3(1+%2(-31N%31#(%B4"2.%31%#$.%2(-31N%-(1#$+:%%
% %

Page 70



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 29

Q7=&'(PO(F#39',#1(71(7(e(+-(#+#7&(4+43&7#$+,($,(N7#B(7,9(+#B'"(%$#$'1(

%% N7#B( /7,%B'1#'"( C7,#'"=3"G( DE'#'"( 0E-+"9( _+"\(

D1#$:7#'9(
>Q(1#39',#(
6+43&7#$+,
)J(

@HcG9;% ;@c;H;% ?9c<<<% @Hc@[;% J@cH?<% @[cJ;<%

D1#$:7#'9(
4+43&7#$+,
)I((

]@c9;H% 9]GcG<<% 9Hc][G% @@]cH<<% @;Jc[<<% @99c?<?%

!"'7))( ?]C-?% @@[%C-?% JH%C-?% 9[%C-?% 9H%C-?% [G%C-?%

F#39',#1(71(
e(+-(#+#7&(
4+43&7#$+,((

@Gg% @;g% ;@g% @9g% ?@g% @?g%

F#39',#1(
4'"(\:J((

;G@% 99@% HH[% J99% HG[% ???%

)WJWJ F#39',#(!%%+::+97#$+,(

A$.%#O(%013V.)+3#3.+%6(#$%(EE.)%"%N0")"1#..%(E%013V.)+3#7%B)(V38.8%"22(--(8"#3(1%
#(%-"17%(E%#$.3)%+#08.1#+:%%

A$.%L13V.)+3#7%(E%!"#$%N0")"1#..+%"22(--(8"#3(1%#(%"44%+#08.1#+%31%#$.%E(44(O31N%
N)(0B+%O$(%$"V.%"22.B#.8%!"#$%"+%#$.3)%E3)+#%2$(32.%67%J@+#%F047_%

· 1.O%E044%#3-.%018.)N)"80"#.%+#08.1#+%31%#$.3)%E3)+#%7.")%(1%#$.%/4"V.)#(1%
/"-B0+d%%

· 1.O%(V.)+."+%E..IB"731N%B(+#N)"80"#.+d%"18%

· 1.O%5(018"#3(1%s.")%+#08.1#+%6"+.8%"#%#$.%/3#7%(E%!"#$%/(44.N.:%%

=1%#(#"4c%#$.%L13V.)+3#7%(E%!"#$%(EE.)+%JcJ<H%6.8+B"2.+%31%013V.)+3#7%-"1"N.8%
"22(--(8"#3(1:%A$3+%.D0"#.+%#(%(V.)%J<g%(E%#$.%#(#"4%10-6.)%(E%E044I#3-.%
+#08.1#+:%

!"#$%,B"%L13V.)+3#7%(EE.)+%#$.%(BB()#013#7%#(%"BB47%E()%"22(--(8"#3(1%#(%"44%
+#08.1#+%O$(%-..#%#$.%E(44(O31N%2)3#.)3"_%

· ").%"%@+#%s.")%5044IA3-.%"BB432"1#%O3#$%!,L%"+%#$.3)%E3)-%2$(32.d%

· 43V.%-().%#$"1%J<%-34.+%E)(-%#$.%L13V.)+3#7d%"18%

· O344%6.%+#08731N%"#%'.O#(1%U")Cc%,3(1%R344%a312%A$.%/3)20+b%()%(1%"%!"#$%,B"%
5(018"#3(1%Q.N)..%"#%#$.%/3#7%(E%!"#$%/(44.N.:%

%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
9?%P44%#"C.1%E)(-%R*,P%8"#"%?<<]f@<:%5()%#$.%L13V.)+3#7%(E%M.1#c%+#08.1#+%6"+.8%31%/"1#.)60)7%3+%
.+#3-"#.8c%6"+.8%(1%31E()-"#3(1%$.)._%
$##B_ffOOO:C.1#:"2:0Cf4(2"#3(1+f2"1#.)60)7f2"-B0+f318.Y:$#-4%%
9J%W$.).%B(++364.c%8"#"%6"+.8%(1%?<@<%S38I7.")%B(B04"#3(1%.+#3-"#.+:%!"#$c%/"1#.)60)7%"18%s()C%
").%"44%B")#%(E%"%4(2"4%"0#$()3#7%")."c%+(%#$3+%8"#"%3+%1(#%"V"34"64.:%Q"#"%$"+%31+#."8%6..1%0+.8%E)(-%
^.(1"-.+%8"#"6"+._%OOO:N.(1"-.+:()Nf%%
99%!"#$c%S"12$.+#.)c%*Y.#.)c%TYE()8%"44%E)(-%4(2"4%"0#$()3#7%O.6+3#.+:%/"1#.)60)7%"18%s()C%
.+#3-"#.8%E)(-%-"B+:%

Page 71



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 30

!"#$%,B"%).B()#%#$"#%#$.7%"22(--(8"#.8%"BB)(Y3-"#.47%]<g%(E%#$(+.%O$(%O.).%
.43N364.%#(%"BB47%E()%"18%O3+$.8%#(%43V.%31%013V.)+3#7%-"1"N.8%"22(--(8"#3(1:%
A$.%).-"3131N%+#08.1#+%O.).%43C.47%#(%$"V.%+(0)2.8%#$.3)%(O1%"22(--(8"#3(1%31%
#$.%B)3V"#.%+.2#()c%2(--0#.8%E)(-%$(-.%()%-"8.%"4#.)1"#3V.%"))"1N.-.1#+:%%

!"#$%,B"%L13V.)+3#7%$"+%@c<[9%6.8+B"2.+%31%"%2(-631"#3(1%(E%013V.)+3#7I-"1"N.8%
a9?G%6.8+B"2.+b%"18%L13#.I(O1.8%B)(B.)#3.+%aH9Hb:%A$3+%3+%j0+#%(V.)%@Gg%(E%#$.%
#(#"4%E044I#3-.%+#08.1#+%).N3+#.).8%"#%#$.%L13V.)+3#7%31%?<<]f@<:%

)WI @:47%#1(5(@113'1("'&7#$,K(#+(./0(*',1$#G(
Q0)31N%#$.%+#"C.$(48.)%O()C+$(B%$.48%(1%?9#$%T2#(6.)%?<@@c%#$.%B(+3#3V.%"18%
1.N"#3V.%3-B"2#+%).4"#31N%#(%RST%8.1+3#7%31%!"#$%O.).%38.1#3E3.8:%A$.+.%$"V.%
6..1%+0--")3+.8%31%Q7=&'(L%6.4(O:%

Q7=&'(LO(6+1$#$2'(7,9(,'K7#$2'($:47%#1(+-(./01($,(N7#B(

R'K7#$2'(@:47%#1( 6+1$#$2'(@:47%#1(

PEE()8"6343#7% PEE()8"6343#7%

U")C31N% U06432%A)"1+B()#%

U06432%X."4-f*1V3)(1-.1#% ,B.18%31%#$.%\(2"4%*2(1(-7%

/(--013#7%/($.+3(1%"18%,#"6343#7% /(--013#7%Q3V.)+3#7%

P1#3I,(23"4%!.$"V3(0)% ,"E.#7%"18%,.20)3#7%

R(0+31N%S3Y% R(0+31N%,0BB47%"18%*EE323.127%

/(01234%X.+(0)2.+% ,C344+%31%#$.%\(2"4%*2(1(-7%

'(3+.% %

W"+#.% %

P+%+.#%(0#%31%,.2#3(1%?:?c%31%()8.)%#(%3-B4.-.1#%"1%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1c%#$.%
/(01234%1..8+%#(%+"#3+E7%3#+.4E%#$"#%#$.%E(44(O31N%h$")-e%#.+#+%1..8%#(%6.%+"#3+E3.8_%%%

· P).%#$.%.1V3)(1-.1#"4c%+(23"4%"18%.2(1(-32%3-B"2#+%6.31N%E.4#%31%+B.23E32%
O")8+%O3#$%C1(O1%2(12.1#)"#3(1+%(E%RST+%aT48E3.48%U")Cc%W.+#-().4"18c%
W382(-6.b%h83).2#47%).4"#.8e%#(%#$.%B).V"4.12.%(E%#$3+%#7B.%(E%#.10).Z%%

· /"1%#$.+.%2(183#3(1+%6.%).N")8.8%"+%h.Y2.B#3(1"4e%O$.1%6.12$-")C.8%"N"31+#%
(#$.)%")."+%(E%#$.%/3#7%O$.).%RST+%").%4.++%B).V"4.1#Z%

· W(048%#$.%2(1#310.8%.Y.)23+.%(E%B.)-3##.8%8.V.4(B-.1#%)3N$#+%2"0+.%$")-%#(%
4(2"4%"-.13#7%()%#$.%B)(B.)%B4"1131N%(E%#$.%+B.23E32%")."+Z%

· =E%+(%3+%#$.%B)(B(+.8%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%+(40#3(1%j0+#3E3"647%"BB)(B)3"#.%#(%#$.%
.V38.12.%6"+.Z%

=1%#$3+%2(1#.Y#c%h$")-e%2"1%.++.1#3"447%6.%+..1%"+%#$.%1.N"#3V.%3-B"2#+%38.1#3E3.8%31%
#"64.%H%"6(V.:%%

,(-.%(E%#$.%C.7%1.N"#3V.%3-B"2#+%2"1%6.%8.E31.8%"+%"1#3I+(23"4%6.$"V3(0):%W.%
$"V.%#"C.1%!"#$%+B.23E32%"1#3I+(23"4%6.$"V3(0)%31238.1#%8"#"%2(44"#.8%67%PV(1%&%
,(-.)+.#%/(1+#"604")7%E()%#$.%%?<@<f@@%B.)3(8%"18%-"BB.8%31238.12.%).4"#.8%#(%
)(O87%6.$"V3(0)c%+#)..#%8)31C31Nc%1(3+.%"18%103+"12.%1.3N$6(0)+:%A$.).%O.).%"%
#(#"4%(E%;9?@%2"44+%).4"#31N%#(%#$.+.%3++0.+%31%!"#$%6.#O..1%PB)34%?<@<%"18%S")2$%
?<@@:%A$.%83+#)360#3(1+%(E%#$.+.%31238.1#+%").%+$(O1%+B"#3"447%31%-$K3"'1(L(7,9(T%

Page 72



!.!.

!.

!.
!.

!.!.
!. !.

!.
!.!.

!.

!.

!.
!.

!.

!.

!.

! (
! (

! (

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(
!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

B
AT

H
W

IC
K

W
ID

C
O

M
B

E

LA
N

S
D

O
W

N

W
E

S
TO

N

C
O

M
B

E
 D

O
W

N

LY
N

C
O

M
B

E

TW
E

R
TO

N

N
E

W
B

R
ID

G
E

LA
M

B
R

ID
G

E

A
B

B
E

Y

O
D

D
 D

O
W

N

K
IN

G
S

M
E

A
D

W
A

LC
O

T

S
O

U
TH

D
O

W
N

O
LD

F
IE

LD

W
E

S
T

M
O

R
E

LA
N

D

Jo
b 

N
o

21
81

16
-0

0
D

ra
w

in
g 

N
o

Is
su

e

00
1

P
1

D
ra

w
in

g 
S

ta
tu

s

P
re

lim
in

ar
y

S
ca

le
 a

t A
3

D
ra

w
in

g 
Ti

tle

Jo
b 

Ti
tle

C
lie

nt

63
 S

t T
ho

m
as

 S
tre

et
B

ris
to

l
Te

l +
44

 (
0)

11
7 

97
8 

54
32

 F
ax

 +
44

 (0
)1

17
 9

76
 5

43
3

w
w

w
.a

ru
p.

co
m

0
62

5
1,

25
0

31
2.

5

M
et

re
s

Is
su

e
D

at
e

B
y

C
hk

d
A

pp
d

P
1

20
11

-1
0-

12
JE

A
C

W
D

\\Global\Europe\Bristol\Jobs\218xxx\218116-00\4.30_Drgs\2_GIS\03 Map Documents\ASB_Council_Tax.mxd

L
eg

en
d

!.
H

al
ls

 o
f r

es
id

en
ce

B
at

h 
C

ity
 b

ou
nd

ar
y

W
ar

d 
bo

un
da

rie
s

LS
O

A 
bo

un
da

rie
s

N
o.

 o
f A

S
B

 C
al

ls

!(
<6

1

!(
61

 - 
11

7

!(
11

7 
- 

17
4

! (
17

4 
- 

23
0

! (
23

0 
- 

28
7

! (
28

7 
- 

34
3

! (
>3

43

C
ou

n
ci

l T
ax

 e
xe

m
pt

 p
ro

pe
rt

ie
s

<5
.5

6%

5.
57

%
 - 

11
.8

5%

11
.8

6%
 - 

18
.1

3%

18
.1

4%
 - 

24
.4

1%

>2
4.

42
%

! °

©
 A

ru
p

 1:
25

,0
00

B
at

h
 a

n
d

 N
o

rt
h

 E
as

t 
S

o
m

er
se

t 
C

o
u

n
ci

l

B
&

N
E

S
 A

rt
ic

le
 4

 H
M

O
 S

tu
d

y

A
n

ti
-S

o
ci

al
 B

eh
av

io
u

r 
In

ci
d

en
t 

C
al

ls
 b

y 
L

o
w

er
 S

u
p

er
 O

u
tp

u
t A

re
a 

(L
S

O
A

)

A
3 

 F
ig

ur
e 

6

Te
m

pl
at

e 
A

3:
 V

er
si

on
 2

20/10/2011 15:20:47

Page 73



!.!.

!.

!.!.

!.

!.
!.

!.

!.

! (
! (

! (

! (

! (

! (

! (

!(

!(

!(
!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

Jo
b 

N
o

21
81

16
-0

0
D

ra
w

in
g 

N
o

Is
su

e

00
6

P
0

D
ra

w
in

g 
S

ta
tu

s

P
re

lim
in

ar
y

S
ca

le
 a

t A
3

D
ra

w
in

g 
Ti

tle

Jo
b 

Ti
tle

C
lie

nt

63
 S

t T
ho

m
as

 S
tre

et
B

ris
to

l
Te

l +
44

 (
0)

11
7 

97
8 

54
32

 F
ax

 +
44

 (0
)1

17
 9

76
 5

43
3

w
w

w
.a

ru
p.

co
m

0
27

5
55

0
13

7.
5

M
et

re
s

Is
su

e
D

at
e

B
y

C
hk

d
A

pp
d

P
0

20
11

-1
0-

20
JE

A
C

W
D

\\Global\Europe\Bristol\Jobs\218xxx\218116-00\4.30_Drgs\2_GIS\03 Map Documents\ASB_Council_Tax.mxd

L
eg

en
d

!.
H

al
ls

 o
f r

es
id

en
ce

B
at

h 
C

ity
 b

ou
nd

ar
y

W
ar

d 
bo

un
da

rie
s

LS
O

A 
bo

un
da

rie
s

N
o.

 o
f A

S
B

 C
al

ls

! (
<6

1

! (
61

 - 
11

7

! (
11

7 
- 

17
4

! (
17

4 
- 

23
0

! (
23

0 
- 

28
7

! (
28

7 
- 

34
3

! (
>3

43

C
ou

n
ci

l T
ax

 e
xe

m
pt

 p
ro

pe
rt

ie
s

<5
.5

6%

5.
57

%
 - 

11
.8

5%

11
.8

6%
 - 

18
.1

3%

18
.1

4%
 - 

24
.4

1%

>2
4.

42
%

! °

©
 A

ru
p

 1:
11

,0
00

B
at

h
 a

n
d

 N
o

rt
h

 E
as

t 
S

o
m

er
se

t 
C

o
u

n
ci

l

B
&

N
E

S
 A

rt
ic

le
 4

 H
M

O
 S

tu
d

y

B
at

h
 C

en
tr

al
 A

n
ti

-S
o

ci
al

 B
eh

av
io

u
r 

In
ci

d
en

t 
C

al
ls

 b
y 

L
o

w
er

 S
u

p
er

 O
u

tp
u

t 
A

re
a 

(L
S

O
A

)

A
3 

 F
ig

ur
e 

7

Te
m

pl
at

e 
A

3:
 V

er
si

on
 2

20/10/2011 15:18:10

Page 74



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 31

6.4(O:%A$3+%3+%83+B4"7.8%"4(1N+38.%#$.%8"#"%(1%2(01234%#"Y%.Y.-B#%+#08.1#%
B)(B.)#3.+c%"+%"%B)(Y7%E()%RST+:%%

53N0).+%H%"18%[%+$(O%#$"#%#$.).%3+%312(1240+3V.%.V38.12.%(E%"17%).4"#3(1+$3B%
6.#O..1%"1#3I+(23"4%6.$"V3(0)%"18%RST+:%A$.%4")N.+#%2(12.1#)"#3(1%(E%"1#3I+(23"4%
6.$"V3(0)%3+%31%#$.%2.1#).%(E%!"#$c%"18%2(048%6.%2"0+.8%67%B.(B4.%43V31N%31%"17%
")."%(E%#$.%23#7:%%

=1%"883#3(1c%O.%$"V.%"1"47+.8%2"44+%).2()8.8%67%#$.%!"#$%,#08.1#%P2#3(1%\31.%
6.#O..1%T2#(6.)%?<<]%"18%F047%?<@<:%A$.).%O.).%"%#(#"4%(E%@[H%2"44+%80)31N%#$3+%
B.)3(8:%A$.%6)."C8(O1%(E%#$.+.%2"44+%67%2"#.N()7%3+%+$(O1%31%-$K3"'(PV("18%#$.7%
").%83+B4"7.8%+B"#3"447%31%-$K3"'(hW%

%

%

%

%

%

%

%
%
%

%

%

=#%3+%3-B()#"1#%#(%).2(N13+.%#$"#%#$.%,#08.1#%P2#3(1%\31.%O"+%B)(-(#.8%-(+#%
$."V347%31%#$.%")."+%O$.).%-(+#%2(-B4"31#+%2"1%6.%+..1:%=1%"883#3(1c%#$.%#(#"4%
10-6.)+%").%+(%+-"44%"+%#(%-"C.%3#%V.)7%83EE3204#%#(%8)"O%-."131NE04%2(1240+3(1+%
(1%!$")-!%E)(-%#$3+%8"#":%

W.%O.).%01"64.%#(%+(0)2.%"17%"883#3(1"4%8"#"%(1%2(-B4"31#+%).4"#31N%#(%O"+#.c%()%
(1%2")%B")C31N9;:%%

)WIWH *"7A$,K(%+,%&31$+,1(+,(YB7":Z(-"+:('2$9',%'W(

=#%3+%$")8%#(%8)"O%8.E313#.%2(1240+3(1+%E)(-%#$.%8"#"%B).+.1#.8%"6(V.%#$"#%#$.).%3+%
.Y2.B#3(1"4%!$")-!%31%")."+%(E%$3N$%2(12.1#)"#3(1%(E%RST+:%R(O.V.)c%3#%3+%
B(++364.%#(%2(12408.%#$"#%#$.).%").%")."+%(E%$3N$%2(12.1#)"#3(1+%(E%RST+%31%
2.)#"31%")."+%(E%!"#$%aO3#$%(V.)%H%#3-.+%#$.%"V.)"N.%E()%!"#$%"+%"%O$(4.%31%+(-.%
")."+b:%%

P1.28(#"4%.V38.12.%N"#$.).8%E)(-%(0)%+#"C.$(48.)%O()C+$(B%"18%E)(-%
2(1V.)+"#3(1+%O3#$%"18%2()).+B(18.12.%E)(-%4(2"4%).+38.1#+c%+0NN.+#+%#$"#%#$.).%
-"7%6.%.V.1%$3N$.)%2(12.1#)"#3(1+%(E%RST+%"#%#$.%3183V380"4%+#)..#%4.V.4%O3#$31%
#$.%$3N$%2(12.1#)"#3(1%")."+:%A$3+%.V38.12.%"4+(%+0NN.+#+%#$"#%#$.%h$")-e%2"0+.8%
67%$3N$%2(12.1#)"#3(1+%(E%RST+%3+%"#%"%4(O.)%4.V.4%#$"1%O(048%6.%B32C.8%67%
E()-"4%2(-B4"31#+:%=E%#$.%/(01234%2$((+.+%#(%B)(2..8%O3#$%"1%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1c%
%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
9;%W$34+#%#$.).%O"+%8"#"%E)(-%B")C31N%2(01#+%"V"34"64.c%#$.+.%+0)V.7+%O.).%2"))3.8%(0#%(E%#.)-I#3-.%
"18%3#%O(048%#$.).E().%$"V.%6..1%V.)7%83EE3204#%#(%8)"O%"17%0+.E04%2(1240+3(1+%E)(-%#$.-:%

>$K3"'(PO(Q+#7&(,3:='"(+-(F#39',#(!%#$+,(8$,'(%7&&1V(JMMdfHM(

Page 75



! .! .

! .

! .
! .

! .! .
! . ! .

! .
! .! .

! .

! .

! .
! .

! .

! .

! .
O

O

OO

O
O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O
O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

OO

O

O

O

O
O

O

O

O

O
B

A
T

H
W

IC
K

W
ID

C
O

M
B

E

LA
N

S
D

O
W

N

W
E

S
T

O
N

C
O

M
B

E
 D

O
W

N

LY
N

C
O

M
B

E

T
W

E
R

T
O

N

N
E

W
B

R
ID

G
E

LA
M

B
R

ID
G

E

A
B

B
E

Y

O
D

D
 D

O
W

N

K
IN

G
S

M
E

A
D

W
A

LC
O

T

S
O

U
T

H
D

O
W

N

O
LD

F
IE

LD

W
E

S
T

M
O

R
E

LA
N

D

Jo
b

 N
o

21
81

16
-0

0
D

ra
w

in
g 

N
o

Is
su

e

00
8

P
0

D
ra

w
in

g 
S

ta
tu

s

P
re

lim
in

ar
y

S
ca

le
 a

t A
3

D
ra

w
in

g 
Ti

tle

Jo
b

 T
itl

e

C
lie

nt

63
 S

t T
ho

m
as

 S
tr

e
et

B
ris

to
l

Te
l +

44
 (

0)
11

7 
97

8 
54

32
 F

ax
 +

44
 (

0)
11

7 
97

6 
54

33
w

w
w

.a
ru

p.
co

m

0
62

5
1,

2
50

31
2.

5

M
e

tr
e

s

Is
su

e
D

at
e

B
y

C
hk

d
A

pp
d

P
0

20
11

-1
1-

1
7

JE
A

C
W

D

\\Global\Europe\Bristol\Jobs\218xxx\218116-00\4.30_Drgs\2_GIS\03 Map Documents\ASB_Council_Tax.mxd

L
eg

en
d

! .
H

al
ls

 o
f r

es
id

en
ce

B
at

h 
C

ity
 b

ou
nd

ar
y

W
ar

d 
bo

un
da

rie
s

LS
O

A
 b

ou
nd

ar
ie

s

C
o

u
n

ci
l T

ax
 e

xe
m

p
t 

p
ro

p
er

ti
es

<5
.5

6%

5.
57

%
 -

 1
1.

85
%

11
.8

6%
 -

 1
8.

13
%

18
.1

4%
 -

 2
4.

41
%

>2
4.

42
%

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
C

o
m

p
la

in
ts

O
1 

- 
2

O
3 

- 
4

O
5 

- 
6

O
7 

- 
8

! °

©
 A

ru
p

 1:
25

,0
00

B
at

h
 a

n
d

 N
o

rt
h

 E
as

t 
S

o
m

er
se

t 
C

o
u

n
ci

l

B
&

N
E

S
 A

rt
ic

le
 4

 H
M

O
 S

tu
d

y

C
o

m
p

la
in

ts
 r

ec
ei

ve
d

 b
y 

S
tu

d
en

t 
A

ct
io

n
 L

in
e

A
3 

 F
ig

ur
e 

8

Te
m

pl
at

e 
A

3:
 V

er
si

on
 2

17/11/2011 14:31:00

N
.B

. S
tu

de
nt

 c
om

pl
ai

nt
s 

ar
e 

re
co

rd
ed

 a
t s

tr
ee

t l
ev

el
 th

er
ef

or
e,

 a
re

 d
is

pl
ay

ed
 a

s 
ce

nt
ro

id
s 

of
 p

os
tc

od
e 

ar
ea

s 
an

d 
m

ay
 n

ot
 b

e 
re

pr
es

en
ta

tiv
e 

of
 th

e 
ac

tu
al

 lo
ca

tio
n 

of
 a

 c
om

pl
ai

nt

Page 76



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 32

3#%O(048%$"V.%#(%6.%2(-E()#"64.%O3#$%#$3+%.V38.12.%N"B:%A$.%-"j()3#7%(E%.V38.12.%
B)(V38.8%67%(#$.)%"0#$()3#3.+%E()%#$.%31#)(802#3(1%(E%"1%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%+..-+%
#(%$"V.%E(20++.8%(1%#$.%10-6.)%"18%4(2"#3(1%(E%RST+:%%A$3+%8.-(1+#)"#.+%#$.%
!$")-!%#(%#$.%-3Y%(E%$(0+31N%31%"17%B")#3204")%")."c%60#%1(#%"17%O38.)%$")-:%A$3+%
"BB)("2$%$"+%1(#%4.8%#(%4.N"4%2$"44.1N.%31%(#$.)%"0#$()3#7%")."+:%%%

%

%
% (

Page 77



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 33

)W) 6"$27#'(?',#'9(F'%#+"($,(N7#B(
%A$.%/(01234e+%?<<[%X.+38.1#3"4%X.V3.O%38.1#3E3.8%#$"#%#$.%B)3V"#.%).1#.8%+.2#()%
aUX,b%3+%V.)7%+#)(1N%31%2.)#"31%O")8+%O3#$31%#$.%23#7:%%P66.7c%M31N+-."8c%
\"1+8(O1c%W"42(#%"18%W382(-6.%"44%$"V.%-().%#$"1%?<g%(E%3#+%+#(2C%"+%B)3V"#.%
).1#.8:%T48E3.48%$"+%"4-(+#%@;g%B)3V"#.%).1#.8%"18%W.+#-().4"18%@[g:%%

A$.%?<<]%W.+#%(E%*1N4"18%,#)"#.N32%R(0+31N%S")C.#%P++.++-.1#%).B()#.8%#$"#%
#$.).%$"8%6..1%"%;<g%N)(O#$%31%UX,%31%#$.%+06I).N3(1%+312.%@]]@9Hd%#$3+%3+%
6)("847%31%431.%O3#$%1"#3(1"4%#).18+:%%

A$.%B)3V"#.%).1#.8%+.2#()%E04E34+%"%O38.%)"1N.%(E%)(4.+%E()%83EE.).1#%.4.-.1#+%(E%#$.%
B(B04"#3(1:%%A$.%?<<G%).B()#%67%#$.%/.1#).%E()%R(0+31N%U(4327%"#%#$.%L13V.)+3#7%(E%
s()C9[%38.1#3E3.8%#$.%E(44(O31N%C.7%+06I+.2#()+%1"#3(1"447_%

· young professionalsc%O$(+.%B).+.12.%31%#$.%UX,%).E4.2#+%"%2(-B4.Y%
"-"4N"-%(E%2$(32.%"18%2(1+#)"31#d%

· studentsc%O$(+.%1..8+%").%312)."+31N47%6.31N%-.#%67%4")N.)c%6)"18.8c%
31+#3#0#3(1"4%4"184()8+d%

· the housing benefit marketc%O$.).%4"184()8%"18%#.1"1#%6.$"V3(0)%3+%4")N.47%
E)"-.8%67%$(0+31N%6.1.E3#%"8-313+#)"#3(1d%

· slum rentals "#%#$.%V.)7%6(##(-%(E%#$.%UX,c%O$.).%4"184()8+%"22(--(8"#.%
(E#.1%V041.)"64.%$(0+.$(48+%31%.Y#).-.47%B(()%D0"43#7%B)(B.)#7d%

· tied housingc%O$32$%3+%"%83-313+$31N%+06-+.2#()%1"#3(1"447%60#%+#344%$"+%"1%
3-B()#"1#%)(4.%31%+(-.%)0)"4%4(2"#3(1+d%

· high income rentersc%(E#.1%31%2()B()"#.%4.##31N+d%

· immigrants O$(+.%-(+#%3--.83"#.%(B#3(1%3+%B)3V"#.%).1#31Nd%

· asylum seekersc%$(0+.8%#$)(0N$%2(1#)"2#0"4%"))"1N.-.1#+%O3#$%
N(V.)1-.1#%"N.123.+d%

· temporary accommodationc%E31"12.8%#$)(0N$%+B.23E32%+06+387%E)(-%#$.%
Q.B")#-.1#%E()%W()C%"18%U.1+3(1+d%"18%

· regulated tenanciesc%O$32$%").%"%8O318431N%B()#3(1%(E%#$.%-")C.#:%

S"17%(E%#$.+.%N)(0B+%").%3-B()#"1#%E()%!"#$%#(%-"31#"31%6"4"12.8%2(--013#3.+%
"18%"%+0+#"31"64.%.2(1(-7c%"18%31%-"17%2"+.+%#$.%B)3V"#.%).1#.8%+.2#()%3+%#$.%(147%
$(0+31N%(B#3(1%"V"34"64.:%%

A$.%/.1#).%E()%R(0+31N%U(4327%).B()#%38.1#3E3.8%#$"#%#$.%+.2#()%2(048%6.%+..1%"+%
+022.++E0447%8.43V.)31N%"EE()8"64.%$(0+31N%#(%h31#.)-.83"#.e%N)(0B+c%O$(%2"11(#%
"EE()8%"%-()#N"N.c%60#%O$(%8(%1(#%D0"43E7%E()%+(23"4%$(0+31N:%%R(O.V.)c%#$.%?<@@%
,$.4#.)%U)3V"#.%X.1#%W"#2$%X.B()#9G%38.1#3E3.8%).1#%31%!"#$%"18%'()#$%*"+#%

%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
9H%U)(E%^4.1%!)"-4.7c%West of England Strategic Housing Market Assessmentc%F01.%?<<]V?c%B[H%
9[%/.1#).%E()%R(0+31N%U(4327c%L13V.)+3#7%(E%s()Cc%The private rented sector: its contribution and 
potential, ?<<G%
48 ,$.4#.)%U)3V"#.%X.1#%W"#2$c%Report one: Analysis of local rent levels and affordabilityc%T2#(6.)%
?<@@

Page 78



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 34

,(-.)+.#%"+%kV.)7%01"EE()8"64.l%a#$3+%O"+%8.E31.8%"+%$"V31N%"%-.83"1%).1#%(E%9<g%
#(%9]g%(E%-.83"1%E044I#3-.%#"C.I$(-.%B"7b:%%
%
P%+3-B4.%"++.++-.1#%(E%#$.%2(+#+%"18%B(#.1#3"4%312(-.%"++(23"#.8%O3#$%#$)..%B(++364.%
+2.1")3(+%aE"-347%(O1.)I(220B3.)c%E"-347%B)3V"#.%).1#.8c%"18%B)3V"#.%).1#.8%RSTb%(E%"%
#7B32"4%$(0+.%31%#$.%T48E3.48%U")C%")."%3+%+.#%(0#%31%#7=&'(T%6.4(O:%A$3+%+$(O+%$(O%-02$%
-().%B)(E3#"64.%3#%2"1%6.%#(%4.#%"%B)(B.)#7%"+%"1%RST%)"#$.)%#$"1%"+%"%E"-347%$(-.:%%=#%
"4+(%8.-(1+#)"#.+%O$"#%4.V.4%(E%8.B(+3#%"18%312(-.%O(048%6.%).D03).8%#(%N.#%"%-()#N"N.%
(1%"%+3-34")%$(0+.:%
%
Q7=&'(TO(C71'(1#39G(+-(4+#',#$7&(%+1#1(5($,%+:'(

.+31'( JI6.8c%?%).2.B#3(1%#.))"2.%

C+1#( o?9;c<<<9]
%

*'4+1$#( ?<g%ao9]c<<<b%

?',#( o@9<<;<%B2-%"+%9%6.8%RST%aH<g%(E%-31:%+#08.1#%4("1b
o]J<;@%B2-%"+%J%6.8%$(0+.%a;Jg%(E%"V.:%#"C.%$(-.%B"7b%

N3G`#+`&'#(:+"#K7K'(
"'47G:',#(

o@c??;;?%

Y>7:$&GZ(/+"#K7K'( o@c<J;%a9gb%
A(#"4%$(0+.$(48%312(-.%).D03).8%"BB)(Y:%o;<c<<<%

%

% (

%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
9]%PV.)"N.%R(0+.%B)32.%31%,(0#$%!"#$%"22()831N%#(%!"#$%"18%'()#$%*"+#%,(-.)+.#%/(01234c%
Viability Studyc%F01.%?<@<%
;<%*+#3-"#.8%E)(-%4(2"4%4.##31N%"N.1#+e%"8V.)#+%
;@%,$.4#.)%U)3V"#.%X.1#%W"#2$c%Analysis of local rent levels and affordability, T2#(6.)%?<@@%
;?%\(18(1%"18%/(01#)7%S()#N"N.%2"4204"#()%

Page 79



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 35

P >3#3"'(Q"',91($,(F#39',#(R3:='"1(7,9(
0#B'"(S'G(@113'1(

PWH .$KB'"(D93%7#$+,(
R3N$.)%*802"#3(1%aR*b%3+%E"231N%+(-.%-"j()%2$"44.1N.+%"18%B(#.1#3"4%2$"1N.+%31%
#$.%2(-31N%7.")+c%B")#3204")47%"+%"%).+04#%(E%#$.%).2.1#%2$"1N.+%#(%+#08.1#%E01831N%
6)(0N$#%31%67%#$.%2("43#3(1%N(V.)1-.1#:%%

W3#$%#$.%O.44IB064323+.8%312)."+.%31%#03#3(1%E..+%(E%0B%#(%o]c<<<%B.)%7.")c%3#%-"7%
6.%.YB.2#.8%#$"#%+#08.1#%10-6.)+%O(048%E"44%"#%-"17%31+#3#0#3(1+:%R(O.V.)c%#$3+%
312)."+.%31%E..+%O"+%"22(-B"13.8%67%"1%"44(O"12.%E()%k012(1+#)"31.8%).2)03#-.1#%
(E%#$.%)(0N$47%H;c<<<%$3N$I"2$3.V31N%+#08.1#+c%+2()31N%#$.%.D03V"4.1#%(E%PP!%()%
"6(V.%"#%PI\.V.4l;J:%A$.%N(V.)1-.1#%$"+%"4+(%31832"#.8%#$"#%3#%$(B.+%#(%O38.1%#$.%
2)3#.)3"%E()%012(1+#)"31.8%B4"2.+%31%80.%2(0)+.:%=#%3+%01C1(O1%O$32$%013V.)+3#3.+%
O344%#"C.%0B%#$.%(B#3(1%#(%.YB"18%#(%-"Y3-3+.%).2)03#-.1#%31%#$3+%N)(0Bc%60#%3#%3+%
43C.47%#(%6.%#$(+.%O$(%"4)."87%"##)"2#%+#08.1#+%(E%#$3+%2"436).c%"18%2(048%312408.%
#$.%L13V.)+3#7%(E%!"#$%(V.)%#3-.:%%

=1%"883#3(1c%#$.%O$3#.%B"B.)%"4+(%-"8.%B)(V3+3(1%E()%#$.%31#)(802#3(1%(E%1.O%
B)3V"#.%013V.)+3#3.+:%q")3(0+%-(8.4+%").%"BB.")31Nc%31240831N%8.43V.)7%(E%2(0)+.+%
67%B)3V"#.%B)(V38.)+%31%5*%2(44.N.+%aE()%.Y"-B4.%!UU%").%8.43V.)31N%4"O%"18%
60+31.++%8.N)..+%E)(-%'.O%/(44.N.%,O318(1;9b:%%=#%3+%B(++364.%#$"#%-"17%(E%#$.+.%
1.O%-(8.4+%E()%8.43V.)31N%R*%O344%1(#%B0#%#$.%+"-.%B).++0).%(1%#$.%4(2"4%RST%
-")C.#%"+%B.(B4.%+#087%4"#.)%31%#$.3)%43V.+c%()%43V31N%"#%$(-.:%R(O.V.)c%#$.%
B(++36343#7%E()%2$"1N.+%31%!"#$%(V.)%#$.%2(-31N%7.")+%+$(048%6.%2(1+38.).8%"+%B")#%
(E%#$.%O38.)%+#)"#.N7:%%

PWHWH X,$2'"1$#G(+-(N7#B(

A$.%L13V.)+3#7%(E%!"#$%3+%20)).1#47%B4"1131N%E()%"1%"110"4%+#08.1#%N)(O#$%)"#.%(E%
6.#O..1%@`Jg%0B%#(%?<?<:%A$3+%.D0"#.+%#(%6.#O..1%@c]<<%"18%HcJ<<%1.O%+#08.1#+%
6.#O..1%1(O%"18%?<?<:%R(O.V.)c%#$.%L13V.)+3#7%(E%!"#$%3+%1(#%7.#%"64.%#(%B).832#%
#$.%"22(--(8"#3(1%#$"#%-3N$#%6.%).D03).8%E()%#$.+.%"883#3(1"4%+#08.1#+%"+%#$.7%").%
1(#%7.#%+0).%O$.).%#$.+.%+#08.1#+%O344%2(-.%E)(-:%5()%.Y"-B4.c%8.B.1831N%(1%#$.%
-")C.#c%#$.7%-"7%6.%B")#I#3-.%83+#"12.%4.")131N%+#08.1#+%()%31#.)1"#3(1"4%
B(+#N)"80"#.+c%()%LM%018.)N)"80"#.+:%%

A$.%L13V.)+3#7%(E%!"#$%3+%20)).1#47%).2(1+38.)31N%3#+%-"+#.)B4"1c%60#%"17%B(++364.%
2"-B0+%.YB"1+3(1%O(048%312408.%6.#O..1%@;<<%I%@G<<%B0)B(+.%6034#%+#08.1#%
6.8+B"2.+;;:%%

PWHWJ N7#B(F47(X,$2'"1$#G(

!"#$%,B"%L13V.)+3#7%$"+%8.V.4(B.8%"%-"+#.)B4"1%E()%3#+%-"31%'.O#(1%U")C%
2"-B0+:%A$3+%O(048%+..%#$.%2)."#3(1%(E%(V.)%G<<<-?%(E%1.O%#."2$31N%+B"2.%"18%"1%

%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
;J%Q.B")#-.1#%E()%!0+31.++%=11(V"#3(1%"18%,C344+%a!=,bc%W$3#.%U"B.)c%Higher Education: Students 
at the Heart of the Systemc%F01.%?<@@%
;9%$##B_ffOOO:1.O2(44.N.:"2:0Cf$.f6BBf%%
;;%=1E()-"#3(1%B)(V38.8%67%#$.%L13V.)+3#7%(E%!"#$c%#$3+%3+%E.O.)%#$"1%#$.%B)(V3+3(1%(E%"6(0#%?c<<<%
6.8+B"2.+%31%#$.%!"#$%&%'()#$%*"+#%,(-.)+.#%/().%,#)"#.N7:%

Page 80



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 36

"883#3(1"4%;<<%B0)B(+.%6034#%+#08.1#%6.8+B"2.+:%A$.7%$(B.%#$"#%#$.+.%6.8+B"2.+%
O344%6.%(1%431.%67%,.B#.-6.)%?<@9:%%

PWHWI C$#G(+-(N7#B(C+&&'K'(

A$.%/3#7%(E%!"#$%/(44.N.%$"+%1(%B06432"447%"V"34"64.%B)(j.2#3(1+%(E%+#08.1#%
10-6.)+c%1()%"17%B06432"447%"V"34"64.%B4"1+%#(%60348%"17%+#08.1#%"22(--(8"#3(1:%
R(O.V.)c%#$.3)%Strategic Intentions%8(20-.1# 56%+.#+%(0#%"-63#3(1+%#(d%

· *YB"18%#$.3)%31#.)1"#3(1"4%(EE.)d%

· /)."#.%"%B)(E.++3(1"4%60+31.++%+2$((4d%

· *+#"643+$%#$.%!"#$%*1N43+$%\"1N0"N.%+2$((4d%"18%

· *YB"18%"18%E0)#$.)%3-B)(V.%#$.3)%R*%B()#E(43(:(%

*"2$%(E%#$.+.%"-63#3(1+%3+%43C.47%#(%312)."+.%#$.3)%).D03).-.1#+%E()%
"22(--(8"#3(1%E()%#$.3)%+#08.1#+:%%

PWJ ["7937#'(?'#',#$+,($,(N7#B(
T1.%(E%#$.%"2#3(1+%38.1#3E3.8%31%#$.%!&'*,%*2(1(-32%,#)"#.N7%3+%#(%k312)."+.%#$.%
10-6.)%(E%N)"80"#.+%O()C31N%O3#$%4(2"4%.-B4(7.)+l;[:%%P+%#$.%23#7%(E%!"#$%"3-+%#(%
"##)"2#%).2.1#%N)"80"#.+%#(%+#"7c%O()C%"18%2(1#)360#.%#(%#$.%4(2"4%.2(1(-7c%#$.).%
O344%1..8%#(%6.%+(-.%.YB.2#"#3(1%#$"#%-"17%(E%#$.+.%7(01N%B)(E.++3(1"4+%-"7%
O3+$%#(%43V.%31%RST+%a()%6.%E31"123"447%2(1+#)"31.8%#(%-"C.%#$3+%#$.%(147%)."4%
(B#3(1%#(%+#"7%31%#$.%23#7b:%%

!.#O..1%?<<;%"18%?<<Gc%@@c]9<%N)"80"#.+%O.).%.-B4(7.8%31%#$.%W.+#%(E%
*1N4"18;Gc%"18%-"17%(E%#$.+.%31%).4"#3V.47%4(O%312(-.%j(6+%31240831N%).#"34%"18%
10)+31N:%TV.)%J<g%(E%#$.+.%N)"80"#.+%$"8%1(%B)3()%2(11.2#3(1%#(%#$.%+06I).N3(1c%
B).+0-"647%-(V31N%E()%#$.%.-B4(7-.1#%(BB()#013#3.+:%A$3+%N)(0B%(E%O.44I
D0"43E3.8%N)"80"#.+%").%"1%3-B()#"1#%B")#%(E%#$.%.2(1(-7%"18%").%B.)$"B+%"-(1N+#%
#$.%-(+#%43C.47%N)(0B%#(%O"1#%#(%"22.++%N((8%D0"43#7%RST%"22(--(8"#3(1%"+%
#$.7%N.#%#(%C1(O%#$.%23#7:%

!"#$%/$"-6.)%(E%/(--.)2.%$"+%2(--0132"#.8%#(%!&'*,%%%#$.%3-B()#"12.%#$"#%
RST+%B4"7%31%#$.%.2(1(-7%31%!"#$%80)31N%#$.%2(0)+.%(E%#$3+%+#087:%A$.7%+#).++%
#$.%3-B()#"12.%(E%"##)"2#31N%"18%).#"3131N%7(01N%B.(B4.%"18%1.O%N)"80"#.+%31%23#7%
31%()8.)%#(%2)."#.%"%-().%+0+#"31"64.%.2(1(-7:%A$.%()N"13+"#3(1%$"+%)"3+.8%
2(12.)1+%#$"#%"1%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%O(048%43-3#%#$.%+0BB47%(E%RST+%"18%$"V.%
.12(0)"N.8%#$.%/(01234%#(%2(1+38.)%"4#.)1"#3V.+:%%

%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
;H%/3#7%(E%!"#$%/(44.N.c%Entitled to Excellence: Strategic Intentions 2011-2014c%
$##B_ffOOO:23#76"#$2(44:"2:0Cf"++.#+fE34.+fUQ5+fP110"4g?<X.B()#f*1#3#4.8?*Y2.44.12.VJ:B8E%%
;[%Economic Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset 2010-2026,  
$##B_ffOOO:6"#$1.+:N(V:0Cf,3#./(44.2#3(1Q(20-.1#+f!0+31.++f*2(1(-32t,#)"#.N7:B8E%%
;G%R3N$.)%*802"#3(1%/")..)+%,.)V32.+%L13#%aR*/,Lb%E()%#$.%\.")131N%"18%,C344+%/(01234c%
Graduate retention and migration in the West of England region

Page 81



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 37

PWI .+31$,K(N','-$#(CB7,K'1(

^(V.)1-.1#%$"+%).2.1#47%"11(012.8%2$"1N.+%#(%#$.%O"7%#$"#%R(0+31N%!.1.E3#%3+%
"44(2"#.8:%%A$3+%-."1+%#$"#%E)(-%F"10")7%?<@?c%#$.%+$").8%"22(--(8"#3(1%)"#.%
a#$"#%20)).1#47%"BB43.+%#(%+31N4.%B.(B4.%018.)%#$.%"N.%(E%?;%43V31N%31%
"22(--(8"#3(1%#$"#%#$.7%).1#%E)(-%"%B)3V"#.%4"184()8b%O344%6.%.Y#.18.8%#(%B.(B4.%
"N.8%018.)%J;:%

A$3+%-."1+%#$"#%+31N4.%B.(B4.%018.)%J;%O344%1..8%#(%-(V.%31#(%"1%RST%#(%
2(1#310.%#(%).2.3V.%R(0+31N%!.1.E3#:%%

P2)(++%!&'*,%#$.).%").%20)).1#47%[<%B.(B4.%O$(%O344%6.%"EE.2#.8%67%#$3+%2$"1N.c%
+(%#$.%3--.83"#.%3-B"2#%-"7%1(#%6.%$0N.c%60#%#$3+%8.-(N)"B$32%2(048%312)."+.%
"18%4."8%#(%"1%312)."+.%31%8.-"18%E()%RST+%O3#$31%#$.%23#7:%%

PW) 6"$27#'(?',#'9(F'%#+"(
X.2.1#%).+.")2$%2"))3.8%(0#%E()%#$.%^0")83"1%1.O+B"B.);]%+0NN.+#+%#$"#%1"#3(1O38.%
).1#"4%B)32.+%").%312)."+31N47%-().%.YB.1+3V.%#$"1%-(1#$47%-()#N"N.%B"7-.1#+:%
PV.)"N.%-(1#$47%).1#+%").%).B()#.8%#(%6.%@[g%-().%.YB.1+3V.%#$"1%-()#N"N.%
B"7-.1#+:%%A$3+%3+%B).8(-31"1#47%"##)360#.8%#(%312)."+31N%$(0+.%B)32.+%-."131N%
#$"#%E3)+#I#3-.%607.)+%2"11(#%N.#%(1#(%#$.%$(0+31N%-")C.#:%A$3+%#).18%-"7%O.44%
2(1#310.%"+%#$.%.2(1(-7%8(.+%1(#%4((C%+.#%#(%).8).++%#$3+%6"4"12.:%A$3+%-"7%6.%"%
B")#3204")%3++0.%31%!"#$c%O$.).%$(0+.%B)32.+%").%).4"#3V.47%$3N$c%-."131N%#$"#%#$.%
B)3V"#.%).1#.8%$(0+31N%+0BB47%31%!"#$%-"7%1..8%#(%312)."+.%31%()8.)%#(%C..B%0B%
O3#$%8.-"18:%%

% %

%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
;]%$##B_ffOOO:N0")83"1:2(:0Cf-(1.7f?<@@f1(Vf@@f).1#"4I-")C.#I)."2$.+I2)3+3+IB(31#%%

Page 82



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 38

L 04#$+,1(-+"(@,#'"2',#$+,(

P%)"1N.%(E%(B#3(1+%E()%31#.)V.1#3(1%").%(B.1%#(%!&'*,%"18%3#+%B")#1.)+%#(%-"1"N.%
#$.%3-B"2#+%(E%RST+%(1%4(2"4%2(--013#3.+%"18%#$.%6"4"12.%"18%D0"43#7%(E%
$(0+31N%+#(2C%#$.).31:%%W.%$"V.%38.1#3E3.8%E(0)%B(++364.%(B#3(1+%E()%31#.)V.1#3(1_%%%

· 04#$+,(HO(P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%B40+%"1%"883#3(1"4%#$).+$(48%B4"1131N%B(4327%
31#)(802.8%#$)(0N$%"%Q.V.4(B-.1#%U4"1%Q(20-.1#%aQUQb%()%"%
,0BB4.-.1#")7%U4"1131N%Q(20-.1#%a,UQb:%%

· 04#$+,(JO(P883#3(1"4%432.1+31N%"18%"%B4"1131N%B(4327%31%+0BB()#%(E%
B0)B(+.I6034#%+#08.1#%"22(--(8"#3(1c%31#)(802.8%#$)(0N$%"%QUQ%()%,UQ:%

· 04#$+,(IO(/(-631.8%"BB)("2$:%A$3+%2(-631.+%"44%(E%#$.%.4.-.1#+%31%
TB#3(1+%@%"18%?:%

· 04#$+,()O(Q(%1(#$31N:%A$3+%3+%h60+31.++%"+%0+0"4e%"BB)("2$c%O3#$%1(%
"883#3(1"4%"2#3V3#7%6.7(18%O$"#%3+%"4)."87%B4"11.8:%

*"2$%(E%#$.+.%31#.)V.1#3(1+%3+%(0#431.8%"18%.V"40"#.8%-().%E0447%6.4(O:%P883#3(1"4%
O()C%3+%6.31N%018.)#"C.1%#(%"+2.)#"31%#$.%).+(0)2.%3-B432"#3(1+%"++(23"#.8%O3#$%
."2$%(B#3(1%E()%#$.%/(01234:%%

LWH 04#$+,(HO(!"#$%&'()(*$"'%#$+,(4&31(',B7,%'9(
4+&$%G(

A$3+%(B#3(1%2(1#"31+%#$.%E(44(O31N%.4.-.1#+_%

· P%1(1I3--.83"#.%!"#$%&'()(*$"'%#$+,%2(V.)31N%#$.%O$(4.%(E%!"#$%0)6"1%
").":%

· P%1.O%8.V.4(B-.1#%-"1"N.-.1#%B(4327%+.##31N%(0#%#$.%"BB)("2$%E()%
8.#.)-3131N%B4"1131N%"BB432"#3(1+%-"8.:%A$3+%O(048%312408.%"1%"883#3(1"4%
#B"'1B+&9(4+&$%G("'&7#'9(#B'('E$1#$,K(.[HJ(4+&$%G(A$#B$,(#B'(C+"'(
F#"7#'KGW(A$3+%2(048%6.%31#)(802.8%.3#$.)%#$)(0N$%"%1.O%,0BB4.-.1#")7%
U4"1131N%Q(20-.1#%a,UQb%()%#$)(0N$%#$.%U4"2.-"C31N%U4"1%Q.V.4(B-.1#%
U4"1%Q(20-.1#%aQUQb:(

A$3+%(B#3(1%E"V(0)+%"%,+,`$::'9$7#'(!"#$%&'()(*$"'%#$+,%#(%"V(38%"17%B(++364.%
)3+C%(E%2(-B.1+"#3(1:%A$3+%-."1+%#$"#%#$.%/(01234%O344%1..8%#(%N3V.%"%@?%-(1#$%
1(#32.%B.)3(8%6.E().%#$.%Q3).2#3(1%2(-.+%31#(%B4"2.:%P1%3--.83"#.%Q3).2#3(1%
2(048%.YB(+.%#$.%/(01234%#(%B(#.1#3"447%2(1+38.)"64.%E31"123"4%)3+C+%"+%
83+"8V"1#"N.8%4"18(O1.)+%2(048%24"3-%2(-B.1+"#3(1%E()%).E0+.8%B4"1131N%
B.)-3++3(1+%()%3E%"883#3(1"4%).+#)32#3(1+%").%"BB43.8%67%2(183#3(1:%A$.%B(#.1#3"4%
2(+#+%"++(23"#.8%O3#$%#$3+%"BB)("2$%").%01C1(O1c%"+%"44%(#$.)%"0#$()3#3.+%
2(1+38.)31N%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1+%#(%8"#.%$"V.%(B#.8%E()%#$.%1(1I3--.83"#.%)(0#.:%%
=E%!&'*,%O.).%#(%3-B4.-.1#%"1%3--.83"#.%Q3).2#3(1%#$.1%3#%2(048%6.%.YB(+.8%#(%
#$.%B(#.1#3"4%E()%#.+#%4.N"4%2"+.+%"18%01C1(O1%2(+#+:%=#%3+%2(1+38.).8%#$"#%#$.+.%
)3+C+%(0#O.3N$%"17%B(#.1#3"4%6.1.E3#+:%%%

=1%"883#3(1c%#$3+%(B#3(1%B)(B(+.+%#$"#%#$.%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%3+%%$#G`A$9'W(P1%
P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%3+%"%B).V.1#"#3V.%-."+0).c%"18%-"7%43-3#%E0#0).%2(1V.)+3(1%(E%
E"-347%$(0+31N%#(%RST+:%%W$34+#%#$.).%").%20)).1#47%$3N$%2(12.1#)"#3(1+%(E%
RST+%")(018%T48E3.48%U")C%31%#$.%O")8+%(E%T48E3.48c%W.+#-().4"18%"18%
W382(-6.c%!"#$%3+%"%2(-B"2#c%O"4C"64.%23#7%"18%1(#%"44%(E%3#+%$(0+31N%+#(2C%3+%

Page 83



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 39

+03#"64.%E()%2(1V.)+3(1%31#(%RST+:%%=E%#$.%6(018")7%(E%#$.%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%3+%
#((%#3N$#47%8.E31.8%")(018%#$.%")."+%(E%.Y3+#31N%RST%2(12.1#)"#3(1%#$.1%#$.).%3+%"%
B(++36343#7%#$"#%.Y2.++%"2#3V3#7%2(048%6.%83+B4"2.8%#(%"8j"2.1#%")."+c%B")#3204")47%
#$(+.%")."+%O3#$31%C.7%#)"1+B()#%2())38()+:%%

X.E4.2#31N%(1%#$.%.Y3+#31N%2(12.1#)"#3(1+%(E%RST%"2#3V3#7%31%#$.%-(+#%"EE.2#.8%
")."+%(E%!"#$H<c%O.%O(048%).2(--.18%+.##31N%"%#$).+$(48%43-3#%(E%?<g%RST+%
O3#$31%@<<-%(E%#$.%+3#.%(E%"%B)(+B.2#3V.%"BB432"#3(1%B)(B.)#7:%A$3+%E3N0).%3+%6.4(O%
#$.%.Y3+#31N%4.V.4+%(E%2(12.1#)"#3(1%E(018%31%+(-.%(E%#$.%-(+#%"EE.2#.8%O")8+%60#%
3+%2(-B")"64.%O3#$%+0NN.+#3(1+%-"8.%67%#$.%1"#3(1"4%RST%4(667%E()%#$.%
31#)(802#3(1%(E%#$).+$(48%B(4323.+%"18%3+%N"0N.8%#(%6.%"1%"22.B#"64.%4.V.4%E()%#$.%
-"31#.1"12.%(E%6"4"12.8%2(--013#3.+:%%%

A$3+%"BB)("2$%3+%43C.47%#(%4."8%#(%#$.%83+B4"2.-.1#%(E%RST%"2#3V3#7%#(%(#$.)%")."+%
(E%#$.%23#7c%60#%O3#$%#$.%31#)(802#3(1%(E%#$.%#$).+$(48%B(4327%#$3+%83+B4"2.-.1#%2"1%
6.%2(1#)(44.8%"18%2"BB.8%"#%)."+(1"64.%4.V.4+:%Q3+B4"2.-.1#%O344%4")N.47%6.%
-")C.#%8)3V.1c%"18%3+%43C.47%#(%6.%6"+.8%")(018%C.7%2)3#.)3"%+02$%"+%B)(Y3-3#7%#(%
#$.%23#7%2.1#).c%#)"1+B()#%431C+c%E4.Y36343#7%(E%$(0+31N%+#(2C%"18%2(+#:%A$.).%3+%"%
B(++36343#7%#$"#%#$3+%"BB)("2$%O344%-."1%#$"#%#$(+.%RST+%"4)."87%O3#$31%")."+%
.Y2..831N%#$.%#$).+$(48%O344%+#")#%#(%"##)"2#%"%V"40.%B).-30-c%"18%E"-347%$(0+31N%
31%#$.+.%")."+%2(048%8.2)."+.%31%V"40.%()%6.%-().%83EE3204#%#(%+.44:%A$.%X.+38.1#3"4%
\"184()8+%P++(23"#3(1%aX\Pb%"++.)#+%#$"#%$(0+.%B)32.+%-3N$#%E"44%-3N$#%"6(0#%
J<gH@:%A$3+%3+%6"+.8%(1%).+.")2$%31%+-"44%")."+%(E%'(##31N$"-%"18%\..8+%(V.)%"%
+$()#%#3-.+2"4.c%"18%#$.%.EE.2#%3+%0143C.47%#(%6.%D03#.%"+%-")C.8%31%!"#$:%

!"+.8%(1%"%).V3.O%(E%#$).+$(48%B(4323.+%E)(-%.4+.O$.).c%B)(B(+.8%B(4327%O()831N%
3+%+.#%(0#%6.4(O_%

6"+4+1'9((]+"9$,K(-+"(N5RDF(QB"'1B+&9(6+&$%G(

/.)#"31%#7B.+%(E%8.V.4(B-.1#%O344%1(#%6.%B.)-3##.8%O$.).%(V.)%?<g%(E%$(0+.$(48+%O3#$31%"%
@<<%-.#).%)"830+%(E%#$.%"BB432"#3(1%+3#.+%E"44%O3#$31%(1.%()%-().%(E%#$.%E(44(O31N%2"#.N()3.+_%

· *Y.-B#%E)(-%B"731N%/(01234%#"Y%6.2"0+.%#$.7%").%.1#3).47%(220B3.8%67%E044%#3-.%+#08.1#+%
u1:6:%#$3+%2(048%6.%0B8"#.8%(1%"1%"110"4%6"+3+c%$"4EO"7%#$)(0N$%#$.%"2"8.-32%7.")v%

· X.2()8.8%(1%U)3V"#.%,.2#()%R(0+31Ni+%8"#"6"+.%"+%"%432.1+.8%RST:%

· P%B)(B.)#7%6.1.E3#31N%E)(-%/9%()%+03%N.1.)3+%RST%B4"1131N%2(1+.1#%

W$.).%.V38.12.%2"1%8.-(1+#)"#.%#$"#%#$.).%").%+$").8%$(0+.+%O3#$31%@<<%-.#).+%(E%#$.%
"BB432"#3(1%+3#.%O$32$%8(%1(#%E"44%O3#$31%#$.%2"#.N()3.+%"6(V.%#$.%/(01234%O344%312408.%#$.+.:%

A$.%E(44(O31N%).+#)32#3(1+%O344%6.%3-B(+.8%(1%8.V.4(B-.1#%31%#$(+.%")."+_%

· /(1V.)+3(1%(E%/J%8O.4431N+%#(%/9%()%+03%N.1.)3+%aR(0+.+%31%S04#3B4.%T220B"127b%O344%1(#%
6.%B.)-3##.8d%%

· U.)-3++3(1%O344%(147%6.%N)"1#.8%E()%.Y#.1+3(1+%#(%/4"++%/J%8O.4431N+%O$.).%#$.).%3+%
.V38.12.%(E%#$.%B)(B.)#7%6.31N%(220B3.8c%()%31#.18.8%E()%(220B"#3(1c%67%+#08.1#+c%O$.)._%

3: A$.%B)(B(+"4%O(048%1(#%01"22.B#"647%).802.%E"-347%$(0+31N%+#(2Cc%31%#.)-+%(E%6(#$%
D0"1#3#7%"18%V")3.#7d%

33: A$.).%O(048%6.%1(%01"22.B#"64.%.EE.2#+%(1%1.3N$6(0)+e%43V31N%2(183#3(1+%31240831N%

%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
H<%\(O.)%,0B.)%T0#B0#%P)."+%")(018%#$.%T48E3.48%U")C%")."%"4)."87%$"V.%0B%#(%?]g%+#08.1#%
B)(B.)#3.+:%A$3+%B)(B()#3(1%2"1%6.%-02$%$3N$.)%3E%#"C.1%"+%"1%"V.)"N.%(1%"%+#)..#%67%+#)..#%6"+3+:%%%
H@%U)3V"#.%2()).+B(18.12.%O3#$%#$.%X\P%

Page 84



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 40

#$)(0N$%312)."+.8%"2#3V3#7c%()%1(3+.%"18%83+#0)6"12.c%.3#$.)%E)(-%#$.%B)(B(+"4%3#+.4E%()%
2(-631.8%O3#$%.Y3+#31N%+3-34")%"22(--(8"#3(1d%

333: A$.%B)(B(+"4%O(048%3-B)(V.%#$.%D0"43#7%()%V")3.#7%(E%#$.%+#(2C%(E%+#08.1#%$(0+31N%

3V: A$.%+2"4.%"18%2$")"2#.)%(E%#$.%B)(B(+"4%O(048%6.%2(-B"#364.%O3#$%#$.%+0))(01831N%
")."d%%%

· A$.%/(01234%O344%3-B(+.%2(183#3(1+%()%+..C%"%,.2#3(1%@<H%"N)..-.1#%(1%1.O%$(0+.+%"18%
E4"#+%#(%B).V.1#%#$.3)%012(1#)(44.8%(220B"#3(1%67%+#08.1#+

· A$.%8.V.4(B-.1#%(E%1.O%$(0+.+%"+%/9%8O.4431N+%()%+03%N.1.)3+%aRST+b%O344%1(#%6.%
B.)-3##.8:%

A$.%3-B"2#+%"18%2$"44.1N.+%E()%#$.%-"31%+#"C.$(48.)+%(E%#$3+%TB#3(1%").%+.#%(0#%
6.4(O:%%

Page 85



B
at

h 
&

 N
or

th
 E

as
t S

om
er

se
t C

ou
nc

il
A

rt
ic

le
 4

 D
ire

ct
io

n 
fo

r 
H

M
O

s 
in

 B
at

h 
F

ea
si

bi
lit

y
S

tu
dy

 

21
81

16
-0

0
|D

ra
ft 

1 
|1

3 
S

ep
te

m
be

r 
20

11
 

\\G
LO

B
A

L\
E

U
R

O
P

E
\B

R
IS

T
O

L\
JO

B
S

\2
18

X
X

X
\2

18
11

6-
00

\4
.5

0_
R

E
P

O
R

T
S

\B
N

E
S

 A
4D

IR
E

C
T

IO
N

 F
IN

A
L 

R
E

P
O

R
T

 T
O

 IS
S

U
E

.D
O

C
X

P
ag

e 
41

Q
7=
&'
(h
O(0
4#
$+
,(
HO
(@
:
47
%#
1(
7,
9(
C
B7
&&'
,K
'1
(-+
"(
F#
7\
'B
+&
9'
"1
W(

% %
6
+1
$#
$2
'(
@:
47
%#
1(

C
B7
&&'
,K
'1
(

N
5
R
D
F(

C
+3
,%
$&(

/
(0
12
34%
3+
%+
..
1%
#(
%6
.%
).
+B
(1
83
1N
%#(
%4(
2"
4%)
.+
38
.1
#+
e%.
1V
3)
(1
-
.1
#"
4%

2(
12
.)
1+
%).
4"
#.
8%
#(
%B
.)
2.
3V
.8
%(
V.
)I
2(
12
.1
#)
"#
3(
1%
(E
%R
S
T
+%
31
%

+(
-
.%
")
."
+%
(E
%#$
.%
23
#7
:%%

U(
++
36
4.
%+
43N
$#
%).
80
2#
3(
1%
31
%).
+(
0)
2.
%).
D0
3)
.-
.1
#+
%E(
)%

*
1V
3)
(1
-
.1
#"
4%R
."
4#$
%31
%8
."
431
N%
O
3#$
%1
(3
+.
c%O
"+
#.
%2
(-
B4
"3
1#
+:
%

S
.8
30
-
%).
+(
0)
2.
%3-
B4
32
"#
3(
1+
%E(
)%U
4"
11
31
N%
U(
432
7%
O
3#$
%).
N"
)8
+%
#(
%

2(
1+
04
#31
N%
(1
%"
18
%B
0#
#31
N%
"8
83
#3(
1"
4%B
(4
32
7%
31
%B
4"
2.
:%%

/
0)
).
1#
47
%0
1C
1(
O
1c
%6
0#
%B
(#
.1
#3"
4%E
()
%"
88
3#3
(1
"4
%).
+(
0)
2.
%

).
D0
3)
.-
.1
#+
%31
%#$
.%
Q
.V
.4
(B
-
.1
#%S
"1
"N
.-
.1
#%#
."
-
%#(
%B
)(
2.
++
%

"8
83
#3(
1"
4%B
4"
11
31
N%
"B
B4
32
"#
3(
1+
%"
18
%8
."
4%O
3#$
%"
BB
."
4+
:%

F#
39
',
#1
(

S
()
.%
2$
(3
2.
%31
%"
).
"+
%#(
%43
V.
%43
C.
47
%#(
%6
.%
B)
(V
38
.8
:%%

S
"7
%B
0+
$%
).
1#
"4
%B
)3
2.
+%
0B
%31
%+
(-
.%
")
."
+%
aB
")
#32
04
")
47
%T
48
E3
.4
8%
U"
)C
c%

W
.+
#-
()
.4
"1
8%
W
38
2(
-
6.
%"
).
"b
c%4
."
83
1N
%#(
%31
.D
0"
43#
7%
31
%O
$.
).
%

+#
08
.1
#+
%2
"1
%"
EE
()
8"
64
7%
43V
.%
31
%#$
.%
23
#7
:% %

S
"7
%-
."
1%
#$
"#
%R
S
T
+%
")
.%
(E
%"
%B
((
).
)%+
#"
18
")
8%
"+
%4"
18
4(
)8
+%
2"
1%

"#
#)
"2
#%+
#0
8.
1#
+%
67
%4(
2"
#3(
1%
"4
(1
.:
%%

S
"7
%-
."
1%
+#
08
.1
#+
%31
%1
.O
%"
).
"+
%E.
.4
%+
#)
"1
8.
8%
()
%3+
(4
"#
.8
%3E
%#$
.)
.%
3+
%"
%

4"
2C
%(
E%B
06
432
%#)
"1
+B
()
#:%

A
$.
).
%3+
%"
%+
#0
8.
1#
%2
"-
B"
3N
1%
O
3#$
%J
JG
%E"
2.
6(
(C
%-
.-
6.
)+
%"
N"
31
+#
%#$
.%

31
#)
(8
02
#3(
1%
(E
%"
1%
P
)#
32
4.
%9
%Q
3)
.2
#3(
1H
? :%
%

0
#B
'"
(.
/
0
(

"'
1$
9'
,#
1(

S
()
.%
2$
(3
2.
%31
%"
).
"+
%#(
%43
V.
%43
C.
47
%#(
%6
.%
B)
(V
38
.8
:%%

S
"7
%B
0+
$%
).
1#
"4
%B
)3
2.
+%
0B
%31
%+
(-
.%
")
."
+%
aB
")
#32
04
")
47
%T
48
E3
.4
8%
U"
)C
c%

W
.+
#-
()
.4
"1
8%
W
38
2(
-
6.
%"
).
"b
c%-
."
13
1N
%31
.D
0"
43#
7%
"1
8%
+(
23
"4
%8
3V
38
.%

31
%O
$.
).
%B
.(
B4
.%
31
%#$
.%
B)
3V
"#
.%
).
1#
.8
%+
.2
#(
)%2
"1
%"
EE
()
8%
#(
%43
V.
:%%

S
"7
%-
."
1%
#$
"#
%R
S
T
+%
")
.%
(E
%"
%B
((
).
)%+
#"
18
")
8%
"+
%4"
18
4(
)8
+%
2"
1%

"#
#)
"2
#%#
.1
"1
#+
%6
7%
4(
2"
#3(
1%
"4
(1
.:
%

X
,$
2'
"1
$#
$'
1(

%
,#
08
.1
#+
%43
V3
1N
%(
V.
)%"
%O
38
.)
%"
).
"%
(E
%#$
.%
23
#7
%-
"7
%-
."
1%
#$
"#
%+
(-
.%

+#
08
.1
#+
c%"
#%4
."
+#
%31
3#3
"4
47
c%"
).
%1
(#
%O
.4
4%+
.)
V.
8%
67
%B
06
432
%#)
"1
+B
()
#:%

A
$3
+%
-
"7
%4.
"8
%#(
%"
1%
31
2)
."
+.
%31
%#$
(+
.%
O
"1
#31
N%
#(
%#"
C.
%2
")
+%
#(
%

01
3V
.)
+3
#7
%2
"-
B0
+.
+:
%%

A
$.
).
%-
"7
%6
.%
"1
%31
2)
."
+.
%31
%+
#0
8.
1#
+%
+.
.C
31
N%
O
.4
E"
).
%"
8V
32
.%
3E
%

%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%

H?
%$
##B
+_
ffO
O
O
:E"
2.
6(
(C
:2
(-
fN
)(
0B
+f
?;
]]
<9
<@
<[
?[
<[
@f
c%"
22
.+
+.
8%
@G
f@
@f
?<
@@
%

Page 86



B
at

h 
&

 N
or

th
 E

as
t S

om
er

se
t C

ou
nc

il
A

rt
ic

le
 4

 D
ire

ct
io

n 
fo

r 
H

M
O

s 
in

 B
at

h 
F

ea
si

bi
lit

y
S

tu
dy

 

21
81

16
-0

0
|D

ra
ft 

1 
|1

3 
S

ep
te

m
be

r 
20

11
 

\\G
LO

B
A

L\
E

U
R

O
P

E
\B

R
IS

T
O

L\
JO

B
S

\2
18

X
X

X
\2

18
11

6-
00

\4
.5

0_
R

E
P

O
R

T
S

\B
N

E
S

 A
4D

IR
E

C
T

IO
N

 F
IN

A
L 

R
E

P
O

R
T

 T
O

 IS
S

U
E

.D
O

C
X

P
ag

e 
42

+#
08
.1
#+
%$
"V
.%
B)
(6
4.
-
+%
O
3#$
%-
(1
.7
%(
)%+
(2
3"
4%8
3V
38
.%
()
%4(
O
.)
%

+#
"1
8"
)8
%"
22
(-
-
(8
"#
3(
1:
%

8
+%
7&
("
'1
$9
',
#1
(
,$
(0
48
%4.
"8
%#(
%-
()
.%
6"
4"
12
.8
%2
(-
-
01
3#3
.+
c%-
."
13
1N
%"
%O
38
.)
%-
3Y
%

(E
%).
+3
8.
1#
+%
31
%-
"1
7%
")
."
+:
%%

5"
-
347
%$
(0
+3
1N
%31
%"
).
"+
%(
E%.
Y3
+#
31
N%
$3
N$
%8
.1
+3
#7
%(
E%R
S
T
+%
3+
%

43C
.4
7%
#(
%6
.2
(-
.%
2$
."
B.
)c%
-
."
13
1N
%3#
%2
(0
48
%6
.2
(-
.%
."
+3
.)
%E(
)%1
.O
%

.1
#)
"1
#+
%#(
%#$
.%
$(
0+
31
N%
-
")
C.
#:%
%

A
$3
+%
-
"7
%4.
"8
%#(
%"
%O
38
.)
%+
B)
."
8%
"2
)(
++
%#$
.%
23
#7
%(
E%#
$.
%B
)(
64
.-
+%

"+
+(
23
"#
.8
%O
3#$
%"
%$
3N
$%
8.
1+
3#7
%(
E%R
S
T
+:
%

X
.+
38
.1
#+
%31
%"
).
"+
%#$
"#
%2
0)
).
1#
47
%$
"V
.%
"%
$3
N$
%8
.1
+3
#7
%(
E%R
S
T
+%
-
"7
%

6.
%8
3+
"B
B(
31
#.
8%
#(
%8
3+
2(
V.
)%#
$"
#%#
$3
+%
8(
.+
%1
(#
%"
88
).
++
%"
17
%.
Y3
+#
31
N%

B)
(6
4.
-
+%
#$
"#
%#$
.7
%"
).
%.
YB
.)
3.
12
31
N:
%A
$.
7%
-
"7
%"
4+
(%
.Y
B.
)3
.1
2.
%"
%

8)
(B
%31
%#$
.%
V"
40
.%
(E
%#$
.3
)%
B)
(B
.)
#7
:%W
$.
).
%.
Y3
+#
31
N%
R
S
T
%8
.1
+3
#3.
+%
")
.%

).
"4
47
%$
3N
$c
%3#
%-
"7
%"
4+
(%
6.
2(
-
.%
83
EE
32
04
#%#
(%
+.
44%
$(
-
.+
%3E
%#$
.7
%O
3+
$%
#(
%

-
(V
.:
%%

8
+%
7&
(

':
4&
+G
'"
1 (

P
%8
3+
B.
)+
"4
%(
E%R
S
T
+%
"2
)(
++
%#$
.%
23
#7
%-
"7
%4.
"8
%#(
%-
()
.%
"E
E(
)8
"6
4.
%

B)
3V
"#
.%
).
1#
.8
%+
.2
#(
)%"
22
(-
-
(8
"#
3(
1%
31
%+
(-
.%
")
."
+c
%O
$3
2$
%-
"7
%

-
"C
.%
3#%
."
+3
.)
%#(
%"
##)
"2
#%1
.O
%.
-
B4
(7
..
+%
#(
%#$
.%
")
."
:%%

=E
%#$
.%
P
)#
32
4.
%9
%Q
3)
.2
#3(
1%
4.
"8
+%
#(
%"
%B
.)
2.
B#
3(
1%
"-
(1
N+
#%B
)(
B.
)#
7%

31
V.
+#
()
+%
#$
"#
%R
S
T
+%
")
.%
1(
#%O
.4
2(
-
.%
31
%!
"#
$c
%#$
.1
%#$
3+
%-
"7
%4.
"8
%#(
%"
%

+$
()
#"
N.
%31
%"
EE
()
8"
64
.%
B)
3V
"#
.%
).
1#
.8
%B
)(
B.
)#
7:
%A
$3
+%
-
"7
%-
"C
.%
3#%

$"
)8
.)
%E(
)%.
-
B4
(7
.)
+%
#(
%"
##)
"2
#.
8%
4(
O
.)
%B
"3
8%
.-
B4
(7
..
+c
%B
")
#32
04
")
47
%

#$
(+
.%
"#
%#$
.%
+#
")
#%(
E%#
$.
3)
%2
")
..
)+
c%3
12
40
83
1N
%1
.O
%N
)"
80
"#
.+
:% %

A
$.
%/
$"
-
6.
)%(
E%/
(-
-
.)
2.
%$
"+
%E(
)-
"4
47
%(
6j
.2
#.
8%
#(
%#$
.%
31
#)
(8
02
#3(
1%

(E
%"
1%
P
)#
32
4.
%9
%Q
3)
.2
#3(
1%
31
%!
"#
$H
J :%
%

8
+%
7&
(#"
79
'f
(

=3
1$
,'
11
(

,$
(0
48
%4.
"8
%#(
%-
()
.%
6"
4"
12
.8
%2
(-
-
01
3#3
.+
c%"
18
%-
"7
%).
+0
4#%
31
%4.
++
%

+.
"+
(1
"4
%#)
"8
.%
31
%+
(-
.%
")
."
+:
% %

S
"7
%).
+0
4#%
31
%4(
++
%(
E%#
)"
8.
%31
%+
(-
.%
")
."
+c
%O
$.
).
%#$
.%
60
+3
1.
++
%-
(8
.4
%3+
%

20
))
.1
#47
%).
43"
1#
%(
1%
R
S
T
%).
+3
8.
1#
+%
f%4
"1
84
()
8+
:%

D
E$
1#
$,
K(
.
/
0
(

&7
,9
&+
"9
1 (

A
$(
+.
%O
3#$
%B
)(
B.
)#
3.
+%
31
%B
(B
04
")
%"
).
"+
%"
).
%43
C.
47
%#(
%.
YB
.)
3.
12
.%
"1
%

31
2)
."
+.
%31
%).
V.
10
.%
"+
%#$
.7
%6
.2
(-
.%
-
()
.%
.Y
24
0+
3V
.%
"1
8%
2"
1%

2$
")
N.
%-
()
.:
% %

\
3-
3#+
%(
B#
3(
1+
%E(
)%.
YB
"1
+3
(1
%(
E%B
()
#E
(4
3(
%#(
%"
).
"+
%(
0#
+3
8.
%(
E%.
Y3
+#
31
N%

2(
12
.1
#)
"#
3(
1+
:%

.
/
0
(

9'
2'
&+
4'
"1
(

/
4.
")
%B
4"
11
31
N%
B(
432
7%
N0
38
"1
2.
%O
344
%$
.4
B%
#$
.-
%#(
%"
++
.+
+%
#$
.%

B(
#.
1#
3"
4%+
02
2.
++
%(
E%#
$.
3)
%B
4"
11
31
N%
"B
B4
32
"#
3(
1:
% %

S
"1
7%
O
344
%6
.%
B0
#%(
EE
%6
7%
#$
.%
B)
(2
.+
+%
(E
%"
BB
47
31
N%
E(
)%B
4"
11
31
N%

B.
)-
3+
+3
(1
c%6
0#
%#$
(+
.%
O
$(
%"
).
1e
#%O
344
%E"
2.
%"
%4(
1N
.)
%#3
-
.%
B.
)3
(8
%6
.E
()
.%

#$
.7
%2
"1
%2
(1
V.
)#
%#$
.3
)%B
)(
B.
)#
3.
+:
%%

D
1#
7#
'(
7K
',
#1
(

,$
(0
48
%4.
"8
%#(
%"
%-
()
.%
83
V.
)+
.%
-
")
C.
#%"
2)
(+
+%
#$
.%
23
#7
:%A
$3
+%
O
(0
48
%

B)
(V
38
.%
"%
-
()
.%
+0
+#
"3
1"
64
.c
%4(
1N
I#
.)
-
%-
")
C.
#:%
%

S
"1
7%
31
V.
+#
()
%2
43.
1#
+%
O
344
%6
.%
B0
#%(
EE
%6
7%
#$
.%
).
8%
#"
B.
%"
18
%3#
%3+
%43
C.
47
%#(
%

6.
%-
()
.%
83
EE
32
04
#%#
(%
+.
44%
B)
(B
.)
#3.
+%
31
%.
Y3
+#
31
N%
")
."
+%
(E
%$
3N
$%
R
S
T
%

8.
1+
3#7
c%"
#%4
."
+#
%31
3#3
"4
47
:%%

%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%

HJ
%,
..
%4.
##.
)%)
.2
.3
V.
8%
31
%"
BB
.1
83
Y%
Q
:%%

Page 87



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 43

LWJ 04#$+,(J(g6&7,,$,K(6+&$%G(5((!99$#$+,7&(
8$%',1$,K(

A$.%.4.-.1#+%(E%#$3+%"BB)("2$%")._%

· P883#3(1"4%432.1+31N%E()%"44%RST+%31%!"#$d%"18%%

· U4"1131N%B(4327%B)(-(#31N%B0)B(+.%6034#%+#08.1#%"22(--(8"#3(1:%

A$3+%(B#3(1%312408.+%#$.%B)(V3+3(1%(E%799$#$+,7&(&$%',1$,KW((P883#3(1"4c%)"#$.)%
#$"1%+.4.2#3V.%432.1+31N%$"+%6..1%B)(B(+.8%"+%#$.).%3+%"1.28(#"4%.V38.12.%"6(0#%#$.%
3-B"2#%#$"#%"%O38.)%)"1N.%(E%RST+%#$"1%#$(+.%#$"#%").%20)).1#47%+06j.2#%#(%#$.%
432.1+31N%).N3-.:%R(O.V.)c%#$.).%3+%1(%.V38.12.%#(%+0NN.+#%#$"#%#$3+%3-B"2#%
.Y#.18+%#(%#$.%O$(4.%B)3V"#.%).1#.8%+.2#()%a"+%O(048%6.%).D03).8%E()%+.4.2#3V.%
432.1+31Nb:%A$.%.V38.12.%N"#$.).8%E()%#$3+%+#087%+$(O+%1(%2()).4"#3(1%6.#O..1%
RST%8.1+3#7%"18%#$.3)%+3m.:%W.%#$.).E().%).2(--.18%#$"#%"883#3(1"4%432.1+31N%
O(048%1..8%#(%6.%E()%"44%RST%#7B.+:%A$3+%(B#3(1%B)(B(+.+%"%+#"N.8%)(4.%(0#%(E%
"883#3(1"4%432.1+31Nc%O3#$%#$.%313#3"4%E(20+%(1%#$.%O")8+%O3#$%#$.%$3N$.+#%.Y3+#31N%
2(12.1#)"#3(1%(E%RST+%aW382(-6.c%W.+#-().4"18%"18%T48E3.48b:%A$.%
31#)(802#3(1%(E%"883#3(1"4%432.1+31N%8(.+%1(#%+B.23E32"447%43-3#%#$.%+0BB47%(E%
RST+%31%"17%")."%(E%#$.%23#7c%60#%8(.+%B)(V38.%"%-.2$"13+-%#(%-"31#"31%D0"43#7%
31%#$.%+.2#():%

W$34+#%#$.).%3+%.Y3+#31N%B(4327%).4"#31N%#(%#$.%.YB"1+3(1%(E%6(#$%013V.)+3#3.+%
aU(4327%!;%31%#$.%/().%,#)"#.N7bc%#$.%N038"12.%#$.).31%2(048%6.%.YB"18.8%#(%
.1+0).%#$"#%.YB"1+3(1%31%"2"8.-32%E4(()+B"2.%3+%"22(-B"13.8%67%B0)B(+.I6034#%
"22(--(8"#3(1%#$"#%-..#+%+B.23E32%8.+3N1%"18%-"1"N.-.1#%2)3#.)3"c%O$32$%O(048%
$.4B%#(%).802.%"17%B(++364.%1.N"#3V.%3-B"2#+%(1%4(2"4%2(--013#3.+:%

6"+4+1'9(]+"9$,K(-+"(N5RDF(6"+(63"4+1'(N3$&#(!%%+::+97#$+,(6+&$%GW(

P44%312)."+.+%31%+#08.1#%10-6.)+%"#%"17%R3N$.)%*802"#3(1%=1+#3#0#3(1%31%!"#$%"+%"%).+04#%(E%
312)."+.+%31%"2"8.-32%E4(()+B"2.%-0+#%6.%-"#2$.8%67%"%2()).+B(1831N%312)."+.%31%B0)B(+.I6034#%
+#08.1#%"22(--(8"#3(1:%P17%B0)B(+.I6034#%+#08.1#%"22(--(8"#3(1%+$(048%-..#%#$.%E(44(O31N%
2)3#.)3":(

@: ,3#.+%+$(048%6.%."+347%"22.++364.%#(%#$.%L13V.)+3#7%"18%2(44.N.%2"-B0+.+%67%O"4C31Nc%
272431N%()%B06432%#)"1+B()#%%

?: R3N$%8.1+3#7%8.V.4(B-.1#+%+$(048%6.%+3#.8%31%4(2"#3(1+%O$.).%#$3+%3+%2(-B"#364.%O3#$%
.Y3+#31N%8.V.4(B-.1#+%"18%313#3"#3V.+c%"18%O$.).%).#"34%E"2343#3.+%").%O3#$31%O"4C31N%
83+#"12.:%%

J: /")%B")C31N%+#"18")8+%+$(048%6.%-.#c%"18%"%N)..1%#)"V.4%B4"1%8.V.4(B.8%#(%.1+0).%#$"#%
B)(B(+"4+%+$(048%1(#%4."8%#(%"1%312)."+.%31%(1I+#)..#%B")C31N%31%#$.%+0))(01831N%").":%

9: U)(B(+"4+%#$"#%2"1%8.-(1+#)"#.%"%B(+3#3V.%).N.1.)"#3(1%3-B"2#%31%#$.3)%(O1%)3N$#%O344%6.%
N3V.1%B).E.).12.%(V.)%(#$.)%+2$.-.+:%%

;: U)(B(+"4+%+$(048%6.%8.+3N1.8%#(%6.%+"E.%"18%+.20).:%/(1+38.)"#3(1%-0+#%6.%N3V.1%#(%
312)."+.8%31E()-"4%+0)V.344"12.%()%(#$.)%-."+0).+%#(%2(1#)360#.%#(%2)3-.%B).V.1#3(1:%

H: P22(--(8"#3(1%+$(048%1(#%$"V.%"1%01"22.B#"64.%.EE.2#%(1%).+38.1#3"4%"-.13#7%31%#$.%
+0))(01831N%")."%#$)(0N$%312)."+.8%1(3+.c%83+#0)6"12.%()%3-B"2#%(1%#$.%+#)..#+2.1.%
.3#$.)%E)(-%#$.%B)(B(+.8%8.V.4(B-.1#%3#+.4E%()%O$.1%2(-631.8%O3#$%.Y3+#31N%
"22(--(8"#3(1:%

Page 88



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 44

[: U)(V3+3(1%"18%-"1"N.-.1#%(E%O"+#.%83+B(+"4%E"2343#3.+%O344%6.%B4"11.8%O3#$31%#$.%
8.V.4(B-.1#%"#%"1%.")47%+#"N.:%

G: U)(B(+"4+%O344%1..8%#(%312408.%"%-"1"N.-.1#%B4"1:%

A$.%B(+3#3V.%3-B"2#+%"18%2$"44.1N.+%E()%#$.%-"31%+#"C.$(48.)+%(E%#$.%TB#3(1%").%
+.#%(0#%6.4(O:%%

Page 89



B
at

h 
&

 N
or

th
 E

as
t S

om
er

se
t C

ou
nc

il
A

rt
ic

le
 4

 D
ire

ct
io

n 
fo

r 
H

M
O

s 
in

 B
at

h 
F

ea
si

bi
lit

y 
S

tu
dy

 

21
81

16
-0

0
|D

ra
ft 

1 
|1

3 
S

ep
te

m
be

r 
20

11
 

\\G
LO

B
A

L\
E

U
R

O
P

E
\B

R
IS

T
O

L\
JO

B
S

\2
18

X
X

X
\2

18
11

6-
00

\4
.5

0_
R

E
P

O
R

T
S

\B
N

E
S

 A
4D

IR
E

C
T

IO
N

 F
IN

A
L 

R
E

P
O

R
T

 T
O

 IS
S

U
E

.D
O

C
X

P
ag

e 
45

Q
7=
&'
(d
O(0
4#
$+
,(
JO
(@
:
47
%#
1(
7,
9(
C
B7
&&'
,K
'1
(-+
"(
F#
7\
'B
+&
9'
"1
W(

%
6
+1
$#
$2
'(
@:
47
%#
1(

C
B7
&&'
,K
'1
(

N
5
R
D
F(

C
+3
,%
$&(

,.
.1
%#(
%6
.%
).
+B
(1
83
1N
%#(
%4(
2"
4%)
.+
38
.1
#+
e%2
(1
2.
)1
+%
).
N"
)8
31
N%
(V
.)
I

2(
12
.1
#)
"#
3(
1%
(E
%R
S
T
+%
31
%+
(-
.%
")
."
+%
(E
%#$
.%
23
#7
:%%

U(
++
36
4.
%+
43N
$#
%).
80
2#
3(
1%
31
%).
+(
0)
2.
%).
D0
3)
.-
.1
#+
%E(
)%*
1V
3)
(1
-
.1
#"
4%

R
."
4#$
%31
%8
."
431
N%
O
3#$
%1
(3
+.
c%O
"+
#.
%2
(-
B4
"3
1#
+:
%

U(
#.
1#
3"
447
%+
3N
13
E3
2"
1#
%).
+(
0)
2.
%).
D0
3)
.8
%E(
)%$
(0
+3
1N
%f%
.1
V3
)(
1-
.1
#"
4%

$.
"4
#$
%31
%3-
B4
.-
.1
#31
N%
"1
8%
.1
E(
)2
31
N%
1.
O
%43
2.
1+
31
N%
).
N3
-
.:
%R
(O
.V
.)
c%

#$
3+
%3+
%43
C.
47
%#(
%6
.%
1.
")
%2
(+
# I
1.
0#
)"
4%3
1%
#$
.%
4(
1N
.)
I#
.)
-
:%

\
3-
3#.
8%
).
+(
0)
2.
%).
D0
3)
.-
.1
#+
%E(
)%U
4"
11
31
N%
U(
432
7%
#.
"-
%31
%3-
B4
.-
.1
#31
N%

1.
O
%B
0)
B(
+.
%6
03
4#%
B(
432
7:
%%

F#
39
',
#1
(

P
44%
R
S
T
+%
O
(0
48
%2
(-
B4
7%
O
3#$
%$
3N
$.
)%+
#"
18
")
8+
:%%
%

W
38
.)
%)"
1N
.%
(E
%(
B#
3(
1+
%#(
%43
V.
%31
%B
0)
B(
+.
%6
03
4#%
+#
08
.1
#%"
22
(-
-
(8
"#
3(
1:
%%

S
"7
%-
")
N3
1"
447
%B
0+
$%
).
1#
"4
%B
)3
2.
+%
0B
%3E
%4"
18
4(
)8
+%
+.
.%
"1
%(
BB
()
#0
13
#7
%#(
%

B"
++
%43
2.
1+
31
N%
2(
+#
+%
(1
%#(
%#.
1"
1#
+:
%%

0
#B
'"
(.
/
0
(

"'
1$
9'
,#
1 (

P
44%
R
S
T
+%
O
(0
48
%2
(-
B4
7%
O
3#$
%$
3N
$.
)%D
0"
43#
7%
+#
"1
8"
)8
+:
%%%

=E
%+
#0
8.
1#
+%
-
(V
.%
(0
#%(
E%R
S
T
+%
31
#(
%B
0)
B(
+.
%6
03
4#%
"2
2(
-
-
(8
"#
3(
1%
#$
.1
%

#$
.)
.%
3+
%-
()
.%
2$
(3
2.
%E(
)%(
#$
.)
%#.
1"
1#
+%
a"
18
%B
(+
+3
64
.%
).
80
2#
3(
1%
31
%B
)3
2.
%3E
%

+0
BB
47
%(
0#
+#
)3
B+
%8
.-
"1
8b
:%

S
"7
%-
")
N3
1"
447
%B
0+
$%
).
1#
"4
%B
)3
2.
+%
0B
%3E
%4"
18
4(
)8
+%
+.
.%
"1
%(
BB
()
#0
13
#7
%#(
%

B"
++
%43
2.
1+
31
N%
2(
+#
+%
(1
%#(
%#.
1"
1#
+:
%

X
,$
2'
"1
$#
$'
1(

=1
2)
."
+.
+%
31
%B
0)
B(
+.
I6
03
4#%
"2
2(
-
-
(8
"#
3(
1%
43C
.4
7%
#(
%6
.%
"#
#)
"2
#3V
.%
#(
%-
"1
7%

1.
O
%+
#0
8.
1#
+c
%"
18
%-
"7
%6
.2
(-
.%
31
2)
."
+3
1N
47
%3-
B(
)#
"1
#%3
1%
"1
%31
2)
."
+3
1N
47
%

2(
-
B.
#3#
3V
.%
.8
02
"#
3(
1%
-
")
C.
#:%

R
3N
$.
)%4
.V
.4
+%
(E
%2
(1
E3
8.
12
.%
31
%).
2(
-
-
.1
83
1N
%B
)(
B.
)#
3.
+%
31
%#$
.%
B)
3V
"#
.%

).
1#
.8
%+
.2
#(
)%3
E%#
$.
7%
).
"2
$%
+#
"1
8"
)8
+%
E(
)%4
32
.1
+3
1N
:%%

/
(+
#+
%"
++
(2
3"
#.
8%
O
3#$
%6
03
48
31
N%
B0
)B
(+
.%
60
34#
%"
22
(-
-
(8
"#
3(
1%
a"
4#$
(0
N$
%

#$
.)
.%
-
"7
%6
.%
(B
B(
)#
01
3#3
.+
%E(
)%#
$.
%B
)3
V"
#.
%+
.2
#(
)%#
(%
-
..
#%#
$.
+.
%2
(+
#+
%

#$
)(
0N
$%
j(
31
#%V
.1
#0
).
+%
O
3#$
%0
13
V.
)+
3#3
.+
b:%
%

A
$.
).
%-
"7
%6
.%
8.
4"
7+
%#(
%"
2"
8.
-
32
%f%
#.
"2
$3
1N
%+
B"
2.
%N
)(
O
#$
%3E
%

"2
2(
-
-
(8
"#
3(
1%
3+
%).
D0
3)
.8
%31
%#"
18
.-
:%%

8
+%
7&
("
'1
$9
',
#1
(
\
32
.1
+3
1N
%O
344
%$
.4
B%
#(
%#"
2C
4.
%.
Y3
+#
31
N%
B.
)2
.3
V.
8%
"1
8%
).
"4
%B
)(
64
.-
+%
(E
%

R
S
T
%8
.1
+3
#7
%"
18
%3+
%#$
.)
.E
()
.%
43C
.4
7%
#(
%6
.%
B(
B0
4"
):%
%

=E
%#$
.%
+3
m.
%(
E%#
$.
%-
")
C.
#%E
()
%R
S
T
+%
8.
2)
."
+.
+%
O
3#$
%"
1%
31
2)
."
+.
%31
%

B0
)B
(+
. I
60
34#
%+
#0
8.
1#
%"
22
(-
-
(8
"#
3(
1c
%#$
.1
%#$
.)
.%
-
"7
%6
.%
+(
-
.%
).
#0
)1
%#(
%

E"
-
347
%$
(0
+3
1N
:%A
$3
+%
-
"7
%"
4+
(%
4.
"8
%#(
%"
%).
80
2#
3(
1%
31
%$
(0
+.
%B
)3
2.
+c
%

-
"C
31
N%
3#%
-
()
.%
"E
E(
)8
"6
4.
%E(
)%E
3)
+#
I#
3-
.%
60
7.
)+
:%%

Q
3+
"B
B(
31
#-
.1
#%"
#%4
"2
C%
(E
%"
1%
P
)#
32
4.
%9
%Q
3)
.2
#3(
1Z
%

U)
(%
B0
)B
(+
.I
60
34#
%B
(4
32
3.
+%
-
"7
%4.
"8
%#(
%8
.I
+#
08
.1
#3E
32
"#
3(
1c
%"
18
%1
(#
%).
#0
)1
%

#(
%E"
-
347
%$
(0
+3
1N
%"
+%
4(
2"
4%)
.+
38
.1
#+
%-
3N
$#
%$
(B
.:
%

:%

8
+%
7&
(

P
%2
(-
63
1"
#3(
1%
(E
%$
3N
$.
)%D
0"
43#
7%
R
S
T
+%
"1
8%
-
()
.%
2"
B"
23
#7
%a
"+
%+
#0
8.
1#
+%

%

Page 90



B
at

h 
&

 N
or

th
 E

as
t S

om
er

se
t C

ou
nc

il
A

rt
ic

le
 4

 D
ire

ct
io

n 
fo

r 
H

M
O

s 
in

 B
at

h 
F

ea
si

bi
lit

y 
S

tu
dy

 

21
81

16
-0

0
|D

ra
ft 

1 
|1

3 
S

ep
te

m
be

r 
20

11
 

\\G
LO

B
A

L\
E

U
R

O
P

E
\B

R
IS

T
O

L\
JO

B
S

\2
18

X
X

X
\2

18
11

6-
00

\4
.5

0_
R

E
P

O
R

T
S

\B
N

E
S

 A
4D

IR
E

C
T

IO
N

 F
IN

A
L 

R
E

P
O

R
T

 T
O

 IS
S

U
E

.D
O

C
X

P
ag

e 
46

':
4&
+G
'"
1(

")
.%
31
2)
."
+3
1N
47
%2
"#
.)
.8
%E(
)%3
1%
B0
)B
(+
.I
60
34#
%"
22
(-
-
(8
"#
3(
1b
c%-
"7
%-
"C
.%

3#%
."
+3
.)
%#(
%"
##)
"2
#%1
.O
%.
-
B4
(7
..
+%
#(
%#$
.%
")
."
:%%

8
+%
7&
(#"
79
'f
(

=3
1$
,'
11
(

X
.4
(2
"#
3(
1%
(E
%+
#0
8.
1#
+%
#(
%B
0)
B(
+.
I6
03
4#%
"2
2(
-
-
(8
"#
3(
1%
-
"7
%).
+0
4#%
31
%"
1%

31
2)
."
+.
8%
2(
12
.1
#)
"#
3(
1%
31
%8
.-
"1
8%
E(
)%#
)"
8.
c%O
$3
2$
%2
(0
48
%6
.1
.E
3#%
4(
2"
4%

60
+3
1.
++
.+
%31
%+
(-
.%
")
."
+:
%

U(
#.
1#
3"
4%E
()
%31
2)
."
+.
%31
%).
V.
10
.%
3E
%#$
.)
.%
3+
%"
%2
$"
1N
.%
E)
(-
%+
#0
8.
1#
%#.
1"
1#
+%

#(
%7
(0
1N
%B
)(
E.
++
3(
1"
4%#
.1
"1
#+
c%O
$(
%$
"V
.%
-
()
.%
83
+B
(+
"4
%31
2(
-
.:
%

U(
++
36
4.
%(
BB
()
#0
13
#3.
+%
E(
)%4
(2
"4
%6
03
48
31
NI
).
4"
#.
8%
#)
"8
.+
%31
%#$
.%
60
348
31
N%
(E
%

1.
O
%+
#0
8.
1#
%"
22
(-
-
(8
"#
3(
1%
"1
8%
31
%#$
.%
2(
1V
.)
+3
(1
%(
E%.
Y3
+#
31
N%
+#
08
.1
#%

R
S
T
+%
a#
(%
E"
-
347
%$
(-
.+
%(
)%E
()
%(
#$
.)
%#.
1"
1#
+%
O
3#$
%8
3E
E.
)3
1N
%)
.D
03
).
-
.1
#+
b%

S
"7
%).
+0
4#%
31
%4(
++
%(
E%#
)"
8.
%31
%+
(-
.%
")
."
+c
%O
$.
).
%R
S
T
+%
")
.%
4.
E#
%

01
(2
20
B3
.8
%"
+%
+#
08
.1
#+
%-
(V
.%
31
#(
%B
0)
B(
+.
I6
03
4#%
"2
2(
-
-
(8
"#
3(
1:
%

D
E$
1#
$,
K(
.
/
0
(

&7
,9
&+
"9
1 (

\
.+
+%
2(
1E
0+
3(
1%
"6
(0
#%8
3E
E.
).
1#
%8
.E
31
3#3
(1
+%
E(
)%R
S
T
+:
%%

U(
#.
1#
3"
4%E
()
%31
2)
."
+.
%31
%).
V.
10
.%
3E
%#$
.)
.%
3+
%"
%2
$"
1N
.%
E)
(-
%+
#0
8.
1#
%#.
1"
1#
+%

#(
%7
(0
1N
%B
)(
E.
++
3(
1"
4%#
.1
"1
#+
%O
3#$
%$
3N
$.
)%3
12
(-
.:
%%

=1
2)
."
+.
8%
2(
+#
+%
f%)
.8
I#
"B
.%
"+
+(
23
"#
.8
%O
3#$
%43
2.
12
.%
"B
B4
32
"#
3(
1+
:%%

U(
++
36
4.
%1
..
8%
#(
%2
$"
1N
.%
60
+3
1.
++
%B
4"
1%
3E
%).
D0
3)
.-
.1
#+
%E(
)%+
#0
8.
1#
%R
S
T
%

"2
2(
-
-
(8
"#
3(
1%
).
80
2.
+:
%%

U(
#.
1#
3"
4%E
()
%8
.2
).
"+
.%
31
%).
V.
10
.%
3E
%#$
.)
.%
3+
%"
%2
$"
1N
.%
E)
(-
%+
#0
8.
1#
%#.
1"
1#
+%

#(
%P
G%
-
3N
)"
1#
%#.
1"
1#
+:
%

.
/
0
(

9'
2'
&+
4'
"1
(

\
.+
+%
2(
1E
0+
3(
1%
"6
(0
#%8
3E
E.
).
1#
%8
.E
31
3#3
(1
+%
E(
)%R
S
T
+:
%

=1
2)
."
+.
8%
2(
+#
+%
f%)
.8
I#
"B
.%
"+
+(
23
"#
.8
%O
3#$
%43
2.
12
.%
"B
B4
32
"#
3(
1+
:%

D
1#
7#
'(
7K
',
#1
(

\
.+
+%
2(
1E
0+
3(
1%
"6
(0
#%8
3E
E.
).
1#
%8
.E
31
3#3
(1
+%
E(
)%R
S
T
+%
`%
4.
++
%#3
-
.%

2(
1+
0-
31
N%
#(
%N
3V
.%
"8
V3
2.
%#(
%B
(#
.1
#3"
4%4
"1
84
()
8+
:%

U(
#.
1#
3"
4%E
()
%31
2)
."
+.
%31
%).
V.
10
.%
3E
%#$
.)
.%
3+
%"
%2
$"
1N
.%
E)
(-
%+
#0
8.
1#
%#.
1"
1#
+%

#(
%7
(0
1N
%B
)(
E.
++
3(
1"
4%#
.1
"1
#+
%O
3#$
%$
3N
$.
)%3
12
(-
.:
% %

S
(V
.%
"O
"7
%E)
(-
%+
#0
8.
1#
%-
")
C.
#%-
"7
%).
D0
3)
.%
-
()
.%
31
V.
1#
3V
.%
-
")
C.
#31
Nc
%

"+
%#$
.)
.%
3+
% "
%4.
++
%2
"B
#3V
.%
"0
83
.1
2.
:%%

%

%

%

Page 91



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 47

LWI 04#$+,(I(`(C+:=$,'9(!44"+7%B(
A$3+%"BB)("2$%2(-631.+%"44%(E%#$.%31#.)V.1#3(1+%(0#431.8%31%TB#3(1+%@%"18%?:%=#%3+%
#$.%-(+#%).+(0)2.%31#.1+3V.%(E%#$.%(B#3(1+%E()%#$.%/(01234c%60#%3#%-"7%6.%#$.%-(+#%
.EE.2#3V.%"#%$.4B31N%!"#$%#(%2)."#.%6"4"12.8%"18%+0+#"31"64.%2(--013#3.+c%6(#$%31%
#$.%3--.83"#.%"18%4(1N.)%#.)-c%O$34+#%+..C31N%#(%-"1"N.%+(-.%(E%#$.%B.)2.3V.8%
.1V3)(1-.1#"4%8.N)"8"#3(1%431C.8%#(%#$.%.Y3+#31N%2(12.1#)"#3(1+%(E%RST%"2#3V3#7%
31%T48E3.48%U")Cc%W.+#-().4"18%"18%W382(-6.:%%

A$.%2(-631"#3(1%(E%6(#$%(B#3(1+%O(048%-."1%#$"1%"17%B(++364.%8.#.)3()"#3(1%(E%
$(0+31N%D0"43#7%"++(23"#.8%O3#$%#$.%).+#)32#3(1%(E%+0BB47%"+%"%).+04#%(E%#$.%P)#324.%9%
Q3).2#3(1%O(048%6.%8."4#%O3#$%67%#$.%"883#3(1"4%432.1+31N%+2$.-.%2(V.)31N%#$.%C.7%
")."+%O$.).%#$3+%O(048%6.%"1%3++0.:%T#$.)%6.1.E3#+%"18%)3+C+%).-"31%"18%
2(1+38.)"#3(1%1..8+%#(%6.%N3V.1%#(%#$.%20-04"#3V.%.EE.2#+%(E%$"V31N%#$.+.%
31#.)V.1#3(1+%31%B4"2.:%

Page 92



B
at

h 
&

 N
or

th
 E

as
t S

om
er

se
t C

ou
nc

il
A

rt
ic

le
 4

 D
ire

ct
io

n 
fo

r 
H

M
O

s 
in

 B
at

h 
F

ea
si

bi
lit

y 
S

tu
dy

 

21
81

16
-0

0
|D

ra
ft 

1 
|1

3 
S

ep
te

m
be

r 
20

11
 

\\G
LO

B
A

L\
E

U
R

O
P

E
\B

R
IS

T
O

L\
JO

B
S

\2
18

X
X

X
\2

18
11

6-
00

\4
.5

0_
R

E
P

O
R

T
S

\B
N

E
S

 A
4D

IR
E

C
T

IO
N

 F
IN

A
L 

R
E

P
O

R
T

 T
O

 IS
S

U
E

.D
O

C
X

P
ag

e 
48

Q
7=
&'
(H
MO
(0
4#
$+
,(
IO
(@
:
47
%#
1(
7,
9(
C
B7
&&'
,K
'1
(-+
"(
F#
7\
'B
+&
9'
"1
W(

%
6
+1
$#
$2
'(
@:
47
%#
1(

C
B7
&&'
,K
'1
(f(
?
$1
\1
(

N
5
R
D
F(

C
+3
,%
$& (

,.
.1
%#(
%6
.%
).
+B
(1
83
1N
%#(
%4(
2"
4%)
.+
38
.1
#+
e%2
(1
2.
)1
+%
).
N"
)8
31
N%
(V
.)
I

2(
12
.1
#)
"#
3(
1%
(E
%R
S
T
+%
31
%+
(-
.%
")
."
+%
(E
%#$
.%
23
#7
c%6
(#
$%
31
%#.
)-
+%
(E
%

.Y
3+
#31
N%
"1
8%
B(
#.
1#
3"
4%E
0#
0)
.%
B)
(6
4.
-
+:
%%

U(
++
36
4.
%).
80
2#
3(
1%
31
%).
+(
0)
2.
%)
.D
03
).
-
.1
#+
%E(
)%*
1V
3)
(1
-
.1
#"
4%

R
."
4#$
%31
%8
."
431
N%
O
3#$
%1
(3
+.
c%O
"+
#.
%2
(-
B4
"3
1#
+:
%%

%

A
$3
+%
3+
%#$
.%
-
(+
#%)
.+
(0
)2
.%
31
#.
1+
3V
.%
(B
#3(
1c
%O
3#$
%3-
B4
32
"#
3(
1+
%E(
)%

R
(0
+3
1N
%f%
*
1V
3)
(1
-
.1
#"
4%R
."
4#$
c%U
4"
11
31
N%
U(
432
7%
"1
8%
Q
.V
.4
(B
-
.1
#%

S
"1
"N
.-
.1
#:%
%

W
(0
48
%1
..
8%
#(
%6
.%
"2
2(
-
B"
13
.8
%6
7%
.1
$"
12
.8
%2
)(
++
I8
.B
")
#-
.1
#"
4%

O
()
C3
1N
%#(
%3-
B)
(V
.%
.E
E3
23
.1
27
%a.
:N
:%O
$.
1%
"%
B4
"1
13
1N
%"
BB
432
"#
3(
1%
3+
%

"B
B)
(V
.8
%E(
)%"
1%
R
S
T
c%#
$3
+%
31
E(
)-
"#
3(
1%
O
(0
48
%6
.%
B"
++
.8
%#(
%

432
.1
+3
1N
b:%
%'
.O
%31
#.
)1
"4
%"
8-
31
3+
#)
"#
3(
1%
B)
(2
.8
0)
.+
%-
"7
%6
.%
).
D0
3)
.8
%

#(
%E"
23
43#
"#
.%
2)
(+
+%
8.
B"
)#
-
.1
#"
4%O
()
C3
1N
:%%

F#
39
',
#1
(

P
44%
R
S
T
+%
O
(0
48
%2
(-
B4
7%
O
3#$
%$
3N
$.
)%D
0"
43#
7%
+#
"1
8"
)8
+c
%-
."
13
1N
%

6.
##.
)%+
0)
)(
01
83
1N
+%
E(
)%#
.1
"1
#+
:%%
%

W
38
.)
%)"
1N
.%
(E
%(
B#
3(
1+
%#(
%43
V.
%31
%B
0)
B(
+.
%6
03
4#%
+#
08
.1
#%

"2
2(
-
-
(8
"#
3(
1:
%%

S
()
.%
2$
(3
2.
%31
%"
).
"+
%#(
%43
V.
%43
C.
47
%#(
%6
.%
B)
(V
38
.8
%"
+%
"%
).
+0
4#%
(E
%P
9Q
:%

S
"7
%B
0+
$%
).
1#
"4
%B
)3
2.
+%
0B
%31
%+
(-
.%
")
."
+%
aB
")
#32
04
")
47
%T
48
E3
.4
8%
U"
)C
c%

W
.+
#-
()
.4
"1
8%
"1
8%
W
38
2(
-
6.
%"
).
"+
bc%
B(
#.
1#
3"
447
%4.
"8
31
N%
#(
%%%
%

31
.D
0"
43#
7%
"1
8%
+(
23
"4
%8
3V
38
.%
31
%O
$.
).
%+
#0
8.
1#
+%
43V
.:
%%

S
"7
%-
."
1%
+#
08
.1
#+
%31
%1
.O
%"
).
"+
%E.
.4
%+
#)
"1
8.
8%
()
%3+
(4
"#
.8
%3E
%#$
.)
.%
3+
%"
%

4"
2C
%(
E%B
06
432
%#)
"1
+B
()
#: %

0
#B
'"
(.
/
0
(

"'
1$
9'
,#
1 (

P
44%
R
S
T
+%
O
(0
48
%2
(-
B4
7%
O
3#$
%$
3N
$.
)%D
0"
43#
7%
+#
"1
8"
)8
+c
%-
."
13
1N
%

6.
##.
)%+
0)
)(
01
83
1N
+%
E(
)%#
.1
"1
#+
:%%
%

=E
%+
#0
8.
1#
+%
-
(V
.%
(0
#%(
E%R
S
T
+%
31
#(
%B
0)
B(
+.
%6
03
4#%
"2
2(
-
-
(8
"#
3(
1%

#$
.1
%#$
.)
.%
3+
%-
()
.%
2$
(3
2.
%E(
)%(
#$
.)
%#.
1"
1#
+%
a"
18
%B
(+
+3
64
.%
).
80
2#
3(
1%
31
%

B)
32
.%
3E
%+
0B
B4
7%
(0
#+
#)
3B
+%
8.
-
"1
8b
:%

S
()
.%
2$
(3
2.
%31
%"
).
"+
%#(
%43
V.
%43
C.
47
%#(
%6
.%
B)
(V
38
.8
%"
+%
"%
).
+0
4#%
(E
%P
9Q
:%

S
"7
%B
0+
$%
).
1#
"4
%B
)3
2.
+%
0B
%31
%+
(-
.%
")
."
+%
aB
")
#32
04
")
47
%T
48
E3
.4
8%
U"
)C
c%

W
.+
#-
()
.4
"1
8%
W
38
2(
-
6.
%"
).
"b
c%B
(#
.1
#3"
447
%4.
"8
31
N%
#(
%31
.D
0"
43#
7%
"1
8%

+(
23
"4
%8
3V
38
.%
31
%O
$.
).
%B
.(
B4
.%
31
%#$
.%
B)
3V
"#
.%
).
1#
.8
%+
.2
#(
)%2
"1
%"
EE
()
8%

#(
%43
V.
:% %

%

X
,$
2'
"1
$#
$'
1(

=1
2)
."
+.
+%
31
%B
0)
B(
+.
I6
03
4#%
"2
2(
-
-
(8
"#
3(
1%
43C
.4
7%
#(
%6
.%
"#
#)
"2
#3V
.%
#(
%

-
"1
7%
1.
O
%+
#0
8.
1#
+c
%"
18
%-
"7
%6
.2
(-
.%
31
2)
."
+3
1N
47
%3-
B(
)#
"1
#%3
1%
"1
%

31
2)
."
+3
1N
47
%2
(-
B.
#3#
3V
.%
-
")
C.
#:%

R
3N
$.
)%4
.V
.4
+%
(E
%2
(1
E3
8.
12
.%
31
%).
2(
-
-
.1
83
1N
%B
)(
B.
)#
3.
+%
31
%#$
.%

B)
3V
"#
.%
).
1#
.8
%+
.2
#(
)%3
E%#
$.
7%
).
"2
$%
+#
"1
8"
)8
+%
E(
)%4
32
.1
+3
1N
:%%

/
(+
#+
%"
++
(2
3"
#.
8%
O
3#$
%B
0)
B(
+.
%6
03
4#%
"2
2(
-
-
(8
"#
3(
1%
a"
4#$
(0
N$
%#$
.)
.%

-
"7
%6
.%
(B
B(
)#
01
3#3
.+
%E(
)%
#$
.%
B)
3V
"#
.%
+.
2#
()
%#(
%-
..
#%#
$.
+.
%2
(+
#+
b:%
%

A
$.
).
%-
"7
%6
.%
8.
4"
7+
%#(
%"
2"
8.
-
32
%"
18
%#.
"2
$3
1N
%+
B"
2.
%N
)(
O
#$
%3E
%

"2
2(
-
-
(8
"#
3(
1%
3+
%).
D0
3)
.8
%31
%#"
18
.-
:%%

,#
08
.1
#+
%43
V3
1N
%(
V.
)%"
%O
38
.)
%"
).
"%
-
"7
%-
."
1%
#$
"#
%+
(-
.%
")
."
+c
%"
#%4
."
+#
%

31
3#3
"4
47
c%"
).
%1
(#
%O
.4
4%+
.)
V.
8%
67
%B
06
432
%#)
"1
+B
()
#:%
A
$3
+%
-
"7
%4.
"8
%#(
%"
1%

31
2)
."
+.
%31
%#$
(+
.%
O
"1
#31
N%
#(
%#"
C.
%2
")
+%
#(
%L
13
V.
)+
3#7
%2
"-
B0
+.
+:
% %

A
$.
).
%-
"7
%6
.%
"1
%31
2)
."
+.
%31
%+
#0
8.
1#
+%
+.
.C
31
N%
O
.4
E"
).
%"
8V
32
.%
3E
%

Page 93



B
at

h 
&

 N
or

th
 E

as
t S

om
er

se
t C

ou
nc

il
A

rt
ic

le
 4

 D
ire

ct
io

n 
fo

r 
H

M
O

s 
in

 B
at

h 
F

ea
si

bi
lit

y 
S

tu
dy

 

21
81

16
-0

0
|D

ra
ft 

1 
|1

3 
S

ep
te

m
be

r 
20

11
 

\\G
LO

B
A

L\
E

U
R

O
P

E
\B

R
IS

T
O

L\
JO

B
S

\2
18

X
X

X
\2

18
11

6-
00

\4
.5

0_
R

E
P

O
R

T
S

\B
N

E
S

 A
4D

IR
E

C
T

IO
N

 F
IN

A
L 

R
E

P
O

R
T

 T
O

 IS
S

U
E

.D
O

C
X

P
ag

e 
49

+#
08
.1
#+
%$
"V
.%
B)
(6
4.
-
+%
O
3#$
%-
(1
.7
%f%
+(
23
"4
%8
3V
38
.:
%

8
+%
7&
("
'1
$9
',
#1
(
%/
(-
B)
.$
.1
+3
V.
%+
(4
0#
3(
1%
O
$3
2$
%+
..
C+
%#(
%8
."
4+
%O
3#$
%2
0)
).
1#
%).
+3
8.
1#
+%

2(
12
.)
1+
%O
$3
4+
#%"
4+
(%
B0
##3
1N
%31
%B
4"
2.
% 43
-
3#+
%(
1%
E0
#0
).
%N
)(
O
#$
%31
%R
S
T
%

2(
12
.1
#)
"#
3(
1+
%"
6(
V.
%+
0+
#"
31
"6
4.
%4.
V.
4+
:%

,$
(0
48
%4.
"8
%#(
%-
()
.%
6"
4"
12
.8
%2
(-
-
01
3#3
.+
c%-
."
13
1N
%"
%O
38
.)
%-
3Y
%(
E%

).
+3
8.
1#
+%
31
%-
"1
7%
")
."
+:
% %

=E
%#$
.%
+3
m.
%(
E%#
$.
%-
")
C.
#%E
()
%R
S
T
+%
8.
2)
."
+.
+%
O
3#$
%"
1%
31
2)
."
+.
%31
%

B0
)B
(+
.I
60
34#
%+
#0
8.
1#
%"
22
(-
-
(8
"#
3(
1c
%#$
.1
%#$
.)
.%
-
"7
%6
.%
+(
-
.%
).
#0
)1
%

#(
%E"
-
347
%$
(0
+3
1N
:%A
$3
+%
-
"7
%"
4+
(%
4.
"8
%#(
%"
%).
80
2#
3(
1%
31
%$
(0
+.
%B
)3
2.
+d
%

-
"C
31
N%
3#%
-
()
.%
"E
E(
)8
"6
4.
%E(
)%E
3)
+#
I#
3-
.%
60
7.
)+
:%%

S
"7
%4.
"8
%#(
%8
.I
+#
08
.1
#3E
32
"#
3(
1%
(E
%"
).
"+
%(
E%.
Y3
+#
31
N%
2(
12
.1
#)
"#
3(
1%
60
#%

1(
#%1
.2
.+
+"
)3
47
%"
%).
#0
)1
%#(
%E"
-
347
%$
(0
+3
1N
%"
+%
4(
2"
4%)
.+
38
.1
#+
%-
3N
$#
%

$(
B.
:%\
(2
"4
%(
O
1.
)I
(2
20
B3
.)
%).
+3
8.
1#
+%
-
"7
%+
..
%"
%8
)(
B%
31
%V
"4
0.
%(
E%#
$.
3)
%

$(
-
.+
:%W
$.
).
%.
Y3
+#
31
N %
R
S
T
%8
.1
+3
#3.
+%
")
.%
).
"4
47
%$
3N
$c
%3#
%-
"7
%"
4+
(%

6.
2(
-
.%
83
EE
32
04
#%#
(%
+.
44%
#$
.%
).
-
"3
13
1N
%E"
-
347
%$
(-
.+
:%

A
$3
+%
-
"7
%4.
"8
%#(
%"
%O
38
.)
%+
B)
."
8%
"2
)(
++
%#$
.%
23
#7
%(
E%#
$.
%.
1V
3)
(1
-
.1
#"
4%

B)
(6
4.
-
+%
"+
+(
23
"#
.8
%O
3#$
%"
%$
3N
$%
8.
1+
3#7
%(
E%R
S
T
+:
%

8
+%
7&
(

':
4&
+G
'"
1(

P
%2
(-
63
1"
#3(
1%
(E
%$
3N
$.
)%D
0"
43#
7%
R
S
T
+%
"1
8%
-
()
.%
2"
B"
23
#7
%a
"+
%

+#
08
.1
#+
%"
).
%31
2)
."
+3
1N
47
%2
"#
.)
.8
%E(
)%3
1%
B0
)B
(+
.I
60
34#
%

"2
2(
-
-
(8
"#
3(
1b
:%%

P
%8
3+
B.
)+
"4
%(
E%R
S
T
+%
"2
)(
++
%#$
.%
23
#7
%-
"7
%4.
"8
%#(
%-
()
.%
"E
E(
)8
"6
4.
%

B)
3V
"#
.%
).
1#
.8
%+
.2
#(
)%"
22
(-
-
(8
"#
3(
1%
31
%+
(-
.%
")
."
+:
%A
$3
+%

2(
-
63
1"
#3(
1%
-
"7
%-
"C
.%
3#%
."
+3
.)
%#(
%"
##)
"2
#%1
.O
%.
-
B4
(7
..
+%
#(
%#$
.%
")
."
:%%

=E
%#$
.%
P
)#
32
4.
%9
%Q
3)
.2
#3(
1%
4.
"8
+%
#(
%"
%B
.)
2.
B#
3(
1%
#$
"#
%R
S
T
%31
V.
+#
()
+%

")
.%
1(
#%O
.4
2(
-
.%
31
%!
"#
$c
%#$
.1
%#$
3+
%-
"7
%4.
"8
%#(
%"
%+
$(
)#
"N
.%
31
%

"E
E(
)8
"6
4.
%B
)3
V"
#.
%).
1#
.8
%B
)(
B.
)#
7:
%A
$3
+%
-
"7
%-
"C
.%
3#%
$"
)8
.)
%E(
)%

.-
B4
(7
.)
+%
#(
%"
##)
"2
#.
8%
4(
O
.)
%B
"3
8%
.-
B4
(7
..
+c
%B
")
#32
04
")
47
%#$
(+
.%
"#
%#$
.%

+#
")
#%(
E%#
$.
3)
%2
")
..
)+
c%3
12
40
83
1N
%1
.O
%N
)"
80
"#
.+
: %

8
+%
7&
(#"
79
'f
(

=3
1$
,'
11
(

X
.4
(2
"#
3(
1%
(E
%+
#0
8.
1#
+%
#(
%B
0)
B(
+.
I6
03
4#%
"2
2(
-
-
(8
"#
3(
1%
-
"7
%).
+0
4#%
31
%

"1
%31
2)
."
+.
8%
2(
12
.1
#)
"#
3(
1%
31
%8
.-
"1
8%
E(
)%
#)
"8
.c
%O
$3
2$
%2
(0
48
%6
.1
.E
3#%

4(
2"
4%6
0+
31
.+
+.
+%
31
%+
(-
.%
")
."
+:
%

U(
#.
1#
3"
4%E
()
%31
2)
."
+.
%31
%).
V.
10
.%
3E
%#$
.)
.%
3+
%"
%2
$"
1N
.%
E)
(-
%+
#0
8.
1#
%

#.
1"
1#
+%
#(
%7
(0
1N
%B
)(
E.
++
3(
1"
4%#
.1
"1
#+
c%O
$(
%$
"V
.%
-
()
.%
83
+B
(+
"4
%

31
2(
-
.:
%,
$(
04
8%
4.
"8
%#(
%-
()
.%
6"
4"
12
.8
%2
(-
-
01
3#3
.+
c%"
18
%-
"7
%).
+0
4#%

31
%4.
++
%+
."
+(
1"
4%#
)"
8.
%31
%+
(-
.%
")
."
+:
%

U(
++
36
4.
%(
BB
()
#0
13
#3.
+%
E(
)%4
(2
"4
%6
03
48
31
NI
).
4"
#.
8%
#)
"8
.+
%31
%#$
.%
60
348
31
N%

(E
%1
.O
%+
#0
8.
1#
%"
22
(-
-
(8
"#
3(
1%
"1
8%
31
%#$
.%
2(
1V
.)
+3
(1
%(
E%.
Y3
+#
31
N%

+#
08
.1
#%R
S
T
+%
a#
(%
E"
-
347
%$
(-
.+
%(
)%E
()
%(
#$
.)
%#.
1"
1#
+%
O
3#$
%8
3E
E.
)3
1N
%

).
D0
3)
.-
.1
#+
b:
%

S
"7
%).
+0
4#%
31
%4(
++
%(
E%#
)"
8.
%31
%+
(-
.%
")
."
+c
%O
$.
).
%R
S
T
+%
")
.%
4.
E#
%

01
(2
20
B3
.8
c%(
)%2
0)
).
1#
%#.
1"
1#
+%
")
.%
).
B4
"2
.8
%6
7%
B.
(B
4.
%O
3#$
%"
%4(
O
.)
%

83
+B
(+
"6
4.
%31
2(
-
.%
a.
:N
:%-
3N
)"
1#
+%
43V
31
N%
31
%R
S
T
+%
()
%7
(0
1N
%E
"-
343
.+
b:%
%

%

D
E$
1#
$,
K(
.
/
0
(

&7
,9
&+
"9
1 (

\
.+
+%
2(
1E
0+
3(
1%
"6
(0
#%8
3E
E.
).
1#
%8
.E
31
3#3
(1
+%
E(
)%R
S
T
+:
%%

A
$(
+.
%O
3#$
%B
)(
B.
)#
3.
+%
31
%B
(B
04
")
%"
).
"+
%"
).
%43
C.
47
%#(
%.
YB
.)
3.
12
.%
"1
%

31
2)
."
+.
%31
%).
V.
10
.%
"+
%#$
.7
%6
.2
(-
.%
-
()
.%
.Y
24
0+
3V
.%
"1
8%
2"
1%
2$
")
N.
%

=1
2)
."
+.
8%
2(
+#
+%
f%)
.8
I#
"B
.%
"+
+(
23
"#
.8
%O
3#$
%43
2.
12
.%
"B
B4
32
"#
3(
1+
:%%

U(
++
36
4.
%1
..
8%
#(
%2
$"
1N
.%
60
+3
1.
++
%B
4"
1%
3E
%).
D0
3)
.-
.1
#+
%E(
)%+
#0
8.
1#
%

R
S
T
%"
22
(-
-
(8
"#
3(
1%
).
80
2.
+:
%U
(#
.1
#3"
4%E
()
%8
.2
).
"+
.%
31
%).
V.
10
.%
3E
%

Page 94



B
at

h 
&

 N
or

th
 E

as
t S

om
er

se
t C

ou
nc

il
A

rt
ic

le
 4

 D
ire

ct
io

n 
fo

r 
H

M
O

s 
in

 B
at

h 
F

ea
si

bi
lit

y 
S

tu
dy

 

21
81

16
-0

0
|D

ra
ft 

1 
|1

3 
S

ep
te

m
be

r 
20

11
 

\\G
LO

B
A

L\
E

U
R

O
P

E
\B

R
IS

T
O

L\
JO

B
S

\2
18

X
X

X
\2

18
11

6-
00

\4
.5

0_
R

E
P

O
R

T
S

\B
N

E
S

 A
4D

IR
E

C
T

IO
N

 F
IN

A
L 

R
E

P
O

R
T

 T
O

 IS
S

U
E

.D
O

C
X

P
ag

e 
50

-
()
.:
%U
(#
.1
#3"
4%E
()
%31
2)
."
+.
%31
%).
V.
10
.%
3E
%#$
.)
.%
3+
%"
%2
$"
1N
.%
E)
(-
%

+#
08
.1
#%#
.1
"1
#+
%#(
%7
(0
1N
%B
)(
E.
++
3(
1"
4%#
.1
"1
#+
%O
3#$
%$
3N
$.
)%3
12
(-
.:
%%

#$
.)
.%
3+
%"
%2
$"
1N
.%
E)
(-
%+
#0
8.
1#
%#.
1"
1#
+%
#(
%P
G%
-
3N
)"
1#
%#.
1"
1#
+:
%

.
/
0
(

9'
2'
&+
4'
"1
(

\
.+
+%
2(
1E
0+
3(
1%
"6
(0
#%8
3E
E.
).
1#
%8
.E
31
3#3
(1
+%
E(
)%R
S
T
+:
%/
4.
")
%B
4"
11
31
N%

B(
432
7%
N0
38
"1
2.
%O
344
%$
.4
B%
#(
%"
++
.+
+%
#$
.%
B(
#.
1#
3"
4%+
02
2.
++
%(
E%B
4"
11
31
N%

"B
B4
32
"#
3(
1+
:%

U(
#.
1#
3"
4%E
()
%6
.#
#.
)%6
0+
31
.+
+%
-
(8
.4
c%O
3#$
%O
38
.)
%)"
1N
.%
(E
%B
(+
+3
64
.%

#.
1"
1#
+%
a3
12
40
83
1N
%7
(0
1N
%B
)(
E.
++
3(
1"
4+
%O
$(
%-
"7
%6
.%
O
344
31
Nf
"6
4.
%#(
%

B"
7%
-
()
.b
%31
%8
3E
E.
).
1#
%B
")
#+
%(
E%#
$.
%2
3#7
:%%

=1
2)
."
+.
8%
2(
+#
+%
f%)
.8
I#
"B
.%
"+
+(
23
"#
.8
%O
3#$
%6
(#
$%
432
.1
2.
%"
18
%B
4"
11
31
N%

"B
B4
32
"#
3(
1+
:%

U(
#.
1#
3"
4%E
()
%8
.2
).
"+
.%
31
%).
V.
10
.%
3E
%-
(+
#%8
.-
"1
8%
3+
%P
G%
-
3N
)"
1#
%

#.
1"
1#
+:
%

D
1#
7#
'(
7K
',
#1
(

\
.+
+%
2(
1E
0+
3(
1%
"6
(0
#%8
3E
E.
).
1#
%8
.E
31
3#3
(1
+%
E(
)%R
S
T
+%
`%
4.
++
%#3
-
.%

2(
1+
0-
31
N%
#(
%N
3V
.%
"8
V3
2.
%#(
%B
(#
.1
#3"
4%4
"1
84
()
8+
:%

U(
#.
1#
3"
4%E
()
%31
2)
."
+.
%31
%).
V.
10
.%
3E
%#$
.)
.%
3+
%"
%2
$"
1N
.%
E)
(-
%+
#0
8.
1#
%

#.
1"
1#
+%
#(
%7
(0
1N
%B
)(
E.
++
3(
1"
4%#
.1
"1
#+
%O
3#$
%$
3N
$.
)%3
12
(-
.:
%

,$
(0
48
%4.
"8
%#(
%"
%-
()
.%
83
V.
)+
.%
-
")
C.
#%"
2)
(+
+%
#$
.%
23
#7
:%A
$3
+%
O
(0
48
%

B)
(V
38
.%
"%
-
()
.%
+0
+#
"3
1"
64
.c
%4(
1N
I#
.)
-
%-
")
C.
#:%

S
(V
.%
"O
"7
%E)
(-
%+
#0
8.
1#
%-
")
C.
#%-
"7
%).
D0
3)
.%
-
()
.%
31
V.
1#
3V
.%

-
")
C.
#31
Nc
%"
+%
#$
.)
.%
3+
%"
%4.
++
%2
"B
#3V
.%
"0
83
.1
2.
:%

S
"1
7%
31
V.
+#
()
%2
43.
1#
+%
O
344
%6
.%
B0
#%(
EE
%6
7%
#$
.%
).
8%
#"
B.
%"
18
%3#
%3+
%43
C.
47
%#(
%

6.
%-
()
.%
83
EE
32
04
#%#
(%
+.
44%
B)
(B
.)
#3.
+%
31
%.
Y3
+#
31
N%
")
."
+%
(E
%$
3N
$%
R
S
T
%

8.
1+
3#7
c%"
#%4
."
+#
%31
3#3
"4
47
:%

%

Page 95



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath 
Feasibility Study 

218116-00 | Draft 1 | 13 September 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX Page 51

LW) 04#$+,()(`(*+(R+#B$,K(!44"+7%B(
L18.)%#$3+%+2.1")3(c%#$.).%3+%1(%"2#3(1%"6(V.%#$.%+#"#0+%D0(:%*Y3+#31N%313#3"#3V.+%
"18%B4"1+%O344%2(1#310.:%A$.%,#08.1#%/(--013#7%U")#1.)+$3B%3+%43C.47%#(%N)(O%3#+%
"2#3V3#7%"18%+0BB()#%4(2"4%2(--013#7I+#08.1#%313#3"#3V.+:%!(#$%013V.)+3#3.+%").%
43C.47%#(%N)(O%#$.3)%+0BB47%(E%B0)B(+.I6034#%+#08.1#%"22(--(8"#3(1%3E%#$.).%3+%
+0EE323.1#%8.-"18%"18%"%2(-B.4431N%60+31.++%2"+.:%%

!&'*,e+%20)).1#%P22).83#"#3(1%,2$.-.%O344%1..8%).V3.O31N%).N")84.++%(E%(#$.)%
(B#3(1+%#"C.1%E()O")8c%"+%3#%3+%20)).1#47%018.)I).+(0)2.8:%%

%

Page 96



B
at

h 
&

 N
or

th
 E

as
t S

om
er

se
t C

ou
nc

il
A

rt
ic

le
 4

 D
ire

ct
io

n 
fo

r 
H

M
O

s 
in

 B
at

h 
F

ea
si

bi
lit

y 
S

tu
dy

 

21
81

16
-0

0
|D

ra
ft 

1 
|1

3 
S

ep
te

m
be

r 
20

11
 

\\G
LO

B
A

L\
E

U
R

O
P

E
\B

R
IS

T
O

L\
JO

B
S

\2
18

X
X

X
\2

18
11

6-
00

\4
.5

0_
R

E
P

O
R

T
S

\B
N

E
S

 A
4D

IR
E

C
T

IO
N

 F
IN

A
L 

R
E

P
O

R
T

 T
O

 IS
S

U
E

.D
O

C
X

P
ag

e 
52

Q
7=
&'
(H
HO
(0
4#
$+
,(
)O
(@
:
47
%#
1(
7,
9(
C
B7
&&'
,K
'1
(-+
"(
F#
7\
'B
+&
9'
"1
(

%
6
+1
$#
$2
'(
@:
47
%#
1(

C
B7
&&'
,K
'1
(

N
5
R
D
F(

C
+3
,%
$& (

\
3-
3#.
8%
31
2)
."
+.
%31
%).
+(
0)
2.
+%

,.
.1
%1
(#
%#(
%6
.%
).
+B
(1
83
1N
%#(
%3+
+0
.+
%)"
3+
.8
%6
7%
#$
.%
4(
2"
4%2
(-
-
01
3#7
%

,(
-
.%
31
2)
."
+.
%31
%.
1V
3)
(1
-
.1
#"
4%$
."
4#$
%).
+(
0)
2.
%).
D0
3)
.8
%"
+%
.Y
3+
#31
N%

).
"4
%"
18
%B
.)
2.
3V
.8
%B
)(
64
.-
+%
O
()
+.
1:
%%

F#
39
',
#1
(

/
(1
#31
0.
%#(
%$
"V
.%
#$
.%
E)
..
8(
-
%#(
%43
V.
%O
$.
).
%#$
.7
%43
C.
%a+
(%
4(
1N
%"
+%
#$
.%

-
")
C.
#%2
"1
%-
..
#%#
$ .
%8
.-
"1
8b
:%

U(
#.
1#
3"
4%O
()
+.
13
1N
%(
E%D
0"
43#
7%
(E
%R
S
T
%"
22
(-
-
(8
"#
3(
1:
%%

S
"7
%E.
.4
%4.
++
%"
18
%4.
++
%O
.4
2(
-
.%
"+
%1
.3
N$
6(
0)
$(
(8
+%
")
.%
4.
++
%#(
4.
)"
1#
%

"1
8%
B4
"2
.%
#$
.%
64
"-
.%
E(
)%B
)(
64
.-
+%
(1
%+
#0
8.
1#
+:
%%

0
#B
'"
(.
/
0
(

"'
1$
9'
,#
1 (

/
(1
#31
0.
%#(
%$
"V
.%
#$
.%
E)
..
8(
-
%#(
%43
V.
%O
$.
).
%#$
.7
%43
C.
%a+
(%
4(
1N
%"
+%
#$
.%

-
")
C.
#%2
"1
%-
..
#%#
$.
%8
.-
"1
8b
: %

U(
#.
1#
3"
4%O
()
+.
13
1N
%(
E%D
0"
43#
7%
(E
%R
S
T
%"
22
(-
-
(8
"#
3(
1:
%

X
,$
2'
"1
$#
$'
1(

%
S
"7
%1
..
8%
31
2)
."
+.
8%
).
+(
0)
2.
+%
"+
%1
.3
N$
6(
0)
$(
(8
+%
")
.%
4.
++
%#(
4.
)"
1#
c%

B4
"2
.%
#$
.%
64
"-
.%
E(
)%B
)(
64
.-
+%
(1
%+
#0
8.
1#
+%
"1
8%
2(
-
B4
"3
1%
#(
%#$
.%

L
13
V.
)+
3#3
.+
:%

8
+%
7&
("
'1
$9
',
#1
(
%

S
"7
%6
.%
31
2)
."
+3
1N
47
%.
YB
(+
.8
%#(
%4(
O
%4.
V.
4%"
1#
3I
+(
23
"4
%6
.$
"V
3(
0)
%

"+
+(
23
"#
.8
%O
3#$
%$
3N
$%
8.
1+
3#7
%(
E%R
S
T
+:
%%

R
(0
+.
%B
)3
2.
+%
-
"7
%2
(1
#31
0.
%#(
%)3
+.
%3E
%4.
E#
%0
12
$.
2C
.8
c%-
"C
31
N%
$(
-
.%

(O
1.
)+
$3
B%
01
"E
E(
)8
"6
4.
%E(
)%"
%N
)(
O
31
N%
10
-
6.
)%(
E%4
(2
"4
%B
.(
B4
.:
% %

8
+%
7&
(

':
4 &
+G
'"
1(

%
W
344
%2
(1
#31
0.
%#(
%+
#)
0N
N4
.%
#(
%"
##)
"2
#%1
.O
%N
)"
80
"#
.+
%"
18
%7
(0
1N
%

B)
(E
.+
+3
(1
"4
+%
#(
%#$
.%
")
."
%"
+%
$(
0+
31
N%
3+
%.
YB
.1
+3
V.
:% %

8
+%
7&
(#"
79
'f
(

=3
1$
,'
11
(

W
344
%2
(1
#31
0.
%#(
%+
0B
B4
7%
.Y
3+
#31
N%
-
")
C.
#+
:%%

W
344
%2
(1
#31
0.
%#(
%(
B.
)"
#.
%+
."
+(
1"
4%6
0+
31
.+
+I
-
(8
.4
+c
%4.
"8
31
N%
#(
%0
18
.)
I

.-
B4
(7
-
.1
#%(
E%+
(-
.%
B.
(B
4.
:%%

D
E$
1#
$,
K(
.
/
0
(

&7
,9
&+
"9
1 (

W
344
%2
(1
#31
0.
%#(
%-
"C
.%
"%
B)
(E
3#%
E)
(-
%.
Y3
+#
31
N%
-
")
C.
#:%
'
(%
1.
.8
%#(
%8
(%

"1
7#
$3
1N
%8
3E
E.
).
1#
47
:% %

%

.
/
0
(

9'
2'
&+
4'
"1
(

/
"1
%2
(1
#31
0.
%#(
%-
"C
.%
"%
B)
(E
3#%
E)
(-
%.
Y3
+#
31
N%
-
")
C.
#c%
O
$.
).
%#$
.)
.%
3+
%

8.
-
"1
8:
%'
(%
1.
.8
%#(
%8
(%
"1
7#
$3
1N
% 8
3E
E.
).
1#
47
:%

%

D
1#
7#
'(
7K
',
#1
(

W
344
%2
(1
#31
0.
%#(
%-
"C
.%
"%
B)
(E
3#%
E)
(-
%.
Y3
+#
31
N%
-
")
C.
#:%
'
(%
1.
.8
%#(
%8
(%

"1
7#
$3
1N
%8
3E
E.
).
1#
47
:%

%

Page 97



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs 
Feasibility Study 

4.50 | Issue | 21 December 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX

Page 53

LWP /7,7K':',#(@,$#$7#$2'1(
A$.%B(++364.%-"1"N.-.1#%313#3"#3V.+%+.#%(0#%31%,.2#3(1%J:J%").%2(1+38.).8%#(%6.%
B(++364.%"883#3(1+%#(%"17%(E%#$.%E(0)%2().%(B#3(1+%"6(V.c%"18%"+%+02$%").%1(#%
2(-631.8%31#(%#$.%+2.1")3(+%+.#%(0#:%%

*"2$%-"1"N.-.1#%313#3"#3V.%-"7%1..8%#(%6.%4."8%67%"%83EE.).1#%B")#1.):%A$.%
B)(B(+.8%4."8%B")#1.)%E()%E0)#$.)%31#.)V.1#3(1+%3+%+.#%(0#%6.4(O_%

.$KB'"(D93%7#$+,(@,1#$#3#$+,1((

· ,#08.1#%/$")#.)%"18%+#08.1#%83+23B431.%a)04.+%"18%).N04"#3(1+b%`%."2$%(E%#$.%
R*=+%31%!"#$%2(048%2(1+38.)%O$.#$.)%"%,#08.1#%/$")#.)%-3N$#%6.%6.1.E323"4%
31%-"1"N31N%#$.%.YB.2#"#3(1+%(E%"18%(1%+#08.1#+:%%

N7#B(5(R+"#B(D71#(F+:'"1'#(C+3,%$&(

· \"184()8%"22).83#"#3(1%+2$.-.%`%"+%83+20++.8c%#$3+%3+%20)).1#47%018.)I
).+(0)2.8:%P17%0B8"#.%#(%#$.%"22).83#"#3(1%+2$.-.%+$(048%6.%2(1+38.).8%
"4(1N+38.%(B#3(1+%#(%31#)(802.8%"883#3(1"4%432.1+31N:%%

· X.+38.1#+e%B")C31N%`%B")C31N%$"+%1(#%.-.)N.8%"+%"%-"j()%3++0.%31%#$3+%
+#087c%60#%#$.%/(01234%-"7%O"1#%#(%2(1+38.)%O$"#%#$.%3-B"2#+%(E%.Y#.1831N%
#$.%).+38.1#+e%B")C31N%m(1.%E0)#$.)%31#(%#$.%T48E3.48%U")C%")."%-3N$#%6.:%

F#39',#(C+::3,$#G(67"#,'"1B$4((

· /(--013#7%O")8.1+%`%*Y.#.)e+%/(--013#7%W")8.1%+2$.-.%2(048%6.%
E0)#$.)%.YB4().8%#(%+..%O$.#$.)%#$.).%-3N$#%6.%6.1.E3#+%#(%31#)(80231N%#$3+%
31%!"#$:%

· W"+#.%-"1"N.-.1#%`%/")83EEe+%O"+#.%-"1"N.-.1#%"2#3V3#3.+%O(048%+..-%
#(%).B).+.1#%6.+#%B)"2#32.c%"18%#$.%,#08.1#%/(--013#7%U")#1.)+$3B%-"7%
O3+$%#(%2(1+38.)%O$.#$.)%#$.7%2(048%).B432"#.%+(-.%-().%(E%#$.3)%
"BB)("2$%#(%2(-B4.-.1#%#$.%.Y3+#31N%.18%(E%#.)-%2"-B"3N1%31%!"#$:%

· ,#08.1#%V(401#..)31N%`%W$34+#%#$.).%").%+(-.%.Y2.44.1#%+#08.1#%
V(401#..)31N%B)(N)"--.+%31%B4"2.c%#$.+.%"2#3V3#3.+%").%1(#%(E#.1%V3+364.%#(%
4(1N.)I#.)-%).+38.1#+%43V31N%31%+#08.1#%")."+:%A$.%U")#1.)+$3B%-"7%O3+$%#(%
2(1+38.)%O$.#$.)%-().%2(048%6.%8(1.%#(%.12(0)"N.%+#08.1#%V(401#..)31N%
#$.%")."+%O$.).%+#08.1#+%43V.:%

( (

Page 98



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs 
Feasibility Study 

4.50 | Issue | 21 December 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX

Page 54

T C+,%&31$+,1(

A$.%3++0.+%).4"#31N%#(%RST+c%+#08.1#3E32"#3(1%"18%2(--013#7%6"4"12.%").%
2(-B4.Y%"18%#$.).%"%10-.)(0+%C.7%+#"C.$(48.)+%O3#$%O38.47%83EE.)31N%V3.O+:%%

A$.).%3+%1(%2(1240+3V.%.V38.12.%#(%431C%"1#3I+(23"4%6.$"V3(0)%O3#$%")."+%O$.).%
#$.).%").%$3N$%2(12.1#)"#3(1+%(E%RST+:%%P1.28(#"4%.V38.12.%E)(-%).+38.1#%8(.+%
$(O.V.)%+0NN.+#%#$"#%31238.12.+%-"7%"2#0"447%6.%-().%4(2"43+.8%#$"1%#$.%(EE323"4%
8"#"%31832"#.+:%

'(%(B#3(1%E()%31#.)V.1#3(1%3+%B.)E.2#c%1(1.%2"1%6.%N0")"1#..8%#(%8."4%O3#$%"44%)."4%
"18%B.)2.3V.8%3++0.+%"#%#$.%-(-.1#c%"18%+(-.%(B#3(1+%-"7%2)."#.%(#$.)%
2$"44.1N.+:%%

A$.).%").%"%4(#%(E%012.)#"31#3.+%).4"#31N%#$.%E0#0).%4.V.4%(E%RST+%).D03).8%E()%"%
$."4#$7%O()C31N%$(0+31N%-")C.#%31%!"#$d%012.)#"31#3.+%).4"#31N%#(%#$.%#3-31N%"18%
+2"4.%(E%B0)B(+.%6034#%+#08.1#%"22(--(8"#3(1%B)(V3+3(1c%+#08.1#%10-6.)+%"18%
()3N31+%"18%#$.%O38.)%.2(1(-7:%A$.+.%012.)#"31#3.+%1..8%#(%6.%2(1+38.).8%"+%B")#%
(E%#$.%/(01234e+%8.23+3(1%-"C31N%31%).4"#3(1%#(%#$3+%3++0.:%%

P1%*D0"43#7%=-B"2#%P++.++-.1#%$"+%6..1%2"))3.8%(0#%#(%"++.++%#$.%B(#.1#3"4%3-B"2#%
(E%."2$%(E%#$.%E(0)%(B#3(1+%(1%.D0"43#7%N)(0B+%31%-().%8.#"34:%

=1%+0--")7c%"1%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%-"7%6.%"1%"BB)(B)3"#.%+(40#3(1%E()%!"#$:%=#%3+%
).2(--.18.8%#$"#%#$3+%6.%3-B4.-.1#.8%"E#.)%"%@?%-(1#$%1(#32.%B.)3(8%"18%#$"#%3#%
+$(048%6.%+0BB()#.8%67%1.O%8.#"34.8%8.V.4(B-.1#%-"1"N.-.1#%h#$).+$(48e%B(4327%
aV3"%"%QUQ%()%"1%,UQb%#(%6.%"64.%#(%6.%0+.8%#(%j0+#3E7%).E0+"4%(E%"%B4"1131N%
"BB432"#3(1:%%=1%"883#3(1c%(#$.)%31#.)V.1#3(1+%2(048%"4+(%$"V.%"%B(+3#3V.%.EE.2#%(1%
#$.%/(01234e+%"6343#7%#(%).N04"#.%RST+%31%#$.%23#7%"18%2(048%6.%3-B4.-.1#.8%O3#$%
-().%3--.83"#.%.EE.2#:%%

/(+#+%O344%6.%3120)).8%#(%#$.%/(01234%E()%"44%31#.)V.1#3(1+c%"18%E0)#$.)%O()C%3+%
018.)O"7%#(%.+#"643+$%#$.+.%2(+#+:%5()%2(+#+%3120)).8%#(%B4"1131N%#$.).%3+%-().%
43-3#.8%B(#.1#3"4%#(%).I2$")N.%#$.+.%#$"1%3+%#$.%2"+.%O3#$%432.1+31Nc%O$32$%3+%31%
#$.()7%"%-().%2(+#%1.0#)"4%31#.)V.1#3(1:

Page 99



!44',9$E(!(

,#"C.$(48.)%W()C+$(B%X.B()#%

Page 100



%
!"#$%&'()(*$"'%#$+,(-+"(./01(
$,(N7#BO(>'71$=$&$#G(F#39G(
W()C+$(B%X.B()#%

@<%'(V.-6.)%?<@@%

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

%

% A$3+%).B()#%#"C.+%31#(%"22(01#%#$.%B")#3204")%
31+#)02#3(1+%"18%).D03).-.1#+%(E%(0)%243.1#:%%%

=#%3+%1(#%31#.18.8%E()%"18%+$(048%1(#%6.%).43.8%
0B(1%67%"17%#$3)8%B")#7%"18%1(%).+B(1+36343#7%3+%
018.)#"C.1%#(%"17%#$3)8%B")#7:%
%
F(6%10-6.)%%%%?@G@@HI<<% %

02'(!"34(5(67"#,'"1(8#9(
HJ%,#%A$(-"+%,#)..#%
!)3+#(4%
!,@%HFK%
L13#.8%M31N8(-%
OOO:")0B:2(-%

Page 101



4.5 | Issue | 10 November 2011

J:\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\WORKSHOP\BATH HMOS WORKSHOP REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS FINAL.DOCX

*+%3:',#(;'"$-$%7#$+, 
%

%
( % (<+=(#$#&'( P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%E()%RST+%31%!"#$_%5."+36343#7%

,#087%
<+=(,3:='"(

?@G@@HI<<%
( % (*+%3:',#(#$#&'( W()C+$(B%X.B()#% >$&'("'-'"',%'(

%
( %*+%3:',#("'-( 9:;%
( ( ( %?'2$1$+,( *7#'( >$&',7:'( %
( ( ( %Q)"E#%@% ?H%T2#%

?<@@%
*'1%"$4#$+,( 53)+#%8)"E#%

( U).B").8%67% /$.2C.8%67% PBB)(V.8%67%

'"-.% P11%/(0+31+% P11%/(0+31+% W"71.%Q7.)%

,3N1"#0).% % % %

( ( ( %=++0.% @<%'(V%
?<@@%

>$&',7:'( !"#$%RST+%W()C+$(B%X.B()#%(E%U)(2..831N+%5='P\:8(2Y%
*'1%"$4#$+,( =1%B4"2.%(E%#$3+%#.Y#c%).2()8%"%+0--")7%(E%).V3+3(1+%+312.%#$.%4"+#%

V.)+3(1%a#$.+.%O344%6.%#)"1+E.)).8%31#(%#$.%Qq%+$..#%E()%7(0b:%

( U).B").8%67%% /$.2C.8%67% PBB)(V.8%67%

'"-.% P11%/(0+31+% P11%/(0+31+% W"71.%Q7.)%

,3N1"#0).% % % %

( ( ( %% % >$&',7:'( %
*'1%"$4#$+,( %

( U).B").8%67% /$.2C.8%67% PBB)(V.8%67%

'"-.% % % %

,3N1"#0).% % % %

( ( ( %% % >$&',7:'( %
*'1%"$4#$+,( %

( U).B").8%67% /$.2C.8%67% PBB)(V.8%67%

'"-.% % % %

,3N1"#0).% % % %

%% @113'(*+%3:',#(;'"$-$%7#$+,(A$#B(*+%3:',#( % ü% %
%

%

Page 102



Bath and North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath: Feasibility Study
Workshop Report

4.5 | Issue | 10 November 2011

J:\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\WORKSHOP\BATH HMOS WORKSHOP REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS FINAL.DOCX

C+,#',#1(

%
% U"N.%

H% @,#"+93%#$+,( H%

@:@% P3-%(E%#$.%,#087% @%
@:?% ,#087%!"2CN)(018% @%
@:J% P3-+%(E%#$3+%O()C+$(B% ?%

J% ?'4+"#(+-(]+"\1B+4( J%

?:@% =1#)(802#3(1% ?%
?:?% TV.)V3.O% J%
?:J% W$(%43V.+%31%RST+%"18%W$7Z% J%
?:9% =-B"2#+%(E%RST%QO.44.)+% 9%
?:;% U).+.1#31N%Q"#"%(1%#$.%*Y3+#31N%RST%,3#0"#3(1:% 9%
?:H% 50#0).%A).18+%&%L12.)#"31#3.+% ;%
?:[% U(++364.%,(40#3(1+%&%*Y"-B4.+%E)(-%*4+.O$.).% ;%
?:G% ,(40#3(1+% H%

I% R'E#(F#'41( HM%

%
%
%
!44',9$%'1(

!44',9$E(!%

5044%\3+#%(E%"##.18..+%

!44',9$E(N%

5044%\3+#%(E%RST%=-B"2#+%

!44',9$E(C%

W()C+$(B%B).+.1#"#3(1%+438.+%
%
%
%

Page 103



Bath and North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath: Feasibility Study 
Workshop Report 

4.5 | Issue | 10 November 2011 

J:\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\WORKSHOP\BATH HMOS WORKSHOP REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS FINAL.DOCX

Page 1

H @,#"+93%#$+,(

HWH !$:(+-(#B'(F#39G((
R(0+.+%(E%S04#3B4.%T220B"#3(1%aRST+b%").%8.E31.8%31%#$.%?<<9%R(0+31N%P2#%"+%
$(0+.+%O3#$%J%()%-().%B.(B4.%1(#%E)(-%#$.%+"-.%E"-347%43V31N%#(N.#$.):%P%1.O%
B4"1131N%L+.%/4"++%a/9b%O"+%31#)(802.8%#(%).E4.2#%#$3+%8.E313#3(1%31%?<@<:%A$3+%3+%
31%"883#3(1%#(%#$.%B).V3(0+%B4"1131N%8.E313#3(1%(E%H%()%-().%B.(B4.%43V31N%#(N.#$.)%
a+03%N.1.)3+%L+.%/4"++b:%%

R3N$%8.1+3#3.+%(E%RST+%").%(E#.1%"++(23"#.8%O3#$%3++0.+%+02$%"+%1(3+.%
83+#0)6"12.+c%43##.)%"18%B")C31N%83EE3204#3.+:%=1%-"17%23#3.+c%+#08.1#+%").%(1.%(E%#$.%
4")N.+#%N)(0B+%43V31N%31%RST+:%A$3+%+#087%O344%2(1+38.)%+#08.1#%$(0+31N%"18%(#$.)%
#7B.+%(E%RST+%a.:N:%7(01N%B)(E.++3(1"4+b:%%

A$.%"3-%(E%#$3+%+#087%3+%#(%4((C%"#%#$.%2()).4"#3(1%6.#O..1%#$.+.%3++0.+%"18%$3N$%
8.1+3#3.+%(E%RST+%31%!"#$:%W.%O344%"4+(%).V3.O%#$.%20)).1#%-.2$"13+-+%31%B4"2.%
31%!"#$%#$"#%2(1#)360#.%#(%"44.V3"#31N%"17%B(#.1#3"4%B)(64.-+c%"4(1N%O3#$%#$.%
"BB)("2$%#"C.1%31%(#$.)%23#3.+%31%#$.%LM:%%

A$3+%O344%E()-%"1%"BB)(B)3"#.%.V38.12.%6"+.%#(%2(1+38.)c%31%B")#3204")c%O$.#$.)%"1%
P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%O(048%6.%"%+03#"64.%B4"1131N%#((4%#(%"++3+#%31%#$.%2(1#)(4%(E%
2(1V.)+3(1%(E%8O.4431N%$(0+.+%a3:.:%E"-347%$(-.+b%#(%RST+%31%#$.%/3#7%(E%!"#$:%
W.%O344%(#$.)%2(1+38.)%(#$.)%-."+0).+%#$"#%2(048%6.%3-B4.-.1#.8%#(%$.4B%2)."#.%
+0+#"31"64.c%6"4"12.8%2(--013#3.+:%%

%

HWJ F#39G(N7%\K"+3,9((
=1%F01.%?<@@%#$.%!P'*,%/"631.#%"N)..8%#(%"44(2"#.%E01831N%#(%2(1+38.)%$(O%
B4"1131N%2(1#)(4+%a31240831N%"1%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1b%2(048%6.%0+.8%#(%2(1#)(4%#$.%
+B)."8%"18%312)."+.%31%R(0+.+%31%S04#3B4.%T220B"#3(1%aRST+b%31%!"#$:%RST%
2(12.1#)"#3(1%"18%#$.%3-B"2#+%(E%2(12.1#)"#.8%"2#3V3#7%B")#3204")%2(12.)1%E()%#$.%
O")8+%(E%W382(-6.c%T48E3.48%U")C%"18%W.+#-().4"18%O$32$%$"V.%"%$3N$.)%g%(E%
R(0+.+%31%S04#3B4.%T220B"#3(1%(220B3.8%67%+#08.1#+c%60#%#$.).%").%(#$.)%O")8+%
"2)(++%#$.%/3#7c%O$32$%-"7%"4+(%6.%"EE.2#.8:%%

A$.%U4"1131N%Q.B")#-.1#%O"+%31+#)02#.8%#(%B)(N).++%"%E."+36343#7%+#087%#(%2(1+38.)%
#$.%B(#.1#3"4%E()%"18%+2(B.%(E%"1%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%"18%$"+%+06+.D0.1#47%
"BB(31#.8%2(1+04#"1#+%P)0B%#(%+0BB()#%#$.%B4"1131N%8.B")#-.1#%31%-"C31N%"%
).2(--.18"#3(1%#(%/"631.#:%%

P1%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%O(048%-."1%#$"#%.YB).++%B4"1131N%B.)-3++3(1%O(048%6.%
).D03).8%E()%"%-"#.)3"4%2$"1N.%(E%0+.c%"4#$(0N$%!P'*,%O344%1(#%6.%"64.%#(%2(44.2#%
E..+%E()%B)(2.++31N%#$.%B)(2.++31N%(E%#$.+.%"BB432"#3(1+:%X."+(1+%E()%).E0+"4%(E%
B4"1131N%B.)-3++3(1%O344%+#344%6.%).D03).8%(1%"%2"+.%67%2"+.%6"+3+:%%

A$.%+#087%O344%2(1+38.)%#$.%31#)(802#3(1%B.)-3##.8%8.V.4(B-.1#%)3N$#+%E()%2$"1N.%
(E%0+.%E)(-%"%8O.4431N%$(0+.%aL+.%/4"++%/Jb%#(%"%+-"44%RST%aL+.%/4"++%/9bc%"18%
8.E31.%3#+%N.(N)"B$32"4%2(V.)"N.:%A$.%N"#$.)31N%(E%#$3+%.V38.12.%6"+.%"18%3#+%
31#.)B).#"#3(1%O344%6.%#$.%B)3123B"4%"2#3V3#7%(E%P)0B:%

Page 104



Bath and North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath: Feasibility Study 
Workshop Report 

4.5 | Issue | 10 November 2011 

J:\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\WORKSHOP\BATH HMOS WORKSHOP REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS FINAL.DOCX

Page 2

HWI !$:1(+-(#B$1(A+"\1B+4(
P+%B")#%(E%#$3+%+#087%#(%2(1+38.)%#$.%B(#.1#3"4%#(%31#)(802.%"1%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%
E()%R(0+.+%31%S04#3B4.%T220B"#3(1%aRST+b%31%!"#$%"%O()C+$(B%O"+%$.48%(1%
S(18"7%?9#$%T2#(6.)%?<@@%31%#$.%^0348$"44c%!"#$%#(%+2(B.%+#"C.$(48.)e+%V3.O+%(1%
#$.%3++0.+:%%
%
A$.%"3-+%(E%#$.%O()C+$(B%O.)._%

· #(%6)31N%+#"C.$(48.)+%#(N.#$.)%#(%+$").%"18%018.)+#"18%83EE.).1#%
B.)+B.2#3V.+%).4"#.8%#(%RST+%31%!"#$d%%

· #(%+$").%#$.%8"#"%).4"#.8%#(%6(#$%1..8%E()%RST+%"18%3-B"2#+%(E%RST+d%
"18%%

· #(%#.+#%B(#.1#3"4%31#.)V.1#3(1+%#$"#%-3N$#%$.4B%#(%2)."#.%6"4"12.%"18%
+0+#"31"64.%2(--013#3.+%

P%O38.%)"1N.%(E%+#"C.$(48.)+%O.).%).B).+.1#.8%"#%#$.%O()C+$(Bc%31240831N_%

· W")8%/(012344()+%E)(-%"2)(++%!"#$%%

· U4"1131N%TEE32.)+c%!&'*,%/(01234%

· R(0+31Nc%A)"1+B()#c%X.+.")2$c%/(--013#7%"18%*2(1(-32%Q.V.4(B-.1#%
TEE32.)+c%!&'*,%/(01234%

· L13V.)+3#7%(E%!"#$%

· !"#$%,B"%L13V.)+3#7%

· X(7"4%L13#.8%R(+B3#"4%

· !"#$%,B"%L13V.)+3#7%,#08.1#+e%L13(1%

· L13V.)+3#7%(E%!"#$%,#08.1#+e%L13(1%

· RST%\"184()8+%

· RST%Q.V.4(B.)+%

· *+#"#.%PN.1#+%

· \(2"4%X.+38.1#+%

· PV(1%"18%,(-.)+.#%U(432.%

P%E044%43+#%(E%"##.18..+%2"1%6.%E(018%31%!44',9$E(!%

J ?'4+"#(+-(]+"\1B+4(

P%+0--")7%(E%#$.%(0#2(-.+%(E%#$.%O()C+$(B%3+%+.#%(0#%6.4(O:%A$.%B).+.1#"#3(1%
-"#.)3"4%B).+.1#.8%67%#$.%P)0B%E"2343#"#()+%aW"71.%Q7.)%&%P11%/(0+31+b%80)31N%
#$.%O()C+$(B%2"1%6.%E(018%31%!44',9$E(C:%%

JWH @,#"+93%#$+,(
P+%#$.%B)3123B"4%B)(j.2#%4."8%E()%#$.%+#087%(1%6.$"4E%(E%!&'*,%/4.(%'.O2(-6.I
F(1.+%O.42(-.8%.V.)7(1.%#(%#$.%O()C+$(B%"18%.YB4"31.8%$(O%#$.%+#087%$"8%2(-.%
"6(0#:%%%A$.%+#087%()3N31"#.8%E)(-%"%-(#3(1%#"C.1%#(%E044%/(01234%67%/(012344()%
W344%,"18)7%31%'(V.-6.)%?<@<d%#$.%U4"1131N%8.B")#-.1#%#$.1%2"))3.8%(0#%+(-.%

Page 105



Bath and North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath: Feasibility Study 
Workshop Report 

4.5 | Issue | 10 November 2011 

J:\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\WORKSHOP\BATH HMOS WORKSHOP REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS FINAL.DOCX

Page 3

313#3"4%).+.")2$%"18%+2(B.8%(0#%#$.%).D03).-.1#+%(E%+#087c%6.E().%"BB(31#31N%P)0B%
"+%2(1+04#"1#+%#(%O()C%O3#$%#$.%/(01234%#(%018.)#"C.%E0)#$.)%).+.")2$%"18%
).2(--.18%"%)(0#.%E()O")8:%%

JWJ 02'"2$'A(
W"71.%Q7.)%aP)0Bb%31#)(802.8%$(O%#$3+%O()C+$(B%E3##.8%31#(%#$.%O38.)%2(1#.Y#%(E%
#$.%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%E."+36343#7%+#087%"18%+.#%(0#%#$.%"N.18"%E()%#$.%O()C+$(B:%

A$.%6"2CN)(018%#(%#$.%2$"1N.+%31%1"#3(1"4%B4"1131N%B(4327c%O$32$%$"+%4.8%#(%#$.%
(B#3(1%#(%31#)(802.%"1%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%#(%2(1#)(4%"1%312)."+.%31%#$.%10-6.)+%(E%
R(0+.+%(E%S04#3B4.%T220B"#3(1c%O"+%8.+2)36.8:%

JWI ]B+(&$2'1($,(./01(7,9(]BG^(
P%D032C%hstraw polle%+0)V.7%(E%)((-%+0NN.+#.8%#$"#%"BB)(Y3-"#.47%G<g%(E%
"##.18..+%$"8%43V.8%31%"1%RST%"#%+(-.%B(31#%31%#$.3)%43E.:%%A$)(0N$%E"2343#"#.8%
83+20++3(1%31%N)(0B+%"%2(-B).$.1+3V.%43+#%(E%#$(+.%O$(%43V.%31%RST+%O"+%8)"O1%
0B%67%."2$%(E%#$.%N)(0B+c%"4(1N%O3#$%B(++364.%)."+(1+%E()%43V31N%31%#$3+%#7B.%(E%
"22(--(8"#3(1:%%A$.+.%312408.8_%
%

]B+^( ]BG^(

· ,#08.1#+%a31240831N%5*c%R*%
018.)N)"80"#.+c%B(+#N)"80"#.+c%
-"#0).c%(V.)+."+c%4"1N0"N.%+2$((4%
+#08.1#+%.#2:b%

· '0)+.+%
· s(01N%U)(E.++3(1"4+%f%).2.1#%
N)"80"#.+%

· s(01N%1(1IB)(E.++3(1"4+%
· L1.-B4(7.8%`%+31N4.+%"18%2(0B4.+%
· A)"1+3.1#%O()CE()2.%
· X.#3).8%`%2(--01"4%8O.4431N+%
a83EE.).1#%0+.%24"++%31%B4"1131N%
#.)-+b%

· R(+#.4+fX.E0N.+%%
· ,B.23"4%1..8+%`%O3#$%43V.%31%2").)+%
.#2:%

· S3N)"1#%O()C.)+%
· T48.)%$(0+.%+$").)+f%U.(B4.%O$(%
2"1e#%"EE()8%#(%607%

· \(8N.)+%
· U.(B4.%(1%6"34%
· '.O47%1(1I$(-.4.++%fU.(B4.%6.31N%
).I$"6343#"#.8%31#(%#$.%2(--013#7%

· ,D0"##.)+%
· R(0+31N%6.1.E3#%24"3-"1#+%018.)%?;%

· PEE()8"6343#7%f%2(+#%
· *"+.%
· ,(23"4%)."+(1+%fE01%
· U.)+(1"4%8.V.4(B-.1#%f%E)..8(-%
· ,$()#%#.)-%2(1#)"2#+%f%E4.Y36343#7%
· \(2"43#7%f%2(1V.13.12.%
· \"2C%(E%013V.)+3#7%
"22(--(8"#3(1%

· /04#0)"4%f%B..)%+0BB()#%
· Q(1e#%O"1#%#(%43V.%"4(1.%
· ^((8%#)"1+B()#%431C+%
· T147%(B#3(1%`%C32C.8%(0#%(E%
E"-347%$(-.c%).2.1#47%+.B")"#.8c%
2$"1N.%(E%B.)+(1"4%
23)20-+#"12.+:%

· U)(V38.8%67%.-B4(7.)%#(%"44(O%
3--.83"#.%+#")#%

· R(0+.8%31%RST+%(1%O"7%6"2C%#(%
-"31+#)."-%+(23.#7%

· =12)."+31N%#)"V.4%2(+#+%
· W()C%2(--3#-.1#+%
%

%

Page 106



Bath and North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath: Feasibility Study 
Workshop Report 

4.5 | Issue | 10 November 2011 

J:\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\WORKSHOP\BATH HMOS WORKSHOP REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS FINAL.DOCX

Page 4

a+((1%#(%6.%J;b%
· \3V.%31%+#"EE%.:N:%$(#.4%O()C.)+%
a83EE.).1#%0+.%24"++%31%B4"1131N%
#.)-+b%

· A$(+.%-(V31N%#(%#$.%")."%E()%O()C%
· ,."+(1"4%f/(1#)"2#%O()C.)+%%

JW) @:47%#1(+-(./0(*A'&&'"1(
U")#323B"1#+%O.).%#$.1%"+C.8c%3183V380"447%#(%38.1#3E7%#O(%()%#$)..%B(+3#3V.%"18%
1.N"#3V.%3-B"2#+%(E%#$.+.%N)(0B+%43V31N%31%!"#$c%()%(E%$"V31N%#$3+%#7B.%(E%$(0+31N%
"V"34"64.%31%!"#$:%A$.+.%").%+0--")3+.8%6.4(O%"18%+.#%(0#%31%E044%31%!44',9$E(N:%%

R'K7#$2'(@:47%#1( 6+1$#$2'(@:47%#1(

\"2C%(E%PEE()8"64.%5"-347%R(0+31N%
PEE()8"6343#7%&%54.Y364.%,31N4.%

R(0+.$(48%R(0+31N%

\"2C%(E%U")C31N% ,0BB()#%E()%U06432%A)"1+B()#%

Q.N)"8"#3(1%(E%#$.%U06432%
X."4-%&%'.3N$6(0)$((8%*1V3)(1-.1#%

=12)."+.8%,B.18%31%#$.%\(2"4%*2(1(-7%

W."C.131N%(E%/(--013#7%/($.+3(1%&%
,#"6343#7%

/(--013#7%Q3V.)+3#7%

=12)."+.%31%P1#3I,(23"4%!.$"V3(0)% ,"E.#7%"18%,.20)3#7%

X.802#3(1%31%5"-347%R(0+31N%,#(2C%31%
+B.23E32%")."+:%

=12)."+.8%R(0+31N%,0BB47%&%*EE323.1#%
0+.%(E%,#(2C%

=12)."+.8%Q.-"18%(1%/(01234%
X.+(0)2.+%

54.Y364.%R(0+31N%,0BB()#+%#$.%\(2"4%
*2(1(-7%

'(3+.% %

W"+#.%S"1"N.-.1#% %

JWP 6"'1',#$,K(*7#7(+,(#B'(DE$1#$,K(./0(F$#37#$+,W(
P11%/(0+31+%aP)0Bb%B).+.1#.8%#$.%).+04#+%(E%"V"34"64.%RST%8"#"%#$"#%$"8%6..1%
N"#$.).8%#(%8"#.:%A$3+%2"1%6.%E(018%31%#$.%+438.+%31%!44',9$E(C:%%

/(--.1#+%O.).%).2.3V.8%E)(-%#$.%E4(()%#$"#%#$.%"V"34"64.%8"#"%31832"#31N%#$.%
2(12.1#)"#3(1%(E%RST+%f%+#08.1#%B)(B.)#3.+%"#%#$.%\(O.)%,0B.)%T0#B0#%P)."%
a\,TP@b%4.V.4%-"+C.8%+3N13E32"1#47%$3N$.)%2(12.1#)"#3(1+%(1%+(-.%3183V380"4%
+#)..#+:%%=#%O"+%1(#.8%#$"#%#$.).%O.).%8"#"%B)(#.2#3(1%3++0.+%#(%23)204"#31N%8"#"%"#%"%
-().%4(2"43+.8%4.V.4%#$"1%#$.%\,TP:%

%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
@%\(O.)%,0B.)%T0#B0#%P)."+%a\,TP+b%").%"%+06IO")8%N.(N)"B$7%"V.)"N31N%"BB)(Y3-"#.47%@c;<<%
B.(B4.:%%W")8+%").%83V38.8%31#(%+.V.)"4%\,TP+:%

Page 107



Bath and North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath: Feasibility Study 
Workshop Report 

4.5 | Issue | 10 November 2011 

J:\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\WORKSHOP\BATH HMOS WORKSHOP REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS FINAL.DOCX

Page 5

JWL >3#3"'(Q"',91(5(X,%'"#7$,#$'1(
U(++364.%E0#0).%#).18+%31%8.-(N)"B$32+c%.802"#3(1%"18%0)6"1%8.V.4(B-.1#%#$"#%
-3N$#%3-B"2#%(1%#$.%8.-"18%E()%RST%"22(--(8"#3(1%31%!"#$%O.).%83+20++.8:%
A$.%+438.+%31%!44',9$E(C%+.#%#$3+%(0#%31%-().%8.#"34:%A$.%B(31#%O"+%)"3+.8%#$"#%
1"#3(1"4%E3N0).+%E()%013V.)+3#7%"BB432"#3(1+%").%+(%E")%8(O1%67%@?g%(1%4"+#%7.")%
80.%#(%#$.%312)."+.%31%013V.)+3#7%E..+:%%

JWT 6+11$=&'(F+&3#$+,1(5(DE7:4&'1(-"+:(D&1'AB'"'(
53V.%(#$.)%23#3.+%#$"#%").%31#)(80231Nc%()%$"V.%31#)(802.8%"1%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1c%
O.).%23#.8%"+%.Y"-B4.+d%S"12$.+#.)%a#$.%(147%23#7%O3#$%"1%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%31%
B4"2.bc%/"1#.)60)7c%*Y.#.)c%TYE()8%"18%s()C:%%50)#$.)%8.#"34+%2"1%6.%E(018%31%
!44',9$E(C:%A$.).%O"+%+0)B)3+.%"#%#$.%B)(B()#3(1%(E%+#08.1#%B(B04"#3(1%).4"#3V.%
#(%#(#"4%B(B04"#3(1%31%!"#$:%

JWTWH !"#$%&'()(*$"'%#$+,(

A$.).%O"+%"%83+20++3(1%(1%#$.%1..8%E()%"%@?%-(1#$%1(#32.%6.E().%31#)(80231N%"1%
P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1:%=#%O"+%1(#.8%#$"#%"44%(#$.)%2(01234+%$"V.%N(1.%8(O1%#$3+%)(0#.%
#(%).802.%"17%)3+C%(E%2(-B.1+"#3(1%6.31N%+(0N$#%E)(-%B)(B.)#7%(O1.)+:%P#%#$.%
O()C+$(B%3#%O"+%+0NN.+#.8%#$"#%'(##31N$"-%/3#7%/(01234%O"+%2(1+38.)31N%"1%
3--.83"#.%"BB432"#3(1%(E%"1%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1:%=#%$"+%+312.%6..1%"+2.)#"31.8%#$"#%
#$.7%#((%").%0+31N%"%@?%-(1#$%1(#32.%#(%"V(38%#$.%)3+C%(E%24"3-+?:%

/(--.1#+%2"-.%E)(-%!"#$%6"+.8%8.V.4(B.)+%#$"#%#$.7%O(048%+.)3(0+47%2(1+38.)%
B0##31N%31%"%24"3-%aB(#.1#3"447%31%#$.%()8.)%(E%[%E3N0).+%#(%2(V.)%#$.%#(#"4%
31V.+#-.1#%-"8.%31%B)(B.)#7b%"N"31+#%!&'*,%3E%"1%3--.83"#.%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%
O"+%B0#%31%B4"2.:%=#%O"+%1(#.8%#$"#%/\^e+%a/.1#)"4%^(V.)1-.1#e+b%N038"12.%$"8%
6..1%#$"#%#$.%2(-B.1+"#3(1%#$"#%2(048%6.%24"3-.8%O"+%(147%).4"#.8%#(%#$.%2(+#%(E%
B0##31N%31%"%B4"1131N%"BB432"#3(1:%=1%)."43#7c%"+%#$.).%$"V.%6..1%1(%4.N"4%#.+#%2"+.+c%
#$.%)."4%2(+#+%(E%2(-B.1+"#3(1%").%01C1(O1c%60#%#$.%/(01234%$"+%1(%2(1#)(4%(V.)%
#$.+.%)3+C+%"18%E018+%O(048%1..8%#(%6.%B0#%"+38.%31%#$.%/(01234e+%608N.#%#(%2(V.)%
#$3+%)3+C:%%

JWTWJ 0#B'"((6&7,,$,K(6+&$%G(

P%6)3.E%8.+2)3B#3(1%O"+%N3V.1%(E%"4#.)1"#3V.%()%2(-B4.-.1#")7%B4"1131N%B(4327%
(B#3(1+%0+.8%67%(#$.)%B4"1131N%"0#$()3#3.+c%31240831N%#$.%#$).+$(48%"BB)("2$%"18%
B(4323.+%).4"#31N%#(%B0)B(+.I6034#%+#08.1#%"22(--(8"#3(1:%%%A$.+.%B(4323.+%$"V.%
6..1%B0#%31%B4"2.%.3#$.)%31%#"18.-%O3#$%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1+%()%31%(#$.)%
-"1"N.-.1#%+(40#3(1+:%

JWTWI 0#B'"(6+11$=&'(@,#'"2',#$+,1(

P%6)3.E%8.+2)3B#3(1%O"+%N3V.1%(E%(#$.)%B(++364.%+(40#3(1+c%31240831N%432.1+31N%(E%
RST+%"18%-"1"N.-.1#%31#.)V.1#3(1+c%-"17%(E%O$32$%").%"4)."87%31%B4"2.%31%
!"#$c%4.8%67%#$.%,#08.1#%/(--013#7%U")#1.)+$3B:%%

%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
?%,..%$##B_ffOOO:1(##31N$"-23#7:N(V:0Cf318.Y:"+BYZ")#324.38n@JGH[%E()%-().%8.#"34%%

Page 108



Bath and North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath: Feasibility Study 
Workshop Report 

4.5 | Issue | 10 November 2011 

J:\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\WORKSHOP\BATH HMOS WORKSHOP REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS FINAL.DOCX

Page 6

JWh F+&3#$+,1(
U")#323B"1#+%O.).%+B43#%31#(%;%N)(0B+:%5"2343#"#.8%83+20++3(1+%O.).%$.48%(1%O$32$%
(E%#$.%+(40#3(1+%(0#431.8%"6(V.%O.).%+03#"64.%#(%8."4%O3#$%"17%)."4%()%B.)2.3V.8%
B)(64.-+%31%).4"#3(1%#(%RST+%31%!"#$:%^)(0B+%2(1+38.).8%."2$%(E%#$.%#$)..%
(B#3(1+%31%#0)1%a4.N"4%aP)#324.%9bc%B(4327%"18%-"1"N.-.1#%31#.)V.1#3(1+b%31%
)(#"#3(1c%6034831N%(1%#$.%+(40#3(1+%B0#%31%B4"2.%67%#$.%B).V3(0+%N)(0B:%%

JWhWH !"#$%&'()(*$"'%#$+,(

R+(+2'"7&&(%+,1',131(A71("'7%B'9(71(#+(AB'#B'"(+"(,+#(7,(!"#$%&'()(*$"'%#$+,(
1B+3&9(='($:4&':',#'9($,(N7#BW%%%AO(%(E%#$.%N)(0B+%V(#.8%31%E"V(0)%(E%
3-B4.-.1#31N%"1%P)#324.%9c%#O(%V(#.8%"N"31+#c%"18%(1.%O"+%+B43#%.D0"447:%

A$.%")N0-.1#+%#$"#%O.).%-"8.%E()%"18%"N"31+#%#$.%0+.%(E%#$.%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%
67%."2$%(E%#$.%N)(0B+%").%+0--")3+.8%31%#$.%#"64.%6.4(O%

>+"(( !K7$,1#(

Q$:'&$,'11(

· A$.%0+.%(E%#$.%P9Q%-"76.%#((%4"#.%
E()%#$(+.%+#)..#+%O$.).%
2(12.1#)"#3(1+%(E%RST+%").%
"4)."87%E(018%60#%-"76.%1(#%E()%
(#$.)+%(1%#$.%.8N.+%(E%#$3+%
2(12.1#)"#3(1:%

· A$3+%D0.+#3(1%+$(048%1(#%.V.1%6.%
2(1+38.).8%"+%/(012344()+%$"V.%
"4)."87%-"8.%#$.%8.23+3(1%#(%
B)(2..8:%%

Q++(&7#'^(

· A$.%P9Q%O344%1(#%8."4%O3#$%
.1V3)(1-.1#"4%8.N)"8"#3(1%3++0.+%
"18%"22(--(8"#3(1%D0"43#7%
2(12.)1+%")(018%.Y3+#31N%RST+:%%
,(-.%).+38.1#+%E.4#%3#%O"+%"4)."87%
#((%4"#.%#(%B0#%#$.%P9Q%31%B4"2.%"+%
#$.%6"4"12.%$"8%"4)."87%6..1%#3BB.8:%

C3""',#($113'1(

· '..8.8%#(%"88).++%#$.%3-6"4"12.%
31%")."+%O3#$%"%$3N$%B.)2.1#"N.%(E%
RST+%

· \"184()8+%83V3831N%)((-+%#(%h2)"-%
#$.-%31e%

· A$3+%O(048%$.4B%#(%8."4%O3#$%-"17%
(E%#$.%1.N"#3V.%3-B"2#+%(0#431.8%
"6(V.:%

(

R'%'117"G^(

· /(048%$.4B%31%E0#0).%#(%20)6%N)(O#$%
31%RST+%`%60#%$(O%-02$%N)(O#$%3+%
43C.47%N3V.1%#$"#%R*=+%").%.Y#.1831N%
(1%2"-B0+%6.8%+B"2.+%#(%8."4%O3#$%
312)."+.8%8.-"18Z%

· '(#%+0EE323.1#%.V38.12.%(E%h$")-e%#(%
#$.%2(1+38.)%#$.%P9Q%

· T#$.)%31#.)V.1#3(1+%O(048%6.%-().%
"BB)(B)3"#.:%

· *12(0)"N31N%B0)B(+.I6034#%+#08.1#%
"22(--(8"#3(1%O(048%6.%-().%
.EE.2#3V.:%

Page 109



Bath and North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath: Feasibility Study 
Workshop Report 

4.5 | Issue | 10 November 2011 

J:\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\WORKSHOP\BATH HMOS WORKSHOP REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS FINAL.DOCX

Page 7

6"+%'11(

· ,$(048%#$.%/(01234%O"3#%E()%#$.%
\(2"43+-%!344%#(%6.%.1"2#.8Z%=+%
#$.).%"17%B)(+B.2#%E()%
'.3N$6(0)$((8%5()0-+%#(%8.238.%
O$.#$.)%#$.7%O3+$%#(%3-B(+.%"1%
P9QZ%

· P9Q%3+%31.V3#"64.c%3#%3+%O$"#%3#%3+:%

(

?'9(#74'(

· 5)(-%"%B)3V"#.%4"184()8+%
B.)+B.2#3V.%#$3+%3+%j0+#%.Y#)"%).8%#"B.%
"18%O(048%1(#%6.%+0BB()#.8:%

· /"11(#%"++0-.%#$"#%j0+#%6.2"0+.%
#$.).%3+%"1%P9Q%#$"#%B4"1131N%
B.)-3++3(1%O(048%6.%).E0+.8%`%31%
-(+#%2"+.+%B.)-3++3(1%O(048%+#344%
6.%N)"1#.8%3E%2(183#3(1+%").%B0#%31%
B4"2.%#(%8."4%O3#$%#$.%.1V3)(1-.1#"4%
3++0.+:%

· P9Q%3+%"1%"883#3(1"4%60)."02)"27%`%
3-B"2#%(1%B4"1131N%8.B")#-.1#%
).+(0)2.+%"18%2(+#+%+$(048%6.%
2").E0447%2(1+38.).8%%

· \(++%(E%"%E"-347%$(0+31N%$"+%1(#%
+#((8%0B%"#%"BB."4%6.E().%31%
!&'*,%

6+1$#$2'(@:47%#1(

· A$.%P9Q%O(048%$(B.E0447%43-3#%
31E4"#3(1%31%B)32.+%31%2.)#"31%")."+%
(E%#$.%/3#7%"18%.12(0)"N.%#$.%
$(0+31N%6"2C%(1#(%#$.%(B.1%-")C.#%
)"#$.)%#$"1%6.31N%N.").8%#(O")8%
31V.+#()+:%(
(

!92'"1'($:47%#1(

· A$.%B)(64.-+%2"11(#%(147%).4"#.%#(%
+#08.1#%$(0+31N%`%#$.%31#)(802#3(1%
(E%#$.%P9Q%O344%3-B"2#%(1%(#$.)%
C318+%(E%RST+%+.)V31N%(#$.)%a1(1%
+#08.1#b%$(0+31N%-")C.#+%31%#$.%
/3#7:%

· W344%3#%43-3#%E"-343.+e%"6343#7%#(%+06%
83V38.%#$.%E"-347%$(-.%3:.:%#(%#"C.%
31%4(8N.)+%()%B)(V38.%+.B")"#.%
6.8)((-+%E()%+36431N+%.#2Z%

· W344%3#%$"V.%"8V.)+.%3-B"2#+%(1%#$.%
/3#7e+%"6343#7%#(%).#"31%N)"80"#.+Z%%

· R"V31N%"1%P9Q%-3N$#%B0#%(EE%1.O%
RST%4"184()8+%"18%#$3+%2(048%
).+#)32#%$(0+31N%+0BB47:%%A$.%/3#7%
+0EE.)+%E)(-%"20#.%$(0+31N%+0BB47%
"18%"EE()8"6343#7%3++0.+%"4)."87%

· W$"#%O(048%6.%#$.%.EE.2#+%(1%
B)(B.)#7%V"40.+Z%/(048%6.%"%
B(+3#3V.%E()%607.)+%60#%1(#%E()%
.Y3+#31N%B)(B.)#7%(O1.)+:(

· A$.%L13V.)+3#7%4(+.+%-(1.7%(1%
B0)B(+.%6034#%"22(--(8"#3(1%a"18%
-"7%1..8%-().%(E%#$3+b%

Page 110



Bath and North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath: Feasibility Study 
Workshop Report 

4.5 | Issue | 10 November 2011 

J:\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\WORKSHOP\BATH HMOS WORKSHOP REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS FINAL.DOCX

Page 8

( >"''9+:(+-(CB+$%'(

· ,#08.1#%43E.%3+%1(#%j0+#%"6(0#%43V31N%
(1%2"-B0+%`%-"17%+#08.1#+%O"1#%#(%
43V.%+.B")"#.47%

· U.(B4.%+$(048%6.%"64.%#(%43V.%O$.).%
#$.7%O"1#:%

%%

A$.).%O"+%2(1+.1+0+c%+$(048%"1%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%6.%2(1+38.).8%"1%"BB)(B)3"#.%
+(40#3(1c%#$"#%3#%+$(048%6.%3-B4.-.1#.8(%$#G`A$9'("7#B'"(#B7,(47"#$7&&G($,(+"9'"(
#+(72+$9(7,G($113'1(A$#B(9$14&7%':',#('--'%#1:%P4#$(0N$%"%D0.+#3(1%O"+%)"3+.8%"+%
#(%$(O%#$3+%2(048%6.%j0+#3E3.8%31%).4"#3(1%#(%#$.%h.V38.12.%(E%$")-e%#.+#c%"+%-"17%
")."+%(E%#$.%/3#7%8(%1(#%$"V.%+3N13E32"1#%2(12.1#)"#3(1+%(E%RST+%"#%B).+.1#%"18%
8(%1(#%+0EE.)%E)(-%#$.%.1V3)(1-.1#"4%.EE.2#+:%

T1.%N)(0B%E.4#%#$"#%"1%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%+$(048%6.%3--.83"#.%a3E%"%-().%8.#"34.8%
)3+C%"++.++-.1#%E(018%#$3+%#(%6.%"22.B#"64.bd%"44%(#$.)%N)(0B+%E.4#(7(HJ(:+,#B(
,+#$%'(4'"$+9(#+("'93%'("$1\(+-(%+:4',17#$+,(O(048%6.%"BB)(B)3"#.W(

JWhWJ 0#B'"(6&7,,$,K(6+&$%G(04#$+,1(

A$.).%O"+%"%N.1.)"4%2(1+.1+0+%#$"#%-3"#B'"(4&7,,$,K(4+&$%G(7,9(+#B'"(
7%%+:47,G$,K($,#'"2',#$+,1(A+3&9(='("'i3$"'9%31%()8.)%#(%.1+0).%#$"#%"1%
P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%O(048%6.%.EE.2#3V.:%,(-.%C.7%D0.+#3(1+%O.).%)"3+.8%31%).4"#3(1%
#(%B(++364.%B4"1131N%B(4327%(B#3(1+_%

· W$"#%O(048%6.%)."+(1+%E()%).E0+"4%`%O(048%.Y3+#31N%B(4327%R^@?%6.%
+0EE323.1#47%)(60+#Z%%

· /(048%1.O%B(4323.+%O3#$%2)3#.)3"%6.%31#)(802.8Z%

· /(183#3(1+%2(048%6.%"88.8%`%.V.1%3E%B.)-3++3(1%3+%N)"1#.8%.:N:%-0+#%6.%
432.1+.8c%(#$.)%2(1#)(4+%"18%-."+0).%`%$(O%.1E()2."64.%").%#$.+.%
2(183#3(1+Z%

· H%#.+#+%E()%2(183#3(1+%1..8%#(%6.%2(1+38.).8%`%.:N:%1(3+.%"18%43##.)%I%-"7%1(#%
6.%).4.V"1#%31%B4"1131N%#.)-+Z%

· W$"#%O(048%#$.%).+(0)2.%3-B432"#3(1+%6.%E()%!&'*,%(E%#$.%31#)(802#3(1%
(E%+02$%B(4323.+Z%

A$.%(B#3(1%(E%"%#B"'1B+&9(4+&$%G(A71(="+79&G(1344+"#'9c%"4#$(0N$%D0.+#3(1+%
O.).%)"3+.8%"+%#(%$(O%#$.%#$).+$(48%+$(048%6.%+.#%"18%O$"#%.V38.12.%O(048%6.%
).D03).8%#(%j0+#3E7%3#:%T1.%N)(0B%+0NN.+#.8%#$"#%83+B.)+"4%(E%RST+%"2)(++%"%O38.)%
")."%(E%#$.%23#7%aO$32$%#$3+%"BB)("2$%O(048%.12(0)"N.b%-"7%$"V.%(#$.)%C1(2CI(1%
.EE.2#+%(1%B06432%#)"1+B()#c%E()%.Y"-B4.:%r0.+#3(1+%O.).%"4+(%)"3+.8%"6(0#%#$.%
-(13#()31N%(E%8"#"%#(%3-B4.-.1#%#$3+%B(4327:%A$.).%O(048%6.%"%).+(0)2.%
3-B432"#3(1+%E()%#$.%2(01234%"18%"%8"#"+.#%O(048%1..8%#(%6.%"N)..8%a(1.%+0NN.+#3(1%
O"+%#(%0+.%.4.2#()"4%)(4.%8"#"%#(%38.1#3E7%$(0+.$(48+%O3#$%J%()%-().%"804#+%O3#$%

Page 111



Bath and North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath: Feasibility Study 
Workshop Report 

4.5 | Issue | 10 November 2011 

J:\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\WORKSHOP\BATH HMOS WORKSHOP REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS FINAL.DOCX

Page 9

83EE.).1#%+0)1"-.+Jb:%T1.%N)(0B%+0NN.+#.8%2(-B4.-.1#31N%#$3+%#$).+$(48%
"BB)("2$%O3#$%,'$KB=+3"B++9(j+,$,KW(A$3+%O(048%-."1%"BB4731N%#$.%#$).+$(48%
#(%"%1.3N$6(0)$((8%aO38.)%#$"1%O")8b%").":%R(O.V.)c%3#%O"+%1(#.8%#$"#%#$3+%O(048%
1(#%"88).++%20)).1#%B)(64.-+:%

T#$.)%(B#3(1+%#$"#%O.).%2(1+38.).8%312408.8%"%2$7=$&$#G(#'1#:%L18.)%#$3+%"BB)("2$%
#$.%"BB432"1#%O(048%$"V.%#(%B)(V38.%.V38.12.%#$"#%#$.%2(1#310.8%0+.%(E%"%E"-347%
$(-.%3+%01V3"64.9:%

S(+#%(E%#$.%N)(0B+%O$(%2(1+38.).8%#$.%(B#3(1%#(%$"V.%4&7,,$,K(4+&$%$'1($,(
1344+"#(+-(43"4+1'`=3$&#(1#39',#(7%%+::+97#$+,V(E.4#%#$"#%#$3+%+$(048%6.(
1344+"#'9:%(=#%O"+%1(#.8%#$"#%#$3+%#7B.%(E%"22(--(8"#3(1%-"7%$"V.%1.N"#3V.%
3-B"2#+%E()%1.3N$6(0)+c%60#%#$"#%3#%O(048%6.%."+3.)%E()%#$.%013V.)+3#3.+%#(%2(1#)(4%
#$.%6.$"V3(0)%(E%#$.3)%+#08.1#+:%=#%O"+%+0NN.+#.8%#$"#%#$3+%(B#3(1%O(048%6.%-().%
.YB.1+3V.%E()%+#08.1#+c%"18%-"7%1(#%"4O"7+%6.%B(B04"):%=#%O"+%"4+(%1(#.8%#$"#%
#$.).%O.).%43-3#.8%"V"34"64.%+3#.+%E()%#$3+%#7B.%(E%8.V.4(B-.1#:%%

A$.%N)(0B%#$"#%2(1+38.).8%7(4+&$%G(&$,\$,K(K"+A#B($,(7%79':$%(147%'(#+(K"+A#B(
$,(='9(147%'1(A71(="+79&G(1344+"#$2'(+-(#B'($9'7:%R(O.V.)c%3#+%.EE.2#3V.1.++%
O"+%D0.+#3(1.8c%"+%"%2$"1N.%31%#."2$31N%-.#$(8+%3+%43C.47%#(%-."1%4.++%#."2$31N%
+B"2.%3+%).D03).8%31%#$.%E0#0).:%%

JWhWI 0#B'"(6+11$=&'(@,#'"2',#$+,1(

8$%',1$,K(5(!%%"'9$#7#$+,(

QB'(DE$1#$,K(F$#37#$+,O(

· RST%432.1+31N%3+%-"18"#()7%E()%"44%RST+%O3#$%-().%#$"1%#$)..%+#().7+%()%
-().%#$"1%E3V.%6.8)((-+:%A$3+%3+%2$")N."64.%ao[;<%E()%"%1.O%432.1+.b%

· P22).83#"#3(1%3+%V(401#")7%"18%E)..:%=#%O"+%.+#3-"#.8%"#%#$.%O()C+$(B%#$"#%
"BB)(Y%;<g%(E%+#08.1#%B)(B.)#3.+%31%#$.%/3#7%").%"22).83#.8:%%

· \32.1+.+%.1+0).%#$.%+"E.#7%"18%0BC..B%(E%B)(B.)#3.+:%

6+11$=&'(F+&3#$+,1O(

· A$.).%O"+(="+79(1344+"#(-+"(#B'($,#"+93%#$+,(+-(799$#$+,7&(+"(1'&'%#$2'(
&$%',1$,K(aB(++3647%+.4.2#3V.%432.1+31N%E()%#$.%O$(4.%B)3V"#.%).1#.8%+.2#()bW(
A$.).%O"+%"%E..431N%#$"#%31%-"17%B")#+%(E%!"#$%#$.).%").%+-"44.)%RST+%
#$"1%O344%20)).1#47%6.%312408.8%31%#$.%432.1+31N%+2$.-.c%+(%"%2$"1N.%O(048%
8."4%O3#$%+(-.%(E%#$.%.Y3+#31N%3++0.+%31%"%O"7%#$"#%"1%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%
O(048%1(#:%(

%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
J%U(+#%W()C+$(B%'(#.:%%A$3+%"BB)("2$%-"7%6.%-3+4."831Nc%V.)3E32"#3(1+%O(048%6.%1..8.8%"18%
).V3.O+%).D03).8%"110"447:%S"17%+#08.1#+%8(%1(#%).N3+#.)%#(%V(#.%"#%#$.3)%#.)-%#3-.%"88).++%"18%
31#.)1"#3(1"4%+#08.1#+%O(048%"4+(%1(#%).N3+#.):%
9%U(+#%W()C+$(B%'(#.:%A$3+%O(048%O()C%31%-02$%#$.%+"-.%O"7%"+%"BB432"#3(1+%E()%2$"1N.%(E%0+.%
E)(-%"1%(EE32.%#(%).#"34%(0#+38.%"%4(2"4%2.1#).%O(048%$"V.%#(%B)(V38.%.V38.12.%#$"#%#$.%2(1#310.8%
0+.%"+%"1%(EE32.%O"+%01V3"64.:%%A$.%(10+%O(048%6.%(1%#$.%"BB432"1#%#(%8.-(1+#)"#.%#$"#%#$.7%$"8%
B4"2.8%#$.%B)(B.)#7%(1%#$.%(B.1%-")C.#%E()%"%)."+(1"64.%B.)3(8:%%

Page 112



Bath and North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath: Feasibility Study 
Workshop Report 

4.5 | Issue | 10 November 2011 

J:\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\WORKSHOP\BATH HMOS WORKSHOP REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS FINAL.DOCX

Page 10

· A$.%"'1+3"%'($:4&$%7#$+,1(+-($,%"'71'9(&$%',1$,K%O.).%83+20++.8:%A$.).%
O"+%2(12.)1%"+%#(%O$.#$.)%#$.7%O(048%2(V.)%#$.3)%(O1%2(+#+c%"18%"6(0#%#$.%
83EE3204#3.+%(E%38.1#3E731N%B)(B.)#3.+:%

· /(--.1#+%O.).%-"8.%#$"#%#$.%%+1#1(+-(&$%',1'1(").%43C.47%#(%6.(4711'9(#+(
#B'(%+,13:'"V(B(++3647%:7\$,K(#B'(6"$27#'(?',#'9(F'%#+"(&'11(
7--+"97=&'(a60#%#$3+%B)3231N%-.2$"13+-%:7G(7&1+(&'79(#+(7("'93%#$+,($,(
#B'(#+#7&(,3:='"(+-(./01b:(

F#39',#(C+::3,$#G(67"#,'"1B$4((

· A$.).%O"+%1344+"#(-+"(#B'('E$1#$,K(K++9(A+"\(+-(#B'(F#39',#(
C+::3,$#G(67"#,'"1B$4(bFC6cW%

· T#$.)%38."+%(E%2"-B"3N1+%#$"#%2(048%6.%)01%67%#$.%,/U%312408.8%"%
%7:47$K,($:4"+2$,K(#B'(4+1$#$2'($:7K'(+-(1#39',#1%"18%6.1.E3#+%#$.7%
6)31N%#(%2(--013#3.+d%$,%"'71'9(1#39',#(2+&3,#''"$,K(&+%7&&G(#+(AB'"'(
#B'G(&$2'd%"18%$,%"'71'9(43=&$%$#G(+-(#B'(F#39',#(!%#$+,(8$,'W(((

0#B'"(6+11$=&'(F+&3#$+,1(
· A$.).%O"+%"%+0NN.+#3(1%67%(1.%N)(0B%#$"#%='##'"fA$9'"(43=&$%(#"7,14+"#(
O(048%N3V.%-().%2$(32.%#(%+#08.1#+%(1%O$.).%#$.7%43V.:%%

· A$.).%O"+%"%+0NN.+#3(1%67%(1.%N)(0B%#$"#%"1%!--+"97=&'(N7#B(2"-B"3N1%
#(%$.4B%"##)"2#%"%O38.)%)"1N.%(E%B.(B4.c%31240831N%7(01N%B)(E.++3(1"4+%"18%
).2.1#%N)"80"#.+%#(%#$.%/3#7:(

%

I R'E#(F#'41(

A$.%E31"4%P)0B%).B()#%#(%#$.%/(01234%3+%.YB.2#.8%4"#.)%#$3+%-(1#$%a'(V.-6.)%
?<@@b:%5(44(O31N%#$3+%#$.%/(01234%O344%1..8%#(%2(1+38.)%#$.%).+B(1+.%#(%#$.%
).2(--.18"#3(1+%(E%#$.%).B()#%31%.")47%?<@?:%,$(048%#$.%/(01234%8.238.%#(%
"8V.)#3+.%"1%31#.1#3(1%#(%3-B4.-.1#%#$.%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1c%B06432%2(1+04#"#3(1%
O344%E(44(O:%(

%

Page 113



!44',9$E(!(

5044%\3+#%(E%"##.18..+%

Page 114



Bath and North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath: Feasibility Study 
Workshop Report 

4.5 | Issue | 10 November 2011 

J:\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\WORKSHOP\BATH HMOS WORKSHOP REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS FINAL.DOCX

Page A1

!##',9''1(
R7:'( ?+&'(( 0"K7,$17#$+,(
P4.Y%!(O"#.)%% P18).O+%*+#"#.%PN.1#+%% !.")%54"#%%

P-7%s(01N%% P8V32.%"18%,0BB()#%
P8V3+()%%

L13V.)+3#7%(E%!"#$%
,#08.1#+i%L13(1%

P18).O%50)+.%a/44)b% W")8%2(012344()%E()%
M31N+-."8%

!"#$%&%'()#$%*"+#%
,(-.)+.#%/(01234%

% % %

!.1%S2^361.7%% RST%\"184()8% %

!.1%,#.V.1+%a/44)%b% W")8%/(012344()%E()%
W382(-6.%%

!"#$%&%'()#$%*"+#%
,(-.)+.#%/(01234%

!.#$%,$3).% %% PV(1%"18%,(-.)+.#%
U(432.%

!)3"1%W.66.)%a/44)b% W")8%2(012344()%E()%P66.7% !"#$%&%'()#$%*"+#%
,(-.)+.#%/(01234%

W344%\(1N% S"83+(1%T"C4.7%% %%
/")(431.%U08832(-6.%% Q3).2#()%(E%*+#"#.+% !"#$%,B"%L13V.)+3#7%
/$)3+%W34-(#%% T48E3.48%).+38.1#% %%
/$)3+#(B$.)%/((C.% RST%\"184()8% %
/(431%S(01+.7% A.4.2(-%"18%

P22(--(8"#3(1%S"1"N.)%%
X(7"4%L13#.8%R(+B3#"4%

Q"V38%Q3Y(1%a/44)b%
%

W")8%2(012344()%E()%
T48E3.48%

!"#$%&%'()#$%*"+#%
,(-.)+.#%/(01234%

Q"V38%S")#31%a/44)b% W")8%2(012344()%E()%
!"#$O32C%

!"#$%&%'()#$%*"+#%
,(-.)+.#%/(01234%

Q"V38%A)3NO.44% Q3V3+3(1"4%Q3).2#()%E()%
U4"1131N%"18%A)"1+B()#%

!"#$%&%'()#$%*"+#%
,(-.)+.#%/(01234%

Q"V38%,#."8-"1% Q.V.4(B.)% %
Q.663.%M.")31% U)3V"#.%+.2#()%

"22(--(8"#3(1%(EE32.)%
!"#$%,B"%L13V.)+3#7%

Q.4%Q"V3.+%%% R(0+31N%TEE32.)% L13V.)+3#7%(E%!"#$%
Q012"1%M.))% U)3123B"4%*2(1(-7%

*1#.)B)3+.%&%!0+31.++%
TEE32.)%

!"#$%&%'()#$%*"+#%
,(-.)+.#%/(01234%

Q(0N4"+%'32(4%a/44)b% W")8%/(012344()%E()%
M31N+-."8%

!"#$%&%'()#$%*"+#%
,(-.)+.#%/(01234%

*--"%Q.4V.+I!)(0N$#(1%% T48E3.48%).+38.1#% %%
^3117%Q"7)4-B4.% !"#$%RST%\"184()8% %%
^)"$"-%,"6(0)1% R(0+31N% !"#$%&%'()#$%*"+#%

,(-.)+.#%/(01234%
R"11"$%5)..-"1% X.+.")2$%"18%=1#.443N.12.% !"#$%&%'()#$%*"+#%

,(-.)+.#%/(01234%
="1%^342$)3+#%a/44)b% W")8%/(012344()%E()%

W382(-6.%%
!"#$%&%'()#$%*"+#%
,(-.)+.#%/(01234%

=.+#71%\.O3+% Q.V.4(B.)% %

Page 115



Bath and North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath: Feasibility Study 
Workshop Report 

4.5 | Issue | 10 November 2011 

J:\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\WORKSHOP\BATH HMOS WORKSHOP REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS FINAL.DOCX

Page A2

F01.%U4"7.)%a/44)%b% W")8%/(012344()%E()%
W.+#-().4"18%%

!"#$%&%'()#$%*"+#%
,(-.)+.#%/(01234%

\"0).1%/0)#3+% /(--013#7%\3"3+(1%/(I
()831"#()%

,#08.1#%/(--013#7%
U")#1.)+$3B%

\.(13.%/((C.% !"#$%RST%\"184()8% %
'"(-3%S"2C)344% q32.%U).+38.1#%

/(--013#7&%Q3V.)+3#7%
L13V.)+3#7%(E%!"#$%
,#08.1#+i%L13(1%

'32$(4"+%/((-6.+%a/44)b% W")8%2(012344()%E()%
!"#$O32C%

!"#$%&%'()#$%*"+#%
,(-.)+.#%/(01234%

U.#.)%W((8% W.+#-().4"18%).+38.1#% %%
X"6%,-3#$%% A)"1+B()#%% !"#$%&%'()#$%*"+#%

,(-.)+.#%/(01234%
X32$")8%!38N((8% ,#08.1#+e%L13(1%U).+38.1#% !"#$%,B"%

L13V.)+3#7%,#08.1#+i%
L13(1%

X32$")8%Q"(1.% U4"1131N%U(4327%A."-%
\."8.)%

!"#$%&%'()#$%*"+#%
,(-.)+.#%/(01234%

X32$")8%,#(##% Q.V.4(B-.1#%S"1"N.-.1#%
TEE32.)%%

!"#$%&%'()#$%*"+#%
,(-.)+.#%/(01234%

X(6%PBB4.7")8%a244)b% R(0+31N%,2)0#317% !"#$%&%'()#$%*"+#%
,(-.)+.#%/(01234%

X(4"18%=1N4.67IS"2C.1m3.% P18).O+%*+#"#.%PN.1#+%% !.")%54"#%%

X(+%5().-"1% W.+#-().4"18%).+38.1#% %%
X(+.-")7%*4-+4.7% %% W382(-6.%P++(23"#3(1%
F"1.%\(V.7+% P22(--(8"#3(1%S"1"N.)% L13V.)+3#7%(E%!"#$%
,$"01%S2^"44% E()-.)%W")8%/(012344()%

E()%T48E3.48%%
%

,#"27%U)3#2$")8% /(--013#7%U)(j.2#+%
TEE32.)%

!"#$%&%'()#$%*"+#%
,(-.)+.#%/(01234%

W344%,"18)7%a/44)%b% W")8%/(012344()%E()%
T48E3.48%%

!"#$%&%'()#$%*"+#%
,(-.)+.#%/(01234%

!4+&+K$'1(
R7:'( ?+&'(( 0"K7,$17#$+,(
*43(%U.mm(##"% PBB4.%*+#"#.%PN.1#+%% T48E3.48%U")C%%

="1%!.44%% %% !"#$%/$"-6.)%(E%
/(--.)2.%

R"))7%!3)2$% /"-B"3N1+%"18%
/(--0132"#3(1+%TEE32.)%

!"#$%,B"%
L13V.)+3#7%,#08.1#+i%L13(1%

\3+"%!")#4.##%% Q.V.4(B-.1#%S"1"N.)%% !"#$%&%'()#$%*"+#%
,(-.)+.#%/(01234%

% % %
X(6%/(46(0)1.%% T48E3.48%).+38.1#% %

,3-(1%8.%!..)%% U(4327%&%*1V3)(1-.1#%
S"1"N.)%

!"#$%&%'()#$%*"+#%
,(-.)+.#%/(01234%

,#.V.%%W3#2(-6% PBB4.%*+#"#.%PN.1#+%% T48E3.48%U")C%%

Page 116



Bath and North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath: Feasibility Study 
Workshop Report 

4.5 | Issue | 10 November 2011 

J:\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\WORKSHOP\BATH HMOS WORKSHOP REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS FINAL.DOCX

Page A3

>7%$&$#7#+"1(
R7:'( ?+&'(( 0"K7,$17#$+,(
P11%/(0+31+% /(1+04#"1#% P)0B%
W"71.%Q7.)% P++(23"#.%Q3).2#()% P)0B%

/4.(%'.O2(-6.IF(1.+% U4"1131N%U(4327%TEE32.)%
a!&'*,%U)(j.2#%\."8b%

!"#$%&%'()#$%*"+#%
,(-.)+.#%/(01234%

'.34%!.+#% U4"1131N%U(4327%TEE32.)% !"#$%&%'()#$%*"+#%
,(-.)+.#%/(01234%

M"()0%F"2D0.+% U4"1131N%U(4327%TEE32.)% !"#$%&%'()#$%*"+#%
,(-.)+.#%/(01234%

Page 117



Page 118



!44',9$E(N(
5044%\3+#%(E%RST%=-B"2#+%

Page 119



Bath and North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath: Feasibility Study 
Workshop Report 

4.5 | Issue | 10 November 2011 

J:\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\WORKSHOP\BATH HMOS WORKSHOP REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS FINAL.DOCX

Page B1

NH 6+1$#$2'(7,9(R'K7#$2'(@:47%#1(+-(./01(

R'K7#$2'(@:47%#1( 6+1$#$2'(@:47%#1(

!--+"97=$&$#G(

· X.802.%+#(2C%(E%"22(--(8"#3(1%E()%
4(2"4+%

· X.+#)32#%+#(2C%E()%B0)2$"+.%
· s(01N%B.(B4.%01"64.%#(%607%B)(B.)#7%
· '.N"#3V.%E()%4(2"4+%I%$(0+.%B)32.+%0B%%
· =12)."+.%31%$(0+.%B)32.+f%\(2"4%$(0+.%

B)32.+%)"3+.8%

!--+"97=$&$#G%%

· LBC..B%(E%4")N.%$(0+.+%.YB.1+3V.%E()%
E"-343.+c%-().%2(+#%.EE.2#3V.%"+%RST,%

· =12)."+.%31%$(0+.%B)32.+%%
· PEE()8"6343#7%
· *1"64.+%#$(+.%O$(%-"7%1(#%6.%"64.%#(%

"EE()8%$(0+31N%#(%43V.%$.).%
· PEE()8"64.%$(0+31N%
· A$.%(147%"22(--(8"#3(1%"%4(#%(E%

7(01N%B.(B4.%a312:%B)(E.++3(1"4+b%2"1%
"EE()8%31%!"#$%

· PEE()8"64.%$(0+31N%B)(V3+3(1%
· U)(V38.+%"%2$(32.%"18%V")3.#7%(E%

"22(--(8"#3(1%%

67"\$,K((

· /")%B")C31N%3++0.+%
· '.N"#3V.%3-B"2#%(1%B")C31N%3E%"44%$"V.%

2")+%
· U")C31N%B)(64.-+%
· R3N$%8.1+3#7%43V31N%B)(64.-+%.:N:%

-04#3B4.%2")+%
· *Y2.++%B")C31N%8.-"18%

Q"7,14+"#(

· =-B)(V.8%#)"1+B()#%431C+%80.%#(%
8.-"18%%

· =-B)(V.8%#)"1+B()#%31%B(B04")%")."+%
%

63=&$%(?'7&:fD,2$"+,:',#(

· /"1%6.%6"847%C.B#%"18%+$"667%f%R(0+.%
-"7%1(#%6.%-"31#"31.8%

· ,#)..#%+2.1.%3-B"2#%%
· \(++%(E%2$")"2#.)%
· \"2C%(E%B)38.%31%B)(B.)#7%
· P)."%3-"N.%
· \")N.%10-6.)+%(E%k#(%4.#l%+3N1+%$"V.%"%

1.N"#3V.%3-B"2#%(1%#$.%+#)..#+%
2(1#)360#31N%#(%B0##31N%(EE%E"-343.+%
E)(-%-(V31N%#(%#$.%")."%

· 4"184()8+%8(1e#%C..B%$(0+.+%#(%+"-.%
+#"18")8%"+%(O1.)f).+38.1#+%

F4',9($,(#B'(8+%7&(D%+,+:G(

· ,0BB()#%+-"44%60+31.++.+%
· \(2"4%.2(1(-7%a).#"34b%
· /(1#)360#.%#(%.2(1(-7%
· X.V.10.%
· U)(V38.+%O()C%E()%60348.)+c%24."1.)+%.#2%
· ^((8%E()%4(2"4%60+31.++.+%
· R3N$.)%83+B(+"64.%312(-.%
· !)31N%83+B(+"64.%312(-.%
· S(1.7%2(-31N%31#(%#$.%")."%`%+$(B+%

.#2%
· -().%B.(B4.%-."1+%-().%-(1.7%+B.1#%

31%#$.%4(2"4%.2(1(-7%
· ,#08.1#+%+B.18%-(1.7%%
· =-B)(V.8f312)."+.%60+31.++%31%4(2"4%

+$(B+%.#2%80.%#(%8.-"18%
· *2(1(-32%6.1.E3#+%YJ%
· ,#08.1#+%`%$3N$%73.48%4.#+c%31E40Y%(E%

-(1.7%#(%")."c%2)."#.+%-(1.7%
· =12(-.%#(%23#7%Y?%

Page 120



Bath and North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath: Feasibility Study 
Workshop Report 

4.5 | Issue | 10 November 2011 

J:\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\WORKSHOP\BATH HMOS WORKSHOP REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS FINAL.DOCX

Page B2

· =12(-.%"18%).V.10.%#(%#$.%23#7%

C+::3,$#G(C+B'1$+,(7,9(F#7=$&$#G((

· R(438"7%N$(+#%#(O1%
· \(++%(E%2(--013#7%%
· \"2C%(E%2(--013#7%%
· \"2C%(E%4(1N%#.)-%(O1.)+$3B%%
· !"#$%3+%1(#%+..1%"+%"%B4"2.%#(%+.##4.%
· A)"1+3.1#%`%N$(+#%#(O1%31%+0--.)%
· \"2C%(E%"%+.1+.%(E%2(--013#7%`%3E%

B.(B4.%83+"BB.")%80)31N%$(438"7+%.#2%
· =1+#"6343#7%O3#$%2(-31N+%"18%N(31N+%
· *)(8.+%2(--013#7%+B3)3#%
· A)"1+3.1#%`%4"2C%(E%+#"6343#7%31%

2(--013#7%
· A)"1+3.1#%B(B04"#3(1+%8(1e#%"4O"7+%

).+B.2#%#$.%")."+%%
· \(++%(E%2(--013#7%-3Y%
· '(%B)38.%31%#$.%")."%
· q"2"1#%31%+0--.)%
· *EE.2#%(1%4(2"4%+2$((4+%
· *EE()#%#(%O.42(-.%B.(B4.%(1%"%7.")47%

6"+3+%+(%3#e+%."+3.)%1(#%#(%6(#$.)%`%
-"C.+%RST%).+38.1#+%01O.42(-.%
E)(-%#$.%+#")#%

· =+(4"#3(1%B")#3204")47%.48.)47%B.(B4.%
· ^$.##(+%
· A3N$#.)%+-"44.)%N)(0B31N+%"18%N$.##(+%
· \"2C%(E%.-B"#$7%O3#$%3183N.1(0+%

B(B04"#3(1%
· Q3EE.).1#%43E.+#74.+%2"1%).+04#%31%

1(3+.fO"+#.%3++0.+%
· A)"1+3.1#%2(--013#7%2"1%-"C.%

6034831N%4(1N%#.)-%).4"#3(1+$3B+%
83EE3204#%

· Q3+#)0+#%2"1%60348%0B%(E%"%N)(0B%E)(-%
(1.%()%#O(%6"8%.YB.)3.12.+%

C+::3,$#G(*$2'"1$#G(

· q36)"127%
· *EE323.1#%0+.%(E%$(0+31N%+#(2Cf60348%

"22(--(8"#3(1%
· =12)."+.+%83V.)+3#7%%
· Q3V.)+.%2(--013#7%
· q36)"1#%2(--013#3.+%
· /04#0)"4%83V.)+3#7%%
· S3Y.8%2(--013#3.+%
· P88.8%83V.)+3#7%%
· ,(23"4%31#.)"2#3(1%
· Q3V.)+3#7%`%N)."#.)%-3Y%(E%B.(B4.%
· !)31N%+(-.%V")3.#7%#(%"%1.3N$6(0)$((8%
· q36)"1#%-3Y#0).+%(E%"N.+%"18%204#0).+%
· =12)."+.+%83V.)+3#7%%
· !)31N+%83V.)+3#7%31#(%#$.%2(--013#7%
· U)(V38.+%204#0)"4%83V.)+3#7%%
· U(#.1#3"4%V")3.8%"18%83V.)+.%2(--013#7%%
· P88+%83V.)+3#7%#(%#$.%")."%
· W3#$%4(2"43+-%O344%"44(O%+#08.1#+%#(%

6)31N%1.O%38."+%E)(-%#$.3)%")."+%

%

!,#$`F+%$7&(N'B72$+3"(

· U(#.1#3"4%P,!%()%2(1E432#%
· A$.E#+f60)N4")7%
· /)3-.%)"#.+%`%+#08.1#%B)(B.)#3.+%").%

#")N.#.8%67%60)N4")+%
· !"8%1.3N$6(0)+%
· ,#3N-"#3+.%"%4(2"43#7%
· P1#3I+(23"4%6.$"V3(0)%
· '3N$#%#3-.%.2(1(-7%`%2"1%.12(0)"N.%

8)31C%).4"#.8%B)(64.-+%
· /"1%31#3-38"#.%).+38.1#+%

F7-'#G(7,9(F'%3"$#G(

· U)(V38.+%+.20)3#7%E()%-3N)"1#%O()C.)+%
· ,"E.#7%
· P44(O+%#$.-%#(%N)(O%31#(%"804#$((8%

(

Page 121



Bath and North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath: Feasibility Study 
Workshop Report 

4.5 | Issue | 10 November 2011 

J:\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\WORKSHOP\BATH HMOS WORKSHOP REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS FINAL.DOCX

Page B3

.+31$,K(/$E(

· \.++%$(0+.+%"V"34"64.%E()%E"-343.+%
· \(+#%E"-343.+%+(%1(%31#.)"2#3(1%E()%

2$348).1%(E%"44%"N.+%
· U(B04"#3(1%N.##31N%63NN.)%1(%-().%

+B"2.%#(%60348%
%

.+31$,K(F344&G(7,9(D--$%$',%G(

· S..#%"%$(0+31N%1..8%
· *EE.2#3V.%0+.%(E%+#(2C%
· L+.%(E%$(0+31N%2"B"23#7%%
· ,#(B+%V"2"1#%B)(B.)#7%
· PV"34"6343#7%a-().%"22(-b%
· !.+#%0+.%(E%$(0+31N%2"B"23#7%%
· U)(V38.+%$(0+31N%#$"#e+%1..8.8%
· *EE323.1#%0+.%(E%)((-+%
· S"Y3-3+.+%8.1+3#7%%
· L+.+%$(0+31N%.EE323.1#47%
· ,$()#"N.%(E%B)(B.)#7c%-().%

"22(--(8"#3(1%
· /"B"23#7%0#343+"#3(1%%
· ^3V.+%B.(B4.%"%B4"2.%#(%43V.%

C+3,%$&(?'1+3"%'1(

· ,#)"31%(1%).+(0)2.+%
· =12)."+.%31%2(01234%#"Y%f%*EE.2#%(1%

/(01234%#"Y%
· /(-B43"12.%"8$.+3(1%
· '(3+.%a*1V3)(1-.1#"4%R."4#$b%
· \3##.)%aW"+#.%,.)V32.+b%
· ,#).++%E()%2(012344()+%
· L+.%).+(0)2.+%`%.:N:%-().%O"+#.%

2(44.2#3(1c%V"2"1#%B)(B.)#3.+%(0#%(E%
#.)-%#3-.%2"0+.+%).+.1#-.1#%

F\$&&1($,(#B'(8+%7&(D%+,+:G(

· ^)"80"#.+%C..B%#$.%013%.YB.)#3+.%31%#$.%
4(2"4%")."%

· R"V31N%RST+%"V"34"64.%.12(0)"N.+%
+#08.1#+%#(%+#"7%31%#$.%")."%B(+#I
N)"80"#3(1%

· Q.V.4(B31N%O()CE()2.%`%N)"80"#.+%+#"7%
31%#$.%")."%"18%+0BB()#%()%2)."#.%1.O%
60+31.++.+%

· s(01N%O()CE()2.%
· ^((8%)"1N.%(E%+C344+%6"+.%O3#$31%#$.%

2(--013#7%
· X.V.10.%#(%23#7%`%83V.)+3#7%(E%4"6(0)%

+0BB47%
· U)(V38.%.-B4(7..+%E()%C.7%+.)V32.+%.:N:%

$(+B3#"4+%
· U.(B4.%"8831N%#(%#$.%4(2"4%.2(1(-7%
· Q3V.)+.%)"1N.%(E%+C344+%"18%"6343#3.+%

6)(0N$#%#(%#$.%23#7%"18%-")C.#%B4"2.%
· 5"2343#"#.%.2(1(-32%N)(O#$%

R+$1'(

· '(3+.%83+#0)6"12.%
· /"1%6.%1(3+7%"18%312(1+38.)"#.%
· S().%B.(B4.%31%#$.%$(0+.%-."1+%-().%

B(#.1#3"4%E()%2(-B4"31#+%")(018%1(3+.%%
· '(3+.%aY?b%
· ,#08.1#+%1(3+7%
· Q(1e#%).+B.2#%1.3N$6(0)+%%
· !"8%4"1N0"N.%
· /(-.%6"2C%"#%J"-%8)01C%"18%1(3+7%

]71#'(

· L124.")%).+B(1+36343#7%.+B.23"447%O$(%
#"C.+%631+%(0#%

· /(-B4"31#+%(E%1(3+.%"18%)0663+$%3++0.+%
· X0663+$%31%+#)..#%
· \")N.%"-(01#%(E%)0663+$%B)(802.8%67%

$(0+.$(48+%O3#$%$3N$%10-6.)%(E%
(220B"1#+%

· Q(1e#%B0#%)0663+$%(0#%
· =1"BB)(B)3"#.%6.$"V3(0)%).%O"+#.%.#2:%

Page 122



Page 123



!44',9$E(C(
W()C+$(B%B).+.1#"#3(1%+438.+%

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

Page 124



   
  

 

   
Pl

an
ni

ng
 C

on
tr

ol
 f

or
  

H
M

O
s/

St
ud

en
t 

H
M

O
s 

in
 B

at
h 

 
C

on
si

de
ri

ng
 a

n 
A

rt
ic

le
 4

 D
ir

ec
ti

on
  

 

 
St

ak
eh

ol
de

r 
W

or
ks

ho
p 

 
  

  24th October  2011 

Page 125



   
  

 

St
ud

y 
Ba

ck
gr

ou
nd

 

•
C
ou

nc
ill

or
s’

 M
ot

io
n 

to
 F

ul
l 
C
ou

nc
il 

•
Pl

an
ni

ng
 D

ep
ar

tm
en

t 
sc

op
ed

 f
ea

si
bi

lit
y 

st
ud

y 
•

Ar
up

 c
om

m
is

si
on

ed
 t

o 
ca

rr
y 

ou
t 

st
ud

y 
•

To
da

y…
 

 

Page 126



   
  

 

Ai
m

 o
f 

St
ud

y 

•
To

 e
xp

lo
re

 t
he

 im
pl

em
en

ta
ti

on
 o

f 
Pl

an
ni

ng
 C

on
tr

ol
s,

 in
 p

ar
ti

cu
la

r 
an

 A
rt

ic
le

 
4 

D
ir

ec
ti

on
 t

o 
lim

it
 t

he
 e

xp
an

si
on

 o
f 

H
ou

se
s 

of
 M

ul
ti

pl
e 

O
cc

up
at

io
n 

(H
M

O
s)

 in
 

Ba
th

 
 

Page 127



   
  

 

Ai
m

s 
of

 W
or

ks
ho

p 

•
to

 s
ha

re
 a

nd
 u

nd
er

st
an

d 
di

ff
er

en
t 

pe
rs

pe
ct

iv
es

 o
n 

th
e 

im
pa

ct
 o

f 
H

M
O

s 
on

 B
at

h 
•

to
 s

ha
re

 d
at

a 
on

 t
he

 n
ee

d 
&

 
im

pa
ct

s 
of

 H
M

O
s 

 
•

to
 t

es
t 

po
te

nt
ia

l 
in

te
rv

en
ti

on
s 

th
at

 m
ig

ht
 

he
lp

 t
o 

su
pp

or
t 

ba
la

nc
ed

 &
 

su
st

ai
na

bl
e 

co
m

m
un

it
ie

s.
 

 

Page 128



   
  

 

Pl
an

ni
ng

 P
ol

ic
y 

Ba
ck

gr
ou

nd
 

•
H

M
O

s 
= 

3 
or

 m
or

e 
pe

op
le

 n
ot

 f
ro

m
 t

he
 s

am
e 

fa
m

ily
 l
iv

in
g 

to
ge

th
er

. 
 

•
U

se
 C

la
ss

 C
3 

= 
fa

m
ily

 h
om

e.
 

•
U

se
 C

la
ss

 C
4 

= 
3-

6 
pe

op
le

. 
N

o 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
 

cu
rr

en
tl

y 
re

qu
ir

ed
 

•
Su

i g
en

er
is

 =
 6

+ 
pe

op
le

. 
Pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
 r

eq
ui

re
d.

 
•

A
rt

ic
le

 4
 D

ir
ec

ti
on

 =
 c

ou
ld

 b
e 

ap
pl

ie
d 

to
 a

ll 
or

 p
ar

t 
of

 
Ba

th
, 

w
ou

ld
 m

ea
n 

pl
an

ni
ng

 p
er

m
is

si
on

 w
ou

ld
 b

e 
re

qu
ir

ed
 

fo
r 

ch
an

ge
 o

f 
us

e 
to

 C
4 

Page 129



   
  

 

W
ho

 l
iv

es
 in

 H
M

O
s 

an
d 

w
hy

? 

Page 130



   
  

 

St
ud

en
t 

C
om

m
un

it
ie

s:
 P

os
it

iv
e 

Im
pa

ct
s 

F+
%$
7&

C
3&
#3
"7
&(

6
BG
1$
%7
&(

D
%+
,+
:
$%
(

,#
08
.1
#%V
(4
01
#.
.)
31
N

,#
08
.1
#%$
(0
+3
1N
%

1.
.8
+%
B)
.V
.1
#%+
.)
3(
0+
%

8.
B(
B0
4"
#3(
1%

=1
2)
."
+.
+%
#$
.%
)"
1N
.%
(E
%

N(
(8
+c
%+
.)
V3
2.
+%
"1
8%

"#
#)
"2
#3(
1+
%

A)
"1
+B
()
#%4
31
C+
%

'
0)
+.
)3
.+
%"
18
%-
04
#3%

E"
3#$
%2
.1
#)
.+
%

Q
3V
.)
+.
%)"
1N
.%
(E
%

20
4#0
)"
4%.
V.
1#
+%

*
1$
"1
2.
+%
).
B0
#"
#3(
1%
(E
%

!
"#
$%
"+
%V
36
)"
1#
c%

87
1"
-
32
%4(
2"
#3(
1%
"1
8%

"+
%"
1%
"#
#)
"2
#3V
.%

8.
+#
31
"#
3(
1%

/
).
"#
.+
%"
1%

31
#.
)1
"#
3(
1"
4f%

2(
+-
(B
(4
3#"
1%
E.
.4
f%

(0
#4(
(C
%

R
3N
$.
)f
)3
+3
1N
%B
)(
B.
)#
7%

B)
32
.+
%B
)(
V3
8.
%"
%4.
V.
4%(
E%

31
2.
1#
3V
.%
E(
)%0
BN
)"
83
1N
%

B)
(B
.)
#3.
+ %

S
"1
7%
(4
8.
)%B
)(
B.
)#
3.
+%

).
2.
3V
.%
2(
1+
38
.)
"6
4.
%

31
V.
+#
-
.1
#%6
7%
B)
3V
"#
.%

4"
18
4(
)8
+ %

A
$.
%.
Y3
+#
.1
2.
%(
E%4
")
N.
%

10
-
6.
)+
%(
E%7
(0
1N
%B
.(
B4
.%

$.
4B
%#(
%-
"C
.%
23
#7
%2
.1
#)
.+
%

"#
#)
"2
#3V
.%
#(
%+
(2
3"
4%"
18
%

).
#"
34%
+B
"2
.+
%

/
$"
1N
.+
%31
%#7
B.
%(
E%)
.#
"3
4%

"1
8%
.1
#.
)#
"3
1-
.1
#%+
.)
V3
2.
+%

"V
"3
4"
64
. %

R
3N
$%
8.
-
"1
8%
E(
)%+
#0
8.
1#
%$
(0
+3
1N
%

"1
8%
#$
.%
+#
3-
04
0+
%#(
%B
)3
V"
#.
%).
1#
.8
%

+.
2#
()
%4.
"8
+%
#(
%)3
+3
1N
%$
(0
+.
%B
)3
2.
+%

^
)(
O
#$
%31
%6
07
I#
(I
4.
#%-
")
C.
#%"
18
%

B)
3V
"#
.%
31
V.
+#
-
.1
#%(
BB
()
#0
13
#3.
+%

54
.Y
36
4.
%B
")
#I
#3-
.%
4"
6(
0)
%E(
)2
.%

01
8.
)#
"C
31
N%
+.
"+
(1
"4
%.
-
B4
(7
-
.1
#%

,#
08
.1
#%B
).
+.
12
.%
2"
1%
$.
4B
%+
#3-
04
"#
.%

0)
6"
1%
).
N.
1.
)"
#3(
1 %

,#
08
.1
#%B
).
+.
12
.%
.1
+0
).
+%
#$
.%

V3
"6
343
#7
%(
E%+
(-
.%
).
#"
34%
60
+3
1.
++
.+
%

X
.B
"3
)+
c%)
.1
(V
"#
3(
1+
%"
18
%.
Y#
.1
+3
(1
+%

n%
6.
1.
E3
#+
%#$
.%
2(
1+
#)
02
#3(
1%
"1
8%

+.
)V
32
.%
+.
2#
()
%(
E%#
$.
%.
2(
1(
-
7%

P
V"
34"
63
43#
7%
(E
%"
%N
)"
80
"#
.%
O
()
CE
()
2.
%

Page 131



   
  

 

C
om

m
un

it
ie

s 
of

 S
tu

de
nt

s:
 C

ha
lle

ng
es

 
F+
%$
7&
(

C
3&
#3
"7
&(

6
BG
1$
%7
&(

D
%+
,+
:
$%
(

=1
2)
."
+.
%31
%4(
O
I4
.V
.4
%"
1#
3I

+(
23
"4
%6
.$
"V
3(
0)
%

/
(1
2.
1#
)"
#3(
1%
(E
%V
04
1.
)"
64
.%

7(
01
N%
B.
(B
4.
%%n
%31
2)
."
+.
%31
%

4.
V.
4+
%(
E%2
)3
-
.%

Q
.2
).
"+
.8
%8
.-
"1
8%
E(
)%+
(-
.%

4(
2"
4%+
.)
V3
2.
+%
4.
"8
31
N%
#(
%

24
(+
0)
.%

-
")
N3
1"
43+
.8
%"
18
%3+
(4
"#
.8
%

B.
)-
"1
.1
#%)
.+
38
.1
#+
%

=1
2)
."
+.
8%
2(
-
B.
#3#
3(
1%
E(
)%

B)
3V
"#
.%
).
1#
.8
%$
(0
+.
+%

*
+#
"6
43+
$-
.1
#+
%2
"#
.)
31
N%
E(
)%

13
N$
#%#
3-
.%
.1
#.
)#
"3
1-
.1
#%

,.
"+
(1
"4
%"
V"
34"
63
43#
7%
(E
%

+(
-
.%
).
#"
34%
"1
8%
+.
)V
32
.%

B)
(V
3+
3(
1%

*
YB
"1
+3
(1
%(
E%R
S
T
+%
31
%E"
-
347
%

")
."
+%
2"
1%
4.
"8
%#(
%2
$"
1N
.%
31
%

1"
#0
).
%(
E%2
(-
-
01
3#3
.+
%

^
)"
80
"4
47
%+
.4
EI
).
31
E(
)2
31
N%

01
B(
B0
4"
)3
#7
%(
E%"
).
"%
E(
)%E
"-
343
.+
%%

/
(1
V.
)+
3(
1%
(E
%$
(0
+.
+%
31
#(
%

+#
08
.1
#%)
.+
38
.1
2.
+c
%(
E#
.1
%-
"C
.%

83
EE
32
04
#%#
)"
1+
E(
)-
"#
3(
1%
6"
2C
%

31
#(
%E"
-
347
%$
(-
.+
%

A)
"1
+3
.1
#%(
22
0B
"#
3(
1%
.1
N.
18
.)
+%

"%
4"
2C
%(
E%2
(-
-
01
3#7
%31
#.
N)
"#
3(
1%

A0
)1
(V
.)
%"
18
%+
$(
)#
%+
#"
7%
")
.%

83
+3
12
.1
#3V
.%
"1
8%
6"
))
3.
)%#
(%
+.
4E
I

B(
432
31
N%
"1
8%
"V
.)
+3
(1
%#(
%2
)3
-
.%

Q
3EE
.)
.1
#%B
.)
2.
B#
3(
1+
%(
E%O
$"
#%3
+%

2(
1+
38
.)
.8
%"
22
.B
#"
64
.%
6.
$"
V3
(0
)%

"1
8%
2(
-
-
01
"4
%(
64
3N
"#
3(
1+
%

\
3E
.+
#7
4.
%E)
32
#3(
1+
%

X
.8
02
#3(
1%
31
%D
0"
43#
7%
(E
%

$(
0+
31
N%
+#
(2
C%
"1
8%
1.
N4
.2
#%

(E
%.
Y#
.)
1"
4%"
BB
."
)"
12
.%
#(
%

B)
(B
.)
#3.
+%

A0
)1
(V
.)
%(
E%B
)(
B.
)#
3.
+%
"1
8%

B)
.B
(1
8.
)"
12
.%
(E
%B
)(
B.
)#
7%

4.
##3
1N
%6
("
)8
+%
%

=1
2)
."
+.
8%
B)
.+
+0
).
+%
(1
%

+.
)V
32
.+
%aB
(4
32
31
Nc
%

24
."
1+
31
Nc
%$
3N
$O
"7
+c
%

B4
"1
13
1N
c%B
06
432
%#)
"1
+B
()
#b
%

=1
2)
."
+.
8%
(1
I+
#)
..
#%B
")
C3
1N
%

B)
.+
+0
).
+%

=1
2)
."
+.
%(
E%+
D0
"4
()
%

a4
3##
.)
f)
.E
0+
.b
c%"
+%

31
E)
"+
#)
02
#0
).
%3+
%8
.+
3N
1.
8%

E(
)%4
(O
.)
%8
.1
+3
#7
%0
+"
N.
c%%

'
(3
+.
%6
.#
O
..
1%
8O
.4
431
N+
%"
#%

"4
4%#
3-
.+
%

R
3N
$%
8.
-
"1
8%
E(
)%+
#0
8.
1#
%

$(
0+
31
N%
"1
8%
#$
.%
+#
3-
04
0+
%#(
%

B)
3V
"#
.%
).
1#
.8
%+
.2
#(
)%4
."
8+
%

#(
%"
%)3
+.
%31
%$
(0
+.
%B
)3
2.
+%

P
%)3
+3
1N
%2
(1
2.
1#
)"
#3(
1%
(E
%

+#
08
.1
#+
%"
2#
+%
"+
%"
%

31
80
2.
-
.1
#%#
(%
(O
1.
)I

(2
20
B3
.)
+%
#(
%#"
C.
%

"8
V"
1#
"N
.%
(E
%"
%40
2)
"#
3V
.%

+"
4.
%#(
%B
)3
V"
#.
%+
#0
8.
1#
%

4"
18
4(
)8
+%

/
$"
1N
.+
%31
%#7
B.
%(
E%)
.#
"3
4%

"1
8%
.1
#.
)#
"3
1-
.1
#%+
.)
V3
2.
+%

"V
"3
4"
64
.%
%

54
02
#0
"#
31
N%
8.
-
"1
8%
E(
)%

B)
3V
"#
.%
).
1#
.8
%$
(0
+3
1N
%

,.
"+
(1
"4
%.
-
B4
(7
-
.1
#%"
18
%

B)
(V
3+
3(
1%
(E
%).
#"
34%
"1
8%

4.
3+
0)
.%
+.
)V
32
.+
%

Page 132



   
  

 

H
M

O
s 

in
 B

&
N

ES

Page 133



   
  

 

H
M

O
s 

in
 B

at
h

Page 134



   
  

 

H
M

O
s 

in
 B

at
h 

(%
)

Page 135



   
  

 

St
ud

en
t 

Pr
op

er
ti

es
 in

 B
at

h 
(%

)

Page 136



   
  

 

A
re

a 
N

um
be

r 
of

 
st

ud
en

t 
ho

us
es

 
N

um
be

r 
of

 
dw

el
lin

gs
 

%
 s

tu
de

nt
 

pr
op

er
ti

es
 

O
ld

fi
el

d 
Pa

rk
 N

or
th

 
15

1 
51

5 
29

.3
%

 

W
es

tm
or

el
an

d 
13

0 
59

0 
22

.0
%

 

W
es

tm
or

el
an

d 
W

es
t 

12
9 

61
9 

20
.8

%
 

O
ld

fi
el

d 
Pa

rk
 W

es
t 

11
5 

58
6 

19
.6

%
 

So
ut

h 
Tw

er
to

n 
Ea

st
 

90
 

51
4 

17
.5

%
 

O
ld

fi
el

d 
Pa

rk
 

95
 

62
8 

15
.1

%
 

W
id

co
m

be
 S

t 
M

ar
ks

 
83

 
55

7 
14

.9
%

 

Vi
ct

or
ia

 P
ar

k 
86

 
70

1 
12

.3
%

 

%
 s

tu
de

nt
 p

ro
pe

rt
ie

s 
in

 t
op

 s
tu

de
nt

 a
re

as
 

Page 137



   
  

 

M
O

SA
IC

 d
at

a 
(S

tu
de

nt
s 

an
d 

YP
s)

Page 138



   
  

 

An
ti

-S
oc

ia
l 
Be

ha
vi

ou
r

Page 139



   
  

 

Page 140



   
  

 

C
om

pl
ai

nt
s 

to
 S

tu
de

nt
 A

ct
io

n 
Li

ne
 

20
09

/1
0 

Page 141



   
  

 

C
om

pl
ai

nt
s 

to
 S

tu
de

nt
 A

ct
io

n 
Li

ne
 

20
09

 /
10

 •
M

ed
ia

n 
= 

10
/m

on
th

 
•

M
ea

n 
= 

11
.4

/m
on

th
 

Page 142



   
  

 

Page 143



   
  

 

Page 144



   
  

 

Page 145



   
  

 

H
ou

si
ng

 C
os

ts
 in

 B
at

h 

H
ou

se
 

C
os

t 
D

ep
os

it
 

R
en

t 
Bu

y-
to

-l
et

 
m

or
tg

ag
e 

re
pa

ym
en

t 

‘F
am

il
y’

 
M

or
tg

ag
e 

3-
be

d,
 2

 
re

ce
pt

io
n 

te
rr

ac
e 

 

£2
45

,0
00

1 
20

%
 

(£
49

,0
00

) 
£1

40
02

 a
s 

4 
be

d 
H

M
O

 
(6

0%
 o

f 
m

in
. 

st
ud

en
t 

lo
an

) 

£9
30

3  
as

 3
 b

ed
 h

ou
se

 
(5

3%
 o

f 
av

e.
 t

ak
e 

ho
m

e 
pa

y)
 

£1
,2

25
4  

£1
,0

35
 (

4%
) 

 
To

ta
l 
ho

us
eh

ol
d 

in
co

m
e 

re
qu

ir
ed

 
ap

pr
ox

. 
£5

0,
00

0 

B&
N

ES
 =

 H
ig

he
st

 m
ea

n 
re

nt
 in

 S
ou

th
 W

es
t 

fo
r 

2 
be

d 
ho

us
e 

(£
76

4)

1 
Ba

th
 a

nd
 N

or
th

 E
as

t 
So

m
er

se
t 

C
ou

nc
il,

 V
ia

bi
li

ty
 S

tu
dy

, 
Ju

ne
 2

01
0 

 
2 

Es
ti

m
at

ed
 f

ro
m

 lo
ca

l 
le

tt
in

g 
ag

en
ts

’ 
ad

ve
rt

s 
3 

Sh
el

te
r 

Pr
iv

at
e 

Re
nt

 W
at

ch
, 

A
na

ly
si

s 
of

 lo
ca

l r
en

t l
ev

el
s 

an
d 

af
fo

rd
ab

ili
ty

, O
ct

ob
er

 2
01

1 
4 

/ 
5 

Lo
nd

on
 a

nd
 C

ou
nt

ry
 M

or
tg

ag
e 

ca
lc

ul
at

or
 

  

Page 146



   
  

 

Fu
tu

re
 T

re
nd

s 
&

 U
nc

er
ta

in
ti

es
: 

St
ud

en
ts

 
•

U
K 

Fe
e 

in
cr

ea
se

  
 

 
LV

= 
Re

po
rt

s 
a 

pr
ed

ic
te

d 
35

%
 d

ro
p 

in
 

nu
m

be
rs

 in
 B

&
N

ES
 (

5,
85

2 
fe

w
er

 
st

ud
en

ts
 b

y 
20

20
?)

 

•
C
ha

ng
e 

in
 r

eg
ul

at
ed

 
st

ud
en

t 
nu

m
be

rs
 

•
Pr

iv
at

e 
un

iv
er

si
ti

es
? 

•
St

ud
en

t 
ty

pe
s 

- 
lo

ca
l,

 
in

te
rn

at
io

na
l,

 F
T,

 P
T 

•
U

ni
ve

rs
it

y 
m

as
te

rp
la

ns
  

Page 147



   
  

 

•
U

ni
ve

rs
it

y 
of

 B
at

h:
  

–
1–

3%
 a

nn
ua

l g
ro

w
th

 t
o 

20
20

 (
1%

=1
30

 s
tu

de
nt

s)
 

–
Po

ss
ib

le
 c

am
pu

s 
ex

pa
ns

io
n 

w
ou

ld
 in

cl
ud

e 
15

00
 -

 1
80

0 
be

ds
pa

ce
s 

•
Ba

th
 S

pa
 U

ni
ve

rs
it

y 
–

N
o 

pl
an

ne
d 

gr
ow

th
 in

 s
tu

de
nt

 n
um

be
rs

 o
ve

r 
ne

xt
 1

0 
ye

ar
s 

(2
01

0)
 

–
M

as
te

rp
la

n 
in

cl
ud

es
 5

00
 n

ew
 b

ed
sp

ac
es

 –
 a

im
in

g 
fo

r 
Se

p 
20

14
 

•
C

it
y 

of
 B

at
h 

C
ol

le
ge

 
–

Ex
pa

nd
in

g 
in

te
rn

at
io

na
l o

ff
er

 
–

Th
e 

cr
ea

ti
on

 o
f 

a 
pr

of
es

si
on

al
 b

us
in

es
s 

sc
ho

ol
 

–
Es

ta
bl

is
hi

ng
 t

he
 B

at
h 

En
gl

is
h 

La
ng

ua
ge

 s
ch

oo
l 

–
Ex

pa
nd

in
g 

an
d 

fu
rt

he
r 

im
pr

ov
in

g 
th

e 
H

E 
po

rt
fo

lio
 

Fu
tu

re
 T

re
nd

s 
an

d 
U

nc
er

ta
in

ti
es

: 
 

H
E 

an
d 

FE
 

Page 148



   
  

 

Fu
tu

re
 T

re
nd

s 
an

d 
U

nc
er

ta
in

ti
es

: 
O

th
er

 G
ro

up
s 

•
H

ou
si

ng
 B

en
ef

it
  

(7
0 

pe
op

le
 in

 B
&

N
ES

) 
•

G
ra

du
at

e 
Re

te
nt

io
n 

•
O

th
er

 c
ha

ng
es

 t
o 

th
e 

ec
on

om
ic

 
pr

of
ile

 o
f 

Ba
th

? 

Page 149



   
  

 

Ex
am

pl
es

 f
ro

m
 E

ls
ew

he
re

 

B
el

fa
st

 
B

el
fa

st
 

B
ou

rn
em

ou
th

 

Le
ed

s

B
el

fa
st

 

C
ar

di
ff 

Le
ed

s

E
xe

te
r 

Page 150



   
  

 

Ba
th

 
M

an
ch

es
te

r 
C

an
te

rb
ur

y 
Ex

et
er

 
O

xf
or

d 
Yo

rk
 

Es
ti

m
at

ed
 F

T 
St

ud
en

t 
Po

pu
la

ti
on

 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

16
,8

45
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

51
,5

65
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
24

,0
00

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
16

,1
75

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
31

,6
20

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
17

,3
50

  

Es
ti

m
at

ed
 

To
ta

l 
Po

pu
la

ti
on

 
93

,2
38

 
49

8,
80

0 
46

,9
78

 
11

9,
60

0 
15

3,
70

0 
14

4,
20

2 

Ar
ea

 
29

km
2  

11
7 

km
2  

36
 k

m
2  

47
 k

m
2  

46
 k

m
2  

78
 k

m
2  

St
ud

en
ts

 a
s 

%
 

of
 T

ot
al

 
Po

pu
la

ti
on

 
18

%
 

15
%
 

51
%
 

14
%
 

21
%
 

12
%
 

St
ud

en
ts

 p
er

 
km

2 
58

1 
44

1 
66

7 
34

4 
68

7 
22

2 

Ex
am

pl
es

 f
ro

m
 E

ls
ew

he
re

 

Page 151



   
  

 

Ar
ti

cl
e 

4 
D

ir
ec

ti
on

 

•
Sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

im
pl

em
en

te
d 

in
 “

ex
ce

pt
io

na
l 

ci
rc

um
st

an
ce

s 
w

he
re

 e
vi

de
nc

e 
su

gg
es

ts
 

th
at

 t
he

 e
xe

rc
is

e 
of

 p
er

m
it

te
d 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t 

ri
gh

ts
 w

ou
ld

 h
ar

m
 l

oc
al

 
am

en
it

y”
 

•
Pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
 w

ou
ld

 b
e 

re
qu

ir
ed

 
fo

r 
co

nv
er

si
on

 f
ro

m
 C

3 
to

 C
4 

•
Re

as
on

s 
fo

r 
re

fu
sa

l w
ou

ld
 s

ti
ll 

be
 

re
qu

ir
ed

 
•

C
os

t 
of

 a
pp

lic
at

io
ns

 f
al

ls
 t

o 
lo

ca
l 

au
th

or
it

y 
•

W
ho

le
 c

it
y 

vs
 p

ar
ti

al
? 

•
Im

m
ed

ia
te

 v
s 

12
 m

on
th

? 
  

Page 152



   
  

 

Ar
ti

cl
e 

4 
D

ir
ec

ti
on

 Im
pl

em
en

ta
ti

on
  
 

Ex
am

pl
es

 f
ro

m
 e

ls
ew

he
re

. 

M
an

ch
es

te
r 

C
an

te
rb

ur
y 

Ex
et

er
 

O
xf

or
d 

Yo
rk

 

D
at

e 
(t

o 
be

) 
in

tr
od

uc
ed

8t
h  

O
ct

ob
er

 
20

11
30

th
 N

ov
em

be
r 

20
11

31
st
 D

ec
em

be
r 

20
11

 
24

th
 F

eb
ru

ar
y 

20
12

20
th

 A
pr

il 
20

12

W
ho

le
 c

it
y 

or
 p

ar
ti

al
? 

W
ho

le
 c

it
y 

Al
l 
of

 u
rb

an
 

ar
ea

 

Pa
rt

ia
l 
(w

it
h 

so
m

e 
st

re
et

s 
ex

cl
ud

ed
) 

W
ho

le
 c

it
y 

Al
l 
of

 u
rb

an
 

ar
ea

 

12
 m

on
th

 
no

ti
ce

? 
Ye

s 
Ye

s 
Ye

s 
Ye

s 
Ye

s 

Page 153



   
  

 

O
th

er
 P

la
nn

in
g 

Po
lic

y 
O

pt
io

ns
 

•
T

hr
es

ho
ld

: 
A 

ce
ili

ng
 is

 s
et

 a
bo

ve
 w

hi
ch

 c
er

ta
in

 f
or

m
s 

of
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t 

ar
e 

no
t 

pe
rm

it
te

d 
(e

.g
. 

20
%
 o

f 
st

ud
en

t 
pr

op
er

ti
es

).
 T

hi
s 

m
ig

ht
 b

e 
on

 a
 s

tr
ee

t-
by

-s
tr

ee
t 

ba
si

s 
ac

ro
ss

 t
he

 c
it

y,
 o

r 
on

 a
 n

ei
gh

bo
ur

ho
od

 b
as

is
. 

 
 

•
Li

nk
in

g 
gr

ow
th

 in
 a

ca
de

m
ic

 s
pa

ce
 t

o 
gr

ow
th

 in
 a

cc
om

m
od

at
io

n 
 

pr
ov

is
io

n:
 N

ot
 a

llo
w

in
g 

pl
an

ni
ng

 p
er

m
is

si
on

 f
or

 g
ro

w
th

 in
 U

ni
ve

rs
it

y 
sp

ac
e 

th
at

 is
 li

ke
ly

 t
o 

le
ad

 t
o 

a 
gr

ow
th

 in
 s

tu
de

nt
 n

um
be

rs
, 

w
it

ho
ut

 a
n 

eq
ui

va
le

nt
 a

m
ou

nt
 o

f 
pu

rp
os

e-
bu

ilt
 a

cc
om

m
od

at
io

n.
 

 
•

Pu
rp

os
e-

bu
ilt

 a
cc

om
m

od
at

io
n:

 D
ef

in
in

g 
ar

ea
s 

fo
r,

 o
r 

ha
vi

ng
 p

ol
ic

y 
in

 
fa

vo
ur

 o
f,

 p
ur

po
se

-b
ui

lt
 s

tu
de

nt
 a

cc
om

m
od

at
io

n 
 

•
Pl

an
ni

ng
 c

on
di

ti
on

s 
on

 p
ur

po
se

-b
ui

lt
: 

to
 c

on
tr

ol
 t

he
 n

eg
at

iv
e 

im
pa

ct
s 

of
 

la
rg

e 
co

nc
en

tr
at

io
ns

 o
f 

st
ud

en
ts

 

Page 154



   
  

 

O
th

er
 P

la
nn

in
g 

Po
lic

y 
O

pt
io

ns
: 

 
W

ha
t’

s 
ha

pp
en

in
g 

el
se

w
he

re
?

A
pp

ro
ac

h 
M

an
ch

es
te

r 
C

an
te

rb
ur

y 
Ex

et
er

 
O

xf
or

d 
Yo

rk
 

T
hr

es
ho

ld
 a

pp
ro

ac
h 

ü
 

(C
or

e 
St

ra
te

gy
) 

ü
  

(S
PD

) 
ü

 

Li
nk

in
g 

gr
ow

th
 in

 
ac

ad
em

ic
 s

pa
ce

 t
o 

pu
rp

os
e-

bu
ilt

 
ac

co
m

m
od

at
io

n 

ü
  

(L
oc

al
 P

la
n)

 
ü

(C
or

e 
St

ra
te

gy
)

ü
 

(C
or

e 
St

ra
te

gy
) 

Pl
an

ni
ng

 c
on

di
ti

on
s 

on
 

pu
rp

os
e-

bu
ilt

 
ü

 
(C

or
e 

St
ra

te
gy

) 
ü

(C
or

e 
St

ra
te

gy
)

O
th

er
 p

ol
ic

ie
s 

Pr
om

ot
io

n 
of

 
fa

m
ily

 h
ou

si
ng

 
(B

al
an

ce
 o

f 
D

w
el

lin
gs

 S
PD

) 

Page 155



   
  

 

O
th

er
 O

pt
io

ns
 (

1)
: 

Li
ce

ns
in

g 
•

A
 li

ce
ns

e:
 s

pe
ci

fi
es

 t
he

 m
ax

im
um

 n
um

be
r 

of
  

pe
op

le
 w

ho
 l
iv

e 
in

 a
n 

H
M

O
, 

an
d 

al
so

 r
eq

ui
re

s:
 

–
A 

va
lid

 c
ur

re
nt

 g
as

 s
af

et
y 

ce
rt

if
ic

at
e,

 w
hi

ch
 is

 r
en

ew
ed

 a
nn

ua
lly

. 
 

–
Th

at
 a

ll 
el

ec
tr

ic
al

 a
pp

lia
nc

es
 a

nd
 f

ur
ni

tu
re

 a
re

 k
ep

t 
in

 a
 s

af
e 

co
nd

it
io

n.
  

–
Th

at
 a

ll 
sm

ok
e 

al
ar

m
s 

ar
e 

co
rr

ec
tl

y 
po

si
ti

on
ed

 a
nd

 in
st

al
le

d.
  

–
A 

w
ri

tt
en

 s
ta

te
m

en
t 

of
 t

he
 t

er
m

s 
on

 w
hi

ch
 e

ac
h 

te
na

nt
 o

cc
up

ie
s 

th
e 

pr
op

er
ty

 (
e.

g.
 a

 t
en

an
cy

 a
gr

ee
m

en
t)

. 
 

•
St

an
da

rd
 (

al
re

ad
y 

in
 p

la
ce

):
 F

or
 p

ro
pe

rt
ie

s 
w

it
h 

m
or

e 
th

an
 5

 
oc

cu
pi

er
s 

an
d 

3 
st

or
ey

s 
or

 o
ve

r.
 

•
A

dd
it

io
na

l:
 li

ce
ns

in
g 

to
 c

ov
er

 o
th

er
 H

M
O

 t
yp

es
 n

ot
 c

ov
er

ed
 b

y 
m

an
da

to
ry

 li
ce

ns
in

g.
 C

an
 b

e 
ar

ea
-s

pe
ci

fi
c,

 o
r 

LA
-w

id
e 

•
Se

le
ct

iv
e:

 li
ce

ns
in

g 
fo

r 
al

l 
pr

iv
at

e 
re

nt
ed

 p
ro

pe
rt

ie
s 

in
 a

n 
ar

ea
. 

 

Page 156



   
  

 

O
th

er
 O

pt
io

ns
: 

Li
ce

ns
in

g 
W

ha
t’

s 
ha

pp
en

in
g 

el
se

w
he

re
?

A
pp

ro
ac

h
M

an
ch

es
te

r  
C

an
te

rb
ur

y 
Ex

et
er

 
O

xf
or

d 
Yo

rk
 

St
an

da
rd

 
ü

 

A
dd

it
io

na
l  

U
nd

er
 

co
ns

id
er

at
io

n 
U

nd
er

 
co

ns
id

er
at

io
n 

ü
 

(w
ho

le
 c

it
y 

– 
al

l 
H

M
O

s 
by

 J
an

 2
01

2)
 

Se
le

ct
iv

e 
ü

 

Page 157



   
  

 

O
th

er
 O

pt
io

ns
 (

2)
: 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

(i
n 

pl
ac

e)
 

•
St

ud
en

t 
di

sc
ip

lin
ar

y 
/ 

ru
le

s 
an

d 
re

gs
: 

In
cl

us
io

n 
of

 a
ct

io
ns

 in
 t

he
 

co
m

m
un

it
y 

in
 H

EI
 r

ul
es

 a
nd

 r
eg

ul
at

io
ns

 a
nd

 e
nf

or
ce

m
en

t 
of

 t
he

se
 

•
St

ud
en

t-
C

om
m

un
it

y 
Li

ai
so

n:
 S

ta
ff

 e
m

pl
oy

ed
 b

y 
H

EI
 a

nd
/o

r 
LA

 t
o 

pr
om

ot
e 

lia
is

on
 b

et
w

ee
n 

co
m

m
un

it
y 

an
d 

st
ud

en
ts

 
•

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s 

to
 p

ro
m

ot
e 

co
he

si
on

: 
Ac

ti
vi

ti
es

 o
rg

an
is

ed
 b

y 
co

m
m

un
it

y 
gr

ou
ps

, 
H

EI
s,

 S
U

s 
or

 L
As

 t
o 

en
co

ur
ag

e 
gr

ou
ps

 t
o 

co
m

e 
to

ge
th

er
 

•
R

es
id

en
ts

’ 
Pa

rk
in

g:
 R

es
tr

ic
ti

on
s 

fo
r 

on
-s

tr
ee

t 
pa

rk
in

g 
 

•
La

nd
lo

rd
 a

cc
re

di
ta

ti
on

 s
ch

em
e:

 a
cc

re
di

ta
ti

on
 s

ch
em

e 
to

 e
ns

ur
e 

qu
al

it
y 

of
 a

cc
om

m
od

at
io

n 
in

 t
he

 p
ri

va
te

 r
en

te
d 

se
ct

or
 

•
St

ud
en

t 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
pr

ov
is

io
n:

 P
ro

vi
si

on
 o

f 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
on

 
re

sp
on

si
bi

lit
ie

s 
w

he
n 

liv
in

g 
in

 c
om

m
un

it
y 

an
d 

on
 c

ho
ic

e 
of

 a
re

as
 t

o 
liv

e 
•

C
om

m
un

it
y 

H
el

pl
in

e:
 P

ho
ne

 li
ne

 f
or

 q
ue

ri
es

 a
nd

 c
om

pl
ai

nt
s 

Page 158



   
  

 

O
th

er
 O

pt
io

ns
: 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

W
ha

t’
s 

ha
pp

en
in

g 
el

se
w

he
re

?
A

pp
ro

ac
h

M
an

ch
es

te
r 

C
an

te
rb

ur
y 

Ex
et

er
 

O
xf

or
d 

Yo
rk

 

St
ud

en
t 

di
sc

ip
lin

e 
/ 

ru
le

s 
an

d 
re

gs
 

ü
 

ü
  

(U
ni

ve
rs

it
y 

of
 

Ke
nt

) 
ü

 
ü

  
(O

xf
or

d 
Br

oo
ke

s)
 

ü
 

(Y
or

k 
St

 J
oh

n)
 

St
ud

en
t-

 C
om

m
un

it
y 

Li
ai

so
n 

ü
 

ü
 

ü
 

ü
  

ü
 

Ac
ti

vi
ti

es
 t

o 
pr

om
ot

e 
co

he
si

on
 

ü
 

ü
 

(U
ni

ve
rs

it
y 

fu
nd

) 
ü

  
(L

oc
al

 r
es

id
en

ts
) 

ü
 

Re
si

de
nt

s’
 P

ar
ki

ng
 

ü
 

ü
 

ü
 

ü
 

ü
 

Sp
ec

ia
l p

er
m

it
s 

fo
r 

H
M

O
s 

La
nd

lo
rd

 
ac

cr
ed

it
at

io
n 

sc
he

m
e 

ü
  

(c
om

pu
ls

or
y 

fo
r 

st
ud

en
t 

pr
op

er
ti

es
; 

st
ar

 r
at

in
gs

) 

ü
 

ü
 

fo
r 

al
l H

M
O

s 

St
ud

en
t 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

pr
ov

is
io

n 
ü

ü
ü

ü
ü

C
om

m
un

it
y 

H
el

pl
in

e 
ü

 
ü

 
ü

 
(O

xf
or

d 
Br

oo
ke

s)
 

ü
  

(Y
or

k 
SU

) 

Page 159



   
  

 

O
th

er
 O

pt
io

ns
 (

3)
: 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

•
St

ud
en

t 
C

ha
rt

er
: 

An
 a

gr
ee

m
en

t 
on

 r
ig

ht
s 

an
d 

re
sp

on
si

bi
lit

ie
s 

be
tw

ee
n 

st
ud

en
t 

an
d 

H
EI

 
•

‘C
om

m
un

it
y 

W
ar

de
ns

’:
 S

tu
de

nt
s 

em
pl

oy
ed

 t
o 

ac
t 

as
 

‘w
ar

de
ns

’ 
in

 t
he

 l
oc

al
 c

om
m

un
it

y 
•

Pu
bl

ic
 t

ra
ns

po
rt

 im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

: 
Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 t

o 
pu

bl
ic

 t
ra

ns
po

rt
 f

ro
m

 u
ni

ve
rs

it
ie

s 
an

d 
ot

he
r 

jo
ur

ne
y 

at
tr

ac
to

rs
 t

o 
ot

he
r 

pa
rt

s 
of

 t
he

 c
it

y 
•

W
as

te
 s

er
vi

ce
s?

 
•

Pu
bl

ic
 r

ea
lm

 im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

? 

Page 160



   
  

 

O
th

er
 O

pt
io

ns
: 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

W
ha

t’
s 

ha
pp

en
in

g 
el

se
w

he
re

?

A
pp

ro
ac

h 
M

an
ch

es
te

r  
C

an
te

rb
ur

y 
Ex

et
er

 
O

xf
or

d 
Yo

rk
 

St
ud

en
t 

C
ha

rt
er

 
ü

 
(O

xf
or

d 
Br

oo
ke

s)
 

ü
 

(Y
or

k 
St

 J
oh

n)
 

C
om

m
un

it
y 

W
ar

de
ns

 
ü

 
ü

 

Pu
bl

ic
 T

ra
ns

po
rt

 
Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 

ü
 

ü
 

ü
 

ü
 

ü
 

W
as

te
 S

er
vi

ce
s

Pu
bl

ic
 R

ea
lm

 
Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 

Page 161



   
  

 

N
ex

t 
St

ep
s

•
Re

po
rt

 o
f 

W
or

ks
ho

p 
– 

N
ov

 2
01

1 
•

Fi
na

l 
Ar

up
 R

ep
or

t 
– 

D
ec

 2
01

1 
•

C
ou

nc
il 

D
ec

is
io

n 
M

ak
in

g 
– 

Ja
n 

20
11

 

Page 162



   
  

 

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 

Page 163



   
  

 M
an

ch
es

te
r

Page 164



   
  

 C
an

te
rb

ur
y

Page 165



   
  

 

Ex
et

er

Page 166



   
  

 

O
xf

or
d

Page 167



   
  

 

Yo
rk

Page 168



   
  

 

N
oi

se
 In

ci
de

nt
 C

al
ls

 

Page 169



   
  

 

N
ui

sa
nc

e 
N

ei
gh

bo
ur

 C
al

ls
 

Page 170



   
  

 

Ro
w

dy
 B

eh
av

io
ur

 C
al

ls
 

Page 171



   
  

 

St
re

et
 D

ri
nk

in
g 

C
al

ls
 

Page 172



!44',9$E(N(

'"#3(1"4%Q3+20++3(1%(1%
,#08.1#3E32"#3(1%

Page 173



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs
Feasibility Study 

4.50 | Issue | 21 December 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX

Page B1

NH F#39',#$-$%7#$+,(

,#08.1#3E32"#3(1%2"1%6.%8.E31.8%"+%h#$.%+(23"4%"18%.1V3)(1-.1#"4%2$"1N.+%2"0+.8%
67%V.)7%4")N.%10-6.)+%(E%+#08.1#+%43V31N%31%B")#3204")%")."+%(E%"%#(O1%()%23#7:eH9%
W$34+#%#$.%8.E313#3(1%3+%1.0#)"4%31%#(1.c%4(2"4%).+38.1#+%(E#.1%B.)2.3V.%#$.%3-B"2#+%
(E%"1%312)."+.8%+#08.1#%B(B04"#3(1%"+%1.N"#3V.:%%

P%?<<H%).B()#H;%67%L13V.)+3#3.+%LMc%#$.%B)3123B"4%).B).+.1#"#3V.%6(87%E()%#$.%
$3N$.)%.802"#3(1%+.2#()c%0+.E0447%8.E31.+%#$.%3-B"2#+%(E%+#08.1#+%(1%4(2"4%
.1V3)(1-.1#+%"+%E"4431N%31#(%E(0)%2"#.N()3.+d%+(23"4c%.2(1(-32c%B$7+32"4%"18%
204#0)"4:%!(#$%#$.%B(+3#3V.%.EE.2#+%"18%2$"44.1N.+%38.1#3E3.8%67%#$.%L13V.)+3#3.+%LM%
).+.")2$%").%+.#%(0#%31%#$.%#"64.+%6.4(O:%%

%

A"64.%@?_%,#08.1#%B(B04"#3(1+_%B(+3#3V.%.EE.2#+%

F+%$7&( C3&#3"7&( 6BG1$%7&( D%+,+:$%(

,#08.1#%V(401#..)31N%
-"C.+%"1%3-B()#"1#%
2(1#)360#3(1%#(%-"17%
"+B.2#+%(E%+(23"4%43E.%
,#08.1#%$(0+31N%
1..8+%B).V.1#%

+.)3(0+%8.B(B04"#3(1%
31%-"17%311.)I23#7%

")."+%
=12)."+.+%#$.%)"1N.%
(E%N((8+c%+.)V32.+%
"18%"##)"2#3(1+%
"V"34"64.%#(%#$.%
#(O1f23#7e+%
B(B04"#3(1%

P%2)3#32"4%-"++%(E%
+#08.1#+%2"1%.1+0).%
#)"1+B()#%431C+%#(%#$.%
6.1.E3#%(E%#$.%O$(4.%

2(--013#7%
,#08.1#%2(--013#3.+%
2"1%"4+(%+0BB()#%
10)+.)3.+%"18%-04#3%
E"3#$%2.1#).+%

%
%

/)."#.%"%2)3#32"4%-"++%
"18%8.-"18%E()%%
83V.)+.%)"1N.%(E%
204#0)"4%.V.1#+%

*1$"12.+%).B0#"#3(1%
(E%23#7f#(O1%"+%
V36)"1#c%871"-32%
4(2"#3(1%"18%"+%"1%
"##)"2#3V.%8.+#31"#3(1%
E()%.:N:c%13N$#I
2406631Nc%.V.131N%
.2(1(-7c%()%#(0)3+-%

/)."#.+%"1%
31#.)1"#3(1"4f%

2(+-(B(43#"1%E..4f%
(0#4((C%
%
%
%

R3N$.)f)3+31N%B)(B.)#7%
B)32.+%B)(V38.%"%4.V.4%
(E%312.1#3V.%E()%

0BN)"831N%B)(B.)#3.+%
O$32$%-3N$#%

(#$.)O3+.%).-"31%
.-B#7c%4"1N03+$%31%"%
1.N4.2#.8%+#"#.%()%6.%
N.1.)"447%01E3#%E()%

$"63#"#3(1%
S"17%(48.)%B)(B.)#3.+%
).2.3V.%2(1+38.)"64.%
31V.+#-.1#%67%B)3V"#.%
4"184()8+%O$32$%
.Y#.18+%#$.3)%43E.%

A$.%.Y3+#.12.%(E%4")N.%
10-6.)+%(E%7(01N%
B.(B4.%$.4B%#(%-"C.%
23#7%2.1#).+%"##)"2#3V.%
#(%+(23"4%"18%).#"34%

+B"2.+%
/$"1N.+%31%#7B.%(E%

).#"34%"18%
.1#.)#"31-.1#%+.)V32.+%
"V"34"64.%`%.:N:%4(2"4%
+$(B+%6.2(-31N%2"E.+c%
6((C+$(B+c%43V.%-0+32%

V.10.+%

R3N$%8.-"18%E()%
+#08.1#%$(0+31N%"18%
#$.%+#3-040+%#(%B)3V"#.%
).1#.8%+.2#()%4."8+%#(%
)3+31N%$(0+.%B)32.+%
^)(O#$%31%607I#(I4.#%
-")C.#%"18%B)3V"#.%
31V.+#-.1#%
(BB()#013#3.+%

,#08.1#+%2(1+#3#0#.%"%
E4.Y364.%B")#I#3-.%
4"6(0)%E()2.%

018.)#"C31N%+."+(1"4%
.-B4(7-.1#%

,#08.1#%B).+.12.%2"1%
$.4B%+#3-04"#.%0)6"1%

).N.1.)"#3(1(
,#08.1#%B).+.12.%
.1+0).+%#$.%V3"6343#7%
(E%+(-.%).#"34%
60+31.++.+(

X.B"3)+c%).1(V"#3(1+%
"18%.Y#.1+3(1+%#(%
+#08.1#%B)(B.)#3.+%
6.1.E3#+%#$.%

2(1+#)02#3(1%"18%
+.)V32.%+.2#()%(E%#$.%

.2(1(-7(
PV"34"6343#7%(E%"%
N)"80"#.%O()CE()2.%

%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
H9%S"2-344"1%*1N43+$%Q32#3(1")7%a?<<Jb%
H;%L13V.)+3#3.+%LMc%’Studentification’: a guide to opportunities, challenges and practicec%?<<Hc%
$##B_ffOOO:013V.)+3#3.+0C:"2:0CfU06432"#3(1+fQ(20-.1#+f+#08.1#3E32"#3(1tN038.:B8E%%

Page 174



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs
Feasibility Study 

4.50 | Issue | 21 December 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX

Page B2

%
A"64.%@J_%/(--013#3.+%(E%+#08.1#+_%2$"44.1N.+%

F+%$7&( C3&#3"7&( 6BG1$%7&( D%+,+:$%(

=12)."+.%31%4(OI4.V.4%
"1#3I+(23"4%6.$"V3(0)%
/(12.1#)"#3(1%(E%
V041.)"64.%7(01N%
B.(B4.%O3#$%4(O%

"O").1.++%(E%+.20)3#7%
"18%$3N$47%"##)"2#3V.%
B(++.++3(1+%4."831N%
#(%312)."+.8%4.V.4+%(E%
2)3-.:%A$3+%2"1%).+04#%
31%$3N$.)%31+0)"12.%
B).-30-+%a3:.:c%
$(0+.c%2(1#.1#+c%

V.$324.b%
Q.2)."+.8%8.-"18%
E()%+(-.%4(2"4%

+.)V32.+%4."831N%#(%
24(+0).%`%B")#3204")47%
.802"#3(1"4%+.)V32.+%
X.+38.1#+%E..4%

B).++0).%#(%-(V.%#(%
"V(38%6.2(-31N%
-")N31"43+.8%"18%

3+(4"#.8%"+%B.)-"1.1#%
).+38.1#+:%A$3+%2"1%

4."8%#(%#$.%
8.-()"43+"#3(1%(E%
.+#"643+$.8%).+38.1#+%

=12)."+.8%
2(-B.#3#3(1%E()%

B)3V"#.%).1#.8%$(0+.+%
U).++0).%E()%N)."#.)%
B)(V3+3(1%(E%
.+#"643+$-.1#+%
2"#.)31N%E()%13N$#%
#3-.%.1#.)#"31-.1#%
"18%2(1+.D0.1#%

8.#)3-.1#"4%3-B"2#%(1%
).+38.1#3"4%"-.13#7%
,."+(1"4%"V"34"6343#7%
(E%+(-.%).#"34%"18%
+.)V32.%B)(V3+3(1%`%
8.V.4(B-.1#%(E%"%
h).+()#%.2(1(-7e%

*YB"1+3(1%(E%RST+%
31%#)"83#3(1"4%(O1.)I
(220B3.8c%E"-347%
")."+%2"1%4."8%#(%
2$"1N.%31%1"#0).%(E%
2(--013#3.+%
^)"80"447%+.4EI
).31E()231N%

01B(B04")3#7%(E%")."%
E()%E"-343.+%O3+$31N%
#(%6)31N%0B%2$348).1%
/(1V.)+3(1%(E%$(0+.+%

31#(%+#08.1#%
).+38.12.+c%(E#.1%
-"C.%83EE3204#%

#)"1+E()-"#3(1%6"2C%
31#(%E"-347%$(-.+%
A)"1+3.1#%(220B"#3(1%
.1N.18.)+%"%4"2C%(E%

2(--013#7%
31#.N)"#3(1%"18%
2($.+3(1%"18%4.++%
2(--3#-.1#%#(%

-"31#"31%#$.%D0"43#7%
(E%4(2"4%.1V3)(1-.1#%
A0)1(V.)%"18%+$()#%
+#"7%").%83+312.1#3V.%
"18%6"))3.)%#(%+.4EI
B(43231N%"18%"V.)+3(1%

#(%2)3-.%
Q3EE.).1#%B.)2.B#3(1+%
(E%O$"#%3+%2(1+38.).8%
"22.B#"64.%6.$"V3(0)%
"18%2(--01"4%
(643N"#3(1+%67%
83EE.).1#%+(23"4%

N)(0B+%
\3E.+#74.%E)32#3(1+%`%
4"#.%13N$#%+#08.1#%
204#0).%83+#0)6+%

2$348).1%"18%O()C31N%
B.(B4.%

X.802#3(1%31%D0"43#7%(E%
$(0+31N%+#(2C%"18%
1.N4.2#%(E%.Y#.)1"4%
"BB.")"12.%#(%

B)(B.)#3.+%31240831N%
N")8.1+c%80.%#(%4"2C%(E%
31V.+#-.1#%67%"6+.1#..%

4"184()8+%
A0)1(V.)%(E%B)(B.)#3.+%
"18%B).B(18.)"12.%(E%
B)(B.)#7%4.##31N%6(")8+%
`%).20))31N%"110"447%`%

8.#)"2#%E)(-%
+#)..#+2"B.%

=12)."+.8%B(B04"#3(1%
8.1+3#7%"18%312)."+.8%
B).++0).+%(1%+.)V32.+%
aB(43231Nc%24."1+31Nc%
$3N$O"7+c%B4"1131Nc%
B06432%#)"1+B()#b%
=12)."+.8%(1I+#)..#%
B")C31N%B).++0).+%
")3+31N%E)(-%+$").8%
$(0+.$(48+%"18%
+."+(1"4%#)"EE32%
2(1N.+#3(1%a.:N:%"#%
N)"80"#3(1+c%.18%(E%

#.)-b%
=12)."+.%(E%+D0"4()%
a43##.)f).E0+.bc%"+%
31E)"+#)02#0).%3+%
8.+3N1.8%E()%4(O.)%
8.1+3#7%0+"N.c%4(O%
"O").1.++%(E%).E0+.%

2(44.2#3(1%
"))"1N.-.1#+%"18%
83EE.).1#%2(12.B#3(1+%
(E%O$"#%3+%#(4.)"64.%
'(3+.%6.#O..1%

8O.4431N+%"#%"44%#3-.+%
.+B.23"447%-0+32%"18%"#%
13N$#%`%B")#3.+%"18%
N"#$.)31N+%"18%4"#.%
13N$#%+#)..#%1(3+.%
83+#0)6"12.%

R3N$%8.-"18%E()%
+#08.1#%$(0+31N%"18%
#$.%+#3-040+%#(%

B)3V"#.%).1#.8%+.2#()%
4."8+%#(%"%)3+.%31%
$(0+.%B)32.+c%

8.#.))31N%"22.++%#(%
$(0+31N%4"88.)%E()%
(#$.)%+.2#3(1+%(E%
2(--013#7%
P%)3+31N%

2(12.1#)"#3(1%(E%
+#08.1#+%31%B")#3204")%
+#)..#+%"2#+%"+%"%

+#)(1N%31802.-.1#%#(%
(O1.)I(220B3.)+%(E%
1(1I+#08.1#%

B)(B.)#3.+%#(%#"C.%
"8V"1#"N.%(E%"%
402)"#3V.%+"4.%#(%
B)3V"#.%+#08.1#%
4"184()8+%

/$"1N.+%31%#7B.%(E%
).#"34%"18%

.1#.)#"31-.1#%
+.)V32.+%"V"34"64.%`%
.:N:%4(2"4%+$(B+%

6.2(-31N%#"C."O"7+%
"18%2"E.+c%"18%).I
()3.1#"#3(1%(E%+#(2C%
5402#0"#31N%8.-"18%
E()%B)3V"#.%).1#.8%

$(0+31N%
,."+(1"4%.-B4(7-.1#%
a31%+$(B+c%B06+b%"18%
B)(V3+3(1%(E%).#"34%
"18%4.3+0).%+.)V32.+%

%

P%+#"C.$(48.)%O()C+$(B%)01%"+%B")#%(E%#$.%.V38.12.%N"#$.)31N%E()%#$3+%+#087%
).2(N13+.8%#$.%3-B"2#+%(E%RST+%31%!"#$%"+%6.31N%+43N$#47%83EE.).1#%E)(-%#$.%
3-B"2#+%(E%+#08.1#+%).2(N13+.8%1"#3(1"447:%%

%

Page 175



!44',9$E(C(

!"2CN)(018%#(%P)#324.%9%
Q3).2#3(1+%E()%RST+%

Page 176



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs 
Feasibility Study 

4.50 | Issue | 21 December 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX

Page C1

CH 6"'(C$"%3&7"(PfHM(?'K3&7#+"G(6+1$#$+,(

U)3()%#(%#$.%N038"12.%+.#%(0#%31%/3)204")%;f@<%#$.%).N04"#()7%E)"-.O()C%838%1(#%
8.E31.%h-04#3B4.%(220B"#3(1e%1()%hRSTe%60#%).43.8%(1%#$.%2(12.B#+%(E%h+31N4.%
$(0+.$(48e%"18%hE"-347e%31%()8.)%#(%"++3+#%O3#$%-"C31N%83+#312#3(1+%6.#O..1%0+.%
24"++.+%:%A(%#$3+%.18c%RST+%O.).%0124"++3E3.8%67%#$.%L+.%/4"++%T)8.)%"18%
N)(0B.8%"+%"%sui generis use a(E%3#+%(O1%C318b:%

U).%/3)204")%;f@<%#$.%L+.%/4"++.+%T)8.)%8.E31.8%"%8O.4431N%$(0+.%"+%/4"++%/J:%
A$3+%0+.%24"++%O"+%+0683V38.8%31#(%#$.%E(44(O31N%2"#.N()3.+_%

"b /J%a"b_%/(V.)+%0+.%67%"%+31N4.%B.)+(1%()%"%E"-347%a"%2(0B4.%O$.#$.)%
-"))3.8%()%1(#c%"%B.)+(1%).4"#.8%#(%(1.%"1(#$.)%O3#$%-.-6.)+%(E%#$.%E"-347%
(E%(1.%(E%#$.%2(0B4.%#(%6.%#)."#.8%"+%-.-6.)+%(E%#$.%E"-347%(E%#$.%(#$.)bc%
"1%.-B4(7.)%"18%2.)#"31%8(-.+#32%.-B4(7..+%a+02$%"+%"1%"0%B"3)c%1"117c%
10)+.c%N(V.)1.++c%+.)V"1#c%2$"0EE.0)c%N")8.1.)c%+.2).#")7c%B.)+(1"4%
"++3+#"1#bc%"%2").)%"18%#$.%B.)+(1%).2.3V31N%#$.%2").%"18%"%E(+#.)%B").1#%"18%
E(+#.)%2$348:%

6b /Ja6b_%0B%#(%+3Y%B.(B4.%43V31N%#(N.#$.)%"+%"%+31N4.%$(0+.$(48%"18%).2.3V31N%
2").%.:N:%+0BB()#.8%$(0+31N%+2$.-.+%+02$%"+%#$(+.%E()%B.(B4.%O3#$%4.")131N%
83+"6343#3.+%()%-.1#"4%$."4#$%B)(64.-+:%T1%#$3+%6"+3+c%B4"1131N%B.)-3++3(1%
O(048%6.%).D03).8%#(%2$"1N.%#$.%0+.%(E%"%8O.4431N%$(0+.%#(%"1%RST%aO3#$%
(V.)%H%6.8)((-+bc%B)(V38.8%"%-"#.)3"4%2$"1N.%(E%0+.%$"8%(220)).8:%

CJ !:',9:',#(#+(#B'(Q+A,(7,9(C+3,#"G(
6&7,,$,K(bX1'(C&711'1c(0"9'"(HdhT(5(
C$"%3&7"(PfHM(

T1%#$.%?[#$%F"10")7%?<@<c%#$.%Q.B")#-.1#%E()%/(--013#3.+%"18%\(2"4%
^(V.)1-.1#%a/\^b%B0643+$.8%"%8(20-.1#%.1#3#4.%‘Houses in multiple occupation 
and possible planning responses: consultation – summary of responses’66:%A$3+%
8(20-.1#%B)(V38.8%"%+0--")7%(E%).+B(1+.+%#(%#$.%"E().-.1#3(1.8%2(1+04#"#3(1%
"18%(0#431.8%#$.%^(V.)1-.1#+%).+B(1+.:%A$.%2$(+.1%)(0#.%#$.%#$.1%^(V.)1-.1#%
8.238.8%#(%"8(B#%O"+%#O(E(48_%

@: P-.18%#$.%A(O1%"18%/(01#)7%U4"1131N%aL+.%/4"++.+b%T)8.)%@]G[%#(%
B)(V38.%"%+B.23E32%8.E313#3(1%(E%"%RST:%A$3+%8.E313#3(1%+$(048%6.%31%431.%
O3#$%#$.%8.E313#3(1%B)(V38.8%67%#$.%R(0+31N%P2#%?<<9%31%()8.)%#(%B)(V38.%
24")3#7%"18%"43N1%$(0+31N%"18%B4"1131N%4.N3+4"#3(1:%P+%"%).+04#%(E%#$3+%
"-.18-.1#c%B4"1131N%B.)-3++3(1%O344%6.%).D03).8%O$.).%"%-"#.)3"4%2$"1N.%
(E%0+.%$"+%(220)).8c%E()%B)(B.)#3.+%2$"1N31N%0+.%E)(-%/4"++%/J%a8O.4431N%
$(0+.b%#(%#$.%1.O%0+.%24"++c%/9%aRSTb:%

?: P1%"883#3(1"4%/Ja/b%/4"++c%O$32$%"44(O+%E()%0B%#(%H%B.(B4.%43V31N%#(N.#$.)%
"+%"%+31N4.%$(0+.$(48%a.:N:%+-"44%).43N3(0+%2(--013#7c%()%(O1.)%(220B3.)%
B40+%4(8N.)bc%"18%"-.18%#$.%A(O1%"18%/(01#)7%U4"1131N%a^.1.)"4%
U.)-3##.8%Q.V.4(B-.1#b%T)8.)%@]];%#(%B.)-3#%#$.%-(V.-.1#%E)(-%#$.%

%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
HH%$##B_ffOOO:2(--013#3.+:N(V:0Cf8(20-.1#+fB4"1131N"186034831NfB8Ef$(0+.+-04#3B4.).+B(1+.+:B8E%%

Page 177



Bath & North East Somerset Council Article 4 Direction for HMOs 
Feasibility Study 

4.50 | Issue | 21 December 2011 

\\GLOBAL\EUROPE\BRISTOL\JOBS\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\BNES A4DIRECTION FINAL REPORT TO ISSUE.DOCX

Page C2

1.O%/9%aRSTb%24"++%6"2C%#(%#$.%/J%/4"++%a8O.4431N%$(0+.b%O3#$(0#%#$.%
1..8%#(%(6#"31%B4"1131N%B.)-3++3(1:%/\^%"4+(%+#"#.8%#$"#%#$.%1.O%
4.N3+4"#3(1%O(048%1(#%6.%"BB43.8%).#)(+B.2#3V.47:%

CI !,,+3,%':',#1(+,(./01(1$,%'(<3,'(JMHM(

A$.%R(0+31N%S313+#.)c%^)"1#%,$"BB+c%"11(012.8%(1%#$.%@G#$%F01.%?<@<%#$"#%
N)."#.)%E4.Y36343#7%+$(048%6.%N3V.1%#(%\UP+%#(%8."4%O3#$%RST%B)(B.)#3.+:%
P-.18-.1#+%#(%#$.%).N04"#3(1+%6.2"-.%.EE.2#3V.%"+%(E%@+#%T2#(6.)%?<@<%"+%
E(44(O+_%

· X.#.1#3(1%(E%#$.%/9%RST%24"++%60#%"-.1831N%#$.%A(O1%"18%/(01#)7%
U4"1131N%a^.1.)"4%U.)-3##.8%Q.V.4(B-.1#b%T)8.)%@]];%E0)#$.)%#(%"44(O%"%
0+.%24"++%2$"1N.%6(#$%E)(-%/J%#(%/9%"18%6"2C%"N"31:%A$3+%O344%).+.)V.%#$.%
8.23+3(1%-"8.%67%#$.%B).V3(0+%N(V.)1-.1#%).D03)31N%B4"1131N%B.)-3++3(1%
E()%2(1V.)+3(1%#(%"1%RST:%

· A$.%"6343#7%E()%#$.%4(2"4%"0#$()3#7%#(%31#)(802.%"1%P)#324.%9%Q3).2#3(1%#(%
(V.))38.%#$.%"6(V.%B)(V3+3(1+%E()%")."+%(E%#$.3)%83+#)32#%O$.).%#$.7%O3+$%#(%
2(1#)(4%#$.%2(12.1#)"#3(1%(E%RST+:%A$.+.%B)(B(+"4+%O.).%+06j.2#%#(%"%
j08323"4%).V3.O%2$"44.1N.%67%#$)..%4(2"4%"0#$()3#3.+%31%T2#(6.)f'(V.-6.)%
?<@<:%R(O.V.)c%#$3+%2$"44.1N.%O"+%1(#%+022.++E04:%

%

Page 178



!44',9$E(*(

\.##.)%E)(-%!"#$%/$"-6.)%(E%
/(--.)2.%

Page 179



 

David Trigwell 
Divisional Director 
Planning & Transport Development 
By e-mail: david_trigwell@bathnes.gov.uk  

cc Cleo Newcombe-Jones 
Planning Officer, Planning Policy: 
By e-mail: Cleo_Newcombe-Jones@BATHNES.GOV.UK

10.11.11 

Dear David, 

I am writing on behalf of members of the Initiative in B&NES and Bath 
Chamber of Commerce to express their anxiety about the proposal to 
require planning permission for Houses of Multiple Occupancy. 

We perfectly understand the issues generated by a high density of HMOs %
such as noise disturbances and parking difficulties. However, this kind of 
accommodation plays an important role in the local economy and members 
are concerned that it should continue to do so. 

The demography of Bath indicates a higher proportion of older people than 
is desirable for a sustainable economy. Consequently, we have been 
vigorous in our campaign, now widely supported, to encourage more 
graduates to stay to live and work in the area after they finish their studies 
at our two universities. We are similarly keen to see more young people of 
all kinds remain, to find employment, and make a contribution to local 
prosperity. 

We know that one of the principal reasons young people move away is the 
cost of housing. Realistically, it is unlikely that many of them will, in the first 
instance, be able to afford to buy a home and even to rent a house or flat. 
Instead they will rely on a ready supply of accommodation in HMOs. 

Our fear is that if it became necessary to seek planning permission, 
investors may veer away from Bath to other places where the process was 
less onerous. The result would be a reduction in supply, an increase in 
price and an exodus of young talent – the very opposite of what we need 
for the long term success of our community.  

Page 180



We would encourage the Council to reject the proposal to require planning 
permission for HMOs and instead to look at other methods of ensuring they 
are distributed around the City. 

Yours sincerely, 

  
Ian Bell 
Executive Director 

Page 181



!44',9$E(D(

CB7,K'1($,(./0(,3:='"1(
='#A'',(JMMM(7,9(JMHH(

%

Page 182



% % B
at

h 
an

d 
N

or
th

 E
as

t S
om

er
se

t C
ou

nc
il

A
rt

ic
le

 4
 D

ire
ct

io
n 

fo
r 

H
M

O
s

F
ea

si
bi

lit
y 

S
tu

dy

D
ra

ft 
1 

| 9
 F

eb
ru

ar
y 

20
12

J:
\2

18
X

X
X

\2
18

11
6-

00
\4

.5
0_

R
E

P
O

R
T

S
\A

P
P

E
N

D
IX

 E
 -

C
H

A
N

G
E

S
 T

O
 N

U
M

B
E

R
S

 O
F

 H
M

O
S

 O
V

E
R

 T
IM

E
.D

O
C

X

P
ag

e 
E

1

D
H

Q
B'
(.
/
0
('
--
'%
#(+
,(
#B
'(
C
+:
:
3,
$#
G(
$,
(0
&9
-$
'&
9(
6
7"
\(

S
)%/
$)
3+
%W
34-
(#
%"
18
%/
44)
%W
344
%,
"1
8)
7%
2(
44.
2#
.8
%8
"#
"%
E)
(-
%.
4.
2#
()
"4
%).
N3
+#
.)
+%
E)
(-
%?
<<
<%
"1
8%
?<
@@
%$
"+
%6
..
1%
2(
44.
2#
.8
%E)
(-
%@
<%
)"
18
(-
%+
#)
..
#+
%31
%

T
48
E3
.4
8%
U"
)C
%I%
"%
#(
#"
4%(
E%;
@;
%$
(-
.+
:%A
$3
+%
+$
(O
+%
#$
"#
%#$
.%
10
-
6.
)+
%(
E%R
S
T
+%
$"
V.
%-
()
.%
#$
"1
%8
(0
64
.8
:%%

%

%

@[
%

JH
%

?<
<<
%g
R
S
T
%

?<
@@
%g
R
S
T
%

e
(+
-(.
/
0
1(
$,
(0
&9
-$
'&
9(
6
7"
\(

_
'7
"(
JM
MM
(%
+:
47
"'
9(
#+
(J
MH
H(
(

aP
44%
$(
0+
.$
(4
8+
%a;
@;
b%3
1%
@<
%+
#)
..
#+
%b
%

Page 183



% % B
at

h 
an

d 
N

or
th

 E
as

t S
om

er
se

t C
ou

nc
il

A
rt

ic
le

 4
 D

ire
ct

io
n 

fo
r 

H
M

O
s

F
ea

si
bi

lit
y 

S
tu

dy

D
ra

ft 
1 

| 9
 F

eb
ru

ar
y 

20
12

J:
\2

18
X

X
X

\2
18

11
6-

00
\4

.5
0_

R
E

P
O

R
T

S
\A

P
P

E
N

D
IX

 E
 -

C
H

A
N

G
E

S
 T

O
 N

U
M

B
E

R
S

 O
F

 H
M

O
S

 O
V

E
R

 T
IM

E
.D

O
C

X

P
ag

e 
E

2

A
$.
%^
)"
B$
%6
.4
(O
%+
$(
O
+%
#$
.%
B.
)2
.1
#"
N.
%(
E%R
S
T
w+
%31
%.
"2
$%
+#
).
.#
%31
%#$
.%
7.
")
%?
<<
<%
2(
-
B"
).
8%
#(
%?
<@
@:
%

%

%

?@
%

@H
%

@G
%

@;
%

@G
%

?J
%

JJ
%

@H
%

?]
%

H%

;<
%

9?
%

J?
%

J?
%

J9
%

JG
%

;G
%

?;
%

H[
%

?]
%

P
)4
31
N#
(1
%X
("
8%
!
.2
C$
"-
B#
(1
%

X
("
8%

/
"1
#.
)6
0)
7%

X
("
8%

R
.)
6.
)#
%X
("
8%

M
31
N%
*
8O
")
8%

X
("
8%

\
3V
31
N+
#(
1.
%

X
("
8%

,#
"1
4.
7%
X
("
8%

W
.+
#%

A
$3
)8
%P
V.
10
.%
A
)3
"1
N4
.%
'
()
#$
%
W
.+
#%P
V.
10
.%

e
(+
-(.
/
0
1(
$,
('
7%
B(
1#
"'
'#
($,
(J
MM
M(
7,
9(
JM
HH
(

?<
<<
%g
R
S
T
%

?<
@@
%g
R
S
T
%

Page 184



% % B
at

h 
an

d 
N

or
th

 E
as

t S
om

er
se

t C
ou

nc
il

A
rt

ic
le

 4
 D

ire
ct

io
n 

fo
r 

H
M

O
s

F
ea

si
bi

lit
y 

S
tu

dy

D
ra

ft 
1 

| 9
 F

eb
ru

ar
y 

20
12

J:
\2

18
X

X
X

\2
18

11
6-

00
\4

.5
0_

R
E

P
O

R
T

S
\A

P
P

E
N

D
IX

 E
 -

C
H

A
N

G
E

S
 T

O
 N

U
M

B
E

R
S

 O
F

 H
M

O
S

 O
V

E
R

 T
IM

E
.D

O
C

X

P
ag

e 
E

3

A
$3
+%
N)
"B
$%
+$
(O
+%
#$
.%
B.
)2
.1
#"
N.
%31
2)
."
+.
%(
E%R
S
T
+%
6.
#O
..
1%
?<
<<
%"
18
%?
<@
@%
(1
%"
%+
#)
..
#%6
7%
+#
).
.#
%6
"+
3+
%

%

%

@J
Jg
%

@;
;g
%

[;
g
%

@?
<g
%

GG
g
%

H[
g
%

[J
g
%

;@
g
%

@?
Gg
%

9<
<g
%

P
)4
31
N#
(1
%X
("
8%
!
.2
C$
"-
B#
(1
%

X
("
8%

/
"1
#.
)6
0)
7%

X
("
8%

R
.)
6.
)#
%X
("
8%
M
31
N%
*
8O
")
8%

X
("
8%

\
3V
31
N+
#(
1.
%

X
("
8%

,#
"1
4.
7%
X
("
8%

W
.+
#%

A
$3
)8
%P
V.
10
.%
A
)3
"1
N4
.%
'
()
#$
%
W
.+
#%P
V.
10
.%

e
($,
%"
'7
1'
($,
(.
/
0
1(
1$
,%
'(
JM
MM
(=
G(
1#
"'
'#
(

Page 185



% % B
at

h 
an

d 
N

or
th

 E
as

t S
om

er
se

t C
ou

nc
il

A
rt

ic
le

 4
 D

ire
ct

io
n 

fo
r 

H
M

O
s

F
ea

si
bi

lit
y 

S
tu

dy

D
ra

ft 
1 

| 9
 F

eb
ru

ar
y 

20
12

J:
\2

18
X

X
X

\2
18

11
6-

00
\4

.5
0_

R
E

P
O

R
T

S
\A

P
P

E
N

D
IX

 E
 -

C
H

A
N

G
E

S
 T

O
 N

U
M

B
E

R
S

 O
F

 H
M

O
S

 O
V

E
R

 T
IM

E
.D

O
C

X

P
ag

e 
E

4

53
1"
447
c%"
18
%B
.)
$"
B+
%-
(+
#%3
-
B(
)#
"1
#47
%31
%).
+B
.2
#%(
E%"
%6
"4
"1
2.
8%
2(
-
-
01
3#7
c%#
$.
%N
)"
B$
%6
.4
(O
%).
B)
.+
.1
#+
%#$
.%
B.
)2
.1
#"
N.
%(
E%"
80
4#+
%31
%"
17
%(
1.
%+
#)
..
#%

1(
O
%43
V3
1N
%31
%"
1%
R
S
T
%

%

%
( R
+#
'1
(+
,(
97
#7
(1
+3
"%
'(

·
A
$3
+%
8"
#"
%O
"+
%2
(4
4.
2#
.8
%6
7%
"1
%T
48
E3
.4
8%
U"
)C
%).
+3
8.
1#
%E)
(-
%#$
.%
*
4.
2#
()
"4
%X
.N
3+
#.
)+
%(
E%?
<<
<%
"1
8%
?<
@@
:%X
.N
3+
#.
)+
%"
).
%"
V"
34"
64
.%
E(
)%3
1+
B.
2#
3(
1%
31
%#$
.%
!
"#
$%

X
.2
()
8+
%T
EE
32
.:
%

·
P
%B
)(
B.
)#
7%
O
3#$
%#$
).
.%
()
%-
()
.%
).
N3
+#
.)
.8
%"
80
4#+
%O
3#$
%8
3E
E.
).
1#
%+
0)
1"
-
.+
%O
"+
%2
(0
1#
.8
%"
+%
"1
%R
S
T
@ :%

%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%%%
%

@ %=
#%+
$(
04
8%
6.
%1
(#
.8
%#$
"#
%#$
3+
%O
344
%1
(#
%"
4O
"7
+%
6.
%"
1%
"2
20
)"
#.
%8
.+
2)
3B
#3(
1:
%

<%
@<
%

?<
%

J<
%

9<
%

;<
%

H<
%

[<
%

G<
%

]<
%

P
)4
31
N#
(1
%X
("
8%

!
.2
C$
"-
B#
(1
%X
("
8%

/
"1
#.
)6
0)
7%
X
("
8%

R
.)
6.
)#
%X
("
8%

M
31
N%
*
8O
")
8%
X
("
8%

\
3V
31
N+
#(
1.
%X
("
8%

,#
"1
4.
7%
X
("
8%
W
.+
#%

A
$3
)8
%P
V.
10
.%

A
)3
"1
N4
.%
'
()
#$
%

W
.+
#%P
V.
10
.%

e
(+
-(!
93
&#
1(
$,
('
7%
B(
1#
"'
'#
(A
B+
(&$
2'
($,
(.
/
0
(

Page 186



                                                           

 

Appendix B 
Equality Impact Assessment / Equality Analysis 
 
 
 
Title of service or policy  
 

B&NES Article 4 Direction Feasibility Study. Implementation 
Option 1: Article 4 Direction and  an  additional planning policy 
to control HMOs (incorporating  additional planning policy 
setting out a threshold approach to future HMO management) 

 
Name of directorate and service 
 

Directorate: Service Delivery 
Service: Planning Service 
 

 
Name and role of officers completing the EIA 
 

Planning Consultants (Arup) on behalf of Cleo Newcombe-
Jones, Planning Policy Officer 

 
Date of assessment  
 

 
18th November 2011 

 
 

P
age 187



Page 2 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

 
 
 
Equality Impact Assessment (or ‘Equality Analysis’) is a process of systematically analysing a new or existing policy or service to 
identify what impact or likely impact it will have on different groups within the community.  The primary concern is to identify 
any discriminatory or negative consequences for a particular group or sector of the community.  Equality impact Assessments 
(EIAs) can be carried out in relation to service delivery as well as employment policies and strategies. 
This toolkit has been developed to use as a framework when carrying out an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) or Equality Analysis 
on a policy, service or function.   It is intended that this is used as a working document throughout the process, with a final version 
including the action plan section being published on the Council’s and NHS Bath and North East Somerset’s websites.     
 

1.  
 
Identify the aims of the policy or service and how it is implemented. 
 

 Key questions Answers / Notes 
1.1 Briefly describe purpose of the 

service/policy including 
• How the 

service/policy is 
delivered and by 
whom 

• If responsibility for its 
implementation is 
shared with other 
departments or 
organisations 

• Intended outcomes  

Implementation of the following: 
• A non-immediate Article 4 Direction covering the whole of Bath urban area 
• Additional policy setting out the approach for determining planning applications made. 

This includes additional planning policy setting out a threshold approach to the 
management of future HMO activity. 

 
The additional policy would be developed by the planning policy department, and the Article 
4 Direction implemented between various departments including, development 
management, housing and planning enforcement.  The enforcement of the Article 4 
Direction and additional policy would be overseen by the Planning Service.  
 
The intended outcomes include: 
• Removal of Permitted Development Rights for changes of use from family dwellings 

to HMO’s so that the LPA can more closely monitor and manage the tenure mix 
across the city. 

• Residents feeling that their concerns of environmental degradation in specific  areas 
of the City have been addressed; 

P
age 188



Page 3 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

• More balanced communities; 
• More affordable housing in some areas for both the rented sector and the to buy 

market; and  
• Clear planning policy guidance to help developers assess the potential success of 

their applications. 
 

1.2 Provide brief details of the scope 
of the policy or service being 
reviewed, for example: 

• Is it a new 
service/policy or 
review of an existing 
one?   

• Is it a national 
requirement?). 

• How much room for 
review is there? 

Houses of Multiple Occupation (HMOs) can be defined as houses with 3 or more people not 
from the same family living together. High densities of HMOs are often associated with 
issues such as noise disturbances, litter and parking difficulties.  
 
This option is one of four options being considered following a feasibility study by Arup 
looking at the correlation between these negative issues and high densities of HMOs in 
Bath.  
 
This study was prompted by a change in the law in 1st October 2010, which stated that all 
change of use from a C3 dwelling (a family home) to a C4 HMO is classed as permitted 
development and will not require planning permission. The introduction of an Article 4 
Direction would mean that express planning permission would be required for a material 
change of use.   
 
This will form an appropriate evidence base to consider, in particular, whether an Article 4 
Direction and an accompanying Supplementary Planning Document would be suitable tools 
to assist in the control of conversion of dwelling houses (i.e. family homes) to HMOs in the 
City of Bath. Other measures that could be implemented to help create sustainable, 
balanced communities are also reviewed.  
 
The imposition of an HMO Article 4 Direction is at the discretion of Local Authorities.  Central 
Government has made the necessary changes to legislation to facilitate the process.  If 
progressed   the Article 4 Direction would be placed on a 12 month notice period before a 
final decision is made by the Council to proceed with the A4D.  Legislation allows for period 
review of the A4D once in place so the Council has the ability to monitor the impacts of the 
A4D and review its status. 

P
age 189



Page 4 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

1.3 Do the aims of this policy link to or 
conflict with any other policies of 
the Council? 

The Option 1 proposals fit with the saved Local Plan Policy HG12 which regulates larger 
HMO conversions.  It also fits with the overarching objective for balanced communities as 
detailed in the emerging  Core Strategy  and the Housing and Well Being Strategy. 
 

 
2. Consideration of available data, research and information 
 
Monitoring data and other information should be used to help you analyse whether you are delivering a fair and equal service.  Please 
consider the availability of the following as potential sources:  
 

• Demographic data and other statistics, including census findings 
• Recent research findings (local and national) 
• Results from consultation or engagement you have undertaken  
• Service user monitoring data (including ethnicity, gender, disability, religion/belief, sexual orientation and age)  
• Information from relevant groups or agencies, for example trade unions and voluntary/community organisations 
• Analysis of records of enquiries about your service, or complaints or compliments about them  
• Recommendations of external inspections or audit reports 

 
  

Key questions 
 

 
Data, research and information that you can refer to  

2.1 What is the equalities profile of the 
team delivering the service/policy?  

Wide range of service deliverers including public, private and voluntary sectors.  
2.2 What equalities training have staff 

received? 
Planning policy team have received corporate equalities training and 
EQIA training. A number of the service deliverers within the Council will have received 
corporate equalities training. 
 

2.3 What is the equalities profile of 
service users?   

Through equalities mapping and population profile analysis (B&NES Equality Profile 
2009) we now know more about the wider groups of user who will benefit from any 
improvements to services 
 

P
age 190



Page 5 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

Students make up the largest proportion of occupants of HMO’s in Bath.  Data is 
available from the Higher Education Statistics Agency, on the age, gender and socio-
economic profile of students at the Higher Education Institutions in Bath 
http://www.hesa.ac.uk/index.php?option=com_content&task=view&id=2060&Itemid=141 
 
The B&NES Residential Review 2007 provides data across the B&NES wards on items 
such as population age profile, tenure profile, affordable housing profile and location of 
accredited properties. 
 

2.4  What other data do you have in 
terms of service users or staff? (e.g 
results of customer satisfaction 
surveys, consultation findings). Are 
there any gaps?  

All data is referred to above. 
The total number of HMO’s in the City based on existing data is considered to be  
Data on the profile of landlords/HMO developers is lacking. 
Data on the profile of other HMO residents other than students is lacking.   
 
 

2.5 What engagement or consultation 
has been undertaken as part of this 
EIA and with whom? 
What were the results? 

As part of the feasibility study a workshop was held on Monday 24th October 2011 in 
the Guildhall, Bath to scope stakeholders’ views on the issues. The aims of the 
workshop were:  
 
• to bring stakeholders together to share and understand different perspectives 

related to HMOs in Bath;  to share the data related to both need for HMOs and 
impacts of HMOs; and  

• to test potential interventions that might help to create balance and sustainable 
communities  

 
A wide range of stakeholders were represented at the workshop, including:  
• Ward Councillors from across Bath  
• Planning Officers, B&NES Council  
• Housing, Transport, Research, Community and Economic Development Officers, 

B&NES Council  
• University of Bath  
• Bath Spa University  
• Royal United Hospital  

P
age 191



Page 6 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

• Bath Spa University Students’ Union  
• University of Bath Students’ Union  
• HMO Landlords  
• HMO Developers  
• Estate Agents  
• Local Residents  
• Avon and Somerset Police  

 
The results included analysis of the benefits and challenges of implementing an Article 
4 direction. It was concluded that the majority of stakeholders felt that that should an 
Article 4 Direction be implemented a city wide approach should be taken and that a 
threshold policy approach include as an new planning policy.  
 

2.6 If you are planning to undertake 
any consultation in the future 
regarding this service or policy, how 
will you include equalities 
considerations within this?  

If the option is taken forward a full consultation process would be undertaken targeting 
all groups of user who would be affected by the proposals.  The recommendation is for 
a non immediate Article 4 Direction which means that the intention to introduce the 
direction is consulted upon for a period of 12months before a decision to proceed is 
made by B&NES.  

 
3. Assessment of impact: ‘Equality analysis’ 
 
 Based upon any data you have considered, or the results of consultation or research, use the spaces below to demonstrate 

you have analysed how the service or policy: 
• Meets any particular needs of equalities groups or helps promote equality in some way.   
• Could have a negative or adverse impact for any of the equalities groups   

   
Examples of what the service 
has done to promote equality 
 

Examples of actual or potential negative or 
adverse impact and what steps have been or could 
be taken to address this 

3.1 Gender – identify the 
impact/potential impact of the 

The process of requiring a 
planning application often  

An A4D would potentially lead  to a more dispersed 
pattern of HMO’s in the City with students in particular  

P
age 192



Page 7 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

policy on women and men.  (Are 
there any issues regarding 
pregnancy and maternity?) 
 

means that  
action will have to be taken to 
resolve hazards and ensure 
higher standards of 
development in the public 
environment (particularly for 
energy efficiency and security). 
NB these positive impacts will 
apply to all the groups 
considered below. 
 
The intended outcome of the 
option is to support the ability of 
B&NES as the housing authority 
to encourage and maintain a 
balanced and sustainable 
housing market that provides 
housing choice for all equalities 
groups.   
 

living in a wider range of neighbourhoods than 
currently experienced.  The intention of the A4D and 
the threshold policy is to encourage and maintain 
balanced and mixed communities that support the 
needs of all groups in society.    
 
Potential negative impacts of a more dispersed set of 
students or young professionals over a larger area 
could lead to feelings of isolation for individuals who 
are forced to live further out with less access to public 
transport and may feel unsafe travelling at night, this 
could impact on some equalities groups more than 
others e.g. women.   
 
Note this will apply to all the groups considered below 
 
Action 
 
Ensure the provision of good public transport and 
amenity in all areas where there is likely to be a high 
proportion of HMOs. 
 

3.2 Transgender – – identify the 
impact/potential impact of the 
policy on transgender people 
 

As above  As above 

3.3 Disability - identify the 
impact/potential impact of the 
policy on disabled people (ensure 
consideration of a range of 
impairments including both 
physical and mental impairments) 
  

As above As above 

3.4 Age  – identify the As above May push up rental prices in some areas (particularly 

P
age 193



Page 8 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

impact/potential impact of the 
policy on different age groups 
 

 
Current issues associated with 
HMOs include isolation/ feelings 
of vulnerability among the 
elderly, the proposal should lead 
to more balanced communities  
with proportions of family 
housing within neighbourhoods 
being maintained as the A4D 
and the threshold planning 
policy provide tools for the 
regulation of the proportion of 
HMO’s within all 
neighbourhoods in the City.  
as more students move into 
purpose built accommodation.  
 
Family housing in areas of high 
density of HMOs/high HMO 
demand are likely to become 
more affordable to new entrants 
to the housing market.  
 
More choice of high quality 
HMOs will make it easier to 
attract and retain young 
professionals/lower paid 
employees who require flexible 
accommodation in Bath. 
 

Oldfield Park, Westmoreland and Widcombe area) 
that will affect those with lower salaries and students, 
both groups tend to be younger people.  
 
Ensure the provision of good public transport and 
amenity in all areas where there is likely to be a high 
proportion of HMOs.  

3.5 Race – identify the 
impact/potential impact on 
different black and minority ethnic 

As in 3.1 above and  
 
The planning application 

Wards with highest proportion of BME populations 
Bathwick with 16% and Abbey with 15%, also have 
high proportions of HMOs, so these groups may be 

P
age 194



Page 9 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

groups  
 

process will assist in the 
implementation of  a framework 
for good management, the 
provision of a good basic level 
of standard amenities and the 
subsequent remedying of 
actionable hazards in  
HMOs has a positive impact for 
all ethnic groups. This would 
particularly be the case where a 
a property is used for asylum 
seekers. Any cultural issues will 
be considered before enforcing 
standards. 

adversely affected by the potential inflated rental 
prices in existing HMO’s that arise out of the policy.  
 
Action  
Ensure other areas where people may end up living, 
have good levels of public transport and amenity.  

   
Examples of what the service 
has done to promote equality 
 

Examples of potential negative or adverse impact 
and what steps have been or could be taken to 
address this 

3.6 Sexual orientation - identify the 
impact/potential impact of the 
policy on  
lesbians, gay, bisexual & 
heterosexual people 
  

The Article 4 Direction and additional policy are unlikely to create an impact 
on individuals because of their sexual orientation.  
 

3.7 Religion/belief – identify the 
impact/potential impact of the 
policy on people of different 
religious/faith groups and also 
upon those with no religion. 
 

Potentially increasing the choice 
in areas to live.  

None identified 

3.8 Socio-economically 
disadvantaged – identify the 
impact on people who are 

Potentially increasing the choice 
in areas to live. 
 

May push up rental prices in some areas (particularly 
Oldfield Park, Westmoreland and Widcombe area) 
that will affect those with lower salaries.  

P
age 195



Page 10 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

disadvantaged due to factors like 
family background, educational 
attainment, neighbourhood, 
employment status can influence 
life chances 
 

Family housing in areas of high 
density of HMOs/ high HMO 
demand may   become cheaper, 
meaning it could become easier 
for new entrants to the housing 
market. 
 

 
Action 
Ensure other areas where people may end up living, 
have good levels of public transport and amenity 

3.9 Rural communities – identify the 
impact / potential impact on 
people living in rural communities 
 

Potentially increasing the choice 
in areas to live within the city, 
although potentially increasing 
their price e.g. young people 
living at home in rural areas, 
may not be able to afford to 
move out.  

 

 
 
4. Bath and North East Somerset Council & NHS B&NES 
Equality Impact Assessment Improvement Plan 
 
Please list actions that you plan to take as a result of this assessment.  These actions should be based upon the analysis of data 
and engagement, any gaps in the data you have identified, and any steps you will be taking to address any negative impacts or 
remove barriers. The actions need to be built into your service planning framework.  Actions/targets should be measurable, 
achievable, realistic and time framed. 
 
Issues identified Actions required Progress milestones Officer 

responsible By when 
Ensure the consultation on the 
draft Article 4 direction and 
additional policy is accompanied 
by appropriate summary 
information and guidance and 
that additional support is 

Ensure equalities is included 
in the plan for the formal 
consultation on the Article 4 
direction and additional policy  
 

Preparation of appropriate 
summary information and 
guidance in time for the 
consultation. 
 

Planning 
Policy Team 
 

In time for 
consultation 
 

P
age 196



Page 11 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

available for equalities groups. 
 
HMO occupants encouraged to 
live in other areas, due to rising 
prices in certain areas.  
 
 

Ensure good levels of amenity 
and public transport in the 
alternative areas where 
people may end up living 

Review in conjunction with local 
transport policy and proposals. 
 
 
 

Planning 
Policy, 
Development 
Management.  
All officers 
dealing with 
public 
transport. 
 

 

Potential feelings of isolation for 
students and other HMO 
residents who live in less 
accessible areas 
 
 

Information provision, e.g. on 
transport access, local 
amenities, safety measures, 
and support help lines 

Included within student 
information and housing packs 

Student 
Community 
Liaison 
Officer 

To coincide 
with 
students 
arriving at 
University 
and during 
housing 
week 

 
 
 
5. Sign off and publishing 
 
Once you have completed this form, it needs to be ‘approved’ by your Divisional Director or their nominated officer.  Following this 
sign off, send a copy to the Equalities Team (equality@bathnes.gov.uk), who will publish it on the Council’s and/or NHS B&NES’ 
website.  Keep a copy for your own records. 
 
Signed off by:         (Divisional Director or nominated senior officer) 
Date: 
 
 

P
age 197



Page 12 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

Equality Impact Assessment / Equality Analysis 
 
 
 
Title of service or policy  
 

B&NES Article 4 Direction Feasibility Study. Implementation 
Option 2: Planning Policy promoting purpose built student 
accommodation & Additional Licensing 

 
Name of directorate and service 
 

Directorate: Service Delivery 
Service: Planning Service 
 

 
Name and role of officers completing the EIA 
 

Planning consultants (Arup) on behalf of Cleo Newcombe-
Jones, Planning Policy Officer 

 
Date of assessment  
 

 
18th November 2011 

 
 
 
 
 
Equality Impact Assessment (or ‘Equality Analysis’) is a process of systematically analysing a new or existing policy or service to 
identify what impact or likely impact it will have on different groups within the community.  The primary concern is to identify 
any discriminatory or negative consequences for a particular group or sector of the community.  Equality impact Assessments 
(EIAs) can be carried out in relation to service delivery as well as employment policies and strategies. 

P
age 198



Page 13 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

This toolkit has been developed to use as a framework when carrying out an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) or Equality Analysis 
on a policy, service or function.   It is intended that this is used as a working document throughout the process, with a final version 
including the action plan section being published on the Council’s and NHS Bath and North East Somerset’s websites.     
 

1.  
 
Identify the aims of the policy or service and how it is implemented. 
 

 Key questions Answers / Notes 
1.1 Briefly describe purpose of the 

service/policy including 
• How the 

service/policy is 
delivered and by 
whom 

• If responsibility for 
its implementation 
is shared with other 
departments or 
organisations 

• Intended outcomes  

Implementation of the following: 
• Pro Purpose-Built Accommodation Policy (Linking growth in academic space to 

purpose built accommodation). 
• Additional HMO Licensing (All HMOs in Oldfield Park, Westmoreland and 

Widcombe as initial phase.  Consider extending to the whole city thereafter). 
 

The responsibility for regulating   he pro-purpose-built accommodation policy would be 
with the planning policy & development management teams, the additional HMO 
Licensing scheme would be managed and enforced  by the Housing team.  
 
The intended outcomes of this option include: 
• To ensure all HMOs comply with higher standards; 
• To provide a wider range of options for purpose built student accommodation to 

relieve the pressure on the private student accommodation (HMOs) in the city; 
• Provide wider  choice in HMOs for non-students, if students have the option to 

move into purpose-built accommodation; 
• Licensing will address real and perceived problems associated with the quality of 

existing HMOs ; and 
 
• Higher quality HMOs may make it easier to attract employees to Bath. 

P
age 199



Page 14 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

1.2 Provide brief details of the scope 
of the policy or service being 
reviewed, for example: 

• Is it a new 
service/policy or 
review of an 
existing one?   

• Is it a national 
requirement?). 

• How much room for 
review is there? 

Houses of Multiple Occupation (HMOs) can be defined as houses with 3 or more people 
not from the same family living together. High densities of HMOs are often associated with 
issues such as noise disturbances, litter and parking difficulties.  
 
This option is one of four options being considered following a feasibility study by Arup 
looking at the correlation between these negative issues and high concentrations of 
HMOs in Bath.  
 
This study was prompted by a change in the law in 1st October 2010, which stated that all 
change of use from a C3 dwelling (a family home) to a C4 HMO is classed as permitted 
development and will not require planning permission.   
 
The imposition of an HMO Article 4 Direction would not have an impact on the quality of 
existing HMOs.  The study assesses whether the provision of additional licensing along 
with a pro-purpose built student accommodation policy will address the environmental 
concerns associated with existing HMOs.  
It is recommended that an additional licensing scheme is put in place for the wards of 
Oldfield Park, Westmoreland and Widcombe.  Additional licensing is used to tackle 
specific problems in specific areas, rather than covering all HMOs across a local authority 
area. 
Other measures that could be implemented to help create sustainable, balanced 
communities have also been reviewed. 

1.3 Do the aims of this policy link to 
or conflict with any other policies 
of the Council? 

The benefits of this option are highlighted in section 1.1. Several challenges have been 
identified with this option including that:  
• The costs of additional licensing to landlords  may push up rental prices marginally 

if landlords see an opportunity to pass on costs to the tenants; 
• It may result in a loss in trade in some areas, where HMOs are left unoccupied as 

students move into purpose built accommodation.  
 

P
age 200



Page 15 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

 
2. Consideration of available data, research and information 
 
 
Monitoring data and other information should be used to help you analyse whether you are delivering a fair and equal service.  Please 
consider the availability of the following as potential sources:  
 

• Demographic data and other statistics, including census findings 
• Recent research findings (local and national) 
• Results from consultation or engagement you have undertaken  
• Service user monitoring data (including ethnicity, gender, disability, religion/belief, sexual orientation and age)  
• Information from relevant groups or agencies, for example trade unions and voluntary/community organisations 
• Analysis of records of enquiries about your service, or complaints or compliments about them  
• Recommendations of external inspections or audit reports 

 
  

Key questions 
 

 
Data, research and information that you can refer to  

2.1 What is the equalities profile of the 
team delivering the service/policy?  

Wide range of service deliverers including public, private and voluntary sectors and the 
Universities. 

2.2 What equalities training have staff 
received? 

Planning policy team have received corporate equalities training and EQIA training. A 
number of the service deliverers within the Council will have received corporate 
equalities training.  

2.3 What is the equalities profile of 
service users?   

Through equalities mapping and population profile analysis (B&NES Equality Profile 
2009) we now know more about the wider groups of user who will benefit from any 
improvements to services 
 
Students make up the largest proportion of occupants of HMO’s in Bath.  Data is 
available from the Higher Education Statistics Agency, on the age, gender and socio-
economic profile of students at the Higher Education Institutions in Bath 
http://www.hesa.ac.uk/index.php?option=com_content&task=view&id=2060&Itemid=141 

P
age 201



Page 16 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

 
The B&NES Residential Review 2007 provides data across the B&NES wards on items 
such as population age profile, tenure profile, affordable housing profile and location of 
accredited properties 
 
 

2.4  What other data do you have in 
terms of service users or staff? (e.g 
results of customer satisfaction 
surveys, consultation findings). Are 
there any gaps?  

All data is referred to above. 
The total number of HMO’s in the City based on existing data is considered to be an 
underestimate of the real level of provision. 
Data on the profile of landlords/HMO developers is lacking. 
Data on the profile of other HMO residents than students is lacking.   
 

2.5 What engagement or consultation 
has been undertaken as part of this 
EIA and with whom? 
What were the results? 

As part of the feasibility study a workshop was held on Monday 24th October 2011 in 
the Guildhall, Bath to scope stakeholder’s views on the issues. The aims of the 
workshop were: 
• to bring stakeholders together to share and understand different perspectives 

related to HMOs in Bath;  
• to share the data related to both need for HMOs and impacts of HMOs; and  
• to test potential interventions that might help to create balance and sustainable 

communities  
 
A wide range of stakeholders were represented at the workshop, including:  
• Ward Councillors from across Bath  
• Planning Officers, B&NES Council  
• Housing, Transport, Research, Community and Economic Development Officers, 

B&NES Council  
• University of Bath  
• Bath Spa University  
• Royal United Hospital  

P
age 202



Page 17 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

• Bath Spa University StudentsM Union  
• University of Bath StudentsM Union  
• HMO Landlords  
• HMO Developers  
• Estate Agents  
• Local Residents  
• Avon and Somerset Police  

The results included broad support for the introduction of additional or selective 
licensing (possibly selective licensing for the whole private rented sector). There was a 
feeling that in many parts of Bath there are smaller HMOs than will currently be included 
in the licensing scheme, so a change would deal with some of the existing issues in a 
way that an Article 4 Direction would not.   
 

2.6 If you are planning to undertake 
any consultation in the future 
regarding this service or policy, how 
will you include equalities 
considerations within this?  

If the option is taken forward a consultation process would be undertaken targeting all 
groups of users who would be affected by the proposals.   

 
3. Assessment of impact: ‘Equality analysis’ 
 
 Based upon any data you have considered, or the results of consultation or research, use the spaces below to demonstrate 

you have analysed how the service or policy: 
• Meets any particular needs of equalities groups or helps promote equality in some way.   
• Could have a negative or adverse impact for any of the equalities groups   

 
   

Examples of what the service has 
done to promote equality 

Examples of actual or potential negative or 
adverse impact and what steps have been 
or could be taken to address this 

P
age 203



Page 18 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

 
3.1 Gender – identify the 

impact/potential impact of the 
policy on women and men.  (Are 
there any issues regarding 
pregnancy and maternity?) 
 

The process of requiring a license will 
mean that action will  be taken to raise 
the quality of private rented 
accommodation, resolve hazards and 
ensure higher standards (particularly for 
energy efficiency and security).  
 
Purpose built accommodation, will 
provide safety and security for those 
living in the accommodation. 
 
Providing greater choice in areas to live. 
 
NB these positive impacts will apply to all 
the groups considered below. 

None identified  

3.2 Transgender – – identify the 
impact/potential impact of the 
policy on transgender people 
 

As in 3.1 above  None identified 

3.3 Disability - identify the 
impact/potential impact of the 
policy on disabled people 
(ensure consideration of a range 
of impairments including both 
physical and mental 
impairments) 
  

As in 3.1 above; and 
 
The higher standards applied with the 
additional licensing will mean that 
provision with respect to disabled 
persons is improved.  
 
New purpose built accommodation will 
ensure that new buildings provide good 
facilities for disabled persons. 

The completion of a complicated 
licence application form can be 
difficult for those with certain 
impairments. There can also be 
communication difficulties if 
legal action is taken for noncompliance 
with the HMO licence provisions. 
 
Action 
Assistance to be offered to 
to all landlords to complete the application 
form.  
 

P
age 204



Page 19 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

3.4 Age  – identify the 
impact/potential impact of the 
policy on different age groups 
 

As in 3.1 above 
 
Current issues associated with HMOs 
include isolation/ feelings of vulnerability 
among the elderly, the proposal should 
lead to more balanced communities as 
more students move into purpose built 
accommodation.  
 
Family housing in areas of high density 
of HMOs are likely to become cheaper, 
meaning it could become easier for new 
entrants to the housing market.  
 
More choice of high quality HMOs will 
make it easier to attract young 
professionals/lower paid employees to 
Bath. 
 

Licensing may push up rental prices if 
landlords see the opportunity to pass on costs 
to tenants, (will affect those with lower salaries 
and students that tend to be younger people).  
 
Action 
Balance this with the provision of purpose built 
accommodation. 

3.5 Race – identify the 
impact/potential impact on 
different black and minority 
ethnic groups  
 

As in 3.1 above and 
 
Increasing availability of HMOs and 
choice of HMOs for people to live in. 
 
The imposition of a framework for good 
management, the provision of a good 
basic level of standard amenities and the 
subsequent remedying of actionable 
hazards in licensed HMOs has a positive 
impact for all ethnic groups. This would 
particularly be the case where a property 
is used for asylum 
seekers. Any cultural issues will be 

Wards with highest proportion of BME 
populations Bathwick with 16% and Abbey 
with 15%, also have high proportions of 
HMOs, so these groups may be adversely 
affected by the potential inflated rental prices 
that arise from the potential increase in costs 
that arise from the licensing requirements.  
 
May result in a loss of trade in some areas that 
could affect BME business owners, if places 
are left unoccupied as students move into 
purpose built accommodation. 
 
Action 

P
age 205



Page 20 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

considered before enforcing standards. Accommodation only built in line with projected 
increase in demand to minimise the number of 
HMOs left empty.  
 

   
Examples of what the service has 
done to promote equality 
 

Examples of potential negative or adverse 
impact and what steps have been or could 
be taken to address this 

3.6 Sexual orientation - identify the 
impact/potential impact of the 
policy on  
lesbians, gay, bisexual & 
heterosexual people 
  

The licensing requirements and new purpose built accommodation are very unlikely to 
create an impact on individuals because of their sexual orientation. However, should 
someone consider that this is in fact the case we will consider the points made. 

3.7 Religion/belief – identify the 
impact/potential impact of the 
policy on people of different 
religious/faith groups and also 
upon those with no religion. 
 

As in 3.1  above None identified 

3.8 Socio-economically 
disadvantaged – identify the 
impact on people who are 
disadvantaged due to factors like 
family background, educational 
attainment, neighbourhood, 
employment status can influence 
life chances 
 

As in 3.1 above  
 
Family housing in areas of high density 
of HMOs are likely to become cheaper, 
meaning it could become easier for new 
entrants to the housing market 
 

May push up rental prices as landlords pass 
the licensing costs onto the tenants which 
would  affect students and those with lower 
incomes..  
 
Action 
Balance this with the provision of purpose built 
accommodation.  

3.9 Rural communities – identify 
the impact / potential impact on 
people living in rural communities 
 

Potentially increasing the choice of 
affordable areas within the city to live, 
e.g. young people living at home in rural 
areas,  may be able to move out.   

 

P
age 206



Page 21 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

 
 
4. Bath and North East Somerset Council & NHS B&NES 
Equality Impact Assessment Improvement Plan 
 
Please list actions that you plan to take as a result of this assessment.  These actions should be based upon the analysis of data 
and engagement, any gaps in the data you have identified, and any steps you will be taking to address any negative impacts or 
remove barriers. The actions need to be built into your service planning framework.  Actions/targets should be measurable, 
achievable, realistic and time framed. 
 
Issues identified Actions required Progress milestones Officer 

responsible By when 
The completion of a 
complicated 
licence application form can be 
difficult for those with certain 
impairments. There can also be 
communication difficulties if 
legal action is taken for 
noncompliance with the HMO 
licence provisions. 
 
 

Assistance to be offered to all 
landlords to complete the 
application form.  
 

Assistance available from when 
the licensing requirements are 
implemented.  

Housing 
department 

When licensing 
requirements 
are 
implemented 
 

Licensing may push up rental 
prices if landlords see the 
opportunity to pass on costs to 
tenants, (will affect those with 
lower salaries and students).  
 
 
 

Ensure licensing  is balanced 
with the roll out of provision of 
purpose built student 
accommodation 

Ensure purpose built 
accommodation policy is 
implemented at the same time 
as the licensing requirements 

Planning 
policy teams 
in 
discussion 
with 
Universities. 

Concurrently 
with the 
implementation 
of the purpose 
built 
accommodation 
policy.  
 

Potential loss of trade in some Balance this by ensuring that Purpose built accommodation Planning Concurrently 

P
age 207



Page 22 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

areas that could affect BME 
business owners, if places are 
left unoccupied as students 
move into purpose built 
accommodation. 
 

purpose built accommodation 
is only built in line with 
demand. 
 
University to produce 
demand forecasts for future 
demand for accommodation 

policy implemented at the same 
time as licensing requirements. 
 
Ongoing demand forecasting, 
with annual update.  

policy teams  
 
 
 
University  

with the 
implementation 
of the 
licenscing 
requirements. . 

 
 
 
5. Sign off and publishing 
 
Once you have completed this form, it needs to be ‘approved’ by your Divisional Director or their nominated officer.  Following this 
sign off, send a copy to the Equalities Team (equality@bathnes.gov.uk), who will publish it on the Council’s and/or NHS B&NES’ 
website.  Keep a copy for your own records. 
 
Signed off by:         (Divisional Director or nominated senior officer) 
Date: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 208



Page 23 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

Equality Impact Assessment / Equality Analysis 
 
 
 
Title of service or policy  
 

B&NES Article 4 Direction Feasibility Study. Implementation 
Option 3:  Article 4 Direction and a Supplementary Planning 
Document on HMOs (including a threshold approach); Planning 
Policy promoting purpose built student accommodation & 
Additional Licensing. 

 
Name of directorate and service 
 

Directorate: Service Delivery 
Service: Planning and Accommodation Services 
 

 
Name and role of officers completing the EIA 
 

Planning consultants (Arup) on behalf of Cleo Newcombe-
Jones, Planning Policy Officer 

 
Date of assessment  
 

 
18th November 2011 

 
 
 
 
 
Equality Impact Assessment (or ‘Equality Analysis’) is a process of systematically analysing a new or existing policy or service to 
identify what impact or likely impact it will have on different groups within the community.  The primary concern is to identify 
any discriminatory or negative consequences for a particular group or sector of the community.  Equality impact Assessments 
(EIAs) can be carried out in relation to service delivery as well as employment policies and strategies. 

P
age 209



Page 24 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

This toolkit has been developed to use as a framework when carrying out an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) or Equality Analysis 
on a policy, service or function.   It is intended that this is used as a working document throughout the process, with a final version 
including the action plan section being published on the Council’s and NHS Bath and North East Somerset’s websites.     
 

1.  
 
Identify the aims of the policy or service and how it is implemented. 
 

 Key questions Answers / Notes 
1.1 Briefly describe purpose of the 

service/policy including 
• How the 

service/policy is 
delivered and by 
whom 

• If responsibility for 
its implementation 
is shared with other 
departments or 
organisations 

• Intended outcomes  

Implementation of the following: 
• A non-immediate Article 4 Direction covering the whole of Bath urban area; 
• An additional policy setting out the approach for determining planning applications 

made. This would include an additional threshold policy related the existing HG12 
policy within the Core Strategy;  

• Pro Purpose-Built Student Accommodation Policy (Linking to growth in academic 
space); and 

• Additional HMO Licensing (All HMOs in Oldfield Park, Westmoreland and 
Widcombe as initial phase.  Consider extending to the whole city thereafter). 

The responsibility for regulating would be shared between the Planning Policy, 
Development Management, Housing and Environmental Health departments. 
The intended outcomes include: 
• Response to local residents’ concerns regarding over-concentration of HMOs in 

some areas of the city, both in terms of existing and potential future problems.  
• All HMOs would comply with higher quality standards, meaning better surroundings 

for tenants.   

P
age 210



Page 25 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

• Wider range of options to live in purpose built student accommodation.  
• Dispersal of HMOs rather than concentration in certain areas of the City leading to 

more choice in areas to rent privately across Bath 
• All HMOs would comply with higher quality standards, meaning better living 

environments for tenants and stricter regulation of landlords upkeep of properties.   
• If students move out of HMOs into purpose built accommodation then there is more 

choice in the private rental sector for other tenants groups (and possible reduction 
in price if supply outstrips demand). 

• Increases in purpose-built accommodation likely to be attractive to many new 
students, and may become increasingly important in an increasingly competitive 
market. 

• Higher levels of confidence in recommending properties in the private rented sector 
if they reach standards for licensing. 

• Should lead to more balanced communities, meaning a wider mix of residents in 
many areas.  

• If the size of the market for HMOs decreases with an increase in purpose-built 
student accommodation, then there may be some return to family housing. This 
may also lead to a reduction in house prices; making it more affordable for first-time 
buyers. 

• A combination of higher quality HMOs and more capacity (as students are 
increasingly catered for in purpose-built accommodation).  

• A dispersal of HMOs across the city may lead to more affordable private rented 
sector accommodation in some areas. This combination may make it easier to 
attract new employees to the area. 

P
age 211



Page 26 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

1.2 Provide brief details of the scope 
of the policy or service being 
reviewed, for example: 

• Is it a new 
service/policy or 
review of an 
existing one?   

• Is it a national 
requirement?). 

• How much room for 
review is there? 

Houses of Multiple Occupation (HMOs) can be defined as houses with 3 or more people not 
from the same family living together. High densities of HMOs are often associated with issues 
such as noise disturbances, litter and parking difficulties.  
 
This option is one of four options being considered following a feasibility study by Arup 
looking at the correlation between these negative issues and high densities of HMOs in Bath.  
 
This study was prompted by a change in the law in 1st October 2010, which stated that all 
change of use from a C3 dwelling (a family home) to a C4 HMO is classed as permitted 
development and will not require planning permission. The introduction of an Article 4 
Direction would mean that express planning permission would be required for a material 
change of use.   
 
This will form an appropriate evidence base to consider, in particular, whether an Article 4 
Direction and additional policy would be suitable tools to assist in the control of conversion of 
dwelling houses (i.e. family homes) to HMOs in the City of Bath. Other measures that could 
be implemented to help create sustainable, balanced communities  including the use of 
licensing are also reviewed.  
The imposition of an HMO Article 4 Direction is at the discretion of Local Authorities.  Central 
Government has made the necessary changes to legislation to facilitate the process.  If 
progressed   the Article 4 Direction would be placed on a 12 month notice period before a 
final decision is made by the Council to proceed with the A4D.  Legislation allows for period 
review of the A4D once in place so the Council has the ability to monitor the impacts of the 
A4D and review its status. 
 
The Article 4 Direction would not have an impact on the quality of existing HMOs.  The study 
assesses whether the provision of additional licensing along with a pro-purpose built 
student accommodation policy will address the environmental concerns associated with 
existing HMOs. It is recommended that an additional licensing scheme is put in place for 
the wards of Oldfield Park, Westmoreland and Widcombe.  Additional licensing is used to 
tackle specific problems in specific areas, rather than covering all HMOs across a local 
authority area. 

P
age 212



Page 27 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

1.3 Do the aims of this policy link to 
or conflict with any other policies 
of the Council? 

Option 3 proposals fit with the saved Local Plan Policy HG12 which regulates larger HMO 
conversions.  It also fits with the overarching objective for balanced communities as detailed 
in the emerging Core Strategy and the Housing and Well Being Strategy. 
The benefits of this option are highlighted in Section 1.1. Several challenges have been 
identified with this option including: 
• May push rental prices up in some areas (particularly Oldfield Park, Westmoreland  

and Widcombe areas), potentially leading to inequality in where HMO residents can 
afford to live.  

• May mean students in new areas feel isolated if there is a lack of public transport. 
• Students living over a wider area may mean that some areas, at least initially, are 

not well served by public transport. This may lead to an increase in those wanting 
to use private modes to access University campuses.  

• There may be an increase in students seeking welfare advice if students have 
problems with money / social divide. 

• May lead to de-studentification, and not return to family housing as local residents 
might hope. This may lead to local owner-occupier residents may seeing a drop in 
value of their homes in areas where high concentrations of HMOs already exist. 
Where existing densities are really high, it may also become difficult to sell homes if 
they want to move. 

• If the Article 4 Direction leads to a perception that HMOs are not welcome in Bath, 
then this may lead to a shortage in affordable private rented property. This may 
make it harder for employers to attracted lower paid employees, particularly those 
at the start of their careers, including new graduates. 

• May result in loss of trade in some areas, where HMOs are left unoccupied, or 
current tenants are replaced by people with a lower disposable income (e.g. 
migrants living in HMOs or young families).  

P
age 213



Page 28 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

 
 
2. Consideration of available data, research and information 
 
 
Monitoring data and other information should be used to help you analyse whether you are delivering a fair and equal service.  Please 
consider the availability of the following as potential sources:  
 

• Demographic data and other statistics, including census findings 
• Recent research findings (local and national) 
• Results from consultation or engagement you have undertaken  
• Service user monitoring data (including ethnicity, gender, disability, religion/belief, sexual orientation and age)  
• Information from relevant groups or agencies, for example trade unions and voluntary/community organisations 
• Analysis of records of enquiries about your service, or complaints or compliments about them  
• Recommendations of external inspections or audit reports 

 
  

Key questions 
 

 
Data, research and information that you can refer to  

2.1 What is the equalities profile of the 
team delivering the service/policy?  

Wide range of service deliverers including public, private and voluntary sectors and the 
Universities. 

2.2 What equalities training have staff 
received? 

Planning policy team have received corporate equalities training and 
EQIA training. A number of the service deliverers within the Council will have received 
corporate equalities training.  
 

2.3 What is the equalities profile of 
service users?   

Through equalities mapping and population profile analysis (B$+&NES Equality Profile 
2009) we now know more about the wider groups of user who will benefit from any 
improvements. 
 
Data is available from the Higher Education Statistics Agency, on the gender, age and 
socio-economic profile of students at the Higher Education Institutions in Bath 

P
age 214



Page 29 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

http://www.hesa.ac.uk/index.php?option=com_content&task=view&id=2060&Itemid=141 
 
The B&NES Residential Review 2007 provides data across the B&NES wards on items 
such as population age profile, tenure profile, affordable housing profile and location of 
accredited properties. 
 

2.4  What other data do you have in 
terms of service users or staff? (e.g 
results of customer satisfaction 
surveys, consultation findings). Are 
there any gaps?  

All data is referred to above. 
The total number of HMO’s in the City based on existing data is considered to be an 
underestimate of the real level of provision. 
Data on the profile of landlords/HMO developers is lacking. 
Data on the profile of other HMO residents than students is lacking.   
 

2.5 What engagement or consultation 
has been undertaken as part of this 
EIA and with whom? 
What were the results? 

As part of the feasibility study a workshop was held on Monday 24th October 2011 in 
the Guildhall, Bath to scope stakeholder’s views on the issues. The aims of the 
workshop were:  
 
• to bring stakeholders together to share and understand different perspectives 

related to HMOs in Bath;  
• to share the data related to both need for HMOs and impacts of HMOs; and  
• to test potential interventions that might help to create balance and sustainable 

communities  
 
A wide range of stakeholders were represented at the workshop, including:  
• Ward Councillors from across Bath  
• Planning Officers, B&NES Council  
• Housing, Transport, Research, Community and Economic Development Officers, 

B&NES Council  
• University of Bath  
• Bath Spa University  

P
age 215



Page 30 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

• Royal United Hospital  
• Bath Spa University StudentsM Union  
• University of Bath StudentsM Union  
• HMO Landlords  
• HMO Developers  
• Estate Agents  
• Local Residents  
• Avon and Somerset Police  

 
The results included analysis of the benefits and challenges of implementing an Article 
4 Direction. It was agreed that should an Article 4 Direction be implemented it should 
adopt a city wide approach and include a threshold approach.  
 
The results also included broad support for the introduction of additional or selective 
licensing. There was a feeling that in many parts of Bath there are smaller HMOs than 
will currently be included in the licensing scheme, so a change would deal with some of 
the existing issues in a way that an Article 4 Direction alone would not.   
 
There was support for planning policies in support of purpose-built student 
accommodation.  It was noted that this type of accommodation may have negative 
impacts for neighbours, but that it would be easier for the universities to control the 
behaviour of their students.  
 

2.6 If you are planning to undertake 
any consultation in the future 
regarding this service or policy, how 
will you include equalities 
considerations within this?  

If the option is taken forward a full consultation process would be undertaken with 
respect to the Article 4 Direction and additional policy and separately for the licensing.  
The consultation would target all groups of user who would be affected by the 
proposals.   

 

P
age 216



Page 31 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

3. Assessment of impact: ‘Equality analysis’ 
 
 Based upon any data you have considered, or the results of consultation or research, use the spaces below to demonstrate 

you have analysed how the service or policy: 
• Meets any particular needs of equalities groups or helps promote equality in some way.   
• Could have a negative or adverse impact for any of the equalities groups   

   
Examples of what the service has 
done to promote equality 
 

Examples of actual or potential negative or 
adverse impact and what steps have been 
or could be taken to address this 

3.1 Gender – identify the 
impact/potential impact of the 
policy on women and men.  (Are 
there any issues regarding 
pregnancy and maternity?) 
 

The process of requiring a planning 
application and licensing will mean that  
action will have to be taken to resolve 
hazards and ensure higher standards 
(particularly for energy efficiency 
and security). NB these positive impacts 
will apply to all the groups 
considered below. 
 
The SPD will set out standards for 
properties that will have positive impacts 
for all the groups considered. 
 
Providing greater choice in terms of 
areas to live 
 
NB these positive impacts will apply to all 
the groups considered below. 
 

The A4D will potentially lead to a more 
dispersed pattern of HMO’s in the City with 
students in particular  living in a wider range of 
neighbourhoods than currently experienced.  
The intention of the A4D and the threshold 
policy is to encourage and maintain balanced 
and mixed communities that support the needs 
of all groups in society.    
 
Potential negative impacts of a more 
dispersed set of students or young 
professionals over a larger area could lead to 
feelings of isolation for some groups e.g. 
women who are forced to live further out and 
may feel unsafe travelling at night.   
 
Note this will apply to all the groups 
considered below 
 
Action 
Ensure the provision of good public transport 
and amenity in all areas where there is likely to 

P
age 217



Page 32 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

be a high proportion of HMOs.  
3.2 Transgender – – identify the 

impact/potential impact of the 
policy on transgender people 
 

As in 3.1 above  None identified 

3.3 Disability - identify the 
impact/potential impact of the 
policy on disabled people 
(ensure consideration of a range 
of impairments including both 
physical and mental 
impairments) 
  

As in 3.1 above; and 
 
The higher standards applied with the 
additional licensing will mean that 
provision with respect to disabled 
persons is improved.  
 
New purpose built accommodation will 
ensure that new buildings provide good 
facilities for disabled persons.  

The completion of licence application forms 
and planning applications can be difficult for 
those with certain impairments. There can also 
be communication difficulties if legal action is 
taken for noncompliance with the HMO licence 
provisions. 
 
Action 
Guidance to be offered to landlords to 
complete the licensing application and the 
planning application process.  
 

3.4 Age  – identify the 
impact/potential impact of the 
policy on different age groups 
 

As in 3.1 above and  
 
Current issues associated with HMOs 
include isolation/ feelings of vulnerability 
among the elderly, the proposal should 
lead to more balanced communities as 
more students move into purpose built 
accommodation.  
 
Family housing in areas of high density 
of HMOs are likely to become cheaper, 
meaning it could become easier for new 
entrants to the housing market.  
 
More choice of high quality HMOs will 
make it easier to attract young 

May push up rental prices in some areas 
(particularly Oldfield Park, Westmoreland and 
Widcombe area) that will affect those with 
lower incomes and students. 
 
Action 
Balance this with the increased provision  and 
marketing of purpose built accommodation 
 
May lead to students and young people living 
in peripheral areas of the City possibly leading 
to feelings of isolation for young people that 
are forced to live further out.  
 
Action 
Ensure the provision of good public transport 

P
age 218



Page 33 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

professionals/lower paid employees to 
Bath. 
 

and amenity in all areas where there is likely to 
be a high proportion of HMOs.  
 

3.5 Race – identify the 
impact/potential impact on 
different black and minority 
ethnic groups  
 

As in 3.1 above and  
 
The imposition of improved standards in 
licensed HMOs has a positive impact for 
all ethnic groups. This would particularly 
be the case where a a property is used 
for asylum seekers. Any cultural issues 
will be considered before enforcing 
standards. 
 

Wards with highest proportion of BME 
populations Bathwick with 16% and Abbey 
with 15%, also have high proportions of 
HMOs, so these groups may be adversely 
affected by the potential inflated rental prices 
that arise out of the proposals.  
 
Action  
Ensure other areas where people may end up 
living, have good levels of public transport and 
amenity.  
 

   
Examples of what the service has 
done to promote equality 
 

Examples of potential negative or adverse 
impact and what steps have been or could 
be taken to address this 

3.6 Sexual orientation - identify the 
impact/potential impact of the 
policy on  
lesbians, gay, bisexual & 
heterosexual people 
  

The proposals are very unlikely to create an impact on individuals because of their sexual 
orientation. However, should someone consider that this is in fact the case we will 
consider the points made. 

3.7 Religion/belief – identify the 
impact/potential impact of the 
policy on people of different 
religious/faith groups and also 
upon those with no religion. 
 

As in 3.1 above and  
 

None identified 

3.8 Socio-economically 
disadvantaged – identify the 

As in 3.1 above  
 

May push up rental prices in some areas 
(particularly Oldfield Park, Westmorel and 

P
age 219



Page 34 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

impact on people who are 
disadvantaged due to factors like 
family background, educational 
attainment, neighbourhood, 
employment status can influence 
life chances 
 

Family housing in areas of high density 
of HMOs are likely to become more 
affordable, meaning it could become 
easier for new entrants to the housing 
market 
 

Widcombe area) that will affect those with 
lower salaries.  
 
Action 
Ensure other areas where people may end up 
living, have good levels of public transport and 
amenity 

3.9 Rural communities – identify 
the impact / potential impact on 
people living in rural communities 
 

Potentially increasing the choice in areas 
to live within the city, e.g. young people 
living at home in rural areas, may be able 
to move out  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4. Bath and North East Somerset Council & NHS B&NES 
Equality Impact Assessment Improvement Plan 
 
Please list actions that you plan to take as a result of this assessment.  These actions should be based upon the analysis of data 
and engagement, any gaps in the data you have identified, and any steps you will be taking to address any negative impacts or 
remove barriers. The actions need to be built into your service planning framework.  Actions/targets should be measurable, 
achievable, realistic and time framed. 

P
age 220



Page 35 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

 
Issues identified Actions required Progress milestones Officer 

responsible By when 
Ensure the consultation on the 
draft Article 4 Direction and 
additional policy accompanied 
by appropriate guidance and 
that additional support is 
available for equalities groups. 
 

Ensure equalities is included 
in the plan for the formal 
consultation on the Article 4 
direction and SPD 
 

Preparation of appropriate 
guidance in time for the 
consultation. 
 

Planning 
Policy Team 
 

In time for 
consultation 
 

Completion of the licensing 
application form may be difficult 
for certain groups 

Ensure appropriate guidance 
is provided 

Guidance available Housing 
department 

In place when 
extended 
licensing 
requirements 
are activated 

HMO occupants forced to live in 
other areas, due to rising prices 
in central locations.   
 
 

Ensure good levels of 
amenity and public transport 
in the alternative areas where 
people may end up living 

Review in conjunction with local 
transport policy and proposals. 
 
Review accessibility of wards 
within Bath where HMO housing 
are likely to grow as a 
proportion of housing stock.  
Planning policy team to monitor 

Planning 
Policy Team 
 

Ongoing 

Licensing may push up rental 
prices if landlords see the 
opportunity to pass on costs to 
tenants, (will affect those with 
lower salaries and students).  
 
 
 

Ensure this is balanced with 
the provision of purpose built 
accommodation 

Ensure purpose built 
accommodation policy is 
implemented at the same time 
as the licensing requirements 

Planning 
policy teams 

At the same 
time that the 
purpose built 
accommodation 
policy is 
implemented 

Potential feelings of isolation for 
students and other HMO 

Information provision, e.g. on 
transport access, local 

Included within student 
information and housing packs 

Student 
Community 

To coincide 
with students 

P
age 221



Page 36 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

residents who live in less 
accessible areas 
 
 

amenities, safety measures, 
and support helplines 

Liaison 
Officer 

arriving at 
University and 
during housing 
week 

Potential loss of trade in some 
areas that could affect BME 
business owners, if places are 
left unoccupied as students 
move into purpose built 
accommodation. 
 

Balance this by ensuring that 
purpose built accommodation 
is only built in line with 
demand. 
 
University to produce demand 
forecasts for future demand 
for accommodation 

Purpose built accommodation 
policy implemented at the same 
time as licensing requirements. 
 
Ongoing demand forecasting, 
with annual update.  

Planning 
policy teams  
 
 
 
University  

Purpose built 
accommodation 
policy 
implemented at 
the same time 
as licensing 
requirements. 
 

 
 
 
5. Sign off and publishing 
 
Once you have completed this form, it needs to be ‘approved’ by your Divisional Director or their nominated officer.  Following this 
sign off, send a copy to the Equalities Team (equality@bathnes.gov.uk), who will publish it on the Council’s and/or NHS B&NES’ 
website.  Keep a copy for your own records. 
 
Signed off by:         (Divisional Director or nominated senior officer) 
Date: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 222



Page 37 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

Equality Impact Assessment / Equality Analysis 
 
 
 
Title of service or policy  
 

B&NES Article 4 Direction Feasibility Study. Implementation of 
Option 4: Do nothing but continuation of existing initiatives 
including the Student Community Partnership, the Accreditation 
scheme, Growth in University Accommodation and use of 
existing policies.  

 
Name of directorate and service 
 

Directorate: Service Delivery 
Service: Planning Service 
 

 
Name and role of officers completing the EIA 
 

Planning Consultants (Arup) on behalf of Cleo Newcombe-
Jones, Planning Policy Officer 

 
Date of assessment  
 

 
21st  November 2011 

 
 
 
 
 
Equality Impact Assessment (or ‘Equality Analysis’) is a process of systematically analysing a new or existing policy or service to 
identify what impact or likely impact it will have on different groups within the community.  The primary concern is to identify 
any discriminatory or negative consequences for a particular group or sector of the community.  Equality impact Assessments 
(EIAs) can be carried out in relation to service delivery as well as employment policies and strategies. 

P
age 223



Page 38 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

This toolkit has been developed to use as a framework when carrying out an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) or Equality Analysis 
on a policy, service or function.   It is intended that this is used as a working document throughout the process, with a final version 
including the action plan section being published on the Council’s and NHS Bath and North East Somerset’s websites.     
 

1.  
 
Identify the aims of the policy or service and how it is implemented. 
 

 Key questions Answers / Notes 
1.1 Briefly describe purpose of the 

service/policy including 
• How the 

service/policy is 
delivered and by 
whom 

• If responsibility for 
its implementation 
is shared with other 
departments or 
organisations 

• Intended outcomes  

This Option means that there is no action taken over and above the status quo. Existing 
initiatives and plans will continue. Conversion of family housing to HMO’s will progress 
unfettered under permitted development rights. The Student Community Partnership is 
likely to grow its activity and support local community-student initiatives. Both Universities 
are likely to grow their supply of purpose-built student accommodation if there is sufficient 
demand and a compelling business case.  
Bath and North East Somerset Council’s current accreditation scheme will need reviewing 
regardless of other options taken forward, as it is currently under-resourced. 
Intended outcomes: 
• Strengthened Student Community Partnership; 
• Strengthened landlord accreditation scheme; 
• Students and other HMO residents continue to have freedom to live where they like  

The strengthened landlord accreditation scheme would be run by the housing department, 
and the Student Community Partnership initiatives would be strengthened in partnership 
with the Universities.  

1.2 Provide brief details of the scope 
of the policy or service being 
reviewed, for example: 

• Is it a new 
service/policy or 
review of an 
existing one?   

Houses of Multiple Occupation (HMOs) can be defined as houses with 3 or more people 
not from the same family living together. High densities of HMOs are often associated with 
issues such as noise disturbances, litter and parking difficulties.  
This option is one of four options being considered following a feasibility study by Arup 
looking at the correlation between these negative issues and high densities of HMOs in 
Bath.  

P
age 224



Page 39 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

• Is it a national 
requirement?). 

• How much room for 
review is there? 

This study was prompted by a change in the law in 1st October 2010, which stated that all 
change of use from a C3 dwelling (a family home) to a C4 HMO is classed as permitted 
development and will not require planning permission.   
The study assesses the outcomes and challenges associated with this approach.  
The imposition of an HMO Article 4 Direction is at the discretion of Local Authorities.  Central 
Government has made the necessary changes to legislation to facilitate the process.  If 
progressed   the Article 4 Direction would be placed on a 12 month notice period before a 
final decision is made by the Council to proceed with the A4D.  Legislation allows for period 
review of the A4D once in place so the Council has the ability to monitor the impacts of the 
A4D and review its status. 

1.3 Do the aims of this policy link to 
or conflict with any other policies 
of the Council? 

The benefits are highlighted in 1.1, and the  challenges that may conflict with other 
policies of the Council include that: 
• This Option will be seen as not responding to issues raised by the local community; 
• Doing nothing creates potential for worsening of quality of HMO accommodation; 
• Doing nothing may see the balance of communities tip in certain parts of the City 
• May impact on house prices, if left unchecked, making homeownership 

unaffordable for a growing number of people; 
• Residents may be increasingly exposed to low level anti-social behaviour 

associated with high density of HMOs;  
• House prices may continue to rise if left unchecked, making home ownership 

unaffordable for a growing number of local people;  
• There is potential for HMO expansion which might benefit local employers who may 

struggle to attract new graduates and young professionals if housing in the area is 
expensive; and  

• Seasonal business trade model may lead to under employment of some people.  
 

 
2. Consideration of available data, research and information 
 

P
age 225



Page 40 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

Monitoring data and other information should be used to help you analyse whether you are delivering a fair and equal service.  Please 
consider the availability of the following as potential sources:  
 

• Demographic data and other statistics, including census findings 
• Recent research findings (local and national) 
• Results from consultation or engagement you have undertaken  
• Service user monitoring data (including ethnicity, gender, disability, religion/belief, sexual orientation and age)  
• Information from relevant groups or agencies, for example trade unions and voluntary/community organisations 
• Analysis of records of enquiries about your service, or complaints or compliments about them  
• Recommendations of external inspections or audit reports 

 
  

Key questions 
 

 
Data, research and information that you can refer to  

2.1 What is the equalities profile of the 
team delivering the service/policy?  

Wide range of service deliverers including public, private and voluntary sectors and the 
Universities which mirrors the equality profile of Bath and North East Somerset. 

2.2 What equalities training have staff 
received? 

Housing and Planning Departments have received corporate equalities training.   
2.3 What is the equalities profile of 

service users?   
Through equalities mapping and population profile analysis (B&NES Equality Profile 
2009) we now know more about the wider groups of user who will benefit from any 
improvements to services 
 
Students make up the largest proportion of occupants of HMO’s in Bath.  Data is 
available from the Higher Education Statistics Agency, on the age, gender and socio-
economic profile of students at the Higher Education Institutions in Bath 
http://www.hesa.ac.uk/index.php?option=com_content&task=view&id=2060&Itemid=141 
 
The B&NES Residential Review 2007 provides data across the B&NES wards on items 
such as population age profile, tenure profile, affordable housing profile and location of 
accredited properties. 
 

2.4  What other data do you have in All data is referred to above. 

P
age 226



Page 41 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

terms of service users or staff? (e.g 
results of customer satisfaction 
surveys, consultation findings). Are 
there any gaps?  

The total number of HMO’s in the City based on existing data is considered to be an 
underestimate of the real level of provision  
Data on the profile of landlords/HMO developers is lacking. 
Data on the profile of other HMO residents than students is lacking.    

2.5 What engagement or consultation 
has been undertaken as part of this 
EIA and with whom? 
What were the results? 

As part of the feasibility study a workshop was held on Monday 24th October 2011 in 
the Guildhall, Bath to scope stakeholder’s views on the issues. The aims of the 
workshop were:  
 
• to bring stakeholders together to share and understand different perspectives 

related to HMOs in Bath; 
• to share the data related to both need for HMOs and impacts of HMOs; and  
• to test potential interventions that might help to create balance and sustainable 

communities  
 
A wide range of stakeholders were represented at the workshop, including:  
• Ward Councillors from across Bath  
• Planning Officers, B&NES Council  
• Housing, Transport, Research, Community and Economic Development Officers, 

B&NES Council  
• University of Bath  
• Bath Spa University  
• Royal United Hospital  
• Bath Spa University StudentsM Union  
• University of Bath StudentsM Union  
• HMO Landlords  
• HMO Developers  
• Estate Agents  
• Local Residents  
• Avon and Somerset Police  

 
The results included support for a strengthened Student Community Partnership, 
including support for a campaign improving the positive image of students and benefits 
they bring to communities; increased student volunteering locally to where students live; 

P
age 227



Page 42 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

and increased publicity of the Student Action Line.   
 
There was a suggestion by one group that better/wider public transport would give more 
choice to students on where they live. There was also a suggestion that an Affordable 
Bath campaign should be considered to help attract a wider range of people, including 
young professionals and recent graduates to the City.  
 

2.6 If you are planning to undertake 
any consultation in the future 
regarding this service or policy, how 
will you include equalities 
considerations within this?  

No additional consultation would be planned under this option. Existing practices would 
need to be kept under review. 

 
3. Assessment of impact: ‘Equality analysis’ 
 
 Based upon any data you have considered, or the results of consultation or research, use the spaces below to demonstrate 

you have analysed how the service or policy: 
• Meets any particular needs of equalities groups or helps promote equality in some way.   
• Could have a negative or adverse impact for any of the equalities groups   

   
Examples of what the service has 
done to promote equality 
 

Examples of actual or potential negative or 
adverse impact and what steps have been 
or could be taken to address this 

3.1 Gender – identify the 
impact/potential impact of the 
policy on women and men.  (Are 
there any issues regarding 
pregnancy and maternity?) 
 

 Potential worsening of quality of HMO 
accommodation. 
Action 
Campaigns to encourage landlords to sign up 
to the accreditation scheme, encouraging 
students to use landlords on the accreditation 
scheme 
 
Students may feel less welcome as 

P
age 228



Page 43 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

neighbourhoods are less tolerant and place 
the blame for problems on students. 
Action 
Campaigns run by the Student Community 
Partnership to address these issues 
 
Increasingly low levels of anti-social behaviour 
associated with high densities of HMOs. 
Action 
Campaigns run by the Student Community 
Partnership to address these issues 
 
House prices may continue to rise if left 
unchecked, making home ownership 
unaffordable for a growing number of local 
people. It also may mean that people are 
forced to live in further out areas, leading to 
feelings of isolation etc. 
Action 
Growth in University Accommodation to 
address this  
 
Ensure all areas where there are high levels of 
HMOs have good access to public transport 
and amenity.  
 
These adverse impacts will apply to all 
groups below.  
 

3.2 Transgender – – identify the 
impact/potential impact of the 
policy on transgender people 
 

 See 3.1 above.  

P
age 229



Page 44 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

3.3 Disability - identify the 
impact/potential impact of the 
policy on disabled people 
(ensure consideration of a range 
of impairments including both 
physical and mental 
impairments) 
  

 See 3.1 above, to emphasise 
 
Potential worsening of quality of HMO 
accommodation could particularly affect 
disabled persons. 
Action 
Campaigns to encourage landlords to sign up 
to the accreditation scheme as well as 
encouraging students to use landlords on the 
accreditation scheme would mean higher 
standards that would benefit disabled people.  
 
Growth in University Accommodation to 
provide accommodation that suits the needs of 
disabled persons.   
 
 
 

3.4 Age  – identify the 
impact/potential impact of the 
policy on different age groups 
 

 
 

See 3.1. above 
To emphasise, younger groups tend to be 
those on lower incomes who may be 
particularly affected by rising house prices 
associated with the demand for HMOs 
Actions 
Address this through the growth of University 
accommodation to meet the demand.   

3.5 Race – identify the 
impact/potential impact on 
different black and minority 
ethnic groups  
 

 See 3.1. above 

   
Examples of what the service has 
done to promote equality 

Examples of potential negative or adverse 
impact and what steps have been or could 
be taken to address this 

P
age 230



Page 45 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

 

3.6 Sexual orientation - identify the 
impact/potential impact of the 
policy on  
lesbians, gay, bisexual & 
heterosexual people 
  

It is considered that the do nothing option is unlikely to create an impact on individuals 
because of their sexual orientation.  

3.7 Religion/belief – identify the 
impact/potential impact of the 
policy on people of different 
religious/faith groups and also 
upon those with no religion. 
 

 See 3.1. above 

3.8 Socio-economically 
disadvantaged – identify the 
impact on people who are 
disadvantaged due to factors like 
family background, educational 
attainment, neighbourhood, 
employment status can influence 
life chances 
 

 See 3.1 above, and to emphasise 
 
House prices may continue to rise if left 
unchecked, making home ownership 
unaffordable for a growing number of local 
people.  
Action 
Growth in University Accommodation to 
address this  
 
Action 
Ensure other areas where people may end up 
living, have good levels of public transport and 
amenity.  

3.9 Rural communities – identify 
the impact / potential impact on 
people living in rural communities 
 

Potentially more diverse rural communities 
as people from the city move out to the 
countryside to avoid the problems of high 
HMO density in the city.   

Potentially increasing house prices with 
increased demand in the countryside.  
Action 
Balance with growth in University 

P
age 231



Page 46 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

Accommodation.  
 
 
4. Bath and North East Somerset Council & NHS B&NES 
Equality Impact Assessment Improvement Plan 
 
Please list actions that you plan to take as a result of this assessment.  These actions should be based upon the analysis of data 
and engagement, any gaps in the data you have identified, and any steps you will be taking to address any negative impacts or 
remove barriers. The actions need to be built into your service planning framework.  Actions/targets should be measurable, 
achievable, realistic and time framed. 
 
Issues identified Actions required Progress milestones Responsibility By when 
House prices may continue to 
rise if left unchecked, making 
home ownership unaffordable 
for a growing number of local 
people. It also may mean that 
people wishing to live centrally 
are forced to live in peripheral 
areas of the city, leading to 
feelings of isolation or 
disassociation from communities 
they have affiliation with etc. 
 
 

Ensure good levels of amenity 
and public transport in the 
alternative areas where 
people may end up living 
 
Growth in purpose built 
student accommodation to 
address the demand for 
private sector HMO’s 
 

Review in conjunction with local 
transport policy and proposals. 
 
Review accessibility of wards 
within Bath where HMO 
residents are likely to live 
 
Demand forecasts developed for 
university accommodation 

Planning 
Policy Team 
 
 
 
 
 
University.  

Ongoing 
 

Potential worsening of quality of 
HMO accommodation. 
 
 
 

Develop action plan for 
widening the landlord 
accreditation scheme 
 
Campaigns to encourage 
landlords to sign up to 
landlord accreditations 

Ongoing monitoring and 
improvement 

Housing 
department 

Ongoing  

P
age 232



Page 47 of 47          Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 

scheme 
 
Encourage students to go with 
houses that are accredited 
 
 

Increasing levels of low level 
anti-social behaviour associated 
with high densities of HMOs.  
 
 

Develop action plan for 
campaigns to address these 
issues  

Ongoing monitoring and 
improvement 

Student 
Community 
Liaison Officer 

Ongoing 
campaigns 
throughout 
the year 

 
 
 
5. Sign off and publishing 
 
Once you have completed this form, it needs to be ‘approved’ by your Divisional Director or their nominated officer.  Following this 
sign off, send a copy to the Equalities Team (equality@bathnes.gov.uk), who will publish it on the Council’s and/or NHS B&NES’ 
website.  Keep a copy for your own records. 
 
Signed off by:         (Divisional Director or nominated senior officer) 
Date: 
 

P
age 233



P
age 234

T
his page is intentionally left blank



!"#$%&%'()#$%*"+#%,(-.)+.#%
!"#$%$&"'&(#)*+,)%&-..#,/*+"0&+0&
1/*2&
,/--")0%(1%).+(/)2.%3-4532"#3(6+%

789%

:++/.%%;%%<=%>.?)/")0%@A<@%

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

%

% B$3+%).4()#%#"C.+%36#(%"22(/6#%#$.%4")#32/5")%
36+#)/2#3(6+%"6D%).E/3).-.6#+%(1%(/)%253.6#8%%%

:#%3+%6(#%36#.6D.D%1()%"6D%+$(/5D%6(#%?.%).53.D%
/4(6%?0%"60%#$3)D%4")#0%"6D%6(%).+4(6+3?353#0%3+%
/6D.)#"C.6%#(%"60%#$3)D%4")#08%
%
F(?%6/-?.)%%%%@<G<<HIAA% %

-3%&45#,&6&7/5*0%5$&8*9&
H=%,#%B$(-"+%,#)..#%
!)3+#(5%
!,<%HFJ%
K63#.D%L36MD(-%
NNN8")/482(-%

Appendix C

Page 235



Page 236



4.5 | Issue | 13 February 2012 

J:\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS\RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS REPORT FINAL 14.02.DOCX

:".#;%0*&<%5+'+./*+"0 
%

%
& % &=">&*+*)%& O(/+.+%(1%P/5#345.%Q22/4"#3(6%36%!"#$% =">&0#;>%5&

@<G<<HIAA%
& % &:".#;%0*&*+*)%& ,/--")0%(1%).+(/)2.%3-4532"#3(6+% ?+)%&5%'%5%0.%&

%
& %:".#;%0*&5%'& 789%
& & & %@%3+$+"0& :/*%& ?+)%0/;%& %
& & & %R)"1#%<% <S%R.2%

@A<<%
:%$.5+,*+"0& >3)+#%D)"1#%

& T).4").D%?0% U$.2C.D%?0% V44)(W.D%?0%

'"-.% V66%U(/+36+% X"06.%R0.)% X"06.%R0.)%

,3M6"#/).% % % %

& & & %R)"1#%@% <=%>.?%
@A<@%

?+)%0/;%& Y.+(/)2.%:-4532"#3(6+%Y.4()#%<=8A@8D(2Z%
:%$.5+,*+"0& ,/--")0%(1%136"5%2(+#%+4)."D+$..#%

& T).4").D%?0%% U$.2C.D%?0% V44)(W.D%?0%

'"-.% V66%U(/+36+% X"06.%R0.)% X"06.%R0.)%

,3M6"#/).% % % %

& & & %:++/.% <=%>.?%
@A<@%

?+)%0/;%& Y.+(/)2.%:-4532"#3(6+%Y.4()#%>:'V[8D(2Z%
:%$.5+,*+"0& XR%).W3.N%

& T).4").D%?0% U$.2C.D%?0% V44)(W.D%?0%

'"-.% V66%U(/+36+% X"06.%R0.)% X"06.%R0.)%

,3M6"#/).% % % %

& & & %:++/.% <7%>.?%
@A<@%

?+)%0/;%& %
:%$.5+,*+"0& K4D"#.D%#(%3625/D.%\)"$"-%,"?(/)6%2(--.6#+%

& T).4").D%?0% U$.2C.D%?0% V44)(W.D%?0%

'"-.% % % %

,3M6"#/).% % % %

%% A$$#%&:".#;%0*&<%5+'+./*+"0&B+*2&:".#;%0*& % ü% %
%

%

Page 237



Page 238



Bath & North East Somerset Houses of Multiple Occupation in Bath 
Summary of resource implications 

4.5 | Issue | 13 February 2012 

J:\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS\RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS REPORT FINAL 14.02.DOCX

C"0*%0*$&

%
% T"M.%

D% A0*5"9#.*+"0& D%

E% F%G&?+09+0H$& D%

@8<% QW.)W3.N% <%
@8@% V)#325.%7%R3).2#3(6% <%
@8=% *6$"62.D%T5"6636M%T(5320% @%
@87% VDD3#3(6"5%532.6+36M% =%

%
%
%
4,,%09+.%$&

4,,%09+I&4%

L.0%V++/-4#3(6+%
%
%
%

Page 239



Page 240



Bath & North East Somerset Houses of Multiple Occupation in Bath 
Summary of resource implications 

4.5 | Issue | 13 February 2012 

J:\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS\RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS REPORT FINAL 14.02.DOCX

Page 1

D A0*5"9#.*+"0&

>(55(N36M%(6%1)(-%#$.%V)/4%1."+3?353#0%+#/D0%(6%"6%")#325.%7%D3).2#3(6%1()%OPQ+%
36%!"#$]%#$3+%+$()#%).4()#%+.#+%(/#%#$.%4(++3?5.%).+(/)2.%3-4532"#3(6+%(1%#$.%(4#3(6+%
3D.6#313.D^%

· V)#325.%7%D3).2#3(6%_V7R`^%%%

· *6$"62.D%4(5320%_#(%+/44()#%#$.%V7R`^%

· VDD3#3(6"5%532.6+36M8%%

B$.%2(+#+%(1%#$.%36#.)W.6#3(6%(4#3(6+%N.).%-(D.55.D%(W.)%"%9I0.")%4.)3(D%"M"36+#%
?"+.536.%+2.6")3(+%36%#.)-+%(1%OPQ%6/-?.)+%_#$.).%3+%6(%2/)).6#%).E/3).-.6#%1()%
OPQ+%#(%?.%3D.6#313.D`%"6D%1/#/).%M)(N#$%36%OPQ+%_U[\%+2.6")3(+%#.+#.D`8%%
>/)#$.)%D.#"35+%(1%1/55%"++/-4#3(6+%-"D.%2"6%?.%1(/6D%36%4,,%09+I&4J%

E F%G&?+09+0H$&

EJD -3%53+%B&
:#%3+%3-4()#"6#%#(%).2(M63+.%#$.%2(-45.Z3#0%(1%3D.6#31036M%#$.%2(+#+%"++(23"#.D%N3#$%
"60%(1%#$.%(4#3(6+8%V+%?(#$%?"+.536.%6/-?.)+%(1%OPQ+%"6D%M)(N#$%+2.6")3(+%").%
4).D32#.D]%#$.%)"6M.%(1%4(++3?5.%2(+#+%3+%+3M63132"6#%"6D%N.%4).+.6#%+2.6")3(+]%
)"#$.)%#$"6%13Z.D%2(+#+8%%

EJE 45*+.)%&K&:+5%.*+"0&

EJEJD L,'5"0*&."$*$&

B$3+%(4#3(6%362/)+%/41)(6#%2(+#+%4).D(-36"6#50%1()%#$.%45"6636M%4(5320%#."-8%B$.%
#(#"5%2(+#%#(%2(-450%N3#$%2(6+/5#"#3(6%"6D%).M/5"#()0%).E/3).-.6#+%3+%.+#3-"#.D%#(%
?.%"44)(Z8%a<S]AAA]%"++/-36M%#$"#%2(6+/5#"6#+%").%/+.D8%B$3+%2(+#%2(/5D%?.%-.#%
1)(-%.Z3+#36M%4)(b.2#%?/DM.#+8%%

EJEJE -0H"+0H&."$*$&

B$.).%N355%?.%"DD3#3(6"5%2(+#+%#(%T5"6636M%,.)W32.+]%N$32$%").%6(6I).2(/4"?5.]%"+%
6(%1..%2"6%?.%2$")M.D%1()%"44532"#3(6+%#)3MM.).D%?0%#$.%V)#325.%7%D3).2#3(68%%

*Z"2#%2(+#+%N355%D.4.6D%(6%"2#/"5%6/-?.)+%(1%"44532"#3(6+8%!.+#]%N()+#%"6D%-3DI
2"+.%+2.6")3(+%$"W.%?..6%#.+#.D8%:#%3+%.+#3-"#.D%#$"#%36%"%-3D)"6M.%+2.6")3(%"44)(Z8%
c9%.Z#)"%"44532"#3(6+%N(/5D%?.%#)3MM.).D%."2$%0.")]%"6D%#$3+%362/)%D3).2#%2(+#+%#(%
T5"6636M%,.)W32.+%(1%a=<]<9A8%B$.%N()+#%2"+.%+2.6")3(%N(/5D%).+/5#%36%2(+#+%(1%
"44)(Z3-"#.50%a<A@]AAA8%%

B$.%"DD3#3(6"5%2(+#+%).5"#.%#(d%

· R."536M%N3#$%"DD3#3(6"5%"44532"#3(6+%_"++/-4#3(6+]%?"+.D%(6%2/)).6#%"2#3W3#0]%
$"W.%?..6%-"D.%"?(/#%4)(4()#3(6%M(36M%#(%"44."5%()%#(%2(--3##..%N$32$%
362/)+%1/)#$.)%2(+#`^%%

Page 241



Bath & North East Somerset Houses of Multiple Occupation in Bath 
Summary of resource implications 

4.5 | Issue | 13 February 2012 

J:\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS\RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS REPORT FINAL 14.02.DOCX

Page 2

· :62)."+.D%.61()2.-.6#%"2#3W3#0^%"6D%
· :62)."+.D%#$3)D%4")#0%.6E/3)3.+8%

EJM N02/0.%9&7)/00+0H&7")+.G&

EJMJD L,'5"0*&."$*$&

B(%M3W.%#$.%V)#325.%7%R3).2#3(6%#..#$]%"%#$).+$(5D%4(5320%3+%6..D.D%"M"36+#%N$32$%
D.W.5(4-.6#%-"6"M.-.6#%2"6%D.#.)-36.%"44532"#3(6+8%B$.).%3+%"5+(%#$.%(4#3(6%#(%
3625/D.%"%4(5320%(6%4/)4(+.I?/35#%+#/D.6#%"22(--(D"#3(68%%

B$.).%").%#N(%)(/#.+%#$"#%2(/5D%?.%/+.D%1()%36#)(D/236M%#$.%4(5323.+%).E/3).D%#(%
+/44()#%#$.%")#325.%7%D3).2#3(6^%%

"` B$.0%2(/5D%?.%362()4()"#.D%36#(%#$.%T5"2.-"C36M%T5"6%RTR]%N$32$%$"+%"6%
.Z3+#36M%?/DM.#%"6D%#3-.#"?5.8%B$3+%N(/5D%M3W.%#$.%4(5323.+%-"Z3-/-%
N.3M$#8%

?` V%6.N%,TR%2(/5D%?.%2)."#.D]%N$32$%2(/5D%?.%2(6+/5#.D%(6%"5(6M+3D.%#$.%
")#325.%7%D3).2#3(6%3#+.51]%2)."#36M%+(-.%.11323.620%+"W36M+8%V++/-36M%
2(6+/5#"6#+%").%/+.D%#(%.Z4.D3#.%#$3+%4)(2.++]%3#%3+%.+#3-"#.D%#$"#%#$3+%N(/5D%
).+/5#%36%"6%"DD3#3(6"5%2(+#%(1%"44)(Z3-"#.50%a<<]AAA8%%

O/>)%&DP&7"$$+>)%&O+;%*/>)%&'"5&-,*+"0&D&

% 7)/.%;/Q+0H&7)/0&:7:& R7:& 45*+.)%&K&:+5%.*+"0&

P")%@A<@% :++/.+%"6D%"5#.)6"#3W.%
(4#3(6+%2(6+/5#"#3(6%

R.W.5(4%D)"1#%4(5323.+%
"6D%.W3D.62.%?"+.% R.W.5(4%D)"1#%R3).2#3(6%

V4)%@A<@%
P"0%@A<@% % U(6+/5#"#3(6%_H%N..C%1()-"5%2(6+/5#"#3(6%4.)3(D]%N3#$%

H%b(36#%.W.6#+%"2)(++%!"#$`%F/6%@A<@% %

F/5%@A<@% % Y.+4(6D%#(%2(6+/5#"#3(6%2(--.6#+%

,.4%@A<@% % VD(4#3(6%"6D%T/?532"#3(6% T/?532"#3(6%(1%"60%
4)(4(+.D%2$"6M.+%

R.2%@A<@% T/?532"#3(6%(1%4)(4(+.D%
,/?-3++3(6%RTR%"6D%
D)"1#%,V%).4()#%

% %

P")%@A<=% ,/?-3++3(6%#(%,.2).#")0%
(1%,#"#.%N3#$%136"5%,V%
Y.4()#%

% %

V4)%@A<=% % % R3).2#3(6%2(-.+%36#(%
45"2.%

R.2%@A<=% VD(4#3(6%"6D%4/?532"#3(6% % %

EJMJE -0H"+0H&."$*$&

B$.).%").%(6M(36M%2(+#+]%.+#3-"#.D%#(%?.%"6%"66/"5%2(+#%(1%ac9A]%#(%.6+/).%#$"#%#$.%
?"+.536.%#$).+$(5D%13M/).+%").%/4D"#.D%."2$%0.")8%

Page 242



Bath & North East Somerset Houses of Multiple Occupation in Bath 
Summary of resource implications 

4.5 | Issue | 13 February 2012 

J:\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS\RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS REPORT FINAL 14.02.DOCX

Page 3

EJK 499+*+"0/)&)+.%0$+0H&&

EJKJD L,'5"0*&."$*$&

B$.%6(6I).2/))36M]%6(6I).2(/4"?5.%+.#I/4%2(+#+%").%.+#3-"#.D%#(%?.%"44)(Z3-"#.50%
a=@]AAA8%%

EJKJE -0H"+0H&."$*$&

P().%D.#"35.D%N()C%1)(-%#$.%O(/+36M%#."-%3+%.Z4.2#.D%(6%2(+#+%(1%"D-363+#.)36M%
532.6+36M%36%!&'*,8%O(N.W.)]%3#%3+%53C.50%#(%?.%2(+#%6./#)"5%(6%#$.%?"+3+%#$"#%2(+#+%
362/)).D%#(%#$.%U(/6235%2"6%?.%).2(W.).D%W3"%#$.%532.6+36M%1..8%B$.).%-"0%?.%
3++/.+%")(/6D%2"+$%15(N]%"+%+(-.%2(+#+%N355%?.%362/)).D%?.1().%#$.0%2"6%?.%
).2(W.).D8%V60%(6M(36M%2(+#+%N355%D.4.6D%(6%4)32.%+.#%1()%"%532.6+.%"6D%"%532.6+.%
).6.N"5]%#$.%D.#"35%(1%5(2"5%4(5320%"6D%#$.%5.W.5%(1%4)("2#3W.%.61()2.-.6#%"2#3W3#08%

Page 243



Page 244



4,,%09+I&4&*"&!"#$%$&"'&
(#)*+,)%&-..#,/*+"0P&
R#;;/5G&"'&5%$"#5.%&+;,)+./*+"0$
%
%
%
L.0%V++/-4#3(6+%

Page 245



Page 246



Bath & North East Somerset Houses of Multiple Occupation in Bath 
Summary of resource implications 

4.5 | Issue | 13 February 2012 

J:\218XXX\218116-00\4.50_REPORTS\RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS\RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS REPORT FINAL 14.02.DOCX

Page A1

4D 4$$#;,*+"0$&

B$.).%").%"%6/-?.)%(1%"++/-4#3(6+%#$"#%$"W.%#(%?.%-"D.%36%()D.)%.+#3-"#.%
4(++3?5.%2(+#+%"6D%M)(N#$%)"#.+%36%OPQ+]%#$.+.%").%+.#%(/#%?.5(Nd%

4DJD 1/$%)+0%&
!"#$%&%'()#$%*"+#%,(-.)+.#%U(/6235e+%O(/+36M%#."-%").%"N").%(1%=]AAA%OPQ+%
"2)(++%!"#$%"6D%'()#$%*"+#%,(-.)+.#8%X.%.+#3-"#.%#$"#%#$3+%.E/"#.+%#(%@]@@<%
N3#$36%#$.%U3#0%(1%!"#$8%B$3+%3+%/653C.50%#(%?.%"%2(-4).$.6+3W.%53+#8%>()%.Z"-45.]%
QZ1()D%U3#0%U(/6235%.Z4.)3.62.D%"%@cAf%362)."+.%36%#$.%6/-?.)%(1%OPQ+%#$"#%
#$.0%N.).%"N").%(1%1(55(N36M%#$.%36#)(D/2#3(6%(1%"DD3#3(6"5%532.6+36M8%B(%"22(/6#%
1()%#$3+]%N.%4)(4(+.%#$)..%4(++3?5.%?"+.536.%+2.6")3(+d%

· @]@@<%

· @]SSG%_"%<=9f%362)."+.+`%

· 9]SSH%_"%@cAf%362)."+.`%

4DJE S5"B*2&&
B$.).%").%-"60%1"2#()+%N$32$%2(/5D%3-4"2#%(6%#$.%4(++3?5.%1/#/).%M)(N#$%(1%
OPQ+%36%!"#$]%3625/D36M]%1()%.Z"-45.^%2$"6M.+%#(%+#/D.6#%6/-?.)+^%2$"6M.+%#(%
#$.%6/-?.)%(1%).2.6#%M)"D/"#.+%"##)"2#.D%#(%#$.%")."^%)"#.+%(1%-3M)"#3(6%#(%#$.%")."%
.#28%X.%$"W.%#$.).1().%3D.6#313.D%#$.%1(55(N36M%4(++3?5.%M)(N#$%+2.6")3(+d%

· <f%

· =f%

· 9f%

B$.+.%").%?"+.D%(6%#$.%"++/-4#3(6+%2(6#"36.D%N3#$36%#$.%U[\%3-4"2#%"++.++-.6#^%
Introducing a definition of houses in multiple occupation into the Use Classes 
Order: Impact assessment, _@A<A`%

B$.+.%").%4(++3?5.%+2.6")3(+%"6D%"2#/"5%13M/).+%+$(/5D%?.%-(63#().D%#(%"55(N%1()%
).W3+3(6+%36%#$.+.%4(++3?5.%+2.6")3(+%(W.)%#3-.8%%

4DJM C"$*$&
X.%$"W.%6(#%"22(/6#.D%1()%3615"#3(6^%#$.%2(+#+%+$(N6%").%"#%2/)).6#%136"623"5%0.")%
_@A<<g<@`%)"#.+8%%

Page 247



Page 248

This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

APPENDIX D 
 

PRIVATE SECTOR LICENSING 
 
LEGISLATIVE BACKGROUND 
 
The Housing Act 2004 increased Local Housing Authority’s (LHA) abilities to regulate the 
private rented sector by introducing three forms of licensing, these being: 
 
• Mandatory licensing of HMOs – applies to HMOs of 3 storeys or more, occupied by 

5 or more people who are not a single household.    
 
• Additional licensing of HMOs – allows LHAto designate all or part of their district to 

be subject to additional licensing for classes of HMOs specified by the LHA. 
 
• Selective licensing –allows LHA to designate all or part of their district to be subject 

to the licensing of privately rented accommodation. 
 
Operating a property covered by the designation without a license is an offence punishable 
by a fine up to £20,000. 
 
HMOs are buildings or parts of buildings which are occupied by more than one household. 
These may be occupied as bedsits, shared houses, self-contained flats or hostels, or a 
combination of these. The majority of HMO accommodation is privately rented.  The text 
box below contains a full definition of an HMO under the Housing Act 2004. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Following the introduction of a General Approval Order in March 2010 an LHA can now 
introduce additional or selective licensing without the need for Secretary of State approval.  
However, introducing additional or selective licensing is not a decision to be taken lightly 
by the Council.  The conditions that must be satisfied are contained in Part 2 of the 
Housing Act 2004 and are further detailed in guidance issued by the Department of 
Communities & Local Government (CLG) issued in December 2007 & in draft form in 
February 2010, (1) (2). 
 
Table 1 provides a summary of the three forms of licensing and the conditions that must 
be achieved.  Selective licensing, which is framed around low-demand housing, is not a 
realistic option for Bath & North East Somerset and so this option will not be discussed 
further in this briefing. 
 

 
HMO Definition: Housing Act 2004 

 
1) a building in which more than one household shares a basic amenity, known as “the standard test”.  
A basic amenity includes a bathroom, toilet or cooking facilities, or 
2) a flat in which more than one household shares a basic amenity within the flat , known as “the self-
contained flat test”, or 
3) a building which has been converted and does not entirely comprise of self contained flats, known as 
“the converted building test”, or 
4) a building which is comprised entirely of converted self-contained flats and the standard of the 
conversion does not meet , at a minimum, the standard required by the 1991 Building Regulations, and 
less than 2/3 of the flats are owner –occupied, known as the “section 257 HMO”. 
 

Page 249



2 
 

Table 1: Licensing Summary 
 

 
Licensing 
Type 
 

 
Properties Affected 

 
Conditions to be Meet 

 
Mandatory 

 
 

HMO(1)s that are: 
• 3 storeys or more; 

& 
• occupied by 5 or 

more people; & 
• form 2 or more 

households 
 

 
n/a 

 
Additional 
HMO 

 

 
HMO(1)s that are: 
• In designated area; 

& 
• Fall within 

designated class 
&/or size 

 

 
• consider that a significant proportion of the HMOs of that 
description in the area are being managed sufficiently 
ineffectively as to give rise, orto be likely to give rise, to one 
or more particular problems either for those occupying the 
HMOs or for members of the public 
 
• have regard to any information regarding the extent to 
which any codes of practice approved under section 233 
have been complied with by persons managing HMOs in 
the area in question (these codes relate to 
University managed accommodation) 
 
• consider whether there are any other courses of action 
available to them (of whatever nature) that might provide an 
effective method of dealing with the problem or problems in 
question 
 
• that making the designation will significantly assist them to 
deal with the problem or problems (whether or not they take 
any other course of action as well) 
 
• consult persons likely to be affected by the designation for 
a period of not less than ten weeks. 
 
• designation cannot last for more than 5 years and must be 
reviewed    

 
 

Selective 
 

 
Any private rented 
properties that are: 
• In designated area 

 
• the area is one that is experiencing low housing demand 
(or is likely to become such an area) and the LHA is 
satisfied that making a designation will, when combined 
with other measures taken by the LHA, or by the LHA in 
conjunction with others, would contribute to an 
improvement in the social or economic conditions or the 
area 
 
• the area is experiencing a significant and persistent 
problem caused by anti-social behaviour and that some or 
all private sector landlords in the area are not taking 
appropriate action to combat the problem that it would be 

Page 250



3 
 

appropriate for them to take; and the making of such a 
designation, when combined with other measures taken by 
the LHA in conjunction with other, will lead to a reduction in, 
or elimination of the problem.  
 

 
 

 CLG guidance (3) has additionally added the following for 
both selective & additional licensing: 
 
• Whenever considering whether to make an additional or 
selectivelicensing designation local authorities must also 
ensure that theexercise of the power is consistent with their 
overall housing strategy 
 
• The local authority should seek to adopt a co-ordinated 
approach inconnection with dealing with homelessness, 
empty properties and antisocialbehaviour affecting the 
private rented sector as regardscombining licensing with 
other action taken by them or others 
 
• The local authority should consider whether there are any 
othercourses of action available to them (of whatever 
nature) that mightprovide an effective method of achieving 
with the objective orobjectives that the designation would 
be intended to achieve, andconsider that making the 
designation will significantly assist them toachieve the 
objective or objectives (whether or not they take any other 
course of action as well) 
 
• Other courses of action that a local authority might instead 
consider (asan alternative to, or in addition to, additional 
licensing) include voluntarymeasures such as landlord 
accreditation. 
 
• Local Authorities may also wish to consider using other 
tools availableunder the Housing Act 2004 such as Interim 
Management Orders fornon-licensable HMOs. 
 

 
The guidance makes it clear that additional licensing is not just another tool in the toolbox 
and that it should only be seen as an option to use when there are real problems with 
HMOs that have not been solved by using other available powers and a variety of 
approaches.  This is reflected in the low numbers of additional licensing schemes that exist 
at present.  We understand that at present there are 11 additional licensing schemes in 
existence.  Table 2 provides some further details on these schemes including LHA & 
scope of scheme. 
 

Table 2: Current Licensing Schemes 
 

 
ADDITIONAL LICENSING 

 
 

SELECTIVE LICENSING 
 

Approved with CLG consent 
(before 1 April 2010) 

 

Page 251



4 
 

 
LB Hounslow  
(5 wards; 2 storey 4+ people) 
LB Hillingdon  
(13 wards; 2 storey 5+ people) 
LB Ealing   
(designated area; 2 storey 4+ people) 

 
Blackburn 
Bolton 
Burnley 
Durham 
Gateshead 
Hartlepool 
Leeds 
Manchester 
Middlesborough 
LB Newham 
Salford 
Sunderland 
 
 

Approved under general consent 
(after 1 April 2010) 

 
 
Oxford  
(All district; all HMOs) 
LB Croydon  
(21 wards; all HMOS exc s257) 
East Riding of Yorkshire  
(designated area; 2 storey 4+ people) 
Peterborough  
(3 wards; 2 storey 3+ people) 
Cardiff 
(1 ward; all HMOs) 
Hastings 
(4 wards; 3+ storey) 
Slough 
(designated area; all HMOs) 
Newport 
(All district; all HMOs) 
 

 
Hyndeburn 
Newcastle 
Thanet 
Oldham 

 
 
ADDITIONAL LICENSING RATIONALE   
 
The primary purpose of HMO licensing is toimprove housing standards.  It allows the LHA 
to ensure that conditions, amenity & fire safety standards comply with current legislative 
standards.  As such the principle beneficiaries of licensing are tenants.   
 
However, some LHAs use the licence as a vehicle to improve the management of the 
property and to respond to complaints by local residents about the appearance and 
behaviour of tenants.  Hence licences often contain conditions relating to the number of 
waste receptacles required and management conditions, such as, that the landlord takes 
reasonable steps to minimise any nuisance, alarm or harassment by tenants etc.  
Interestingly Oxford even specifies that when electrical appliances are replaced only A 
rated units can be used, thus contributing to their corporate goals of reducing carbon 
emissions.Clearly, there is a balance between stretching the conditions to achieving wider 
corporate aims and having conditions that would withstand the rigour of a legal challenge. 

Page 252



5 
 

 
 
EVIDENCE REQUIRED 
 
To withstand the challenge of a judicial review the Council would need to be able to 
produce evidence to meet the over arching condition contained in the Housing Act 2004 
which states that the LHA… 
 

“consider that a significant proportion of the HMOs of that description in the 
area are being managed sufficiently ineffectively as to give rise, or to be likely to 
give rise, to one or more particular problems either for those occupying the 
HMOs or for members of the public”. 

 
Likely evidence could include: 
 
• Housing conditions – is there evidence to suggest that housing conditions are poor, or 

at least worse, in the proposed designation. 
• Housing Management - is there evidence to suggest that housing management is poor, 

or at least worse, in the proposed designation 
• Other solutions – have these been tried and found unsuccessful. 
 
An analysis of the evidence would be required to confirm that the above requirements are 
met.  At this stage this is not clear. 
 
 
SCHEME DESIGN 
 
The designation can cover a single ward or the entire district.  It can cover a specific type 
of HMO or all types.However, the CLG guidance,(3)states that… 
 

“it is not the intention of the legislation that additional licensing should apply to 
all types of HMO across entire LHA areas.  It should be used to tackle specific 
problems in specific areas” 

 
Table 2 confirms that the existing schemes range from a single ward (Cardiff) to a whole 
City (Newport, Oxford).  From 3 storey HMOs (Hastings) to all HMOs (Oxford, Cardiff, 
Hastings, Newport & Slough). 
 
To assist with the impact of introducing additional licensing LHAs have generally adopted 
a phased approach, for example, 3 storey HMOs first, then 2 storey properties or on 
anphased geographical basis. 
 
 
OPERATIONAL IMPACTS  
 
The following table provides our baseline knowledge on HMOs within the City wards, 
based upon voluntary property accreditations and tenant complaint data.  However, the 
experience in Oxford was that their data underestimated the number of HMOs in existence 
by a factor of at least 250%. 
 

Ward HMOs subject to 
Mandatory licencing 

Potential HMOs subject 
to Additional licensing 

HMOs in Flats (S257) (% could be 
subject to Additional licensing) 

Page 253



6 
 

 
Kingsmead 37 180 332 
Abbey 19 86 419 
Widcombe 58 263 149 
Westmoreland 68 356 16 
Walcot 12 113 220 
Oldfield 53 287 25 
Lansdown 8 41 171 
Newbridge 23 93 82 
Lyncombe 14 71 72 
Whole district  380 1400 1600 

 
Introducing additional licensing for all HMOsacross the three south Bath wards of Oldfield, 
Westmoreland & Widcombe would bring at least an additional 1,000 HMOs into licensing, 
significantly more if the Oxford experience is replicated. 
 
From experience, and looking at Oxford’s experience, the maximum expected number of 
completed HMO inspectionsis 100 per officer per year.  This is an ambitious figure, 
particularly given that the Audit Commission state that an officer could reasonably be 
expected to improve 30 HMOs per year.  In addition licensing is administratively complex, 
with most forms currently being completed incorrectly or the incorrect fee paid.  Fit & 
proper person checks also add to the complexity. 
 
As such for every 1,000 HMOs brought into licensing with all being subject to inspection  
and assuming 10% are re-inspected each year as an audit measure it is estimated that an 
additional 4 staff will be required.  In addition we would need to look at how the process 
can be re-engineered to be more effective, possibly through e-work flows as adopted with 
our housing allocations system.  This work, establishing the evidence base, consultation, 
introducing & publishing the designations, appointment of additional staff will all be upfront 
costs. 
 
Given the significant overlaps between voluntary accreditation & licensing it would seem 
sensible to withdraw the voluntary accreditation scheme if licensing is progressed.  The 
resources released would then be available to cover the additional work of licensing not 
covered by the fee, for example, increased enforcement activity or if stopped with 
immediate effect could be used to fund the upfront cost detailed above.  However, this is 
clearly a risk should licensing not be adopted in the future. 
 
 
FEE STRUCTURE 
 
Fees can be levied to cover the administration costs of licensing including publicity, back-
office functions & inspections.  There is inevitably some debate as to where the role of 
licensing administration ends and the LHA’s statutory responsibility for enforcement action 
begins.   Our current mandatory license fees start at £750 for a 5 year licence.  This is 
based upon full cost recovery and limited enforcement activity.  Table 3 below shows we 
understand other LHA fees are for Additional licensing. 
 
 
 

Table 3: Additional Licensing Fees 
 

Page 254



7 
 

  
 
In addition it is worth remembering that whilst the scheme should be cost neutral there are 
some significant financial risks associated with: calculating the fee, particularly given the 
lack of certainty around HMO numbers; the potential to generate non-chargeable work, 
that is, additional enforcement activity and the initial scheme investigation/evidence costs. 
 
POTENTIAL BENEFITS & RISKS 
 

 Positive Impacts 
 

Challenges 
Council 

 
• Council is seen to be responsive to 

local needs 
• Potential for more balanced 

communities, assuming scheme 
creates downward pressure on 
HMOs &overspill into other wards  

• Better information on HMOs 
• Named contact for HMO should 

mean more effective engagement 
when issues arise 
 

 

• May not deliver political objectives e.g. 
in practice may not significantly reduce 
the local impact of HMOs  

• Financial risks.  Potential to 
miscalculate fee, increase in unfunded 
work e.g. enforcement activity;  
research & other set up work; legal 
challenges 

• Potential to reduce housing capacity if 
properties turned into family homes 

• End to the established voluntary 
accreditation scheme 

• The two main landlord associations 
appear to be opposed to discretionary 
licensing and have assisted with local 
challenges & threatened judicial reviews  

 
Tenants 

 
• Improved housing conditions 
• Better engagement with landlord 

• Cost of licence likely to be passed onto 
tenant – circa. 1% increase in rent on 3 
bed, 4 person student house  

Local 
Residents 

 
• Potential for reducing the negative  

impact of HMOs, particularly 
around external conditions & waste 
disposal  

• Potential for more balanced 
communities 

• Reduction in value of homes&at least 
initially potentially harder to sell. 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

Additional License Fee (3 bed, 5yr)

Page 255



8 
 

 
 

Landlords 
 

• Produces “level playing field” for 
landlords in designation by tackling 
less scrupulous landlords 

• Allows landlords to use the Council 
as an “excuse” for tackling tenant 
issues. 

• Provides support for those 
landlords that require guidance & 
assistance 

 

• Increased costs/red tape associated 
with licencing 

• Council seen to be “at war” with 
landlords 

• Council seen as punishing good 
landlords because of the behaviour of a 
small number of bad landlords, thus 
risking the good will established through 
the voluntary accreditation scheme. 

 
 

EXAMPLE DELIVERY PROGRAMME  
 
The general consent order requires the LHA to undertake at least 10 weeks of 
consultation.  In addition the scheme cannot become effective for at least 3 months 
following designation. 
 
 
Ref 
 

Milestone Date for completion 
1 Cabinet Report – establish evidence gap, upfront 

financial commitments & decision to proceed 
 

March 12 

2 Evidence Gathering 
 

June 12 
3 Initial scheme design 

 
June 12 

4 Commission consultation 
 

July 12 
5 Final scheme design 

 
November 12 

6 Cabinet Report – designation decision 
 

November 12 
7 Legal notification & promotion of scheme 

 
December 12 

8 Appointment of scheme staff 
 

February 13 
9 Commence scheme – phase 1 

 
April 13 

10 Commence scheme – subsequent phases 
 

6-12months later 
 
References 
 
1. CLG.Approval steps for additional and selective licensing in England . 2007. 
2. —. A guide to the licensing & management provisons of the Housing Act 2004 (Draft). 2010. 
3. ARUP.Article 4 Direction for HMOs in Bath: Feasibilty Study. 2010. 
4. LACORS.Additional & Selective Licensing: A Guide for Practitioners. 2011. 
 
 

Page 256



Bath & North East Somerset Council 

MEETING: Development Control Committee   

AGENDA 
ITEM 
NUMBER MEETING 

DATE: 
14th March 2012 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER: 

Lisa Bartlett, Development Manager, Planning & 
Transport Development (Telephone: 01225 477281) 

TITLE: SITE INSPECTION APPLICATIONS  

WARDS: ALL 

BACKGROUND PAPERS:  

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

List of background papers relating to this report of the Development Manager, Planning and Transport Development about 
applications/proposals for Planning Permission etc.  The papers are available for inspection online at 
http://planning.bathnes.gov.uk/PublicAccess/. 

[1] Application forms, letters or other consultation documents, certificates, notices, correspondence and all drawings submitted by 
and/or on behalf of applicants, Government Departments, agencies or Bath and North East Somerset Council in connection 
with each application/proposal referred to in this Report. 

[2] Department work sheets relating to each application/proposal as above. 

[3] Responses on the application/proposals as above and any subsequent relevant correspondence from: 

(i) Sections and officers of the Council, including: 

Building Control 
Environmental Services 
Transport Development 
Planning Policy, Environment and Projects, Urban Design (Sustainability) 
 

(ii) The Environment Agency 
(iii) Wessex Water 
(iv) Bristol Water 
(v) Health and Safety Executive 
(vi) British Gas 
(vii) Historic Buildings and Monuments Commission for England (English Heritage) 
(viii) The Garden History Society 
(ix) Royal Fine Arts Commission 
(x) Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 
(xi) Nature Conservancy Council 
(xii) Natural England 
(xiii) National and local amenity societies 
(xiv) Other interested organisations 
(xv) Neighbours, residents and other interested persons 
(xvi) Any other document or correspondence specifically identified with an application/proposal 
 

[4] The relevant provisions of Acts of Parliament, Statutory Instruments or Government Circulars, or documents produced by the 
Council or another statutory body such as the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan (including waste and minerals policies) 
adopted October 2007  

The following notes are for information only:- 

[1] “Background Papers” are defined in the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 do not include those disclosing 
“Exempt” or “Confidential Information” within the meaning of that Act.  There may be, therefore, other papers relevant to an 

 

Agenda Item 11

Page 257



application which will be relied on in preparing the report to the Committee or a related report, but which legally are not required 
to be open to public inspection. 

[2] The papers identified or referred to in this List of Background Papers will only include letters, plans and other documents 
relating to applications/proposals referred to in the report if they have been relied on to a material extent in producing the 
report. 

[3] Although not necessary for meeting the requirements of the above Act, other letters and documents of the above kinds 
received after the preparation of this report and reported to and taken into account by the Committee will also be available for 
inspection. 

[4] Copies of documents/plans etc. can be supplied for a reasonable fee if the copyright on the particular item is not thereby 
infringed or if the copyright is owned by Bath and North East Somerset Council or any other local authority. 

 

INDEX 

 
 

ITEM 
NO. 

APPLICATION NO. 
& TARGET DATE: 

APPLICANTS NAME/SITE ADDRESS 
and PROPOSAL 

WARD: OFFICER: REC: 
 

 
 

01 11/04867/VAR 
10 January 2012 

Partridge Homes (Cotswolds) Ltd 
Former Allotment Gardens, 
Southbourne Gardens, Fairfield Park, 
Bath, Bath And North East Somerset 
Variation of condition 2 (plans list) of 
application 10/03251/VAR (Variation of 
condition 2 of application 07/01598/FUL 
to allow a variation to the design of 
house type A (Plots 1-8)) 

Walcot Andy Pegler PERMIT 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 258



Item No:   01 
Application No: 11/04867/VAR 
Site Location: Former Allotment Gardens, Southbourne Gardens, Fairfield Park, 
Bath 

 
Ward: Walcot  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: N/A 
Ward Members: Councillor Lisa Brett Councillor Paul Fox  
Application Type: Application for Variation of Condition 
Proposal: Variation of condition 2 (plans list) of application 10/03251/VAR 

(Variation of condition 2 of application 07/01598/FUL to allow a 
variation to the design of house type A (Plots 1-8)) 

Constraints: Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Article 4, Conservation Area, Forest of Avon, 
Hotspring Protection, World Heritage Site,  

Applicant:  Partridge Homes (Cotswolds) Ltd 
Expiry Date:  10th January 2012 
Case Officer: Andy Pegler 

Page 259



 
REPORT 
REASON FOR REPORTING APPLICATION TO COMMITTEE: 
This application was deferred from the last meeting to allow Members to visit the site to 
view the entrance to the application site.  The application is brought to Committee at the 
request of Cllr. Brett, having regard to the history of the site. The application has been 
referred to the Chair, who has advised that it should be determined by the Development 
Control Committee. 
 
DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE: 
The site comprises a former private allotment accessed via Southbourne Gardens off of 
Claremont Road, Bath. The site has been cleared in readiness for residential development 
for which conditional planning permission was granted on appeal in March 2010. The site 
is within both the World Heritage Site and Conservation Area. 
 
THE APPLICATION: 
The application proposes a variation of Condition 2 of the current planning permission for 
residential development comprising 10no dwellings (as subsequently varied) as far as it 
relates to the details of the arrangement of the junction of Southbourne Gardens with 
Claremont Road. The application is a consequence of issues arising from ownership of an 
adjacent boundary wall, and a desire now to retain a projecting nib therein which was 
previously to have been removed. The proposed revised arrangement reduces the width 
of the footway - at the narrowest point at the northern corner of the Rectory garden - to 0.9 
m, and reduces the width of the carriageway at that point by 0.4 m. The submitted 
drawings further indicate measures to be implemented on Claremont Road, comprising 
white-lined buildouts and restricted on-street parking. 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY: 
07/01598/FUL: Conditional planning permission granted on appeal 29th. March 2010.  
10/03408/COND and 10/03604/COND: Discharge of conditions attached to above 
planning permission. Granted 20th. December 2010. 
10/03251/VAR: Variation of condition relating to the design of house type A. Granted 
31st.December 2010.  
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
HIGHWAYS:  Attention is drawn to the findings of the Inspector in granting planning 
permission on appeal. Notwithstanding highway objections at the time, the Inspector 
determined (as had her predecessor) that the junction improvements under consideration 
were adequate to serve the proposed residential development. On balance, the proposed 
reduction in the width of the footpaths, from 1.0 m and 1.2 m to 0.9 m; and the proposed 
reduction in the width of the carriageway, from 4.8 m to 4.7 m, remain compliant with the 
Inspector's comments and do not therefore give cause for objection. The introduction of 
restrictive measures on Claremont Road - the subject of a Traffic Regulation Order - are 
necessary to secure adequate visibility. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS:  Letters of objection have been received on behalf of the Bath and 
Wells Diocesan Board of Finance (owners of the adjacent Rectory) and the Incumbent; 
and from the Claremont Residents Association. They raise the following concerns: 

- the description of the application is ambiguous and misleading; 
- the dates of the public notice and site notice do not correspond; 

Page 260



- there would be insufficient space for cars (of larger size) to pass at the junction; 
- there is an increased risk of vehicles mounting the footway; 
- increased risk to pedestrians resulting from reduced footways; and 
- visibility obscured by projecting nib of boundary wall. 

 
A further 17 individual letters of objection have been received, raising the following 
additional concerns: 

- there are frequent and numerous visitors to the Rectory (situated at the junction); 
- the site should be returned to allotments; 
- the off-site parking restriction measures shown are inconsistent with the measures 

approved; 
- the previously approved scheme should be considered as the absolute minimum; 
- vehicle 'stacking' will result on Southbourne Gardens and Claremont Road; 
- cars are being given priority over pedestrians;  
- disputed ownership of land at the entrance to Beaufort Villas; 
- ownership of parts of the site remains uncertain; and 
- the continued concerns of the Council's highway officer. 

 
It is suggested that Members should undertake a site visit; and that consideration should 
be given to a shared raised platform and a wider footway, on the north side only. 
 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
POLICY CONTEXT:  
 
JOINT RELACEMENT STRUCTURE PLAN 2002 - saved polices: 
 
1 : Sustainable Development 
2 : Locational Strategy 
6 : Bath 
58 : Transport  
 
ADOPTED LOCAL PLAN 
Bath & North East Somerset Local Plan (including Minerals and Waste policies) 2007: 
 
NE.11: Species and Habitats 
HG.4: Housing Development 
D.2: General Design and public realm considerations 
D.4: Townscape considerations 
T.24: General Development control and access policy 
T.26: On-site parking and servicing provision 
BH.1: World Heritage Site 
BH.6: Conservation Area. 
 
Bath and North East Somerset Submission Core Strategy (May 2011) is currently subject 
to Examination. Therefore it can only be given limited weight for development 
management purposes.  
 
 
 

Page 261



NATIONAL POLICY: 
PPS1: Delivering Sustainable Development  
PPS 3: Housing 
PPG13: Transport  
 
DRAFT NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK (undergoing a consultation 
exercise and should only therefore be afforded limited weight) 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
HIGHWAY SAFETY: The primary issue is the effect of the proposal upon the interests of 
highway safety and, in this regard, the decision of the Planning Inspector (and that of a 
previous Inspector) in granting the recent planning permission is of particular relevance. 
 
The Inspector(s) determined that a carriageway width of 4.1 m was sufficient for two cars 
to pass; and that the proposal(s) - including traffic regulation measures on Claremont 
Road - represented a significant improvement on the existing situation, notwithstanding 
the additional traffic generated by the related residential development. The Inspector 
considered, in this case, that traffic volumes would remain low, speeds would be likely to 
remain low, and the likelihood of people passing each other, including with pushchairs, at 
the same point as vehicular traffic would be limited. A footway of 0.9 m width would, the 
Inspector accepted, strike an acceptable balance between providing a pedestrian refuge 
while maintaining an adequate running surface for vehicles. 
 
It remains necessary for parking restrictions on Claremont Road to be imposed, and the 
submitted drawings indicate an arrangement identical to that previously found to be 
acceptable. Members are advised that recently implemented measures - the subject of a 
Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) - do not accord with the scheme recommended by the 
Inspector. It will be necessary therefore for an alternative TRO to be made, and 
implemented prior to development. The TRO measures will assist on those likely 
infrequent occasions when two larger vehicles seek to pass at the junction, and will enable 
acceptable visibility to be achieved. 
 
CONSERVATION AREA:  The revised proposals will continue to preserve the character 
and appearance of this part of the Conservation Area. 
 
SECTION 106 UNILATERAL UNDERTAKING:  The planning permission which this 
application seeks to vary is subject to a Unilateral Undertaking relating to the TRO; the 
dedication of land at Deadmill Lane for allotment use; and a financial contribution to works 
at Fairfield Park Allotments. It will therefore be necessary to seek a Deed of Variation as a 
consequence of the current application. 
 
OTHER MATTERS:   
 
Description: The description of the proposal is correct in that it relates to a variation of a 
condition which has previously been varied. 
 
Public/Site Notices: It is not necessary for the dates (for representations) in the public 
notice and site notice to correspond. Full account has been taken of all representations 
received within the relevant periods.  
 

Page 262



Ownership: The area of land adjacent to the Rectory (and included within the 'red line') 
has been confirmed as public highway. The Council, as the Highway Authority, have been 
given appropriate notice of the application. Ownership is not a material planning 
consideration. 
 
Alternatives:  With regard to alternative arrangements suggested by third parties, the 
current application falls to be considered on its individual merits.  
 
CONCLUSION: 
The proposed revised arrangement continues to meet the fundamental objectives 
established by the Planning Inspector in granting planning permission for the residential 
development of this former allotment site. The reductions in footway and carriageway 
widths over a limited distance would, with appropriate TRO measures, adequately provide 
for the interests of highway safety. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
(A)  Authorise the Planning and Environmental Law Manager to secure a Deed of 
Variation under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to cover: 
i)  the revised access, which is all on public highway; 
ii)  a record that land at Deadmill Lane has transferred to the Council; and 
iii) a record that it has been decided by the Council that they will take the commuted sum 
as opposed to having the works carried out on the allotment land at Fairfield Park. 
 
(B)  Upon the completion of the Agreement authorise the Development Manager to 
PERMIT the application subject to the following conditions: 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 1 The development hereby permitted shall commence by the 1st. April 2013. 
 
Reason: In accordance with Condition 1 attached to planning permission 07/01598/FUL; 
and as required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
 2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans unless otherwise altered by plans required to comply with the other 
conditions attached to this permission: Site Location Plan R.0136_06-1, drawings no. 
771/1C and 771/100 date stamped 16 July 2010, 771/2A date stamped 11 August 2010 
and 771/5D, date stamped 2 September 2010 (clarified by e.mail dated 6 October 2010); 
and to details submitted by e.mails dated 5 October 2010, 7 December 2010 and 22 
December 2010, 771/3, 1635/102 Rev G, R.0136-06-C, and 771/4A. 
 
 3 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted details of 
materials and finishes approved under 10/03408/COND dated 20.12.2010. 
 
 4 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted hard and soft 
landscape scheme approved under 10/03408/COND dated 20.12.2010. 
 
 5 All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details and in accordance with the programme of implementation agreed with the local 
planning authority. Any trees or plants indicated in the approved scheme which, within a 

Page 263



period of five years from the date of the development being completed, die, are removed 
or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced during the next planting 
season with other trees or plants of a species and size to be first approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. All hard landscape works shall be permanently retained in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
 6 Until the development has been completed the protective fences approved under 
10/03408/COND dated 20.12.2010 shall not be removed and the protected areas shall be 
kept clear of any building, plant, material, debris and trenching, with the existing ground 
levels maintained, and there shall be no entry to those areas except for approved 
arboricultural or landscape works. 
 
 7 Prior to the commencement of any form of site works or clearance the local planning 
authority shall be given not less than two weeks notice in writing of these works to ensure 
that appropriate measures of landscape protection under condition 6 have been 
implemented in accordance with the approved plans. 
 
 8 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 
without modification) no lines, mains, pipes, cables or other apparatus shall be installed or 
laid on the site other than in accordance with the details approved under 10/03408/COND 
dated 20.12.2010. 
 
 9 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the method statement 
approved under 10/03408/COND dated 20.12.2010, detailing how works to the footway, 
carriageway and underground services in Southbourne Gardens /  Beaufort Villas will be 
carried out without harm to adjacent trees and their root systems. 
 
10 No development shall commence until the necessary measures to restrict parking at 
the junction of Southbourne Gardens with Claremont Road have been confirmed in writing 
on behalf of the local planning authority and no part of the development shall be occupied 
until the works have been implemented. 
 
11 No development shall commence until the works to Southbourne Gardens, including 
the junction of Southbourne Gardens with Claremont Road, and the provision of a 
continuous footway on the southern side, have been completed in accordance with the 
approved drawing no 1635/102 Rev G. 
 
12 The retaining structures relating to the access road / turning head shall be completed in 
accordance with the details approved under 10/03604/COND dated 20.12.2010 prior to 
the first occupation of any dwelling hereby approved. 
 
13 The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the emergency access 
as shown on site layout drawing no 771/1B has been provided and a method statement of 
control to prevent unauthorised use of it has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. The emergency access shall only be operated in accordance 
with the approved method statement details. 
 
14 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details of the turning 
head, including sectional drawings and details of screening, and the surfacing details and 

Page 264



gradient for the carriageway, footway, turning head, car parking areas and the pathway to 
the front of the houses, as approved under 10/03408/COND dated 20.12.2010. The  
development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the access together with all the 
proposed parking and turning areas, screening and pathways have been constructed in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
15 The garages hereby approved shall be retained for the garaging of private motor 
vehicles associated with the dwellings hereby approved and for no other purpose. 
 
16 The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until works for the disposal of 
sewage and surface water have been provided on site to serve the development in 
accordance with details first submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. 
 
17 No removal of trees shall take place between 1 March and 31 August unless a survey 
to assess any nesting bird activity on the site during this period and a scheme to protect 
the nesting birds has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority and no trees shall be removed between 1 March and 31 August other than in 
accordance with the approved nesting bird protection scheme. 
 
18 Prior to the commencement of development a scheme of mitigation works to avoid 
harm to any reptiles found on the site shall be undertaken in accordance with details 
approved under 10/03408/COND dated 20.12.2010. 
 
19 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the scheme for the 
accommodation of badgers on the site, including the establishment of an exclusion zone 
around the sett(s) from which all building, engineering or other operations and all vehicles 
and personnel working on the site shall be excluded, and proposals for site and habitat 
management following completion of the development, as approved under 
10/03408/COND dated 20.12.2010. 
 
20 The development shall commence in accordance with the programme of access which 
will be afforded to named archaeologist(s) to observe and record all ground disturbance 
during construction (such works to include any geological trial pits, foundations and 
service trenches) as approved under 10/03408/COND dated 20.12.2010. 
 
21 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the construction management 
plan approved under 10/03604/COND dated 20.12.2010. 
 
PLANS LIST:  This decision relates to the Site Location Plan, and drawing no. 1635/102 
Revision G date stamped 15th.November 2011. 
 
REASONS FOR GRANTING APPROVAL  
The decision to grant approval has taken account of the Development Plan, relevant 
emerging Local Plans and approved Supplementary Planning Guidance.  This is in 
accordance with the Policies set out below at A. 
 
A.         
 
Local Plan Policies T.24 and BH.6 

Page 265



Page 266

This page is intentionally left blank



Bath & North East Somerset Council 

MEETING: Development Control Committee   

AGENDA 
ITEM 
NUMBER MEETING 

DATE: 
14th March 2012 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER: 

Lisa Bartlett, Development Manager, Planning & 
Transport Development (Telephone: 01225 477281) 

TITLE: APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION  

WARDS: ALL 

BACKGROUND PAPERS:  

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

List of background papers relating to this report of the Development Manager, Planning and Transport Development about 
applications/proposals for Planning Permission etc.  The papers are available for inspection online at 
http://planning.bathnes.gov.uk/PublicAccess/. 

[1] Application forms, letters or other consultation documents, certificates, notices, correspondence and all drawings submitted by 
and/or on behalf of applicants, Government Departments, agencies or Bath and North East Somerset Council in connection 
with each application/proposal referred to in this Report. 

[2] Department work sheets relating to each application/proposal as above. 

[3] Responses on the application/proposals as above and any subsequent relevant correspondence from: 

(i) Sections and officers of the Council, including: 

Building Control 
Environmental Services 
Transport Development 
Planning Policy, Environment and Projects, Urban Design (Sustainability) 
 

(ii) The Environment Agency 
(iii) Wessex Water 
(iv) Bristol Water 
(v) Health and Safety Executive 
(vi) British Gas 
(vii) Historic Buildings and Monuments Commission for England (English Heritage) 
(viii) The Garden History Society 
(ix) Royal Fine Arts Commission 
(x) Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 
(xi) Nature Conservancy Council 
(xii) Natural England 
(xiii) National and local amenity societies 
(xiv) Other interested organisations 
(xv) Neighbours, residents and other interested persons 
(xvi) Any other document or correspondence specifically identified with an application/proposal 
 

[4] The relevant provisions of Acts of Parliament, Statutory Instruments or Government Circulars, or documents produced by the 
Council or another statutory body such as the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan (including waste and minerals policies) 
adopted October 2007  

The following notes are for information only:- 

[1] “Background Papers” are defined in the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 do not include those disclosing 
“Exempt” or “Confidential Information” within the meaning of that Act.  There may be, therefore, other papers relevant to an 

 

Agenda Item 12

Page 267



application which will be relied on in preparing the report to the Committee or a related report, but which legally are not required 
to be open to public inspection. 

[2] The papers identified or referred to in this List of Background Papers will only include letters, plans and other documents 
relating to applications/proposals referred to in the report if they have been relied on to a material extent in producing the 
report. 

[3] Although not necessary for meeting the requirements of the above Act, other letters and documents of the above kinds 
received after the preparation of this report and reported to and taken into account by the Committee will also be available for 
inspection. 

[4] Copies of documents/plans etc. can be supplied for a reasonable fee if the copyright on the particular item is not thereby 
infringed or if the copyright is owned by Bath and North East Somerset Council or any other local authority. 

 

INDEX 

 
 

ITEM 
NO. 

APPLICATION NO. 
& TARGET DATE: 

APPLICANTS NAME/SITE ADDRESS 
and PROPOSAL 

WARD: OFFICER: REC: 
 

 
 

01 10/04475/FUL 
4 February 2011 

Sainsbury's Supermarket Ltd 
Sainsburys Supermarkets Limited  
Green Park Station, Green Park Road, 
City Centre, Bath, Bath And North East 
Somerset 
Erection of extension to foodstore to 
provide additional retail floorspace and 
warehouse floorspace. Alterations to 
car park layout and engineering works 
to the southern bank of the River Avon 
to provide flood storage compensation. 

Kingsmead Geoff 
Webber 

Delegate to 
PERMIT 

 
02 10/03380/EFUL 

9 December 2010 
St James's Investments Limited & 
Tesco Stores Limited 
The Bath Press, Lower Bristol Road, 
Westmoreland, Bath, Bath And North 
East Somerset 
Mixed-use redevelopment comprising 
6,300sqm of retail (Class A1), 
4,580sqm of creative work space (Class 
B1), 2,610sqm of offices (Class B1), 
220sqm of community space (Class 
D1/D2), 10 residential houses, car park, 
landscape and access (including 
realignment of Brook Road) 

Westmorela
nd 

Sarah 
James 

REFUSE 

 
03 12/00207/FUL 

12 March 2012 
Galleries Ltd 
The Galleries Shop, Freshford Lane, 
Freshford, Bath, Bath And North East 
Somerset 
Erection of extension to Freshford Shop 
to increase cafe area and decking 

Bathavon 
South 

Tessa 
Hampden 

REFUSE 

 
04 10/01175/FUL 

26 May 2010 
Mr M Pearce 
Lady Farm Cottage, Lady Farm Cottage 
Road, Chelwood, Bristol, Bath And 
North East Somerset 
Erection of new dwelling to regularise 
part built works (retrospective) 

Clutton Victoria 
Griffin 

PERMIT 

 

Page 268



05 12/00389/TEL 
21 March 2012 

Openreach 
Fountain Buildings, City Centre, Bath, 
Bath And North East Somerset 
Installation of Superfast fibre optic 
broadband cabinet (PCP 012) at 
Fountain Buildings, S/O 1 Alfred Street 

Abbey Victoria 
Griffin 

REFUSE 

 
06 12/00012/REG04 

29 February 2012 
Bath And North East Somerset Council 
Queen Square, City Centre, Bath, Bath 
And North East Somerset 
Creation of two pedestrian access 
points to east and west of Queen 
Square Gardens and insertion of two 
gateway piers within the existing 
boundary railings to the north side of 
Queen Square 

Abbey Suzanne 
D'Arcy 

PERMIT 

 
07 11/05310/FUL 

5 March 2012 
Mr James Livingstone 
Stables, Butcombe Lane, Nempnett 
Thrubwell, Bristol, Bath And North East 
Somerset 
Retention of stable block, field shelter, 
hay store, hard-standing, lean-to and 
secure tack room and tractor, trailer, 
horsebox, creation of feed/storage area, 
incorporating a change of use of the 
land to equestrian (Resubmission) 

Chew Valley 
South 

Richard Stott PERMIT 

 
08 11/05349/AR 

9 April 2012 
Bath & North East Somerset Council 
Various Streets, Bath Urban Area,  
Display of 60 no. freestanding feather 
flags (30 Olympics branding + 30 
Paralympics branding), bunting on 
railings and around lamp-posts and 
fence scrim on railings 

Newbridge Geoff 
Webber 

CONSENT 

 
09 12/00658/AR 

9 April 2012 
Bath And North East Somerset Council 
Pulteney Road, Bathwick, Bath, Bath 
And North East Somerset 
Erection of 4 non-illuminated signs on 
Bathwick Hill roundabout 

Bathwick Geoff 
Webber 

CONSENT 

 
10 11/05423/LBA 

14 February 2012 
Mr & Mrs Mike & Elizabeth Curnow 
8A Cavendish Crescent, Lansdown, 
Bath, Bath And North East Somerset, 
BA1 2UG 
Internal and external alterations (Part 
Regularisation) 

Lansdown Adrian 
Neilson 

CONSENT 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 269



Item No:   01 
Application No: 10/04475/FUL 
Site Location: Sainsburys Supermarkets Limited  Green Park Station, Green Park 
Road, City Centre, Bath 

 
 

Ward: Kingsmead  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: N/A 
Ward Members: Councillor Douglas Nicol Councillor A J Furse  
Application Type: Full Application 
Proposal: Erection of extension to foodstore to provide additional retail 

floorspace and warehouse floorspace. Alterations to car park layout 
and engineering works to the southern bank of the River Avon to 
provide flood storage compensation. 

Constraints: Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Article 4, British Waterways, Conservation 
Area, Cycle Route, Floodplain Protection, Flood Zone 2, Flood Zone 
3, Flood Zone 3, Forest of Avon, General Development Site, 

Page 270



Hotspring Protection, Listed Building, Sites of Nature Conservation 
Imp (SN), Sustainable Transport, World Heritage Site,  

Applicant:  Sainsbury's Supermarket Ltd 
Expiry Date:  4th February 2011 
Case Officer: Geoff Webber 

 
REPORT 
REASON FOR REPORTING APPLICATION TO COMMITTEE: 
This application and the as yet undetermined proposals for a mixed use development 
incorporating a substantial retail store on the former Bath Press site share the Council's 
current and emerging retail strategy as a material consideration and it is important that 
each proposal is assessed and determined with appropriate regard to the other. 
 
With this in mind, Members have had an opportunity to visit both sites prior to the meeting, 
and to view the locations of the two proposed developments in the contexts of their 
relationships with their respective surrounding areas. 
 
DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND APPLICATION: 
The application proposes an extension to the existing Sainsbury's store adjoining Green 
Park Station, and the site is located within the Bath World Heritage Site and the 
Conservation Area immediately to the west of Midland Bridge Road and (for the most part) 
north of the River Avon.  Whilst the former railway station is a Listed Building, the existing 
Sainsbury's store has remained physically separate from the station structure and so 
Listed Building Consent issues do not apply to the current proposal.   
 
The existing retail store is on two levels, with its main entrance and retail floorspace at the 
upper level, accessed from the car parking area to the west of the store.  On the eastern 
side, the store adjoins Midland Bridge Road, but has no public access on that elevation.  
The road is set at a lower level, and provides access to the store's service yard and 
deliveries area, which is at a lower ground floor level, with service areas, storage, etc. 
being located within the existing building but underneath the retail floorspace.  In this way, 
the store optimises the potential of its site, allowing a substantial floorspace to be 
accommodated within a relatively restricted site. 
 
The existing store was constructed during the 1980's and its design and materials are very 
much a product of their time, using a panelised approach that is unlike the other, 
traditionally constructed buildings in this part of the Conservation Area.  The appearance 
of the existing store does little or nothing to generate a sense of place in this prominent 
location within central Bath.  The store has been extended in the past, but the extensions 
have tended to maintain the character and appearance of the originally constructed 
building, using materials that are a close match to the original.  The character of the store 
building is less significant when viewed from the west, largely because the ground here is 
at the higher level and as a result the store is seen as a single storey building that is 
subservient to the immediately adjoining larger Listed former railway station.  The roof of 
the original Sainsbury's store is of an unusual (and undesirably prominent) conical design, 
and this is the most conspicuous feature in views from the west.  From Midland Bridge 
Road to the east, however, the full two storey height, together with the prominent roof, 
produces an unrelenting and almost featureless structure, where the building has little 

Page 271



detailing, and its horizontal nature dominates and significantly detracts from the character 
of the street scene.     
 
Midland Bridge Road is set at an angle to the side wall of the store, and this provides for a 
triangle of land to remain undeveloped between the store and the road, immediately to the 
north-east of the Midland Bridge across the River Avon, and set about two metres below 
the level of the road.  This triangle of land is grassed and contains a number of trees 
which have the effect of softening the relationship of the retail store building with Midland 
Bridge Road, but not to the extent that it diminishes its dominance  in the character of this 
section of the road.  This view from the east is also that which is seen from the rear 
windows of the tall terrace of residential properties on the western side of Green Park, the 
rear elevations of which overlook the Sainsbury's site across the top of the line of smaller 
commercial premises along Green Park Mews. 
 
Whilst the trees in the undeveloped area are clearly visible from the surrounding area, the 
grass itself remains largely invisible in public views, except from the immediately adjacent 
section of the footway along the western side of the road, from where it can be seen over 
the relatively low roadside wall.  To the north, the store comes right up to the back of the 
footway alongside Midland Bridge Road, and this close relationship is continued by the 
former railway station which adjoins the road right up to its junction with Green Park Road. 
 
Between the existing store and the river is an unattractive and unhelpfully enclosed 
section of river bank and towpath, which provides a route for part of the Bath to Bristol 
strategic cycle route and a pedestrian route along the northern river bank.  This section of 
the towpath lies between Midland Bridge and a second bridge about 50 metres to the 
west, which provides vehicular access from Pinesway into the Sainsbury and Green Park 
Station customer parking area.  The towpath passes beneath both the bridges, with very 
poor access up to the higher developed area immediately to the north.  The enclosure of 
this section of river bank, sandwiched as it is between the river and the two storey retail 
store, and by the two bridges, creates a section of the riverside towpath that is not well 
overlooked, and where the existing overhanging trees and riverside vegetation combine to 
give the area an unkempt and inhospitable character, not assisted by the presence of the 
closed rear elevations of commercial premises immediately opposite on the southern river 
bank.  The riverside towpath and the immediately adjoining strip of mostly open grassed 
land is owned by British Waterways, and is separated from the Sainsbury's site by a stone 
wall that is proposed to be demolished as part of the current proposals.  The Sainsbury's 
site in this section contains a mix of untidy shrub planting and a range of external ancillary 
areas immediately adjoining the store building. 
 
As mentioned above, the main store car park is at the higher level to the west of the store, 
along the line of the former railway, and the access bridge from Pinesway is also along 
that alignment.  On the southern side of the river, but off to the western side of the access 
route, is the existing Homebase store, which also has a substantial car parking area.  Part 
of the Homebase parking area has in the past been acquired by Sainsbury's, and is 
formally included within Sainsbury's operational site (and also the site edged in red in the 
current Planning application).  The Sainsbury's store currently benefits from 458 parking 
spaces, of which 165 are provided within the Homebase parking area.  Whilst the existing 
parking areas are not directly affected by the proposed extension, the proposal 
incorporates a redesign of the parking layout that is aimed at repositioning disabled and 
parent/child parking spaces more conveniently, closer to the store main entrance.  This 

Page 272



redesign will result in the total car parking capacity being reduced to 429 (that is an overall 
reduction of 29 spaces, but incorporating an increase of 9 in the number of disabled 
spaces). 
 
The Proposed Extension 
The extension the subject of the current application is proposed to be sited utilising the 
triangular undeveloped area between the existing store and Midland Bridge Road.  The 
existing store has a gross internal floorspace of 6,335 sq. metres (over the two floors 
combined), and the extension will increase this by 1,693 (27%) to a new total of 8,028 sq. 
metres, again over the two floor levels combined. 
 
The net retail trading area as existing is 3,057 sq. metres, and the extension will increase 
this by 963 (32%) to a new figure of 4,020 sq. metres, all of which is on the upper floor 
level within the building.   
 
These figures are all taken from Sainsbury's submitted documents, and demonstrate that 
the extension will facilitate a proportionally larger increase in net retail floorspace, by 
allowing some of the existing 'back of house' areas at the rear of the existing upper floor 
level to be relocated to the lower ground floor level within the extension. 
 
The application does not propose changes to the existing store's opening hours, but the 
supporting documents explain that the proposed extension has been designed to 
maximise the retail floorspace on this site, and is aimed at addressing the fact that the 
store has for some years been 'over-trading' by comparison with typical trading figures 
from stores of a similar size.  The Applicant's documents indicate that the operator has 
struggled to keep the display shelves replenished, because there is comparatively 
insufficient storage space provided by the limited on-site warehousing and by the 
constrained shelf space within the retail area.  The increased storage and support space 
within the lower floor area of the extension is as important in this regard as the increased 
net retail floorspace on the upper level. 
 
The proposed extension will facilitate the holding of larger stocks on the site, and whilst 
there will be an expansion in the number of lines to be offered, the main target is to 
achieve a higher level of customer satisfaction and to eliminate shortages of stock as far 
as possible.  The opening of the Sainsbury's store at Odd Down during 2011 has 
inevitably reduced the number of customers (and the turnover) at Green Park.  However, 
the Applicants forecast that the proposed extension will not increase the number of 
customers above that which existed prior to the Odd Down opening, but will mean that a 
similar number of customers can be served more effectively, with bigger average spends.  
It is on this basis that the Applicants have argued that the existing car parking provision 
(see above) will remain adequate to meet the needs of the enlarged store.  
 
Other Elements of the Proposed Development 
The scale and location of the proposed extension have not changed since the current 
application was submitted in November 2010.  Since that time, however, there have been 
significant amendments to the detailing of the scheme in terms of the external appearance 
of the store, and of the layout and detailing of its curtilage.  Some of these changes have 
been secured through negotiations between your Officers and the Applicants, but others 
have emerged from discussions between the Applicants and the Environment Agency.  
The amendments are incorporated into the description that follows, but many of these 

Page 273



changes are best shown with the aid of the submitted plans, and will be explained to 
Members during the Officer presentation at the meeting. 
 
The amended application now incorporates a number of additional elements that have 
been designed to enhance the site in the short term, whilst not prejudicing the future 
regeneration of the wider Green Park site as part of any larger scheme that may come 
forward in the future.  The scope of the proposals is set out in an updated and reworked 
Design and Access Statement submitted by the Applicants. 
 
The current proposals now include significant alterations to the existing store building, in 
terms of the re-cladding of the visible elevations to the south-west (towards the river), the 
south-east (towards Midland Bridge Road), and part of the north-eastern elevation which 
faces Green Park Station, but which is partially visible from Midland Bridge Road.  These 
elevational changes were not part of the application as originally submitted, and have 
been designed to improve the character of the building's more prominent elevations, 
thereby benefitting the surrounding area, and providing a more fitting neighbour to the 
Listed former railway station.  In effect, the proposed extension is being used to 'seed' an 
improvement to the overall appearance of the store, rather than following the originally-
proposed approach of mimicking the design and appearance of the existing building.  The 
elevations of the existing store and of the extension will be given new glazed elements, 
and will be broken into a series of Bath stone coloured rendered panels, separated by 
metal pilasters, with a new metal-clad fascia above.  The panels in these elevations have 
been designed to give references to the similar sectional appearance of the former Green 
Park Station, where the structural metalwork of the station building is highlighted 
externally by the use of prominent downpipes and other features that serve to break up 
what would otherwise be an extremely large and featureless elevation.  The roof of the 
Sainsbury's store is not intended to be changed as part of this proposal. 
 
A further enhancement of the existing retail store building comes in its elevation facing 
towards the river, where glazed sections are proposed to the new stairwell linking the two 
floors, and also at the western end of the elevation at upper floor level, adjoining the 
checkouts internally.  At the lower level, new windows are to be inserted, in order to 
provide greater overlooking and therefore supervision of the towpath where it passes the 
store.  Associated with this, the area between the store and the towpath is to be 
remodelled and replanted in order to improve its appearance and attractiveness to users, 
and in recent discussions with your Officers British Waterways have already agreed in 
principle to co-operate in order to take this element of the scheme forward. 
 
The access arrangements between the store car park and entrance area (at the upper 
floor level) and the towpath are also to be improved.  The application includes a proposed 
improved link from the car park and from Norfolk Buildings to the towpath just west of the 
bridge accessing the store car park, and also enhanced access allowing customers 
(including cyclists) to gain access between the towpath and the store adjacent to the store 
building itself.  For the first time, cycle parking facilities will be provided at towpath level, 
alongside the store, and there will also be 'cycle gulleys' alongside the sets of new steps 
providing better access up to the store entrance level,  to Midland Bridge Road and (if 
possible) to Norfolk Buildings.  A small landscaped and tree-planted area will be retained 
by virtue of a chamfered south-eastern corner to the proposed extension immediately 
adjacent to Midland Bridge.  In this area the new extension will link visually to the towpath, 
and the scheme will also facilitate the provision of better pedestrian access in the form of 

Page 274



a new stepped access between the western side of Midland Bridge Road and the towpath, 
whereas at present the only access between the towpath and Midland Bridge Road is to 
the east, away from the store. 
 
The store's existing service yard area adjacent to Midland Bridge Road will not be altered, 
but between the yard entrance and Midland Bridge the existing stone roadside boundary 
wall will be extended.  This has been designed to enhance the character of the street 
scene, and to promote a perception of the extended store building being set behind and 
below the roadside wall, rather than extending right up to the footway. 
 
Finally, the proposed development includes alterations to the southern bank of the river to 
the west of the access bridge from Pinesway.  These alterations are not cosmetic they 
involve the excavation of additional flood storage capacity in order to address the loss of 
capacity associated with the construction of the proposed extension.  The details of this 
element of the proposals have only recently been finalised following prolonged 
negotiations between the Applicants' Agents and the Environment Agency, but the 
engineering works provide an opportunity for enhancing the planting and thereby the 
appearance of this section of river bank which is prominent in views from the bridge and 
which is also accessible to the public from the Homebase car park area.   
 
The southern river bank between the two bridges and opposite the Sainsbury's store 
building is not part of the application site, and no alterations are proposed in that area. 
 
Sustainability 
Although the current proposal is principally an extension to the existing store, the 
Applicants have indicated that the construction of the extension will allow the energy 
usage of the entire store to be reviewed and minimised through the application of new 
lighting wherever possible (including LED lighting), more efficient refrigeration and re-use 
of chilled air for cooling elsewhere in the building, and the introduction of a full-store 
Building Management System.  Rainwater will be harvested for use in public and staff 
toilets, and on-site recycling bank facilities will be maintained.  The store's own waste is 
already managed and handled through Sainsbury's national adoption of waste reduction 
and recycling initiatives.  A more wide-ranging sustainability review can only realistically 
be adopted as part of any longer term proposals for the site.  
 
Applicant's Supporting Documents 
The Applicant's Agents have submitted a range of detailed supporting documents, 
including a Design and Access Statement that reflects the amended proposals described 
above, and a Planning Statement (with subsequent correspondence) which sets out their 
assessment of the Green Park site as an edge-of-centre site in contrast with the current 
proposals for the Bath Press site, which is argued to be out-of-centre.  The submitted 
Transport case seeks to demonstrate that the existing car park arrangements are 
adequate in size to cater for the enlarged store.  In addition, the Applicants have 
submitted a range of documents during the life of this application that are aimed at 
promoting this site as a suitable Edge of Centre location for an expansion of their existing 
retail floorspace.  Much of these submissions is also focussed on the concurrent Tesco 
retail proposals for the former Bath Press Site, and these points are addressed (where 
appropriate) in the Officer reports associated with that other scheme. 
 
 

Page 275



SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
 
PLANNING POLICY:  Discussions have taken place with the Council's Planning Policy 
Team, and these have concluded that as the application proposes an extension to an 
existing retail store in an edge-of-centre location, it raises no specific Policy considerations 
other than a requirement for an assessment in terms of the Council's Retail policies and 
the provisions of Government policy.  These issues have been addressed by GVA 
Grimley, who have been instructed by Officers to provide a retail assessment of the 
current proposals for this site and for the former Bath Press site, and their assessment is 
summarised later in this report.  The officer presentation at the meeting will explain the 
Council's adopted retail locational strategy to Members with reference to plans taken from 
the Council's policy documents. 
 
The Planning Policy Team have, however, recommended the continuation of the 80% / 
20% split between the floor areas used for food goods and non-food goods (controlled by 
a Condition attached to the 1997 planning permission for the previous extension to the 
store), in order to limit any adverse effect upon the vitality and viability of the city centre in 
terms of Comparison Goods trading. 
 
HIGHWAY DEVELOPMENT OFFICER: Following receipt of this application in late 2010, 
the Highway Development Officer objected on the grounds that inadequate supporting 
information had initially been submitted to enable a proper assessment to be made of the 
highway impacts of the proposed development. 
 
However, since that time there have been further submissions and prolonged 
negotiations.   
 
The Highway Development Officer has very recently confirmed that following assessment 
of the additional clarification and data provided by the Applicants he is satisfied that the 
level of parking proposed is adequate  to cater for the customer demand generated by the 
extended store.   A developer contribution has been agreed, in line with the Council's 
SPD, to mitigate the effect of the proposed development with regards to the demands on 
the public highway, and Conditions are needed requiring the submission of a Construction 
Management Plan and a Travel Plan to address staff journeys to and from the site.  In 
addition, a further Condition is needed to ensure that the proposed enhanced pedestrian 
access routes and cycle facilities are provided. 
 
The Highway Development Officer also comments that 'the proposed development, with 
amendments to the existing car parking, whilst doing nothing to accommodate the 
Council's wishes to extend the proposed public transport route crossing the Western 
Riverside site to enable it to connect to James St West in the vicinity of Green Park 
Station, does nothing to further prejudice such future provision when compared to the 
existing development on the site.' 
 
ENVIRONMENT AGENCY: The Environment Agency has confirmed that acceptable 
alternative flood storage provision has been designed in discussion with them and has 
been incorporated into the proposed development.  Accordingly they have No Objections, 
subject to appropriate conditions, provided that the LPA is satisfied that a Sequential Test 
required by PPS25 has been undertaken.  Details of the required Conditions are the 

Page 276



subject of on-going discussions and any further comments ort advice will be reported at 
the meeting. 
 
ECOLOGY:  The Council's Ecologist has not formally objected but has recommended that 
the scheme should be revised to enable retention and creation of green space and trees; 
to prevent loss of habitat and provide net ecological gain. Of particular concern is the loss 
of trees and the effects upon the river corridor.  The revised plans have provided some 
limited enhancement but have not materially addressed the underlying concerns.  The 
retention of the trees and planting within the area between the existing store and Midland 
Bridge Road is wholly incompatible with the current development proposals. 
 
CONSERVATION OFFICER: Comments that 'this is perhaps one of those cases where 
some form of development could help make more efficient use of the land but in order to 
be successful I would recommend that attention is given to restoring an improved sense of 
place. I feel that this could be achieved by greater use of locally distinctive external 
materials and by providing the south elevation of the structure with greater articulation. In 
particular I would suggest that there is a physical separation between the extension and 
the existing skew wall of the supermarket fronting the highway, and by recessing the acute 
corner of the extension where it would be closest to the river corridor and Midland Road 
Bridge.'  These comments have in part been addressed in the amended plans. 
 
ENGLISH HERITAGE: Indicate that in terms of the proposals as originally submitted they 
could not advocate approval, but they have not formally objected.  Their comments 
encourage the redesign of the scheme to retain trees because of their screening value, 
and to improve the overall relationship of the proposed development with its prominent 
roadside historic setting at an important entrance into central Bath.  These comments 
have been addressed in the amended plans, and any further comments received will be 
reported at the meeting. 
 
ARBORICULTURAL OFFICER: Objected to the scheme as originally submitted because 
of the undesirable loss of trees.  The amended proposals, incorporating the final results of 
negotiations with the Environment Agency regarding the southern river bank provide 
enhancements to planting that in part take account of the comments made, and the 
Arboricultural Officer has made further comments expressing satisfaction about elements 
of the amended scheme, in respect of the areas away from the proposed extension, but 
maintaining an objection to the extension itself because of the loss of the roadside trees. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICER: No Objections, subject to the imposition of 
appropriate Conditions to control nuisance during the construction works. 
 
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER: There are no land contamination objections to the 
scheme, however, standard conditions will be required to investigate and assess risk. 
 
BRITISH WATERWAYS: No comments made initially, but in response to the more recent 
reconsultation regarding the amended plans, British Waterways have now indicated a 
desire to enter into discussions with your Officers and with Sainsbury's aimed at agreeing 
details of a landscaping and maintenance regime in respect of the riverside area between 
the store and the northern towpath.   
 
ARCHEOLOGICAL OFFICER: No Objections subject to appropriate Conditions. 

Page 277



 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT OFFICER: no comments received. 
 
URBAN DESIGNER:  The Council's Urban Design Officer raised significant objections to 
the scheme as originally submitted, on the basis that a more comprehensive design 
approach was needed in order to take the opportunity presented by this application for 
significant improvements to the existing poor quality and appearance of the store, and of 
its relationship with its setting.  The prominent elevations should be reworked so that the 
extension does not perpetuate the existing problem, but rather becomes the means of 
improving the store's sense of place.   
 
Following receipt of these comments and in the light of complementary comments 
received from other consultees, the Urban Designer was involved in detailed negotiation 
with the Agents.  As a result the significant enhancements set out earlier in this report 
were agreed in principle and subsequently submitted.  The Urban Designer has advised 
that whilst he still has concerns regarding the quality of the store as a whole, he does not 
now object to the amended Extension proposals, which in his view do just enough to 
address the previous concerns.   
 
The Urban Design Officer has commented that the proposals are 'not really looking to 
future proof the building for the next phase of its life as the only central Sainsbury store', 
but that 'the list of improvements are possibly proportionate to the scale and impact of the 
extension'.  The Agents have accordingly been advised that significant environmental 
enhancements are likely to be sought in respect of any further scheme for developing or 
redeveloping the Green Park site. 
 
OTHER REPRESENTATIONS /THIRD PARTIES  
The following representations have been received: 
 
BATH PRESERVATION TRUST:  Two separate submissions have been made, the first of 
which appears to relate erroneously to the Sainsbury's store at Odd Down, and this has 
been disregarded.  The second Objects to the current proposal on the grounds that it does 
not preserve or enhance the character or appearance of the Conservation Area, and is 
detrimental to the street scene in Midland Bridge Road, particularly through the loss of the 
triangular landscaped are on which the extension would stand.  The proposal does not 
complement its surroundings or contribute to local distinctiveness, and is therefore 
contrary to Local Plan policies. 
 
A further comment has been received as a result of the more recent reconsultation, in 
which the Trust indicate some satisfaction regarding the improvements to the appearance 
of the store and of its setting.  However, the concern regarding the loss of the trees 
adjoining Midland Bridge Road remains. 
 
BATH HERITAGE WATCHDOG:  Objects on similar grounds to the Bath Preservation 
Trust.  Additional procedural matters are raised, but also the view is expressed that this is 
a short-term approach to design that falls short of what might be expected.  The materials 
and design perpetuate the character of the existing building.  The proposal does not 
adequately address Flood Risk issues. 
 

Page 278



Further comments have been received in response to the more recent reconsultation, and 
the organisation maintains its overall Objection whilst acknowledging that efforts have 
been made to improve the appearance and design of the buildings. 
 
THE BATH SOCIETY:   Comments that the proposal will result in the loss of the triangular 
landscaped area. 
 
TESCO STORES / ST JAMES' INVESTMENTS are the intending developers of the former 
Bath Press site in Lower Bristol Road.  Their proposals for that site are reported 
elsewhere in the papers for the me meeting, but they have submitted a detailed critique of 
the conclusions reached by the Council's specialist retail consultants (details of GVA's 
advice to the Council is summarised later in this report) in respect of both their own 
proposals and the current (Sainsbury's) application.  In particular, Tesco / St James 
Investments argue that the Green Park site should be regarded as out-of-centre, but that 
in any case the proposed Tesco store and the proposed Sainsbury's extension are very 
different in character and should not be compared against one another on a like-for-like 
basis. 
 
Just before the February meeting of the Committee, a further submission was received 
from the Agents for the former Bath Press site scheme, in terms of a review of the 
Council's retail analysis regarding the Tesco and Sainsbury's schemes.  In essence, the 
submission challenged the conclusions drawn by the Council's specialist retail consultant, 
suggesting that a more recent shopper survey undertaken by Sainsbury's own consultants 
should have been used as a basis for assessing retail capacity and sequential issues.  
Sainsbury's own Agents have submitted comments in response to that document, but 
those relate more specifically to the proposals for the former Bath Press site. 
 
6 INDIVIDUAL RESIDENTS Object or Comment on the following grounds: 

• Noise, dust, vibration and environmental damage, especially during construction, 
but also from delivery vehicles. 

• Additional traffic generation. 
• Loss of landscaped area. 
• Unsatisfactory treatment of river corridor, adjoining planted area and appearance of 

the Midland Bridge Road frontage 
• Design and Materials should be of a higher quality than proposed. 
• Delivery Management Plan needed to address operational effects of Service 

Access. 
• Sainsbury's should take some responsibility for the towpath adjoining the store and 

also provide better access from the towpath to the site.  The proposed car park and 
internal pedestrian access arrangement is an improvement, but lighting should be 
installed alongside pedestrian routes. 

• Enlarged store may be used to provide a wider range of non-food goods and 
services, which are not necessarily acceptable in this location. 

 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY: 
The site is the subject of existing controls by virtue of Conditions and Agreements 
associated with the previous Planning permissions for the development of the site.  These 
need to be safeguarded in any new permission that may be granted.  The proposed 

Page 279



development will not prejudice the operation of the existing S106 Agreement relating to 
the site, but a Condition is necessary in connection with the comments made by the 
Planning Policy Team (see above). 
 
POLICY CONTEXT: 
 
REGIONAL PLANNING GUIDANCE 
Policy EC6 Town Centres and Retailing 
 
JOINT REPLACEMENT STRUCTURE PLAN 2002 - saved polices 
1 Sustainable Development 
2 Locational Strategy 
6 Bath 
30 Employment sites 
38 Town centres and shopping 
40 New Retail 
41 Local shopping  
54 Car parking  
58 Transport 
 
ADOPTED LOCAL PLAN 
Bath & North East Somerset Local Plan (including Minerals and Waste policies) 2007 
IMP.1 Planning obligations 
NE. 11 Species and Habitats 
NE.14 Flooding 
D.2 General Design and public realm considerations 
D.4 Townscape considerations 
ES.1 Renewable energy 
ES.2 Energy Use Reduction 
ES.5 Foul and surface water drainage 
ES.9 Pollution and Nuisance 
ES.10 Air Pollution 
ES.12 Amenity 
T.1 Travel and transport  
T.3 Pedestrians 
T.5 Cyclists 
T.6 Cycle Parking 
T.16 Transport infrastructure 
T.24 General Development control and access policy 
T.25 Transport assessments 
T.26 On-site parking and servicing provision  
BH.1 World Heritage Site 
BH.6 Development within or affecting conservation areas 
BH.12 Archaeology 
BH.22 External lighting 
S.1 Retail Hierarchy 
S.4 Retail Development outside Shopping Centres 
GDS1/B1 Bath Western Riverside 
 
 

Page 280



SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS: 
S106 Planning Obligations 
Bath Western Riverside 
 
BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET DRAFT CORE STRATEGY (May 2011): 
This is currently subject to Examination and the Hearings are due to take place in January 
2012. Therefore it can only be given limited weight for development management 
purposes. The following policies should be considered 
CP2: Sustainable construction 
CP3: Renewable Energy 
CP4: Flood Risk Management 
CP5: Environmental Quality 
CP12: Centres and Retailing 
CP13: Infrastructure provision  
DW1:  District-wide spatial Strategy 
B1:  Bath Spatial strategy 
B4:  The World Heritage Site and its setting 
 
NATIONAL POLICY 
PPS1:  Delivering Sustainable Development  
PPS 4: Planning for Sustainable Economic Growth  
PPS.5: Planning For the Historic Environment  
PPS9:  Biodiversity and Geological Conservation  
PPG13: Transport 
PPS25: Development and Flood Risk 
 
DRAFT NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK   
This is undergoing a consultation exercise and should only therefore be afforded limited 
weight at present. 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS: 
 
Members may be aware from Press reports in recent months that Sainsbury's have 
embarked upon a programme of public engagement in respect of an emerging proposal 
for a large-scale redevelopment of the existing Homebase site to provide a new 
Sainsbury's store and associated commercial, residential and retail proposals.  Members 
should note that no Planning application has yet been submitted for any such scheme, 
and that the application the subject of this Report must be determined on its own Planning 
merits, with no consideration whatsoever being given to the perceived merits of an (as yet) 
unsubmitted scheme. 
 
Members may also be aware that the Council has an ownership interest in the Green Park 
site including the existing Sainsbury's store.  The Council's ownership interest is also not a 
material consideration in the determination of the current application, and again the 
current application must be determined on its own Planning merits, with no consideration 
whatsoever being given to the Council's other interests. 
 
 
 

Page 281



RETAIL - THE SEQUENTIAL APPROACH 
Both national and local Planning policies seek to reinforce the vitality and viability of 
existing town centres and other identified retail centres by directing new retail proposals to 
sites that are selected on a sequential basis.  Town centre locations are given the highest 
priority, followed by edge-of-centre locations, and then out-of-centre locations.  The policy 
provisions take into account the greater sustainability of central locations, and the 
desirability of maximising the opportunity for customers to access retail sites using public 
transport or other non-car modes. 
 
In accordance with PPS4 a sequential approach to site selection should be followed. 
Adopting a sequential approach to selecting sites means wherever possible seeking to 
focus new development within existing defined centres, or failing that on well-located sites 
on the edge of existing defined centres. Only if town centre or edge-of centre-sites are not 
available will out-of-centre locations be likely to be appropriate in policy terms, provided 
that they are well served by alternative means of transport, and are acceptable in all other 
respects including impact. In considering the sequential approach to site selection a 
number of factors have been looked at (in accordance with the guidance within PPS4 
including site availability and suitability, and the full and detailed assessment of all the 
relevant considerations is available within the retail consultant's report on the Councils 
web site. 
 
It is of relevance to this consideration to note that the Sainsbury's site does not lie within a 
defined centre. The closest defined centre is the city centre which lies to the east of the 
site. The walking distance between the eastern edge of the Sainsbury's car park and the 
edge of the Primary Shopping Area ('PSA') is around 250 metres and the distance 
between the Sainsbury's store and the PSA is around 300 metres. On this basis your 
Officers are satisfied that the existing Sainsbury's store is in an edge-of-centre location.   
 
PPS4 requires that as part of the Sequential Test, all reasonably available city centre sites 
must be assessed first.  However, a feature of Bath is that very few city centre 
development opportunities come forward, largely as a result of the very compact nature of 
the city centre and its historic character, which together militate against the availability of 
sites suitable for large floorplate retail units, and sites that may in theory have potential are 
typically already in use for another purpose.  Analysis of potential sites has been 
undertaken as part of GVA's assessment and your Officers are satisfied that there are no 
reasonably available city centre sites that could accommodate the proposed development.  
 
Members are advised that walking distances from the existing city centre are incorporated 
within PPS4 on an advisory basis only, and that conclusions regarding the nature of any 
site's location must ultimately be reached having regard to local factors.  In the case of 
Green Park Station and the existing Sainsbury's store, and notwithstanding the contrary 
argument put forward by the Agents for Tesco / St James Investments, your Officers are 
satisfied that these function as edge-of-centre facilities. 
 
In Bath, the Council's strategic approach to retail location is set out in the Local Plan and 
also in other associated documents such as the Bath Western Riverside SPD.  More 
recently, the Council has published its Draft Core Strategy which is currently the subject of 
the EIP and which can be expected to be formally adopted in the coming months.  Whilst 
only limited weight can be given to the Draft Core Strategy at present, it is the most up to 
date statement of the Council's approach, and when taken together with the Local Plan 

Page 282



and BWR SPD demonstrates a well-established and consistent approach towards the 
location of significant retail developments.  Members will be shown extracts from the 
documents mentioned above during the Officer presentation at the meeting, but in 
essence, the Council's policy provisions are based upon a conclusion that Green Park 
Road, immediately to the east of the current application site, represents the existing 
western edge of the city centre.   
 
Accordingly, the existing Sainsbury's store (and by association the location of the currently 
proposed extension) is seen as an edge-of-centre location in terms of the Council's 
published policy documents.  Furthermore, the BWR SPD and the Draft Core Strategy 
both identify a clear aspiration over the period up to 2026 for the existing city centre to be 
encouraged to extend in a south-westerly direction along James Street West, and on 
(through the Green Park Station site and across the River Avon) to include the eastern 
end of Bath Western Riverside.  The proposed Sainsbury's store extension is broadly 
compliant with that strategy, but must also be seen as consolidating the configuration of 
the site as existing, rather than promoting the larger-scale regeneration anticipated by the 
BWR SPD. 
 
In the light of the above, some assessment must be made of the significance of such 
consolidation, as the longer-term ability of the Green Park Station to contribute to any 
strategic regeneration programme is dependent to a degree upon the securing of as much 
flexibility as possible on this site.  Your Officers have explored that point in discussion with 
the Applicants in this case, and have been advised that the proposed extension is 
financially viable even if its life is limited to only 3 - 4 years.  On this basis, given that it is 
(if anything) the significantly larger existing store that may act as an impediment to the 
regeneration of the site, and having regard to the peripheral location of the proposed 
extension at the rear of the existing store and on the very edge of the identified 
regeneration area, your Officers are satisfied that the proposed extension to the existing 
store will not materially affect the regeneration prospects of the wider area. 
 
In conclusion on this point, Officers are satisfied that this is an edge-of-centre location 
where the proposed extension to the existing store is not in conflict with either national 
policy or the Council's broad strategies as set out in published Planning policy documents. 
 
SPECIALIST RETAIL ADVICE 
The Local Planning Authority commissioned a retail specialist, GVA, to update its Retail 
Floorspace Quantitative Need Assessment in 2011. That update is publicised on the 
Council's website and will be used in the consideration of The Bath & North East 
Somerset Local Development Framework incorporating the Core Strategy and relevant 
documents of the Regeneration Delivery Plans. The data is the most up to date retail 
information for the District that is now used to inform Development Management planning 
application decisions. 
 
The Applicants have submitted a retail assessment in support of their application that in 
broad terms seeks to demonstrate that the proposed extension is acceptable within the 
terms of local and national retail policies, including Policies EC10 and EC16 of PPS4 
(which bring together a range of assessment criteria including physical, economic and 
environmental considerations).  This has been assessed by GVA, along with all other 
material information, in order to provide comprehensive retail advice to assist in the 
determination of the current proposals. 

Page 283



 
Convenience Goods 
Following the grant of planning permission for a new Sainsbury's store at Odd Down (and 
its recent opening), along with a certificate of lawfulness which will facilitate a significant 
expansion of the Waitrose store in the city centre and a resolution to grant planning 
permission for a LidI foodstore on Lower Bristol Road (this is delegated to permit and 
awaiting completion of a s106 planning obligation), there is limited current quantitative 
capacity to support new convenience goods floorspace in Bath.  
 
Forecasts suggest that in the short to medium term, the area is capable of supporting only 
a modest sized foodstore or extensions to existing facilities by 2016. In this context the 
proposed Sainsbury extension can properly be regarded as a modest extension to an 
existing store. Larger levels of capacity only arise from 2021 onwards but even then, a 
large new foodstore would be likely to have some adverse impacts on existing facilities 
and the impact of proposed development would need to be assessed carefully at the time.  
 
Comparison Goods 
The evidence confirms that the Southgate development has soaked up previously 
identified capacity for additional comparison goods floorspace in Bath and part of the 
expenditure growth between 2011 and 2016. Given the scale of the Southgate 
development, the new retailers which it has attracted to the City, and churn effect (i.e. this 
is the natural and ongoing in and out migration of occupiers of existing sites which release 
those sites for new occupiers to enter) it will cause on existing property across the City 
there is no need to plan for any significant new comparison goods floorspace in Bath until 
after 2016.  Additional capacity could be required in the future and this potential is being 
appropriately planned for within the Core Strategy via small to medium sized retail 
development (as referred to in policy B1).  
 
This retail development would need to be accommodated in accordance with the 
sequential approach, and it is anticipated that sites will be considered and allocated for 
further comparison retail development through the Placemaking Plan. 
 
GVA were instructed to advise regarding the impacts of the both the current Sainsbury's 
and Tesco proposals.  The following more detailed paragraphs are also included in the 
Officer report regarding the Tesco proposal, and are set out here in order to ensure 
consistency in the way that these matters are considered in the determination of each 
application. 
 
The Impact of the Proposed Extension on Moorland Road District Centre 
The Sainsbury's store at Green Park is in reasonably close proximity to the Moorland 
Road District Centre and this is likely to result in a small financial impact upon the district 
centre. Whilst these financial impacts are a negative aspect of the Sainsbury's extension 
proposal they are not considered significant enough to cause concerns over the future 
trading performance of stores on Moorland Road. In particular, the role and function of the 
Co-op store is unlikely to be affected. In terms of the other aspects of the extension's 
impact on the health of Moorland Road, it is not considered that footfall in the centre would 
be substantially affected, nor investment in the centre and vacancy levels. Overall, whilst 
the Sainsbury's store is also unlikely to provide any positive impacts upon Moorland Road 
district centre, the assessment of the wider impacts associated with the Sainsbury's 

Page 284



extension indicates that the vitality and viability of the centre would not be affected to any 
significant extent. 
 
Cumulative Retail Impact 
The retail analysis carried out by the appointed consultant takes into account any current 
retail commitments i.e. developments that either have planning permission or a resolution 
to grant.   In light of the parallel Tesco and Sainsbury's proposals it was felt appropriate to 
commission a further piece of work from the Council's retail consultants in order to 
understand the cumulative retail impact of both the proposed Sainsbury's extension and 
the proposed Tesco store were they both to be permitted and this is discussed below. 
 
Cumulative City Centre Impact 
The conclusions of that additional analysis are that both proposals would have a 
comparatively low impact upon the city centre, with an overall impact of 2% for 
Sainsbury's and 4% for Tesco. The differences between the two schemes becomes more 
noticeable when the impact is based upon convenience goods expenditure alone, with the 
proposed Tesco store having an 18% impact upon the city centre and the Sainsbury's 
extension having a smaller 8% impact. For both schemes the cumulative impact is lower 
than the impacts directly associated with each scheme due to the commitment for an 
extended Waitrose store which will boost city centre turnover. 
 
Cumulative Moorland Road Impact 
There is a clear difference between the two proposals in terms of their individual impacts 
on Moorland Road, with the Tesco store being identified as having a significant adverse 
impact upon the viability of the Moorland Road shopping centre, in contrast to the much 
lower levels of trade diversion associated with the Sainsbury's extension. The cumulative 
impact of the Tesco proposal and the Sainsbury's extension would be greater than either 
proposal alone, thus reinforcing concerns over the future health of the District centre. 
 
Planned Investment 
Neither the Tesco or Sainsbury proposal has been proven to have a direct impact upon 
planned investment in the city centre or Moorland Road district centre although the higher 
financial impacts associated with the Tesco scheme may make investment in convenience 
goods floorspace in the city centre, such as the Waitrose extension, more marginal and 
also have the potential to influence future investment plans in Moorland Road. 
 
Cumulative Retail Impact Conclusion 
As a consequence of the above, it is not considered that there are grounds to resist the 
grant of permission for either or both of the Tesco and Sainsbury's proposals based upon 
the level of impact on Bath City Centre. However, given that there are significant concerns 
over the impact of the Tesco store alone on the health of Moorland Road District Centre, 
approval of both schemes would exacerbate this impact even further. This is supported by 
the lack of available quantitative expenditure capacity to support both stores. The Tesco 
store would be unacceptable in terms of its impact irrespective of whether the Sainsbury 
store extension was permitted. 
 
Summary of Retail Advice 
The specialist independent advice secured by the Council does not support some of the 
methodology and details conclusions put forward by the Applicants' Agents, but does 
conclude that the proposed development can be supported in Retail Policy terms, as long 

Page 285



as the LPA is satisfied that the Green Park site is broadly a suitable location in other 
Planning respects for the consolidation of larger-scale retail uses.  In summary, the 
Council's advisors draw the following conclusions: 

a. The store is in an edge-of-centre location; 
b. There is no evidence that the Sainsbury's extension proposal will fundamentally 

affect investment in the city centre or any other defined centre in the Bath urban 
area; 

c. Implementation of the Sainsbury's store extension proposal will not have a 
detrimental impact upon the delivery of any other allocated sites in the development 
plan; 

d. The proposed extension is predicted to have a 2% impact upon the overall 
convenience retail turnover of the city centre and a 4% impact upon Moorland 
Road; 

e. These commercial impacts are negative factors to be taken into account in 
balancing the Planning merits of the proposal. 

 
Overall, the advice from the Council's specialist consultants is summarised in their 
Conclusions as follows: 
"Having regard to both the sequential approach to site selection and retail impact issues, 
we recommend that the Sainsbury's application receives the support of the local planning 
authority from a retail planning policy perspective. However, given that Sainsbury's 
proposal also has the potential to have a negative financial impact upon the city centre 
(albeit considerably smaller than the Tesco scheme) we consider that the local planning 
authority should seek to secure a series of planning obligations which seek to improve 
accessibility between the Sainsbury's store and the city centre and mitigate against the 
financial impact of the proposal. Assuming such obligations are secured, we would 
conclude that the Sainsbury's extension proposal meets the provisions of Policy S4 in the 
Local Plan, Policy 40 in the Joint Replacement Structure Plan, Policy EC6 in RPG10 and 
does not conflict with policies EC14-17 in PPS4." 
 
Mention has been made above to a submission made by Agents acting in connection with 
the proposed mixed use development on the former Bath Press site in Lower Bristol Road.  
That submission argued that a more up-to-date survey base should have been used by 
the Council's consultants in connection with their analysis of retail capacity and sequential 
location issues. 
 
Accordingly the Council's consultants have undertaken a further review of the position, 
based now upon the most recent survey results produced by WYG acting for Sainsbury's.  
Their subsequent updated advice is summarised as follows: 
 
"The October 2011 household survey is the only available survey which includes the 
trading performance of the new Sainsbury's store at Odd Down, it is useful for this survey 
to be used to update the Council's own analysis of retail floorspace capacity and financial 
impact for both the Tesco and Sainsbury's extension proposals.  We have therefore 
prepared a new assessment of capacity ... 
   
The latest predicted impacts associated with the Tesco and Sainsbury's scheme are 
relatively similar to the previous estimates.  Having considered the impacts in detail, 
including the impacts associated with the commitments (Waitrose and Lidl), the 
Sainsbury's at Odd Down, plus the impacts associated with the proposals themselves, we 

Page 286



see no reason to change our advice to the Council in relation to the impacts of each 
scheme on the city centre and Moorland Road. 
 
The impacts associated with both schemes [ie Tesco and the Sainsbury's extension] on 
the city centre are not serious enough to warrant a reason for refusal.  A similar 
conclusion is reached in relation to the small impact of the Sainsburys extension on 
Moorland Road." 
 
PPS4 Policy EC16 requires an Impact Test to be undertaken and it for this reason that 
GVA's report and advice includes considerable detail regarding the points summarised in 
the preceding paragraphs.  Your Officers have considered the approach taken by GVA 
and the robustness of the conclusions that they have reached in advising the Council, and 
Members are advised that Officers are satisfied that the work undertaken addresses the 
requirement for the proposed development to be assessed against PPS4 Policy EC16.  
 
The Planning Policy Team have commented regarding the proportion of the proposed 
extended store that should be permitted to be used for the sale of non-food goods.  This is 
principally a concern associated with the potential for significant non-food sales to have an 
adverse effect upon the vitality and viability of the city centre from the point of view of 
Comparison Goods shopping.  The existing planning permission for the Sainsbury's store 
includes a Condition limiting non-food sales to a maximum of 80% of the total net retail 
floorspace, and it is considered that this control should be extended to include the 
currently-proposed extension. 
 
HIGHWAYS: A Transport Assessment has been submitted. The Council's Highway 
Development Officer's conclusions have been summarised above, and these are that he is 
satisfied that the level of parking proposed is adequate to cater for the customer demand 
generated by the extended store.   A developer contribution has now been agreed, in line 
with the Council's SPD, to mitigate the effect of the proposed development with regards to 
the demands on the public highway, and Conditions are needed requiring the submission 
of a Construction Management Plan and a Travel Plan to address staff journeys to and 
from the site.  In addition, a further Condition is needed to ensure that the proposed 
enhanced pedestrian access routes and cycle facilities are provided. 
 
AIR QUALITY: There is an air quality concern in this part of the city, but your Officers are 
satisfied that this proposed extension will not materially affect the existing position.  The 
Highway Development Officer has advised (see above) that the existing car parking 
provision is adequate, and that the proposed development will not increase usage of the 
site beyond its previous levels.  Furthermore, a Travel Plan aimed at reducing staff 
journeys to and from the store by car is to be required by Condition.   
 
In these circumstances, no specific provision is necessary in connection with the current 
proposal.  Of course, future regeneration proposals will present an opportunity for a much 
broader strategic approach to air quality management.  In the meantime, this location 
offers the continued opportunity for linked trips with the city centre and is therefore 
sustainably located. 
 
DRAINAGE AND FLOOD RISK: A flood risk assessment document has been submitted 
and this identifies that whilst the Sainsbury's site is generally within an area where there is 
no significant risk of flooding, parts of the site adjoining Midland Bridge Road are in Flood 

Page 287



Zones 2/3 where flooding is more likely.  PPS25 sets out methodology to address this, 
and developers are required to undertake a Sequential test to identify whether the 
proposed development could be better-located on a site less prone to flooding.  In this 
case, however, the Applicant's consultant concludes that no Sequential Test is necessary, 
because the extension can only be located adjacent to the exiting premises. 
 
Your Officers have given consideration to this point, and it is of significance that the 
"public" area of the store is (and will remain) at the higher floor level, with only the storage 
and delivery and staff areas located on the lower floor level, generally as existing.  It is 
clear from the Retail Sequential Tests set out above that the opportunities for larger-scale 
retail development in central Bath are extremely limited, and apart from sites that are 
already developed or committed, there are no other locations that would be acceptable 
from a retail policy perspective to which the existing Sainsbury's store could be readily 
located.  There are certainly no other locations where the extension currently proposed 
could be constructed, as it is not a standalone proposal. 
 
On this basis, whilst the Applicants' supporting documents explicitly state that there has 
been no formal PPS25 Sequential Test, Members are advised that your Officers are 
satisfied that  such a test would simply confirm what is already clear, that the proposed  
store extension can only reasonably be expected to be located as proposed.  Subsequent 
discussions with the Environment Agency have addressed the on-site flood storage issues 
through the additional proposal to provide new flood storage capacity on the southern 
bank of the river, and this has the effect of enabling the proposed development to proceed 
without any adverse off-site flooding impact. 
 
ECOLOGY: It has been suggested by the Council's ecologist that the scheme could do 
more to provide ecological enhancements. However, that would not warrant rejection of 
the scheme. The proposals can be implemented in such a way as to avoid significant 
harm to any ecological interests, subject to the imposition of suitable planning conditions. 
Based upon the current evidence of ecology known to be on the site a licence from 
English Nature would not be required and there would be no significant effect on any 
European Site or local site of nature conservation importance. 
 
DESIGN AND LANDSCAPE: The proposed extension has been redesigned following 
discussions with your Officers, in order to address the concerns raised by the Urban 
Design Officer, along with English Heritage and others, to the effect that the proposal 
should be used as an opportunity to secure enhancements to the appearance of the 
existing store, which is generally acknowledged to be constructed using materials and a 
design that is not sufficiently in keeping with its sensitive and historically significant setting. 
 
The amended proposals provide significant enhancements that will benefit the area 
surrounding the site, and which will provide a more appropriate character for the store in 
views from the river and from Midland Bridge Road in particular.  The other 
enhancements, especially those to accessibility for pedestrians and cyclists cumulatively 
tip the scales in favour of the proposed development.  The loss of the trees within the site 
of the proposed extension is regrettable, but the overall package of proposals provides 
opportunities for other planting which must be taken into account.   
 

Page 288



Officers are satisfied that, on balance, the amended proposals will marginally enhance the 
character and appearance of the surrounding part of the Conservation Area, and will not 
harm the universal values of the World Heritage Site. 
 
ARCHAEOLOGY: There are no archaeological objections to the scheme; however, 
conditions to monitor development will be required. 
 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT:  Whilst there have been no formal Economic Development 
comments, it is self-evident that any development will provide employment during the 
construction stage, and the Applicants' supporting documents indicate that the proposed 
store extension will also create between 20 and 30 full-time-equivalent new retail sector 
jobs.  It is likely that these will be represented by a larger number of part-time 
opportunities. 
 
LAND CONTAMINATION: There are no land contamination objections to the scheme, 
however, standard conditions will be required to investigate and assess risk. 
 
ADJOINING RESIDENTS: The site in its current condition makes little positive contribution 
to the locality and the proposed extension does not materially change this.  However, the 
design improvements set out above will also benefit local residents, and will marginally 
improve the outlook from properties in Green Park to the east.  The granting of permission 
would also provide an opportunity to use Conditions to secure a Servicing Management 
Plan, in order to address concerns regarding the potential for additional delivery vehicles 
waiting in Midland Bridge Road, especially at unsocial hours.  Local residents will also 
benefit from the pedestrian access improvements that are now incorporated into the 
scheme. 
 
CONCLUSIONS 
 
It is essential that this application is determined solely on the basis of the Planning merits 
of the scheme that is detailed in the submitted plans and documents.  As advised above, 
Members should have no regard to other proposals that the Applicant may bring forward 
in due course, or to the Council's ownership interest in this site. 
 
Your Officers have considered this proposal in the light of all material considerations, 
including the detailed arguments submitted on behalf of the Applicants and of Tesco / St 
James Investments in respect of the interpretation of retail policy considerations. Whilst 
the scheme has some accepted negative environmental impacts particularly associated 
with the loss of trees within the part of the site to be occupied by the extension the 
amendments that are now incorporated into the scheme secure valuable improvements to 
the relationship of the existing store with its sensitive and historically important 
surroundings, and to its accessibility for pedestrians and cyclists.   
 
Your Officers conclude that this proposed extension to an existing retail store in an edge-
of-centre location is not prejudicial to the Council's retail and other policies for this part of 
Bath, that the parking facilities are adequate and that the proposed extension can be 
supported, subject to appropriate Conditions and a S106 Agreement as detailed above. 
 
 
 

Page 289



RECOMMENDATION 
 
(A):  Authorise the Planning and Environmental Law Manager to secure an agreement 
under S106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to secure a strategic transport 
contribution of £302,721.00. 
 
(B):  Upon completion of the Agreement authorise the Development Manager to PERMIT 
the application subject to the following conditions: 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission.  
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permissions. 
 
 2 No development shall commence until additional drawings at a scale of not less than 
1:50 showing details (including sections) of the external walls and fenestration of the 
proposed extension and of the alterations to the elevations of the existing building have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
development shall thereafter be carried out only in accordance with the details so 
approved. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the character and 
appearance of the surrounding part of the Conservation Area and World Heritage Site. 
 
 3 No development shall commence until a schedule of materials and finishes, and 
samples of the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of 
buildings, including roofs, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The development shall thereafter be carried out only in accordance 
with the details so approved. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the character and 
appearance of the surrounding part of the Conservation Area and World Heritage Site. 
 
 4 No development, including site preparation work, shall commence until a Construction 
Management Plan including but not limited to details of working methods and hours, 
deliveries (including storage arrangements and timings), contractor parking and traffic 
management has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the 
approved Construction Management Plan. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjoining residential properties and ensure the 
safe operation of the highway. 
 
 5 Notwithstanding the information submitted as part of the application, no development 
shall be commenced until a detailed hard and soft landscape scheme has been first 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, such a scheme shall 
include details of all walls, fences, trees, hedgerows and other planting which are to be 

Page 290



retained; details of all new walls, fences and other boundary treatment and finished 
ground levels; a planting specification to include numbers, density, size, species and 
positions of all new trees and shrubs; details of the surface treatment of the open parts of 
the site; and a programme of implementation. 
 
Reason: To ensure the provision of an appropriate landscape setting to the development. 
 
 6 All hard and/or soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any part of the 
development or in accordance with the programme agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority. Any trees or plants indicated on the approved scheme which, within a 
period of five years from the date of the development being completed, die, are removed 
or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced during the next planting 
season with other trees or plants of a species and size to be first approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. All hard landscape works shall be permanently retained in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the landscape scheme is implemented and maintained. 
 
 7 Notwithstanding the information submitted with the application, no development shall 
take place until an Arboricultural Method Statement with a tree protection plan identifying 
measures to protect the trees to be retained has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The statement shall include proposed tree 
protection measures during site preparation, construction and landscaping operations. 
The statement should also include the control of potentially harmful operations such as the 
position of service runs and soakaways, storage, handling and mixing of materials on site, 
location of compound and movement of people and machinery.  
 
Reason: To ensure that no excavation, tipping, burning, storing of materials or any other 
activity takes place which would adversely affect trees to be retained on the site. 
 
 8 No development activity shall commence until the protective measures as stated in the 
approved Arboricultural Method Statement are implemented. The local planning authority 
is to be advised two weeks prior to development commencing of the fact that the tree 
protection measures as required are in place and available for inspection. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the trees are protected from potentially damaging activities. 
 
 9 No development shall take place within the site until the applicant, or their agents or 
successors in title, has secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological 
work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The programme of archaeological 
work should provide a controlled watching brief during ground works within the previously 
undeveloped areas of the site, with provision for excavation of any significant deposits or 
features encountered. 
 
Reason: The site is within an area of potential archaeological interest and the Council will 
wish to examine and record items of interest discovered. 
 

Page 291



10 No development shall commence until the applicant, or their agents or successors in 
title, has presented the results of the archaeological field evaluation to the Local Planning 
Authority, and has secured the implementation of a subsequent programme of 
archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has first 
been agreed and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The agreed 
programme of archaeological work shall be carried out by a competent person and 
completed in accordance with the approved written scheme of investigation. 
 
Reason: The site is within an area of potential archaeological interest and the Council will 
wish record and protect any archaeological remains. 
 
11 The development shall not be brought into use or occupied until the applicant, or their 
agents or successors in title, has secured the implementation of a programme of post-
excavation analysis in accordance with a publication plan which has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The programme of post-
excavation analysis shall be carried out by a competent person(s) and completed in 
accordance with the approved publication plan, or as otherwise agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: The site may produce significant archaeological findings and the Council will wish 
to publish or otherwise disseminate the results. 
 
12 An investigation and risk assessment, in addition to any assessment provided with the 
planning application, must be completed in accordance with a scheme to assess the 
nature and extent of any contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. 
The contents of the scheme are subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning 
Authority. The investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken by competent 
persons and a written report of the findings must be produced. The written report is 
subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. The report of the findings 
must include:  
      (i)    a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination; 
      (ii)   an assessment of the potential risks to:  
-   human health,  
-   property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and 
service lines and pipes,  
-   adjoining land,  
-   groundwaters and surface waters,  
-   ecological systems,  
-   archaeological sites and ancient monuments;  
     (iii)   an appraisal of remedial options, and proposed preferred option(s).  
 
This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's `Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.  
 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors 
 

Page 292



13 A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended 
use by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and the 
natural and historical environment must be prepared, and is subject to the approval in 
writing of the Local Planning Authority. The scheme must include all works to be 
undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works 
and site management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify 
as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation 
to the intended use of the land after remediation. 
 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors 
 
14 The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms 
prior to the commencement of development other than that required to carry out 
remediation, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Local 
Planning Authority must be given two weeks written notification of commencement of the 
remediation scheme works. Following completion of measures identified in the approved 
remediation scheme, a verification report (referred to in PPS23 as a validation report) that 
demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced, and is 
subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors 
 
15 In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved 
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately 
to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken 
in accordance with the requirements of condition 12, and where remediation is necessary 
a remediation scheme must be prepared in accordance with the requirements of condition 
13, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. Following 
completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification 
report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning 
Authority in accordance with condition 14. 
 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 
 
16 A monitoring and maintenance scheme to include monitoring the long-term 
effectiveness of the proposed remediation and the provision of reports on the same must 
be prepared, both of which are subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning 
Authority. Following completion of the measures identified in that scheme and when the 
remediation objectives have been achieved, reports that demonstrate the effectiveness of 
the monitoring and maintenance carried out must be produced, and submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority. This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the 

Page 293



Environment Agency's `Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, 
CLR 11'. 
 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors 
 
17 The development hereby permitted shall not be constructed other than in accordance 
with a Construction Management Plan, including management of development traffic, 
deliveries, parking of associated contractors vehicles and travel of contractors personnel 
to and from the site, That shall first have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and operation. 
 
18 The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied or used until a Servicing 
Management Plan, including management of delivery vehicles visiting the store has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The store shall 
thereafter not be serviced other than in accordance with the approved Servicing 
Management Plan unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and operation and of the amenities of nearby 
residents. 
 
19 The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a Staff Travel Plan has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the 
site shall not be occupied other than in accordance with the provisions of the approved 
Travel Plan. 
 
Reason: In the interests of sustainable travel and the operation of the public highway. 
 
20 The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until improved access has 
been afforded between the site and the existing riverside cycle path, and safe, secure 
cycle parking facilities are available for use by staff and customers, in order to encourage 
increased travel to and from the site by sustainable means.  Notwithstanding the 
information shown on the plans submitted as part of the application, no work shall 
commence on site until further detailed plans of the new cycle and pedestrian facilities, to 
include appropriate measures to provide safety for pedestrians and cyclists using the 
riverside cycle path, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority.  
 
Reason: In the interests of sustainable travel and the operation of the public highway, to 
ensure the safety of cyclists and pedestrians having regard to the proximity of the 
development to the river, and to ensure that the details of the proposed works are 
satisfactory. 
 
21 The proposed extension shall not be brought into use until the car parking facilities for 
the store have been provided in accordance with the approved plans. 
 

Page 294



Reason: In order to ensure that adequate parking provision is retained in connection with 
the proposed extended store. 
 
22 There shall be no more than 4,020 sq. metres of net sales area within the extended 
food store at any time and no more than 20% of the total net sales area shall be used for 
the sale of non-food goods. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the vitality and viability of existing retail centres in accordance with 
Policy S4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
23 Further Conditions as may be required by the Environment Agency in connection with 
Flood Protection matters. 
 
24  The Plans List and Reasons for Granting Permission will be finalised at the time of 
issue of the decision notice. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
Informatives:  
1. No materials arising from the demolition of any existing structure(s), the construction of 
the new extension, nor any material from incidental works shall be burnt on the site. 
2. The developer shall comply with the BRE Code of Practice to control dust from 
construction and demolition activities (ISBN No. 1860816126). The requirements of the 
Code shall apply to all work on the site, access roads and adjacent roads. 
3. The requirements of the Council's Code of Practice to Control noise from construction 
sites shall be fully complied with during demolition and construction of the new extension. 
(copy attached).  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 295



Item No:   02 
Application No: 10/03380/EFUL 
Site Location: The Bath Press, Lower Bristol Road, Westmoreland, Bath 

 
 

Ward: Westmoreland  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: N/A 
Ward Members: Councillor S Ball Councillor June Player  
Application Type: Full Application with an EIA attached 
Proposal: Mixed-use redevelopment comprising 6,300sqm of retail (Class A1), 

4,580sqm of creative work space (Class B1), 2,610sqm of offices 
(Class B1), 220sqm of community space (Class D1/D2), 10 
residential houses, car park, landscape and access (including 
realignment of Brook Road) 

Constraints: Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, British Waterways, Flood Zone 2, Forest of 
Avon, Hazards & Pipelines, Hotspring Protection, Tree Preservation 
Order, World Heritage Site,  

Applicant:  St James's Investments Limited & Tesco Stores Limited 
Expiry Date:  9th December 2010 
Case Officer: Sarah James 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 296



REPORT 
REASON FOR REPORTING APPLICATION TO COMMITTEE: 
The application is a major development which is contrary to the Council's adopted Policies 
and has complex planning considerations. The Development Manager therefore has 
requested that the application be determined by the Development Control Committee in 
line with the provisions of the Council's scheme of delegation.  
 
Members will note that the application was placed upon the planning agenda in February 
2012 but was withdrawn from consideration following significant and new submissions 
made by the Applicant in order that this information could be properly considered. The 
information related to highway and retail matters and responses are made to that 
information within the relevant report Sections. Officers are also able to now respond to 
the additional public safety report submitted by the applicant in respect of the site's 
proximity to the Windsor House Gasholder Station.  
 
DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND APPLICATION: 
The site is located approximately 1 km to the west of Bath City Centre within the area of 
East Twerton. It covers an area of approx 3 hectares. The site is bounded to the north by 
Lower Bristol Road (A36), by residential properties to the south and the residential streets 
of Brook Road and Dorset Close to the west and east respectively. The site is within the 
City of Bath World Heritage Site. 
 
Opposite the site, on the northern side of Lower Bristol Road, is a series of garages, 
beyond which is the former gas works site and the River Avon. The former gas works and 
adjacent developed and undeveloped land north of Lower Bristol Road form the area of 
the proposed Bath Western Riverside development. There are existing residential 
properties to the south of the site which have frontages onto South View Road and 
Denmark Road. Oldfield Park Infant School is located along Dorset Close to the east of 
the site. The site is bound on its west side by Brook Road. Residential properties and the 
Royal Oak public house front onto Brook Road.  
 
The last use of the majority of the site was as a print works (Bath Press), which ceased 
operations in 2007. On the western half of the site there are two warehouse buildings 
associated with the former printing activities, and a tyre depot on the corner of Lower 
Bristol Road and Brook Road. Located on the eastern half of the site is the main former 
Bath Press building.  
 
It is proposed to demolish the existing buildings on-site whilst retaining the historic print 
works facade fronting Lower Bristol Road. The facade would be retained by a steel frame, 
and would in part be tied back to the new buildings. The existing fenestration would be 
partially removed and replaced with new infills. The existing factory chimney would also be 
retained. The building would be developed with a mix of uses comprising of retail floor 
space, creative work units, Offices (B1) 10 houses and a small museum.  
 
The Proposed Retail Store 
The proposed retail store would be located within the central part of the site facing the 
Lower Bristol Road. It would have 6,300 m2 (gross internal area) floorspace. The 
application states that there would be a net sales floorspace of 3,383 m2 (excluding 
checkouts, lobby areas, customer toilets and other space not accessible to the customer) 
to be used for   food (2,414 sq.m) and  (969m2 sq.m) non-food sales (based upon the 

Page 297



Competition Commission method of classifying net retail sales area). A café would be 
located in the north east corner of the store and staff rooms canteens offices and general 
storage located in the southern end of the building. Warehouse and refrigeration areas 
would be located to the west and to the west of this would be an external enclosed loading 
bay. This would receive all store deliveries with access from Brook Road. Pedestrian 
access would be from the Lower Bristol Road to the north and a pedestrianised space to 
the east. A travelator adjacent to these entrances would provide access to a basement car 
park located below the store. A separate staff entrance would be located in the south 
western corner of the building leading out onto Brook Road.  
 
It is proposed that the store would be open from 06:00 to midnight Monday to Saturday 
and 10:00 to 16:00 on Sundays (outside of these hours there would be staff working within 
the building). It is estimated by the applicant that the retail store would create 350 full time 
(equivalent) posts. 
 
The building would be single storey and have a low pitch roof.  It would be approx 7.5 
metres high with ventilation additions to the roof that would reach a maximum approximate 
height of 11 metres. The building would be located behind the existing Bath Press façade 
which would be retained. There would be a pedestrian walkway between the retained 
facade and the new building. The new building would be clad in Bath stone, with glazing 
around the main entrance onto Lower Bristol Road.  
 
Creative work units 
An L-shaped building containing work units within B1 of the Use Classes Order is 
proposed to wrap around the north west corner of the store so as to address the Lower 
Bristol Road and Brook Road and the prominent junction. The building would be three 
storey facing onto the north western corner of the site. A two storey terrace would be 
located to the east of the store. The total proposed B1 work unit floorspace would be 
4,580 m2.  
 
The three storey unit is designed as a series of vertical Bath stone columns which span 
two storeys. Above the columns a horizontal Bath stone beam would align with the 
retained façade. At second floor level the building would be set back and made up of 
lightweight glass and steel reducing the dominance of this upper storey.  The two storey 
terraced building is designed with gable fronted units to accord with the design of the 
dwelling terrace and the building would overlook an area of public space. The facades 
comprise of a combination of brick and glass. 
 
Offices  
2610m2 of office space is proposed in a part 2 and part 3 storey block at the eastern end 
of the site. It would have a maximum building height of 10 metres. The office building 
facing the Lower Bristol Road would comprise Bath stone and vertical glazing in keeping 
with the treatment of the retained façade. Along its eastern and western edge a more 
industrial treatment has been adopted comprising primarily red brick.  
 
Museum and Community Space  
A one storey museum and two storey community hall are proposed in the east of the site 
integral to the office block. One person is likely to be employed in the museum. 
 
 

Page 298



Residential 
Ten two-storey houses are proposed in the south east of the site along the south 
boundary. The residential dwellings would be traditional in appearance similar to dwellings 
in Denmark Road to the south. They would be faced in Bath stone with red brick to the 
rear façade.  The dwellings would have pitched roofs and be approximately 9 metres from 
ground to ridge. They would have small south facing gardens and front courtyards. The 
houses would have solar panels on the roofs.  
 
Highways and access 
The main pedestrian access onto the site is proposed from the Lower Bristol Road utilising 
the walkway provided behind the retained façade. A further pedestrian route is proposed 
from Lower Bristol Road to Dorset Close.  
 
A new principal vehicular access is proposed off a realigned Brook Road in the west of the 
site. This would provide the main service access into the retail store service yard. 
Deliveries for other uses would be via a lay by in Dorset Close or via the basement car 
park.  
 
Parking 
The basement car park would be excavated to a depth of approximately 4 m below ground 
level. The proposed basement car park would be 13,330 m2 and would accommodate 425 
car parking spaces, including 399 spaces for the store and 26 spaces for the offices and 
work units. The basement car park would be protected by a flood gate at the entrance. 
 
Some existing residential parking use of the former Bath Press Yard would be re-provided 
and this would be accessed from Brook Road.  9 spaces for the new residential units and 
one car club space would be provided at street level adjacent to Dorset Close and 7 
spaces would be provided in the service yard for staff at the retail store. 29 spaces would 
be provided for existing local residents in the south west of the site. Cycle parking would 
comprise of 24 stands to serve the food store, 10 stands for the offices and work units and 
one cycle parking space per dwelling. Six of the 24 store stands would be allocated for 
staff use. 
 
Landscape works 
A new square of public open space would be created between the office building and the 
supermarket. Stone paving is proposed to reflect the materials within the retained facade 
and new buildings with some block paving. Street tree planting would be introduced 
around the square with planters along some site boundaries such as the edge of the front 
gardens of the proposed dwellings. An existing red brick retaining wall along the south 
east of the site, bordering the rear gardens of properties on Denmark Road, would be 
retained. A landscaped boundary fence would be provided in the south west of the site, to 
the north of the existing residents ' parking area, to provide an acoustic and visual barrier 
to the proposed car park ramp and service yard. 
 
Sustainability 
A range of technologies have been employed within the scheme including sustainable 
ventilation, roof lights, solar panels, air source heat pump, and a combined heat and 
power unit. The office buildings are specified to reach beyond the requirements of Building 
Regulations Part L and the residential units have been designed to achieve code level 3 
for Sustainable Homes.  

Page 299



 
The application is accompanied by an Environmental Impact Assessment with the 
following Technical Appendices submitted - Scoping, Air Quality, Site Description, Cultural 
Heritage, Landscape and Townscape Visual Assessment, Traffic and Transport, Ground 
Conditions, Natural Heritage, Noise and Vibration, Water Environment. As Environmental 
statement Addendum has also been submitted. The following additional documents 
accompanied the application - Environmental Assessment (non-technical summary) 
Planning Statement, Design and Access Statement and Addendum, Bat Survey, 
Sustainability and Energy Statement, Retail Assessment, Historic Appraisal, Statement of 
Community Involvement, Building Condition and repair Survey, Utility Report, Flood Risk 
Assessment, Topographical Drawings, Outline Travel plan, Buchanan Technical Notes 
and supporting highways information, Regeneration Statement, Gas holder 
Decommissioning Statement,  Proposals to address HSE Objection. 
 
An application to extend the existing Sainsbury store at Green Park is currently under 
consideration. It is relevant to the consideration of this application and that relevance is 
addressed in this report. The application is under Planning Reference 10/04475/FUL for 
Erection of extension to foodstore to provide additional retail floorspace and warehouse 
floorspace and alterations to car park layout. The proposals comprise of 1,448sq m of 
shop floor area and 963sqm of additional net retail sales floorspace, split between 
additional convenience (food) and comparison (non-food) goods sales. 
 
Officer Assessment: 
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS: 
 
APPEAL APPLICATION:  Application 11/02674/EFUL is subject to an appeal for non-
determination. In January 2012 the Development control committee resolved that had it 
had an opportunity to determine the application it would have refused the development on 
5 grounds relating to gas risk, retail impact, sequential approach to development and 
highway impact.  
 
The application the subject of this report includes 220sqm of community/museum space 
(Class D1/D2) in place of that same amount of office space whereas the appeal 
development proposals did not.  The application the subject of this report has included 
within it documents that make proposals to decommission the Gas Tanks. At the time the 
appeal was made it did not include those proposals however measures to address gas 
risk were submitted to the Inspector in connection with the appeal.  
 
DEPARTURE:   The proposal includes retail development in a location that is `out of  
centre' and is not in accordance with Development Plan for the area and exceeds the 
5,000 square metres floorspace referred to in relevant guidelines. Consequently if 
Members were minded to approve the application it would be necessary in accordance 
with the Town and Country Planning (Consultation) (England) Direction 2009 to refer the 
decision to the Secretary of State.  
 
LOSS OF EXISTING USE:  The Local Plan forecasts the need for a managed reduction of 
industrial-type floorspace (B1c/B2/B8), which is incorporated into Policy ET.1 as indicative 
guidance on the scale of change appropriate. Policy ET.1 indicates a net reduction in Bath 
of 17,500sqm from 2001 to 2011. 

Page 300



 
Broadly speaking, during the Local Plan period there has been a net reduction in industrial 
floorspace within Bath of about 15,000 sq.m against the indicative managed reduction limit 
of 17,500 sq.m. Policy ET.3 states that the loss of land and floorspace for non-office 
development will be judged against the extent of positive or negative progress being made 
in achieving the managed net reduction set out above, and also against the following 
criteria: whether the site is capable of continuing to offer adequate accommodation for 
potential business or other similar employment uses; or whether continued use of the site 
for business or other similar employment uses would perpetuate unacceptable 
environmental or traffic problems; or whether an alternative use or mix of uses offers 
community benefit outweighing the economic or employment advantages of retaining the 
site in business or other similar employment uses. 
 
Policy B1 (2e) of the Core Strategy continues the theme of a managed reduction of 
industrial floorspace. Broadly speaking the loss of 40,000 sq.m industrial floor space will 
be required in order to deliver the regeneration objectives for the River Avon Corridor. 
Policy B3(4aiii) requires that proposals for the loss of industrial land and floorspace at 
Twerton Riverside be assessed against evidence of current and future demand, the 
availability of suitable alternative provision within Bath for displaced occupiers and the 
benefits of the alternative uses being proposed. Policy B3(4aiii) serves as a check/balance 
to ensure proper consideration of industrial losses at any point in relation to actual 
evidence on the ground and/or unforeseen or changing circumstances. 
 
The loss of industrial floorspace on this site would mean that the total managed loss 
referred to in policy ET.1 is exceeded but this is considered to be acceptable due to the 
proposed new employment uses (B1 and offices) that form part of the proposal and the 
current evidence in relation to demand.  After considering the Local Plan and the 
Employment land and site specific policies of the Submission Core Strategy policy for the 
Twerton Riverside it is considered that the loss of the existing employment use is 
acceptable in principle.  
 
HOUSING:  Housing is in principle acceptable within the City limits subject to other 
policies of the development plan. The application proposes a small amount of housing (10 
units) and this is acceptable in principle.  This would be located near the school and other 
residential housing, is set back from the road and is in keeping with the locality in respect 
of its appearance. The design and location of the housing is considered therefore to be 
acceptable.  
 
OFFICE:  The site is located so as to be associated with the central area of Bath and it is 
also located on a key transport route into and out of the city. The principle of new office 
uses are therefore acceptable under the terms of Policy ET.2. The B1 use is acceptable to 
be located alongside residential uses as has been proposed and the office proposals are 
also acceptable in principle.  
 
RETAIL:  The Local Planning Authority commissioned a retail specialist to update its 
Retail Floorspace Quantitative Need Assessment in 2011. That update is publicised on 
the Council's website and will be used in the consideration of The Bath & North East 
Somerset Local Development Framework incorporating the Core Strategy and relevant 
documents of the Regeneration Delivery Plans. The data is the most up to date retail 

Page 301



information for the District that is now used to inform Development Management planning 
application decisions.  
 
The applicant has submitted a retail assessment in support of their application that in 
broad terms suggests that the proposed store will provide needed competition, reduce 
shopping leakage out of Bath, will not have any significant harmful retail impact and would 
provide a number of benefits cited to be sustainability benefits that will reduce travel.  
 
However the independent evidence base prepared on behalf of Bath and North East 
Somerset Council does not agree with the applicant's submission. The analysis carried out 
for the Council concludes as follows:- 
 
Sequential Approach 
 
Site Location 
Within the Local Plan, the Tesco application site is not allocated for any specific land uses 
and lies outside of any defined centre. The nearest centres are located along Lower 
Bristol Road (to the east) and Moorland Road district centre (to the south). Both of these 
centres are beyond 300 metres walking distance and therefore, under PPS4 guidance, the 
Tesco site can be classified as an out of centre site.   
 
It is of relevance to this consideration to note that the Sainsburys site does not lie within a 
defined centre. The closest defined centre is the city centre which lies to the east of the 
site. The walking distance between the eastern edge of the Sainsburys car park and the 
edge of the Primary Shopping Area (`PSA') is around 250 metres and the distance 
between the Sainsburys store and the PSA is around 300 metres. On this basis the 
Sainsburys store is an edge of centre location.  
 
In accordance with PPS4 a sequential approach to site selection should be followed. 
Adopting a sequential approach to selecting sites means wherever possible seeking to 
focus new development within existing defined centres, or failing that on well located sites 
on the edge of existing defined centres. Only if town centre or edge of centre sites are not 
available will out of centre locations be likely to be appropriate in policy terms, provided 
that they are well served by alternative means of transport, and are acceptable in all other 
respects including impact. In considering the sequential approach to site selection a 
number of factors have been looked at (in accordance with the guidance within PPS4 ) 
including site availability and suitability, and the full and detailed assessment of all the 
relevant considerations is available within the retail consultants’  report on the Councils 
web site.  
 
In conclusion if the Green Park area is a suitable location for additional supermarket retail 
development then the Tesco proposal does not demonstrate compliance with the 
sequential approach to site selection. Beyond the expansion of the Waitrose store, the 
Green Park area (and the Sainsburys site in particular) is the next best `in principle' 
alternative to accommodate new supermarket development and meet the identified need, 
Even if the Green Park / Sainsburys area were to be discounted then the Tesco proposal 
would still conflict with the sequential approach given the potential of the Western 
Riverside East area to accommodate new retail development in a location which is closer 
to the city centre. 
 

Page 302



Therefore, the Tesco proposal fails to comply with the sequential approach in PPS4 
because there are up to two sequentially preferable locations where the need for 
additional retail floorspace which the proposal seeks to address could be met.  
 
Convenience Goods 
Following the grant of planning permission for a new Sainsburys store at Odd Down (and 
its recent opening), along with a certificate of lawfulness which will enable a significant 
expansion of the Waitrose store in the city centre and a resolution to grant planning 
permission for a Lidl foodstore on Lower Bristol Road (this is delegated to permit and 
awaiting completion of a s106 planning obligation), there is limited current quantitative 
capacity to support new convenience goods floorspace in Bath. Forecasts suggest that in 
the short to medium term, the area is capable of supporting only a modest sized foodstore 
or extensions to existing facilities by 2016. To put this into context the proposed Sainsbury 
extension could be regarded as a modest sized extension whereas the Tesco proposal 
would far exceed the retail capacity available. Larger levels of capacity only arise from 
2021 onwards but even then, a large new foodstore would be likely to have some adverse 
impacts on existing facilities and the impact of proposed development would need to be 
assessed carefully. These impacts would be greater if a large new store was opened at an 
earlier date. Based upon the available data there is insufficient quantitative capacity to 
accommodate the proposed Tesco store in addition to those for which planning 
permission has been granted or resolved to be granted.   
 
Comparison Goods 
The evidence confirms that the Southgate development has soaked up previously 
identified capacity for additional comparison goods floorspace in Bath and part of the 
expenditure growth between 2011 and 2016. Given the scale of the Southgate 
development, the new retailers which it has attracted to the City, and churn effect (i.e. this 
is the natural and ongoing in and out migration of occupiers of existing sites which release 
those sites for new occupiers to enter) it will cause on existing property across the City 
there is no need to plan for any significant new comparison goods floorspace in Bath until 
after 2016. Additional capacity could be required in the future and this potential is being 
appropriately planned for within the Core Strategy via small to medium sized retail 
development (as referred to in policy B1). This retail development would need to be 
accommodated in accordance with the sequential approach, where first priority is given to 
sites within the city centre, followed by edge-of-centre sites. The current Tesco application 
is in an out-of-centre location. It is anticipated that sites will be considered and allocated 
for further comparison retail development through the Placemaking Plan.  
 
Convenience Goods Impact  
The District Centre of Moorland Road is located approximately 400 metres south of the 
current application site. If permitted the Tesco store would have a significant adverse 
impact upon the vitality and viability of the Moorland Road District Centre due to the lack 
of quantitative capacity to sustain the additional retail store in this location. It is indicated 
(based upon the Consultants' report for BANES) that the proposed Tesco store would 
have a significant financial impact upon the Co-op store with £2.4m diverted from that 
store. In addition, £0.2m would be diverted from the Sainsburys Local and £0.1m from 
other convenience stores in the centre. This diversion alone would reduce the Co-op's 
turnover by one quarter although when assessed alongside other commitments the Co-op 
would stand to lose almost 40% of its turnover. These estimates of impact are based upon 
a higher turnover level for the Co-op than given in the assessments supporting the Tesco 

Page 303



and Sainsburys applications and therefore could be seen as an optimistic view of the likely 
impact upon this store. If the alternative turnover levels for the Co-op are adopted then the 
store could stand to lose as much as 50% of its total turnover. Faced with such a large 
financial impact, and a residual turnover level which could be well below the average Co-
op company performance, it is likely that the future of the Co-op will be uncertain. Indeed, 
closure of this store, given the scale of reduction in its turnover and ongoing competition 
from the nearby Tesco, is a very real possibility. The closure of the Co-op would lead to 
the significant adverse impact upon the health of Moorland Road district centre. As the 
centre's anchor store, it attracts a significant amount of shopping trips to the centre, and 
these would be lost. In addition to the impact on the Co-op, other parts of Moorland 
Road's convenience goods retail sector would see a reduction in their turnover levels. 
Whilst not as severe as the Co-op impact, the Sainsburys Local would experience a 19% 
impact and other smaller convenience goods stores would lose 8% of their 2016 turnover. 
Broadly half of this impact is attributable to the proposed Tesco store alone. Indeed, whilst 
the scale of financial impact upon these other stores is lower than the Co-op, store 
closures cannot be ruled out due  to the proximity and trading strength of the proposed 
Tesco store, which stores in Moorland Road would find hard to compete with. The 
consequential effect of the impact of the Tesco on Moorland Road would be to reduce 
choice and competition in the district centre and the range of goods which it is able to offer 
to visitors. 
 
It has also been considered whether there could be any positive benefits associated with 
the Tesco proposal in terms of linked trips with Moorland Road district centre which could 
mitigate the direct financial impact suffered by existing stores. Taking into account the 
distance between the Tesco site and Moorland Road, the intervisibility between the two 
locations, the barriers to movement and the attractiveness of the route it is unlikely that 
there would be any significant linked trips between these two locations. The length and 
character of the route which shoppers would have to negotiate would not be attractive and 
it is very likely that shoppers visiting the Tesco store would simply use it as a stand-alone 
shopping destination. 
 
This is contrary to policy S4 of the Adopted Local Plan and national policy set out in PPS4. 
It would also be detrimental to the retail strategy/hierarchy of centres serving Bath as this 
vibrant District centre plays an important role in that hierarchy. 
 
Consideration of the impact of the proposed Sainsburys Extension on Moorland Road 
District centre. 
 
Whilst the Sainsbury application will need to be assessed on its own merits, it is of 
relevance to this application and can be afforded some weight since it has also been 
assessed in light of the updated Retail Floorspace Quantitative Need Assessment 2011. 
 
In this regard, the Sainsburys store at Green Park is in reasonably close proximity to the 
District Centre and this is likely to result in a small financial impact upon the district centre.  
Whilst these financial impacts are a negative aspect of the Sainsburys extension proposal 
they are not considered significant enough to cause concerns over the future trading 
performance of stores on Moorland Road. In particular, the role and function of the Co-op 
store is unlikely to be affected. In terms of the other aspects of the extension's impact on 
the health of Moorland Road, it is not considered that footfall in the centre would be 
substantially affected, nor investment in the centre and vacancy levels. Overall, whilst the 

Page 304



Sainsburys store is also unlikely to provide any positive impacts upon Moorland Road 
district centre, the assessment of the wider impacts associated with the Sainsburys 
extension indicates that the vitality and viability of the centre would not be affected to any 
significant extent. 
 
Cumulative Retail Impact. 
The retail analysis carried out by the appointed consultant takes into account any current 
retail commitments i.e. developments that either have planning permission or a resolution 
to grant. Account also needs to be taken of the current application for a proposed 
extension to the Sainsbury store, as mentioned above. In light of the Sainsburys proposal 
it was felt appropriate to commission a further piece of work from the Council's retail 
consultants in order to understand the cumulative retail impact of both the proposed 
Sainsburys and Tesco stores were they both to be permitted and this is discussed below.  
 
Cumulative City Centre Impact 
The conclusions of that additional analysis are that both proposals would have a 
comparatively low impact upon the city centre, with an overall impact of 2% for Sainsburys 
and 4% for Tesco. The differences between the two schemes becomes more noticeable 
when the impact is based upon convenience goods expenditure alone, with the Tesco 
store having an 18% impact upon the city centre and the Sainsburys extension having a 
smaller 8% impact. For both schemes the cumulative impact is lower than the impacts 
directly associated with each scheme due to the commitment for an extended Waitrose 
store which will boost city centre turnover. 
 
Cumulative Moorland Road Impact 
There is a clear difference between the two proposals in terms of their individual impacts 
on Moorland Road, with the Tesco store being identified as having a significant adverse 
impact upon the viability of the Moorland Road shopping centre, in contrast to the much 
lower levels of trade diversion associated with the Sainsburys extension. The cumulative 
impact of the Tesco proposal and the Sainsburys extension would be greater than either 
proposal alone, thus reinforcing concerns over the future health of the District centre.  
 
Planned Investment  
Neither the Tesco or Sainsbury proposal has been proven to have a direct impact upon 
planned investment in the city centre or Moorland Road district centre although the higher 
financial impacts associated with the Tesco scheme may make investment in convenience 
goods floorspace in the city centre, such as the Waitrose extension, more marginal and 
also have the potential to influence future investment plans in Moorland Road. 
 
Cumulative Retail Impact Conclusion 
As a consequence of the above, it is not considered that there are grounds to resist the 
grant of permission for either or both of  the Tesco and Sainsburys proposals  based upon 
the level of impact on Bath City Centre. However, given that there are significant concerns 
over the impact of the Tesco store alone on the health of Moorland Road District Centre, 
approval of both schemes would exacerbate this impact even further. This is supported by 
the lack of available quantitative expenditure capacity to support both stores. The Tesco 
store would be unacceptable in terms of its impact irrespective of whether the Sainsbury 
store was permitted.   
 
 

Page 305



New Retail Analysis Submission 
The applicant has recently (February 2012) submitted a further retail analysis. The Local 
Planning Authority has made an assessment of that recent submission and reconsidered 
the applicants retail proposals in light of a 2011 household survey that is now relied upon 
by the applicant in support of their case and the findings are set out below.  
 
Impact 
The latest submission by the applicant (prepared by NLP) utilises the results of a survey of 
household shopping patterns conducted in October 2011.  This survey was commissioned 
by White Young Green who are Sainsburys' retail planning consultant.  The NLP work 
does not provide a detailed updated retail capacity and financial impact analysis for the 
proposed Tesco store. However, with the October 2011 household survey the only 
available survey which includes the trading performance of the new Sainsburys store at 
Odd Down, it is useful for this survey to be used to update the Council's own analysis of 
retail floorspace capacity and financial impact for both the Tesco and Sainsburys 
extension proposals.  We have therefore prepared a new assessment of capacity and 
impact and the results are summarised below. 
   
The latest predicted impacts associated with the Tesco and Sainsburys scheme are 
relatively similar to the previous estimates.  Having considered the impacts in detail, 
including the impacts associated with the commitments (Waitrose and Lidl), the 
Sainsburys at Odd Down, plus the impacts associated with the proposals themselves, we 
consider that the new results do not revise the Councils position on retail impact.   
 
In other words, the impacts associated with both schemes on the city centre are not 
serious enough to warrant a reason for refusal.  A similar conclusion is reached in relation 
to the small impact of the Sainsburys extension on Moorland Road.   
  
In contrast, it remains the case that the impact of the proposed Tesco on Moorland Road 
is a significant adverse impact. The individual impact of the Tesco store on the district 
centre as a whole is large (circa 20%) and when combined with recently opened and 
committed floorspace the district centre could lose around one third of its turnover.  
Moreover, the cumulative impact of the Tesco on the Co-op store remains very similar to 
previously estimated (by GVA) at 44%.  We remain of the opinion that closure of the Co-
op is a very real possibility. 
 
Retail Floorspace Capacity 
  
Turning to the assessment of retail capacity for food floorspace in Bath, it is useful to 
repeat the findings of our previous analysis in 2011 whereby it was concluded following 
detailed analysis that the only way of fully accommodating the Tesco proposal (alongside 
the Sainsburys Green Park extension) within the previous (2011) analysis was at 2026.  
  
Using the October 2011 household survey, a new retail floorspace capacity analysis has 
been undertaken. This new analysis shows that surplus retail expenditure to support new 
convenience (food) retail floorspace at 2012, 2017, 2021 and 2026 has risen slightly over 
previous levels.  It is to be noted that a higher level of surplus expenditure is also 
predicted by NLP (on behalf of Tesco/St James) although, very importantly, the NLP 
analysis is not comprehensive (as it doesn't include all food retail floorspace in Bath). 
  

Page 306



Based on the surplus expenditure capacity levels shown below, the small increase in 
surplus expenditure means that the Tesco could now be accommodated by 2021, but only 
if the Sainsburys Green Park extension is resisted.  Therefore, it remains the case that the 
only way of accommodating both current proposals will be at 2026.   
  
It is usual for capacity assessments to be restricted to the next five years (I.e. up to 2017) 
(specific reference is made to this in EC16.1d of PPS4) and on this basis 80% of the 
Tesco turnover could be accommodated by 2017 (without the Green Park extension) and 
only 58% of the Tesco turnover (if the Green Park extension is taken into account). 
  
The lack of available surplus expenditure is not a reason in itself to resist an application.  
However, it remains a contributor to the assessment of the sequential test and impact and, 
in this case, is a contributory factor to the conclusion that the Tesco store will lead to 
significant adverse impacts (because there is a lack of surplus expenditure to 
accommodate existing and both proposals). 
 
COMMUNITY USE:  The provision of community space/museum space is regarded as an 
overall benefit within the scheme subject to it being appropriately managed and controlled. 
Policy CF.1 of the Local Plan allows for new community facilities to be located within or 
well related to settlements. In this case the application site is located within Bath. Taking 
into account that the proposal to introduce community facilities would accord with a saved 
Development Plan policy there is not a requirement to consider the suitability of the use 
against PPS 4 policies. If the overall development were to be acceptable further details of 
that management and control might be appropriately sought. 
 
Waste 
Further details on waste storage could be subject to a condition if the development were 
to be approved.  
 
PUBLIC SAFETY:  The Health and Safety Executive (HSE) is a statutory consultee for 
certain developments within the Consultation Zones around Major Hazard Sites and 
pipelines. The application site falls within the HSE Consultation Zones around the Windsor 
Bridge Gasholder Station, and the application has consequently been considered using 
the PADHI+ planning advice software tool provided by the HSE for assessing gas 
generated risk. The advice of the HSE is that there are sufficient reasons, on safety 
grounds, for advising against the granting of planning permission in this case. Whilst it is 
recognised that the likelihood of a major accident occurring is small, the possibility 
remains that a major accident could occur at the installation and that this could have 
serious consequences for people in the vicinity. In particular with regard to the proposals 
there would be significant numbers of visitors and workers present within the development 
that could be at risk. In the event that this application is proposed to be permitted contrary 
to the advice of the HSE, they must be provided with 21 days notice to consider whether 
to request that the application is called in for determination by the Secretary of State.  
 
In order to overcome the objection to the application that has been made by the HSE, the 
applicant has submitted supporting documentation and has proposed Heads of Terms for 
a legal agreement and a Grampian condition with a view to ensuring that the risks 
associated with the existing Windsor Gas Holder Station a short distance to the north of 
the appeal site are appropriately managed. The HSE themselves raised the possibility of 
using a Grampian condition in their original letter of objection, on the basis that a similar 

Page 307



approach had been adopted in late 2010 in the determination of the proposals for the 
regeneration of bath Western Riverside.   
 
A Grampian condition is a negatively worded condition which prevents the development 
(or its occupation) from taking place until a specified action has been taken: for example, 
such a condition might prevent the commencement or occupation of a development until 
certain off-site roadworks have been carried out, or until a particular highway has been 
stopped up. They are generally used in relation to works that need to be carried out on 
land outside of the applicant's control, and can allow planning permission to be granted for 
development which would otherwise be unacceptable. The nature of this approach means 
that care must be taken to ensure that any Grampian condition actually secures what is 
necessary, and it is important that such conditions are drafted on a case-by-case basis. 
 
In the present case, the primary purpose of a Grampian condition and/or planning 
obligation would be to prevent the occupation of the proposed Tesco store, and other 
elements of the development, until the Gas Holder Station has been decommissioned. 
 
It is the Secretary of State's policy, as set out in paragraphs 39-41 of Circular 11/95 
relating to Planning Conditions, that there should be a reasonable prospect of the action 
required by any such condition being undertaken within the lifetime of the permission.  The 
converse is that, if there is no reasonable prospect of the condition being fulfilled within 
that timeframe, then (whilst it would not be unlawful to grant permission subject to such a 
condition) the condition should not be imposed and the planning application should be 
refused.   
 
Similar considerations would in the view of officers apply regarding the provisions of any 
S106 obligation which sought to achieve the same objective. The principal underlying 
purpose of the Secretary of State's policy is to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented 
planning permissions, so it would be reasonable for members to consider whether there is 
a reasonable prospect of the Gas Holder Station being decommissioned within the lifetime 
of the permission both in the context of a proposed planning condition and a proposed 
planning obligation. 
 
The Grampian Condition initially proposed by the Applicants is: 'St James Investments 
and Tesco Stores limited will not commence development of the Bath Press Site until it 
has entered into a binding contract with Crest Nicholson/ Wales and West Limited to give 
effect to the decommissioning works to the Windsor Bridge gas tanks holders'.  
 
The Heads of Terms initially suggested by the Applicants propose that:  

1. 'Tesco stores and St James Investments will not commence work on the Bath 
Press Site until they have entered into a binding contract with Crest Nicholson to 
pay for the Decommissioning Works with a view to bringing forward the 
redevelopment of the gas holder site and any other Bath Western Riverside 
redevelopment sites and such contract has become unconditional.'; and 

2. 'Tesco stores will not open for trade until the gas holder is lowered to the ground, 
purged of gas, and the gas delivery pipe is removed for a length of at least 1 metre'. 

 
As previously mentioned, the HSE have also said that a Grampian condition could be 
acceptable to them, and they suggested the following condition: 'No occupation of any 
habitable development, or development of any permanent building designed for 

Page 308



occupation shall take place within the Inner or Middle Consultation Zones shown on the 
attached plan provided by the Health and Safety Executive entitled  'Windsor House 
Holder Station reference HSE HID CI5 Ref: H 1596'  until Windsor Gas Holder Station has 
been permanently decommissioned to the satisfaction of the local planning authority and 
the hazardous substances consent applicable to the three gas holders has been removed.  
 
The HSE indicated that the imposition of this condition could meet the HSE's public safety 
concerns, implying that their objection could be withdrawn.. 
 
The above condition is based very closely upon the Grampian condition agreed with the 
HSE and imposed by this Council in respect of the Bath Western Riverside development. 
 
The key considerations in relation to the above are whether either the Grampian 
conditions and/or the Heads of Terms suggested by the applicant, taking in to account any 
other supporting documentation the applicant has in addition submitted, are sufficient in 
this case to ensure the decommissioning of the Gas Holder Station prior to the occupation 
of the scheme.  The Applicants' proposed Heads of Terms relate only to the non-
occupation of the retail store, and it is not yet clear whether the HSE would be prepared to 
agree to other parts of the scheme (e.g. the residential units) being occupied in advance 
of the decommissioning of the Gas Holder Station.  Further discussions will be needed 
with the HSE in order to clarify their approach to this mixed use development in this 
regard. 
 
The wording of the Heads of Terms and Condition initially proposed by the applicants' 
team is flawed and fails to meet the relevant tests.  Firstly it only relates to named 
companies (Tesco stores and St James Investments), and would not seem to prevent 
occupation by anyone else.  Secondly, the trigger proposed is inadequate as it only 
requires a contract to have been entered into for the decommissioning works, and that 
contract might (for instance) specify a date for the decommissioning of the Gas Holder 
Station that is so far in the future that the development will already be occupied before it 
happens.  The second of the Heads of Terms quoted above goes further in that regard as 
it refers to the store not opening for trade. Thirdly it would appear that there is land owned 
by other third parties that would be required in order to secure the decommissioning of the 
Gas Holder Station, and the planning implications of any such involvement remain 
unknown.  Fourthly it is not certain that there are no other potential developers who may in 
due course be capable of bringing forward the decommissioning benefit. These latter two 
points are considered further below. 
 
The Grampian condition suggested by the HSE 
The Condition suggested by the HSE is an improved version to that proposed by the 
Applicants’ as it refers to "No Occupation" which is considered to be the correct trigger in 
this case.  As indicated above, it is a similar condition to that used in respect of the Bath 
Western Riverside Development.  However Members are advised that the wording of the 
Condition on its own in this case would not bring about the same level of certainty and it is 
in this regard relevant that the Gas Holder Station (unlike with Bath Western Riverside) is 
outside the current application site.  In the present case, if the development were ready for 
occupation and the decommissioning had not taken place, there could be considerable 
pressure on the Council to agree to a relaxation of the relevant condition/obligation, 
especially if any perceived delay in the decommissioning is outside the Applicants' control.  
The risk of this happening would be mitigated to a degree by the first of the obligations 

Page 309



proposed by the Applicants, but again it should be noted that the applicants' Heads of 
Terms relate only to a specific named occupier (Tesco stores), and would not appear to 
cover occupation by any other organisation. 
 
The precise wording of any planning condition(s) and/or planning obligations is not 
however a critical consideration, since this may prove capable of resolution in discussions 
between the Appellants, the HSE and the Council. .  Indeed, recent discussions between 
your Officers and the Applicants’ Agents, and then subsequently with the HSE, lead your 
Officers to the conclusion that it is highly likely that a form of words for the combination of 
Conditions and S106 Terms can be found that will result in the HSE withdrawing their 
formal objection to the scheme.  Your Officers are now satisfied on the basis of these 
discussions that there is a reasonable prospect of the Gas Holder Station being 
decommissioned before the expiry of any planning permission that may be granted for the 
currently proposed development, subject of course to any permission incorporating the 
necessary Conditions and S106 provisions. 
 
Of greater significance is the broader question of what weight should be given to the 
applicants' offer in part to fund the decommissioning through an agreement between 
themselves, Wales and West Utilities (the gas supply company) and Crest Nicholson (the 
developers of BWR). 
 
Little information was provided by the applicants to assist the Local Planning Authority 
with making this judgment. The limited information provided by the applicant rendered it 
impossible to be clear as to exactly what works might be required or what consents might 
be needed (and from whom) for those works to take place.  
 
As to (ii), the applicants position is that, without their proposed contribution to the costs of 
the decommissioning works and the provision of the necessary new infrastructure, the 
decommissioning works are unlikely to take place for the foreseeable future.  However, 
again, the Council was provided with little information on the basis of which an informed 
judgment can be made.  In these circumstances, it is difficult to give significant weight to 
the Applicants' argument in deciding whether or not to grant planning permission. 
 
Officers have recently met with the applicant, and representatives from key parties with an 
interest in the gas risk site i.e Wales and West and Crest Nicholson. That meeting 
provided significant clarification as to the works that need to be carried out by whom, the 
timing for those works and the cost implications. In addition a further report has been 
submitted by the applicant at the time of writing this report.  
 
Officers are now able to respond to that additional information and to advise Members as 
to how this matter should be addressed. 
 
In essence, the Applicants are arguing that by entering into a contractual relationship with 
Wales and West Utilities and with (BWR Developer) Crest Nicholson, to contribute a 
significant sum towards the overall cost of decommissioning the Gas Holder Station, they 
are bringing forward the implementation of a substantial western portion of the BWR 
regeneration scheme.  This, it is argued, is a significant community benefit, in that it would 
enable the Council’s flagship housing allocation to proceed without (or with a smaller) 
delay, thereby meeting the delivery trajectory set out in the SHLAA, and reducing the 

Page 310



potential for other less acceptable sites to be brought forward by developers in order to 
attempt to take advantage of any perceived failure to meet the SHLAA’s aims. 
 
Correspondence has also been received from Crest Nicholson indicating that they too see 
the potential of an injection of Tesco / St James Investments’ funds as being a significant 
delivery benefit for BWR. 
 
Of particular significance is the formal position taken by the Council on this point in 
presenting its Draft Core Strategy for consideration by the Inspector in the recent EIP.  
Various parties had challenged the Council’s proposals on the basis that they were over-
optimistic in respect of the SHLAA delivery trajectory, and BWR came under particular 
scrutiny, not only because its continued implementation is undeniably dependent upon the 
decommissioning of the Windsor Gas Holder Station, but also because it represents a 
very large proportion of the SHLAA provision for Bath (and for the District as a whole).   
 
In the EIP, the Council sought to reassure the Inspector that he could be confident that 
BWR can indeed be delivered.  This was done in verbal submissions and in an associated 
Issues Statement, and the Council indicated that the delivery of BWR is not dependent 
upon the implementation of any particular development proposals (such as the current 
application), but that there is a range of funding sources, and that these are backed up by 
public sector initiatives aimed at underwriting any financial shortfall.  The level of certainty 
in this regard is enhanced by the existence of a formal agreement between Crest 
Nicholson and the Council which is targeted at the staged implementation of the entire 
BWR development. 
 
In this context, the Council has based its SHLAA strategy upon BWR delivery within the 
Core Strategy period without funds from Tesco / St James Investments, and indeed it 
would have been wholly inappropriate for any part of the Core Strategy proposals to have 
been in any way dependent upon the approval of a scheme that is contrary to both 
national and local published Planning policies.  Accordingly,  whilst the offer to fund the 
decommissioning of the gas holder station is a material consideration it can only be 
afforded very little weight since it would not  substantially improve the likelihood of BWR 
being completed or significantly bring forward the timetable for that implementation.  
 
In conclusion, your Officers conclude that the Applicant has not put forward a sufficiently 
compelling argument to justify attaching significant Planning weight to the alleged 
community benefits that would be associated with the decommissioning of the Gas Holder 
Station. To attach significant Planning weight to the argument put forward by the 
Applicants would undermine the credibility of the Council’s arguments in the Core Strategy 
EIP, which could have a negative impact upon the Council’s strategies and policies. 
 
Members are therefore advised that whilst it is likely that the HSE’s objection can be 
overcome through the use of appropriate Conditions and a S106 Agreement, on the basis 
of the current information the resultant decommissioning of the Gas Holder Station cannot 
be given significant weight in balancing the Planning merits of the current proposals.  The 
potential for the decommissioning of the Gas Holder Site is not a consideration that can 
reasonably be used as an argument to overcome or outweigh the serious retail and 
highway objections to the development that are set out in this Report. 
 

Page 311



HIGHWAYS:  A Transport Assessment has been submitted. The Council's Traffic Signals 
Engineers are of the opinion that the proposed development will be detrimental to the 
operation of the Lower Bristol Road/Windsor Bridge Road/Brook Road junction, one of the 
most critical on the local network, exacerbating problems of capacity by increasing the 
level of overall saturation that would otherwise have occurred without both the 
development and the proposed mitigation works.  
 
There are also safety issues associated with the proposed road layout. These are set out 
within the Highway Development Officer's consultation response in further detail. Taking 
account of the information submitted it is considered that the overall impact on the 
capacity of the junctions and the adverse impact on highway safety as a consequence of 
this development would be unacceptable.  
 
It is material that in recognition of the current congestion difficulties that will worsen once 
the Bath Western Riverside development is complete. The Council has sought funding for 
junction improvements to be made. That funding was secured as part of the Bath 
Transportation Package in December 2011. This means that funding will be committed 
subject to conditions, including any statutory procedures. It is advised by highway 
colleagues that following full approval, anticipated to be obtained in July 2012, the works 
would take place during 2013. Additional land is required in order to carry out those 
improvements and that land is currently in the control of third parties. It is of significance 
that the applicants proposal is considered to be in conflict with the Councils own 
committed scheme for junction improvements as it seeks to address the traffic associated 
with the proposed development which has different priorities.  
 
As can be seen from the series of highway comments reported above in this report there 
has been significant dialogue with the applicant on highway issues during the course of 
the current application. Officers have since the previous committee continued to meet with 
the applicant and discuss highway issues. In this regard the applicant has now made 
further highway submissions in respect of plans to amend layout and a further highway 
review of these submissions have been made. Whilst some improvements to the scheme 
layout have been achieved the substantive issue relating to the impact upon the operation 
of the junction has not been overcome. 
 
AIR QUALITY:  There is an air quality concern due to the significant increases in nitrogen 
dioxide that would arise in the vicinity of the development. Whilst it is not considered 
appropriate to refuse the application on this basis it is considered that the issue is 
symptomatic of development that would not provide for efficient and sustainable transport. 
As already discussed within the report the development is out of centre, has limited 
opportunity for linked trips, is likely to be used as a stand-alone destination and the levels 
of parking provision demonstrate that many of these trips will be by car rather than more 
sustainable travel modes. This issue is exacerbated by the difficulties associated with the 
poor operation of the junction discussed above. In contrast the Sequentially preferable 
sites (such as the site of the Sainsburys proposal) offer much better potential to 
encourage linked trips with the city centre and are more sustainably located. 
 
DRAINAGE:  A satisfactory flood risk assessment has been submitted and there are 
considered to be no flood risk or drainage issues arising from the development that cannot 
be appropriately and acceptably addressed through planning conditions in accordance 
with the advice of the Environment Agency and Highways Drainage Officer. 

Page 312



 
ECOLOGY:  It has been suggested by the Councils ecologist that the scheme could do 
more to provide ecological enhancements. However, that would not warrant rejection of 
the scheme. The proposals are agreed not to harm any ecological interests, subject to the 
imposition of suitable planning conditions. Based upon the current evidence of ecology 
known to be on the site a licence from English Nature would not be required and there 
would be no significant effect on any European Site or local site of nature conservation 
importance.  
 
DESIGN AND LANDSCAPE:  The application has taken the approach of retaining and 
integrating the existing façade and chimney whilst demolishing the rest of the building. 
There are competing views on whether the design approach is appropriate particularly 
with regard to how much, if any, of the building should be retained. Design is a subjective 
matter and in this case the applicant has made a satisfactory case for the approach taken.  
However it would be appropriate, if the application were to be approved, that the repair 
and retention of the façade is secured within a section 106 planning obligation. The 
applicant has amended the design in response to concerns from Officers and on balance 
it is considered that in design terms the scheme is acceptable in terms of the design 
approach. Landscape opportunities within the site are limited. It is acknowledged that all 
trees within the site would be lost and that there are limited planting opportunities. 
However, this is an urban location and it is considered that, on balance, the development 
is acceptable and where opportunities for planting within the site exist this new planting 
can be conditioned and a scheme agreed to respond appropriately to the site and its 
context. It is considered that carriageway widening works outside of the site to the public 
highway would be visually detrimental in townscape terms as the highway would become 
more visually dominant, and this is to be regretted. However, it is considered that taking 
account of the extent of the changes and the fact that highway works and improvements 
could take place outside of the scope of planning and in connection with any number of 
proposals for development these impacts do not provide the basis for a reason for refusal.  
 
CRIME PREVENTION:  The applicant has advised that the security strategy adopted is 
based on the principle of casual supervision. It is agreed that the arrangement of the mix 
of uses is generally helpful in securing natural surveillance and that there will be good 
permeability through the site. There will be some CCTV on site and particularly in 
basement areas this is considered appropriate. Whilst security measures have not been 
addressed in great detail in the submission it is considered that it would not be appropriate 
to refuse the application on these grounds. A condition requiring security details could be 
attached to any decision. 
 
EDUCATION:  If the application were to be found acceptable a sum by way of an 
education contribution would need to be agreed with the applicant in accordance with the 
Council's adopted Supplementary Planning Document. The absence of such a 
contribution would justify refusal. Notwithstanding the sum identified in September 2010 it 
is necessary to review figures periodically to take account of changes over time and in this 
case if the application were to be acceptable an updated figure should be sought.  
 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING:  The site would generate an affordable housing requirement in 
accordance with Policy HG8 of the adopted Local Plan. This has not been agreed with the 
applicant and no Heads of Terms have been provided. Therefore, if the application were 
to be found acceptable provision for affordable housing would need to be agreed with the 

Page 313



applicant in accordance with the Council's adopted Supplementary Planning Document. 
The absence of such provision would justify refusal. 
 
ARCHEAOLOGY:  There are no archaeological objections to the scheme, however, 
conditions to monitor development would be required. 
 
LAND CONTAMINATION:  There are no land contamination objections to the scheme, 
however, conditions would be required to investigate and assess risk. 
 
NOISE:  The applicants have not submitted a noise assessment that predicts the Noise 
level categories that the development would fall within. The applicant has advised that 
whilst the residential element of the scheme did not receive specific consideration within 
the Environmental Statement, the baseline noise survey does contain a measurement at a 
location near to their proposed location, off Dorset Close. This places the location on the 
boundary of NEC A and NEC B. Taking account of the fact that no new residential 
properties are proposed in the vicinity of Brook Road but only in the area off Dorset Close, 
and the fact that the new residential dwellings are set back into the site and partially 
screened from major roads by other buildings, the residential element of the scheme 
would not be subject to noise levels so significant so as to warrant refusal of permission. 
 
ADJOINING RESIDENTS:  The site in its current condition makes no contribution to the 
locality and its redevelopment would improve overall residential amenities. The proposed 
mix of uses is appropriate to the locality and overall it is considered that the proposal 
would improve the amenity of local residents.  It would remove unsightly vacant buildings 
and bring forward uses onto the site that would generate less noise than the extant use 
might generate and be more compatible with the local residential area and the adjacent 
school.  
 
OTHER MATTERS:  Concern has been raised with regard to seagull nuisance and if the 
scheme were to be permitted a condition could be attached to the decision to install 
necessary preventative measures. The applicant has confirmed this would be acceptable. 
 
JOB CREATION:  Based upon the figure stated on the application form the proposed 
development would create 643 jobs of which over half would be in the retail store. Whilst it 
is acknowledged that the proposal would have the potential to create new jobs for the 
local population (in retail and office development as well as during construction) it is also 
to be noted that job opportunities could be lost from other stores in Bath as a result of the 
diversion of trade to the new Tesco store. For example, significant amounts of trade would 
be diverted from the two Sainsburys stores, the Morrisons, the Waitrose in the city centre 
and the Co-op on Moorland Road. Whilst consideration has been given to job creation and 
some benefits are acknowledged it is considered that the benefits arising from this specific 
development are not so great so as to warrant significant positive weight being given to 
this aspect of the proposals so as to override other harmful impacts that would arise.  
 
ASSESSMENT OF ANY BENEFITS ASSOCIATED WITH THE DEVELOPMENT:   
The applicant has made a number of statements outlining what they regard to be the 
benefits of this proposal. In summary as set out within their planning statement the 
applicant is suggesting that the development will provide retail choice to the community, 
modern employment space generating jobs, and new community and residential 
accommodation. 

Page 314



 
Officers having carefully weighted up all of the information provided are of the view that 
whilst there may be some benefits associated with the development and these are 
discussed within the report it is the weight to be given to those benefits compared to what 
Officers consider to be the other very substantial adverse impact that is a key 
consideration. Officers are of the view that in this case the benefits would not outweigh the 
very significant level of harm caused in terms of the retail impact, highway impact and gas 
risk, that would arise if the development were to be permitted.  
 
ONGOING NEGOTIATIONS 
Officers have held meetings with the applicant to consider if areas of outstanding concern 
can be eliminated or overcome. There have been discussions held relating to highway 
matters and gas risk and following up on those discussions further information on highway 
matters and gas risk have been submitted and in addition new retail reports have been 
provided. These have now been fully assessed and are reported upon within the main 
agenda report. Further consultations with the contributors to the application have also 
been carried out and it is to be noted that final expiry dates are on the date of the 
committee. Therefore any representations received up until the expiry date would need to 
be taken into account prior to a decision being issued.  
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
PLANNING POLICY - Comments made 25th May 2011 and 31st January 2012  confirm 
that there is no objection in principle to the loss of the primary use of the Bath Press site 
as a place of industrial enterprise. However based on the evidence, planning policy 
objects to the retail elements of the application on the basis of lack of capacity to support 
the proposal, the proposal is not compliant with the sequential approach to site selection 
and the serious harmful impact on the Moorland Road shopping area, .  
 
HEALTH AND SAFETY EXECUTIVE -  Comments generated through PADHI +, HSE's 
planning advice software tool 24th August 2010  - The assessment indicates that the risk 
of harm to people at the proposed development is such that the Health and Safety 
Executive's advice is that there are sufficient reasons, on safety grounds, for advising 
against the granting of planning permission in this case. 
 
Comments made 17th January 2012 discuss the potential to overcome gas risk matters 
through the imposition of a suitably worded Grampian condition. A condition proposed by 
the applicant is confirmed to be unacceptable to meet the objectives of the HSE and they 
have proposed an alternative form of wording.   
 
HIGHWAY DEVELOPMENT OFFICER - Comments made 20th September 2010 Object to 
the scheme on the basis of its impact on highway safety and the operation of and capacity 
on the public highway. 
 
Further comments 29th March 2011- acknowledge some improvements and advise that 
further comments are sought from the signal engineers in respect of the junction. 
Further comments made 1st April 2011 - We cannot accept the Lower Bristol Road/Brook 
Road/Windsor Bridge Road junction design, as the signal assessment has not been 
carried out correctly and we are not satisfied that this junction has adequate capacity. 
Further comments made 6th April 2011 additional comments made by the Transportation 
Planning and Highway Electrical Teams identify a number of issues that would as a 

Page 315



consequence have an unacceptable impact on both capacity and safety on the highway 
network 
Further comments made August 2011 Request additional information that will be 
necessary to properly assess revised proposals that have been submitted.  
Further comments made 22nd November 2011 Highway signal engineers have assessed 
submitted Technical files that are an improvement on previous assessments but still show 
a junction well over capacity on all approaches. In particular the improvement upon 
previously suggested performance has been achieved primarily by the staging structure 
adopted. Whilst the additional right turn lane exiting Brook Road offers extra capacity 
benefit, this is significantly reduced by the increased length of pedestrian crossing across 
it. The associated intergreen timings to and from it are very long also, which therefore 
reduces junction performance. The staging structure is one which we cannot support in 
this location. 
Further comments made 23rd November 2011 confirm that having assessed the 
Transport Assessment and revised plans serious concerns about the proposed 
development and a highway objection remain. For the following reasons 
1) The A36 Lower Bristol Road/A3064 Windsor Bridge Road/Brook Road junction is still 
shown to operate well over capacity on all approaches with the proposed development.    
2) The proposed traffic signal staging structure adopted is unacceptable at this location, 
on highway safety grounds  
3) Provision for westbound cyclists on A36 Lower Bristol Rd is unacceptable and a danger 
to cyclists  
4) The Council does not control the land required to implement the necessary carriageway 
widening at the north west corner of the junction, as shown on the submitted plans.  The 
applicant has not provided any evidence to indicate that they are able to acquire this land.  
5) Given the proximity of the store access junction and the A36 Lower Bristol Rd/Windsor 
Bridge Rd junction, together with the likely queuing on Brook Rd, the operation of these 
junctions must be analysed as a complex junction.  The necessary assessment has not 
been provided.  
6) There will be a substantial generation of new trips and turning movements at the A36 
Lower Bristol Rd/Windsor Bridge Rd junction, which has inadequate capacity to 
accommodate these traffic movements  
7) Inadequate provision has been made for taxi pick up and drop off, within the 
development.  
8) The delivery area for the workshops creates additional junctions in close proximity to 
the proposed access junction.  This creates an unnecessary highway safety hazard for 
pedestrians and other road users.  
9) No swept path analysis has been provided for servicing access to the Royal Oak Public 
House.    Given the substantial increase in traffic flow in the vicinity of the access, as a 
result of the development, there will be increased conflict between vehicles serving the 
public house and other vehicles on the highway, to the detriment of highway. 
Further comments made 25th November 2011 The submitted information lacks clarity 
however based on the information the proposals remain unacceptable.  
Further comments made 21st December 2011 - 1) A36 Lower Bristol Rd/Windsor Bridge 
Rd junction 
1a) Junction Capacity the Council proposes to improve the capacity of the A36 Lower 
Bristol Rd/Windsor Bridge Rd junction as part of the Bath Transportation Package, which 
achieved programme entry status on 14/12/11.   The future base case (without 
development) is therefore no longer valid, since capacity improvements will be achieved 
without the proposed development.  

Page 316



1b) Traffic Signal Staging My concerns regarding item 1b above (21/11/11) remains.  
Whilst the proposed signal staging structure is used elsewhere in the UK, local 
circumstances, predicted traffic flows, turning movements and queues render it unsuitable 
at this location for the reason given previously.  There is a particular concern that the 
proposal will increase the level of eastbound queuing on the A36 Lower Bristol Road, east 
of the junction, which will cause right turning traffic from Brook Road to block the junction.    
1c) Cycle facilities on A36 Lower Bristol Road.   
It is accepted that the safety of cycles traveling westbound can be improved by additional 
cycle markings to be agreed by way of a planning condition.  
1d) Land at north-west corner of A36 Lower Bristol Rd/Windsor Bridge Rd junction. 
The existing geometry at this junction does not provide sufficient width on Lower Bristol 
Road to provide three entry lanes (3m minimum) for eastbound traffic together with a 2m 
footway.  In addition, it appears that the applicant has used Ordnance Survey (OS) data, 
rather than a topographical survey to indicate the proposed layout.  The OS data does not 
show the correct position of existing kerb lines, so I cannot be confident that an 
acceptable geometric design can be achieved within the highway boundary and on land 
owned by the applicant.  
1e) Junction Operation 
I am satisfied that, at peak times, the proposed development provides sufficient queuing 
capacity within the site boundary. 
2) Trip Generation  I am satisfied that the trip generation estimates provide a sound basis 
for assessing the effect of the development.  
3) Taxi Pick Up/Drop Off The applicant has provided a drawing to show a taxi pick up/drop 
off area within the basement car park area.  This will provide an acceptable facility for 
taxis.  
4) Workshop Delivery Area 
The applicant has estimated that 15 light goods vehicles per day would use the proposed 
workshop delivery area, with access restricted by controlled bollards.  The applicant has 
also confirmed that larger servicing vehicles would be able to use the foodstore service 
yard by prior arrangement.   I have reviewed my earlier objection to this layout but remain 
convinced that it would create an unacceptable highway safety hazard, for the reasons 
given previously (12/11/11).  
5) Servicing Royal Oak Public House The applicant has provided a swept path analysis for 
vehicles servicing the Royal Oak public house.  Given that servicing is currently 
undertaken by light goods vehicles, I am satisfied that the proposed layout does not create 
a highway safety hazard.  
6) Right Turn from Brook Road The applicant has confirmed that vehicles will be able to 
turn right from Brook Road into the proposed development and this can be accommodated 
within the proposed scheme. 
Further comments made 23rd December confirm no comments to make to the EA 
Addendum and Gas Holder remediation proposals.  The Highway position remains one of 
Objection.  
 
Further comments made 1st March 2012. 1) A36 Lower Bristol Road/Windsor Bridge 
Road/Brook Road Junction 
The applicant has produced numerous iterations for the highway design and signalling 
arrangements for this junction.  The Council has considered each of these and provided 
feedback to the applicant.   A key concern for the Council is to ensure that the junction can 
operate safely and efficiently.  This has been challenging for the applicant since the 
proposed development, together with the committed Bath Western Riverside scheme and 

Page 317



background traffic growth, is predicted to increase peak hour flows from 2010 levels by up 
to 41% in the PM peak hour by 2020.  By comparison, Bath Western Riverside and 
background traffic growth alone is predicted to increase traffic by up to 19% in the same 
peak hour.   The Council intends to accommodate the committed growth by improving the 
junction as part of the Bath Transportation Package.  This includes widening the A36 
Lower Bristol Road on the eastbound approach to provide 3 full lanes at the junction.  This 
will result in a reduction in queues and delays on the A36 National Primary Route, which is 
also a showcase bus route in the Bath Transportation Package.     
 
The highway layout for the proposed development is incompatible with the Council's 
proposed scheme since it give more highway space and priority to traffic turning in and out 
of Brook Road.  The anticipated reductions in queues and delays delivered by the 
Council's improvement scheme, including benefits to the showcase bus route, are 
therefore negated by the proposed development.  
  
The junction layout proposed by the applicant does provide additional capacity 
improvements.  However, this has been achieved by compromising highway safety, in 
terms of the signal staging and highway layout as set out below.  These safety concerns 
apply to the junction operation at all times of day and not just during the peak hours.  
  
Signal Staging 
 

a. With the level of movements from both side roads there would be an unacceptably 
high level of conflicting movements in the centre of the junction and merging in; 

b. Right turning traffic would not clear quickly from the side roads (queuing) as 
impeded by other movements and drivers could therefore risk more dangerous 
manoeuvres; 

c. Visibility of signal heads could be obscured; 
d. Visibility (seeing around) opposing waiting vehicles whilst wanting to turn would be 

difficult; and 
e. There is an added risk that if the junction became `exit blocked’ that waiting right 

turning vehicles could get trapped in the path of oncoming main road traffic 
once the following signal stage began. 

  
Highway Layout  
 

a. There are too many conflicts at the centre of the junction, with road marking 
essential for the side road right turn movements being constantly overrun by 
A36 main road traffic.  These include hatched areas and arrows which is 
unusual and could confuse drivers and cyclists moving ahead on A36 Lower 
Bristol Road.   

b. Geometrically, none of the entry lanes line up with the exit lanes.  This is 
particularly evident from Brook Road moving ahead, which angles towards the 
right turn lane.  Vehicles could drive out of lane if not paying attention or driving 
too quickly. 

c. Westbound cyclists on A36 Lower Bristol Road heading towards the opposing kerb 
face risk being squeezed by vehicular traffic.  It was previously considered that 
this may be resolved by way of a condition, but this may not be possible. 

d. Vehicles travelling eastbound on A36 Lower Bristol Road waiting to turn right into 
Brook Road are not protected from ahead A36 Lower Bristol Road westbound 

Page 318



traffic and Windsor Bridge right turning vehicles.   This is a particular concern for 
cyclists waiting in the advance cycle area.   An island in the carriageway would 
provide adequate protection, but there is insufficient carriageway space for this 
facility. 

 
Workshop Delivery Area 
We are pleased to see the removal of the workshop servicing area on Brook Road and 
relocation of this facility to the underground car park and Tesco service yard for larger 
vehicles. 
  
Footway Widths 
The revised plans show acceptable footway widths. 
  
Cycle & Motorcycle Parking 
The provision and location of cycle parking has been improved, but not fully resolved.  The 
provision of motorcycle parking is also unclear.  However, these issues could be dealt with 
by way of condition. 
  
Review of transport assessment by WSP consultants 
The applicant appointed WSP to undertake a review of the transport assessment and 
associated material prepared by SKM Colin Buchanan.   Two letters from WSP dated 
3/2/12 and 10/2/12 provide a review of the documents and methodology adopted.   These 
letters do not provide any new material information relevant to our comments on the 
application.  
 
In summary the application remains unacceptable on highway grounds however some 
accepted revisions have been made to the workshop servicing arrangements and these 
are reflected in reasons for refusal as now proposed. 
 
AIR QUALITY MONITORING OFFICER - comments made  15th December  refer to 
comments made in respect of application 11/02674/EFUL as still being applicable.  Those 
comments refer to errors within the report submitted and subsequently object over the 
effects of the development on air quality levels, particularly on Brook Road and South 
View Road where large increases in nitrogen dioxide concentrations are shown. 
 
ENVIRONMENT AGENCY - Comments made 14th September 2010  Objection to the 
scheme  -on the basis that the Flood Risk assessment submitted does not adequately 
address flood risk .   
 
Further comments made 23rd June 2011 Based upon the additional flood risk information 
from Jubb Consulting Limited (FRA report ref; P9281/G202/F) no objection subject to 
conditions.  
 
Further comments made 15th November 2011 and 21st December 2011 confirm no 
change to comments made in June 2011. 
 
WESSEX WATER - Comments made 2nd September 2010 - Advise that public apparatus 
may be affected by the development and diversion or protections works may be required 
and are to be agreed and implemented before building works are started. A contribution to 
the cost of uprating the sewerage system may be required (if flows are increased). The 

Page 319



developer will need to agree drainage matters further with Wessex Water and there have 
been discussions which are being considered. 
 
Further comments made 16th November 2011 confirm no change to comments made in 
September 2011. 
 
ECOLOGY - Comments made 15th March 2011 - Ecological surveys have been 
undertaken including full bat surveys. No significant habitats or issues were identified on 
the site, although the site was found to be used by foraging pipistrelle and noctule bats, 
and the existing buildings and vegetation offer some nesting and roosting habitats & 
opportunities. Equivalent and enhanced habitat replacement (roosting, nesting and 
foraging) should be incorporated into the new scheme. The lack of incorporation of green 
space, green roofs and other planting, and the lack of creation of opportunities for this 
within the scheme, is disappointing and could be improved for the benefit of both people 
and wildlife. In addition, all the recommendations of the Ecological reports need to be 
implemented. This can be secured by condition.  
 
Further comments 2nd November 2011 confirm no change to comments made in March 
2011. 
 
NATURAL ENGLAND - Comments made 12th October 2010 - Bat Survey Report (dated 
September 2010) contains recommendations for enhancing the conditions on-site for bats. 
A condition requiring the preparation of an Environmental Management Scheme should be 
subject to the planning authority's approval and this approval must be obtained prior to 
commencement of development. 
 
Further comments 16th December 2011 23rd Feb 2012 confirm no change to comments 
made in October 2010. 
 
URBAN DESIGNER - Comments made 9th December 2010 - the scheme is considered to 
be  unsatisfactory in design terms. It demonstrate poor integration with the surrounding 
neighbourhood; a poor response to level changes (which has the consequence of creating 
a physical and psychological separation between the external and internal public realm, 
and a barrier to pedestrian and cyclist movement through the site as well as working 
against providing a fully accessible environment); There is very limited permeability 
through the site; There is a dominance of blank frontages and lack of external facing 
entrances to all sides, including to Lower Bristol Road, which creates an unacceptable and 
negative response to the public realm; There is inadequate direct pedestrian access to the 
main use from the south and west; The proposed residential terrace lacks a positive 
relationship to the Plaza. 
 
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT - Comments made 9th December 2010- The retention of the 
façade is welcomed but it would be preferred if more of the building were retained.  The 
proposals fail to maximise the opportunity for a strong appealing public realm and fail to 
provide sufficient space for trees to grow to a large size to contribute significantly to the 
wider area.  
 
Further comments made March 29th 2011. Changes have been proposed which resolve 
some of the public realm concerns. 
 

Page 320



CONSERVATION OFFICER - Comments made 28th September 2010 - the Bath Press 
buildings are clearly of local historical and sentimental significance The exclusion of the 
site from the Conservation Area however means there is no straightforward means of 
resisting the demolition of the buildings. The preliminary proposals offer up a compromise 
in the form of retention of the façade of the main buildings and the stone boiler chimney. 
Facadism is rarely an appropriate means of conservation and the wall and chimney might 
appear visually incongruous being divorced from the host building. Ideally a better balance 
would be struck between preservation and the extent of new development. Considerable 
importance is attached to ensuring that the façade and chimney are retained and repaired 
and it is recommended that a formal agreement is needed to guarantee the desired 
outcome. The layout, massing and height of the new buildings appear reasonable but the 
architectural treatment is monolithic and dull. The road layout immediately surrounding the 
site is disjointed, and has the potential to appear as an unattractive, traffic dominated 
environment. 
 
ENGLISH HERITAGE - comments made 8th September 2010 30th November 2011 and 
27th Feb 2012 confirm it is not necessary to consult English Heritage on the application.   
 
COMMISSION FOR ARCHITECTURE ANDTHE BUILT ENVIRONMENT (CABE) - 
Comments made 21st March 2011 and 1st November 2011 due to resources CABE are 
unable to review the scheme.  
 
ARBORICULTURAL OFFICER - Comments made 31st August 2010 - The current 
proposal results in a net loss of trees and general green infrastructure which currently 
contribute towards the public domain in this prominent location.  The proposed indicative 
planting shown on the Proposed Site Plan does not appear to be planned or integrated. 
Space should be provided for large, long lived, land mark trees. 
 
CRIME PREVENTION OFFICER - Comments made 1st October 2010 An objection is 
raised. A range of issues are identified including the design of the underground parking 
and access ramp, parking for disabled, cyclists and the proposed housing and some 
design features of the terrace housing and street furniture as they consider they could be 
used for purposes other than those for which they were designed. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICER -  Comments made 19th November 2010 - The 
applicant has carried out noise monitoring and should use this data to predict the likely 
noise exposure category (NEC) in accordance with Planning Policy Guidance note 24 
(PPG 24) If the assessment shows that the site falls into NEC C or D then refusal of the 
application would be recommended. Conditions are suggested should the development be 
permitted. 
 
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER - Comments made 15th July 2011 No Objection but 
conditions are recommended to carry out a site investigation and risk assessment. 
 
BRITISH WATERWAYS - Comments made  13th September 2010 ,3rd November 2011 
and 22nd Feb 2012  No Objection subject to a condition to ensure that trolleys cannot be 
taken beyond the site where they may be discarded into the waterway.  
 

Page 321



ARCHEOLOGICAL OFFICER - Comments made 22nd October 2010 A desk based 
archaeological assessment of the site, has been submitted and approved and no 
objections are raised subject to conditions.   
Further comments made 27th April and 2nd November 2011 confirm no change to 
comments previously made. 
 
EDUCATION OFFICER - Comments made 3rd September 2010 - Sought a total 
contribution of £13,575.25 toward youth provision and school places.  
Further comments made November 2011 seek a contribution totalling £29,449.77 toward 
Early Years provision, school places and Youth provision  
 
ECONOMIC DEVLOPMENT OFFICER - no comments made. 
 
STRATEGIC HOUSING SERVICES - Comments made 11th January 2012 advise that 
they cannot support this application as it fails to address B&NES adopted Planning Policy 
HG.8 in terms of the lack of provision of affordable housing.  
 
WASTE SERVICES comments made 9th November 2011 request additional information 
for the waste storage.  
 
OTHER REPRESENTATIONS / THIRD PARTIES 
 
The following Objections have been received: 
 
Co- operative Group:  There is no quantative or qualatative need for the development and 
it is not sequentially an acceptable site. We have significant concern over the considerable 
impact that the proposed Tesco store will have upon the Co-operative store at Moorland 
Road. 
 
Sainsburys Supermarket:  The proposal fails the Sequential Test, would impact harmfully 
on Moorland Road, will divert expenditure from Central areas, and will jeopardize the 
regeneration of BWR and Green Park Station.  
 
Royal United Hospital:  The RUH appointed consultants to assess the impact on the 
hospital and it has been concluded that the traffic created would have an unacceptable 
impact on hospital traffic particularly emergency vehicles. 
 
Bath Heritage Watchdog:  There are a number of concerns raised with regard to the 
detailed design and the proposals for the retention and integration of the façade which do 
not go far enough. The proposals do not reflect the truly Important Local Building. The 
impact of traffic on historic buildings and structures is a concern.  
 
Bath Preservation Trust:  The Trust welcomes the intention to redevelop this important site 
for mixed uses but raise objection on various aspects relating to the design approach. It 
shares widespread concerns with regard to traffic impact.   
 
Vineyard Residents Association:  Object to this application due to the impact the 
development would have on traffic on the Lower Bristol Road (A36) (congestion and poor 
air quality raised as a concern), Windsor Bridge and the Upper Bristol Road on the other 
side of that bridge, on traffic in the city more generally, and so on residential amenity. 

Page 322



 
Federation of Bath Residents Associations (FoBRA) comments made raise serious 
concerns about the volume of traffic, its management at the crossroads with Windsor 
Bridge, and severe congestion along the Lower Bristol Road (A36), Windsor Bridge Road 
and the Upper Bristol Road on the other side of the bridge. 
 
SAVE object on the basis that the retention of the façade as proposed is a clumsy and 
unsatisfactory solution 
 
A 40 page petition with in the region of 900 signatures have been submitted with an 
objection to the proposal on the grounds of the development would bring about the demise 
of Moorland Road adversely affecting the community, there would be traffic chaos and 
pollution, and anti-social behaviour problems.  
 
131 Residents have objected on the following grounds (note some residents have written 
more than one letter in response to the various amendments to the plans): 
 
Tesco dominate the market 
Impact on highway 
Impact on hospital traffic impeding it/emergency vehicles 
Impact on Moorland Road shopping area  (business and social)  
The location of the entrance and delivery yard will create traffic noise and disturbance to 
the detriment of residents nearby.  
Road widening and roundabout 
Proximity to other supermarkets  
Seagull nuisance 
There are existing empty facilities new ones aren't needed. 
Noise and disturbance locally (during and after construction) 
Affect on house prices 
Wrong location 
Traffic impact 
Dull architecture 
Loss of existing industrial fabric 
Poor design approach 
Inadequate residential provision 
Poorly sized workshop units  
Adverse impact on health and safety 
Inadequate provision for pedestrians and cyclists 
Poor air quality /pollution 
Lack of demand 
Highway safety impact 
Overdevelopment 
Inadequate parking  
Impact on the structural integrity of bridges 
Impact on local school children 
Not sustainable as will encourage car use over sustainable transport 
Inadequate details on drawings 
Impact on residents due amenity, light, security and privacy 
Inadequate provision for public transport 
Inadequate detail of waste proposals 

Page 323



Recyling has not been sufficiently addressed 
Opening hours will create traffic later in the evening when the area would usually become 
quieter 
The community hall should be separated from the offices so it does not become part of 
that use 
Unattractive affecting tourism 
Concerns of combined effect with BWR development 
Retail store is too big 
The following support has been received. 
Lack of green planting 
Poor access 
Loss of jobs  
Consulation exercise carried out was flawed 
Loss of local distinctiveness 
Impact on the World Heritage Site caused by pollution 
Safety and security issues 
A further supermarket is not needed. 
 
Bath Chamber of Commerce Support the application on the basis that notwithstanding the 
impact of the traffic on balance the scheme would bring benefits to the area.  
 
Crest Nicholson Support the application and comment that the HSE restriction constitutes 
a real threat to both the ongoing delivery on the initial stages of development and to the 
regeneration of the wider area. It considers the Tesco scheme has potential to free up the 
site due to its potential to contribute funding toward the removal of the gas tanks.  
 
97 Residents have written to support the application on the following grounds 
 
Regeneration benefits 
Retention of the façade 
Mix of uses 
Need a supermarket 
Less travel to supermarkets out of Bath 
Job creation 
Re use of derelict site 
Choice and competition is required 
 
The following have made general comments: 
 
Oldfield Park School Chair of Governors comments that we are keen to see the Bath 
Press site developed, as the buildings and hoardings are deteriorating rapidly and are an 
eyesore both for us and for visitors to our school via Dorset Close. We would reiterate the 
need for consideration of the proximity of the school to the site and the effect this may 
have on our children's safety, noise levels and access to the school. 
 
South West Transport Network have commented to say that the site should have less 
cars, more houses and jobs. Suggestions are made for contributions including public 
transport subsidies. They subsequently confirm their support more generally for 
regeneration of Lower Bristol Road.  
 

Page 324



8 Residents have commented as follows  
 
The development would remove an eyesore but access noise and privacy issues must be 
addressed 
The site will attract seagull nuisance which is a consideration to address 
Question should the Tesco be built so near to a Tesco Express 
Concern is expressed about fume pollution 
Benefits and disbenefits are noted 
Construction and delivery noise are a concern 
The development and its traffic would adversely affect residents 
Query if the site is too near Sainsbury.  
 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY:    
 
11/02674/EFUL - Mixed-use redevelopment comprising 6,300sqm of retail (Class A1), 
4,580sqm of creative work space (Class B1), 2,830sqm of offices (Class B1), 10 
residential houses, car park, landscape and access (including realignment of Brook 
Road).  Appeal lodged against non-determination 
 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
POLICY CONTEXT:  
 
REGIONAL PLANNING GUIDANCE  
 
Policy EC6 Town Centres and Retailing  
 
JOINT RELACEMENT STRUCTURE PLAN 2002 - saved polices 
 
1 - Sustainable Development 
2 - Locational Strategy 
4 - Transport strategy 
6 - Bath 
30 - Employment sites 
33 - Level and distribution of housing 
38 - Town centres and shopping 
40 - New Retail  
41 - Local shopping 
54 - Car parking 
58 - Transport  
 
ADOPTED LOCAL PLAN 
Bath & North East Somerset Local Plan (including Minerals and Waste policies) 2007 
 
IMP.1 Planning obligations 
SC.1  Settlement classification 
NE1 Landscape Character 
NE.11 Species and Habitats 
NE13A Bath Hot Springs Protection Area 
NE.14 Flooding  

Page 325



HG..1  Meeting the District's housing need; 
HG.4 Housing Development 
HG7 Housing Density 
HG.8 Affordable housing 
D.2 General Design and public realm considerations 
D.4 Townscape considerations 
ES.1 Renewable energy Generation 
ES.2 Energy Use Reduction  
ES.4 Water Supply 
ES.5 Foul and surface water drainage 
ES.9 Pollution and Nuisance 
ES.10 Air Pollution 
ES.12 Amenity 
ES.13 Hazardous Substances  
ES.15 Contaminated land 
T.1 Travel and transport 
T.3 Pedestrians 
T.5 Cyclists 
T.6 Cycle Parking 
T.16 Transport infrastructure 
T.24 General Development control and access policy 
T.25 Transport assessments 
T.26 On-site parking and servicing provision 
ET.1 Employment Land Overview 
ET.2 Office Development B1a and B) 
ET.3 Non Office Business Development 
BH.1 World Heritage Site 
BH.5 Local List of Buildings 
BH.12 Archaeology 
BH.22 External lighting 
CF.2 Community facilities 
SR.3 Provision of recreational facilities to meet the needs of new development 
S.1 Retail Hierarchy 
S.4 Retail Development outside Shopping Centres 
 
Supplementary Planning Document Planning Obligations 
 
Bath and North East Somerset Submission Core Strategy (May 2011) is currently subject 
to Examination and the Hearings are due to take place in January 2012.Therefore it can 
only be given limited weight for development management purposes. The following 
policies should be considered 
 
CP2: Sustainable construction 
CP3: Renewable Energy 
CP5: Flood Risk Management 
CP6:  Environmental Quality 
CP7: Green Infrastructure 
CP10: Housing Mix 
CP12: Centres and Retailing 
CP13: Infrastructure provision 

Page 326



DW1: District-wide spatial Strategy 
B1: Bath Spatial strategy 
B3: Twerton and Newbridge Riverside Strategic Policy 
B4: The World Heritage Site and its setting 
 
NATIONAL POLICY 
 
PPS1 Delivering Sustainable Development  
PPS3 Housing 
PPS 4: Planning for Sustainable Economic Growth 
PPS.5 - Planning For the Historic Environment 
PPS9 Biodiversity and Geological Conservation  
PPG13 Transport  
PPS25 Development and Flood Risk 
 
DRAFT NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK (undergoing a consultation 
exercise and should only therefore be afforded limited weight) 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
Whilst the scheme has some accepted benefits there are very significant concerns raised 
from a Health and Safety, Highway and Retail impact perspective. It is considered that the 
harmful impacts identified clearly outweigh any benefits and refusal is recommended on 
these grounds. 
 
Recommendation 
Delegate to refuse following the expiry of the contributor representations (subject to no 
new substantive issues being raised). Those consultations were sent to three contributors 
i.e. Co-Operative Society, Sainsbury and the RUH and the consultations expire on the 
date of the committee. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
REFUSE 
 
REASON(S) FOR REFUSAL 
 
 1 The proposed development would give rise to a potential danger to human lives by 
virtue of its proximity to the nearby operational gasholder site contrary to planning policy  
ES9 and ES13 of the adopted Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan and contrary to 
the advice of the Health and Safety Executive. 
 
 2 The proposed development would give rise to unacceptable highway safety hazards by 
virtue of the unacceptable highway layout and proposed traffic signal phasing,contrary to 
Policies T24 and T26 of the adopted Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
 3 The proposed development would result in an increased use of the A36 Lower Bristol 
Road/Windsor Bridge Road/Brook Road junction, where insufficient capacity exists to 
accommodate the increased use adversely affecting the efficient functioning of the road 
network contrary to Policies T1, T3, T5, T16 and T24 of the adopted Bath and North East 
Somerset Local Plan and having regard to additional developments already committed in 
this part of Bath. 

Page 327



 
 4 The proposed development is not in accordance with the requirements of the sequential 
approach to development contrary to EC15 of PPS4, Bath and North East Somerset 
adopted Local Plan Policy S4, Joint Replacement Structure Plan Policy 40 and Regional 
Planning Guidance Policy EC6. This would generate unsustainable travel patterns and be 
harmful to the Councils retail strategy. 
 
 5 The proposed development would give rise to an unacceptable and  harmful impact on 
the vitality and viability of the Moorland Road District Shopping Centre contrary to Policies 
EC17.1 of PPS4,  S1 and S4, of the adopted Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan, 
Joint Replacement Structure Plan Policies 40 and 41 and Regional Planning Guidance 
Policy EC6. 
 
PLANS LIST:  Due to ongoing submissions of Plans the final Plans list is not included.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 328



Item No:   03 
Application No: 12/00207/FUL 
Site Location: The Galleries Shop, Freshford Lane, Freshford, Bath 

 
 

Ward: Bathavon South  Parish: Freshford  LB Grade: N/A 
Ward Members: Councillor Neil Butters  
Application Type: Full Application 
Proposal: Erection of extension to Freshford Shop to increase cafe area and 

decking 
Constraints: Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Area of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty, Greenbelt, Public Right of Way,  
Applicant:  Galleries Ltd 
Expiry Date:  12th March 2012 
Case Officer: Tessa Hampden 

 

Page 329



REPORT 
REASON FOR REFERING APPLICATION TO COMMITTEE: 
Freshford Parish Council has supported the planning application and the officer 
recommendation is to refuse this application. Cllr Butters has also requested that this 
application is heard at Committee. 
 
DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND APPLICATION: 
The application relates to the Galleries Shop which is a community shop built in 2009. The 
site is located off Freshford Lane, adjacent to the Village Hall but outside of the defined 
Freshford settlement boundary. The Site is located within the designated Green Belt and 
the Cotswold Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.  
 
The application seeks planning permission for the erection of an extension to increase the 
cafe and decking area. The cafe extension is 22sqm which is sized to accommodate 4 
café tables to provide seating for an additional 16 customers. The new deck is 44sqm and 
the overall space can be separated from the shop area with double doors when required. 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY: 
 
DC - 07/03529/OUT - Approve - 21 May 2008 - Erection of new timber building for use as 
a community shop 
 
DC - 08/02993/RES - Permit - 11 November 2008 - Erection of new timber building for use 
as a community shop (Reserved matters for outline application 07/03529/OUT) 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
HIGHWAY DEVELOPMENT - The relatively modest extension would give rise to an 
increase of 3 spaces in the parking requirement. However having observed the operations 
in busy periods, the various community uses were accommodated successfully with room 
to spare. There are therefore no highway objections to the development.  
 
Cllr Butters - requests that the application is heard at Committee if the application is to be 
refused 
 
FRESHFORD PARISH COUNCIL:  supports the planning application for the following 
reasons.  
 
A greater proportion of the building can be given over to A3 (café) use; 
Since the shop and café has opened the community benefit of both has been enormous; 
The primary reasons for supporting the original application for the shop were those 
relating to the very special circumstances associated with community benefit; 
The development will enable the community benefit to be considerably enhanced whilst 
the main use of the development will continue to remain as a shop 
 
REPRESENTATIONS:   
 
1 third party comment has been received. The comment can be summarised as follows: 

• Further build would mean additional use of Green Belt land 
• Visual outlook from neighbouring property would be impaired 
• Overlooking issues from new building and decking 

Page 330



• Consideration of new planting if consent is granted 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan (including minerals and waste policies) 2007 
 
D2 - Design and public realm 
D4 - Townscape 
SC1 - Settlement classification 
ET7 – Non-agricultural development on agricultural land 
S4 Retail development outside of the identified shopping centres 
S9 - Retention of local needs shops outside the identified centres and development of new 
small scale local shops 
GB1 - Control of development in the Green Belt 
GB2 - Visual amenities of the Green Belt 
NE1 - Landscape character 
NE2 - Areas of outstanding natural beauty 
NE5 - Forest of Avon 
NE16 - Protection of best and most versatile agricultural land 
BH6 - Development within or affecting Conservation Areas 
T1 - Overarching access policy 
T24 - General development control and access policy 
 
Bath and North East Somerset Submission Core Strategy (May 2011) is out at inspection 
stage and therefore will only be given limited weight for development management 
purposes. The following policies should be considered D2, D4,  T1, T24,  CP8, GB2, SC1, 
ET7, S4, S9, NE1, NE2, NE16, BH6 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT: 
 
GREEN BELT:  This site and all of the surrounding land is located within the Bath/Bristol 
Green Belt where strict controls over development exist. Development is only acceptable if 
it falls into specified categories of `appropriate development' or if very special 
circumstances exist to allow a departure from the usual policies of restraint. Appropriate 
forms of development include the construction of new buildings required for agriculture or 
forestry, essential facilities for outdoor sport, recreation, cemeteries, certain types of 
residential development, limited infilling or redevelopment of identified major existing 
developed sites and for other uses of land which preserve the openness of the Green Belt 
and which do not conflict with the purposes of including land in it.   In this case it is not 
considered that the development would fall into one of these classes of appropriate 
development. 
 
Planning Policy Guidance 2 advises that openness is the most important attribute of 
Green Belts. The extension of the village shop and the increased decking area in 
particular, which is built up from natural ground level and sited on previously undeveloped 
land would result in a loss of openness of the Green Belt.  Given the above, the 
development is therefore considered to be inappropriate development within the Green 
Belt. 
 

Page 331



Although the Design and Access Statement cites that the development will allow for 
additional seating to meet the growing demand for this social space, these are not 
considered to be very special circumstances to allow for a departure from the usual 
policies of constraint. No further very special circumstances have been put forward by the 
applicant/agent.   
 
EXTENSION TO RETAIL UNIT:  Policy S4 of the Local Plan deals with retail development 
outside of the shopping centres identified in Policy S1 of the Local Plan. The criteria of this 
policy is subject to Policy S9 of the Local Plan. Policy S9 deals with the development of 
new small scale shops outside of the identified centres but a requisite of this policy is that 
the development must be within the settlements as defined in policy SC1.  The settlement 
boundary of Freshford is located a considerable distance to the east of the application 
site. The site itself does not therefore form part of the identified settlement of Freshford. 
The extension of this retail unit, away from the settlement of Freshford would not therefore 
accord with Policy S4 or S9 of the Local Plan. 
 
There are also concerns with regards to the ancillary nature of the cafe element of the 
overall planning unit. The extension (including the terrace area) would offer space for the 
development to be able to function independently of the shop unit. It has been stated by 
the applicant that this area can be separated off from the main shop area if required. The 
creation of a separate cafe area is considered to be unacceptable in this location, outside 
of any defined development boundary.  
 
CHARACTER AND APPEARANCE:  The building is located in a prominent location, 
readily visible from Freshford Lane and the surrounding area. The extension, due to its 
appropriate design and scale will appear as a subservient addition to the host building. It 
will be built in materials to match the existing building which will ensure that the 
development integrate successfully with this existing development.  The extension to the 
decking area, due to the topography of the site is built up above natural ground level. This 
results in the decking area having a relatively bulky appearance and increases the 
prominence of the development particularly from Freshford Lane.  However, on balance, 
given the fact that the decking area will be viewed in context of the main building, it is not 
considered to result in harm to a level as to warrant a refusal.  
 
On balance therefore there is not considered to be any significant harm to the character of 
the building, the immediate area or the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty in which the 
site is set. 
 
HIGHWAY SAFETY:  The parking needs of the shop and adjacent village hall are met by 
the shared car park which has space to accommodate approximately 30 cars. During most 
normal store opening hours, adequate space is available to users. At the beginning and 
end of the school day additional use is made of the store and car park as parents take and 
collect their children to/from the village school. Use of the car park is encouraged by the 
school governors as a means of easing congestion in the centre of the village. The 
operation of the car park at those periods has been observed and it is recognised that the 
various uses were accommodated successfully with room to spare. There is therefore no 
highway objection to this development.  
 

Page 332



RESIDENTIAL AMENITY:  The site is set a sufficient distance away from any 
neighbouring properties to ensure that the development will not have an adverse impact 
upon the residential amenity of these occupiers.  
 
OTHER ISSUES/CONCLUSION 
 
The development would form inappropriate development in the Green Belt, and no very 
special circumstances have been demonstrated that outweigh the identified harm and 
warrant overturning established policy. Further, the extension of the shop which is situated 
outside of an identified settlement is contrary to Policy S4 and S9 of the Local Plan. The 
development is therefore considered to be unacceptable in principle. 
 
No other issues significant issues have arisen as a result of this planning application. but 
for the reasons stated above, this application is recommended for refusal. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
REFUSE 
 
REASON(S) FOR REFUSAL 
 
 1 The proposed extension to the shop and decking area represents inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt, and in the absence of any 'very special circumstances' 
applying to the proposal, it is contrary to Policy GB1 of the Bath and North East Somerset 
Local Plan (including minerals and waste policies) 2007. 
 
 2 The extension of a retail unit outside of any defined development boundary as identified 
under Policy SC1 of the Local Plan, is contrary to policy S4 and S9 of the Bath and North 
East Somerset Local Plan (including minerals and waste) adopted October 2007 
 
PLANS LIST:  426/S/01-05 and 426/P/01-04 date stamped 16th January 2012 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 333



Item No:   04 
Application No: 10/01175/FUL 
Site Location: Lady Farm Cottage, Lady Farm Cottage Road, Chelwood, Bristol 

 
 

Ward: Clutton  Parish: Chelwood  LB Grade: N/A 
Ward Members: Councillor Jeremy Sparks  
Application Type: Full Application 
Proposal: Erection of new dwelling to regularise part built works (retrospective) 
Constraints: Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Coal fields, Forest of Avon, Greenbelt,  
Applicant:  Mr M Pearce 
Expiry Date:  26th May 2010 
Case Officer: Victoria Griffin 

 
 
REPORT 

Page 334



REASON FOR REPORTING APPLICATION TO COMMITTEE: This application was 
delegated to officers to PERMIT at the meeting of the Committee on 16th February 2011 
following the resolution by the Committee that: 
 

- The fall-back position and the applicant's stated intention to implement the 
approved development if permission was refused coupled with the fact that 
the dwelling permitted did not differ materially from the dwelling which had 
been built, together represented very special circumstances which clearly 
outweighed the harm to the Green Belt and any other harm; 

 
- Taking into account the fall-back position, the proposal would not result in 

increased harm to the openness and rural character of the Green Belt, and 
would conserve the character of the area and not be visually detrimental; 

 
- Any harm to the neighbouring property by virtue of overlooking and loss of 

privacy could be overcome by design changes; 
 

- The delegation to permit was conditional upon satisfactory agricultural 
information being provided to officers. 

 
Design changes have been received from the applicant that overcome the issue of 
overlooking and loss of privacy.  Information has also been submitted by the applicant in 
support of the claim that the dwelling is required for an agricultural worker.  These details 
are now being presented back to the Committee for consideration.  Officers' have also 
reflected upon the information received and the Committee resolution following receipt of 
appropriate legal advice.  The officer report has been updated accordingly.   
 
DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND APPLICATION: 
The application site is located within the open countryside within the Bristol/Bath Green 
Belt.  The current application seeks to obtain retrospective permission for a dwelling on 
the site.   
 
There is an extant planning permission for a replacement dwelling granted at outline 
(07/03148/OUT) and reserved matters (08/02688/RES) on this site however the new 
dwelling is materially different from the approved scheme.   
 
The focus of the current application should fall on the assessment of the proposal against 
the relevant development plan and national policies, taking into account a potential fall-
back position and the planning history. 
 
In assessing the "fall-back" position at the last Committee Members accepted a very 
special circumstances case (presented on behalf of the applicant) and that there was a 
firm intention by the applicant to implement the extant permission if Members refused the 
proposal.  Members therefore resolved to grant permission subject to the satisfactory 
submission by the applicant of an agricultural appraisal and amendments to window 
designs to address overlooking to the rear.   
 
Following the last Committee meeting on 16 February 2012 the agent submitted revised 
window details and an agricultural assessment.  The agricultural assessment has been 
independently appraised on behalf of the Council.   

Page 335



 
POSITION OF THE DWELLING:  Following the submission of the application in March 
2010, revised drawings were received to address inaccuracies on the drawings.  This 
clarified that the drawings originally submitted with the proposal have shown incorrectly 
the position of the house in relation to the boundaries with neighbouring properties 
Chelwood Farm House and The Barn. 
 
The agent has clarified that the inaccuracy with the position of the house is due to an 
inaccurate survey of the site due to a misinterpretation of the boundary line.  This is in 
relation to a mature hedgerow, which has now been removed and is understood to have 
concealed the correct location of the boundary.  This is shown on drawing no's 4472W-19 
to 4472W-22 (received May 2010) and is outlined in a letter dated 19th May 2010 from db 
+ Paul Chartered Building Surveyors (agent).   
 
The implication of the re-positioning of the house has meant that the dwelling under 
consideration here is closer to the boundary with Chelwood Farm House than approved in 
2008.  It is now approx. 3m from the boundary on its far eastern side and approx. 4.4m on 
its south-eastern end.  Under the approved 2008 reserved matters permission 
(08/02688/RES) the dwelling was approx. 6m away from the boundary on the far eastern 
side and approx. 7.6m from the south-eastern end (measured off drawing no. 4472W-06A 
date stamped 21st July 2008).   
 
The dwelling is therefore between approx. 3m - 3.2m closer to the boundary on either end 
of the eastern elevation as it is situated at an angle to the boundary with Chelwood Farm 
House.  This is shown on the revised site plan drawing no. 4472W-25A.  The dwelling as 
built is approximately 12 metres from the closest property, The Barn situated to the south 
of the building.   
 
OTHER CHANGES FROM PERMISSION 08/02688/RES:  In addition to the repositioning 
of the dwelling, the dwellinghouse under consideration includes a number of other 
alterations.    
 
On the ground floor east elevation (rear) facing the boundary and the rear amenity areas 
of Chelwood Farm House a patio doorway has been replaced with a window opening. 
 
On the west elevation (front) the porch has been adapted to a pitched roof design and 
three windows have been introduced facing onto the front garden areas and access. 
 
On the south elevation (side) two further windows are proposed on the ground floor and 
the removal of a chimney stack. 
 
On the north elevation (side) a chimney stack has been introduced that serves a sitting 
room. 
 
On the east elevation (rear) the introduction of an external store on the ground floor. 
 
The adaptation of windows to doors on the west elevation (front) at ground and first floor. 
 

Page 336



In comparison with the previously approved drawing no.4472W-06A (08/02668/RES) and 
the revised drawing 4472W-16C showing elevation details, changes have also been made 
to the height and width of the dwelling.  This proposal (measured off plan) includes: 
 
-  an increase in the height of the building by approx. 0.2m (west - east elevation) 
 
- an increase in width of approx. 0.5m and an increase of height of approx. 0.4m 
(north - south elevation) 
 
CONSULTATIONS AND REPRESENTATIONS: 
 
A summary of the consultations and representations received are attached to this report 
(see appendix 1) and are available to view on the public file and on-line. The agricultural 
assessments received are also available on the public file and to view on-line.   
 
PLANNING ISSUES 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY:    
 
1868 - Erection of two bungalows to house agricultural workers at plot 2200, Lady Farm, 
Chelwood - Refused 08/09/75 
 
1868/B - Appeal against non-determination to erect a 3 bedroom, 2-storey house to 
accommodate an essential farm worker - Appeal allowed 02/05/77 
 
Condition no.3 states; the occupation of the dwelling shall be limited to a person solely or 
mainly employed, or last employed, in the locality in agriculture as defined in Section 
290(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1971, or in forestry (including any 
dependents of such a person residing with him), or a widow or widower of such a person.   
 
1868/D - Site adjacent to Lady Farm Cottage - Erection of one dwellinghouse for Farm 
Manager in full-time agricultural employment on part of Lady Farm - Refused 22/04/81 
 
1868/F - Single storey extension to provide garage, utility, WC and dining area for 
residential use in existing farm workers cottage - Permission 24/03/82 
 
1868/I - Removal of condition limiting occupation of the dwelling to a person solely or 
mainly employed or last employed in the locality in agriculture at The Cottage, Lady Farm, 
Chelwood, Bristol - Refused 14/04/87 
 
1868/K - Conservatory and storm cover to existing dwelling - Permission 02/12/88 
 
07/03148/OUT - Erection of new dwelling after demolition of existing dwelling  
Permission - 05/12/07 
 
This related to the granting of outline consent for the erection of a replacement dwelling 
following the demolition of the existing dwelling. The existing dwelling was an agriculturally 
tied dwelling.  This outline application reserved all matters for subsequent approval. 
 

Page 337



An informative was attached to this decision which stated that "the applicant is advised 
that upon the submission of the reserved matters the replacement dwelling should not be 
materially larger than that which it replaces". 
 
08/02688/RES - Erection of new dwelling after demolition of existing dwelling. (pursuant to 
outline 07/03148/OUT) - Permission 23/09/08 
 
This application determined all matters for approval including siting, design, external 
appearance, means of access and landscaping. The replacement dwelling at reserved 
matters stage was 240% larger than the dwelling it sought to replace.   
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Please see Appendix 1 attached. 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
POLICY CONTEXT:  
  
BATH & NORTH EAST SOMERSET LOCAL PLAN: At the meeting of the Council on 18th 
October 2007, the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan, including minerals and 
waste policies was adopted. The following policies are material considerations: 
 
D.2 - Considers design issues and residential amenity (summarised) - the context of this 
policy relates to the impact of development on the public realm in terms of how they 
connect with existing development and how the layout of the built form, influenced by 
design, can impact upon the public realm.  Part f) states that development will only be 
permitted if the proposed development will not cause significant harm to the amenities of 
existing or proposed occupiers of, or visitors to, residential or other sensitive premises by 
reason of loss of light, or increased overlooking, noise, smell, traffic or other disturbance.   
 
D.4 - Considers townscape considerations (summarised) - which relate more to the visual 
aspects of development rather than the more functional public realm issues.  This seeks to 
consider the wider context and immediate setting; pattern of streets, buildings and spaces 
in terms of form and structure considering scale, height and massing.   
 
GB.1 - Control of development in the Green Belt (summarised) - permission will not be 
given except in very special circumstances, for development other than: 
 
The construction of new buildings for the following (summarised):  
 

• agriculture or forestry 
• essential facilities for outdoor sport and recreation for cemeteries and for other 

uses of lands which preserve the openness of the Green Belt and do not conflict 
with the purposes of including land within it 

• limited extensions, alterations or replacement of an existing dwelling provided it is 
in accordance with policies HG.14 and HG.15 

• infilling in accordance with HG.6 
• affordable housing to meet local needs in accordance with policy HG.9 
• limited infilling or redevelopment of the major existing developed sites identified in 

GB.3 
• The re-use of existing buildings in accordance with policy ET.9 

Page 338



• Other development and material changes of use of land which maintain the 
openness of the Green Belt and do not conflict with the purposes of including land 
in it 

• Park and Ride development 
 
GB.2 - Visual amenities of the Green Belt (summarised) permission will not be granted for 
development within or visible from the Green Belt which would be visually detrimental to 
the Green Belt by reason of its siting, design or materials used for its construction 
 
HG.10 - Housing outside settlements (agricultural and other essential dwellings) - a new 
dwelling essential to support existing well established agricultural or forestry enterprises 
will only be permitted where: 
 
i) there is a clearly established existing functional need and financial justification for a 
worker to live on the holding 
ii) the need is for accommodation for a full time worker 
iii) the functional need could not be fulfilled by another existing dwelling in the holding, 
or other accommodation in the area which is suitable and available for occupation, or 
through re-use of an existing building on the holding subject to the requirements of ET.9 
iv) it is sited (a) within a hamlet or existing group of dwellings or buildings or (b) 
elsewhere in the countryside only when (a) is not feasible 
v) it is restricted in size commensurate with the functional requirements of the 
agricultural or forestry enterprise and 
vi) occupancy is restricted to agricultural or forestry workers 
 
HG.14 - Replacement dwellings - Outside the scope of Policies HG.4 and 6 permission 
will only be given for: 
 

i) the rebuilding or replacement of existing dwellings, where the replacement or 
reconstructed dwelling and ancillary buildings would not be materially larger 
than, and would not have a materially greater impact on the countryside or 
openness of the Green Belt, than that to be replaced; and 

 
ii) the creation or extension of any residential curtilage would not detract from rural 

character nor conflict with the purposes of the Green Belt 
 
Planning Policy Statement 2 - Green Belts - Advice is reflected in policies GB.1, GB.2 and 
HG.14.  Paragraph 3.2 of PPG:2 states that inappropriate development is, by definition, 
harmful to the Green Belt.  It is for the applicant to show why permission should be 
granted.  Very special circumstances to justify inappropriate development will not exist 
unless the harm by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly 
outweighed by other considerations.   
 
Planning Policy Statement 7 - Rural Areas - Advice set out in Annex A for permanent 
agricultural workers dwellings is reflected in policy HG.10 
 
It is necessary for the application to meet the requirements of Green Belt policy as well as 
the policy tests of PPS:7.   
 

Page 339



Bath and North East Somerset Submission Core Strategy (May 2011) is at inspection 
stage and therefore will only be given limited weight for development management 
purposes.  
 
The following policies of the draft Core Strategy should however be noted: 
 
CP6 - Environmental quality 
CP8 - Green Belt 
DW1- District-wide spatial Strategy 
 
Due consideration is given to the Draft National Planning Policy Framework, July 2011, 
however at present this carries little weight and in this respect it proposes little change to 
the aspects of local and national policy that are relevant to this decision at this time. 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
Following the last Committee officers have reflected on the information received and have 
sought appropriate legal advice on the application.  The officer report and subsequent 
recommendation has been updated to reflect this advice. 
 
THE PLANNING STATUS OF THE DWELLING ON THE SITE:  Following the grant of the 
2008 permission the dwelling constructed does not fall within the terms of the planning 
permission and is materially different (as set out above).   
 
In March 2010 the applicant made a full application for retrospective planning permission 
for the dwellinghouse as erected and now the subject of this application.  Therefore, the 
building constructed on the Application site does not have the benefit of planning 
permission. 
 
THE PLANNING STATUS OF THE PREVIOUS PLANNING PERMISSIONS:  Reference 
has been made to the status of the previous planning decisions which have been 
considered as part of this assessment.  Officers are of the opinion that the outline 
permission is still extant (expiry 5th December 2012) and that contrary to the views of the 
objector, it is capable of implementation subject to compliance with the pre-
commencement conditions.   
 
Planning permission was first granted on appeal for a dwelling to be erected on the 
Application site on 18th April 1978, subject to a number of conditions including an 
agricultural occupancy condition.   
 
Outline planning permission was granted on 5th December 2007 for the "erection of new 
dwelling after demolition of existing dwelling", subject to conditions.  Condition 1 required 
that a reserved matters application be made within three years of the date of the 
permission. Condition 3 tied the occupation of the dwelling to an agricultural worker. 
Condition 2 provided as follows: 
 
"The development hereby approved shall be begun either before the expiration of five 
years from the date of this permission, or before the expiration of two years from the date 
of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the latest." 
 

Page 340



The footnotes on the planning permission identified the drawings to which the decision 
related as 4472W-03 and 4472W-01. There was in addition an advice note on the 
planning permission advising the applicant that "upon submission of the reserved matters 
the replacement dwelling should not be materially larger than that which it replaced".  
 
A reserved matters application was registered on 21st July 2008 including drawings 
4472W-03 rev B and 4472W-06A. This was granted on 23rd September 2008 subject to 
one condition, which required approval of materials and finishes. 
 
The reason for granting approval within the decision notice stated: 
"The proposed development is not considered to be harmful to residential amenity and 
whilst it will be materially larger than the dwelling it replaces, the agricultural need for this 
dwelling represents very special circumstances and outweighs the harm caused to the 
Green Belt." 
 
The approval of reserved matters was not challenged by way of judicial review. Applying 
the implementation condition on the outline planning permission of 5th December 2007, 
the planning permission must be implemented before 5th December 2012. It therefore 
remains capable of implementation, subject to compliance with the pre-commencement 
conditions.   
 
THE FALL-BACK POSITION:  The fact that the 2008 permission remains capable of 
implementation gives rise to a legal entitlement to construct that dwelling, subject to 
compliance with all the conditions. This entitlement gives rise to a potential fall-back 
position. It is well recognised that a fall-back position is capable of being a material 
consideration.  In considering whether to give weight to this as a material consideration 
the Committee must decide whether there is a real prospect, as opposed to a theoretical 
one, that the fall-back permission will be implemented. If so, then the fall-back may be 
taken into account as a material consideration. The weight to be given to this matter is for 
members to decide taking into account the prospect of it occurring and the relative 
impacts of the fall-back position and the dwelling for which this application seeks planning 
permission. 
 
At the Committee of 16th February 2011 the Applicant presented a statement of intention 
to implement the 2008 permission if retrospective permission was refused.   
 
Members accepted that the fall-back position and the applicant's stated intention to 
implement the approved development if permission was refused, coupled with the fact that 
the dwelling permitted did not differ materially from the dwelling which had been built, 
together represented very special circumstances which clearly outweighed the harm to the 
Green Belt and any other harm identified.  In the assessment of this proposal Members 
should be clear as to the weight placed on this material consideration in the judgment of 
the proposal applying Green belt and Countryside policy below. 
 
THE POLICY POSITION: 
 
GREEN BELT POLICY:  The proposal seeks the regularisation of a dwelling that has now 
been completed.  The relevant tests for new dwellings in the Green Belt include Planning 
Policy Guidance:2 Green Belts and Local Plan policy HG.14. 
 

Page 341



Paragraph 3.2 of PPG. 2 states that inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to 
the Green Belt. It is for the applicant to show why permission should be granted. Very 
special circumstances to justify inappropriate development will not exist unless the harm 
by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other 
considerations.  It goes on to state in paragraph 3.4 that the construction of new buildings 
inside a Green Belt is inappropriate other than in certain circumstances, including the 
replacement of existing dwellings. 
 
Paragraph 3.6 (PPG:2) refers to the replacement of existing dwellings and states that they 
need not be inappropriate, providing the new dwelling is not materially larger than the 
dwelling it replaces. Development plans should make clear the approach local planning 
authorities will take, including the circumstances (if any) under which replacement 
dwellings are acceptable.  This is in line with Local Plan policy HG.14.   
 
Applying both PPG2 and HG 14 it is clear that a replacement dwelling in the Green Belt 
need not be inappropriate in Green Belt policy terms but a replacement dwelling that is 
"materially" larger would be inappropriate development.  The wording of the policy HG14 
equally applies to replacement dwellings in the countryside.  Therefore a replacement 
dwelling is only appropriate in the Green Belt if the new dwelling is not materially larger 
than the dwelling it replaces.   
 
PPG2 requires there to be an existing dwelling on the land in order for a new dwelling to 
be a "replacement".  The re-building of a building destroyed at the time of the application 
will not therefore be the "replacement of existing dwellings" within the meaning of 
paragraph 3.4 of PPG2.  However, the previous existence of a dwelling on the land is a 
material consideration and may be capable of amounting to very special circumstances 
within the discretion of the Local Planning Authority.   
 
In the present case officers consider that the application proposal does amount to 
inappropriate development for two reasons. Firstly, because there is no lawful existing 
dwelling on the site which the application proposal can be considered to be a replacement 
of. Secondly, and in any event, the proposed dwelling is materially larger than any 
dwelling which has previously existed on the site.  The existing dwelling on the site 
represents a c.240% increase in volume than the building it replaced.   Therefore, the 
proposal should be considered as inappropriate. The guidance at paragraph 3.2 of PPG2 
therefore applies (set out above).   
 
In the present case, officers consider it relevant for members to consider the planning 
history of the site and the potential fall-back position and consider whether there are very 
special circumstances that clearly outweigh the harm caused by inappropriateness and 
any other harm applying PPG2 paragraph 3.2 above. 
 
In relation to the planning history it is relevant that the previous planning permission 
permits the construction of a similar development on the site.  Planning permission was 
granted for this because Members of the Committee considered that as the house would 
only be used by an agricultural worker, this amounted to very special circumstances. 
Planning permission was accordingly granted subject to an agricultural occupancy 
condition. 
 

Page 342



The Committee is not bound to follow previous decisions. However, it should take them 
into account as material considerations where they raise substantially similar issues. If, 
having taken a like case into account the Committee wishes to reach a different 
conclusion, it should give reasons for doing so.  
 
In considering the fall back position, if members consider there is a real prospect of it 
occurring, they should consider the relative merits of the fall back and the application 
development in considering the weight to be given to the fall-back in support of the 
application. 
 
In addition to harm by way of inappropriateness Members will need to weigh any other 
harm in the balance as set out below.   
 
VERY SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES / OTHER MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS:  At the 
Committee of 16th February 2011 Members considered that significant weight should be 
given to the fall-back position of the extant planning permission particularly as the 
applicant had made a statement to the effect that he would implement this permission.  
Members considered that this coupled with the fact that the dwelling permitted did not 
differ materially from the dwelling which had been built, together represented very special 
circumstances which is considered to clearly outweigh the harm to the Green Belt and any 
other harm.   
 
Members are asked to reconsider this issue taking into account all of the matters raised in 
this report.  Having reconsidered the case in light of the applicant's stated intentions it is 
your officers’ view that there exists a real prospect that the 2008 permission would be 
implemented.  Furthermore the changes that have arisen as a result of the current 
application have not resulted in increased harm to the openness and rural character of the 
Green Belt when compared to the 2008 permission, and would conserve the character of 
the area and not be visually detrimental.   
 
Any harm to the neighbouring property by virtue of overlooking and loss of privacy is 
considered to have been overcome by design changes to the first floor rear windows as 
shown on drawing no. 4472W-16C this is discussed below.   
 
Furthermore, a significant material consideration is that the proposal specifically relates to 
a site where a previous dwelling existed, that was originally tied by an agricultural 
occupancy condition. It is also considered material that planning permission was granted 
for a similarly sized dwelling in 2008. 
 
COUNTRYSIDE POLICY:  Local Plan policy HG.14 allows for the replacement of 
dwellings in the countryside, including the Green Belt provided they are not materially 
larger than the dwelling they are to replace.  In relation to this policy the Committee gave 
permission for a materially larger dwelling under the 2008 permission (08/02688/RES).  
Whilst your officers were of the view that the proposal failed to comply with policy HG.14 
because of the size of the proposed development, Members granted permission for a 
materially larger dwelling when considering the proposal against the policy tests of HG.14.  
As a result there is an extant planning permission for a replacement dwelling as set out 
above.   
 

Page 343



At the Committee in February 2011 Members resolved to grant permission for the dwelling 
which is the subject of the current proposal subject to an agricultural tie which is also 
relevant to the policy tests of policy HG.10.  The advice within this policy reflects the 
advice set out in Planning Policy Statement: 7, Annex A.  Policy HG.10 of the Local Plan 
is directed at new dwellings in the countryside and raises a presumption against such 
development.  By contrast, the Local Plan is permissive of replacement dwellings (HG.14) 
as an exception to policy HG.10. 
 
It was resolved to authorise the Development Manager to grant permission subject to the 
submission of a satisfactory agricultural assessment that addresses policy HG.10.  
Following independent appraisal it is not considered that the statements submitted by the 
applicant demonstrate that the functional and financial tests of the policy have been met.  
The Council's independent assessor concluded that in its current form the operations 
associated with breeding heifers (referred to in the applicant's statement) is done away 
from the farming unit.  The policy tests of PPS:7, Annex A specifically directs to an 
"existing" functional need and not a proposed need.  In relation to the proposed operations 
the evidence submitted also failed to provide current or historic viability data to satisfy the 
financial tests (the independent report is attached to this report).   
 
Therefore, officers consider that the applicant has not demonstrated compliance with the 
functional and financial tests applicable under PPS7 and HG10 that would be necessary 
to justify a new dwelling in the countryside. 
 
It is therefore necessary for Members to reconsider the proposal against the relevant 
planning policy framework. Green Belt policy has been referred to above. There is also an 
overlap with countryside policy given the provisions of HG.14.  As noted above, a 
replacement dwelling in the countryside may be acceptable where the replacement is of 
an existing dwelling and is not materially larger. Officers do not consider that the proposal 
complies with Policy HG.14, for the reasons set out above under Green Belt policy. 
 
In this respect the additional harm caused by non-compliance with these policies must be 
weighed applying section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, and 
must be considered alongside the need to justify the development as inappropriate 
development in Green Belt terms.  Section 38(6) states that if regard is to be had to the 
development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the planning 
Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Members must therefore consider whether the considerations in favour of the 
development i.e. the fall-back position, the stated intentions of the applicant and the extant 
planning permission (set out above) are sufficient to outweigh the harm to justify the grant 
of planning permission. 
 
In considering the planning history, the fall-back position, and the previous existence of a 
dwelling on the site, officers consider it relevant to also consider that previous permissions 
have been granted subject to an agricultural occupancy tie. Therefore, if the fall-back 
permission were to be implemented, the condition would be in force. In order for the fall-
back to be considered with the current proposal on a like for like basis an agricultural tie 
would be required to ensure that their impacts are substantially the same.   
 

Page 344



ASSESSMENT AGAINST COUNTRYSIDE POLICY:  As set out above, the proposals do 
not comply with policy HG.14 and do not meet the relevant tests of PPS:7 Annex A or 
policy HG.10.  It follows that to be permitted the proposed development will have to be 
justified as a breach of the development plan.   
 
The additional harm caused by non-compliance with these policies must be weighed 
applying section 38(6), and must be considered alongside the need to justify the 
development as inappropriate development in Green Belt terms.   
 
The dwelling permitted under 08/02688/RES is considered to be similar in terms of impact 
in Green Belt terms to that which has been constructed on site.  As a result, it is not 
considered that the development represents increased harm to the openness and rural 
character of the Green Belt. 
 
The amended window details (set out below) have sufficiently addressed the concerns 
raised in respect of overlooking to Chelwood Farm House. 
 
The original dwelling that existed on the site had an agricultural tie which was included in 
the 2007 outline consent that remains an extant permission which could reasonably be 
implemented.  Furthermore, the applicant has presented a statement of intention to 
implement the extant permission if retrospective permission is not obtained for this 
development.  The weight given to this is considered to be a realistic one which would 
have a similar impact as the unauthorised house if constructed.   
 
The fact the extant permission relates to the replacement of an agricultural workers 
dwelling and not a new dwelling, which is reflected above, would deem it essential for an 
agricultural tie to remain on the dwelling.   
 
As this proposal is virtually the same as the extant permission as outlined above your 
officers' recommend that for consistency permission is granted for this proposal.   
 
To that end, it is considered that this proposal does not represent a significant change 
from the 2008 permission to justify a refusal of the proposal.  All of these elements taken 
together are considered to be significant material considerations weighted in support of 
the proposal and against the harm caused by non-compliance with policies HG10 and 
HG14.   
 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY:  At the meeting of the Committee on 16th February 2011 it was 
reported that the current development must be considered on its own merits, officers 
therefore reassessed the impact of the new dwellinghouse on adjacent occupiers.   
 
Previously greater weight had been given to the fall-back position therefore it looked at the 
current relationship of windows with the extant planning permission.  When considered 
afresh and at the Members’ request a revised window detail has been submitted.  This 
includes an oriel window design that allows the outlook from first floor rear windows to be 
at an oblique angle, preventing overlooking towards Chelwood Farm House.   
 
Local Plan policy D.2, part f) states that development will only be permitted if the proposed 
development will not cause significant harm to the amenities of existing or proposed 

Page 345



occupiers of, or visitors to, residential or other sensitive premises by reason of loss of 
light, or increased overlooking, noise, smell, traffic or other disturbance.   
 
The main dwelling of Chelwood Farm House is situated approx. 15m to the south-east of 
Lady Farm Cottage (the unauthorised dwelling) and has a rear patio area and grassed 
areas with mature planting to the north and eastern boundaries.  The side elevation of 
Lady Farm Cottage would be viewed from the rear windows of Chelwood Farm House and 
during the use of the rear amenity areas.  
 
The nearest property is known as The Barn which is orientated with its side gable facing 
directly on to the site.  The Barn is approx. 12m to the south of Lady Farm Cottage.  The 
re-positioning of the dwelling between 3m - 3.2m closer to the boundary and the 
relationship with neighbouring properties is a material consideration and has been 
considered in respect of the potential to cause increased harm to residential amenity.  The 
original dwelling that stood on the site had a single first floor window facing towards the 
rear garden and was further away from the boundary with Chelwood Farm House.   The 
site has also been excavated which has positioned the house lower into the site to lessen 
the impact of the dwelling and a retaining wall with screening has been constructed.  In 
addition planting has been installed along the boundary with Chelwood Farm House.   
 
The revisions that have been sought incorporate a box window design which in effect 
blocks the view to Chelwood Farm House and provides an oblique view out of the window 
to the rear of Lady Farm Cottage.  Your officers are of the opinion that the window 
redesign has satisfactorily addressed any loss of amenity to the residents of Chelwood 
Farm House.  This would not cause significant harm by way of overlooking and would not 
warrant a reason for refusal. 
 
IMPACT ON A LISTED BUILDING:  A representation has been received that refers to the 
siting of the replacement dwelling adjacent to a Listed Building, Chelwood Farmhouse.  
Planning records have been checked and no record of the building's listing can be located.  
In this regard the proposal is not considered to impact upon the setting of a Listed 
Building.   
 
REFERRAL TO THE SECRETARY OF STATE:  For clarification the application has been 
advertised as a departure from the Development Plan.  In respect of this application it is 
not considered to fall into the criteria for referral to the Secretary of State as set out in 
Town and Country Planning (Consultation) England) Directions 2009.   
 
OTHER MATTERS:  A number of conditions that formed part of the previous permission 
(planning ref. 07/03148/OUT and 08/02688/RES) have not been discharged.   The current 
application seeks to cover the outstanding conditions from the previous outline permission 
in relation to the submission of details of materials and landscaping as detailed in the 
Design & Access Statement submitted with the current application.   
 
Roof coverings include clay double roman tiles and main elevation walls (N, S and W 
elevations) finished in local natural stonework.  Eastern elevation is rendered.  All joinery 
work is being constructed in oak.  
 
Details of landscaping have also been submitted in respect of condition no.5 of 
07/03148/OUT.   

Page 346



 
It is considered that the proposed materials and landscaping are acceptable.   
 
A soil investigation report has been submitted in respect of concerns raised in the outline 
application by Environmental Protection concerning an unbunded oil storage tank and the 
possibility of leakages or spillages.  A subsequent condition (no.8) was attached to the 
reserved matters decision for the submission of a report.  A consultation response has 
been received in this regard and is confirmed as acceptable.   
 
CONCLUSION: 
 
Officers consider that the application proposal should be considered as inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt. Further, an agricultural justification has not been 
demonstrated to comply with policy HG10 and so justify the dwelling as a new agricultural 
dwelling. Accordingly, there is a presumption against the development unless the harm 
caused by reason of inappropriateness and any other harm is clearly outweighed by other 
considerations. The harm by way of inappropriateness should be given substantial weight.  
 
Officers are of the view that the planning history of the site and the fall-back position 
through the 2008 permission are significant material considerations in relation to the 
consideration of this application.  The Committee concluded that there was a real prospect 
of the 2008 permission being implemented and placed significant weight on it as a fall-
back position. Officers agree that this is a material consideration.    Furthermore, the 
dwelling as built is not materially different to that which has already been approved on the 
site in terms of its size and impact upon the openness and rural character of the Green 
Belt. Officers accord weight to the previous decision as a similar decision applying the 
principle of consistency. The planning history is also relevant in that prior to its demolition 
in order to build the application proposal there was previously an agricultural workers' 
cottage on the site. Balancing all of these factors, it is officers' view that the 
considerations, taken together,  represent very special circumstances and significant 
material considerations to outweigh the harm to the Green Belt and to justify the granting 
of a replacement dwelling in the countryside.  However, it is necessary that an agricultural 
occupancy condition is imposed in order to control the development in like terms to the 
fall-back position and the previously existing dwelling.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
PERMIT with condition(s) 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 1 The occupation of the dwelling shall be limited to a person solely or mainly working, or 
last working, in the locality in agriculture or in forestry, or a widow or widower of such a 
person, and to any resident dependants.   
 
Reason: To accord with the policies in the Development Plan and to ensure an adequate 
availability of dwellings to meet agricultural or forestry needs in the locality. 
 
 2 The development shall be implemented in accordance with the details submitted for 
external materials, including roofs. The development shall thereafter be retained in 
accordance with the approved details.   

Page 347



 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area. 
 
 3 The existing hard and soft landscaping shall be retained in accordance with the 
approved details as shown on plan no. 4472W-23A.  Any retained tree or hedge which 
within five years of the date of this permission, dies, is removed or becomes seriously 
damaged or diseased shall be replaced by a similar species.   
 
Reason: To safeguard the appearance of the development and the surrounding area. 
 
 4 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town & Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 1995, as amended, or any order revoking or re-enacting that Order 
with or without modification, no development falling within Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A-E 
of the order shall be carried out at the dwelling hereby permitted.   
 
Reason: The implementation of permitted development rights may harm the openness of 
the green belt and the appearance of the area and residential amenity. 
 
 5 Within three months of the date of this permission a completion report which confirms 
that all the necessary remediation works have been carried out as specified in the 
approved remediation strategy shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.   
 
Reason: To safeguard public and environmental health. 
 
 6 Within three months of the date of this permission, the revised window design shall be 
installed in accordance with drawing no. 4472W-30.  The windows shall be retained 
thereafter.   
 
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjoining occupiers from overlooking and loss of 
privacy. 
 
 7 The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST:  The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details 
shown on the following drawings/documents: 
 
4472-16C, 4472W-23A to 24A, Further information date received 13/01/11 and Alternative 
Window Design 4472W-30  
 
REASONS FOR GRANTING APPROVAL 
 
1. The decision to grant approval has taken account of the Development Plan, the 
emerging Core Strategy, national planning policies and approved Supplementary Planning 
Guidance.  This is in accordance with the policies set out below at A. 
2. The proposed development is contrary to the policies set out below at B and to that 
extent represents a departure from the Development Plan.  However, the relevant publicity 

Page 348



and referrals have taken place, and the planning merits of the proposed development 
outweigh the conflict with these policies. 
3. All other material considerations, including the views of third parties, have been 
considered and they do not outweigh the reasons for approving the proposed 
development. 
4. In this case very special circumstances exist which clearly outweigh the harm 
identified.  These include the existence of an extant permission on the site for a similar 
development which would have the same impact on the openness and rural character of 
the Green Belt, together with the applicant’s stated intention to implement the extant 
permission were this application to be refused. It is considered that this fall back position 
represents very special circumstances which clearly outweighs the harm to the Green Belt 
and any other harm. To that extent the proposal complies with policies GB.1 and GB.2 of 
the Local Plan and PPG.2 .Those same factors are also considered to be material 
considerations which outweigh the conflict with policies HG.10 and HG.14.  The original 
dwelling that existed on the site was subject to an agricultural occupancy condition and it 
is considered appropriate, in the interests of consistency, to impose a similar condition in 
this permission.  
5. By reason of the amended first floor window design and screening, the rear 
windows will not cause significant harm to the residential amenity of adjoining residents, in 
accordance with policies D2 and D4 of the Local Plan 6. The materials are considered 
acceptable and will not adversely impact on the street scene or wider public realm, in 
accordance with policies D.2 and D.4 of the Local Plan  
 
A. 
 
The development complies with the following policies: 
Bath & North East Somerset Local Plan Including Minerals and Waste Policies Adopted 
October 2007: 
 
D.2 - General Design and Public Realm Consideration 
D.4 - Townscape Consideration 
GB.1 - Control of Development in the Green Belt 
GB.2 - Visual Amenities of the Green Belt 
 
The Bath and North East Somerset Submission Core Strategy (May 2011) is out at 
inspection stage and therefore may only be given limited weight for development 
management purposes. However the proposal is also considered to comply with the 
following policies: 
 
CP6 - Environmental quality 
CP8 - Green Belt 
DW1- District-wide spatial Strategy 
 
National Policy: 
 
PPG.2 - Green Belts 
 
B. 
 
The development conflicts with the following policies: 

Page 349



 
Bath & North East Somerset Local Plan Including Minerals and Waste Policies Adopted 
October 2007 
 
HG.10 - Housing outside settlements (agricultural and other essential dwellings) 
HG.14 - Replacement dwellings  
 
PPS:7 - Rural Areas 
 
Due consideration has been given to the Draft National Planning Policy Framework, July 
2011, however at present this carries little weight and in this respect it proposes little 
change to the aspects of local and national policy that are relevant to this decision at this 
time. 
 
 2 The proposed development lies within a coal mining area which may contain 
unrecorded mining related hazards.  If any coal mining feature is encountered during 
development, this should be reported to the Coal Authority. 
 
Any intrusive activities which disturb or enter any coal seams, coal mine workings or coal 
mine entries (shafts and adits) requires the prior written permission of the Coal Authority. 
 
Property specific summary information on coal mining can be obtained from The Coal 
Authority's Property Search Service on 0845 762 6848 or at www.groundstability.com 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 350



Appendix 1. 
 
Summary of Consultations and Representations  
 
 
CONSULTATIONS AND REPRESENTATIONS: 
 
Internal consultees: 
 
Building Control: No comment received 
 
Highways (dated 09/04/10): A dwelling has previously been accepted, in highway terms, 
on the basis of it replacing a former dwelling on the site.   
 
Whilst the current submission alters the design of the building, it does not have any 
adverse highway implications, and therefore recommend that no highway objection is 
raised. 
 
Environmental Protection (dated 12/07/10): Details submitted are acceptable, a condition 
is recommended to ensure that the development shall not be occupied until a completion 
report which confirms that all the necessary remediation works have been carried out as 
specified in the approved remediation strategy has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
External consultees: 
 
Chelwood Parish Council (dated 21/04/10): Support the proposal pursuant to policies 
GB.1(c) and GB.2. 
 
Representations provided by applicant: 
 
Further details on the proposal have been submitted to address paragraph 3.2 of PPG:2 
on Green Belts in order to demonstrate why permission should be granted.  This 
justification includes (summarised): 
 
- A building survey established the poor condition of the (now demolished) existing 
building 
- Committee support for the proposal justified an agricultural workers dwelling on the 
site, this planning approval is still current 
- The development is in accordance with policies HG.10, HG.14, GB.1, GB.2, NE.1 
and T.24 
- One of the objectives of PPG:2 relates to the retention of land for agricultural uses  
- The new house is more in keeping with the surroundings than the original basic 
cottage with the use of natural stone and clay tiles with oak woodwork 
- The house also sits lower into the landscape and is therefore not considered to be 
inappropriate or harmful 
- Planning Policy Statement:7 on Rural Areas (PPS:7) states that isolated residential 
development may be justified when accommodation is required to enable agricultural 
workers to live at, or in the immediate vicinity of their place of work 

Page 351



- PPS:7 states that development should raise design standards in rural areas.  The 
property does achieve this and the scale of the property is suitable in its location 
- Within the countryside help should be given to those who earn a living from and 
help to maintain and manage the countryside.   
 
Existing functional need 
- The agricultural enterprise associated with Lady Farm is well-established over 30 
years and has increased its farming activity tenfold over this period 
- The house is needed for a full-time manager to run the enterprise who will be the 
only full-time worker on the farm 
- There is no other suitable dwelling on the unit and nothing has been sold off within 
the last few years that would have been suitable 
- The proposal is not for a new dwelling but a replacement that was too small and 
inadequate for current day use 
- The access is good and no changes are proposed 
- The impact on the countryside will be reduced due to the more appropriate design 
and natural materials 
- The manager will need to be available day and night to deal with any emergencies 
in respect of livestock or potential loss of crops 
- The building is well sited for security to the farm 
 
Financial test - Details of the Herd list dated (28/06/10) has been submitted containing 
confidential information concerning the farming enterprise of Lordswood Farms.  This 
includes details of an Agricultural Mortgage for the property which has been provided 
under strict lending criteria related to the viability of the enterprise and its on-going 
commitment to their farming enterprise.  Other points made by the agent include; 
 
- The size of the house should be commensurate with the established functional 
requirements of the holding.  We have demonstrated that the size of the enterprise can 
sustain in the long term a house of this size 
- A house of this size is required to attract a manager of the experience and age to 
run an enterprise such as this and that it should be able to accommodate their family 
- The size of the house has been agreed as part of the reserved matters decision 
- If the application is viewed as a new application then there is no stated size for an 
agriculturally tied house in the BANES area 
- Many similar houses have been approved in the BANES area within the last few 
years 
- Reference is made to other large extensions to existing dwellings in the Green Belt 
 
Further Correspondence From Applicant Dated 05/08/11, Accompanied By An Agricultural 
Assessment (Summarised): 
 
- With the 2007 application a full appraisal was not required because the existing 
dwelling had an agricultural tie, that need for Lady Farm and the locality remains 
- The property is to provide a family house and is large enough to avoid the need for 
a later extension 
- The reasons for granting approval said that it was larger than the dwelling it 
replaced but that the house was justified by agricultural need 
- The house under consideration is essentially the same size as the house approved 
in 2008 

Page 352



- Details have been provided to the Council to explain the specific role of the Farm 
Manager 
- The Committee had not previously requested this information 
- The recommendation to refuse was rejected by the Committee 
- The minutes of the meeting refer to a comment by the Senior Professional Major 
Development officer concerning advice provided to the Members on the information 
required to demonstrate the agricultural need.  It was suggested that the applicant be 
asked to provide evidence of this.  We do not believe this was said and have no evidence 
of it in our notes from the meeting.   
- The officers' report misled committee in to seeking agricultural information as 
satisfactory information were provided previously  
- The report outlines the embryo transplant enterprise, it evidences that there is a 
need for an experienced farm manager on site.   
- It has not been possible to recruit a manager during this period of uncertainty; the 
house has therefore been occupied by a family friend who has a temporary need for 
accommodation.  They are due to leave in September 2011  
- This is a successful, established farming enterprise whose needs are evolving.  
The Council previously accepted the agricultural need for the larger dwelling. 
- No need for case to be returned to Committee and permission should be issued 
 
Agricultural Appraisal Submitted By Cooper & Tanner on Behalf of the Applicant Dated 
August 2011 (Summarised): 
 
- The report has concluded that the holding is a long established business that is 
progressing to a global business with the embryo transplant enterprise as well as 
continuing with the core dairy farming activities 
- A house already existed on the site which had been tied with an agricultural 
condition since 1977 
- The evidence in the appraisal satisfies one of the requirements of the Committee 
report 
- The functional need for a farm manager has been met due to the proposed 
transplant facility and increased numbers and type of livestock on site.  The full time 
manager will be required to run both the heifer rearing enterprise and the embryo 
transplant facility 
- The projected returns of the enterprise make the proposal viable 
- The functional need cannot be met by another dwelling on the holding as no 
dwellings are available 
 
Comments Submitted On Behalf Of the Applicant in Response to the Council's 
Independent Agricultural Assessment Dated 08/11/11: 
 
- A number of inaccuracies including reference to embryo transplant activity which is 
yet to commence, it will not commence until the planning issues are resolved 
- Current labour requirements exist on the site with heifers calved on the site 
- The existing property is now occupied by someone who is employed to carry out 
calving and rearing duties 
- The fact that heifers are calved on the holding and the numbers will continue to 
increase, coupled with the fact that calves will be reared on site represents a functional 
need  

Page 353



- The farm has operated as Lordswood Farm for a long time which meets the 
financial test 
 
Enclosed within the letter are a number of attachments which refer to orders related to 
operations on the farm.   
 
Comments From Applicant In Response To Agricultural Appraisal Dated 08/11/11 
(Summarised): 
 
- The present position is that the property is occupied by an agricultural worker who 
has farmed for over 30 years and is engaged in the calving of heifers and the rearing of 
calves 
- Ability to manage the holding solely is restricted due to the applicant's age  
- This is not a new agricultural dwelling in the countryside and is a replacement; 
there is no need for the functional and financial tests when planning policy is supportive of 
replacement dwellings 
- When determining the 2007 and 2008 applications the Council accepted the 
agricultural need, this should have been settled by the fall-back position 
- The draft NPPF has a positive approach to replacement dwellings required for 
agriculture 
- The Council has enough information to support this application and issue the 
decision 
 
Independent Agricultural Assessor's Report commissioned on behalf of the Council dated 
23/09/11(summarised):  
 
- The overall farming business is run as a specialist dairy enterprise. 
- At present the unit is run by the applicant's farm manager. The manager lives away 
from the site in a dwelling near Frome. The intention is for the manager to occupy the 
subject dwelling, should planning permission be granted. 
- The applicant states that the expansion of the unit is dependent on occupation of 
the dwelling (subject of the planning application). In the event that planning permission is 
granted then the applicant plans to expand the batches of heifers to some 50 head. 
- Based on standard labour data there is a requirement for just under one unit of 
labour for the present scale of operation. 
- The expansion of the unit would see a rise in labour requirement to one unit full 
time with part time assistance. 
- Annex A of PPS7 expressly refers to "the existing functional need".  In the 
assessor's opinion the functional need associated with breeding heifers is the requirement 
around calving. By definition, first calving heifers do not have any experience of calving 
and can become nervous and distressed. Complications can also arise with calving that 
necessitates rapid intervention. In their opinion calving at the proposed 150 per year, 
across the year, will result in the functional test being met. 
- The functional need will therefore be met at the proposed level of operation. 
However, Annex A, paragraph 3 (i) specifically directs us to 'existing' functional need. In 
that context, the existing functional need does not arise as, at present, all the heifers are 
calved away from the unit.  Thus there is not, in their opinion, an 'existing' functional need. 
The anomaly arises as a result of the planning situation. 
 
 

Page 354



Functional Test: 
 
- In the event that the functional test is considered to be met then it is necessary to 
determine how it is satisfied. Annex A directs us to determine the suitability and availability 
of a dwelling for the worker concerned. In this case the worker concerned is the 
applicant's farm manager. Aside from the subject dwelling, there is another dwelling on the 
holding. The second dwelling is owned and occupied by Mr Pearce (the applicant). I 
understand that Mr Pearce has been involved in the current management of the holding, 
but does not have capacity to run the unit at the level intended, due to his other business 
commitments; it is therefore necessary to employ a full time farm manager.  Mr Pearce's 
dwelling is not available to the farm manager. In the assessor's opinion the 
accommodation that is suitable and potentially available (subject to planning permission) 
is the proposed dwelling. 
 
Financial Test: 
 
- At present no calvings take place on the unit and thus there are no sales from the 
unit with heifers with calves at foot. The unit is unlikely to be viable in its current form.  On 
the assumption that the business is expanded in the manner proposed then it is the 
assessor's opinion that it is likely to become viable. In this context it must be recognised 
that the financial test applies to current and historic performance and not to future 
proposals 
 
Conclusion: 
- In its current form the business meets neither the functional nor the financial tests. 
Its proposed form indicates that both tests will be met. The tests are scoped for a 
permanent dwelling and therefore are dependent on both current and historic 
performance. In this case neither the current nor the historic form of the business at Lady 
Farm is sufficient to meet the tests. 
 
Representations: 
 
Objections received following submission of the application (summarised):  
 
- Issues with the decision on 08/02688/RES - contrary to officer’s recommendation 
on 08/02688/RES a dwelling that is significantly materially larger than the dwelling it was 
to replace was approved.  Its legal position and compliance with Section 38(6) of the 2004 
Act and paragraph 3.6 of PPG2 is unlawful and cannot be relied upon as a precedent for 
the current application  
 
- Position of the dwelling erected.  It has not been built in accordance with the 
approved plans and cannot be said to be the development which was authorised by the 
original Outline permission (07/03148/OUT) or by the Reserved matters (08/02688/RES) 
 
- A detailed survey has been commissioned that has confirmed the extent to which 
the new dwelling differs from the location originally approved under 08/02688/RES and is 
not in accordance with the plans submitted with the current application 10/01175/FUL  
 

Page 355



- The new dwelling has been shifted 3m closer to the rear garden of Chelwood 
Farmhouse than was given consent under 08/02688/RES.  The site has been moved 
sideways towards the boundary contrary to the details submitted by the agent 
 
- Detrimental effect on residential amenity of the occupants of Chelwood Farmhouse 
is unacceptable.  This is caused by the scale of the proposal in comparison with the 
building it replaces and the roof and ridge heights which has resulted in a large, prominent 
and imposing structure. 
 
- Out of character with the low scale development of the immediate surrounding area 
 
- Overbearing effect caused by the bulk and massing of this large building in relation 
to the garden of Chelwood Farmhouse 
 
- Overlooking of rear garden from the windows on the relevant side of the dwelling 
that it faces and loss of privacy 
 
- Loss of a substantial boundary hedge which has been replaced by a close boarded 
fence which is on a different alignment 
 
- Encroachment onto the land of Chelwood Farmhouse caused by alignment of 
boundary fence 
 
- Seek to quash the decision at the High Court if planning permission issued 
 
- The Council should refuse permission and the reasons for refusal are 
recommended to relate to the size, bulk and mass being materially larger, impact on the 
openness of the Green Belt and rural character and overlooking caused by East elevation 
windows in the dwelling resulting in loss of privacy 
 
- Urge the Council to issue an Enforcement Notice requiring the demolition of the 
unauthorised building and to issue a temporary stop notice pending the Enforcement 
Notice 
 
- Attached to this letter is a surveyed plan showing the alleged unauthorised plan of 
08/02688/RES and the inaccuracies of the plan submitted in the current application   
 
The objectors have submitted a drawing (marked `Plan A') showing: 
 
- the position of the house granted under 08/02688/RES  
- the position of the house in drawing no.4472W-17 in support of 10/01175/FUL 
which differs from the building that has been erected on site  
- the line of the boundary fence that has been erected and  
- the line of the boundary taken from the HM Land Registry Title Plan 
 
Status of Existing Planning Permission: 
 
- The submissions referring to the planning history of the site give an incorrect 
impression, the outline permission granted related to a significantly different development 
in a different location.  It is precisely because the development which has taken place is 

Page 356



not the development which was authorised under the 2007 permission that it has been 
necessary for the current application to be made for retrospective permission 
 
- The 2007 permission is no longer capable of being implemented and must be 
deemed to have lapsed 
 
- The consent in 2008 was wholly outside the scope of the outline permission to 
which it related to by reason of the size of the dwelling.  
 
Fall-back Position: 
 
- If the 2007 permission was extant it is well settled law that where a `fall-back' 
position is claimed in respect of an alternative permission which remains extant, it can 
only be taken into account if there is a realistic prospect that the `alternative' development 
would in practice be carried out in the absence of a permission being granted for a later 
application.  It would also have to be shown that the alternative permission would result in 
a development which would have an impact in planning terms at least as great as or even 
greater than that which is now proposed, in view of the significantly different location of the 
house this clearly is not the case here.  The previous permission is therefore not capable 
of being a material consideration in the determination of the current application 
 
Local Plan Policies: 
 
- Failure to comply with policy D2 part f)  
 
- Failure to comply with policy D4  
 
- Failure to comply with policy HG.10 
 
- Failure to comply with policy HG.14 - replacement dwellings should not be 
materially larger and should not have a materially greater impact than that to be replaced.  
It is beyond dispute that by reason of it being 240% larger than the original dwelling the 
new dwelling cannot fall within this policy.  Furthermore the outline consent was clear that 
the replacement was to be no larger than the existing dwelling 
 
- Failure to comply with GB.1, GB.2 and PPG.2 - there are no very special 
circumstances, it therefore conflicts with GB.1, HG.10 and HG.14, the development is 
visually detrimental and is also in breach of GB.2 
 
- Failure to comply with NE.1 - it is development which neither conserves nor 
enhances the character and local distinctiveness of the landscape 
 
Planning Policy Statement:7 - Rural Areas 
 
- The applicant needs to satisfy the Council that the alleged functional need could 
not be fulfilled by another existing dwelling on the holding or other accommodation, there 
is undoubtedly other residential accommodation within the area which could be made 
available to a manager of the holding 
 

Page 357



- The size of the property should be restricted in size, the dwelling is far larger than 
could reasonably be required to house an agricultural worker, even a farm manager 
 
Planning Policy Statement:2 - Green Belts 
 
- The reference to new buildings for the purposes of agriculture or forestry does not 
include dwellings.  It follows that even a new agricultural dwelling is by definition 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt and must satisfy the very special 
circumstances test.  The Council clearly accept this and has accordingly advertised the 
development as a departure from the Development Plan as required by paragraph 3.3. 
 
- Clearly the new dwelling which has been erected does not qualify as a replacement 
dwelling within paragraph 3.6 because it is materially larger than the dwelling it was 
intended to replace 
 
- Chelwood is not listed as a designated village in Policy SC.1 and is thus one of 
those areas to which the advice in paragraph 2.1 of PPG.2 applies in that the Green Belt 
notation is carried across (washed over) it which allows no new buildings beyond the 
replacement of existing dwellings.  It has not been suggested that the development 
represents limited infilling in an existing village.   
 
- Inappropriate development must not only be justified by very special 
circumstances, but these must clearly outweigh the harm caused by reason of the 
inappropriateness of that development and any other harm.  The courts have emphasised 
this on more than one occasion that the circumstances must indeed be 'very special' as 
opposed to common or garden planning considerations.  Not merely special in the sense 
of unusual or exceptional but very special.  In particular, it has been established that the 
absence of harm will rarely be sufficient.  The fact that the harm caused is slight is not 
enough to constitute very special circumstances.  None of the arguments put forward 
come anywhere near to establishing the existence of very special circumstances which 
would clearly outweigh the harm by reason of inappropriateness and any other harm.  In 
particular, the purported agricultural justification under PPS7 is insufficient in itself to 
amount to very special circumstances. 
 
Residential Amenity: 
 
- Residential amenity - a recent independent survey of Chelwood Farmhouse 
confirms that three windows directly overlook this house and gardens.  It seems rather 
surprising that the LPA would give consent for these windows to overlook.   
 
- Clear glass windows overlook from the East facing windows, and windows with a 
southerly aspect 
 
- Significant impact on Chelwood Farmhouse as the garden is no longer private, the 
rear garden is now directly overlooked 
 
- Windows overlook the back of Chelwood Farmhouse severely impacting upon 
privacy which prior to its construction had a large private garden 
 

Page 358



- The new house shades the western side of the site and as a result the garden will 
be shaded by the new house in the evenings 
 
- Loss of view - previously Chelwood Farmhouse had an open aspect towards the 
rear, now it overlooks a large expanse of rendered walls and tiles roof removing the open 
aspect.  We understand that there is no right to a view but point out the loss of an existing 
view or open aspect is a factor that is liable to detract from the residential amenity and is 
therefore a material planning consideration in planning terms.  This is a serious breach of 
policy D2. 
 
Setting of a Listed Building: 
 
- Previously we omitted to raise that Chelwood Farmhouse is a listed building.  The 
new dwelling has an overbearing impact and has a seriously deleterious effect on the 
setting of this listed building and this must be a further reason for refusal 
 
Representations from objector following Committee 16/02/11 (summarised): 
 
- Insist on being kept informed of all further communications passing in either 
direction on this matter 
- Elected members have put the Council in an impossible position 
- Considerable doubt over the `legality' of the decision which was reached 
- Lack of an agricultural assessment suggests there did not exist sufficient 
information to authorise officers' to approve 
- Unclear what power has been delegated to officers 
- It appears to us that planning permission cannot be lawfully granted with regard to 
the definition of `inappropriate development' set out in PPG2 
- Failure by officers' to explain to members the differences in the reports and the 
legal position which led to confusion.  This led to the decision that was made.   
- Continued inaction may necessitate an application to the High Court 
- Concerns raised over lack of enforcement action 
 
Objections to Agricultural Assessment: 
 
- The report fails to make the case  
- The report has not been prepared by specialist agricultural consultants 
- The contents of the report are bland and superficial 
- It fails to demonstrate an existing need to address the policy tests of Annex A of 
PPS7 
- A financial test is required and evidence that the size of the holding can sustain this 
- The report relates only to the future occupancy of an agricultural worker 
- No substantiated case that the farm worker must be accommodated in this location, 
opportunities for other properties have not been covered 
- The proviso to delegate to permit subject to a satisfactory agricultural appraisal has 
not been met, the application needs to be referred back to Committee 
- Absence of very special circumstances, therefore a grant of planning permission in 
these circumstances would, in our submission, be bound to be quashed in the event of an 
application being made to the High Court under CPR Part 54. 
 

Page 359



Further objections following correspondence from Applicant and their Assessor Dated 
22/11/11: 
 
- The whole basis of this application was the need for a dwelling for the prospective 
accommodation of a farm manager who has not yet been appointed, in connection with 
the future development of the artificial insemination programme at Lady Farm. 
- The applicant's agents provide a frank and open admission that the functional 
requirement for a farm manager to oversee the prospective future development of this 
new venture has not yet arisen. 
- They go on to state that only one batch of 20 artificially inseminated heifers has 
calved at Lady Farm so far. It is clear that the expected increase in the numbers of heifers 
calving at Lady Farm still lies in the future, and that the requirement in paragraph 3(iii) in 
Annex A to PPS7 that the unit and the agricultural activity concerned have been 
established for at least three years, have been profitable for at least one of them, are 
currently financially sound, and have a clear prospect of remaining so has not been met. 
This alone confirms that the applicant cannot meet the functional need test in PPS7. 
- It is clear from their comment on paragraph 6.3 of the Council's expert report that 
the agent still does not understand the distinction between the detailed criteria of the 
actual functional requirement laid down by paragraph 3(iii) in Annex A to PPS7 and the 
limited scope so far of the particular agricultural activity which the applicant seeks to 
develop. 
- The fact that the new house the subject of the pending application "is now occupied 
by a farm manager who is employed to carry out the calving and rearing duties" is 
irrelevant in light of the very recent commencement of the relevant activity on the adjoining 
holding at Lady Farm, and the inability of the applicant to show that the relevant criteria in 
paragraph 3(iii) in Annex A to PPS7 have been met. 
- The size of the house was justified by reason of the need to provide 
accommodation for someone of sufficient seniority to manage the artificial insemination 
and breeding enterprise in its entirety. It is clear that the current occupation of the house 
by the applicant's daughter is simply a matter of convenience and that it bears no relation 
to any functional need. 
- The applicant argues in this letter that "this is not a new agricultural dwelling in the 
countryside. It is a replacement of an existing agricultural dwelling." This is a fundamental 
misunderstanding of the present position. We appreciate that the point is well understood 
by the officers, but it is important that the elected members, to whom this application is 
now to be referred once again, should not be under any misapprehension in this regard. 
- There is a requirement to show a functional need for this large new house in this 
location. Whatever agricultural need there may have been for a much more modest 
replacement of the previous agricultural dwelling elsewhere on the site, the current house 
has to be considered entirely afresh. 
- We have previously drawn attention to the fall-back position which cannot be relied 
upon 
- We expect the officers to recommend accordingly, and in view of the failure of 
elected members to pay proper attention to the officers' previous report or to understand 
the reasons which led the officers to recommend refusal on the last occasion when this 
application was reported to the committee for determination, it is particularly important that 
the officers should ensure that, both in their written report and in their oral presentation at 
the committee meeting, they spell out to members in very clear terms the reasons why 
planning permission cannot be granted in this case.  We repeat that in light of such a clear 

Page 360



case, a grant of planning permission would be bound to be quashed by the High Court on 
an application for judicial review, and the elected members should clearly understand this. 
 
A number of further points have been re-iterated concerning the legal position and the 
threat of a legal challenge concerning the grant of permission. 
 
 
 

Item No:   05 
Application No: 12/00389/TEL 
Site Location: Fountain Buildings, City Centre, Bath 

 
 

Ward: Abbey  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: N/A 
Ward Members: Councillor B J Webber Councillor Manda Rigby  
Application Type: Telecommunications Application 

Page 361



Proposal: Installation of Superfast fibre optic broadband cabinet (PCP 012) at 
Fountain Buildings, S/O 1 Alfred Street 

Constraints: Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Article 4, Conservation Area, Forest of Avon, 
Hotspring Protection, World Heritage Site,  

Applicant:  Openreach 
Expiry Date:  21st March 2012 
Case Officer: Victoria Griffin 

 
REPORT 
REASON FOR REPORTING APPLICATION TO COMMITTEE: This application has been 
referred to Committee at the request of the Development Manager so that Members can 
consider the recommended refusal of this application.   
 
DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND APPLICATION: 
The application seeks prior approval for the installation of 1 no. DSLAM Broadband 
cabinet to the side of no.1 Alfred Street which forms part of an 18th century terrace in a 
classical style that is a grade II listed building.  The cabinet is proposed to be situated up 
against the flank wall of no. 1 which has a prominent position on the junction with 
Lansdown Road and Alfred Street that is currently uninterrupted by street furniture.  The 
flank wall contains detailing including 'faux' windows and is in an area with a restricted 
clean palette of materials dominated by Bath stone that gives it strong harmony and 
character.   
 
The cabinet measures approximately 1.6m in height, 1.2m in width and 0.4m in depth and 
will be green painted steel.  It would be separated from the road by existing iron railings 
that border the road.  In this part of the street the footpath measures approx. 2.9m in width 
and narrows to 1.8m close to the junction with Alfred Street.  An existing BT cabinet is 
sited on the opposite side of the junction. 
 
This is the third application for this proposal. Previous applications have been refused as 
the cabinet is considered to be harmful to the character and setting of adjacent listed 
buildings and the wider Conservation Area.  The cabinet forms part of a wider programme 
for high speed broadband coverage across the country and will provide Super Fast 
broadband connectivity to the local businesses and private properties.   
 
The site falls within the Bath Conservation Area, World Heritage Site and a Hotspring 
Protection zone. 
 
PLANNING HISTORY: 
 
DC - 11/01055/TEL - Refused - 21 April 2011 - Installation of 1no DSLAM Superfast 
Broadband Cabinet (PCP 012) at Fountain Buildings, to the side of 1 Alfred Street 
 
Reason for refusal: 
 
The cabinet's siting, against the gable end of no.1 Alfred Street by reason of its proximity 
to the dwelling would be harmful to the setting of this listed building.  Furthermore it would 
form a noticeable feature within the streetscene.  The proposed location would detract 
from the character and appearance of this part of the Conservation Area and the setting of 

Page 362



Listed Buildings.  The proposal is contrary to Local Plan policies BH1, BH2, BH6, D2 and 
D4 of the Bath & North East Somerset Local Plan (Adopted 2007). 
 
DC - 11/04553/TEL - Refused - 15 December 2011 - Installation of 1no DSLAM Superfast 
Broadband Cabinet (PCP 012) at Fountain Buildings S/O 1 Alfred Street 
 
Reason for refusal: 
 
The cabinet's siting, against the gable end of no.1 Alfred Street by reason of its proximity 
to the dwelling would be harmful to the setting of this listed building and important terrace 
of which it forms part.  Furthermore it would form a noticeable feature within the 
streetscene.  The proposed location would detract from the character and appearance of 
this part of the Conservation Area and the setting of Listed Buildings.  The grounds 
presented in support of the proposal do not outweigh the harm identified.  The proposal is 
therefore contrary to Local Plan policies BH1, BH2, BH6, D2 and D4 of the Bath & North 
East Somerset Local Plan (Adopted 2007). 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
HIGHWAYS: The applicant has already submitted details through the Highway 
Maintenance Team for approval to place the equipment on the highway, and the proposed 
position has been considered acceptable.  I therefore recommend that no highway 
objection is raised. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION: No comment received 
 
HISTORIC BUILDINGS TEAM: Objects, detracts from the setting of the Listed Building.  It 
may be worth in the report also underlying the sensitivity of the site for example the 
numerous other listed buildings in the vicinity.  They should have also given us the 
opportunity to see the other sites they have investigated  and discarded. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS: Two letters of objection raising the following points (summarised): 
 
Bath Preservation Trust: 
 

- accept that electronic and telephonic communication are facts of modern life 
and that above ground installations, such as these DSLAM cabinets, are 
required to support them.  

- as Bath is a World Heritage Site and many cabinets would also be within a 
Conservation Area, care is needed in their siting in order to uphold the 
purposes of both designations.   

- A resubmission of the same proposal already refused twice on grounds of 
harm to heritage, although the description of the proposal and the absence 
of necessary drawings & justification precludes certainty and unless 
amended/augmented is not capable of being approved. 

- Consider that the size, appearance and siting of this DSLAM cabinet would 
detract from the character and setting of the conservation area and listed 
buildings. As such the proposal is contrary to Policies BH1 & BH2 of the 
B&NES Local Plan and PPS5, in particular polices HE6, HE7, HE9 & HE10, 
and the Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and 
should, therefore, be refused.  

Page 363



 
Other objections received: 
 

- recognise the wider benefits of high speed broadband and have no "in 
principle" objection to the installation of such units,  

- it is understood that these cabinets will only bring faster broadband for those 
willing to pay higher charges, therefore the wider public benefit is somewhat 
limited and therefore overemphasised.   

- this is the third in the line of applications for this position. 11/01055/TEL 
determined Prior Approval Required and 11/04553/TEL was refused.  The 
document `Application for Prior Approval' for this application states 
`Enclosed is a plan indicating the location of the site and also a line drawing 
and a photomontage indicating the siting of the proposed cabinet', 
insufficient detailed information has been submitted to be able to fully assess 
the impact of proposals on the historic environment and should accordingly 
be refused, or withdrawn and resubmitted with the required level of 
documentation. 

 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The following policies are a material consideration: 
 
ES.7 Telecommunications development 
BH.1 World Heritage Site and its setting 
BH.2 Listed Buildings and their settings 
BH.6 Development within or affecting Conservation Areas 
D.2 General design and public realm considerations 
D.4 Townscape considerations 
T.24 General development control and access policy 
 
of the Bath & North East Somerset Local Plan including minerals and waste policies - 
adopted October 2007 
 
Bath City-wide Character Appraisal - Supplementary Planning Document - August 2005 
 
Bath and North East Somerset Submission Core Strategy (May 2011) is out at inspection 
stage and therefore will only be given limited weight for development management 
purposes. The following policies should be considered 
 
ES.7, D2. D4. T.24, B.4, BH.6, BH.2, BH.1. 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
The key issues in the consideration of the proposal relate to the impact of the proposal on 
the character and appearance of the Conservation Area, the setting of Listed Buildings,  
highway safety and the amenities of the occupiers of nearby premises. 
 
PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT:  This is an application for prior approval made under 
Part 24 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development Order 1995 
(as amended). 
 

Page 364



Part 24 of Schedule 2 to the GPDO 1995 gives deemed planning permission, subject to 
exclusions and conditions, for certain development to be carried out by, or on behalf of, an 
electronic communications code operator for the purpose of the operator's electronic 
communications network. One of the exclusions of the deemed permission requires that 
prior notification must be given to the Local Planning Authority of the intention to install the 
apparatus within a World Heritage Site or a Conservation Area, and within 56 days of the 
receipt of the notification the Local Planning Authority must approve or refuse the 
application. If a decision is not received by the applicant within the required 56 days the 
application is deemed to be approved.  As with the previous applications, given that the 
applicant is asking for Prior Approval, the assessment of the application must consider the 
acceptability of the siting and appearance of the broadband cabinet.   
 
The applicant has presented an argument that this is the only position that the cabinet 
could be sited for technical reasons and no other suitable position for such a cabinet 
would be available in the immediate area.  It was agreed with the applicant that this 
application would therefore be presented to Committee as a further refusal would mean 
the residents and local businesses in the immediate area would not have access to fast 
speed broadband.  However, the applicant has not quantified the number of 
residents/business that might be affected by the proposal.  Limited information has 
therefore been received to demonstrate the need for this broadband cabinet.   
 
IMPACT ON THE CHARACTER AND APPEARANCE OF THE CONSERVATION AREA 
AND LIST BUILDINGS:  The cabinet's siting, against the gable end of no.1 Alfred Street 
would introduce a piece of street furniture that is not presently characteristic of the 
immediate area abutting an uninterrupted flank wall of this listed terrace.  The cabinet is 
larger than existing BT cabinets and would be visually prominent when viewed within the 
context of the wider street scene and setting.  One of the many attributes of the immediate 
area includes the simple classical style of the existing buildings and street layouts with 
existing street furniture underplayed or are elegant features of the street scene.   
 
By reason of the size, position and proposed materials of the cabinet it would form a 
prominent feature within the streetscene, which would be visible from views up and down 
Lansdown Road.  Furthermore, the proposed location against the listed terrace would be 
unsympathetic and intrusive to the character of the listed terrace.  The proposal is 
therefore considered to detract from the character and appearance of this part of the 
Conservation Area and the setting of Listed Buildings.   
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT OF HIGHWAY SAFETY:  The highway engineer has raised no 
objection to the siting of the cabinet on the public highway as it is considered that it would 
not present a highway safety issue.  Whilst the highway narrows in this part of the street, 
which would restrict access, noting the highway officer comments' it is not considered to 
constitute an additional reason for refusal.   
 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY:  In respect of amenity; the scale and siting of the cabinet will 
ensure that the amenities of the occupiers of the nearby premises will remain unaffected. 
 
CONCLUSION 
In summary the proposed siting of the broadband cabinet is considered to form an 
obtrusive feature within the street scene that would adversely affect the setting of  this part 
of the Conservation Area and would adversely affect the special architectural and 

Page 365



historical qualities of the adjacent Listed buildings.  The proposal is therefore considered 
to be unacceptable and as a result it is recommended that Prior Approval is refused. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
REFUSE 
 
REASON(S) FOR REFUSAL 
 
 1 The cabinet's siting, against the gable end of no.1 Alfred Street by reason of its 
proximity to the dwelling would be harmful to the setting of this listed building and 
important terrace of which it forms part.  Furthermore it would form a noticeable feature 
within the streetscene.  The proposed location would detract from the character and 
appearance of this part of the Conservation Area and the setting of Listed Buildings.  The 
grounds presented in support of the proposal do not outweigh the harm identified.  The 
proposal is therefore contrary to Local Plan policies BH1, BH2, BH6, D2 and D4 of the 
Bath & North East Somerset Local Plan (Adopted 2007). 
 
PLANS LIST:  Cabinet Location plan date received 26/01/12. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 366



Item No:   06 
Application No: 12/00012/REG04 
Site Location: Queen Square, City Centre, Bath 

 
Ward: Abbey  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: N/A 
Ward Members: Councillor B J Webber Councillor Manda Rigby  
Application Type: Regulation 4 Application 
Proposal: Creation of two pedestrian access points to east and west of Queen 

Square Gardens and insertion of two gateway piers within the existing 
boundary railings to the north side of Queen Square 

Constraints: Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Article 4, Bath Core Office Area, 
Conservation Area, Forest of Avon, Hotspring Protection, World 
Heritage Site,  

Applicant:  Bath And North East Somerset Council 
Expiry Date:  29th February 2012 
Case Officer: Suzanne D'Arcy 

Page 367



REPORT 
REASON FOR REPORTING THE APPLICATION TO COMMITTEE: 
The applicant's agent has a close association with Planning Services. 
 
DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND APPLICATION 
Queen Square is sited in the Bath Conservation Area and wider World Heritage Site.  The 
application site is a green space, which is surrounded by roads and the grade Il star listed 
obelisk is sited in the centre.  The site is bounded with railings and is accessed on the 
south side.  The gate piers are black railings with black metal finials. 
 
This is a full application for the creation of two pedestrian access points on the east and 
west side. 
 
The proposed access points will be to the centre of the east and west sides of the Square 
at the centre of the railings.  The entrances will have the same appearance as the existing 
south entrance.   
 
The application also proposes the insertion of matching gate piers to the north side of the 
Square.  The proposed gate piers will match those on the other elevations but access will 
be blocked by the existing railings. 
 
The application shows indicative details of highway improvements.  These works do not 
require express planning permission and do not form part of the planning application. 
 
RELEVANT HISTORY:  None 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
BUILDING CONTROL: No comments received 
 
HIGHWAYS: No objection, subject to advisory note 
 
LANDSCAPE: Supports the scheme as it is well thought out and will enhance the Square 
 
ENGLISH HERITAGE: No comments received  
 
BATH PRESERVATION TRUST: Offer the following comments; 
- Supportive of this initiative to enhance Queen Square and improve access to the 
gardens 
- Do not feel that the information within this application is sufficient to allow a proper 
assessment, since the finer details regarding the design of the steelwork remains 
somewhat vague.  
-  Feel that it is necessary for the proposals to be supported by further drawings of 
detailing and sections.  
- Given the architectural and historic significance of this high profile site it is considered 
appropriate to call for the submission and consideration of detail (by the public) at this 
application/consultation stage rather than it being dealt with by Condition.  
 
 
 
 

Page 368



REPRESENTATIONS: 1 letter of support received, raising the following points; 
- The proposal to reinstate the east and west access points is eminently supportable and 
the reason for providing gatepillars but not access at the northern end is understood. The 
proposals as submitted in this respect are considered acceptable. 
- Concern about the wider implications of the proposals due to the piecemeal approach to 
the whole treatment of Queen Square 
- Although we do support the restoration of Queen Square, at present we are not entirely 
convinced that the proposals are of a sufficiently high quality for such an important 
Georgian setpiece. 
- Various points that are not directly related to the application 
 
1 letter of comment received, raising the following points; 
Objection is raised on the grounds of child safety due to the multiple entrances  
No active consultation with owners since the presentation of the draft proposals (Officer 
note: The Council has consulted in line with its statutory obligations and its own practice) 
Various points related to wider indicative works shown on the plans that do not require 
planning permission 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
Planning Policy Statement 5: Planning for the Historic Environment (2010) 
 
D.2: General design and public realm considerations 
D.4: Townscape considerations  
BH.1: Impact of development on World Heritage Site of Bath or its setting.  
BH.2: Listed buildings and their settings 
BH.6: Development within or affecting Conservation Areas 
T.24: General development control and access policy 
Bath & North East Somerset Local Plan including minerals and waste policies - adopted 
October 2007 
 
Bath and North East Somerset Submission Core Strategy (May 2011) is out at inspection 
stage and therefore will only be given limited weight for development management 
purposes. The following policies should be considered: 
 
DW1: District wide spatial strategy 
B1: Bath spatial strategy 
B2: Central area strategic policy 
CP6: Environmental quality 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
IMPACT ON THE CONSERVATION AREA AND SURROUNDING LISTED BUILDINGS:  
The application is accompanied by a Heritage Analysis of the Square.  This analysis 
concludes that Queen Square was originally intended to have an access on each of the 
four sides and was enclosed by a low stone balustrade.  The balustrade was removed and 
replaced with iron railings in the 1770s. 
 
The current railings in Queen Square were proposed by the Bath Preservation Trust in the 
late 1970s as part of the Queen's Jubilee celebrations, and the existing mild forged steel 
railings were erected. 
 

Page 369



Having considered the evolution of Queen Square and its original plan form, it is 
considered that the principle of the insertion of the access points and the gate piers is 
acceptable and will preserve the setting of the listed Obelisk, surrounding listed building 
and this part of the Conservation Area. 
 
The application proposes the gate piers to match the existing gate piers on the south side 
of the Square.  The Bath Preservation Trust have requested a condition to require further 
details of the details.  The applicant has provided details of the piers in elevation and plan 
form, as well as stating that the proposed piers will match those to the south entrance.  In 
view of this, it is not considered that the condition would be necessary and therefore would 
fail this test of a condition as set out in Circular 11/95. 
 
This is considered to preserve the setting of the listed buildings and the Conservation 
Area. 
 
URBAN DESIGN:  The insertion of two additional access points will have urban design 
gains as it will improve the permeability of the Square.  Queen Square currently has a 
single access to the south and the introduction of two further accesses will lead to an 
improved pedestrian flow with wider public realm benefits. 
 
IMPACT ON HIGHWAY SAFETY:  There will be no highway safety implications from the 
insertion of the accesses.  The Highways Officer has requested further information 
regarding the implications of the highway works that are shown on the submitted plans.  
As these are for information only and do not require express planning permission, it is 
considered that an informative advising the applicants to enter discussions with the 
Highways Authority will be sufficient.  Furthermore, the indicative works shown to the 
highway are not expressly required to allow the current proposals to come forward. 
 
The representation makes reference to the impact on child safety due to the creation of 
new entrances.  This consideration can only be attributed limited weight however because 
it is not uncommon for public spaces to be unenclosed.   
 
The proposed additional accesses will improve pedestrian flow through and around the 
Square.  The application proposes a blocked entrance to the north side of the Square due 
to the flow of traffic on this side of the Square. 
 
IMPACT ON RESIDENTIAL AMENITY:  Due to the nature of the proposal, there will be no 
adverse impacts on residential amenity. 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
The proposal will more closely reflect the intended plan form of the Square and will 
improve the pedestrian flow through and around the Square.  The proposal is therefore 
considered to preserve the setting of this part of the Conservation Area and the adjacent 
listed building. 
 
There will be no highway safety implications directly associated with the insertion of the 
gate piers. 
 
 

Page 370



RECOMMENDATION 
PERMIT with condition(s) 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permissions. 
 
 2 The gate piers hereby approved shall match those on the south entrance to the Square 
in terms of materials, detail and design. 
 
Reason: In the interests of preserving the character and appearance of this part of the 
Conservation Area. 
 
 3 The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST:  This decision relates to drawings numbered 1118/01a, /02a Rev B, 03a 
Rev B, /04a rev A, /05a, /06a, /07a, 01 and 02 and related Design and Access Statement, 
received by the Council on 4th January 2012. 
 
REASONS FOR GRANTING APPROVAL  
 
1. The proposed development will more closely reflect the intended plan form of Queen 
Square and will preserve the setting of the Conservation Area and listed buildings.  There 
will be no highway safety implications from the gate piers. 
2. The decision to grant approval has taken account of the Development Plan, relevant 
emerging Local Plans and approved Supplementary Planning Guidance.  This is in 
accordance with the Policies set out below at A. 
 
A. 
 
D.2, D.4, BH.1, BH.2, BH.6 and T.24 of the Bath & North East Somerset Local Plan 
including minerals and waste policies - adopted October 2007 
 
 2 The applicant should note that this Notice of Decision does not grant approval with 
regards either the detail of, or the carrying out of works within the limits for the public 
highway for which the consent and technical approval of the Council's Highways Service is 
required. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 371



Item No:   07 
Application No: 11/05310/FUL 
Site Location: Stables, Butcombe Lane, Nempnett Thrubwell, Bristol 

 
 

Ward: Chew Valley South  Parish: Nempnett Thrubwell  LB Grade: N/A 
Ward Members: Councillor V L Pritchard  
Application Type: Full Application 
Proposal: Retention of stable block, field shelter, hay store, hard-standing, lean-

to and secure tack room and tractor, trailer, horsebox, creation of 
feed/storage area, incorporating a change of use of the land to 
equestrian (Resubmission) 

Constraints: Airport Safeguarding Zones, Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty, Forest of Avon, Greenbelt, Public Right 
of Way, Water Source Areas,  

Applicant:  Mr James Livingstone 

Page 372



Expiry Date:  5th March 2012 
Case Officer: Richard Stott 

 
REPORT 
REASON FOR REPORTING APPLICATION TO COMMITTEE: 
The Parish Council has objected to this application contrary to the recommendation of the 
case officer. 
 
PROPOSAL: 
This application relates to a site located immediately on Bath & North East Somerset's and 
North Somerset's administrative boundary to the west of Nempnett Thrubwell within the 
Bath and Bristol Green Belt. The site forms the northern most field of the Mendip Hills 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty with the boundary running adjacent to Butcombe 
Lane. Temporary permission was granted in 1999 for a detached stable block, field 
shelter, hay store and hard standing, this permission was renewed in 2004 however 
lapsed in September 2009, since which time the use of the site has been unauthorised. 
 
The applicant applied in 2010 for the retention of the current units on site as well as a 
touring caravan and the change of use of the land from agricultural to equestrian. The 
application was deemed in accordance with policy and recommended for permission 
however was refused by Members at the Development Control Committee meeting in July 
2011. The reason for refusal related to the siting of the caravan and the lack of justification 
for the buildings. 
 
Since having the application refused, the applicant has addressed the reason for refusal 
by removing the caravan from site, providing full justification to demonstrate the need for 
the units and has carried out remedial works to improve the appearance of the site 
generally. This application is a resubmission seeking consent for the retention of the 
stable block, field shelter, hay store, hard-standing, lean-to and secure tack room and 
tractor, trailer, horsebox, creation of feed/storage area, incorporating a change of use of 
the land to equestrian. It should be noted that the tractor, trailer and horsebox are all 
mobile features and do not in their own rights require formal consent. 
 
RELEVANT HISTORY 
- 10/05014/FUL - Retention of stable block, field shelter, hay store, hard-standing, lean-to 
and secure tack room and siting of tractor, trailer, horse box and touring caravan and 
change of use of land to equestrian - REFUSED 
- 04/02635/REN - Retention of stable block, field shelter, hay store and hard-standing - 
PERMITTED (Expired 31st September 2009) 
- 99/02670/FUL - Detached stable block, field shelter, hay store and hard-standing as 
amended by letter and drawing received 20th August 1999 - PERMITTED 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
NEMPNETT THRUBWELL PARISH COUNCIL: OBJECT 
- The site has been tidied up but its appearance is still detrimental to the openness and 
setting in the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 
- There is still burning of industrial waste taking place on site. 
- There are still breaches of previous planning conditions. 
- The footpath is being obstructed. 

Page 373



- Vehicular access is still difficult. 
- Caravan on site 
 
(Members should note that the caravan has actually been removed from site. In addition, 
there have been no reported complaints of obstruction to the footpath or waste burning - 
which would be matters for Public Rights of Way and Environmental Health respectively, 
not planning. The issues relating to breaches of planning conditions have not been 
specified by the Parish and therefore have not be investigated.) 
 
HIGHWAY DEVELOPMENT: NO OBJECTION 
- On the basis that the land is being used for equestrian use, and the majority of the 
proposed buildings etc. have previously been approved, there are no grounds for a 
highway objection to the proposal, particularly where there are no changes to the access 
or traffic generation. 
 
MENDIP HILLS AREA OF OUTSTANDING NATURAL BEAUTY PARTNERSHIP: 
COMMENTS 
- Concerns about the impact on the character of the AONB. 
- Previously raised concern about the untidy nature of the site however the improvements 
made to-date, including the re-roofing of the buildings is welcomed in the context of visual 
impact on the attractive landscape within which the site is located. 
- If permission is granted, all buildings should be brought up to standard within a 
reasonable timeframe. 
 
PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY: COMMENTS 
The Rights of Way Team have advised that PROW CL4/27 runs through the middle of the 
application site as shown in purple on the plan forwarded to you under separate cover. 
The line and width of the path must not be altered or obstructed during or after the change 
of use. No gates or other furniture are to be erected on the line of the footpath. This 
should be included as an informative on any permission granted. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS: 
2x Letters of objection received raising the following points: 
- Site has been tidied up but remains an eyesore. 
- No further development should be allowed. 
- Caravan still on site. 
- Climbing frame remains on site 
- Timber fence looks suburban 
- Footpath is blocked 
- Harmful to green belt and AONB 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
BATH & NORTH EAST SOMERSET LOCAL PLAN INCLUDING MINERALS AND 
WASTE POLICIES ADOPTED FOR OCTOBER 2007 
D.2 General Design and Public Realm Consideration 
D.4 Townscape Consideration 
NE.2 Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
GB.1 Green Belt 
GB.2 Openness of the Green Belt 
T.24 Access 

Page 374



 
SUBMISSION CORE STRATEGY, MAY 2011 (The submission core strategy is a key 
material consideration but at this stage it has limited weight) 
CP8 Green belt 
Policies T.24, NE.2, GB.2, D.2 and D.4 are Saved Local Plan Policies 
 
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE 
Mendip Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Supplementary Planning Guidance: 
Guidelines for Horse Related Development  
 
NATIONAL POLICY 
PPG.2 Green Belts 
PPS.7 Sustainable Development in Rural Areas 
 
DRAFT NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK 
Due consideration is given to the Draft National Planning Policy Framework, July 2011, 
however at present this carries little weight and in this case it proposes little change to the 
aspects of local and national policy that are relevant to this decision. 
 
Planning Minister Greg Clark has said that ministers are committed to publishing the final 
version of the NPPF by 30 March 2012. 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
PREAMBLE:  This application is a resubmission and seeks permission for the permanent 
retention of the existing stable block, field shelter, hay store, hard standing, lean-to and 
secure tack room and for the siting of a tractor, trailer and horse box, in addition 
permission is sought for the change of use of the land from agriculture to equestrian use. 
The application is submitted following the refusal of a similar scheme in 2011 and the 
applicant has made every effort to resolve the previous reason for refusal including 
removing the caravan from site, improving the buildings, tidying the site and providing full 
justification for the works. These are material factors in the determination of this 
application. 
 
SITE LOCATION:  The site is located on a double bend in the road from Nempnett 
Thrubwell to Butcombe; the western boundary of the site marks the boundary between the 
administrative areas of North Somerset Council and Bath & North East Somerset Council. 
The eastern, western and northern boundaries of the site mark the limits of the Mendip 
Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and the whole site is located in the Bath and 
Bristol Green Belt. 
 
The application site is comprised of 5 parcels of land with a small copse of trees in the 
south western corner, the land slopes down from east to west across the site with the 
buildings and equine infrastructure situated on the western boundary, each parcel of land 
is demarked by post and rail fencing. The land is open in character with a large hedge 
marking the north, west and east boundaries and a line of mature trees marking the 
southern boundary. To the rear of the site is a line of electricity pylons running on a north 
east to south west axis. 
 

Page 375



The stable block, field shelter, tack store and hay store that are currently situated on the 
land, along with the hard standing area have existed in excess of 10 years having 
previously been granted consent in 1999 and renewed in 2004. 
 
ADDRESSING THE PREVIOUS REASON FOR REFUSAL:  Application 10/05014/FUL 
was presented to the Development Control Committee in July 2011 with an officer 
recommendation to permit however was overturned by Members. The original application 
sought the retention of a caravan on the site in addition to the retention of the stable block 
etc. and the change of use of the land. In refusing the application, the decision notice was 
issued with only one reason for refusal which stated: 
 
"There has been no evidence submitted by the applicant to demonstrate a need to site a 
caravan or other buildings associated with an equestrian use on the application site and 
due to their siting and size it is considered that they are harmful to the openness and 
visual amenities of this part of the Green Belt and detract from the character and 
appearance of the Mendip Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty." 
 
In seeking to address the sole reason for refusal, the applicant has removed the caravan 
from the site, in addition, works have been carried out to tidy the site, and improve the 
appearance of the buildings including re-roofing. 
 
The application is now fully supported by a justification statement to demonstrate the need 
for the various units associated with the long established equestrian use of the site - 
storage of hay, feed and equipment. In addition the statement confirms a commitment to 
carrying out further improvements to the appearance of the site and this has been 
welcomed by the Mendip Hills AONB Partnership. 
 
The caravan has been removed from site and thus the element of the refusal notice 
relating to it no longer applies. 
 
The horsebox, trailer and tractor are all moveable objects, not uncommon in a rural 
location and ordinarily do not in themselves require consent, notwithstanding there was a 
condition attached to the 2004 permission which required no trailers to be kept on site. 
The siting of such features can be regularised by this application. 
 
The burning of materials is not a material planning consideration however it is understood 
that such activities are no longer taking place on site. These issues would need to be dealt 
with by the Environmental Health Team and/or the Environment Agency. 
 
It is noted that the equestrian enterprise on this site has existed for in excess of 13 years 
and the stables are tucked into the lower portion of the field largely screened from view 
from the wider area. The principle of the development has clearly been made by the 
length of time the operation has existed and this was not previously challenged by 
Members. 
 
The site in its current form is considered to have a significantly lower visual impact than 
the ménage associated with the adjoining property (to the west); this point was presented 
to Members in the July Committee as part of the case to demonstrate the impact of the 
proposed on the wider area. 
 

Page 376



In consideration of the application submitted it is felt that the applicant has fully addressed 
and overcome the previous reason for refusal and it is therefore recommended that 
permission is granted. 
 
The remainder of this report explores the issues in greater depth and largely follows the 
format and findings of the report presented to Committee in July 2011. 
 
ISSUES:  The key considerations with this application are as follows: 
 
- Is the retention of the existing units acceptable on this site?  
- Is the siting of the trailer, horse box and tractor acceptable? 
- Does the retention harm the openness of the Green Belt or wider Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty? 
- Is the change of use of the land to equestrian use an acceptable use of the land and 
does it harm the visual amenities of the countryside? 
- Does the application pose a threat to highway safety? 
 
This report will consider the above issues; in addition the concerns raised in the letters of 
objection will be discussed. The purpose of this report is to assess the application on its 
own merits and in consideration of the prevailing local and national policy and to make a 
recommendation as to whether planning permission should be granted. 
 
POLICY CONTEXT:  In consideration of the prevailing policy, the national context is set 
out in Planning Policy Guidance 2: Green Belts (PPG 2) and Planning Policy Statement.7: 
Sustainable Development In Rural Areas (PPS 7). 
 
PPG.2 sets out what constitutes appropriate development in the green belt with the 
overarching aim of assisting in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment and 
helping to retain or enhance landscapes. Whilst there is a general presumption against 
inappropriate development in the green belt, exceptions are given to "essential facilities" 
which can include small stables for outdoor sport and outdoor recreation provided the 
proposed development preserves the openness of the green belt and does not conflict 
with the purposes of including land in it. 
 
PPS.7 sets out the Governments position on development in the countryside, emphasising 
the need to preserve rural character. The majority of this PPS discusses the impact of new 
developments but also acknowledges the role that equestrian activities play in rural areas. 
The principle concern in relation to PPS.7 is ensuring that due consideration is given to 
the impact the development has on the wider landscape setting of this rural area and 
whether, in this instance, retention of the buildings is appropriate. 
 
Turning to the local policy context, the relevant policies are contained within the Bath & 
North East Somerset Local Plan, including minerals and waste policies, which was 
adopted in October 2007. These policies, which are derived from national policy, are GB.1 
and GB.2 relating to development in the green belt, and NE.2 relating to the preservation 
of the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. Other policy considerations seek to ensure the 
development fits with the context of the surrounding area, as set out in D.2, and to ensure 
highway safety is maintained, in line with policy T.24. 
 

Page 377



Limited weight should be given to the Mendip Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to horse related development. Whilst there are 
points of relevance in this document relating to general principles, the SPG is largely out 
of date as it relates to National Policies and parts of the Planning Act which have since 
been amended or superseded. The application is therefore assessed in line with the up to 
date prevailing policy. 
 
The Submission Core Strategy, May 2011, which is the forthcoming local policy document 
is a material consideration but also given limited weight as it is not yet adopted. 
Notwithstanding this, the relevant Bath & North East Somerset Local Plan policies referred 
to above are all saved by the Core Strategy, whilst the introduction of Policy CP8 (Green 
Belt) reiterates the national framework. 
 
PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT:  In consideration of this application, it is noted that 
whilst the 2004 renewal of consent lapsed in 2009, with the exception of the addition of a 
purpose built feed and storage area measuring 5m x 4m and contained within the wider 
built envelope, the elements of "built mass" are not set to change from what exists on site 
at present and as they have existed in their current form for in excess of 10 years. In 
respect of the local and national context it is noted that there is a presumption to allow for 
small scale equestrian developments in rural areas, on the basis of this, coupled with the 
fact the development has existed for in excess of 10 years on this site, it is felt that the 
principle of development is well established, without demonstrable harm, and therefore it 
is acceptable to allow it to continue. The proposed retention of the existing units on site is 
deemed to be in accordance with both Local and National Policy. 
 
In respect of the siting of the horse box, trailer and tractor, all of these are moveable 
vehicles and therefore do not ordinarily require consent, however it is noted that a 
condition of permission 04/02635/REN stated that no trailers shall be kept on site without 
prior written consent. In consideration of the keeping of the aforementioned machinery on 
this site, all these items are directly associated with the equine enterprise and are not 
uncommon features in the rural landscape therefore are not considered to be out of 
context.  
 
Finally, with regard to the change of use of the land to equestrian use, it is noted that this 
site has been used for the private keeping of horses since at least 1999 (i.e. not a 
commercial or DIY livery). Looking at the current site, the land is quite clearly divided into 
paddocks and the use of the land visually appears as an equestrian use tied to the 
stables. In this regard, and given the length of time that horses have been grazed and 
kept on the land, it is felt that formalising the use of the land as equestrian would not be 
unreasonable or detrimental to the immediate or wider area. Notwithstanding this 
observation, it is noted that under permitted development, provided there are no 
'engineering' works the applicant could at a future time construct a ménage or erect jumps 
or other equine related paraphernalia which cumulatively could be detrimental to the rural 
character of this part of the green belt and Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. In the 
interest of preserving the rural character of this area it is therefore recommended that if 
permission is to be granted that appropriately worded conditions are applied to restrict 
this. 
 
IMPACT ON THE AREA OF OUTSTANDING NATURAL BEAUTY AND GREEN BELT:  
Whilst the principle of the retention of the development and the use of the land is 

Page 378



considered to be acceptable on this site, the key consideration with this application is 
whether the use and buildings are acceptable in terms of the impact they have on the 
openness of the green belt, character of the surrounding area and rural setting of the Area 
of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 
 
As previously set out, PPG.2 states that small scale horse related developments can be 
acceptable provided they preserve openness and do not harm the reasons for including 
land in the green belt; this is reflected in Local Plan policy GB.2. In terms of the Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty setting, Local Policy NE.2 states that permission will not be 
permitted where development adversely affects the natural beauty of the landscape.  
 
The principle observation with this site is how the development fits within the setting of the 
immediate landscape. As previously discussed, the site and the use of the land have 
existed in this manner for a significant period of time, and this application does not seek to 
expand or change the level of built form on site. The site as seen at present is therefore 
considered to be well established and well integrated within the local environment and 
forms part of the setting of the wider area. Fundamentally, by reason of the local 
topography and the surrounding vegetation, the site is largely obscured from the wider 
area and is not discernable from the Mendip Hills located several miles to the south. For 
the same reasons, this application is not considered to represent a threat to the openness 
of this part of the Green Belt. As has previously been stated, when viewed from the north, 
the site is not visible outside its immediate boundaries, unlike the ménage situated on the 
adjacent land which, although having the benefit of full permission is significantly more 
visible. 
 
It is noted that one of the key objections to this application relates to the untidy nature of 
the site, the general rubbish noted around the stables and the concerns about the burning 
of materials on site being detrimental to the character and appearance of the wider 
landscape setting. Whilst these concerns are noted, they do not go to the heart of the 
application which seeks to establish the acceptability of the use of the site in this location. 
In terms of the burning of materials, as stated this is an issue for the environmental health 
officer, however it is understood that any previous burning has ceased and no new 
complaints have been received. If there is an ongoing problem with such activities, this 
can be addressed through Environmental Health Legislation and in this instance it is not 
considered to be a material planning consideration against which planning enforcement 
action could be taken. Again, in respect of the tidiness of the site, whilst recognised as 
being an issue, this is not in itself a breach of planning against which action could be 
taken or against which this application could be refused. It should also be noted that since 
the previous scheme was determined significant site clearance and improvements to the 
state of the buildings have taken place and there is a commitment in the Design and 
Access Statement to continue improving the site. The works carried out since July 2011 
are welcomed by the case officer and the Mendip Hills AONB Partnership. 
 
Based on an assessment of the site and in consideration of the wider area and the 
relevant policies, on balance for the reasons set out above, the proposed application is not 
deemed harmful to the setting of the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty or the openness 
of the green belt, therefore the application is considered to be in accordance with Policies 
GB.2 and NE.2 of the Local Plan. 
 

Page 379



IMPACT ON HIGHWAY SAFETY:  It is noted that objections have been raised in respect 
of the current access arrangements to the site, however the concerns seem to stem from 
the potential impact that an intensification of use could have on the local highway network. 
In consideration of this, it should be noted that this application can only be assessed on its 
own merits, not on the merits of an intensified use. Any change to the use would require 
an application in its own right and would be assessed on the details of the individual 
scheme. In consideration of this point, this application is assessed on the basis that the 
current situation is to remain as it has been for several years and the Highway 
Development Officer has noted that on the basis that the use of the land and the fact the 
majority of the proposed buildings etc. have previously been approved, there are no 
grounds for a highway objection to the proposal. 
 
On the basis of the Highway Officer's comments and in respect of the use of the site, this 
application is not considered to represent an increase in traffic or pose any greater harm 
to highway safety than already exists. The application is therefore considered to be 
acceptable and in accordance with Policy T.24. 
 
CONCLUSION:  Whilst the objections to this application are noted, it is understood that 
these generally centre on the tidiness of the site, the burning of materials and the 
concerns over potential future uses, all of which are concerns that can be dealt with 
outside the scope of the current application. In consideration of this application, it is felt 
that on the basis of the length of time the buildings have existed and the overall use of the 
land, the permanent retention of the equestrian use is acceptable in principle at this 
location. In respect of the environmental impact, it is considered that the retention of the 
units, by reason of the local topography and the setting within the landscape, they would 
not adversely harm the openness of the green belt or the rural setting of this part of the 
wider Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 
 
For the reasons set out in this report it is recommended that planning permission is given 
for the retention of the existing units and for the change of use of the land subject to the 
appropriate conditions that have already been referred to above. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
PERMIT with condition(s) 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 1 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 
without modification) no ménage or other hardstanding associated with the equestrian use 
of the land shall be constructed without a further planning permission having first been 
applied for and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity and character of the green belt and this part 
of the Mendip Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 
 
 2 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 
without modification) no jumps or other equestrian associated paraphernalia shall be 

Page 380



erected or used on this site without a further planning permission having first been applied 
for and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity and character of the green belt and this part 
of the Mendip Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 
 
 3 Within three months of the date of this permission, the works to improve the 
appearance of the existing buildings, including the use of timber cladding and steel profile 
sheeting as specified in the Design and Access Statement and shown on the drawings 
hereby approved shall be carried out. 
 
Reason: in the interest of the appearance of the site and the visual amenities of the wider 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
 
 4 The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST:  This decision relates to the Design and Access Statement, Site Location 
Plan and to drawings S4935/001 and 100B date stamped 12th December 2011 by the 
Council 
 
REASONS FOR GRANTING APPROVAL 
 
1. The decision to grant approval has taken account of the Development Plan, 
relevant emerging Local Plans and approved Supplementary Planning Guidance. This is 
in accordance with the policies set out below at A. 
 
2. All other material considerations, including the views of third parties, have been 
considered and they do not outweigh the reasons for approving the proposed 
development. 
 
3. The proposed retention of the existing stables and equestrian buildings on this site, 
along with the change of use of the land to equestrian is acceptable and in accordance 
with National Policy as set out in PPG.2 and PPS.7 and local Policy GB.1 of the Bath & 
North East Somerset Local Plan, including minerals and waste policies, October 2007 and 
Policy CP8 of the Submission Core Strategy, May 2011.  
 
4. The proposed retention of the existing stables and equestrian buildings on this site, 
along with the change of use of the land to equestrian, by reason of the siting, location, 
local topography and surrounding vegetation preserves the openness of this part of the 
Green Belt and maintains the local rural character of the Mendip Hills Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty, in accordance with Policies GB.2 and NE.2 of the Bath & North East 
Somerset Local Plan, including minerals and waste policies, October 2007 which are 
saved policies in the Submission Core Strategy, May 2011.  
 
5. The proposed access is to a satisfactory standard, maintaining the safety of 
highway users, in accordance with Policy T.24 of the Bath & North East Somerset Local 

Page 381



Plan Including Minerals and Waste Policies Adopted for October 2007 which is a saved 
policy in the Submission Core Strategy, May 2011.  
 
A 
BATH & NORTH EAST SOMERSET LOCAL PLAN INCLUDING MINERALS AND 
WASTE POLICIES ADOPTED FOR OCTOBER 2007 
D.2 General Design and Public Realm Consideration 
D.4 Townscape Consideration 
NE.2 Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
GB.1 Green Belt 
GB.2 Openness of the Green Belt 
T.24 Access 
 
SUBMISSION CORE STRATEGY, MAY 2011 (The submission core strategy is a key 
material consideration but at this stage it has limited weight) 
CP8 Green belt 
Policies T.24, NE.2, GB.2, D.2 and D.4 are Saved Local Plan Policies 
 
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE 
Mendip Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Supplementary Planning Guidance: 
Guidelines for Horse Related Development  
 
NATIONAL POLICY 
PPG.2 Green Belts 
PPS.7 Sustainable Development in Rural Areas 
 
DRAFT NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK 
Due consideration is given to the Draft National Planning Policy Framework, July 2011, 
however at present this carries little weight and in this case it proposes little change to the 
aspects of local and national policy that are relevant to this decision. 
 
Planning Minister Greg Clark has said that ministers are committed to publishing the final 
version of the NPPF by 30 March 2012. 
 
 2 INFORMATIVE: 
Public Right of Way CL4/27 runs through the middle of the application site. The line and 
width of the path must not be altered or obstructed during or after the change of use. No 
gates or other furniture are to be erected on the line of the footpath. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 382



The following two applications are considered together below 

Item No:   08 
Application No: 11/05349/AR 

 
Site Location: Various Streets within the Urban Area 
Ward:   Various Wards - parts of Weston, Newbridge, Westmoreland, 
Widcombe, Bathwick, Abbey, Walcot and Kingsmead 
Ward Members: Councillors Colin Barrett, Malcolm Lees, Loraine Morgan-Brinkhurst 
MBE, Caroline Roberts, Sharon Ball, June Player, Ian Gilchrist, Ben Stevens, Nicholas 
Coombes, David Martin, Manda Rigby, Brian Webber, Lisa Brett, Paul Fox, Andrew Furse 
and Douglas Nicol  
Application Type: Advertisement Consent 
Proposal: Display of 60 no. freestanding feather flags (30 Olympics branding + 

30 Paralympics branding), bunting on railings and around lamp-posts 
and fence scrim on railings 

Constraints: Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Agric Land Class 
3b,4,5, Scheduled Ancient Monument SAM, Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty, Article 4, Bath Core Office Area, British Waterways, 
City/Town Centre Shopping Areas, Coal - Standing Advice Area, 
Conservation Area, Cycle Route, Flood Zone 2, Flood Zone 3, Forest 
of Avon, General Development Site, Greenbelt, Hazards & Pipelines, 
Historic Parks and Gardens, Hotspring Protection, Listed Building, 
Local Shops, Major Existing Dev Site, Overland Flood Route, 
Protected Recreational, Primary School Purpose, Prime Shop Front, 
Public Right of Way, Railway, Sites of Nature Conservation Imp (SN), 
Safeguarded Roads, Sustainable Transport, Tree Preservation Order, 
World Heritage Site,  

Applicant:  Bath & North East Somerset Council 
Expiry Date:  9th April 2012 
Case Officer: Geoff Webber 

Page 383



Item No:   09 
Application No: 12/00658/AR 
Site Location: Pulteney Road, Bathwick, Bath 

 
 

Ward: Bathwick  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: N/A 
Ward Members: Councillor Nicholas Coombes Councillor David Martin  
Application Type: Advertisement Consent 
Proposal: Erection of 4 non-illuminated signs on Bathwick Hill roundabout 
Constraints: Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Article 4, Conservation Area, Forest of Avon, 

Hotspring Protection, World Heritage Site,  
Applicant:  Bath And North East Somerset Council 
Expiry Date:  9th April 2012 
Case Officer: Geoff Webber 
 

Page 384



REPORT 
These two applications relate to the dressing of the city in connection with the Olympic 
Games and Paralympic Games. 
 
REASON FOR REPORTING APPLICATIONS TO COMMITTEE: 
These applications have been submitted by Bath and North East Somerset Council in 
support of its proposals for dressing the city of Bath in connection with the Olympic 
Games and the Paralympic Games being held this year.  The proposals are for temporary 
advertisements in locations that would not normally be considered to be appropriate, 
having regard to the character and appearance of the historic city centre.  However, the 
proposals have been put forward on the basis that this year's twin Olympic events create 
exceptional circumstances and Members are invited to consider whether these 
circumstances justify decisions that would be contrary to the LPA's normal approach. 
 
DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSALS: 
To celebrate the Olympics year 2012, the Council is proposing to dress parts of the Bath 
urban area in a flexible manner for the duration of the period from 1st May to 30th 
September 2012.   
 
The London 2012 Olympic Games start with the arrival of the Olympic Torch in the UK on 
19th May.  The Torch then journeys throughout the UK to arrive in London for the start of 
the Games on 27th July.  Following the Olympic Games is the Paralympic Games, ending 
in early September.  The Torch Relay will come through Bath on Tuesday 22nd May 2012. 
 
All local authorities are being encouraged to engage with celebrations of the year, and to 
use street dressing of various kinds to decorate and enhance public spaces during the 
Olympics period and, in particular, to demonstrate each community's welcome of the 
Olympic Torch.  The London Organising Committee of the Olympic Games (LOCOG) 
controls the branded products that can be purchased, and only official branded products 
can be used.   
 
The Council is proposing to erect a total of 60 freestanding 'feather flags', together with 
bunting and fence scrim at selected locations within a large proportion of the Bath urban 
area.  The flags will be branded with the copyrighted London 2012 Olympics and 
Paralympics logos, although the actual designs of the flags are not known at the time of 
writing this Report.  Materials and dimensions are known and preliminary images of the 
proposed feather flags have been provided.   
 
The Council wishes to erect the street decorations along the Torch Relay route from 
approximately 1st May, and then after the 22nd May the flags will be displayed on a short 
term basis in a variety of locations across the city in association with local events.  
Unusually, it is not possible to identify the actual locations of the flags until details are 
announced in due course of the route of the Olympic Torch Relay through the city.  The 
detailed route will be publicised nationally in due course, but at present we only know 
when the Olympic torch will pass through Bath.  The Torch Relay route is highly 
confidential and cannot be announced until this is officially sanctioned by LOCOG, in order 
not to compromise security for this high profile event.   
 
The proposed flags are 'advertisements' within the terms of the Advertisement 
Regulations, and therefore their display requires formal consent.  These flags are the 

Page 385



subject of the first application referred to in this Report.  It has been necessary to find a 
means of addressing the provisions of the Regulations whilst working within the national 
embargo on the release of details of the route to be taken by the Torch Relay.  Your 
Officers have provisionally agreed with the Applicant that if Consent is granted for the 
display of the flags, then a Condition will be used in order to secure approval of the 
detailed display arrangements not less than 7 days prior to their installation.   
 
It is also proposed to erect plain coloured bunting and fence scrim within the same 
designated area for the same duration.  These items are not in themselves 
advertisements and do not therefore come under Planning control, but they have been 
included in the submitted proposals in order that Members can be aware of the Council's 
full range of proposals.   
 
Council officers will encourage Primary Schools to involve children in making their own 
bunting.  This will be used to decorate school buildings, and to decorate railings or to tie 
round lamp-posts (`Maypole' style) for the Torch Relay day within the designated area of 
this planning application.  This bunting will be coloured fabric and will not have any logo or 
other branding.  Council officers are also working with Bath Spa University art students to 
encourage them to create decorations from coloured fabric.  Again, this will be used to tie 
round lamp-posts for the Torch Relay day and again this bunting will be coloured fabric 
and will not have any logo or other branding.  The fabric decorations will be erected a few 
days before the Torch Relay day and could remain up until the end of September.  Your 
Officers have been advised that if decorations become damaged or unsightly, they will be 
removed more quickly. 
 
In tandem with the flags and street decorations mentioned above, the Council proposes 
that Council-owned parks will have spring and summer bedding planted in the Olympics 
colour palette, and this colour theme will be repeated in the hanging baskets situated in 
the city centre.  These proposals include the planting the Bathwick Hill roundabout with 
feature planting for the same duration, with the Olympics colours being represented in a 
first phase of planting which will subsequently be replaced by a second phase 
incorporating the Paralympics logo during late June.  This planting and replanting will 
represent a significant cost to the Council which it is proposed to meet through a 
sponsorship arrangement.  The planting scheme itself does not come under planning 
control, but the 4 proposed temporary sponsorship advertisements do require formal 
advertisement consent and are the subject of the second application referred to in this 
Report. 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
The application for the display of the proposed 60 feather flags includes a site area that 
has been deliberately cast extremely widely, so as to include the full range of potential 
Torch Relay routes.  However, Members may be aware that the statutory provisions 
regarding consultation on applications for advertisement consent are limited in scope and 
that no site notices are required.  The Applicant team has advised that whilst the majority 
of decorations will be located on public highway or on Council-owned land, some may be 
placed on land owned by others, and that affected owners will be consulted with on a 
confidential basis at the earliest opportunity. 
 
Each of the two applications has been advertised through the normal press advertisement 
placed by the Council, and at the time of writing this report only Highway comments have 

Page 386



been received.  Any further comments that are received will be reported to Members at 
the meeting. 
 
The Highways Development Officer has commented that he has No Objections to the 
proposed temporary flag advertisements, but that an Informative should be added to any 
consent advising that the details of the locations and designs of the flags will need to be 
agreed with the Highway Authority.  No objections are raised in respect of the Bathwick 
Roundabout sponsorship signs, but again details of the proposed locations will need to me 
controlled - this time by means of an appropriate Condition. 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY: 
None 
 
POLICY CONTEXT 
Only relatively few elements of the Policy context bear upon the consideration of 
applications for Advertisement Consent.  Essentially, these proposals fall to be considered 
within the terms of policies aimed firstly at safeguarding the quality of the environment and 
the special character and appearance of the Bath Conservation Area and the World 
Heritage Site, and also at securing adequate levels of safety for those using the public 
highways. 
 
ADOPTED LOCAL PLAN 
Bath & North East Somerset Local Plan (including Minerals and Waste policies) 2007 
D.2 General Design and public realm considerations 
D.4 Townscape considerations 
BH.1 World Heritage Site and its setting 
BH.2 Listed Buildings and their settings 
BH.6 Development within or affecting conservation areas 
BH.17 Advertisements - safeguarding amenity and public safety 
 
BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET DRAFT CORE STRATEGY (May 2011): 
This is currently subject to Examination and the Hearings have taken place in recent 
weeks. Therefore it can only be given limited weight for development management 
purposes. The following policy should be considered: 
B4 The World Heritage Site and its setting 
 
NATIONAL POLICY 
PPS.5: Planning For the Historic Environment  
 
DRAFT NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK   
This is undergoing a consultation exercise and should only therefore be afforded limited 
weight at present. 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS: 
 
The description set out above of the proposed advertisements and of the justification for 
their display incorporates a detailed explanation of the close relationship of these 

Page 387



proposals with the two major Olympics events being held in the UK during 2012.   In 
particular, the display of the 60 proposed feather flags is directly associated with the 
Olympic Torch Relay which will be passing through Bath on 22nd May. 
 
Having regard to the policies in the adopted Local Plan and the provisions of national 
planning policy, locations within Bath's Conservation Area and the historic city centre 
within the World Heritage Site have in recent years typically been regarded as 
inappropriate for the display of street advertisements.  These controls have ensured that 
Bath's city centre streets have remained remarkably free of the advertising 'clutter' that 
characterises many other town and city centres, and that the architectural and historic 
heritage of the city shines through with a clarity that is an essential part of Bath's attraction 
as an international tourist destination.  The area covered by the flag advertisement 
proposals includes the historic core of the city, and consequently consideration must be 
given to the impact of the proposals upon this particularly sensitive environment. 
 
With regard to the proposed sponsorship advertisements on Bathwick Roundabout, a 
similar need for careful consideration arises, in that the roundabout occupies a prominent 
location at an important road junction within the Conservation Area and World Heritage 
Site.  The roundabout is clearly visible not only from the immediately adjoining roadways, 
but also from some distance away in views along the approach roads. 
 
However, your Officers are satisfied that the two Olympics events in 2012 represent 
considerations that are unique in their scope and in the manner in which local 
communities are being encouraged to provide contributions towards an overall sense of 
national celebration.  The proposed advertisements are all directly related to the Council's 
desire to promote the Olympics events in line with the broad encouragement being given 
on a national basis, and in any event the proposed displays are for a temporary period 
only.  The proposed sponsorship advertisements are in any case modest in scale. 
 
The national celebrations associated with the Olympics events will represent a temporary 
period within which these advertisements can be seen as a legitimate special case, on the 
basis that these justifying circumstances will not be repeated in the foreseeable future.  
The potential impact of the advertisements upon levels of amenity within the affected 
areas of the city and upon public safety must be weighed against the merits of the special 
justification for the displays, having regard to their temporary nature. Whilst it is essential 
that the special character and qualities of the city are safeguarded, it is considered that 
the display of these particular advertisements for the temporary periods specified will not 
materially harm the character or appearance of the Conservation Area, will not adversely 
affect the Outstanding Universal Values of the World Heritage Site, and will not materially 
impact upon the settings of Listed buildings within the city.  Once the advertisements are 
removed, there will be no on-going impact upon the local environment and so the effect 
upon amenity will be both limited and temporary.   
 
In terms of public safety, the Highway Development Officer has confirmed that he is 
satisfied that proper consideration in respect of the detailed locations of the proposed 
advertisements can be given at a later date under the provisions of Highways legislation. 
 
For the reasons specified above, any consents should be subject to a condition 
specifically limiting the display of the advertisements to the specified temporary period, 
and (in respect of the feather flags proposals only) to a further condition requiring the 

Page 388



details of the proposed flags and of their locations to be submitted and approved by the 
local planning authority prior to the implementation of the proposals. Officers are 
reasonably satisfied on the basis of the information currently available that the flags will be 
of a suitable quality and design, and the sponsorship advertisements adopt the same 
simple design as has been used elsewhere by the Council. 
 
In respect of the proposed sponsorship advertisements on Bathwick Roundabout, a 
Condition is necessary to enable the detailed locations and alignment of the 
advertisements to be given further consideration in respect of the potential impacts upon 
public safety at this busy road junction. 
 
CONCLUSIONS 
 
Your officers are of the view that there are exceptional circumstances that justify the 
display of the proposed advertisements on a strictly temporary basis, and that each of the 
two applications the subject of this Report can be supported without prejudicing the 
essential character and amenity of the city of Bath, having regard to national policy in 
PPS4 and without prejudice to the future application of relevant policies within the adopted 
Local Plan or the Draft Core Strategy, and without prejudicing public safety. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
A.  Application No: 11/05349/AR 
 
CONSENT, subject to the following Conditions: 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 1 No advertisement the subject of this consent shall be displayed other than in 
accordance with further details showing the appearance of the proposed advertisement 
and in accordance with a Display Strategy setting out details of the locations and display 
programme under which advertisements are to be displayed, both of which shall first have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The submitted 
Display Strategy shall also specify the actions that will be taken in the event that any 
advertisement the subject of this consent becomes damaged or defaced. 
 
Reason:  In order to ensure that the appearance of and locations for the proposed 
advertisements are acceptable in accordance with the provisions of Local Plan Policy 
BH.17 and will not significantly prejudice amenity or public safety. 
 
 2 Notwithstanding the provisions of Condition 1 no advertisement the subject of this 
consent shall be displayed prior to 1st May 2012, and all advertisements displayed under 
the provisions of this consent shall be removed no later than 30th September 2012. 
 
Reason: The proposed advertisements are only acceptable on a temporary basis in 
accordance with the submitted details, having regard to the provisions of Local Plan Policy 
BH.17. 
 

Page 389



 3 The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below, and/or such additional plans and details as 
may be submitted and approved pursuant to the Conditions attached to this consent. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST:  Site Location Plan; Illustrative details of proposed advertisements, bunting 
and scrim; Design and Access Statement 141211, all dated 14th December 2011 
 
 2 The granting of planning permission does not convey other consents that may be 
required under other legislation. The applicant is advised that the formal consent of the 
Highway Authority is required under the Highways Act for anyone to erect a signs or 
similar structure within the limits of, or which overhang the highway or are attached to any 
street furniture, and this may be obtained from the Highway Maintenance Team who can 
be contacted on 01225 394337 who will need to agree the siting of each item comprising 
the proposed development. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
B. Application No: 12/00658/AR 
 
CONSENT, subject to the following Conditions: 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 1 No advertisement the subject of this consent shall be displayed prior to 1st May 2012, 
and all advertisements displayed under the provisions of this consent shall be removed no 
later than 30th September 2012. 
 
Reason:The proposed advertisements are only acceptable on a temporary basis in 
accordance with the submitted details, having regard to the provisions of Local Plan Policy 
BH.17. 
 
 2 The proposed advertisements shall not be displayed until a more detailed plan showing 
their exact location and alignment in relation to other features and road traffic signs has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the details of the proposed displays do not prejudice 
public safety at this busy road junction. 
 
 3 The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below, and any additional details approved pursuant 
to the Conditions attached to this Consent. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST:  Roundabout Sign Specification; Design and Access Statement; all received 
on 13th February 2012 
 

Page 390



 2 The granting of planning permission does not convey other consents that may be 
required under other legislation. The applicant is advised that the formal consent of the 
Highway Authority is required under the Highways Act for anyone to erect a signs or 
similar structure within the limits of, or which overhang the highway or are attached to any 
street furniture, and this may be obtained from the Highway Maintenance Team who can 
be contacted on 01225 394337 who will need to agree the siting of each item comprising 
the proposed development. 
 
 

Item No:   10 
Application No: 11/05423/LBA 
Site Location: 8A Cavendish Crescent, Lansdown, Bath 

 
 

Ward: Lansdown  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: II 
Ward Members: Councillor Patrick Anketell-Jones Councillor Anthony Clarke  
Application Type: Listed Building Consent (Alts/exts) 

Page 391



Proposal: Internal and external alterations (Part Regularisation) 
Constraints: Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Article 4, Conservation Area, Forest of Avon, 

Hotspring Protection, Listed Building, World Heritage Site,  
Applicant:  Mr & Mrs Mike & Elizabeth Curnow 
Expiry Date:  14th February 2012 
Case Officer: Adrian Neilson 

 
REPORT 
DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND APPLICATION: 
The property is a Grade II listed building and lies within a designated conservation area 
and the wider World Heritage Site. Cavendish Crescent was designed by John Pinch the 
Elder, for William Broom, builder between 1825 and 1830. It is one of Bath's more modest 
and short crescents yet nonetheless elegant and commands an elevated position with the 
principal elevation facing south/south west. It consists of eleven terrace houses and has 
alterations originating from the 19th and 20th centuries and is typically constructed of 
limestone ashlar and comprises four storeys including an attic storey and basement with 
vaults under the highway to the front of the building. The listing description states:  
 
`An austere crescent designed by Pinch, his only such design for the developer William 
Broome, who lived at No.3. He was declared bankrupt in 1825, at which time the crescent 
was still unfinished, nos. 10 & 11 being offered for sale in an uncompleted state in 1829. It 
takes full advantage of the fine south-westerly prospect of the site, and was one of the last 
set-piece Georgian terraces to have been completed in Bath.' 
 
The proposals are for internal and external alterations including the installation of new 
cupboard doors, new kitchen fittings and units, damp proofing, repair of historic stone 
flooring, minor alterations to modern external steel lightwell stair, replacement of and 
repair of timber doors, installation of a section of suspended ceiling, installation of new 
stone flooring in vaults (part regularisation). 
 
PROPOSALS SUMMARY 
 

1. Installation of new kitchen units and bathroom sanitary ware.   
 

2. The installation of limestone skirting. 
 

3. The installation of timber cupboards and cupboard doors within the recesses either 
side of the chimney breast in the front room. 

 
4. The construction of a false, suspended ceiling. 

 
5. Modifications to the bathroom entrance. 

 
6. Removal of inappropriate modern, timber louvre doors in rear room. 

 
7. Installation of new stone floor to the vaults. 

 
8. Localised damp proofing. 

 

Page 392



9. Modification of the bottom steps of the modern external steel stairwell steps. 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY: 
 
06/00230/LBA - consent was granted in 26 April 2006 for internal and external works 
including remodelling and reinstatement of existing external opening. 
 
06/02290/LBA - consent was granted on 4 August 2006 for the installation of a pair of 
external doors. 
 
10/03075/LBA - consent was granted in 6 December 2010 for internal and external 
alterations to the basement, including enclosure of the bridge vault, or jack arch, with an 
entrance screen. 
 
11/01436/FUL - permission was granted in 28 June 2011 for the erection of a single storey 
bathroom extension in rear yard and insertion of 2no pairs of French doors in existing rear 
openings (part retrospective). 
 
11/01437/LBA - consent was granted in 21 June 2011 for internal and external alterations 
for the erection of a single storey bathroom extension in the rear yard and the insertion of 
2no pairs of French doors in existing rear openings (part retrospective). 
 
The request for applications 10/03075/LBA, 11/01437/LBA, 11/01436/FUL to be 
considered at Committee was declined by the Chairman and were allowed to be 
determined under delegated powers. 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
No representations have been received. The listed building application was advertised in 
the local press and a site notice was put in place at the property. 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
From the point of view of the historic environment the primary consideration is the duty 
placed on the Council under Section 16 of Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its 
setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  
 
There is also a duty under Section 72 of Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the preservation or enhancement of the 
character of the surrounding Conservation Area. 
 
Planning Policy Statement 5: Planning for the Historic Environment sets out government 
advice concerning alterations to listed buildings, development in conservation areas and 
world heritage sites. 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
The basement of No.8 has lost much of its heritage significance and historic architectural 
interest and character resulting from successive campaigns of unsympathetic alterations 
throughout the latter part of the 20th century. Basements of classical buildings in Bath 
were typically used for servicing the upper floors i.e. food preparation, washing clothes 
etc. As such basements are usually modest in their architectural detailing and character 

Page 393



as befitting a utilitarian and functional area of a building used mainly for practical 
purposes. However, following residential conversion during the latter part of the 20th 
century, the character of the basement was profoundly altered and inappropriately 
gentrified with a loss of heritage significance and historic architectural interest. This 
included the introduction of a reclaimed, elaborate chimney piece in the front room and 
inappropriate and poor quality modern joinery. The stone floors were covered with a 
cementitious screed and were, until recently, lost from view. Both the basement and vaults 
were damp proofed using a hard, cementitious damp proofing render, possibly "Vandex". 
The stone floors of the vaults were removed and were replaced with a concrete slab. All 
historic fixtures and fittings and joinery associated with the original use of the basement 
and vaults has also been removed. 
 
The property was purchased approximately two years ago by the present owners who 
inherited the situation described above. They approached the Local Planning Authority for 
advice with a view to making improvements and undertaking alterations, and where 
possible, reversing hitherto unsympathetic works. A number of listed building applications 
were submitted, and are noted below. The first listed building application submitted by the 
current owners (ref: 10/03075/LBA) was granted consent under delegated powers and 
was for internal and external works of alteration including the general refurbishment of the 
property and removal of modern fixtures and fittings, damp proofing of the vaults and the 
enclosure of the jack arch. It is worth noting that during these works the owners of the 
property, following advice from the Conservation Officer, carefully removed the previously 
applied cementitious screed and successfully exposed an outstanding original limestone 
floor, which has been successfully and sensitively repaired. This constitutes a positive 
outcome for the building and is the only remaining and surviving historic fabric of 
significance in the basement. 
 
A second listed building application and a parallel planning application were submitted to 
the Local Planning Authority by the present owners (refs: 11/01437/LBA & 11/01436/FUL) 
which were both approved under delegated powers. The proposals included the 
construction of a small, single storey building on the footprint of a previously demolished 
19th century outbuilding in the 1960s within the rear courtyard and the reopening of an 
historic door entrance, which would have originally connected the basement to the 
outbuilding. The proposals also included the construction of double doors within a 
previously much altered part of the building opening out onto the rear courtyard. The 
current owners do not appear to have implemented the approved proposals of listed 
building application 11/01437/LBA but do appear to have fully implemented the approved 
proposals for listed building application 10/03075/LBA. However it has recently come to 
light that a limited number of minor unauthorised variations have been carried out, which 
in part, form the basis of the current listed building application. Following a deatiled 
inspection a fresh application to regularise the sitaution was invited. The current listed 
building application includes some additional proposed works and alterations. 
 
To conclude, the proposals of recent previously submitted listed building applications and 
a planning application in the last two years to the Local Planning Authority have been 
approved as they were regarded to be sensitive and appropriate and consistent with 
specialist professional advice. The implemented approved works have resulted in a 
significant improvement to the basement and vaults of the protected building following 
many decades of unsympathetic alterations that resulted in an almost total loss of 
significance and heritage value. It should be noted that no written formal objections have 

Page 394



been raised to this application or submitted to the Local Planning Authority or indeed there 
had been no relevant objections raised to the approved applications.  
 
During the course of processing the applications noted above various issues, including 
civil matters and private covenants, have been raised by a third party but these are not 
material to the determination of the request for listed building consent. Furthermore it 
should be noted that none of the works of the current listed building application or those of 
its predecessor, reference 10/03075/LBA, require planning permission. 
 
The proposals will preserve the historic architectural interest and character of the 
protected building and are recommended for approval. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
CONSENT with condition(s) 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 1 The works hereby approved shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this consent 
 
Reason: To comply with Section 18 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
 2 The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
 3 Prior to the commencement of installation of the new stone floor in the vaults a sample 
of the proposed natural limestone shall be provided for the inspection and approval in 
writing of the Local Planning Authority. The works shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved detail. 
 
Reason: In order to safeguard the special architectural and historic interest of the listed 
building. 
 
PLANS LIST:  Location Plan, No.s 06, 09, 10 and Heritage Statement and Design and 
Access Statement date stamped 20 December 2012. 
 
The decision to grant consent has been made in accordance with the Government's 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and Planning Policy 
Statement 5: Planning for the Historic Environment. The Council regards that the 
proposals because of their location, design, detailing, use of materials, will preserve the 
building, its setting and its features of special architectural or historic interest and will 
enhance the setting of the Conservation Area and this part of the World Heritage Site. 
 

Page 395



Page 396

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
APPEALS LODGED 
 
App. Ref:  11/02780/FUL 
Location:  87 Fairfield Park Road Fairfield Park Bath BA1 6JR 
Proposal: Provision of loft conversion to include flat roof rear dormer and new 

rooflights to front elevation roof slope. (Resubmission) 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 23 December 2011 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 1 February 2012 

  
App. Ref:  11/03778/FUL 
Location:  Hillside View Pensford Hill Pensford Bristol BS39 4AA 
Proposal: Erection of part 3 storey, part 1 storey rear extension to provide additional 

living and bedroom accommodation and front side extension to provide a 
new garage and all associated works 

Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 27 October 2011 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 3 February 2012 

  
App. Ref:  11/04119/FUL 
Location:  Little Bonhill Bonhill Road Bishop Sutton Bristol  
Proposal:  Erection of first floor extension over existing ground floor extension 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 29 November 2011 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 3 February 2012 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 
MEETING: Development Control Committee  

AGENDA 
ITEM 
NUMBER MEETING 

DATE: 
14th March 2012 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER: 

Lisa Bartlett, Development Control Manager, 
Planning and Transport Development (Telephone: 
01225 477281) 

 
TITLE: NEW PLANNING APPEALS, DECISIONS RECEIVED AND DATES OF 

FORTHCOMING HEARINGS/INQUIRIES    
WARD: ALL 
BACKGROUND PAPERS: None 

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

 

Agenda Item 13

Page 397



 

 

  
App. Ref:  11/04813/FUL 
Location:  1 Beckhampton Road Oldfield Park Bath BA2 3LL 
Proposal: Conversion and extension of existing garage to create additional habitable 

space to No.1 Beckhampton Road 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 23 December 2011 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 3 February 2012 

  
App. Ref:  11/00896/FUL 
Location:  School House Chapel Road Clandown Radstock  
Proposal: Change of use of premises from Non-Residential Institution (formally 

Clandown Primary School) (Use Class D1) to Storage and Distribution 
(Sales/Wholesale Distribution Centre of Lilley's Cider Barn) (Use Class 
B8) (Retrospective) 

Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 23 December 2011 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 8 February 2012 

  
App. Ref:  11/04299/FUL 
Location:  7 Valley View Road Paulton Bristol BS39 7QB  
Proposal:  Erection of 2m high close board fence to south boundary. 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 15 December 2011 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 9 February 2012 

  
App. Ref:  11/05170/FUL 
Location:  59 Norman Road Saltford Bristol BS31 3BH 
Proposal: Erection of a detached garage and gym to replace existing detached 

garage 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 13 January 2012 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 9 February 2012 

  
App. Ref:  11/04572/FUL 
Location:  Staddle Stones High Street Priston Bath  
Proposal:  Erection of detached double garage 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 19 December 2011 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 10 February 2012 

 

Page 398



 

 

App. Ref:  10/05372/FUL 
Location:  Midsomer Pet Lodge Paulto' Hill Paulton Bristol BA3 2XS 
Proposal: Use of store/office/cattery building as a 2 bedroomed dwelling and office 

with alterations to existing external appearance 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 4 August 2011 
Decision Level: Planning Committee 
Appeal Lodged: 15 February 2012 

  
App. Ref:  10/05121/FUL 
Location:  Gladys House 2 South Road Midsomer Norton BA3 2EZ 
Proposal:  Change of use of ground floor from offices to 2no flats 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 20 October 2011 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 23 February 2012 

  
APPEAL DECISIONS 
App. Ref:  11/02498/LBA  
Location:  4 Brookleaze Buildings, Bath  
Proposal: Raise height of existing rear lean-to, fit new glazed extension to side. 

Form openings in kitchen wall. Fit new bathroom to first floor. Fit new 
windows into existing or enlarged openings. Clean front elevation to 
property  

Decision:  Refused  
Decision Date: 17 August 2011  
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Decision: Dismiss 
 
Summary: The new opening formed in the original rear ground floor wall alongside the existing 
doorway would lead to a significant loss of original fabric and the kitchen/dining space created 
would have an open plan appearance totally discordant with the cellular form of the protected 
historic building.  
 
The alterations to the original staircase would be harmful and would increase its projection into 
the room and would increase the prominence of the modest and traditional winder staircase. 
The proposed first floor level bathroom would be harmful to the proportions of the room and the 
simple plan form of the original house would be eroded. These combined works together would 
have a significant detrimental impact on the simple cellular plan form of the building and would 
detract from its architectural and historic interest, contrary to PPS5.  
 
The proposed new double glazed windows would detract from the appearance of the listed 
building. Double glazing can lead to double imaging and in this case the windows are a major 
element of the building and therefore the proposals are regarded as harmful. The guidance to 
PPS5 indicates that secondary glazing is usually more appropriate than double glazing where 
the window itself is of significance and therefore this approach is regarded as more appropriate.  
 
There is a lack of information relating to the proposed stone cleaning. 

Page 399



 

 

 
  

App. Ref:   10/04848/LBA   
Location:   3 The Old House The Hill Freshford   
Proposal:  Sub division of the staircase  
Decision:   Refusal   
Decision Date:  8th December 2010  
Decision Level:  Delegated  
Appeal Decision:  Dismiss  
 
Summary: 
The Old House is a grade II listed building in Freshford which has been converted into flats. The 
main range of the building comprises two flats, one on the ground floor and one on the second 
floor. 
 
The appeal relates to the proposal to horizontally sub divide the Edwardian staircase in the main 
building. 
 
The decision letter states that much of the staircase and its balustrades can currently be 
appreciated from what is likely to have been an impressive ground floor entrance hall, more or 
less as was intended when the staircase was built. The grand staircase and the plan form are 
features of the listed building which it is important to preserve. 
 
The Inspector concluded that sub division would harm the plan form of the building. From the 
ground floor the staircase would have an irrational appearance, disappearing into a ceiling. As a 
consequence the proposal would harm the special architectural interest of the listed building and 
the appeal is accordingly dismissed.   
 

  
App. Ref:   11/02077/LBA and 11/02075/FUL   
Location:   5 Church Square Midsomer Norton   
Proposal:  Proposed extension, porch and replace render   
Decision:  Refusal   
Decision Date: 26th April 2012  
Decision Level: Delegated  
Appeal Decision:  Dismiss  
 
Summary: 
5 Church Square is a grade II listed building with group value in addition. It comprises two 
parallel ranges. The earliest part of the building dates from the 18th century which was extended 
north in the 19th century. The cottage is characterised by its modest scale, simple form and 
traditional detailing. 
 
The appeal relates to proposals for a small utility extension, a porch and other alterations 
including removal of the modern cement render. 
 
The decision letter states that the flat roofed utility extension would contrast starkly with the 
double gable ended form of the listed building. The balustrade would draw attention to its 
atypical form and character. The design would erode the significance of the heritage asset.  

Page 400



 

 

 
The ornate design of the porch and the complicated and multi pane design of the french doors 
would fail to harmonize with the simple vernacular character of the listed building, causing a 
harmful loss of significance. 
 
The Inspector concluded that the proposed works would harm the special interest of the listed 
building as well as failing to preserve or enhance the character of the conservation area. The 
appeal is accordingly dismissed. 
 

  
App. Ref:   10/04017/LBA   
Location:   13 Grosvenor Place Bath   
Proposal:  Waterproofing and conversion of vault  
Decision:   Refusal   
Decision Date:  30th November 2010  
Decision Level:  Delegated  
Appeal Decision:  Dismiss  
 
Summary: 
Grosvenor Place comprises an elegant grade I listed terrace circa 1790 by John Eveleigh. The 
basement at No 13 forms a self-contained flat with the use of three vaults accessed from the 
lightwell. 
 
Listed building consented was previously granted to convert vault 2 and a third of vault 3 to 
accommodation. 
 
The appeal relates to the refusal of listed building consent to carry out similar work to the 
remainder of vault 3. 
 
The decision letter draws attention to Planning Policy Statement 5 (Planning for the Historic 
Environment) and the English Heritage companion guide which advises that the introduction of 
new floors into a building or the removal of historic floors may have a considerable impact on an 
assets significance. 
 
Work to the existing vaults has obscured the former utilitarian appearance and function of the 
spaces which is important to understanding the interest of the listed building. The original rough 
dressed stone block finish and cobble like floor surface have gone. 
 
The Inspector noted that little evidence had been provided that comprehensive lining of vault 3 
is the only way to prevent the spread of damp to the rest of the house. 
 
The Inspector concluded that the proposed work would harm the special architectural and 
historic of the listed building and the appeal was accordingly dismissed.  
 

  
 
 
 
 

Page 401



 

 

App. Ref:  11/01182/LBA   
Location:   The Clock House Bathford Hill Bathford   
Proposal:  Closure of opening in wall  
Decision:   Refusal   
Decision Date:  28th February 2011  
Decision Level:  Delegated  
Appeal Decision:  Allowed  
 
Summary: 
The grade II listed Clock House forms part of a group of former service buildings attached to the 
grade II listed Titan barrow House. The Inspector agreed with the Council that retention of a 
single and unified estate character is essential to preservation of the special interest of the listed 
buildings. 
 
The appeal relates to infilling gateway linking two areas of the estate. 
 
The decision letter stated that the wall is low enough to allow clear views from the garden to the 
land beyond and an evident sense of connection would remain. 
 
The Inspector concluded that the proposed works would preserve the interest of the listed 
building and the setting of Titan Barrow House. The appeal was accordingly allowed. 
 

  
App. Ref:   10/00564/LBA   
Location:   Stall 36 Guildhall Market bath   
Proposal:  Alterations to market stall  
Decision:   Refusal  
Decision Date:  20th February 2010  
Decision Level:  Delegated  
Appeal Decision:  Dismiss  
 
Summary: 
The appeal related to alterations to a stall in the grade II listed Guildhall Market in Bath. 
 
The decision letter stated that much of the character and vibrancy of the market derives from the 
variety of goods on sale and the way in which they are displayed. Most of the stalls are open 
style counters under a canopy supported on timber posts and this design stands out as the 
significant and distinctive feature of the market. 
 
The new structure would be too solid and formal for the market and its setting. The proposed 
roller shutter door would underline this change in emphasis. 
 
The Inspector concluded that the works would be at odds with the overall character of the 
market and therefore not make a positive contribution to the listed building. The appeal was 
accordingly dismissed. 
 

  
 
 

Page 402



 

 

App. Ref:  10/04219/FUL  
Location:  Avon Prior, Durley Lane, Keynsham   
Proposal:      Conversion of double garage into two storey two bedroomed 

dwelling 
Decision:  Refused 
Decision Date: 06.12.2010 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Decision: Dismiss 
 
Summary: 
 
Appeal APP/F0114/A/11/2153978 regarding the refusal for the conversion of double garage into 
two storey two bedroomed dwelling has been dismissed. 
 
The council refused the application as the proposed development would result in a new dwelling 
within the Green Belt which would have materially greater impact than the original garage and 
dormer window on the rear elevation was an incongruous addition to the host dwelling. 
 
The inspector agreed with the council that the alterations added substantially to the bulk of the 
existing dwelling to the detriment of the openness of the Green Belt. This was contrary to policy 
ET.9 of the local plan. 
 
The inspector agreed with the council that whilst the dormer window was not visible from the 
public realm it was an incongruous addition to the roof slope to the detriment of the appearance 
of the dwelling and the openness of the Green Belt. 
 

  

Page 403



Page 404

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	8 Minutes: 15th February 2012
	10 Article 4 Direction - Houses in Multiple Occupation
	BNES A4Direction Final Report Issued version14.02.12
	Appendix B EqIA of Bath HMO options
	APPENDIX C - Resource Implications Report FINAL 14.02
	120214 Appendix D - Licensing briefing

	11 Site Visit List - Applications for Planning Permission Etc for Determination by the Committee
	12 Main Plans List - Applications for Planning Permission Etc for Determination by the Committee
	13 New Planning Appeals Lodged, Decisions Received and Dates of Forthcoming Hearings/Inquiries

